
 
1 
 

 
 

Notice of a meeting of 
Council 

 

Monday, 27 March 2017 
2.30 pm 

Council Chamber - Municipal Offices 
 

Membership 

Councillors: Chris Ryder (Chairman), Klara Sudbury (Vice-Chair), Matt Babbage, 
Paul Baker, Garth Barnes, Ian Bickerton, Nigel Britter, Flo Clucas, 
Chris Coleman, Mike Collins, Bernard Fisher, Wendy Flynn, 
Tim Harman, Steve Harvey, Colin Hay, Rowena Hay, Karl Hobley, 
Sandra Holliday, Peter Jeffries, Steve Jordan, Adam Lillywhite, 
Chris Mason, Helena McCloskey, Paul McCloskey, Andrew McKinlay, 
Dan Murch, Chris Nelson, Tony Oliver, Dennis Parsons, John Payne, 
Louis Savage, Diggory Seacome, Malcolm Stennett, Pat Thornton, 
Jon Walklett, Simon Wheeler, Roger Whyborn, Max Wilkinson, 
Suzanne Williams and David Willingham 

 

A Moment of Reflection 

(to be led by the Mayor or the Mayor's Chaplain) 
This will be of an inclusive nature. All Members are welcome to participate but need 

not do so. 
 

Agenda 
    

1.  APOLOGIES 
Councillor Britter 

 

   

2.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
   

3.  MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING 
Minutes of the meetings held on 10 February and 24 February 2017 

(Pages 
3 - 50) 

   
4.  COMMUNICATIONS BY THE MAYOR  

   
5.  COMMUNICATIONS BY THE LEADER OF THE COUNCIL  

   
6.  PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

These must be received no later than 12 noon on Tuesday 21 March. 
 

   

7.  MEMBER QUESTIONS 
These must be received no later than 12 noon on Tuesday 21 March 

 

   
8.  DRAFT CORPORATE STRATEGY 2017-18 

Report of the Leader 
(Pages 
51 - 64) 

   



    

 
2 
 

9.  PLACE STRATEGY - CHELTENHAM PLACEMAKING VISION 
Report of the Leader 

(Pages 
65 - 82) 

   

10.  FINANCING ARRANGEMENTS FOR IMPROVEMENTS TO 
LEISURE-AT-CHELTENHAM 
Report of the Cabinet Member Healthy Lifestyles 

(Pages 
83 - 
116) 

   

11.  SECTION 151 OFFICER ARRANGEMENTS 
Report of the Cabinet Member Finance 

(Pages 
117 - 
126) 

   
12.  2020 JOINT COMMITTEE - WITHDRAWAL OF EMPLOYMENT 

MATTER DELEGATIONS 
Report of the Cabinet Member Corporate Services 

(Pages 
127 - 
132) 

   
13.  COMMUNITY GOVERNANCE REVIEW - TERMS OF REFERENCE 

Report of the Leader 
(Pages 
133 - 
220) 

   

14.  PROGRESS UPDATE REGARDING THE NEW CREMATORIUM 
PROJECT INCLUDING BUSINESS CASE DECISIONS 
REGARDING ACCESS ROAD AND SECOND CHAPEL OPTION 
Report of the Cabinet Member Clean and Green Environment 

(Pages 
221 - 
522) 

   
15.  NOTICES OF MOTION  

   
16.  TO RECEIVE PETITIONS  

   
17.  ANY OTHER ITEM THE MAYOR DETERMINES AS URGENT AND 

WHICH REQUIRES A DECISION 
 

   
Contact Officer:  Rosalind Reeves, Democratic Services Manager, 01242 774937 

Email: democratic.services@cheltenham.gov.uk 
 
Pat Pratley 

Head of Paid Service 



�
�
�
�

�
������

��������	
������������������������	���������	��	����������������
����������

�

��������
�

	
����������	��
��
�������
����������������

�

����������

�	
���	���� ������	
���������������������������
��������������
�������������������������� �������������!����������"���
#��������������$�"����������������"���������������$�������
%���
�$�
����&���'����������(��'��(�
���"����'�
��
	")����'�
�������'"���
���������'"�����
�����(��*"������
+����,���
)���������������"���'����������"���
��
���������"���
��+����)��������
��������#���"���
-����������"����*"�����
����,"������(�����-���"�
�����"����
����"�����������������&�"���"���*"��%������������"��%��������
	"����%�
�"������.�%������"�����/�����%������������
-�(���%����������

�
�

��������
�
�

��� ����������
+0"�"�����)���������(���1�"���"������"���������"�������������*�11������-���
����������&"�
�2��(��3�
�
�

��� �������������������������
�"������"��	
�����������������������������������������4������"���0"�������
0�������
���������������������0"�����"1�)�������������,������0�"������
���"�����������������"���"����(�������������������������������������"(�������
�����������0��"�����-�0��
���
"�3��

�
�
�

��� ����������������������������
&�����������"1������������������"���5�-��������)�����00�"(���������"������
���"��3�
�
�

��� ���������������� ������� ���
&�����
"���0�������"������"������������������������6��
�

•� +����������"1�57�8��������
"������������"����"����"�����������������

�����������77�
�����"1�&���	"
����"������"1�#��������)�"���1"������

���������������������"�������,�����������
3�������������������+����

"1�&���	�#��������)����������������(��"1�-���������
���")�3�&���

��
"����������"11����������	�(� ��11�����1"�������������������"1�����

��
3�

Agenda Item 3
Page 3



�
�
�

�

�
��5���

��������	
������������������������	���������	��	����������������
����������

�

•� &�����
"���"���������������)��������"�����"����)�"������������������

�77���+���(�����
����&���%���"���1"��0�"(���������������(�������������")�3�

�������"����������������������1"��0��
���������0"�������"������������

�"���������"��������"������������1��"1������"������
3�

•� &�����
"��������������������"���"1�����47���+���(�����
�"1�'	'�&���

�������"1�%�����0���"�����"1�����	
�������,������0�"���"����

'"�0�����)�����"������"������9�����'�
����"��������������3�

•� &�����
"���������������������(��������������������������3�,���:��'����

1"��20���-""�3�����������������������00"��������(����"�0�"(����������

���������"���"��������1"�������������"�����(��3�

•� �������"��"���������"������"��*�11�����1"�������11"������������������������

0������"1����
��"�������0�"0���"��"����������������"0�������������11"����

)�����"��")�����0�"(����������������������01����"����"���"�������������

•� +����(����1"��'"�"���������"�����-�
��""��0���������������������������

0�"(��������"00"������
��"�����������"���1�"��&���'"�"�������

�����;��������"������������00�
�������"�����0���������
��"����������

��1��������������1�����3�

•� &���'"�����������������������������"0�������������������"1������"���������

�")�0"������������")�������*����)��������������������"���(�����

�""��3�&�����
"���������������������"1����������������("���������

���0���1������������"�������������3�

•� &�����
"�������"������"��%�������0�������������0������������1�������

���(����"1����������!��� ����)�"�)�����")��1"���������0"��������"��

�������"1���(�����1"�������
"������"��������������������������3��

�
�
�

��� ���������������� ���������������������������
&���,�������.0���������������"���)�
������������������������������1�����3�
&����)��������"���������
�����������"����������
� "(��������"1�����1������"����
�"(�������������������)�����)"�����")���������"��55�$������
�57�<3�&���
�"���������������"������������������0�"0"�����)"�����")������0�����"��$����
�
5=�$������
����8�03�3�����)�������0���������
��������������=�03�3�
�
&���,������)���0��������"����"���������������"����������������������1������
������������������������1"��!�(���"��������"0�������������������������)���3�&����
)������"�����������(���������(��)�"1������.�����"1�������������)���������
������0�����)�����������"������"(����������
�������������"����������������'����
"1���������(���������������113��
�
'����1�������"������"(��������%�������0���)����������������
������0���������
1"���"��������"�3�'��)���0����������������)"���"������*"�����"����������
�*����
0��������"������������""��0"����"��)������������"������"(���������.0������"���
����"����������0�0��3�'��������������"��������0����)������������������1"��
�������������������"�������������"������"��������*�11�����1"�������������
�.0�����������������������������0�"����3�
�

Page 4



�
�
�

�

�
��4���

��������	
������������������������	���������	��	����������������
����������

�

'����(������)"��"����������������1"��������"�0����"������"������"���)"�������
���00�����")��1�"������+������"������������)"���������0�������
��"������"��
%�������������"������"���"������)"�������"����������������"������,���������
�"�������3�
�
�"������"��'���������������0"����"1�"�����)������������"������������"1�����
�"��������������"��$����
�5=�$������
3�%����������0�������������"���1"������
����
�����������������"����"�1���"����"����������������������������""������
�1����""���������0��(�"���
��"����������������������������1"��")��������
�������������������������������)���3�'�����������������������������"�0�)"����
��������������������������)����"����������"���������0����"1������������"��
"11�����������������"������)����"��������������"1�������������������"�������
5347�0��������)"������(����")���"����"���������"�3�'��������)�������������
�
"11������)"�������������"�������3��
�
&���,��������(��������������1�����������"��"������������������������
�����
'����"1���������(���3�
�
&���'����"1���������(������(��������������1�����������"����������������"������
����������������������������"1����������"���������������(�������������3�
%����������0�������������)����"����������������������1"��"11��������������������
�������������������������)"��������"(������
���������(����"11����������������
������13��
�
&�����
"������")��������������������"�������������
�������"�������"0������
���
������������0"��������"����������3�

�
�
�

��� ��������!������������
&�����)�����"�0�����"��3�
�
�

	�� �������"���������

#$� "
����	��%�	&�����'��(��)�*
�+��	��,����'���-��	
���	�����.��/	��'��
01
����	����2'�����'�����'����

�
� &����������������1��������0"���������"���"1�����#�)�'"�����"�����������
�	����
��"��������*����"������00�"(��3�����������������"�"�����"�������"�1����)�������
���
������"����"����������"��������"���"1�����#�)�'"�����"�������������
���������"��"1����� ������������"�������00�"0��������(��"0����>�
�

� ���3	����%�	&��,����'�����

� �
$"������"������!���(����
��"������������"�����:��������"���"������*������
�)�������
������"����
�����"�����������"�����������1"��"����")����������"����00�"0������)�
�
�����"��"����0������"���"1�����#�)�'"�����"���3���
�
&��"��������*����.�������"������� ����������)���������������������&�)������
�
�"�"��������������"���������������������������������
��������0����������0���"�3�
&���0�����0���"1���������������������������"��.������)������������������"����"����
���������1"���"������������0�"
�������������0����(���"��������"���"1���11������0�����"1�

Page 5



�
�
�

�

�
��=���

��������	
������������������������	���������	��	����������������
����������

�

������������������"�����1���"���������������.��0��"������������������)�����?����1
�
���������"��������������"�3�&���*����.���������""����������������1����������"��������
�����"(�������������.��0��"�������������������"��.���3�&����"(�������:������������
�������"������#�)�'"�����"����1"����"�������"��������"��0�"������������0�����������
)"��������������1"����
�0������������"���
��������;����������0�����������)����(�������
"���"��������"��������;�����
������11�������
3��
�
!������00��������
�;�����"��������������
�������)������������"������0�"0"�����"�
������"���;�����1�������#'�������1�������������>�
�
&���,��������(����������������)����"��������0������
����������"������)"�������
1""������"��������#'��)"�������������1"���(��������"����)����00�"0�������"����������
�"���������"���3�'���������������)"���������00
��"��������������1�������)��������
;�����"�����1���������������3�
�

4$� "
����	��%�	&�����'��(��)�*
�+��	��,����'����

� �
*������7@5������������"��������1����)���� �������A(��
��0������������������������B�
�����)��������������)���������(��"0�����"��)����������������"����� ����������
�����
(������"1�������(��"0��������������00�"0�����>�

� ���3	����%�	&��,����'����

� #���"��������������"���
���
�������)�����"������������
�0���������00������"����"����
0������������"���������"����������������������������)�����������(����"���
�������"�����
 ���������3�C���
��0�������������������:�)�����"���.���������������0"��������������"�����
 �����������
�����"��"1����00�"0�����������������
�"��������������������
�"��)�������
�
�"������"���������"��3�%����)������"�����"�(��
��0����������������������0�����"��
����1�����"1����������3�$"������������"�������������������"����� ����������)"������(��
�"����"��)��������
���?"������1�����"��"����
��������"�"�
�"��������(��"�����3�
'"�������������"���)�����"���"�����
���"�����"��.��0��"�����������������3�&��������
�������������������������?����"1����������"1��"�0��.�������?���������3��
�
&���1�����������0�����0����������������������"�����"������������������"�������)����
������(��"0�����0����������������������*����)�����������������"�������������
�"���������"�3�&����1"��������������0���������00�"����)��������"��"����(������ �����
������"����1"�)����)������0���������"������"�����������������������0�������������
"00"������������(��"0������������ �����������������0��(�����3�
�
!������00��������
�;�����"��������������
��������������������,�����:�����0"����
���������������������)����"��0���1�����1�����"��"1�(��
��0�������������������������"����
����,������"11�����
����������1"����������"1�����0�������"������������������������3��
�
&���,��������(�������������������"1�����*���0�"����������1�����������"��)"�������
������������
������������!��0���"���"����)"�����"����")���"�����0����0��"�3�&���
�"������)����"����������"���
�����������������������"1�����)�"����"������
��������
�����"�����������������(��)�"1����������������������������������"����"��������(��)��"1�
�������������!��0���"���.0��������"�����3�
�
�

5$� "
����	��%�	&�/�'���'�2���	��,����'����0�	�����'�����'���6�

� %�
�)����0��(�"����"������"�����(���"����"���������������"����0�����������"���"1�
*������������"���������������������������������"�0����������"���������"�������"(������
)���������������
��"��������������������0���3�+�
�������"���������������"1����

Page 6



�
�
�

�

�
��@���

��������	
������������������������	���������	��	����������������
����������

�

��0����������������3�&"������������0�����0�����"1�������"���������������".���)����
 "(���������"������0"���
��������������������������������3�
�
%���������"�"�)�
����������(�������
��"�����"��������0�����"1���������"�������������"�
����������"�����1�������������"����0������3�+��")�������11���"���D�%�
��"������������
����"0�������0������"���"���������"1������")�3�%����(����������1���	�����
��")��
�"�:��
"��������(����"���������)�����������������(���"�������)������"�����"���0���>�
#"�������������
�����
���"�����"����"�������������������+����1����������
������)������
�"�������������0�����������0�����"����.��������"��������"�����������"���"1�
������1����"����
����3�&�������������"1��������0��������������"1��")������""���0"�������"�
��������"���3�
�
�

� ���3	����%�	&��,����'�����

� #"�������"���)�����������������"���3�
�
-�����������.�������"������������(�������)���������"(������������"1������"���
"���"������� �����������������(��
�"1������������������0"��������1"����(��"0�����
)�����)"����������"�����"�"���������"���������������%��������������3�&���
��������1"�������������"�������������"��������0�"���������������"���"����������
�(��������"������*����.�������"��)��0�����0����������
�*��� ����������0�0����
DE+�� �=5� ���� DE+�� �F83� &��� ����� �"��1�����"��� �"��������"��� )����� ��"�����
�"������� ��"���
�� )���� ���")� ��������� ��0���������"��� "�� %���� ����������� �"� ���
������)�����)�������0���������1�����"��������0���"�3�&�����)������������1���������������
�����"��� �����
� �"���� �������
���������)����� ��0���������"���"��%���������������
���� ���"� ��� ����3� G��������
� ������ ���� �������� 1"�� ���� �.�������"�� ���� 1"�� ����
���0���"�:���"���������"��H���(����������1�"����������0������3��

7$� "
����	��%�	&��'�	�(��)�*
�+��	��,����'����02��*��3������6�
�

� &��� "(��������������������������� �(������)����������������(��)�"�������
�
��������������������"����)�������"������)�����0�0����)���������"����0���������"��
&�����
��)"������0���������I�������"1��"��I�1�"��0�����"����(���(���"������0"���
��
��1������������1�����������������"������������
�0�"0��������"��"������11"����"�����"��
�����"������������3�
�
!������(������0"���
��"�����������"�������������������"����"�������"��������"��������"�
0����I0�"����(��
I�1"���"���I�������"�����I���(��"0������)�����)"������������"���
��������"��������1����
�1������
����������������"���)����
��(���������"0�1���
�
����������������������1��"����"�����"������11"������3�
�
'")� �"� 
"�� 0�"0"��� �"� ���"�0"����� ����� ��)� �������
� ���"� 
"�� *��� 0���� ����)����
0����������"1���������
�0�"0"������(��"0���������
"������������)����������������)�
��;��������>�

� ���3	����%�	&��,����'�����

� �
&���'"������%�������0���)������������"������<���"1�$������
������
���3�!�������"�������
�"(�������:��0������"��""���������00�
�"1���)��"�������D������3�+���?"��0����"1�����
)�����0�0��������1"����"�����������������"���������(���0��"��������(��"0�����0�����
1"��������������������������
��""0������)����"�����"��������"���
����������0�"�����"�3�
&���*���������
����"�0"��������������0����"1�����1�������������������%�������0�������
����0�"0"�����)������������?�����"��"��������"��������������������"������
��������������"1�0��(�"��������������������������������������3�

Page 7



�
�
�

�

�
��8���

��������	
������������������������	���������	��	����������������
����������

�

�
+������������(��"0�����"1�C�������"�����:���(��"0�����������*��������������������(���
��(��"0������"�������������������"����"���)�������������1��.�������"�����"����"�0����
���������"������
0��������.�"1��"��������������)�������
��"���1"�)�������0����"1�
���������"��"(��������0"���
3�!��������)�
����������������������������������"����"���
)"�����"�����
��"���������������"1��������0�"0���
��)�������1�������0"���
���������"���
������"�����1"�)�����"������("�(����1"�����C�������"�����:��������3�
�
��������
�����"��������������������������������"���������������"���������"�����
1"�)�������0����"1��"�������"����"��3�&����"(����������(�������������11"�������0��(����
��������"���������0"�����������������(���"�"������11"��������"������0�"�������������(��
�"����(�����(��)�"���")�������11"�������0�"(���"����"�������0�"(������
������������3�
&����)"����������������1"��������"��������"���
�������"����������������������"1�����
�"�����"�����������������3�&��� �"�����������������"�������)�����""�����"���������0����"1�
���"��"������(��)�"1���������������'"�������������+���������3�
�
!������00��������
�;�����"���������������
���1�������"����������0����������(��)�)����
���� "(�������:��������������������������)�����)������������������
����������������
"������"��������������;������������A&���������"�������"������������������"1������"���"1�
���������������"��"�(�������"������������B3�
����������)�������!��������"1�������)������������"�%����������������)"�����������1�����
"���")������"������"��("���������������1����""��"������*���>�
�
&���,�������"�����"���"������"������(��)���.0��������
������"(�����������������
���������������������������*���0�"�����)����"��������)������������������������"1�����
�"�����"������
3�!��)�����
�����"�������������������"����"�����"�������������������"1�
����������� ����  �"�������� ���� ���� ������
� ������ ����� "1� &�)������
� �"�"����
�"�����3�&����)"����1"�������������"1���������������������������������3�

�
�
�


�� �������"���������

#$� "
����	�� %�	&� �	
���	�� ������� �'��	��� �	� �'*����� ��&*��� ��'�,+� ��%���+��-�
�	
���	���	��
�'��

� %��������������������������������"���(����0������������"�����0�����������0�"�����������
0�������"����"�������������"�������*"�����1"������"1�����	"��������"������"����������<@���
����(�����
�"1�����������"��5J���$������
������
���3�
	�������

� ���3	����%�	&��'*�������&*����

� !��������������������"���1"������;�����"���!�)"������1��������"�����0��(�"������0"���3�+�������
�
��")�������"�����������������
�)"������"������)��������+����������
��)������)�����������������0�����
������"����"����(������)���������1���������"���1"��)"�����������3�
�
!������00��������
�;�����"����"������"������"���������)���������������������������"����
��;����������������)��������+����������
��"�������0�"����������"������1"�������"������
�����"�����������"����������������0������"�����������������>�
�
!�����0"�������������������������(������������������������
���;�����������������������
�
��"�����������������������(�������"1������"�����)"������������)�����00
��"�0����"��
�"������"������"�����;�����1"�������"������"�������*"�����������������0������"�������������
3�
������������������������������&�����)"�������0����������������"1�������*"����"�����0��
�����
�����)"��������������?����"1����������������3�

Page 8



�
�
�

�

�
��<���

��������	
������������������������	���������	��	����������������
����������

�

�

4$� "
����	��%�	&��	
���	����&��'�&'���	��'*�������&*�����'��'�����������.��	�&����-��
�	
���	���,�����	�&'��

� -������ �������������� ����#�)�K���� ����"�� �� ������� "1� I�����I� ������)���� "(��1�")����)����
���
�������������������)����(��
���������
� 3�%���� ������������������� ��.��������������� �"�
��0�"(�������������"��1"��1������0�������"����
��������������0�"(���"��"1�������"�������0������"��
�"���1��;����������������

� ���3	����%�	&��'*�������&*����

� &������"����
�����������������������"����
���������������������)"����"����������0��������
��������"1������������������������������)������������������:����0�����(�����������(����"�����������
�"����������00�"0������
3��

'�(������(��)���)������00�����"(���������������������00������������"������������0�����������
���
������������������
������������������1"��������
�?�������")������"������1�""���
�����������
)������������(���������0�����"�������������������1�����)�������1���������������0����
��(�������3�
&����"�������"����������������������0��(�"���
�����)�������������0����"1�������.������������
)������������
������0�"�"��"��3�

G���":�����0�(��������)"����"������"���������������)��������"(������������������"����
�3�!��
������"������������������������"���"������������������������������"(����
�������)�������(��
�����0�������
�����������"1����������3�
�
!������00��������
�;�����"����"������"��'�������������������������������"1�����������������
���������������������0���"�����������������������������������������)�������������������
�������)�����������������"�������"����"��������"��>�
�
&��������������������(����������"��
�"�������������������������"������"������������"���������
����������������������������������������������������1���3�2���"1�����0�"������)��������
�"���������)�����)������������0������������������������
��������)"����������"������"����"����"�
�"���������������3� �������
���������"������0�����������������������)���������0""���"�����"������
�����"�����������������11�������(��
��""��?"��"(�����������������0���"�3�-������-�����������
�����0�������"��"1��������������)����"11��������"������(������0�"(������������"������������
���
�������������1��������"��������������������1"�������������"������������)������"������������3�
�

5$� "
����	�� %�	&� �	
���	�� �	
��� �'.')�� �	� �,�� �'*����� ��&*��� �	�3	�'��� ���.����-�
�	
���	���	)���8,+*	���

� �����������������������"������������"����1����������"���"1��"�������"�"�����"������������"������
��
�57�8>�
�

� ���3	����%�	&��'*�������&*����

� &���1����������"���"1�������������"���)���)�����������00�"(���������3�&����"�����"����������������
�"������"����������������������������0����"1�����57�8�������"�����"���������)��������"�1������
)�����"����������4���$������
��)������������(����"11�������������1�"������������(����������
�������������������(�������"���"1��"������)�"����"������������"���"����1"���
����
��
��������������
L47�777�0��������3�
�
%����������
"�:��0�������"������������������������(����������������������(�����1"�����"��
1�"��"11����������������(�������"���"1��"������������"���)���L�47�777�0������������������������
)"�����������(����"1�L47�777�0����������1�������"���)����������(��
�1"���
����3�
�
�"������"����(���������"���00��������
�;�����"��������;������������1�����"��(����������"������
0���������(�����1������3��
�

Page 9



�
�
�

�

�
��J���

��������	
������������������������	���������	��	����������������
����������

�

7$� "
����	�� %�	&� �	
���	�� �	
��� �'.')�� �	� �,�� �'*����� ��&*��� �	�3	�'��� ���.����-�
�	
���	���	)���8,+*	���

� '����������������������"�����������"�������������0"����������(�����)������"������������(���
1�"���"(�����"�)�"����"������������"���"����=�
����
������>�
�

� ���3	����%�	&��'*�������&*����

� +� �������� ;�����"�� )��� ������� ��� ���� �"������ �������� "�� =��� +0���� 57�8�� ���� ���� ���0"����
�����������������3�&���0��1������ 1��;����
�"1�������"��� ���������"���� ?������������ �"� ����
����� )�
� �"� ������� ���� ��.����� ���"���������
� "1� �"���� 0"���������� �"� ���� ("����� 0������
�"�����������)�����11��������"�����"(�������3�!������
������1�����������"1������������������"��������
�
�����������������������5�
�����
����)������"11����������������M�������"������"���"00"������
�
�"��.0��������������"�������)���������)"����������������)������=�
�����
�����������������"(���"���
=�
�����
����)"�������������"���������0�1"���"�������"����
3�

9$� "
����	�� %�	&� �	
���	�� ��'&� ��+2,���� �	� �,�� �'*����� ��&*��� �
��� ��.��	�&���-�
�	
���	�������2���(��'+��

� D(��
������!���(��������
"���")�0�"0��������"������"�������&���!���(�������������"�
 �"���������������'���)�
��+���"���
����0"�������1"��������������K���)��������"�0��������
�
)�"����"����������"1� ������
���������"���������"��)������11������
6�
�
�I!��00��������
"������"��������������00
�)�������������������&����0"��������0�"0"����3�&����
����"��������
"�������0������)����������������"�"�����"����������������0�"�"���3�
+�����������)������"����������"���)�����)������"���������"����"���������������"1����"���
������
(��)�3�&����������"��)���������0�"0���
�����������
3�&����"����������")��"(����1"�)����)����
��0��������������0�������00�"���������)���������3I�
�
&�������������1"�������������0������������������(��������"�"�?����"����������������������0��������
)����
"��0������0�"(������0"����"1��"��������������������)�����������"�?����"��������"����
���������������"��������")����
������"�����"������������"����������
��

� ���3	����%�	&��'*�������&*����

� &�����
�)"�����������;�����"�����"�?����"�3��
'")�(�������������1"����������"�?����"�����������������"�������������
�������1��������������0"����
1�"�� ��3�+�������"������������������"�0�"���������������0����������������)�
������")�����
1"��������0"���11����(����0���������"�3�
&���������"��)����������"�0�"�����������0�������������������������)�����������������������3�
 ��������"���"�����1"����(�����"�����.0������"���"���������!�����������������1�"��0�������
���
���(�������(���0"����(��1��������1�"���"����
���������������"0����"�����������������
�����
(����������11����"���"�������")����"����.0������"���"���3��
&���������
��������� ����������������(�������"(��������11����(������"1����������������!����
�����������1��"�������)�����������������(����������������"�?����"����"�����)������������������
 ���)"����)���"�������3�
�
!������00��������
�;�����"����"������"��,���
)������"�����������������������������������������
�"�����)���������;�����"���A)���������"�?����"����"��������������>B������������")��"����
�(�������"1������11����(������"1����������������1����������)�������������������������0������
�
��1������"���(����0"����"1��"������1"������0�������"��"��"3�
�
!�����0"�������������������������(���������������0"���"11��������������"���
��"������)"����
)���"�����
�1���������������
�)��������1�����0"����"1�����3�'")�(����1���������"������������
)�������"���������������"��������"�"11���������������"�������������1�����������������
�)"�������
��00
��"�0���������"���"�����"11��������������"���
3�
�

Page 10



�
�
�

�

�
��F���

��������	
������������������������	���������	��	����������������
����������

�

:$� "
����	�� %�	&� �	
���	�� ��'&� ��+2,���� �	� �,�� �'*����� ��&*��� �
��� ��.��	�&���-�
�	
���	�������2���(��'+�

� &���"��
�1�����������0��������(�������1"�����11���1�")����1"��������1���������&���������������"��
�����1"������������"����
���(�������������"��"1��������11��3����"���"������������
�)������(���1�������
����"���
�0����1�")���������������������������"�0�������1"������������"�������"11�����������5=�
�"��� 1����������0���� 1�")��)���"������ ��������"��"1��������"�3� �%���� 
"��0������������� ����� 1"��
0�����5�����������00����������1"������������������"�0�����)��������1������������)������(����������
C�"��������"��:� 1"�� &��11��� 1�")�3� � '")� )���� ��� ����0������� ����������� "1� ���� �������� "1� ��
�
0����� "1� ���� �&�� ��� ����� )���� �"� ����� ������ ��(�� ����� ����� �
� ���� 0�"�"����� "1� ����
�������������"����"����������"���0�������"����(�����������������������������0��������>�

� ���3	����%�	&��'*�������&*����

� &��11����"����������;�����������1��������"�����"1�������"��"�������������������"���
��.���������"���
���������"1����������1�������3��"���;�����
�����11����"������0����������
������������"�0��.�
�"�����������������������������+	+�!����"���������1"�������&���"�����������������
�
���������������������0���������0���"����)��������������
�����+���������0����0���"��3��
�
&����"����"��0����1"�������&������1"������+���������0����0���"���)��������1��������������
0��������5758��)�����)��������������"���������3���
�
+���������������"����������������0����"1������&���������0�����5=��"��������
�������(����������
�
1�")�������"����00�"0���������������"��������������
��11�����"1������&��"���������)"�����������
������"���������������������������"��""������������0�����"���3�
�
!������00��������
�;�����"����"������"��,���
)��������������������1�"���������0"��������00������
����������1"��������"�0�������������"��������(�����������"��������"��)����"���"������00����������
)"�����"������0�����������"����)�������;�����"��"(�����������0������������������"1������
0�����"1�����������>3�
�
&�������������������"����������������)������������(��
������3�+�����"����"�0����"�������
�������������0������������������"�����������1����""�����(���"���0"�����"���������11������)"������
�����")�����������)"����1"�������������"1���
���������"�0����"����"������������57583�
�

;$�� "
����	�� %�	&� �	
���	�� ��'&� ��+2,���� �	� �,�� �'*����� ��&*��� �
��� ��.��	�&���-�
�	
���	�������2���(��'+�

� !���(���������
������(������"�0������1�"�����������"1��
�)������"������������������1������������
"��������)�
��"����""�������"��������������������11���0"�����"����"��������(����������������������
������"1�0�����5�1"�������������������0�����
����""�����������(������
3��&�����"�����)�������"�
�"�������)���������������������"����""�������0���������������")�
"�������"������)���������
���������������������0"�����"������������������������0�����
����""���������������������������
1���������1�"��0"�����"�����������������"�)�����"����""��������")�
"������
"���"����"������������
0��������"���"���(������������(������������������"����""���"�����������������"������"���������������
�"��������"����?��������������������"������1��������������������������������������(��"�������������
������"1��(��
����""����
3�

� ���3	����%�	&��'*�������&*����

� ��������"�(�
��
��"�������1"���������������)�"���(��1�������3�
�
��������)����"1��������0"�����������������������+���N�����
������������+��������"��0����
��������������������)������")���"��0"�����")�(�������
�"1���������"������"������
��"���������
��� ������
��0"��������0���������"��"1������������������"����������������&����0"���������
����������0�"(����������������3�3�+���"���������)����������������1"������(������"�(��������
�
"00"���O�����N@3�
�

Page 11



�
�
�

�

�
���7���

��������	
������������������������	���������	��	����������������
����������

�

+��)����
���0"����������������"����0������������)���������1����������;�����
�����������"�������
)�"���"1������"����
������������"1�*�����
�57�<3�&���-D$	+��"���"�����)���������")�������+���
�"�����"����(������������"����%�����)��������������������������)����������1��������"��������"�
��������)����5��������5<���*�����
3��
�
 �(��������������"1�����"����0"�����"�����������11�������"��"������(��
��������������������3�
'")�(��������-D$	+����������������������������;�����
���������"�����
�����)�������������������
*�����
�)�������������"�����)���������;�����
�0�"�������.0������������"�������)�"����"����
�
�����"���0���1����"�����(�������������)����������"��0��(�"���
������������1���������0"�����"��
�"��0"�3��
�
!������00��������
�;�����"����"������"��,���
)����������������������������)��������(����������""��
��������"������1������������������������������������"1���������������0"�����"���������11���1�")���
���������������������������0"��������������"���1����"�"�����
���������0���"�������0"�����"�����
�����"����)����"1�D�������)���"����������������"1��"������3�#"������"��)��������"1�����
�������������11����������������)�������������������������������"��"����
�)����������������"1�
������0����"1���������������������������"������0��)����)����������
���00��������������")����"���
�������3���
�
&���������������������������(������"0
�"1�����0�����������"�0��������1�������"�������������
)"�����"������00�"0�������"��"����������"������������ ���)������������
��""��������"�����
������3�'�����������"������"��,���
)�������������)����"����������"��""��������������������������
)"�������"��"�����"���"�����"1���(�����������������������"1�+����������	"��3�&�����)������������
1"����
������������)"����1���;������������
�������"���)"�������������"���"�0�������(��
�(�����������������1��;����
����������3��
�
�

<$�� "
����	�� %�	&� �	
���	�� ��'&� ��+2,���� �	� �,�� �'*����� ��&*��� �
��� ��.��	�&���-�
�	
���	�������2���(��'+�

� %�
�1"�����������.0����(�����0"����������1������������������1"�������")���)�����������������
�"��������"��"(���F7P�"1�0�"0���"�?�������"����(��)��"��
�����"���1�����������������1�����1"��
1�������������"1����������������������������1������"�)����1"�������0�"���������11����"����������������
��"����"�����0��1"������
�����*��>�

� ���3	����%�	&��'*�������&*����

� ����
�������������1"������(����������������������O��"������������ �����(���������1���
�
��0���������0�������)�����"������1��������(������11����������"���0"����(��"���"����)�����
��(���������������
�)���"�����������������������"1��"��������"��"1���*"���,�)�����"��3�
 ����"�0�������(��
��"�����������0�"0"�����1"�������������"1����������������)������������
������)"�������������1"�������(������������)"��������(�������������������
���������������0�"0"�����
��(����������������"���1"��47�
������"��
���")�����O������������������������"������"������)����
 ������������������
��"�����"����������"�����0��������������3�
�
!������00��������
�;�����"����"������"��,���
)�����1����������"������0�����������������"����)���
����;�����"��)������������"�*����"���������������)����"��(��������
�"00"�����"������������
����������������������������������������������0"�����"�;�����"��<�����)����������1"��
?����1�����"��"1�������"1���������������������3�
�
&�������������������"����������������)���)���������
������"��3�
�

=$�� "
����	�� %�	&� �	
���	�� ��'&� ��+2,���� �	� �,�� �'*����� ��&*��� �
��� ��.��	�&���-�
�	
���	�������2���(��'+�

Page 12



�
�
�

�

�
�������

��������	
������������������������	���������	��	����������������
����������

�

� ������4�"1������&��������)"�)�
����"1������������������������������������3���������������1
�
������)��"�����������������3�&����������
��"��������������"����.0�����"����"�����"�����"����
���"���������")������������������������"�)�����0�����5��"�������������?"��D����%���������"����
#"�����"���3�%�
�����)��0������������������������������������"1���:�����0"�������M�)�������
���0�������"������11���0�������""����������"������������������������0���������
������������"����
�
��������������0����
����������������"1������")����"������)"����
�0�"����
�47P�)����)������
0���������"���")������")���
�57P������������������1�����>������
���������"1���C&����0"���0���:�
��"��������"���0�"(�������.��������������"�����������"1���1��
����(��"���������0����
�����
��������������"�������)�"����")����"��?����0"�����
�������(��"������"1�"���������3�

� ���3	����%�	&��'*�������&*����

� !��"��"��������)���������������"�������3�������5�"1����������������&����0"������������"��
�"���������������?"��D����%���������"����#"�����"���3�!����������
����")������������������1�"��
��������������������"�����@�*�������"��")�������������0��������������
����"(�������11���1�"������
���)"�������������������"00"������
3�
�
!�����������
��!���(���������(������
� �������������.�����"1������0��"������;��������������
�"��������"��1"��������5�����")���������.0�������"�����O��(����������������0��(�"���A�����B�
�������������1������������1"�����11��������������3�
�
������������5������������������0����
��
����������5�)�
�������������
O��������11����"���"�����0"���
��0���������"��)����������������
����0��������0���3��
�
!��"���")�(����������)���������,���
)�������"������������"1����������0"���0���3�!�������"���"1�����
��
�"�?����(���"1������&������"����"������0�"0����"���"�����������(��������1"������������
�
?"����
���0����������
���"���"����������;�����
���0�"(������1��
����(��"���������0����
�����
��������������"�������)�"����")�3��
�
!������00��������
�;�����"����"������"��,���
)����������"��1������
������0�����������������"�
���)��������;�����"��)�����)�����"���0�����4�"1���������������������������"����������"���
0���3��
�
&�����������������������"�������"������"�����"�����������0"���3�
�
�

#>$�� "
����	��%�	&��	
���	���,�������	���	��,����'�����	
���	�����.��/	��'��

� -��0���������������������"��������*����"�������������������2��"�������������57�4��������
�����0"����"����)"��������(�����������#"(������"1������
�����)������������)�������1"������"����
�������"11��
���������"������3���&�����"��������")�=�
���������QQ��
�
!���(�����"�����
��"��"�1����������������*����"��������(��"0������)��������.�����������������
�
��������"����������������0����"��"��������0"�����1�������������)������(��)��"���(��"0�����11����(��
�����11"���������������"����������3���!1������0�"(����"���������������������*���D.�������"�����
�������1������"���������/�����������
��������0"�����"������
�����2���,����'����3�'������
���
�,'���,���,����,'&��'��2���.���
'+�		?�'���,�������'��)�����'%%������
��-��'�,����,'��
2'����)�%	���'�,�������	��	&��%	�2'�������.��
'+�'����@'&����������	'��	�A���!�������)�
��
�������������"���1���������0�"0"������������"������������1"���������0����"1�����������
��(��"0������00������"���)������0�"(�����������������"�����11�������"���������3���
�
!1�����*��������0"����"����"����)����(����������
�����������"����"�"����
���������/����)�����������
�
�"�����������"����")��)�����"������"����������
��"��"����"��������������"��������1����������
��(�������0����"��������(��"0�����"1�"�����"�"�
������"�����"�����3�

Page 13



�
�
�

�

�
���5���

��������	
������������������������	���������	��	����������������
����������

�

� ���3	����%�	&��,����'�����

� !����������������0"��������!��0���"����������������������577J����11����"�����)�����)���0����
��(��)������57�5����������������1"�����"����������
��(�������3�&������0���"���"���������)�������
�"�����
�����0�"������"1�����0�����"��)��������57�4��"���������""������(��)�����������)"����������
����������
�����)"�����"�������������
3��
�
&���!��0���"��)����"���"���
������I�"���;�����
�"�������(���������1"�������!���������1���������
����*�������?����1����
�0�"�����)��������0�"0"���������0"�����������"���������
�����������0�����"1�
)�������"���������1��������������*���)����������������"�����1��������"������)�������0����3I�
0������0��577�"1�����!�������	�0"����
�
2��"����)"������������������������"��������(�������"��"1����������0"����"������������(��3��&����
��������������������"�������1�"1�����*�������"�������(����"����������)"������1"�������"���
�
�"������)�����������������0"���������������������������������0���������0��"���"�������.������*���
�.�������"����������3�&����"������������������"������������0����"1�����*����"��������"���������
��������������������������3�&���2��"������������"1�&�)������
��"������������������������
�"(���
)�������&)��)"����)���������������������)������"�(������������4��*�����
��������3�211����������
"��5�$������
�)�����"���
�����'���)�
��D��������"����������"�0�"�����������)"��3��2����
(�������"����������������������������)�������������(����������������"���)��������*��������0"���
�"��������)�������0��������3�
�
!������00��������
�;�����"����"������"��#���"��)����"���������������������)�����������"�����
�)�
�1�"���������������������"1��������11����"����������������
����)�����)�������
�������1"������
*��������������������������
��"������(����������1"�����������"1�����*���0�"����3�%����
�����������)��������0��������(���"��"������"������1��������11�������
����)����������*���
0�"����>�
�
&���,�������"0�������� ���)"�������������"�����������������(����������1"�����������"1�����
*���0�"�����������������"����(������.���������������������������3�
�

�
�
�

��� ���������������������!����������������������������������
4>#;B#<�0������������������496�
&��������������������1�������"��"������"��5=�$������
�57�<3�
�

���� ����������������!�������������0���6������������������
4>#;B#<�
&��������������������1�������"��"������"��5=�$������
�57�<3�
�

���� ������� ������������������� ����������������������
��!��������������� �4>#;B#<�
&������������������$���������"������"��	")����'�
������"������������0"���
)�������������������������)��������������3������.0�����������������"������
�����������!�$+��"����������0"����������
�"�������������
������������
�������
�������������������0�����������������"�������������0"������"�0"����������
���������(���������������
�)�����������"�����;��������3��
�
&���&������
������������������&�����������������������"�������������
�"�������00�"(���������0"��3��
�

Page 14



�
�
�

�

�
���4���

��������	
������������������������	���������	��	����������������
����������

�

&����������
��������
�����������)���������
�����"������+00����.�53�&����"������
)�����;�������"�"0�������������������������"���"1����������1�����"���"1�����
�������
�"0�����"�������"������������������1�")����0�"0���
�0��������"�����������
����(��������)����������3����0�����"��
������(����������")�������"�����0�������
��������)������������"���
:���")�������00�������������������������;�����
�������;�����
��1"�����
���(�������������������"��������3�+�"����������1�����"��"1������
���(�������1�������������0�����0��������"���
�����������������������"����������
�����1�")��"���������������0������0�������"�������"�������������3��
�
&������������(���������������
�)�������"������+00����.�53�!�����������"�
����������������"1������
�������)"���
��"�����0�������)���������")����1"��
��(����1�����"�������("��������
���������"���������"��"1�����������1"���0�"(������
���������(���������������������������3����
�
�����.0������������������������	�(�������"(���"�������1"��")�������"�
�
�����������������
�������0��������"1��"����������9��"�����"(��������)�����
�����"���)�����"����������0�������0�"(���"���������0�"0"���������1"������
�����
�8R�<�9��<R�J���"��00�
�"0��"�������������"���"���00"�������0������.0�������������
"0��"��4�������0����"1������00"�������0������.0��������3�&�����)���������?������
1"���<R�J��
���������0����������0����"���0�
��������������"���0������"�����������
"������0������0��5=����+00����.�=3�
�
������(����������"��"������"11������������(��"���1"�������������(������3�������
������������"���"�������0"��������0�������������(�����������"���������0�"(���
1"���8R�<�����)�����������
���")���������L�5�J77����0������"(������������3�
�
!�����0"�����"���;�����"���1�"��������������������������������.0������������
	�0"�)������������1"��������"��"1��"��")�����
������������11������1"���"1�
�"�����������������������0���
3�
�
������1��������;�����"���"�����$�������211�������������"�1���������������
��(�����������1�������"��������G���!�����������,�.���"����)�������������"��
�
��(��������3�'���"������
��������"�0�������������������������������"��������
1"�����"���������������
�)�����"��������������1"����.��("�������0��0"���3��
�
+��������;�����"���������00�"0����������"1������;���
���(��������1"������00�
)�����)�����1�������"����������0"��3�&��������������������(��������������
�"�������������������"���(�����������0��"���������)������1��������1����"����
����1�������������3�&���,����������������� �"�������������)������������
0���1����������)���������������"(����������00"���1"�������(������3�!��)����"����
�������(�����������������"�0��
��"�����������������������"������1"���"���
�"��
����������1"������������������������1"�������"�������"���;������"����;���
�
�����������������"��1��������1������
��"��������1���1�"��1�������������3�+�����"1�
L5@�������������(����������������������������)����������"�����"������
������������ �"���������������"��3�
�
+����������������"��������"�����������"1�	�0"��)������������")����������
������������������&������
��������������������������")�)�������"��������"�����
���������������"�3�'����;�����������0������("���"�������0����������
���"��������"�3�
'����"��������������)������"�0��.���(���������������)"����������11������1"��
�"������"����"�1���
���������������1�"�������.0������"����(����������3��"�����0���
�
������)��������"�������
�����������"�����������������������������������"������

Page 15



�
�
�

�

�
���=���

��������	
������������������������	���������	��	����������������
����������

�

���
�)"�������(�����
������"���3�!��������
������"��������
�)��������������
�
����������)����"������(���������0�����������"�����������"1��"�0��.��
3�
�
�"������"�����������������������"1�����&������
���������������������(�����
��������
������������""�����������������������������������)����0����������������
�������
�)����""�����������"(���(����)�)�
���"��������������0"���������������
1�"�������"�����M����(���������)�����")�����3�'�����������������&�������
����������	�0"��������������������������
�������00"���������"11�����
���"��������"�������������)���1�����.0������"�����������0"�����1"����������3�
&����"��������������
�"���.0������(����1�"���������.0����"11�������������)"�������
)�"����"��������������"0��"���"����������������������"�����"����������������01�"���
����"���)������"��������"���������(��������������0"���3�
�
&���������������������"����������(��)������&������
������������)�����
�"�0��.�������������
��������"�������������"1�������"11�����������������.0����
��(��"��3�&�������"������������������	�0"���(���������)����"������������
���������"�0�����������0���������F���������
�����)�����������������1"���"1�
�������3�
�
G0"����("������)�����
�
�
�����!���0
�'��&	
�+6������
�
�,��'��'�,������'�
�+��'�')�&�������'��)+���'��&���-����
'�
��.���&�������'��)+�%	��4>#;B#<�'���33����@�4-�4>#;B#<�������)�����'��
�33����@�5�'�������3	��+���'��&����%	��4>#:B#;�'���4>#;B#<�'��
�33����@�7-�*��'33�	.�������
���)���

•� �,��)����'�3	��+�	*C����.��D�,'���	
�����,	
����.����3�
����+�
�,���
�3
��%
����,���	��*�,'%�	%��,���	&&
���+�)�.��)�3��	���+�
�	����
���+�'����1
����+E$�

•� �,'���,����
�����'������'�	���%	��4>#;B#<����
���)��,��'
�,	������
�&���'���,����'�
�	�+�'%%	��'*��*	��	2��)��&��������&�����
�����
�����	��5�0#6��	�'��	.���&��������4>>5�*��'33�	.��$�

•� ��.���	����	��,���	
���E�������)�����'���3'�'&������'���,	2�����
�33����@�5�'���3�	3	�������	������	�3�	.�����	&��%
��,����'3'���+$�
�,����3�	3	�'��,'.��*����3
��%	�2'���'%�����'?��)�'�.����%�	&�
�,���	
���E�����'�
�+�&'�')�&����'�.�������'3��'����������.�����
'���'���3�
�������	
),��	����
����,���������1
'��+�	%��,��
�	
���E����.���&����3	��%	�	���&'����,�),$��

•� �	��4>#:B#;�'���4>#;B#<�����'�
'���)��,������&
&���.��
��
��	.���	��0���6-��,���	
����2��'33+�'�&	��%�����3��	��#����
���3����	%��
33	������'3��'��@3�����
����	���3'+��,����*������1
'�
����'&�����	.���59�+�'���'����3��	��5�

�
+���0������("���)���������"������1"������������0"����)�����)������������
�"����6�$"��5@��+�������=��+�������"���8��
�

•� �,��
���	%���3	B��.�������3	����'���3����'��'�%	�&�	%����
��������
�����)$�

�

���� ����������!����������F�������������

Page 16



�
�
�

�

�
���@���

��������	
������������������������	���������	��	����������������
����������

�

&�������������������"�0"��������(����� ����"������ ���� ��0"��������.0�������
����� 1"��")���� ���� ������� "1� ���� +����� �"������"�� ��)� ������������� )����
������� 1"�� ���� �00"�������� "1� �.������� �����"��3� &��� ,"���� +����� ����
+��"���������
� +��� 57�=� ��;������ ����"������� �"� ������� "0�� ��� �"� ���� �00"�������
0���"�� ������� "�� �"� ���������� ��� �����"�� 0����� ���� �"������ ������ ")��
0�"����������.������3��

&���1"��")����0"�����)������������������0"�������(���6�
�

•� ���������	�
�����
��
��
��������
��������	�
���������	���������
����
����

�������	�
������
�������
���������������������	�
��
�����
� ����
��������

��!���
�	�
��	���	"������������������������������#�����		�
����
��
������������

��	�
�����#��$�$����������
�%& ��	'���#� ��'��
���
���'����#��
�$� �(���'���
����

������
������������������������	�
����������
�	����
���������������������������

�	'����������
���
�����#���������������
��
������������	�
����
�$�

•� )
� ���� ��
�	� 
��
� �
���� ������ ��
����
���� ��� �������
�������� ���	� ����
�

 ����
��#���	�� ������
�����	�
��������
�������
����������*�������+��	$� ���

�������� ����	� 
��������� ,�� �,��� 
�� ,�����
� ����� � ��� ����������� �������

��'�������������$�

•� -�����
���*�,����.��
���&�	�
�&�����
���
����������������
������
�'����
���$�

�

�����!���0
�'��&	
�+6������
�
�,����	
����	3�������	��,��'33	�����)�3���	��'��'�)�&�����&'���*+�
�
*�������	���
�����33	���&�����0����6�%	���,��'33	���&����	%��@����'�
'
���	��$�
�

���� ����������-������������������8(����� �/����������
������� G��������������������������
&���,������"1������"����������"������������0"��������.0����������������
0�"0"����������"��1�����"����"�����*���1"���������1"��")��������*��
�57�8�
���������)������������������2��"����57�8��"����������������
� �"�����������
�
����������������"�"�����"������3�'")�(�������0�"0"����������"��1�����"���
)�����"����������
�&�)������
��"�"�����"������&��������"11����������������
�������;��������
����������"�������������"��������"��������0�"0"����)���������
�"����������&)��)"�������0����"1�����!���)"���R&)��)"�����������������"����"�3�
'�������������������������������������!��0���"�:���������0"����"��)��������
�"������������&)��)"������
���(��������"��"��������������3�

�
&���,��������0"����������&������������(����0���������1�""�������(����)�����
������")��������)�����"�0������������"����"���00"��������.�����"��"1�����
&)��)"��������������+��"����"��1�"������������"��1�����"��3�+����������������"��
4��*�����
�&�)������
��"�"�����"���������"���������0�"0"���������
�"��1�����"���)�����"���������������������������������"��"1��������"����"�����
&)��)"�����"�FF@����������������"��"1�����(�����1�""�����0"���
�)���������
�"��������"��������1���1�"�3�'�����"�����������������1�����������������2-�)"����
�"�����������������������������+���������1"������������7�
���������
���"��������"��)����"��������
����"(��+���������1�"������0�"0"����3�
&�)������
�)"�����")���(�����"���������"����"����"��1��������������������������
)"�����������(��)�"1�"��������������(��3�&���*���)����")�(����")������"��
����������������)"���������1����8�)����0�������"��������"��1"��")����
����
�.�������"�����0������)��������������.0������������0����R����
��������1"��")����

Page 17



�
�
�

�

�
���8���

��������	
������������������������	���������	��	����������������
����������

�

)���������1�������0"���)"������������������"������������"�������1"��1"�����
���"��������������0���������"�3��
�
$�����
������,��������0��������������0"�������"1����0��������*���"�����������
������"1�0�"(��������0����1"��������������������1�����3�'������������������1����
�����%���������������)"������(������"00"������
��"���0������"�����0�"�����
�����������0�������"��������"�����������.�������"�����0�����3�!��)�����0"�������"�
��(������*������0�������1"���0���������00������"���)�������������3�
�
&���-�(��"0��������������������
�)�����(������"����������"�����3�'��
��1"�������������������)"�"1��������:�����������"1�0�"0"���������
�"��1�����"����"�����0�����)"������������"�������������1"��")��6�

•� ���7�4=��������7�4@���1����"��00��������5+���0�������+00����.�4�
��0�������� 0"�������� ���0����(��
3� &��� �"������ ��1�������� 1"�� �����
�������� ��"���� ��6�+00����.� �+� ��0��� ����+00����.� 5� ��0��������
0"�����������0����(��
3�

•� ���7J=� �"� 0������0�� @3435� ��� ���� ������"���� �"� �"���
� !#$4�� ���
����������� ���������� �"� �����A&���D�(��"������+����
� ���)"������)����
 �"�����������
��"�����������,")�����(����!��������-���������"����SB�

�
&���1"��")����;�����"���)������������������0"�������(���6��
�

•� �)���"����������,"���� ������0����������������"���������������1�"��
"11������ ����� )���� �"���������� 0�������� �00������"��� ��� ����� ����� ���
�
)"���� ����� ���"���� "1� )���� ���� !��0���"�� ���� ����� ���������� ������
�0���3� !�� ���0"���� ���� -�(��"0����� ���������������
� ����� ����� ����
,"����  ����� �0���� ��� �)���"�� (������� ���� ����� ��������� ��� ����
0�"0"����������"��1�����"�������)"�����"���������0����"1��������������
1"����� 0���� �1� ���� 0�"0"���� ����� �"��1�����"��� )���� ������� �"��
3�
&����1"��� ��� )"���� ��� �� ��������� �"���������"�� ��� ��
� 0��������
�00������"�3�

•� +� ������� �"�������� "�� ���� *�������� ��(��)� �-5� ����� 1"�� ���� 4<<�
�"�����	���")���(��"0��������,������0�"��)������""������������)"����
�"� �����3� '�� ������ )���� 0�"������ ���� ����� ����� )���� ����
���"�������"1�G����������������)�������������������&�)������
�
�"������������4<<��"�����)������"������������ ���������������@�
����
�"��������00�
���������)��������!��0���"����.�������"������)"�����������
0��������"��"����������3�&���-�(��"0��������������������
���0"�����
������������"�������"1�G������������������")������)�����������)���
)����&�)������
��"�"�����"������1"�������"11����������)��������!��0���"�:��
1�������� ����)��� �"�� �.0������ �"� ��� �"���"(������3� &��� ,������ ������
��������������������������)����"���1"���"��������"��"��8�$������
�1"����
��.�)����0���"��)�����)"����"(����0�)����*����"��������"�3�

•� +���������.0��������"������ ���������� �����"��������������������"���
)�����)����������������"���00"��������������7�777�0������)��"�������
����������3�'������������������"��������"��"������*����������
����
���
1�)� )����� �"� ���")� 1"�� ���� ��)� ���11��� �"�������� ����� �"� ���"���
�(�������3�!�����0"��������,�����������������)����������������)"�����"��
��;�����������
��"�����0�"������"1�����*���������������0�"(���"����)"���
���� ���������� �(�������� ������ "�� 577J� ����3� !�� )��� �"0��� ����� ����
��)� ����� )"���� ��� ����� �(�������� ��� ��(����� "1� ���� �.�������"�� ���
0�����3�

�

Page 18



�
�
�

�

�
���<���

��������	
������������������������	���������	��	����������������
����������

�

!���"������������������������,����������������������1"����������00"���
1"������*�������1"������1"����"�����0�������"��������"�������.�������"��
���0�����3�

�

�

�����!��������

��� ����0�"0"����������"��1�����"����"�����*����57�=�������������"��
 �"������������������������&�)������
�*"�����"����������
��������"���
���+00����.����"��������0"��������00�"(���1"��0�������"��������"��
����������0�"0"�����"��1�����"����"�������"0"�������0�������
�
-�������������"���������"����������"����������������
��"����������
*����"����
�

5������"���
���������������"�����-�����"��"1����������"1������������
�"�"�����"����������"��������"��)��������,������"1�������������"�"����
�"�������"���������"�����������"�����0�"0"����������"��1�����"�������
0�"0"�����"��1�����"����"�������"0"�������0�������
�-�����������
������"1�1"����������0���������"�������������
�

�
�"�����6�$"��4@��+�������7��+�������"�����
�
�

���� ������������������
�
�	��	�����3�	3	����*+��	
���	���	��
�'��'������	�����*+��
�	
���	�������2���(��'+$�
�
��������	
������
��	���������������
�	��������
�������
�����
����������������
��
��������
��
���
�����������������
�������
��
	�������������������������
����
������
������������������
������	��������������������������� ����!�"������������
�����	�����
�#�������
��������������
"�$��%���&���������������
�������������
����������������������
���������������������'�
�
(	��������������� �����������)	����������
�	���������	����	���������
����	
����������������*�#��*#��
�����*��+	��,����������� ����!�"�������'-�
�
!��0�"0"����������"��"����"������"������������������������������)������
���������"�����")��0����"1��������������"����1����
3�&����")�:��+������������������
�0"����!��������"����������������&)�����������"�
��G��(�����
O��"�����������
 �'N���������������������"����0�"1��������)"�����)������������"���������"�������
�"�0������1�"�����"���DG3�
�
!��������1��������"��54�*����57�8����"�������"1������"����������("�����
���
�����1��������?"���
��"���������������DG�1����
��������
������"������"�������G��
����)���3�&�����)�����35������/����1�"������G����(�����)"������"������
�������DG�
���"���1�"������������3�+���D�������"����0�)�������������1"��!���(������
+��"����������/�����0��������
���"������������"��������������"����������
������)�����00"���1�"���D���"1�����DG�����"�������0������3�&�������������")�
������������0��
����.�������1�#��"����"��1"��D��� �
�����"1�����3�
�

Page 19



�
�
�

�

�
���J���

��������	
������������������������	���������	��	����������������
����������

�

&�������1���������"1���������������������)"�����������������
"����0�"0����
)"�����������"�0������)�"��"�����"��"�������1����
��"����0����"1�DG�1����
��
�(����1��"���������3�!��)"������(������������
"����0�"0����������������"���
�""�����1"��)"����1"����)�?"�����"���(�������1����
������"00"������
��"��"��"3�
&�����)"������������1"��������"�����
��)"����0����������D�����������1"���"����
�"�0�������"������)"�������"�D��"0���"�)"��3�&�����)"��������"�(����
��;�����������D��"0����'������!����������������"��������������(������������
������)"��������"�����������������"00"����������1"��"������(�������������
�"������3�!����"���������������)"��������1�����"��"���
�1�"������0"�����������
"11����3��
�
�����"����������������)�����0"������������"�����D��������������:�������������
����1�#��"����"����"����������������")������"�������������0���������(��"1�����
0�"0�����������")���1��������������)�����������1�������"��������������1"���)�����"�����
�����"0���3��������������������"���00"��������"��"�3�
�
�"������"��'������0�"0"��������1"��")��������������)�����)������"������
�
�"������"����(���6��
�
+�������������"����)"�������"������"��"�6��
�
..�������	
��������"
����������
���	�������
����	���
������������
����
����
����
"�������
�������
�����
���������������+����
��
�.����
���	��������������
������������	������������"�����
�����������������/0���������������������������
��������������������	��������������������"���������������
����
�����
���������
��
���������
������
"��
�������'..�
�
��1"���0�"0"���������������������"������"��'������1�����)�������"���������
����������;���
�����������"�����������"��"��0���1"�)����"��)����������)���
�00�"0������1"�������"�������"�)������������
��"�������������"����"��"��)������������
)"��������"����00�"0���������"�����"�����D��3���
�
!��0�"0"����������"��"�����(����������D��"0�����"������
�������������������
���������������������������0����������"����"��)����������1"��"�������/��������
��"���1�"��D��"0��������������������"����
3�!��������
������"(��������)���
������������"����"�����"����������1���������"������)�����������"���0"����"���"�
��00"�������3��'����00"����������"��"�����0�"0"��������1������������������
)��������0�"(�����3�
�
�"������"������������0�"0"����"1������"��"�������"�����11���������)��������0�����
��������������������������"��)����������"����"�����0"���������"��"�3�
�
�"������"����(����������"�����"1��������������������(��������������"��0����
�������������������3�
�
���������0�����������������������������1�������
��"�����"����00"�������
0������I)���"�������� "(���������"��������(���11"���B�������������)�����
0"������������������)��������
������"��������)���3�
�
�"������"���������
����"�����������������"���"�0�����������1"��")����
�����������"�����������������������
����������������
���0�����������)"����
)��������1"��")���6��
�

Page 20



�
�
�

�

�
���F���

��������	
������������������������	���������	��	����������������
����������

�

�..�������	
��������"
����������
���	�������
����	���
������������
����
����
����
"�������
�������
�����
������������������������	��������
����
�����
������

����
�����
���������������������������������������������
�'�.�
�
&����)������"������
��"������"��������3�
�
�"������"����(����������"�����"1�����1����������������������������������"����
�"������0��������������"1�)"�����3�
�
&���-�0��
���
"����?"���������������������=35@�0��1"���7����������"�1����������
���������"������"��"�������������"������)"������"1��������������3�
�
2�����"�(����������1"��")����)"������1"����������������0�"0"�����
�
�"������"��'�������������������������������)����������"�����"���������"��"��
�������������0�"�������"���������������(���"��"�3�
�
��������	
��������"
����������
���	�������
����	���
������������
����
����
����
"��
�����1�
"��
�������
���'�2��������������������������	������"	�����'�2��
��������1���������"	������������	��������
����
�����
�������-'���
�
!����������������"��"����"������"������"����������������������"�����"������0��
����������"����)"������������������������1��������)"���C����������:���������
��������"��1������
������)����������"����
��"(�������������������"������(����"�
0�"����������������"1�D��"0��������/�����������1��������������)�����1��������������
�00�"����"1������"�����"����(���(����"�03�'������������DG�����/������������")��
����������;��("�������"�����"�����������"����
���������")�������0����(��"1�����
���"�����"���"�����.��3����
�
	���������0"����"1�"�������"������"��'��������������)����00�������
�����
�"�������"1��"������"������"���)�������0���������������"����(���(������
����������������"����(����
����0����"���"������1"��������D��"0��������/����
����������������������3�'����;�������������"������"������"���)������)�"��
�0"�"����3��"������"����(���������������������������)�������"����������������
"1�G������"�������1�������������1"���"������"������"����"����������������
�
��������)"����)�����"���������������(��������)���������0�������������
��������"���"����������3��
�
!������������������1"��")������
����������0"���"1�������0���"�����.0���������
"1�)"������)�����"������������D��"0���������
�������������
����������"�������
�.������������������3���
�
�"�����������)�������������"�1"�����������������"��"��)��������������,������
�"�)������"�������������"����"���������
�1���������)"���������������"���(����"����
�D��3�+�"�������������������������)"����������1����"������D���)�������
�
)�����"�����"����������������0"�����������3�
�
2�������������)��������00"������������������������������"���0"������������������
�����������3�
�
�"������"������"���0�"0"�����������������)�����)������"������
��"������"��
$�����3�
�

Page 21



�
�
�

�

�
��57���

��������	
������������������������	���������	��	����������������
����������

�

-������H�A!��������������������������	������"	�����'B���������1"��")��������������
������0������
��
�A�������
�+����
��
�����"�����
�	
��
�����
���"	���
������������
����
����
��"�����������
���
������
������
������������������	���������$��%���

�"�������
�B3���
�
!��0�"0"��������������������"������"������"�������������������1��"������"��
'������)����"���������
�����0��(�"�����������������"������00"��������"��"�3�
�
�"������"����������������0�"0"����"1��������������(���"��"����������������������
�"�����"������0���������������3��
�
&���-�0��
���
"����(��������������"��������������������������������
���������"��"����"��"�����������������������"�����������"������������"����
���������"��"(�������3�
�
��(�������������������������������
��"�����"����00"�����������������������
����������1�"��������������"1�����"���������"��"�3�+�"�������������"�����"��
��00"����������������������
������������������������"��������0�"����������
�����1"�����"����1"���0����"1��������"�����"��3�
�
!�����"�����������"��"����"������"��$��������������������������������"��(��1"��
��������������)����������������������������0"�������3�
�
!���������������0���"������"������"����������������������"��"��)�����0"������
�"�����0���"����
���������1�����������0"����"��"1�����0���
����������"������(��3�
�
G0"����("��������������������)����"���
�"����6�$"��5����������5J�)����5���������"��3��
�
&�����������"��������"���������������(���"��"�3�
�
!���������������0���"������"������������������������"����������������00"������
�����"��"��������
�)��������0����"1�����DG�1����
3�!��)�����0"�������"��.0�����
������(��)���"�������������"����"�3�
�
G0"����("��������"��"���������"������")�������)�����������
�"����6�$"��4��)��������������
�
���������	
�����	������������������	���������	�������	����	������
�����������	��������	��	���	�����������
�����	�����
�	��	�������������
�������������	����������	������������������	�������������������������������
��������� �!�����������������������	�"������	���������������	!�#��$����
%���
�����������	����������������������������
�����	�������������������
��&�
�
'�����������������������������(�����������	������������
�������������

��	�
����������
���)�"���)"��	�����)��*���+�����������������
 �!�������&��
�
��������	
�����
�!	����������	���������
�	��������	�����������	����	����
����	!��	�����,�	!��	�������	��&�-�����������������������������

Page 22



�
�
�

�

�
��5����

��������	
������������������������	���������	��	����������������
����������

�

����!������&�-����������,���������!����������������������	����	�����	�����
��.&���
�
�
�	��	��������	3	����*+���	
���	����������'��	���'������	�����*+��
�	
���	��/	��8'?����
�
A&������	
����	�"���3���*������.��+����
��
�������1������	�������������������
�����
�������
���	
���������	�����������������	���
������
������������#������
0��������������	��4��
���������������
��
"�����1���
����
�����
������"��
��
"��
��
��
���
"�������
������������������������
��������������������������
��'-�
�
!��0�"0"����������"��"����"������"������"�����1�������"�������������������"��
 �"���������)��3�'����������������1�����������"��"1����������������������������1�
�������������;�����
���������"��"������������������(����������������������(�����
�����)�������������)��0"�3��&�����)�����0�����������"���������������������"1�����
����0��
������)�����.���"��������������������������)����������"1���������������
��"���")����������������3��'����(���������������������)������"11�����1"��
��
"��������������J�
�����"1������"�����
�����"���")�"��1"����
"����"������"��
�����"����"��"��"����������J�����������)�����"����������"���"(����J3��!��)���
���"����"11������"���""���������"���������)��������"���")3��
�
�"������"��'������0�"0"��������1"��")��������������)�����)������"������
�
�"������"���������6�
�
+�������1"��")����0������0��
��������	
������
���
����������������
���������
"������1��
�+���"���������
�
�
����������������
�����
���
����������
���.��*#���������������
��������
3����5��������������������������	��������������
������1�
���������������������
������	�����������	����
"�	��
��������%����
"�����	�����..����
����������
�..�
	
����������'-�
�
�"������"������"����������0�"0"����"1�����"���������"��"����"�����"������0������
�"�����������1�������)������������0"��������0"���3�
�
+�����"������"�����"���������"��"����"������"��%��������)����"�����������������
�����������������"�������"�����"���������"��"�3�
�
�"������"��'������������������������)"���������00
��"�)������)�����
����������������00"�������"���������"��"�3�
�
��(�������������)������)���"������"���"��"1�1���������������������������"����
����"��������"����"����00�
����1��������������������������"���)������"�������
(��
��"�0��.��"������������������"0�0�"0��������������������"���"�����
��(��"�����3�	��������������"�0��)����������������.��0�������������)����
"���������������������1"��0�"1����"�����������������0"������3�!��)���������
����
"11������"�����
���)��0"�����0�����������"���""����������"�����������������������
������0��������"��������"���"����1"�������3�!1��������������������)���
����"������1"����"���")��)"����������������������������1"���"���")�>��
�
!�����"�����������"��"����"������"��%����������������������)���������������
�������������������������������)���0"0�����"�������"�(���"�������"�������
�)��������� �"������������"����.����0�"�����"��1�"�����"���)��������"���")3��

Page 23



�
�
�

�

�
��55���

��������	
������������������������	���������	��	����������������
����������

�

'��)������"��"�����������������"���")�"1�������
0���"��������"�����1"��L4@�"��
+��/"�3�
�
2��������������0������������00"���"1������"��"����"����������������
0��"1�
)��0"����"���������������������"���"���������"���)�
3�
�
&���-�0��
���
"���������)������������������"1������"��"���������������
��"��������)����������00������"� �"���������)��3�&�������������������
��������������"(��
��������������������������%�����1���������1"���������11"���3�
��������1��������)"������"1������"��"���"���������0�"(��3�!��)"����0�������
�������"��0�"0���)�"�)�����"���������"���")��������������
���������")�������
���������"������������������������)��0"�����������1"�����
���������������3�
�
!���������������0��"������"������"�������������������1"���������"��������"��3�
'����0������������������"��"��)�������������"����0�"����0��(�������"��
0������0��(���������)������������"�������0�"0��:��������
��"�)������"���0������
0������)������"���")�3�!1��"(����������"0������������������"�����
��"����
0�"(���������������)�����)"�������������"���"1������"�������������������
���������"�����������������3�'����(�������������)"��������"��������"1�0"�����
�������������������"������������������)���������"���� ��1"����
��������"��
0�
���������������"�������������������������"1�0��������1��
3�'�����������������
�"���0��"1���"���")�����������������0"���)��������������"���")��)������������
������0"������1���������������)�����"���"���")��0"����"0�����������
 �"������������3��
�
G0"����("���"������"���������"��"��)�����������
�"����6�$"���<��+�������4�)����1"�����������"��3�
�

���� �� ������������������ ����������������������������8�����
��"�����������������
&�����)����"����������������3�
�
�
�
�
�

������	
����
�,'��&'��

�

Page 24



�
�
�
�

�
������

��������	
������������������������	���������	��	��	��������������������

�

��������
�

	
����������	��
��
�������
����������������

�

����������

�	
���	���� ������	
���������������������������
��������������
�������������������������� �������������!����������"���
#��������������$�"����������������"�������������"�������
��������$�������%���
�$�
����&���'����������(��'��(�
��
�"����'�
��	")����'�
�������'"���
���������'"�����
��
������*�++���������(��*"������,����-���
)���������������"���
'����������"���
�����������"���
��,����)��������
��
������#���"���&"�
�.��(����/����������"����*"�����
����
-"������(�����/���"�
�����"��������&�"���"������"��%��������
	"����%�
�"������0�%������"�����1�����%������������
/�(���%����������

�
�

��������
�
�

��� ����������
,2"�"�����)���������(���+�"���"������"�����������������������%�������3�
�"������"��$�
���������(��������������)"�������������"������������3�
�

��� �������������������������
&�����)�����"����������"���"+���������3�
�

��� ����������������������������
&�����������"+��������������"���4�$������
�)"��������22�"(������������0��
��������"+��"�������"���������"��56�������54�63�
�

��� ���������������� ������� ���
&�����
"��2�������������'����"+���������(���������������
��)�����������+������"+�

�����������"��+�"��!�(���"��������"2����)�����)"�������(�����+"��������0��������


�����������"���������������++�"�����������(�����3�

�

&�����
"��������2��������������"������������������������3�&��������������

�����(����*�2������������������������������"����"����)�����������+��������2�

�����3���������"���2"������������������������2���������"�2��
��"����"�"���+�������

+�"���"�������������������/�2��
���
"���)�"����������������������"�����+������

+����+����(��3�$"��")���������������
"�������������+�����"�����-"��"������)���

(��
�������""�����+"�)�����"�������)�������������"����2�2�"�����������2������
�

���)����"������2����(�����(��������3�

�

��� ���������������� ���������������������������
&���-�����������������������"+�����-"����������"��������"��)�����)���

��������������54�������54�63��'����7����������������"����"�����������������"�

���2"��3�'����+"����������������������*"�����"����������
��"��������"��)"����

Page 25



�
�
�

�

�
��5���

��������	
������������������������	���������	��	��	��������������������

�

������"���"���
��56�$������
�54�6��+"����0�)����3�&����)"������(�������������

������������"����������%����"+����������������"22"������
��"������2�����������

2�"����3��

�

&���-��������2"�����������"������(��
�855������"������������)�������"�����

�
����9"�����������������3�'��)�������"�2���"�����"���������������"���"���

)�"������������("�(���������������������)���3�'���"���������������")�(���

)"�����"��"(�����������*"�����"����������
��"��������"���������������2��������

���2���"��)"����������������2�������(��)3�

�

$�����
�����-���������������������������������������������
��"��������"��

)"���������2��������:�2��"���������3�&�����"��������)���������������
�����

������"�����2�������"��������"�������"�����)�����3;4�63;42����"���������

)"������(������"22"������
��"���������"��3�

�

��� ��������!������������
#"�2�����"���)���������(��3�
�

	�� �������"���������
&�����)�����"�2������7�����"��3�
�


�� �������"���������

#$� "
����	��%�	&��	
���	��������'�%%������	��()���	%��*��*��+�)������
���,-��	
���	����&�
�)�&)���

� $"��")����������������"��"+������444�����������2�����"�����.��"����54�:�+�"����������������"+�
�2����������������������7������"������������������.(��(��)�<��������
��"��������)����������
�"���(��)��������(���������������������")����
��"��������������2�"(������������������3�'")����
�����)"���2�"������������(����
�����"���"�����"��������"��������2�"2"����"��������=�

� ���.	����%�	&��(���()���	%��/��

� ,��������������"�������6�.��"����54�:���"�������"�����������2�����"����������������������
�

������"������"����������(���>������
��������"(���"+��������(�����"��2���������%�
��������

�������
3��/��������������������)��������������������.(��(��)������������
��"����������"����

�"��������������(���������������������")����
��"������������������(������������������3��

��

	�2�����"0�����������/�����"��+"��������"����%�������������������5?�#"(������54�:���������

"+�����.(��(��)������������
��"�������3��'����(����2���������"��)�����)���+"��")����
���

7�����"���������)��������"��)���������������+�����������������������3�

��

�"���"+�������
�2"�������������@����

��

•� &���������������������+������������"����)����"������"�3��&�����"���"����2����"+���

A"����
��������B��4����������"���������������"�������������
���������������A"����
��"��

"2�����������������
�������������43BC�"+�A"����
�3�������2��"���
����������)"�����"��

"��
����")�����A"����
���"�����2�������2��������
�)"�������"�����"���2������������������

����)"����A"����
�����������3���&�)������
�	"������2����������)"��������+���+�"��������

����������)��������2"2�����)��������2�������������������������+"������,D4������������

�����3���

•� #"����%���������������)�������������"���E��(��)�����""�������+"����(��"2��������

Page 26



�
�
�

�

�
��;���

��������	
������������������������	���������	��	��	��������������������

�

������)���2"���������"�������2����������������(���3��&����)"�������")�+"���0����������(�����

�"����������"���+��7�����������(���������1��"+��������������")�+"����)����(����@��"�����

'"�2��������F"�������������"��+"���0��2��3��!��)�������������������++"��������"������

��"��������"��������"�����"�������"2��������������)����"����(��������"���������������2������

������������"+������������+���������)�
�+�"���0�������������"2�3���

•� &����"���"+�2���������������������+"���)"��"����)����������������������������4�
�����

��"3��������"�����)����)��������"�)"������2���������2�)���������"������������(��"2���

)�����������������������+�2������������������������������+�����)"��������������3��

#"������������
��"��������������"��������%"��2�������������-�(
�%�-�>����������"��

��2�"
����)�"�2�"(����)"��2�����2�����������
2��"+��"������"�����������������3��

�"��
��������+�"������%�-��"����")����������0�����"��"+������0�������������
����������

����(��"2�����"+�#"���������	���������"���������"���22"��������-�����������)"��3��

&���.(��(��)������������
��"��������+���������������)����������)�����������)�����"2���"�

�02�"�������"2��"���)�������0�������2�"A����F��������(�����������)����2������������#"����%����

/�(��"2�����������(��)������������2��������������
�+"���"�����3��&����"������"�����������"����

����������)���������"���
��"���������2����"+��"���������2"���2��������+"������������3��

�

�"��������
�������"����������.++�������"�������������������������"(������������(����2�"A������"2���

"����7���������� �"��������������"���
��"�������)������22�����������(���������+������3����

�

0$� "
����	��%�	&��	
���	���(�������	���	��)1�������&1�����*�	.&����)����)%��,-�
�	
���	�������+���2��),�

� !+�����'"������%�������2������"������)������������
����+�����)���������"�������������������
2��������+�����
�54��"�D4C�+�"��*��
�54�6�������(���������������"�������"������"����������������
�������"+�"���2��������"++�����=�

� ���.	����%�	&��)1�������&1����

� &���%�������2��������������
�"���+"���"��������"����"�)�����)��)����������2"�����3��
�
%��)���"�������������
�"+��"��������"��������"����������2��������+������������)���2����"+�����
 �"���������������("����"������������������"��
�����
�����������E��/�����"��"+�����������"�
/�- �"(����������54�:3���
�
.(�������2����5�
�����+"�������������2�������2"�������++������
������++����(������"+�����
2�����������������������������)����(����������������������2��+"�����������2�����"�����(���
������"�������������
�������3���
�
,��2����"+��������2�"(������2�"��������������"�������������"��������������2��������2���
�22������"�����(�������������������������������������(��)����2����22������"��������(����+���3��!��
�����2"�����������)������������"�������"�������2��+"�������������(�������������2����
�)����
���2�����"�����3��
��
����������2��������"��"+�����%�������2����"(�������������")�)��������"������"����2��������
����"����������������"�������G"++��E�"+�����54C�������������+���>���������)�"��
��"�����"����"��
�0�����������������������"��������2��"����"����������A�������")����������������"����54C�
�������"���������"���(���������������2����������2�������3�
�
,��2����"+��������2�"(������2�"��������������"�������������"���������!�)���"��������"++��������
)������������������������"�����E���B��.++������"��"�+����"�������2������)������������0��+�)���
�3�

Page 27



�
�
�

�

�
��D���

��������	
������������������������	���������	��	��	��������������������

�

�
!������22��������
�7�����"���"������"��#���"�����������������)����0����������)�����������
"22"������
��"����������2��������+�����
�54C������������������3�'����7����������������%����
"+���������������2��"��������)��������855������"��+"�������
��������3�'���������+�������������
�������/�(��"2�����������+��
���"�����������"������2��"���
��"�)�����������2"�����
��3�
�

3$� "
����	��%�	&��	
���	���(�������	���	��)1�������&1����	
���4-��	
���	��������
'�%%�����

� '")����
������������������
���'�������2�����8B44��������(���"��")���1���"�����������
2�"2���
�(��������
��"(���������=��'")����
���'��"��������"���2�����
��"�2��������
�������"���2����=�

� ���.	����%�	&��)1�������&1����

� ��������������"�����"�����/��������54�5������������"+��������������"������)�"���(�������
����������"��")���1�������������
��"(�������������5B3�&����"�����������"+�����������'�
���������������������
�D�B::3�.+����������������;�B�?��"�������������������4D?�A"�������������3�
��������"���������"�������������)�������������"�2���������"������������
�H�������"���2����I3�
!��������"+�H������"����2�������I�"����������2�"+��������+"�����"����")������+"��")���@�
�

�
�
!�� �� ��22��������
� 7�����"���"������"��#���"�� ������� ����� ���� �"� "��
� �����
� �"����2��� 
����

�")���1�����)����� ��2��������� A�����C�"+� ���������� +�"��������������"�"����'"����� ������

)�������"22"������
��"����"������2�"2����������������������("�����"��)��")����"��")���1�����

"������"�"2����2��������������������"+��"������"���"���"������)�����������3�'��������)�����������

8B44� �������(�� �"���� ��� ���������� �"� �����(�� ����3� &������������������'"��������"������"��

*�++����� ���2"����� �"�� ���� ����� ����� )��� ��(��)��� ��������
� ���� ����� "��"���� )"��� )"����

�"������3�

5$� "
����	��%�	&��	
���	���(�������	���	��(����)���-��	
���	�����*��'	��)��

� 	����������������
��"���������2�"2���
�+������("
����)������")���������������������
����"������
�"���"+������"��������")����������J���"������������)���������3������������������2��
��(�����?6C��������"+�+�������)����������������3��%������������"�������"�����"���2�"(�������
��"�������������"�=�

� ���.	����%�	&��)1�������&1����

� %����(����������������������������2�"��������������2"�������"�����������������������+������3�%����
��("
����)����2�"����������������
����/�(���.)��������+��0�����(��"+� $�����-K�������@�H!�����
��2"�������"�����������������������+�����"��"+�G+������E�����������2"������������������������������(��

Page 28



�
�
�

�

�
��B���

��������	
������������������������	���������	��	��	��������������������

�

�����������"(���"�������������)���������"���������������
���"���3�%������ �"�������������)������
��(��
�����(���������������7������"������������"�������)�"����"���
3I�
�
!������7����
�������������
�����������"(����"���"+������"�"���������"����������"�������)"�������"�
�������������������+�������7�"���3�
�
!��������"��������������"��"�����������54�:�������)�����4D����)�����������������2����������������
)��������������������+"����
������������� �"�����������������"(���5BC�"+������"����;L?4��������
�"���
3�
�
&��������������K�"�"�����������
�54�B��)�������+"�����"����������������*"�����"���
�������
�*����������������������������������������)���������"���"���2�"(�������������
���(�(������������������������"+������������"�3����)����5446�����54�4������2����������"+�
��������������(�(����+"����
����+����+�"��L63BC��"�??35C��������54����������������������������
������������
��"�L;35C3�%����������������������������"���������
��"�2�������+��������"�����������
������("
����)����	�2"�����������(��
����������
�������"��������"�����������"���3�
�
,��2����"+�����*���������"�����������������"����������)���2�"
���������������2�"(������"��������
�"���������������)�"�)�����"��02����)���"�����(�����"��"(��"���"+���������3�%����(�����"�
���"��������������+����������2���
�+��������������������������(�������(����+"�����������"+�

��������������")�)"�������"���������������+"������ �"������������� �")���#��)"������
������������"��"�������������������������"��3�&�����������"���������������������+���
�"������"������!�)"�����"2�������������������������"��������"���
3����
�
!������22��������
�7�����"���"������"��������#���"���������+�)������)"������)��������

������������!/����������!�2�"(�������"����2�������������"�����(������2�"�2����"�)���������

-��������"������"�����(��*"��������2"�������������� $�����-K�� �"������������E��-"����

K����2���������������2����������
���(��+�������+"������3�

�
�

6$� "
����	��%�	&��	
���	���(�������	���	��(����)���-��	
���	�����*��'	��)��

� '")���������������2����"���"��������
���22"���"(������������B�
�������
����������������=�

� ���.	����%�	&��)1�������&1����

� �"��������
����(����������"�������������������"�2�"(�����02������(����"���������"���������
�����������������������2������������++�"������2�
�"��3��!�����
�������������������"��������2����"+���
)�����2�"A�����)����+��������������"�����������
�"�����2������3�$"�����������)"�������������"�5454�
����"������ �"�������������,��2"���)���A"����
�+������)����"������"������3��
�
&���+����������")�����������"�����������"����"�����"��"��������
�����2�"+����"����+����"������
,�����"�+��������
����3����
�

���������	
����������������������������������

������ ��������� �������

������������ !"�	�#�

�$%���� ����������	�
�����
�� �������

�$%���� ����������
� �����������

� &���� �������������������	�
�����
���
 ������������������ �����!����

 '���(� "�#���$������������������ ����!�!��

Page 29



�
�
�

�

�
��:���

��������	
������������������������	���������	��	��	��������������������

�

�$'���� $������%��������&
'�������
���
���� ����(��(�

 '����� )���
����&��������
�%$��
�'�������
� �������� �!�!������

%) ��#�

�*%���� *����������+����,������� ��(��������

)�+���� -��
�����.��������
�� ����������

 '��(�� )�����-
����
��
�� (����� �!��(�����

�,(-,.�/(�� �,(-,.�/(��

�
!������22��������
�7�����"���"������"��#���"��)������2�������������+�������7�"��������

��+�������"�2����"+�����-����������2"�����H&���+����������")�����������"�����������"����"����

�"��"��������
�����2�"+����"����+����"������,�����"�+��������
����I����������������������

�������������������������"��������)����������������������+��"��������
���22"����"����)����

������"����"����������3�&���-��������"������"�����(��*"��������2"��������������+������������

2�"������+�������"�����"������
�����������+"������)����"���44C��"�+����������������0�������3��

�

7$� "
����	��%�	&��	
���	���(�������	���	��)1�������&1�����*�	.&����)����)%��,-�
�	
���	�������+���2��),���

� '")���������������������+�"��"++��������2���������������������������B�
���������)�����������
������2����"�=�

� ���.	����%�	&��)1�������&1����

� &����"������2����������"�������������������+������������"+�����2����������"��������02���������"��
���������2�����
�2�����"+�����)������3��
�
!��54�5��;�������"������)������������2"�������+"��"���������2���������"�+"��������
�"+��"�2����"����!�
��(���0������������
����+�"���
����2"��������2�"(���������+"�������"+����������+"���
����3�
�
�
�
�
!������"�+��������+"��")�������������"���"����������+"���
����@��
�

 �)�� ���	&�� �8.�����
��� �����
�.
��

09#3:#5� 8;�?D?�5?;� 8��L;L�:;L� 8��L4?�L�D�

09#5:#6� 8;�B4D�?BL� 85��L5�DL5� 8��;�5�;:?�

09#6:#7� 8;�BD6�B:5� 85�;?;�56B� 8���:D�5?6�

09#7:#;��	�00<90<#;� 8;�;B:��6B� 85�D:;�?6D� 8���?L5�;4��

�	�)�� =#5-067->;?� =>-?;?-0>9� =6-0;;->;9�

�
&����������2����)�������(��+�"����22�
��������2����������(�����+�����
����2���"�+��������2����
��2�"(������2�"A�������������"���
����2���"�2�
�+"��"������"���������(������������")���+"��������
�3BB�"+�����	"���&��++���	�������"���,����L?D3�
�
&�����"������"���������(������������@��
�
�������������������2"��������"2����2������2����������������3�'")�(���������"��������"���������
�����"�������2�����+����"���"�����������(��������������������������G���2���E�2���������(����3�
�
,��"�������
�������")����"(��������02���������"�����������(�����)������+"��")�@��

Page 30



�
�
�

�

�
��6���

��������	
������������������������	���������	��	��	��������������������

�

�

������������������������������������ 8;��LL�;L:�

�2"��������"2����2����� 8B�4���6�B�

������������������ 8D�5DB�55��

�	�)�� =#0-567-330�

�
!������22��������
�7�����"���"������"��#���"�����������������)�����++�������"��"����"���2����������

��������"+���������������������
3��!��)������2"�����������������+���������������������
�)���

�02�������������0���"��������)"�������2����������"��������������%"������ �"�2����,2���3�

�

;$�� "
����	��%�	&��	
���	���(�������	���	��)1�������&1����	
���4-��	
���	��������
'�%%�����

� $"��")���������02������������2�����"������������������"������")������������(��"2����������������
"���")��"�������������(��
������2�"�����"+�2�"2�������2����"�������������=��!�������"�����"�
���"������������"����"�F������"+��"����"��=�%�����0�����"��
��������"������)�������+"�����"�
���2���������+"��������2�"2���+�����"����������(�����"����"�������+�=��
�

� ���.	����%�	&��)1�������&1����

� '"�������������"��������2����"��A�����0�������"��"������������������������������2"�����������������
��������44C�������������D��"�B�
����3� "(����������������
������(��������)"������2����"������
�"���(�������������"����")�������������������������)�������2"��������
�+"������2"�������)�����
�++��������2�"2����0�������"��"���������������������������������!�����������������������"+�������
��+�E�3�-�(����+"��65��"�����������)"����"+������"�������)����
������������)��������
��"2������
�02�������3�%����������2"�����������2��������2�"2����0�������"�����������"+��������
��"���
�
��(������������"���"+�������"���3�&�������������22"�������������������"���"2��)����������������
��������������������
����������+����������������2"���3�.���"+��
���0�����2��)��������"��""�����"���
������������"����������2���������2���"������")����
���
������������22����3�
#"����������������(����������"22"������
��"�����������������������")��"��+�
"��)����+"���(���
�
�����������������)����������������+�����"��"+�����65��"����02���������!E������������(��)�)����2��
���E��
2��������
�����������"(����+"�)���3���
�
�
��������(����"��������������"+�������������
�
,��!�)"����2�+�"���
�������������"���������������!����������"�+������3������2���2��(���"�������������
�����"�����)"�������E���"����"��������������
������������������E�����!��������"�)���������������������
�"����������)���3��$���������������"��"(���
��"�����"��2����2�"2���
�"���(����������"������
����������)"����)���E����������++����!E����������3�
�
����������������(���������2���"������
��"����"+��������2����������������������!�)����������"���
"��������@�!�)��������(��
���++������2"����"���"�����"�����2�"2���)�"������2����������������
�������
��������""����������������"+�������������")��������3��,�����"���������������������+"��
�"�������!����)�!��"������������������"����2���������������
����������"������
���+�)������"����
����"��3��,������)�����������7�����"������")�!�����+"�����
���+�)�������2�"�������������3�
�
,����
"�����("�(����������2����������"��)���������
"����������������2"����"+����)��������
�7�����"��
���������
��"���+"���"+��"��������"�3��&������������
"���)�"���
�����++�������
���2"���
�
�������������(����������
3������������������"+��"��������2����"���������2�"2���
"�����E�������
�
��������2�"2���)�"�����(���)��������"�����2�����3��%�����"���"�
E��������������(��
���
�����
������������+�)�2"�����+"�������������
����)�������������+���������2������"�����2��)�
�)"����
���
��"������"������2��������"����������������"�������"��������"�=��,����+����
E�����(����"������
��������"�����������������"��"����"����E��2����
��������
����
E���(���+����"����������+�����2����3�
�

Page 31



�
�
�

�

�
��?���

��������	
������������������������	���������	��	��	��������������������

�

&"�����"(���������������!���������"����
�")��������"���"��������"�������
��02���������"(���
��"����������������)�������
�)�������+"�����������"+��
���+�3��!�)"�E�����������"�������"++������
���"�+"�������+�������M����������"+�)�����!����������E���������"��
�����2���2��(��������M�+"��
�"�������3��!E�����)�
���������������+��������"+�(�����������
�����!E�����)�
����������������"���
����������"��3�
�
-�
����
���
����2������
�2���������"�������2���"��������������+��+�"���"����
��"���2"����)�����
2�"2��������������������������"�����������3��!����+����
�������������������������"�
3��!E��
�����������������"�������"�������"����
�+�������"������)���������"��������������"���2"�������)�����
�"����������������"���������+"���
����3��!E�������������������"����"(������������+"�����
2�"2������"�������������"�3��K(������������������)������
��"������������������+����
�)����"++��")���
)����(���02�����������������44C��������������"��������2����������54�;3�
�
,����"�����������"+��"�������2�"2�����"���)�"�������������+"�����(�(�������
"����(����2�������
"+����
�����+��������"��"2�3��%����(���"����
�2�"2�������������������"��������"���������������������
����������������2"���3�
�
!������E��������"����"�+����"����")�����+��������"+��"(����������(����+���"�������2�"2��������
�������"���"��"���+�����
����"(���+�"�������������"�+"������
������(�3����������"�����������+����"+�
��"2�����+N�����������������"+��������"+�2�"2����"������"�����������(��������+�����������!����������
)��������!������"�2��2"��3��!�����)���"�����
�������"��"�����������22������
������������"�
���"�����(������3����
�"�����"����
�!��������������"�(��)�)�����������2���"��)"������"2�����
������������(������
��"���2�"2���)�������
���"����""�����2�����������"�������""��������"����
��3�� �(�������������(��2����2��"�����"����"�������2�"2���������"������2"(���
�2��2��������
"(������
�
�����������)��������
������2����3�
�
&��������"+����������������"�����������������2�������������
���")�
������"���)�
��"���������
�2�����2������"2���������"������������
��"����"��3��&�����"++���)������)�������"�������������"���
+""��)���"�����
�+������������
"��������(�������"��������A�����3��2�������������2��������"�
��22"���)"�������("��������������������2�"2���7�����
��7��22������)�����������������")������
��������"����(�(������"�������������"+���+"�����"��)"�����������������"�������)�
���������
���(�(����������
�������3������
"�����E�����
�+"��(��3��*���������
"�����E�����
�+"��(�����������"���
�"������)�����2��"++��������/"����E�3�
�
,�"���)����������")�����"+�������
��!����"�+"�����������������")����")�3��	"��������2���������
�����������"�����������������2�������������������"����"+�����2������("�(��3��,��"������������
������2��"��)"������@�H�"�����
�����")����("�������������2F)�������������������"����������22����
���+���I3��'"�������2�"2���!��2"����"��"�������������(��������"����"+���G�2"�E����2����"����
��������
"���2��(�"����2"����
��"������(�������3��!+�
"�E�������
��
"���������(���+�������
�2�������"�����������2"�3��,����������"����"+�����2�������(��������������(���++����"��
"���
)������������������"���"���2
����"��"+�
"�����"������������������
3�
�
&�������������"+��
���"������"���������������������������"����")�������"�����2�"2���!����3��
J������������
����
�)�������+�����7�����)��
�)����+�����)�����"��"���)�"����
�2�����(����"����
�������"���
3��&��
�)�������"�)��
���"����
��22������������������������2������M�2����2��������������
���
�)����������"��������������������)���������������������������������3��&��
�)������"�����
����2�����������7������������)����!�������+"��������"2���"��3���"��������E��������"�����+"���)"���
�2���������!�+��������2����"������������3��.���2����2��!�)����"������������������������2���������
�����)����""����"���3�
�
!����������"��������"��������"�2��0�����
�"+�����(����������������������2��������������2�"2��3��
!�)"�E�����������������������+"��+����"+������������������������!������������������/�(��)�"�����
�"�(�������2���"������������������������+�"�����������"+����"��3��!�����"���������������&�����)�"�

Page 32



�
�
�

�

�
��L���

��������	
������������������������	���������	��	��	��������������������

�

)���������"�"���������"�����������)�������"��
�)�
������"�����������"����������
3��!�����*"����
)�"�)������"����������������������3�����
�"+��������������������������������"�(��
����
�������3��&��
�)����"�������
"������"���
������������+�)�+��������"���)�������"��"����"��
�"���)���"��3��#"���"+������)����������������������������(����������
�)����(�������"+�
���������������������������������(������������������)���)"��������
���+��"�������������3���"���
���������
��!�����������)�"�)����������B4�3��'�����������"���
�"+����"�"�3��!�������������"�������
�������"�������������2"����)��������������������������������7�����������@�H�+�����)���
�
�����
��(��������
������!E��A����)��������"����I3��!�����������������"2�������"��3��!�����
�"�������!�����
�"2��)���(��
��������3�
�
�2������������)�����������������"���"����5B�2�"2����0�������"��"�����������!�)�����")���)�
��
�
��������2���
�+"��"��������������������������
���")����")�������3��&�����)������"���
���2��������"�������������������������)����02������������(�����
�"+�)�
����"���)����������"+����
)������+���������������"�3��H!���"���E��)"��I�����"��H������E��+���3I��&��
�)��������������"����"+�
�"������G�����
����E3��&�������"+����������������������
�����������+��0������22�"�����"���������
)�����"�2��0�����(������������3�
�
'�(�����2����65��"�����������++������)"����M�"�����")��������������������������!���(����+�����
��"����3��%��������+�)"���������������22��������"���2"�������)���������"��"�������
����
����"�����)������������"�����2��2�"2����"�����2"����"+������������"������������������)�����
2�"2����"��������"2��"+��(�����(�����(������������������"����"����
�����+�����3�
�
�3�3�,���
��������������"�)"���������!������������������)"���!�)�������������+"��)����!�
��������)������@������������3��&"�����"�����������"���(��
"����������������������"+�����������
�����������
��������)�
3��&�"���"+����)�"��������2�������"��(��
������)�������"���(���������3�
�
!������22��������
�7�����"���"������"��#���"���"�����������������"������������������

�������'"�����E�����2"�����"�����"��������7�����"�������������������������������"2���%"������

 �"�2������"���������������������������"���3�'����7����������"��")��"���)��)"������(���"�

)������+"������������"�����������"�������"�������������������"+�2�"2���"�����������������

�������������������8D��444����������������(����"�������������"��"�(������2�"����3��

&������������������'"����������������������"������"��#���"���2����)�������� "(���������

��������"������&���������
��"�������������)��3�

�

�
�

��� ����������������� ������������������ ��� ���������
&���'����"+���������(���������"������������2"��������02������������"������"��

������������
��������(������/�2��
���
"�������������
���E��,�������"������

��������������������)"��������������"����������������
"����������
���E��

,�������������3�������+���������������"����������"+������������,22����0�5�

)�"�����������22�"���������"�����"+�������������"������������+����
�)����

)�����������������"���(�������������2���+"�)����+"���22"�����������/�2��
�

��
"��+"��54�6��?3��"������"����������$����������������������)������������"�2���

���������+"�)�������/�2��
���
"�����A�����"��"�"���������������"������"��

)��������"��"��"3�

�

�

�����!���@
�)��&	
�,A������

�

Page 33



�
�
�

�

�
���4���

��������	
������������������������	���������	��	��	��������������������

�

�(��������	%����������������..����8�0�1���	����)����()���	
���	��2)�)�

�
�1
�,�)����	
���	������)������(���1��.
���	��(�����
)��	
����

������4�%	�������	��)���),	��)�����.
�,��),	�����.����*�,�%	���(��

&
����.)�,�)��09#;:09#>$�

�

���� �����������������������! ���������������
&������������������/�(��"2�����������+��
�����"������������2"��������������

���������-����#�����-�(
�)�������"���������,2����54�D������������"+�����������

�"��������"���")����������"����"+�2"������������������������"�"�
3��'����2"�����

�����������������������������������"(���85B4�444�)����2�"A���������)"���+������

�
�������(
�������������0�������������+����+������������������+"�����������"����������

"������������2���$���������������"��+"�������")�3��!��,������54�:������������

��"2��������+��������������!�2�"(������/���������!/����������"���2"��������(
�

"������(��������������3�&��������+��������A"���
�"+����������2��������2�
��������

��(
�)�������"����A�����"������!/���(
�)��������������
�)�������2�"2"���"�����
�

�++�����3�!��)������"������������������)������"�������)��������-#-����������(��

�"���������������0��2���������
�"��
��"������"�"���"�2���"��3�

&���-�����������������������������!/�)��������22�"2������)�
��"����������������

+"�)����������2"����(��2"����)������������+�����+�"������-#-�)"��������(��������

+"����"�����
���3�'����+�������"��������2���$���������������"��)���������

��+�������������������"+�����-#-3�'����2"�������������������2"��������������

�����(����"������"��������"��"��)�������������(
���"�����������"��22�
�"+�)�����

����)���������22"���"+�����2�"2"���3��'��2�������������"������++����(��A"����)"������

���)���������"�������������"���������
����������2��"�������+"�����"�����������

��(
3�

�

�����!��������

#$� �(���	��
�)��	��%���1)�B�1���	���$�

�

0$� �
��
)����	������	��#33�@#A�	%��(���	������%	�&�)����	��)����.	���1���,�

����09##��(���)�����4(����*,���)����	�)..,�����(����()&��%%����*��3#�

�)��(�09#;�

�

3$� �
1C�����	����	
��	��0-�)
�(	���,�1�����4)�����	��(��������	��	%�

��*��	�&���-�����	��
�)��	��+��(��(���)1�������&1���%	����*�	.&����

)����)%��,-��	��	�)��(��4��������)�,��	��&.�&�����(��������	�$�

�

���� ����������������!�������������@���A������������������
09#;<#>�
&������������������$���������"������"��	")����'�
������"������������2"���
)��������������������'"������	�(�����,��"����'	,����(�����+"�������+"��
54�:F�6����������������E���������2�"2"�����+"��54�6F�?3��������������
+"��")����2"�����@�
�

•� ����������	
�	��	������
�	�
	��������	�����	��	��	�	�����	

���������	��	�	�
��	
�	������	���
��	�
	��	���	������	
�	

����	�����
�	��	��	����
�	��	�
	����	 ! !�	��	�
�����	��	

����"	�
	���	��������	���	��	������	����#��	�	�����	������

Page 34



�
�
�

�

�
�������

��������	
������������������������	���������	��	��	��������������������

�

•	 $�	������	��
�
���	�
	�����	�%	�����
�	
�	�������	���	

�����������	���	������	�&	�����
�	
�	��
�����	

����
#������	���	��'
�	(
�"��	� ��	�����
�	(��	�����	

��������	�
�	��(	�����	���	��)������
���	���	����	(
���	

�
������	�
	��	�	������	�
�	��������	
�	��������	��#����	

����
�����	��������#��	���	���#����	�
�	
����	���	��������	

��
����	

•	 $�	������	(��	�����������	���	�����#��	(���	������	

•	 $
	�
��	(��	��	�������
�	��	���	���
���	��	�
��	����	

���������	��
����	����	�����	��
�
���	�
	��"�	����������	

��#����	
�	����	�����
��	*�	(��	�
(	�+������	���	���	��	

�+�������	,�	��������	�
	��������	�� 	
�	��	���
��	���	

������	���	�	������	����������	�
��	��#���	
�	��-.�!!!	


#��	��	��+�	-	�����	(��	�+������	�
	��	����#���	

•	 /�	��#���	�
����	����������	��	���	�������	��
������	���	

�����	�����#���	�+������	���#����	��#���	(
���	��	

����������	��	(���	��	�����	����	�
	������	��	������	


���	���������	�
�������	����#���	
�	��	��'
�	(���
(�	

���	�

��	�����������	��
������	���	�
������
�	
�	��	

��(	�����	��
������	��	�
	����	 !�&�	(����	�����	���#���	

���.	�����
�	��	�����#��	�
�	�
����������	

•	 0���������	���������	(
���	�����	��	������	�
�	�+������	

����	#����	�����	�����	���	��	���	���	����	��������	

�������	������	

•	 $�	������	�����	���"	�
	��	��������	����	(��	������	��	

�����	��	���	���������	��
'����
�	
#��	-!	�����	(��	�
	

���	�����	��������	��	�
��	�
�����	�
(�#���	�	�����	


�	�������
�	��	����	������	�
	�
(	�������#���	�
	������	

��	����	�
����	�����	 ! !�	

•	 1/�	(���	�
�������	��	�
����	(��	���������	���������	

���	��	1������	������	2������	(��	�������	�
	�
���	
��	

���	��	��#����	���������	�
������	�
(��	�	���	��������	��	

��	
��������	�������	�
�	 !��3 !��	���	���	������	

��
�
����	�
�	��	�
��
(���	����	
#�����	���	�
�	�
(	���	

������	,�#����	��	
������
���	�
���	��	��	�������	����	

(���	�����	����	�
	����
��	������
���	������	���������	

	
$�	 1������	 ������	 2������	 �
�������	 ��	 �������	 ���	 ���	 �
	
��
�������
���	 �������������	 ���	 ��	 ��
��
�	 
�	 ��	 ����4���������	
�����������	 ��	 ��������	 �������	 (����	 ��	 ������
���	 
��������	
���������	 �
������	 ��	 ��	 ����	 -!	 ����	 ��������	����	(
���	��	 ����
���	
�����	 ! !�	,�	�
�������	���	����	 �
�����	(��	��	�
�������	��"�
(�	
������	 
�	��	 #����	 �����	 ������	�����	 ���	 �����	 ����	 �(
	 "��	�����	
(���	��������	��	�
���	(
���	��	
�	��	������	�����	*�	(��	��������	
���	 ���	 �����	 ��
�	 ��	5
#�������	 �������	 ��	 �
�����6�	 �������	 �
	

Page 35



�
�
�

�

�
���5���

��������	
������������������������	���������	��	��	��������������������

�

����	 �����������	 ������	 ���
������	 
������	 (��	 (��	 
��	 
�	 ��	
�����	���
�������	

	
$�	1������	������	2������	���"��	�
�	1�������	/
�
��	�
���	
���	1�������	/
�
��	1
�����	 �������	 �����	 �
�	 ����	���	(
�"	
�	
���	������	���	����	�������	�
	������	"��	�
���	(���	�����	�����	����#���	
	
$�	 �
��
(���	 �
������	 ���	 )�����
��	 (���	 ������	 ��	 �������	 ���	
����
����	��#��7	

•	 8��	������	�
	��	��������	��	�����	��	(��	��"��	(����	��	

(
���	��	����������	��	�����	����������	*�	����
���	��	

1������	������	�
�����	������	���	��	(��	�
��	
�	��	

�����	
�	����4���������	���	���	��	(
���	��	����������	�
	

�#�	��	�
���	�
	��������	
�	��������	�����	�
������	

•	 5�#��	��	��������	��	����	���
���	
�	�
����	
�����	

��
#�����	���	�����)����	
���	������	��	(��	��	��	

���������	
�	���	�
����	
�����	��
#�����	�
	������	���	

�������	����	����	���	
�	�����	$�	)�����
�	(��	��"��	��	

�
	(����	1/�	(
���	��	����	�
	�
������	���	�����	���		

�����	
�	���	��
�����	��#��	��	���
����	���#�����	������	

�������		�	���
��	��
�	��	*��������	�
�	2�����	,������	

���������	���	��������	
�	���#�����	������	(
���	��	��#���	

��������	��	�����	
���
����	���	��	�

�	���	��
����	

����������	�
(	�
���	1/�	������	���	�������	���	�
�	���	

�
	�	�
����
�	(���	���	��	�
	��"�	�����	�
����9		*�	

����
���	��	1������	������	�
�����	������	���	1/�	���	

��
#���	����
��	��	�����	
�	����	���	�������	��#���	(��	

(��	����
����	��	��	#
�������	����
�	���	��"�
(������	

���	��	(��	�	����	��������	�
�	�
��	��������	��	������	���	

�!�	
�	�������	(���	
�	
�����	�������	���	(��	��	


������	�����	������	��	������	(��	����������	�
	�
���	

:#�������	���	�
���	��	�
��	(��	�����	�
��	���	1/�	

(���	���"��	�
�	����	��������	
�	(
�"	(��	���	�
�	�������	

(��	(
���	�
������	��	��	�������	

•	 *�	(��	�
���	���	��	��	����	��������	����	�	��������	

����������	�
	����#�����	�������	���	(��	����������	��	��	

���
����	��#��	��	(��	�	�����������	���	���	�	���	��
���	��	

����������	
�	�	����
���	��#���		

•	 �������	�
���	���	��	��	����	�������
�	�)�����	�
	��	

�����
�	�
�	1/�	(��	(��	�	���	����	����	���������	

(���	�#���	"�
�"	
�	�
���)������	�
�	��	(
��	��������	

(��	��#��
����	�������	
��	
�	��#��
������	���	�
	����	

��������	�����	�
	�
����	�����	���������	*�	(��	���
������	

���	�	�����"	
�	�����������	��	
���	��������	���"��	���	

���������	��#��
�����	(��	#�����		

Page 36



�
�
�

�

�
���;���

��������	
������������������������	���������	��	��	��������������������

�

•	 �������	�
�������	��	�&	�����
�	��#�������	

��
������	��	��
�����	����
#������	��+�	����	(��	

��������	��	� �-	�����
�	
�	��(	�����	(��	(��	�����������	

��	��	����
���	�
���+�	(��	1�������	�����	����	��	�����	


�	��	������	
�	��(	�
�����	
����	�����	����	�����	

•	 $�	1������	������	�
�����	���
������	1/�6�	(
�"	���	

���	�
���	���	�����	��
���������
�	��	�	������	�
	����#�	

����������	��#�����	��	��	����	���������	��	��	�����	

����������	�
	����#�	����	��	���
	��������	��	0����	

���	0�
�����	��	����	�
(�	��	��	���
��	
�	;,��#���	

*���
#�����	0�
������6�	;������#�	������6	���	1/�6�	

���	(
�"	��	���������	�������
��	(���	��������	��	

�
����#�	�
�����	

•	 *�	(��	�
���	���	1�������	��
#����	�
��	

���
��
����
�	���	
���	���������	���	�
�����	�
�	

�+������	�
�	��	,�����	�������	0�
������	���	

���
��
����
�	���������	�
	#��������	

•	 $�	1
����#���#�	5�
��	����
����	��	���
��������
��	

���	���
������	��	#�������	(
�"	�����	�
���	1�������	

(��	�������	�	��	���������	

•	 :#��	�
��	��#�������	�
���	��	����	��	����
#���	�
�����	

��
�"�	�
������	(���	�+�������	��	��	���"	
�	���
��	��
�	


���	��������	(
	�
���	��	��
#�����	���#�����	$�	

����������	������	
�	
�����������	�
�	�+������	���"	
�	

��#�������	��	������	����	���	�
����	���#���	��
#���
��	

•	 ����	�������	(���	�
�	�(���	
�	��	�

�	(
�"	(��	

(��	�
���	
�	�����	��	������	
�	������	�����	��	

�+�����	
�	���	(��	��	(
�"	
�	<�����=�1���	(��	

�
���	��	�
���	
�	�(������	

•	 *�	(��	�	����	���	�����	��
(�	�����	�����	�
����6�	��	

������	���
	������	�(��������	�����	���	�����	�����	


#��(�����	(��	�

	����	
����	1/�	�#�	�	�

�	

���
��	(��	������	�����	���	��	(��	�	����	�
��	�
���	�
�	

��	�
���	

�
!�����"�������)�����������������"�������"�����("���)�����7�����3�&���
���"��������"���)����2������������"���
3�
�
�"�����$"��;:@��"������"����������������������������������"��������������������
�"��������"�������$�������$�
����'�������'��(�
����'�
��	�'�
��'"���
��
*�++������*"������-���
)���������"���'�����"���
��������"���
���������
��
#���"���.��(��������"������
����	
�������(���������"����������
��&�"���"���
%��������%�
�"����%������"���%������������%���������3�
�
�
�����!��������
�

Page 37



�
�
�

�

�
���D���

��������	
������������������������	���������	��	��	��������������������

�

#$� �(����*���������%	���)���%	��09#7<#;�1���	����

0$� �(������1
�4���.�	.	�)��%	��09#;<#>�@�..����8�0A����
���4�)�
.�	.	��������������)���	%�#D�)����()�4����	�	�(���������)���
�()�4���)�����)����+��(����(����.	���1��)..�	*���

3$� �(��.�	.	���������).��)�.�	4�)&&��%	��09#;<#>�)���(	+��)��
�..����8�3�1��)..�	*��$�

�
�

���� ���������������������!����������������������������������
09#;<#>�@������������������06�������A�
&�����
"����(������������������������$��������"�����"����������������)�����
"�������"�����"��)"�����"�����+"��")����
�������������+�"����������+�$�������
.++�����������*"�������������"�����E�������"���B��"++���������������2�"(�����
��������)����������������2�������+�)���
���������3�'")�(�������)"�������2"���
�"��������E�7�����"��3�&"�+��������������2���������"��"+�������������������
"��
2�"2"�������2����"��"+���������������"+��������������
@��
�
&�������������������"���2��������������0���)������������"�����+"��")�����2������>�

•� ���������������$�������)�����"(���������"��"���"���"2�������������
������2�"2"�����
������������3��

•�  �"�2���������"�� �"�2��2"���2���"��)�����������������������������
"�������+�"+���������"�23��

�
&������������������$����������� �"�2�-��������"�������"��2�����"��������
"���������������������������"���"���
��������"+���2�
����3��+"������2��2"���"+�
2��������������)������7�����"��3��
�
&����)����������������"���
��
��"�����3��
�
&�����
"�����������������������������"�����("����������������"����
�
�����+������������"������������"������������"���"��������0�������������
�
�������������������"�����������D,�M��"��������"��������	�����D3B������7������
�
�����G-"����,���"����������������.�������K��������,����������	�������"���
54�DE3�&����)�����22�
��"����������������������5������;3�
�
&������������������$�����������"����������54�6F�?��������2�"2"�����)������
����������2�����2����������,22����0���3��
�
&������������������$��������"(�������2������"+�����54�6F�?���������������
"������������2"��3�&����"��"��)������"������
��"������"��*"�����)�"������(���
�����������"��2���3�
�
&�����
"����(��������������"�����7�����"���"+�����������������������(����
�02�������������������������������$�������������7��������������������
�����������2"���"���������2���+����"�������2"��+"��"3�
�

•� %����)�����������"��������������)"���������(��8;4�2����"����"��������
�����"������"��������"���������� �"������������=�
!�����2"�������������������������������������������������+������������
�����"�������2��(
��"�)"��� "(�������������"�����������"���0��"+�����

Page 38



�
�
�

�

�
���B���

��������	
������������������������	���������	��	��	��������������������

�

���������"��3����������(������������������������������(������"+�����")��
�������3�&�����B��"++����������������"��������������������"(���
�
 "(���������"�����������+�������+"���"��������"�������������"���2�������
2")���)���������������"��������0�������������������������������
����"�������"�����+�����������"������
����3�&�������+������+����������
���������������"���������������02�����"+��")������������������3��&���
�"�����E��(��)�"�����������������"������������"� "(��������(�������
�"��������"�����2"�����������������/�������3�'������������������������
�"��������"��"������+�����������"��"+������������������������������������
���)�����2"��������������������������������)����������������2����"+�
����3�&����"������)"����2��2�����������+���������2"�����"������"��������"��
����������)������������"�������������������������3�

•� %����������)�������,��0����������������2"�����������"�������������
�������$���������������������������������������������������������+����
����������������������"������)����,��0����������������"�������(�����
�
+��������������������7������"�������������)��������7�*�(������������
�"+�
������+"���"��������������-"���� "(�����������������������"����������
�����(�������+�������������������3�

•� ,�7�����"��)����������)������������"�����+"��������������������
$������E���"����������"���"���������2���������������+�"��:2�3�!��)���
������)�������)��������
��"���22��������+�������)�����
�����"��)�
����
��"�����"����22��3�!�����2"�����������������������/�(��"2���������
��+��
��02����������������������������������������������������������
�
�����+"�����������������������������"�"�����"������)����������
2�"�����"+�������������)���������"���
��"������2��������������
3�,�
����
��"������"���
�)����"�������������
"���:�2����������������")�
��������������������)�������+"�����2��"�?2��)����+������������������
������"�+�������������E�2������3�&����������)����������""�������"�+�������
�
��������������������)"��������"�2�)�����)"������0����������,2���3�

•� %����������)����������������������������2���������"����"���)�"������
��"����������"���2���
���������������������"�2"��������(����������
������2���������"�������+"�������)���2����"+������"������+�������������3�

•� ,�7�����"��)�������������������������+��������������������������������"���
���54�B��
����������������)�"�2��������"�������������������+"��
����������3�%���������")�����������"�7�����"����(�������������������
)���)"����"++�������(��
�"�������������3�!�����2"�����������������������
$���������������������(�������������"������)���2������������
�����������)�����)�����
������������+����")�3�

•� !�����2"�����"���7�����"������������2������"����"(��������(���������
���)���")�����54�6F�?���������������������$������������������������
���������(�����������������2��"������)�����������(�������������������
�����)�����������������������"��("�������������(��������3�'")�(�������
�&$��)���)"�������")�������2������������������(���"(�������2���"��
��������������
�������2�����"��)���+�����)"�������2�����������(��3�

�
,���������"+������"����(���(����"�2���"������"��'��������(���������2"�����"�
����������3�'��)�������"�2���"�����"���������������"����������"���B��.++�����
����/�2��
������"���B��.++�����+"��2��2���������������������+"��2�"(����������
)������(���3�'�����"�)�������"����������������"��������"��"+�,��0�������������
A"����
������������������+"�������
����'��3�
'���������+��������"�������("�(������"+�������"���2���
���������������
�
%"������ �"�2�����0�������������������2�"2"�����������2������������������"���
"+�����"22"����"��)����"�����7�����"���������������������������������"�3�&���

Page 39



�
�
�

�

�
���:���

��������	
������������������������	���������	��	��	��������������������

�

�"��������"�������2�"���"+��������(��������)���������������"�����(������2��������
+���������2��������3�'����+�������"�����������"+�����2����������������"���������
��(����
�����������������"����
������"3�'�������")�(���)���"����������������
�""�������"�����)���������"���
��"���������������"�"�����"������)��������
�����(�����"�����"������3�'�����"�����������������������"��������"��������3��
�
�"������"��'�����������2�"2"��������+"��")��������������)�����)���
���"������
��"������"����(���3�
�
H��(�����
�
&�����"�������������"�A"���	�(�������������+������������"������������"�����
&)���
�&)���
���"�������(����8�BL�444�2���������������"�������������
+������3�
�
&�����"�������"(����"�)�"����"������K�����"�������""�����2�����������(����
8;4�444�2��������3�
�
&"����������������(�����8�?L�4443�
�
���"���
��2����
�
&��������+������"����"+�8�?L�444������"(������������"��22�"2���������������"�
��22"�����������"�����"��������2���������"��"+������������������
3I�
�
!��2�"2"�������������������)�������������(���)"��������(���������������(�����
)�����"���2����"�����(�������"������"��'��������������)����"�������������
������)�����"�������"+���
����"�������"���2������������������������
������
����(��
�"+�)�����)������������"�����+������"+������")�3�'�������+"��������(���
��������)�����2"�������"��""��+"��������"����)�
���"����"�������3�'�������
��+��������"�����������������"�E��HJ�����I���������������)������)���"+�����"����
���(�����������(��������������+����+�"��54543�'���������(���"������5454�
)"��������"�2����������(����������������"����)"�����"����2����������������+"������
�")������)"��������(���������������(�����)�����"������"�������)������A"
���3�'��
�����(�������)"�������������2"��������"�����(�������������E�����(�����������
�++�������)�
����2"�������)�����"��������"��������(������(���3�!��)"�������"��������
���"22"������
��"���2�"(�����(����������������""��2�������3�
�
���"���
������2������������������������)�������"��
�����"���
���������"���
�
�"���"��""������"���
������������������"����������������3�'�������(������������
2������)�����"�+�������"�������+��7����
�"+��"����������"������������������)���
��A����+������+�������������������"�2������+"���
����
�������"���)�����)"�������
����"�������������������02����������"�����2�����3��
!���"�����������"������"��'�����������������)������"���"�������������"������
�"�����"������(��"2���������������������""�������"�������������7�����"�����")�
�����)"�������������������
������(���)���"������"�����3�
�
�"������"��*"�����
�����(���������2"�����"���������������������������"+�
�"������"������������-������"+������,�3�'���������+��������"������������
�������
�%"��������"�2�)���������2�"(���������)����+���������������������"�����
�"�2��0���������������������+������
�+�������"++����������������������������3�
'�����"�����������������������+�����������(��"������2����������
��")�)����
���������"�����#�)�'"�����"����)����������"������������)�
�������2�������
�

Page 40



�
�
�

�

�
���6���

��������	
������������������������	���������	��	��	��������������������

�

�������2���3�'��)���"��������+���������������)"�����������������������������
�������
����(�����)"������������������)����������22"���"+������(���)�����
�22�"2�����3�'�������")�(����02������"��������"����������������"�����������
��������������������������"��������(���)"����2��
3�'���"2��������������"�"����
��(��"2�����"+������������2�"������������+���������)"�����"���"����+������
�������3�'�������(����"����"��������"����"����"����������������������2���������
�")��������������������������")��������3�!���"������"������02������������,��
��"�2E����22"���+"������������3�
�
!������������������������������������������+"��")����2"�����������������
����������@�
�

•� &)"�
����
�������"�����������������"������"������������2�"�"����
���"����
3�&��
�2�"(�������������)��������"22"������
��"������)����
("�������(������������������������
��"���(��������(��)��"��)���������"������
)����"���3�

•� ,22�"0������
�B4C�"+�������"���)���������"���������
�)����"�����
������"����"�������(������"�����������+�"���)"�
����
�������"���)"�������
���������������������02���������"��
��7�������"�5:�2�����2���("����

•� ,���������"�������������������)�������
��"�������)�"������
������"����
����������3�3��(����"���+��7�����
���������3�

•� 8�?L����2������������+�"+�����#�)�'"�����"����)���������A���������
�"��3�!��)�����2"������������������� "(����������"�������"�������������
"+��"�����"(�������3�

•� 5454��"����������������(�����������)�����2"������+"�������������
�����������"�������(����
�����������������"���������"�2��
�������"���
"+�������������������������"��"�����(����������7�����3�!��������"����
�
����+�����������+�"��2�"(���������(���������"����)"��������"����
��"���
)����54543�

•� &���-�����������"��������������������������������"���"�������
2����������
���(���������������)��������)���2�����������3�3��+���������2������
��������������������2��"���"��"������

•� 	�+�������)���������"�"��"����)"���"����(��������������+��������
����"�������(�����)�����)"��������(�����(�����)����������������������
+"����"������������3��&�����2����"+�"���"��������)"�(�����+�"���+������
���(�����+"�����������"�������"���������������2�"�����)���������������
���������"��������������")�����2"��������
��"������"�������������������
������3�'"������5454��"����"����)"���������++������)����(��
�+�)�
�"������"�����2��������3��

•� ��������)�����"�+����������������������������
��"���������"�����
+"�)�����������������������"���������)�
�����������)������������
����
2������"�����(����������"�A�����"��)����2�������3�

•� ,�������������(������������������"���������2"�����������������)����
���������������(����"+�8�?L��)����"�����2����"���2���+�����
3��

•� ,�����������������������������8�BL����(����+�"��5454�)���������"�����
�����2��"��������������������������"������"������������"���������
�

$"����������������@�

•� ,��������)�������������������������������"+�.(��(��)������������
����
����������+"������+������������������
������2�"A�����"�����"�������22"�����
�����"������"+����"����������������"�������������"������(�������������
����)�����

Page 41



�
�
�

�

�
���?���

��������	
������������������������	���������	��	��	��������������������

�

•� !��)������"������������8�?L��)����"�����������"���������"��������������
�2�����
�

,�����"�����"+����������������"������"����(��������")�����������
�����������+�������"�����"(��������+������3�&�����)������++��������"������"����
����������)"�
����
��"������������"���)"�����"���������������
�����2�����������
+�"�����������(���3�8;4��)����������������+����������"+��"��
3�����������"����
��������"���������������
�����"���������"��A�������������"������3��
�
$�����
���"������"��'���������������"22"������
��"���������"�������(��������+"��
�����������������
���"������������3���"�"����������������)���(�����+"������
�")�E��+�����3�'�����"�2�)"�����"��������"�2�����"����������������������������
�������
���+"������������2�������������������"������)"����A"���5454��(�������
3�
!��������"+�����������"��������+�������"���������������
� �"�����������
�����
���"��������
�������������"���
��"�����������������������������"+�����
�"������"����
�L�)�������������(�������(����3�!��)�����������������)�����2"������
�"��"��������"�+�����+"��������"����+�����+"�������������������
3�
�
!�����2"�������"����������������������������������$���������+�������"�����
+������������)������"������������"���"����2�	K�&����(�����)��������������"���
�
����������2"������������H�"�����")�I����(���3�&�����)�������������"+���(�����
�����"��"���+�"������	K�&������������������������������/�����"������������
K�"�"����/�(��"2����������"��������������������"+�������������(��������
"������"�����(����������������)����"��"������������"+�)"�����������"����"�3�������
�������+��������"�����8B4�����"����������2��(�"���
����+"���"����������
������������������������������������+"���"������)"�����������)�����������"���������
������(��"2�����)�����
��"������")�E��+�����3��
�
,����"�����("���)�����7�������2"�������������������������)���-.�&�
�
�"������
$"��:@��"������"������������'����������"���#���"�����(������������"��3�
�
,�������5B@��"������"�������������������������"���������������������"�������
�"�������$�������'��(�
��	�'�
�'"���
��*�++������*"������'�����"���
����
����"���
��������
��.��(��������"���������
��&�"���"��%��������%�
�"����
%������"��%������������%���������3�
�
,�������;@���-���
)��������
�������	
���3�
�
&������������(���"��"���������������������"��������"��������������������
��2"����
�
&����������������"(����"��������������(���"��"�3�
�
�"������"��*"���������-������"+������"����������������������������������
$�����������"++�������2����������
�����$������������+"��2��2����������������3�'��
�02������������"����������� "(���������������"���������������
����0���)�����
��������(���)�����������"��)�
�����������"��"������+������������������������
���������
�������)�����)���)�
�������"������������������������"(��3�&���
��������"���������������������������������������������"��������"�������(��
�
����"���
�)"��������������"��������0��"�"++��������3�&�����"������)"����������

Page 42



�
�
�

�

�
���L���

��������	
������������������������	���������	��	��	��������������������

�

�"��������0��
�53:�C�����"���������3�!��)��������
������������)"��������"���
�����
"+��"��������0��������������)"���������������"��"�����������"2��"��3�
�
&���-��������2��������������
��"���"+���"�"������(��"2�����)�����
���"�2���������������"����������������
�)�
�3�'����(�������0��2���"+�����
�������+���2���������2�)"������"+����������������/�(��"2�����&����$"����
)�������������������������(��"2�����������������������)��
�����*"���-�)���
����������(��"2�����"+����������������&����2"�������3�&���+"����)"�����")�
���"������%����"+���������������������
����9"���)����������������
������
�)������855������"�3��&����""�����������"���"+����������+"����)"�����������������
�"���������)"����������������"����"��2����������������*���2�"����3�&���
-�������������+��������"�����)"���"+������!/�)�����������2"����(������������
)����"��������)��(����3�'������")������������������)����2�������������������
"������'�����������)�������������"�������������3�&����������������
�
��2�������������"(����������(��)�+"����������+���"+������")���������������
��������)"������������"�����������"��"�����������)�
�+"�)���3��
�
&���+"��")�����"�������)���������"�������������@�
�

•� �����������������������������������$���������������$�������&����
+"�����������������)"��3�&��
����"�����������������������������������
+����3�

•� &�����������)������2"���(�������������2�����������������������

•� &�����)������"�����"��"+��"���2"����(��������"����������������������
�
����������"�����2�"A����)�����)"�������(�������������+"����������"����
��2�"(��������"����
���������(���������+���������2�"(��������"�2�����
����"2����2���������2����"+�������"��"�����"(�������3�

•� �"������"��������(��������������"���2�"(������(�������3�3���'��
$����(����������������&��������2����������������������""����+"�)����
�"�2��������-������O���������&")��'����

•� &����������������
�������"��������2����)����0�������+"����������������
��)�"���)�����"�����2��������)"������
����"�

•� �"������)����02�������)������������"�������2����"+��������������������
����(������"��"�������������������)������"�����������������(��������
�")��

•� %��������(�����������2���������"2����2�����)���)���"�����("���������
��"�������������������������"���������������(����������+�����������+"��
�����")�E��2�����)"����E�����2"�������)���"��������
�

!�� �������� �2� ������������������� $������� ��+�������������� �"� 2������2��
D35?����������2"����������������������������)������������������������������22�����
)����� )���� ������������ �"���� �"(�������E�� ������
� �"� ����� ��������� ������
�������"�� �� �������3� ���� �������� �������� +"�� ������ �"������� ����
�"���������"��"+� �������������3�����)��������+��� +"�� ���� ���"�����"��"+�)����
����������������"��)�����
�����"������(�3��&����)������������������������2����
���������"(�������������3�&����"������"�"�
�)"���������������������+�"��������
���(����� 2�"�������� ������ )"���� ��� �"��� �++������� ��(����� ���� �"��� �������
���(���������������)�����������(���"��+"������������3�
�
!�����"�������)�����������������"�������"�����("���)�����7�����3�&���
���"��������"���)����2������������"���
3�

Page 43



�
�
�

�

�
��54���

��������	
������������������������	���������	��	��	��������������������

�

�
�"�����$"��;:@��"������"����������������������������������"��������������������
�"��������"�������$�������$�
����'�������'��(�
����'�
��	�'�
��'"���
��
*�++������*"������-���
)���������"���'�����"���
��������"���
���������
��
#���"���.��(��������"������
����	
�������(���������"����������
��&�"���"���
%��������%�
�"����%������"���%������������%���������3�

	
�����!����������
�

#$� �(����*�����1
�4���%	��09#7<#;�1���	����)����(�����	&&���)��	��
	%��(�������	��#6#��%%������	���)��%����(��������%�����)*��4�	%�
=##9-;3;��	��(��1
�4������)��4,�@�
..	��A������*��)�����)�������
�����	��3$#�1��)..�	*��$�

0$� �)*��4��	����������(��1
�4���)�����&����1,��(�������	��#6#�
�%%�����)���..����8�0��(��%		+��4����	&&���)��	���1��)..�	*��$�

3$� �(��%��)�1
�4���.�	.	�)�����
���4�)�.�	.	�����	
�����)8�%	���(��
���*�����.�	*�����1,��(����()&��	�	
4(��	
����	%�=#?;$#0�%	��
�(��,�)��09#;<#>�@)�������)���	%�0$79D�	��=6$99�)�,�)��%	��)��)�����
.�	.���,A-�)�����)�������.)�)4�).(��5$3;��	�5$50�1��)..�	*��$�

5$� �(��4�	+�(�.�	.	�)�-����
���4�	���	%%������)��*���)���..����8�5-�
1��)..�	*��$�

6$� �(���)*��4��<�)�����	�)����	&���	�)��4�=#-59>-;99�)����(��1
�4���
���)��4,�)���..����8�6�1��)..�	*��$�

7$� �(��
���	%������*���)���4����)�1))�����1��)..�	*���)����(��
.�	C�������*��	%������*��-�)�����)����)���..����8�7�1���	���$�

;$� �+)�����&.	�)�,�1
��������)��������%�%	��	�)���+�.).����%	��
.�

�	��+	�,�)���%�	&��.���09#;-�)������	
�����.)�)��5$39��	�5$33-�

�
1C�����	�%
����&1
���&����%�	&��(���	*���&����)����(��)+)���

	%��
�(�����%�1�����4)�����	��(����*��
����)�)4��$��

>$� ���1���	�����()���(���	
����+����&)�������(���	
�������(����
1
��������)����.		�%	��09#;<#>�@.)�)�5$07A$�

?$� )��)1	*����%)��	�)�,������)���������&)��	��%���@����&)�����	�
4����)���)�����	�)����	&��	%�=3;3-669A�+��(�)��	����.	����4�
�	����1
��	���	��(��1
�4������)��4,�@�
..	��A������*�-�)�����)�������
.)�)4�).(��7$#9��	�7$#3�1��)..�	*��$�

#9$��(���),��	��,���)��&����%	��09#;<#>-����
���4��(���	����
���
.),&����	%�)��*��4�+)4���
..�&����)���..����8�?�1��)..�	*��$�

##$�)��*��	%��
..�&���)�,�����&)���	%�=#99-999�%	��09#;<#>�)��
	
��������������	��#5�1��)..�	*��$�

�
�

���� ����������E������������09#;�

Page 44



�
�
�

�

�
��5����

��������	
������������������������	���������	��	��	��������������������

�

&������������������$�����������"������������2"��������2��2"���"+�)�����)���
�"�������������"�������"����������"������&�0�+"��54�6F�?3�
�
!�����"�������)�����������������"�������"�����("���)�����7�����3�&���
���"��������"���)����2������������"���
3�
�
�"�����$"��;:@��"������"����������������������������������"��������������������
�"��������"�������$�������$�
����'�������'��(�
����'�
��	�'�
��'"���
��
*�++������*"������-���
)���������"���'�����"���
��������"���
���������
��
#���"���.��(��������"������
����	
�������(���������"����������
��&�"���"���
%��������%�
�"����%������"���%������������%���������3�
�
�
�����!��������
�
�(��%	�&)��	
�����)8����	
��	��)���..����8�0�1��)..�	*���)����()���(��
�	&&���)�,�������.����	%��(�������)�������	
�����)8�)���)�)4�).(�7�	%�
�..����8�0�1���	���$�
�

���� ������������������
&�����)�����"��"������"+��"��"�3�
�

���� �� ������������������ ����������������������������F�����
��"�����������������
&�����)�����"�������������3�
�
�
�
�
�

������	
����
�()��&)��

�

Page 45



Page 46



� �

�����������	��
��
���
�

����
���
�����
����
������
�
��������
������
�����
���
���
�
�������������
��������������������
�����������
��
�������������������� !�
��
"�
�
�����������������������#���
��������������	�������������$!�"�
����
������
�����������������
��!�
��
%������
��
������&	�&
����
��

��&��'����������
�����"
���%���������(����
���������
���������������������
���������� ��
�� �� �������� ����)�
��� �
����!� �� ���*	� ��������� ���� �
�
���� �
���� ��� �� ���
� �
���
� 
�
�����
�
���������	�&�
�� ��
�+��
���
����������
�� ����� ���&��������� �������
����� ��
� �
�
��
�����������������
��
������
�����������
����������������
������
������
������
�����������
������
�!�
��
,���������
��������������
����������'�������
�����������
����
����������������
�&

�������������� 	�&���
���
�
�
�
����������
��
&������
������
���
���
�&����������
��
�������������
������� !�%���������
����	���
����������
��
���������
�������
����
�
��
�����
����������������
�����
����������
����
����
�������
����
��
������
����!�
��
���
��
�
�������
�������������
�
�������
����������&�&�
����
�+��
���
����������
�����
������������������
-���	�����������
.�
��
�������
������/
&�0��
��1����	���'�������
�
�����
������������������������
�
����
�
���� ��� ��
������
	�����
�� ������
��������
�������'
�����
�������
������ ���)�����
������� ����
����
�� ��� ��
�
�������
��!�
��
"�
� ����
�� � ��� ��
�
������ ��� ���
�� ��� ����� ��������
�!� �������� ��� ����
��� �
����
�� ��� ���� ��� �������
!�
�	
����� ��� ��
� �
�
��
�� ���� ��
)���� �������� ��� �������� ��
� ���&� ��� +��
���
��� ����!� ������	� ��� ����
����
��
�������
��
����������
��������������
�
��������������
������&��	���.�����������������
�����������
���
���
�!� ��������	� ��� ���
� ����
��
�� ���
� ��� �������
� ���� �
����� ���� 
�����
���� �������� ���� ��� ��
������ ���
��
�
��������������
����������������
��
�
�����������
��
���������������
��!�
�
��������	���	�	���
(���
����2���������������������
���
�
�
��������� �������
�������������������������
�*!���������!������
�����
������ ����� �������� ���
� �������

�� ���������� ��� �������	� ��
� ���
�� ��� �� ����� �
��� �
���
�
��� ����� �
������
���
���
��� &��� ��'
�� ��� ���� ��
� �
������� ��� ������ ��� &��� �
�
��
�� ��� /��
��
�� ����� �
��!� "�
� ����)�
���
�
���
�
��	����������&
��
��������&
����
� ��	� ��� �����

����������� �����
����� ��
��
������� �����&� ������
�
�������� ��.� ��� ����� ���
���
��!� "�
�
���
	� ��� 3�
��
����� ������ �� ����
�� ����������� ��� ���� �
�� ����
��
�
4���
�
��� ����� �������� ��.	� ��� ��� �
�� ��� �
�
��
� �� ����
�� �
�������� ��� ���
���
��� �������!� "���� �

���
���������������
�����
���������
��������������&�����������
����������������
������
���
��&���������
���
����&����
�����������!�,����������&�����������.������

����
������������
�����
�
��
��
�&

��&����&
�&���������
������
�������
����
��������
������������
�
��
����������
�������
�!�"�
������������������+����
��
�����
��

������
����
�� ���� ��� ��
� ���
� ��� ��
� ��������
� ��� ����
�� �������!� � 3�
��
����� &���� �
�
��
� ������� -25� �
�� �&
������
&�
�
�����
���
���
��������+����
��
�����
����-��5	�������
�
��
�����������-5���
���&
�����!���3�
��
�����
&
�
�����
�
��
���
���
���
������������+����
��
�����
	������&�����
4���
�������������������!���������!�
�
�	�����	��������
�������������������
��
&����
�������	����������������������
�������&�����

��������������������
������
�������
��� �������� ��
� �
�
��
� ����
�!� "���� ���� �
��� ��� �
������� ��� ���
� &���� ������������� ��� ���� /01� �����
!��
0�&
�
�	� �������
��������'
� ��
�+��
���
����� ���
��� �����
�� ��� ��
�/01��������
���������
!�"�
�����
��
���&� ����� ����� +��
���
��� ���� 6���� �
���� ��� ��'���� ��
� �����
�	� �� �
��� ��
��� ��� &���� &��� �����������
������
�!��
����������������������&����������
��
&���
�����������������5����
�������
�������5 ��������������������
�
��!��������������
����������
���������������������-�!�������������������������
����
����
���
�������
���!�
"�
�������������������������
���������������������
��
.����.��
����&���������
���
��������������
��
.��������
���!�
7��
����������&�����
����
���
�����
���
�����
���
����
���
�� �8�������������������
����6
�����!�/��������&������
�
�� ���� ��� �� �
�
�� ��� �!98!�:���� ����� �
���� ��� �����
� �
���� ���� 3�
��
����� &����� ����
����� ���� ;� **�
�������������
���
�	�&
�&���������
��
&���
��������
��������������
�	�����������������"
&'
���������
�52�
�������������
���
������&���������
� �
&���
�� ���� ��
� �������*�����
�������	� ��
�
���
�
�
�� ���&
��
���
�� ��
�
���
� ����
�� ��� ����
�	� "
&'
������ &����� �
� �
&���
�� ���� ��� ����������� ��� ����
�� &����� 
4���
�� ���
�������2�� ����������
���
��!�<�
�� ������
���� �����&������
�����������������5��� ��������!� ��&������

��
���������
����������
�������������������
��&�����
��
����=
�!�"������������������������&��'
��
.��
�
�����������
�
���
���
&�������

�
����������&�������
���������
����������
��������
���������
���
������
����������
�
������������������
!� �� ����������������� ����	��
����
�&������� ��� ��
�������
�� ��� �
������
�������� ��
��
��� �
����

Minute Item 12
Page 23Page 47



� �

���
����
���������������������	������
����
��
4�
�����������>�������������3�
��
��������
����	�&
�&
�
�����
����
�����!��
�
�����	������	���
�
"�
� �
������������� ��� �����
��� ���
�� �����
	� ���� �
���
� ��� ���������� ����� ��� ���� ���
�	� ��� ��
� 
.�
��� �����
�����
������
����
����
������������
��������
�������
���
��������
!��
�
"�
���
������������������������������
����
������������
�����

�����������
������
������
������������
	�
��
�������
������&�����'
�3�
��
�����&�������
���'
�������

�������������
�����������&�����
����
��
.���
&��
���!��1���
��
��
�����������������
������
�� �����
���� ���������������
������ ��������
�����
��� ����
�
�
�
������ ���'� �����
�������� ������
�������&������ ��
�
��
���
!� �"���� ����
����
�������������
���&��
���
� �����
� ������������ ��
�
����������
���.���
��&�
�������
������
���������������
��
���
��������
��!��/������������	�������
����
������
�
��������������
����'���
������������
�������������
���
�
�����
���!���
�
"�
����
�����������
������
�������
����������� ��������
���������
�3����������������������������
���
����
���
�
������������
��&�����&�����
����������
�3��������������
���������
������?�
���!�"�'���������������������	���������

��
���

������������3�������&������
�
����������
�������������
���������������� �������&�����
�����������
�����������
��
� �
��� ����
��� ��
� ��� +��
���
��	� &����� &���� �
� ���������
�� ��� ���������
� &���� ��
� ���
�����
�
������
�
���!�

<�
� ��� ��
� '
�� �����
���� ��� ��
� ����
�� �
������ ����
��� ��� ��
� 
������
� ��� �����
��� ���
�� ��
��� &����� ���
�
����
�� ��� ��
�/��������/���@��
�����A��
�� �
����	� ��
�����
�� ������
����� ��
� �����
�� ��� ����� �
����!� �� ���
��
������ ��� �
����� ����� ��
� 
������
���
�� �������� ����� �
����
�������
��� ���
�� �������� ��
� ���
���
� ��������
������������- �2	���!�0�&
�
�	���
�����
���������
�����������
�����������������&���
���
��
�
�
����
���	�����
��
� ����
� �
��������� ���
� ��� ��
� B��������� <����
� CB<D� ��� ��
� ���
���
� ����
�� ��� ������
)������ ���������
����
��
�������
������
�������
���
�	��
��������6����
�����

������
����
��������
�������
���������
�����
����
-999	9�9!�

�������
�
���
�����������
������
�
�������������������
������� �����
������������&��������������������������
�
1AA��
�
��
�&����������

�������������
����
�������&�������������
��������
���&������
�
�����
�!�
�
"�
����
���������������
������
���
�
�����������������
��
�
����������
���
����
���&
���
�������
�������������
�
���
����
���������������!�"�
����
��������
�
������
�������
�+��
���
������
������������7�������
�����������
������
������ ������ �
&����
����� ��������� ���� �&�� �
���� ��� ����		������	������� ����� ��� ��� �
��� ��
�������� ���
�
�����������������
�!�"�
�+��
���
���&�����������
������
��������������������������������
������
�����!��
"�
� �
�
��� �����
��� ���
� �
���������� &���� ���
� ��� 
��
��� ��� ����� ��� ����������� ��
� �����
�� (�E��	� ��� �����
+��
���
���&
�
�������
����
����
��
�
���������
�������
�/
&����
����������
��������������&�����&�������
����������!�0�&
�
����
����������
������
�������
�����
���������������������������
������
��
��������&�����&�����
������
��������
�������*�8����������������������+��
���
��	�����������
����������������
�����
����
����
������
�
����������������������������
��
�
�����������
!��
�
�������
�����������������
&����
������&
����
��������������&�����
��
����
��������������
������	��������
������
��
��&����������
��������������
��������������
���
!�
�
�
�
����
�������
�
<���>������3���������������� ���������
� ���
�&����� ���&��� �����3������������������
�� ����������� ��
��&�
��
��������
�� ���������������
���
��
�� ������������ ��
�������&�
�� �������������� ��.���������&�������
�� ����� ��
�
�
�
��
� �������� �����!�7�� ���� �������� ������ �
���
�� ��&����� ��
� ������ �
��� ��� ����� ��
��������� ��� �������
�
�������� ��
���
���
�� ����
�������������������0�&
�
�	� ������
�� ������
��������������������
��

���� ����������
�����������������
���
����
���������
���
���

������
����
����&����
�
���	����������������������������������
�
������������������ 	������������
�*�>������3�����������
��

�����������������
��������
��������������
���������
&��������
��
������� ��2!�
�
�

Page 24Page 48



� �

� �
��
�
�&
����
��� �
������ �
������������� ��� ����
��� �
����
�� ���� 6���� ��������� ����� �
����!�"�
�
� ��� ���
�������������������������-9�	*����������������.������
	�&�������
����
����
�����������������
��������������������
�
���
������
�
��
��
�����
�
��
�!����&�������
������
�
����3�
��
������
���
��������
���������
�����
������
&
����
���������
���������
��
����������
�
�������
�������
����
�����������!�
�
"���� ���&��� ��
������
����
� �
����
��������-*� ����
��
������� ������
��� ���� ��
���
���
�1����@�����
���	�
���������������������������
������
�������
�/
&�0��
��1������������
����
����������
�	�&���������������&����
����������������
������
���������
����
���������
�����'!��
�
���������������������
������������
����������.�����
��
	�����&
��

�����'

�����������
���
����
!�"�
�3������
3���������.�����
��
�������
��������5!228�����
��
�C-9*D�������1����@���.���
�!�������'������!�8�����
��
������
����
��
���
�&�����
���
���
���������������
����
����
��������
���4�������������
!�
�
��
�
�� ����
�����
��� ����� ��
�+��
���
��� ��������
������������
���
�
����&���������
�&
����
����
������ ����
��
!��
"�
�
���
� ���� ������ ��� &���� ���
��� ���� �������� ���� �
���� ��� ���
!� "������ &��� &
� �

�� ��� ��'
� ��� ��
��� ���
3�
��
������
���
����������������.�����
��
����������
��
����������

�������������	����������
����
����������
�������
���!��
�
������
��
������������3�����������������������
������
���
��������
������� ���&������&���
��������������
�
3������� ��.� �
�
���� 
�
�� ������� ��
� �������� ���� ����� &��� ����� &�
�� ��� ���9��*� ��
� ���
���
��� �����
��
�
�����
������
�����������
���������������������
����������������������������������
�������	�������
��
��������������
����� �������� ���� �������
�� ��� �������� ����
� �
���
���� ����� ��
� ��� ��&� &��'���� �����
�� ��� �
���
�� ��� ��&�
�
������!�

%����������
����
����
������������������
��������������
���
��!�(��
���
�����������
���������
����
�&������
�
�
���������
���������������	�����������
�����
�������������
�
����������������������
��
�����
�������&��'��
�����
���������������������7�������
�����
����
������
�������!*8�&�����
���������
�����������������
�������&
�&����
�
����
������
����
���������������)�
������
����
��������������!��

A��������

����
�����
���
.�
����������������������������������������������	���
�3����
������
�����������������������
�������
�

�	�������	��������
���&����
�3��������������!�"�
�3����
���������������������&������������.�����������
�������
	�&���
����������
��������������
��
����
�	���
�����������������������
������=����������
����
��
���
������
������������������������
!�

0�&����
�&
����
�����	��
�
"��������
�������

����
���
�����
�����
�
������������������������&��	����������
��
���&�����

����
���
�����������������
���.�9	�3���������>���
���������������
������
�����

��������
�������������
����
�������
��
��������	������������������������
���������
����
�����
�!�"�
�����������������������������
���������
�����3"�
���
��
�����!����

7���6���������������
�����
���
����������������
���������
�����������
��"%(������
���C���.*D�&�����������
��
������������
�������
��������
�
��������&��'
��������6
������!���������
����
��������������������
��	���������
�����
�
��� ���� ������ �����	� ���
�� ���������������� &����� ������
�� ��
� �
���	� �����
� &���
� ���������
�� ����
������������
����������������������
��
&�!��
�
7��
����������
�����������������������������
������������-5�2!*��	����������������������������
��-�22!����
��� 
�����
���� �������� ���� ����������� �����
� ���
��
�� &���� �� ��
� ��� �
����
��� �������� �����@
���� >���
� ���
-9��!��������� ��� �������� ��
� ���
� ����
�!� "���� ��� ����
��
�� �
����� �����
� ����� &
� ��
� ������ ��� ��'
�
����������������������
����
���������
�����!��
�
7����
���������&�����&�������
����
�����������
�������
��������'������
�&����������

������
�
�������
�������
�����������
�������&��������
��������
��������!�-���	���������

���������������
����� �����
������
��������
�
��
��"%(!�
��

Page 25Page 49



� �

������������������������&
���'
��������
������
�/
&�0��
��1��������-�!�*���������������������������
�
��
�
����
�	���������������
����������������
����
.�
�����������&��������
��

����
��������
����
���
�����������
B��������� �������
����
����� ��
�1���
�� �
�
��
��������!�0�&
�
�	����������� ����������
������
������
� ��
�
����������
�	�F������-������������������
�/
&�0��
��1�����&���������
����
������������
��!�
�
7�����
�����������
�
��
�&�����
��
�� ������*� ���� ��
���
������������
�����������������
��
����
��
	��������
�������
��������
��
���
����
�!�"��������������������������&������
�����������
�
��
!�7��������&
����
��

��
����
������&�������
���6����
�
�
����
��������������
�������
���&�����
�
��������"�&���
�������
���������	�
��
�
���
����
��������
��������
��
�	������������
����������������
������
��������
��
.��������� ������������
��
��
���� ����
���������'���� �����
� �����/�����>���
!�1
����
� ��
�
���
������� �
��������
��
�� ��
���
����
-  ��������������������
�
��
������
�
����
�������������
����
�������

����������
��
���������
�!�
�
�

����������������	�

"�
�����
���
��������������������������&�������
�����
���
���������
���
����������������������
���������������

�����������&����������
���
���&��������&���&
����
��������
��-��!�����������������
��
��������
���
���
����
�������������!�

����������	��
�����
��&�����
��
��
����&���������������������
���
�������
����&�����
����������������6���
�
�
����
�������/�����:
�������:
���3�
��
����!�"����&�����
������������&������&
�'��&���
�FE>����
��

��
����
�����������
���������������������
�3��
�������
������'������
����
����-����������!�
�
(������������
���������	��
�����
�����������������
������
���&�����
������������
���&�����
����������
������!�"�
�
"�&��0�����
�
�
����
������
�
�������
�������
�������������
����
�������������������
�
���������
�F
����
�
�����������
������&��'���������
��!�"�
�
���������������
�"�������1�����������
����
	�&�����������'�������
���	�����
�
����������&������3�
��
������������&��&������������	����'
�����&�������
&�>���
�(����
�������������3�������
��������!��
�
��
��������������
����
����������������
�������������
�������
�����
!�"�
�����������������
��
&���
������������
��
�
.����
!�"�
��

�����
��
�������
��������������
��&�����
����������
���
����
������������
�
������
��������
���������������������������������
�����
���
�����������������
����
���������
���
����������
������
��
���������
���!��
�
������������������
����
����������������������'����������
�������
4����������&�������������
����������
���
��������
��������!�"�������&��������
�����
���������
�
��������������������
&�3��������>���
������
��
��
���������
�����
�
�������
�����������&�!�
�
��
��������&
����
���
��
&�����������
��'
�����
��
��������������������
���������
�	�����������&
����
�����������������������������������&���������
���
����&�����������&������
��&���
��&�����&
����
�����
�
����!�
�
�
1
���
���������
	�:
���
��
4���
�������������������������
�������������������������
�F������:��
���������
���������
������
�
�����
�
�������������
�
�����!���������������������&
���������&������
�
�����
��
�
���������!�
�
%������	������������	��
���
���������
�&������
�
���������������
�
!�
�
7�������
������
�	��
����
������
��������+��
���
��������!�
"�
�������
����������
����
�
�!�
%��������
��
����
������
��
��
���
�
�����
�����������!�
���
��
����
������
��������
����
�!�
7���
��������������3�
��
����!�
�
�
�����������	�����
���
����
����������������
��
�
�������������
�������������!��
�

Page 26Page 50



   

$wgwx12gc Page 1 of 4 Last updated 16 March 2017 

 

 

Cheltenham Borough Council 

Council – 27 March 2017 

Draft Corporate Strategy 2017-18 

Report of the Leader of the Council 

 

Accountable member Leader of the Council, Cllr. Steve Jordan 

Accountable officer Strategy and Engagement Manager, Richard Gibson 

Accountable scrutiny 
committee 

All 

Ward(s) affected All 

Key Decision No 

Executive summary The corporate strategy 2017-18 has been drafted and is now put before full 
Council for approval.  

Recommendations Council approves the 2017-18 Corporate Strategy (appendix 2) and 
uses this as a basis for monitoring the Council’s performance over the 
next twelve months. 

Financial implications None as a direct result of this report. The corporate strategy has been 
developed alongside the Medium Term Financial Strategy to ensure that 
there are sufficient budgets in place to deliver the outcomes as proposed.  
 
The corporate strategy will be reviewed on an annual basis to take into 
account our changing budgetary position. 
 
Contact officer: Paul Jones, GOSS Head of finance 
E-mail:paul.jones@cheltenham.gov.uk 
Tel no: 01242 775154 

Legal implications The corporate strategy 2017-18 is the “corporate strategy” for the purposes 
of the Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) Regulations 2000. 
The Executive is responsible for preparing the strategy which must then be 
submitted to and approved by council. 
Contact officer: Peter Lewis 
E-mail: Peter.Lewis@tewkesbury.gov.uk 
Tel no: 01684 272012 

HR implications 
(including learning and 
organisational 
development)  

Capacity to deliver the strategy will remain a key focus for the Senior 
Leadership Team. Effective forward planning, use of project management 
techniques, re-prioritising work streams are some of the tools available to 
ensure that there is adequate resource available to deliver the strategy.   
 
Contact officer: Julie McCarthy, Human Resources Manager, GO 
Shared Services   
E-mail: julie.mccarthy@cheltenham.gov.uk 
Tel no: 01242 264355 

Agenda Item 8
Page 51



   

$wgwx12gc Page 2 of 4 Last updated 16 March 2017 

 

Key risks We recognise that if the council does not establish prioritised, realistic and 
achievable ambitions there will be continued pressure on organisational 
capacity and staff to maintain core services, and a risk of a perception of 
poor performance due to over ambitious or ill-informed planning. 
 
The Senior Leadership Team is responsible for the management of the risks 
associated with the delivery of the corporate strategy and where 
appropriate, risks are included on the corporate risk register. 
 
Elected members will have oversight of the corporate risk register through 
the scrutiny arrangements and through Audit Committee.  
 
Risks associated with the delivery of specific outcomes are identified in the 
corporate strategy and specific risk assessments are carried out as part of 
our programme and project management arrangements.  
 

Corporate and 
community plan 
Implications 

The corporate strategy sets out the framework for our corporate priorities. 

Environmental and 
climate change 
implications 

The corporate strategy sets out the council’s commitment to reducing 
carbon emissions and adapting to the impacts of climate change.  

 

1. What do we want the corporate strategy to do? 

1.1 The corporate strategy sets out the following:  
� A vision statement; 
� The four priority outcomes that we will be working towards; 
� The council’s priority actions to deliver the outcomes; 
� The milestones, indicators and risks by which progress will be measured. 

 

2. The proposed vision for Cheltenham 

2.1 This year, the council has been supporting the preparation of a place strategy for Cheltenham 
which sets out a shared vision for Cheltenham for the kind of town we want Cheltenham to be in 
the future.  

 
 “We want Cheltenham to be a place where everyone thrives” 
 
We will do this by linking our heritage to an exciting future by being; 

• Creative 

• Pioneering 

• Nurturing 

• Connected and re-connected 

 
3. Our outcomes 

3.1 For the purposes of corporate strategy 2017-18, we have focused our efforts on three high-level 
outcomes covering the issues that matter most to our residents, businesses and visitors. We also 
have an internal “transformation” outcome covering commissioning, asset management and 
financial management. The outcomes are: 

• Cheltenham's environmental quality and heritage is protected, maintained and enhanced 

• Sustain and grow Cheltenham’s economic and cultural vitality 

• People live in strong, safe and healthy communities 

• Our council can continue to facilitate the delivery of our outcomes for both Cheltenham 
and its residents 

 

Page 52



   

$wgwx12gc Page 3 of 4 Last updated 16 March 2017 

 

4. Next Steps 

4.1 The corporate strategy sets out our intended milestones associated with the four outcomes and 
provides the basis for monitoring the council’s performance over the next twelve months.  

4.2 To promote accountability, the Senior Leadership Team will receive quarterly performance reports 
that will set out progress made against corporate strategy milestones.  

4.3 Monitoring reports will be brought to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and it is suggested 
that this is done at least half-yearly. In addition, the annual report detailing performance from the 
previous financial year will be brought in June to council for consideration.  

 

Report author Richard Gibson 
Strategy and Engagement Manager 
01242 235354 
richard.gibson@cheltenham.gov.uk 

Appendices 1. Risk assessment  

2. Draft Corporate Strategy action plan 2017-18 

 

Page 53



   

$wgwx12gc Page 4 of 4 Last updated 16 March 2017 

 

Risk Assessment                  Appendix 2 
 

The risk Original risk score 

(impact x 
likelihood) 

Managing risk 

Risk 
ref. 

Risk description Risk Owner Date 
raised 

I L Score Control Action Deadline Responsible officer 

CR75 CR75 - If capacity to deliver 
key projects is achieved by 
diverting necessary resources 
away from either core services 
or other provider commitments, 
then there is a risk of not being 
able to deliver all of the 
business as usual expectations 
including a failure to comply 
with internal controls that could 
in turn impact on our reputation 
and finances 

Pat Pratley  3 3 9 Reduce Gathering of projected 
resource data on the 
council's key programmes 
and projects takes place 
quarterly. This enables the 
council's Senior Leadership 
Team to review demands 
alongside the resource 
needs of their core services 
and modify plans if 
necessary.' 

1.4.17 Ken Dale 

 
 

P
age 54



 
 
 

 
 
 

Draft Corporate Strategy 2017-18 
 

Draft for Council 
 

March 2017 
  

Page 55



Introduction 
Every year, the council publishes its annual corporate strategy. The document sets out the 
following:  

• A proposed vision statement; 

• The four priority outcomes that we will be working towards; 

• The council’s priority actions to deliver the outcomes; 

• The milestones and risks by which progress will be measured. 
 
This year, the council has been supporting the preparation of a place strategy for 
Cheltenham which sets out a shared vision for Cheltenham for the kind of town we want 
Cheltenham to be in the future.  
 
The proposed vision for Cheltenham 
“We want Cheltenham to be a place where everyone thrives” 
 
We will do this by linking our heritage to an exciting future by being; 

• Creative 

• Pioneering 

• Nurturing 

• Connected and re-connected 
 
Our outcomes 
For the purposes of corporate strategy 2017-18, we have focused our efforts on three high-
level outcomes covering the issues that matter most to our residents, businesses and 
visitors. We also have an internal “transformation” outcome covering commissioning, asset 
management and financial management. The outcomes are: 

• Cheltenham's environmental quality and heritage is protected, maintained and 
enhanced 

• Sustain and grow Cheltenham’s economic and cultural vitality 

• People live in strong, safe and healthy communities 

• Our council can continue to facilitate the delivery of our outcomes for both 
Cheltenham and its residents 

 
Meeting needs in our communities 
The corporate strategy constitutes the council’s Crime Reduction Strategy to comply with 
Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998. The Act places a statutory duty on CBC to 
work together in partnership to formulate and implement local crime reduction strategies. 
Along with the current partnership action plan and the services and functions listed below 
we have a well-rounded approach to reducing crime and the fear of crime in Cheltenham.  
 
Under the Equality Act 2010, the council now has to comply with the Public Sector Equality 
Duty which came into force in April 2011. The Equality Duty ensures that all public bodies 
play their part in making society fairer by tackling discrimination and providing equality of 
opportunity for all. As part of this we have a duty to set and publish equality objectives. We 
have developed three objectives that we feel are most important in promoting equality and 
diversity:  

• Listening and responding to a wide-range of communities 

• Promoting fair access to our services 

• Ensuring fair employment practices 

Page 56



The actions we will take forward in the coming year are as follows:  
 
Listening and responding to a wide-range of communities.  
 
Our commitment 
We will continue to consult and engage communities in the commissioning of our services 
so that we are better able to provide services that are responsive to the needs of our 
customers. 
 
Actions 

• Ensure that our engagement activities pay regard to people who share the protected 
characteristics covered by the equality duty. 

• Continue to work in partnership with the police, housing providers and the voluntary 
sector to respond to incidents of hate crime through the Gloucestershire Hate Crime 
Group. 

• Continue to work in partnership with the police, the voluntary sector, education providers 
to reduce the risk of people being drawn into terrorism in order that we can meet our 
statutory obligations under the Counter-Terrorism and Security Act 2015 

 
Promoting fair access to our services 
 
Our commitment 
We will ensure that customers, service users and the wider community of Cheltenham have 
fair access to our services and are not discriminated against in any aspect of our service 
delivery. 
 
Actions 

• Continue to use an equality impact assessment process to assess the impacts of key 
decisions and policies on different groups of people. 

• Embed equality considerations into commissioning and our procurement approaches to 
ensure that relevant equality issues are taken into account when designing and procuring 
services. 

 
Ensuring fair employment practices 
 
Our commitment 
We will ensure fair and equal opportunity in all areas of employment, including recruitment 
and selection, appraisals, learning and development and the career development of our 
employees. 
 
Actions 

• Commit to the regular publication of workforce intelligence reports that will help monitor 
trends in our workforce in terms of recruitment, retention, turn-over and sickness 
absence. 

• Provide equality and diversity training for our employees so that they are able to help 
implement our equality objectives. 

 
 
 

  

Page 57



2017-18 Corporate Strategy Alignment 
The two key strategic documents that have helped shape this year’s corporate strategy are 
the emerging place strategy and the council’s medium term financial strategy. 
 
The place strategy sets out a vision  
 
“We want Cheltenham to be a place where everyone thrives” 
 
We will do this by linking our heritage to an exciting future by being; 

• Creative 

• Pioneering 

• Nurturing 

• Connected and re-connected 
 
The place strategy sets out four outcomes where we want to make a difference. This is how 
we will measure the impact of our new vision.  

• The local economy thrives 

• The visitor economy thrives 

• Young people thrive 

• Our communities thrive 
 
These themes are reference in the action plan. 
 
The council’s medium term financial strategy sets out plans for achieving £3.5m worth of 
savings / income growth over the next four year. The six areas where efforts will be focused 
will be: 

• Place and Economic Development Division Transformation 

• Rolling Approach to Commissioned Services 

• Review of Accommodation 

• Economic Growth / Investment 

• Service Cuts 
 
Again these themes are reference in the action plan. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 58



Our environmental outcome 

Cheltenham's environmental quality and heritage is protected, maintained and enhanced 
What are our plans to deliver this outcome in 2017-18? 

Priority actions Key milestones Dates 
Lead Commissioner / 

Project Lead 
Cabinet Lead 

ENV 1 We will put in place the statutory 
development plan for Cheltenham, including 
adoption of the Joint Core Strategy (JCS) and 
preparation of the Cheltenham Plan 

• JCS adoption 

• Cheltenham Plan, part 1 and part 2 ready for 
submission  

• Community infrastructure Levy adoption  

Dec 2017 
Dec 2017  
 
March 2018 

Tracey Crews Cabinet Member 
Development and Safety 

ENV 2 Vision for Cheltenham’s town centre and 
its public realm 
 

• Work with stakeholders to develop a vision for 
the town centre including a significant upgrade of 
the public realm in the High Street 

• Consultation on vision 
• Report to cabinet on vision  

• Implementation (part) of improvement works  

April 2017 
 
 
July 2017 
Dec2017 
Mar 2018 

Tim Atkins  Cabinet Member 
Development and Safety 

ENV 3 Cheltenham Transport Plan • Phase 3 works (includes trail for Boots corner, 
note 9 month trial extends beyond 2017/18) 

• Cabinet agreement to car parking strategy 

• Cycling and walking strategy 

• Work with partners on bus route strategy and 
connectivity 

March 2018 
 
May 2017 
March 2018 
March 2018 

Tim Atkins  
 
Mike Redman 
Tracey Crews 
Tim Atkins 

Cabinet Member 
Development and Safety 

ENV 4 We will deliver CBC’s commitments 
contained within the Joint Waste Committee plan 
and the Waste service redesign and 
implementation 

• Procurement of replacement fleet in February 

• Route optimisation and stakeholder engagement  

• Implement new service 

• Review of bring sites 

September 
2017 

Martin Stacy Cabinet Member Clean 
and Green Environment 

ENV 5 We will progress the building of the new 
Crematorium  

• Obtain planning permission 

• Agree contracts for the construction of the new 
facility 

May 2017 
May 2017 

Mike Redman Cabinet Member Clean 
and Green Environment 

ENV 6 Project Solace implementation – shared 
approach to ASB with the police, CBC and 
Gloucester City 

• Approval of business cases 
 

June 2017 Tim Atkins Cabinet Member 
Development and Safety 

ENV 7 Working with GCC to develop a 
sustainable approach to managing highway 
matters in Cheltenham 

• As part of the Highways Collaborative working 
consultation, work with GCC to increase local 
influence in the management of highways 
matters in Cheltenham 

March 2018 Tim Atkins Cabinet Member 
Development and Safety 

What are the corporate risks associated with this outcome? 
CR33 - If the council does not keep the momentum going with regards to the JCS and move towards adoption this could result in inappropriate development. 

CR81 - If the Council does not progress as quickly as possible to preparing the Cheltenham Plan, then the Borough will be exposed to the risk of inappropriate development. 

CR98 - If we fail to make the cremators reliable and are unable to cremate due to failure of the equipment over a sustained period of time, cremations will have to be 
transferred to another crematorium and may need to be suspended, resulting in lost income and reputational damage to the authority. 

CR104 - If the proposed new crematorium is not delivered to the expected quality, cost and timescale, there are likely to be significant operational, financial and reputational 
risks for the authority. 

P
age 59



Our economic outcome: 

Sustain and grow Cheltenham’s economic and cultural vitality 
What are our plans to deliver this outcome in 2017-18? 

Priority actions Key milestones Dates 
Lead Commissioner / 

Project Lead 
Cabinet Lead 

ECON 1 We will work in partnership with key 
stakeholders to develop a longer term strategy for 
place making 

• Further engagement on place strategy 

• Implement key projects 

To Dec 2017 Richard Gibson 
Tracey Crews 

Leader of the Council 

Place Strategy – the local economy thrives 

ECON 2 Promote cyber-growth • JCS strategic allocation  

• Growth Deal 3 bid  

• Engaging with cyber-partners  

Autumn 2017 
Spring 2017 
ongoing 

Tracey Crews Cabinet Member 
Development and Safety 

ECON 4 Improvements to key sites and 
infrastructure 

CDTF to support CBC with delivery on various 
key sites and themes including  

• Brewery II 

• John Lewis 

• North Place  

• Cheltenham Transport Plan 

• Cheltenham Spa station 

• Honeybourne Place 

 
 
June 2017 
Spring 2018 
Ongoing 
Ongoing 
By 2020 
Summer 2019 

Tim Atkins Leader of the Council 

Place Strategy – the visitor economy thrives 

ECON 3 We will develop our strategic approach to 
tourism, work with the tourism partnership to 
ensure that there is alignment behind the strategy 
and agree appropriate delivery mechanisms 

• Development of brand platform 

• Develop a sustainable tourism business 
model 

• Consultant to deliver 5yr tourism strategy to 
CBC 

By July 2017 Tim Atkins Leader of the Council 

ECON 5 Work in partnership with cultural 
providers to support investment into Cheltenham’s 
cultural assets including the Town Hall and 
leisure@ 

• Appoint consultants to undertake master 
plan scoping study for options for re-
purposing the Town Hall. 

• Approve preferred option for the re- 
development of the Town Hall. 

• Procure contract for phase 1 redevelopment 
of leisure@  

• Complete phase 1 scheme. 
 

June 2017 
 
 
March 2018 
 
June 2017 
 
Jan 2018 
 

Mark Sheldon 
Richard Gibson 

Cabinet Member 
Healthy Lifestyles 

ECON 6 Event infrastructure / commercial 
opportunities 
 

• Tour of Britain  

• Events infrastructure project 
 

Sept 2017 
Dec 2017 
 

Tracey Crews  Cabinet Member 
Finance 
Cabinet member healthy 
Lifestyles 

What are the corporate risks associated with this outcome? 
CR108 - If the Council does not have a coherent car parking strategy, there are risks of increased traffic congestion, customer dissatisfaction, loss of reputation and reduced 
economic performance. There are several strands to mitigating this Corporate Risk each will be managed through Divisional Risk registers. 

 

P
age 60



Our community outcome: 

People live in strong, safe and healthy communities  
What are our plans to deliver this outcome in 2017-18?? 

Priority actions Key milestones Dates 
Lead Commissioner / 

Project Lead 
Cabinet Lead 

Place Strategy – Our communities thrive 

COM 1 Work with CBH to build more houses for 
rent and support community regeneration projects 

Discussion with CBH to identify priority estates 
 

June 2017 
 

Martin Stacy Cabinet Member 
Housing 

COM 2 - Housing strategy and enabling Refresh housing and homelessness strategy Mar 2018 Martin Stacy  

COM 3 Estates Regeneration approach in West 
Cheltenham 

Milestones to be developed pending outcome of 
bid 

April 2017 Tracey Crews Cabinet Member 
Housing 

COM 3 We will update our safeguarding policy to 
reflect our wider work to safeguard people 
including recognition of domestic abuse and 
sexual violence, hate crime and modern slavery 

Updated policy to cabinet July 2017 Richard Gibson Cabinet Member 
Housing 

COM 4 We will work in partnership with 
Gloucestershire Constabulary to review town 
centre CCTV provision and associated monitoring 
arrangements. 

• Review and update public realm CCTV 
coverage requirements. 

• Determine the feasibility of linking into the 
Brewery quarter CCTV system. 

• Update and sign Data Sharing Agreements. 

April 17 
 
June 17 
 
Sept 17 

Mike Redman Cabinet Member 
Development and Safety 

COM 5 Install a Changing places toilet facility in 
Pittville park and another in a town centre 
location.  

• Project approval from Cabinet 

• Engagement with user groups 

• Complete design & build  

March 2017 
April 2017 
March 2018 

Mark Sheldon 
David Roberts 

Cabinet Member Clean 
and Green Environment  

COM 6 Enable a range of community building and 
celebration events through taking a facilitative role 
to working with community groups and 
organisations  

• Coordinate & deliver the Children’s Festival 

• Coordinate & deliver the Midsummer Fiesta 

• Support Black History Month 

• World Mental Health Day 

• Support Inter-Faith week 

• Domestic abuse awareness week  

• Support Holocaust Memorial Day 

• Support LGBT history month 

• International Women’s Day 

May 2017 
July 2017 
Oct 2017 
Oct 2017 
Nov 2017 
Dec 2017 
Jan 2018 
Feb 2018 
Mar 2018 

Richard Gibson Cabinet Member 
Healthy Lifestyles 

COM 7 Organise a programme of events to mark 
the Centenary commemorations of the end of 
WW1.  

• Event co-ordinator recruitment 

• Website redevelopment 

• Events programme Commences 

• Dedication Ceremony 

• Events programme completed 

June 2017 
Oct 2017 
April 2018 
Nov2018 
Dec 2018 

Richard Gibson Cabinet Member 
Healthy Lifestyles 

COM 8 Undertake a community governance 
review to decide whether there should be a parish 
council for Pittville  

• Agreement to terms of reference 

• Consultation 

• Recommendations to council  

Mar 2017 
July 2017 
Nov 2017 

Richard Gibson Leader of the Council  

What are the corporate risks associated with this outcome? 
None currently 

P
age 61



Corporate outcome 

Our council can continue to facilitate the delivery of our outcomes for both Cheltenham and its 
residents 
What are our plans to deliver this outcome in 2017-18? 

Priority actions Key milestones Dates 
Lead Commissioner / 

Project Lead 
Cabinet Lead 

MTFS – Place and Economic Development Division 

VFM 1 Implementation of the PED Transformation 
project to provide a clear commercial focus for the 
division delivering the MTFS savings, smarter 
working and income streams will enable delivery 
of priority work-streams to assist in the delivery of 
the place strategy.  
 
 
 

• Implementation of a Business Management 
Framework including roll out of time / activity 
recording 

• Design and production of management reporting 
suite 

• Development of a Marketing Strategy to identify 
internal and external business goals, leading to the 
production of a strategic plan.  

• Report on progress to cabinet 

June 2017 
 
 
June 2017 
 
July 2017 
 
 
July 2017 

Tim Atkins Cabinet Member 
Development and 
Safety 

MTFS -Rolling Approach to Commissioned Services 

VFM 2 2020 Partnership/Publica • Create and agree specifications for services 
delivered by Public Business Support Company. 

• Go live for new company 

Oct 2017 
 
Oct 2017 

Pat Pratley Cabinet Member 
Corporate 
Services 

MTFS - Review of assets 

VFM 3 Review the space needs of the current 
tenants at the Depot and develop a masterplan for 
its future use including investment needs and 
identify options for delivering savings or additional 
income to support the MTFS.  

• Evaluate future needs of current occupiers 

• Identify and evaluate options for space use 

• Make recommendations on masterplan proposal 

April 2017 
June 2017 
July 2017 

Mark Sheldon Cabinet Member 
Finance 

VFM 4 Review CBC’s accommodation 
requirements and options including the 
development of a potential  
public sector hub with other public sector partners. 

• Scope location options for a public sector hub for 
development of a business case 

• Evaluate options and develop business case 

• Make recommendations for delivery of preferred 
option 

April 2017 
 
Sept 2017 
Oct 2017 

Mark Sheldon Cabinet Member 
Finance 

VFM 5 Review CBC’s property portfolio and make 
recommendations for investment / disinvestment 
or development opportunities in order to deliver 
additional income to support the MTFS: 
 

• Review the nursery and make recommendations 
for its future including options for delivering 
existing or alternative planting regimes. 

• Strategic review of existing property portfolio. 

• Review of the existing property investment 
property portfolio and make recommendations for 
disinvestment and investment proposals to 
increase the size of the portfolio. 

• Review Airport Business strategy and make 
recommendations for improving the return on the 
shareholders’ investment. 
 

June 2017 
 
 
Dec 2017 
 
March 2018 
 
 
March 2018 
 

Mark Sheldon Cabinet Member 
Finance 

P
age 62



MTFS - Organisational Development 

VFM 6 Create an Organisation Development 
programme that supports the delivery of our vision 
for place, reflecting our values and behaviours 
and make recommendations as to how we 
support staff in transforming the organisation.  
 

• Conclude the review of the CBC senior 
management re-structure as proposed by Council 
in January 2016 

• Develop and approve an operating model and 
business case for customer service delivery across 
CBC and including other potential key partners eg 
CBH 

• Create and approve a programme which uses the 
results of the Investors in People re-accreditation 
so that staff have the relevant leadership and 
management capabilities to deliver the council’s 
outcomes in the future 

• Develop a business case for smarter/agile working 
initiatives, using the Place and ED Project as a 
pilot area, to support the creation of a more flexible 
working environment which meets the needs of the 
customer and the council 

Mar 2018 
 
 
Sept 2017 
 
 
 
July 2017 
 
 
 
 
May 2017 

Pat Pratley  
 
 
Mark Sheldon  
 
 
 
Mark Sheldon 
 
 
 
 
Mark Sheldon 

Cabinet Member 
Corporate 
Services 

MTFS – Strategy Development      

VFM 7 Develop proposals for delivering a 
sustainable MTFS which closes the projected 
budget gap  

• Develop options for delivering additional savings or 
income  

• Cabinet to approve budget strategy incorporating 
preferred approach to bridging the funding gap 

Sept 2017 
 
Oct 2017 

Executive Board Cabinet Member 
Finance 

What are the corporate risks associated with this outcome? 
CR3 - If the council is unable to come up with long term solutions which bridge the gap in the medium term financial strategy then it will find it increasingly difficult to prepare 
budgets year on year without making unplanned cuts in service provision 
CR75 - If capacity to deliver key projects is achieved by diverting necessary resources away from either core services or other provider commitments, then there is a risk of 
not being able to deliver all of the business as usual expectations including a failure to comply with internal controls that could in turn impact on our reputation and finances. 
CR78 - If the Corporate and Service Business Continuity Plans do not reflect the governance structures associated with the commissioning and shared service arrangements 
then there is a risk that key services will be not be available in the event of an emergency or unplanned event. 
CR101 - If the council is not able to progress delivery of the 2020 Vision project, then the Council will have to look for alternative ways to deliver the £1.32m savings predicted 
to be realised over the 10 years of the programme – proposed corporate risk 
CR105 - If the Budget Deficit (Support) Reserve is not suitably resourced insufficient reserves will be available to cover anticipated future deficits resulting in the use of 
General Balances which will consequently fall below the minimum required level as recommended by the Chief Finance Officer in the Council’s Medium Term Financial 
Strategy. 
CR107 - If the governments technical consultation New Homes Bonus - Sharpening the Incentive, leads to a reduction for the payment period from 6 to 4 years then this 
could have an estimated negative financial impact of between £1.5m and £1.8m, impact on the planning process effecting the ability to approve new developments in a timely 
manner and impact on CBC ability to deliver core frontline services 
 

P
age 63



Page 64



 

   

$lv44qw14 Page 1 of 11 Last updated 16 March 2017 

 

 

Cheltenham Borough Council 

Council – 27th March 2017 

Place Strategy - Cheltenham Placemaking Vision 

 

Report of the Leader 

 

Accountable member Leader  

Accountable officer Director of Planning 

Ward(s) affected All 

Key/Significant 
Decision 

Yes  

Executive summary On 11th October 2016 Cabinet agreed the scope of the Place Strategy 
including a working vision to start the conversations with stakeholders 
around what type of place we want Cheltenham to be. Since October a 
small officer team supported by stakeholder sector leads have spoken to a 
wide range of industry leaders, groups, businesses and individuals. 

This report draws together the conversations and presents a draft 
Cheltenham Placemaking Vision for endorsement by Council.  The next 
steps proposed will be to work with key partners, elected members, 
stakeholders and the wider community of Cheltenham on agreeing the 
ambition for the town and how to turn it into reality. In order to facilitate this, 
officers will prepare an engagement plan to be agreed by the Leader of the 
Council.  Following completion of the engagement process and with input 
from Overview and Scrutiny Committee, the final Place Strategy and 
supporting Action Plan will be approved by Cabinet. 

Recommendations Council endorses the Cheltenham Placemaking Vision for engagement 
with stakeholders and the wider communities of Cheltenham. 

 

Financial implications There are no direct financial implications arising in respect of this report. 
However financial resources will be required for the delivery of the place 
strategy programme, once specific projects are identified. The financial 
implications of all proposed schemes will need to be considered as part of 
a business case, and the impact on the medium term financial strategy 
considered at this time. 

Contact officer: Accountant,  sarah.didcote@cheltenham.gov.uk, 
01242 264125 

Legal implications No legal implications arising at this stage,  

Contact officer: Solicitor,  nick.jonathan@tewkesbury.gov.uk , 01684 
272690 

Agenda Item 9
Page 65



 

   

$lv44qw14 Page 2 of 11 Last updated 16 March 2017 

 

HR implications 
(including learning and 
organisational 
development)  

No direct HR implications arising from the content of this report, however 
as the action plan develops in co-ordination with stakeholders this is 
expected to lead to further demands on officer resources to support 
delivery.  This is being kept under review through the Place and Economic 
Development transformation programme. 

The council is in the process of developing an Organisational Development 
programme which will capture activity which will influence and shape the 
organisation's values and behaviours and determine how we develop and 
skill our staff to implement this key strategy. 

Contact officer: HR Manager, julie.mccarthy@cheltenham.gov.uk , 
01242 264355 

Key risks Risks are detailed at appendix 1 of this report. 

Corporate and 
community plan 
Implications 

The Place Strategy is an output of the Corporate Strategy 2016-17 

ECON 1 – We will work in partnership with key stakeholders to develop a 
longer term strategy for place making and growth. 

Environmental and 
climate change 
implications 

None arising directly from this report.  The action plan supporting the Place 
Strategy, considers the positive outcomes placemaking can bring to 
environmental and climate change. 

Property/Asset 
Implications 

No property implications arising at this stage, but may do in the future 
upon implementation of the Place Strategy action plan. 

Contact officer: Head Of Property Services  
david.roberts@cheltenham.gov.uk, 01242 264151 

Page 66



 

   

$lv44qw14 Page 3 of 11 Last updated 16 March 2017 

 

1. Background 

1.1 On 11th October 2016 Cabinet agreed the scope of the Place Strategy with a recommendation to 
bring a draft to Council by March 2017.  Cabinet actioned the officer team to work with 
stakeholders to inform preparation of the strategy.  A working vision was developed to start the 
conversations with stakeholders around what type of place we want Cheltenham to be, this being; 

We want to unlock the ambition of our communities to achieve their promising future – 
recognising Cheltenham’s history whilst refocussing on innovation, vibrant cultural 

experiences, economic growth and growing our talent pool. 

We will be a regional leader, well connected and have delivered a sustainable legacy. 

1.2 This vision was a helpful starting point to understanding the many and varied influences of what 
defines Cheltenham as a place and destination; whether that be around the quality of the public 
realm, the opportunity to bring new business/expand businesses within the borough, attracting 
visitors, protecting our heritage, opportunities for education, skills and creative enterprise, access 
to open spaces, the town’s attitude and vibe etc. 

1.3 Four broad outcomes were identified in October which were used to frame the engagement 
programme, these were;  

1. A place where businesses choose to invest, where skills, innovation and talent are sought 
and fostered 

2. A place where tourists choose to visit and return – recognising the vibrancy of the town, its 
offer and relevance to different age groups 

3. A place where young people study and prosper; and linked to the vibrancy of the town and 
its job opportunities, wish to stay after their studying is completed 

4. A place where people live in thriving communities 
 

1.4 Why do we need a Place Strategy for Cheltenham? 

• We have a relatively affluent economy that supports around 72,000 jobs in a range of 
industries including defence, aerospace, electronics and the visitor economy. But we know 
we need to do more as our rate of economic growth and jobs growth is below the average 
and in general productivity rates this area are below average, these concerns are captured 
in the analysis of risks (see appendix 1). 

• We have a well-defined visitor economy and a national and international reputation with 
regard to our key festivals and events coupled with a strong hospitality offer. But we know 
that we need to do more as the number of visitors staying in Cheltenham has dropped.  

• We have many high achieving schools, further education and higher education 
establishments, both in the state sector and in the independent sectors that are promoting 
lifelong learning and celebrating excellent levels of educational attainment.  But we know 
that we need to do more to retain our young people as the number of children and young 
people living in Cheltenham falls whilst the number of older people is increasing 

• We have many diverse communities in Cheltenham that have a range of structures to 
represent them including neighbourhood coordination groups, friends of groups, resident 
associations, neighbourhood partnerships and parish councils. But we know that we need 
to do more as we have the most extremes in deprivation in the county. Whilst the district 
contains areas that are amongst the most affluent in the country, there are three areas in 
the 10% most deprived areas nationally. 

1.5 Addressing these long-term challenges will require us to create an ambitious vision that sets out 
how we can work together to make to make sure Cheltenham remains an amazing place. 

Page 67



 

   

$lv44qw14 Page 4 of 11 Last updated 16 March 2017 

 

1.6 Cabinet were clear in their discussion in October, that in considering these outcomes we should 
not be looking through just a lens of Cheltenham Borough Council, but through the lens of our 
different stakeholders.  To facilitate this, a key stakeholder group was established and facilitators 
agreed to lead discussion with key groups.  The stakeholder group and facilitators are listed 
below.  Details of the stakeholder conversations and wider engagement are set out in section 2 of 
this report. 

Organisation Contact Facilitator  

Gloucestershire University Maxine Melling  

Cheltenham Development Taskforce Jeremy Williamson  

Gloucestershire County Council Nigel Riglar  

Gloucestershire Local Enterprise Partnership David Owen  

Cheltenham Trust Julie Finch Cultural sector lead 

Cheltenham Festivals Louise Emmerson  

Cheltenham Racecourse Ian Renton  

Voluntary and Community sector Angela Gilbert Voluntary sector lead 

Cheltenham Business Improvement District 
(BID) 

Kevan Blackadder Business sector lead 

Cheltenham Chamber of Commerce Michael Ratcliffe  

Tourism consultant Kelly Ballard  

Head Teacher Pittville School Richard Gilpin  

Leader of Council Councillor Steve Jordan  

Cabinet Member Healthy Lifestyles Councillor Flo Clucas  

Cabinet Member Development and Safety Councillor Andrew McKinlay  

 

2. Stakeholder Sector engagement and feedback 

2.1 As outlined above, over the past 4 months engagement has taken place, what was clear from this 
engagement is that wider consultation is needed; this report therefore provides a Cheltenham 
Placemaking Vision that will feed into the preparation of the Place Strategy.  

2.2 The starting point for the stakeholder engagement was for the sector leads to organise 
events/workshops which would draw together industry experts and leaders to consider the vision, 
mission, enablers and outcomes as outlined in the October cabinet report.  The sector leads were 
actioned to organise this in a way which fitted with their audience and a summary of their activities 
is provided below. 

2.3 Businesses make Cheltenham: The starting point for this conversation was a joint workshop 
hosted by the Cheltenham BID/Chamber of Commerce. Bringing together a range of business 
representatives to debate barriers and opportunities around key area, including; business 
opportunities, traffic and parking, public transport, moving around, housing and community, 
streets and spaces, influence and sense of control, facilities and amenities, identity and 
belonging, feeling safe and care and maintenance.  The discussion tested where Cheltenham 

Page 68



 

   

$lv44qw14 Page 5 of 11 Last updated 16 March 2017 

 

was positioned now, both perceptions and reality and what we needed to do to contribute to 
business growth and investment in the context of ‘destination Cheltenham’.  Outside the 
workshop further engagement took place with smaller groups within the business sector to help 
add depth to the conclusions being drawn. 

2.4 Key messages from the business community include: 

• Ensure that the Cheltenham Place Strategy vision inter-acts and reflects the 
Gloucestershire 2050 vision work. 

• Ensure that the vision and strategy recognises our relationship with Gloucester.  
• Ensure that the vision and strategy is clear about the type of economic growth we want to 

see. 
• Ensure that the vision and strategy celebrates the strengths of diversity. 
• Ensure that the vision and strategy confirms the importance of the liveability of Cheltenham 

to support all four outcomes. 

2.5 Visitors make Cheltenham: This engagement was led by Cheltenham Trust, bringing together 
industry leaders around the creative, culture and visitor economy.  To assist the debate a 
workshop was organised which was facilitated by Charles Landry (best known for having written 
the book The Creative City: A Toolkit for Urban Innovators).  The objective of this workshop was 
to draw out from industry leaders how the creative economy can play an active and lead role in 
creating place, considering opportunities of how the creative economy can define Cheltenham; 
marrying innovation with heritage and the essence of what makes Cheltenham special.  The 
outcome of this engagement was the drafting of a manifesto – the power and potential of culture 
and creativity.  This manifesto draws conclusions that Cheltenham is not optimising opportunities 
for the creative economy and cultural activities and provided a set of statements to help inform the 
preparation of the Place Strategy and priorities for conversations and actions going forward. 

2.6 Key messages from the cultural community included: 

• Cheltenham needs to unlock, spark and harness its potential 

• The sharp contrasts in Cheltenham should by thinking imaginatively be turned from 
problems into opportunities.  

• Leverage is the watchword and so much more could be achieved if the town connected up 
better. 

• Create the cross sector linkages that can generate value adding processes and projects  

• Feel the cyberness of the place - Cheltenham should see itself as a living lab, and indeed 
join the Living Lab movement. 

• Cheltenham should surprise – visitors should experience things beyond the obvious.  

• Cheltenham should accentuate, amplify and promote its diversities by shining a light on its 
diverse heritage, its localities, its communities  

• Cheltenham’s origins as a spa town fit the current health, wellbeing and education agendas 
very well.  

• Value the benefits, potential and catalytic impact of cultural thinking, arts, creative industries 
and related forms 

• It is the energy and wealth creation possibilities of the younger cohorts that will make 
Cheltenham economically resilient.  

• Cheltenham should be more ambitious and globally aware.  

• The existing cultural institutions in Cheltenham should also challenge themselves to be 
more alert, creative and imaginative to ensure they help the town operate at its best.  

• By feeling more at ease with itself the town can explore Gloucester/Cheltenham synergies 
with a level of urgency without fearing it is losing out. 

2.7 Our communities make Cheltenham: A broad range of stakeholders came together to engage 
in this sector discussion led by the Voluntary and Community (VCS) support via Gloucestershire 
Rural and Community Council.  This included a range of players from community leaders to 
service providers.  There was a clear understanding of the challenges facing the different sectors 

Page 69



 

   

$lv44qw14 Page 6 of 11 Last updated 16 March 2017 

 

of the community and the difficulties around addressing the root causes of deprivation to 
readdress the balance of Cheltenham both in terms of access to opportunities whether that is 
jobs, education, cultural offer etc.  The importance of partnership working was a key area of 
debate and the need for partners to take the time to have a deeper understanding of the issues at 
a grass roots level and how investment could be targeted to make a real difference to people’s 
lives. 

2.8 Key messages from community leaders and representatives included: 

• Celebrate what we’ve got. 
• Make sure that focus is inclusive, not too limited on a narrow demographic. 
• Ensure that the Vision is equitable to make sure that scarce resources are distributed more 

equitably. 
• Make sure that vision works for local people, not just tourists. 
• Add 2 further outcomes, one for infrastructure and hospitals and one for public services. 
• Make sure vision delivers improvements today! 

2.9 Young people make Cheltenham:  Following initial stages of engagement it was clear by all 
parties that we were not picking up the voices of younger people and therefore a fourth sector 
was added which was ‘young people make Cheltenham’.  This was led via the Wilson Arts 
Collective and youth workers.  

2.10 Key messages from this sector included: 

• Celebrate the talent of young people. 

• Create the Talent pathway concept.  

• Create business incubator / start-up space. 

• Lift Cheltenham out of its comfort zone. 

• The place strategy should offer hope to young people, its vision should be aspirational and 
be able to engage their dreams – the strategy should celebrate the positive. 

• Can the place strategy also articulate a vision about Cheltenham valuing young people and 
being child-friendly. 

2.11 Ongoing engagement: To bring together the different sector engagement conversations a series 
of stakeholder meetings have taken place enabling the sector leads to bring forward their findings 
and debate amongst a wider group.  The outputs of this have very much informed the evolution of 
the vision of the Place Strategy which was further debated through a facilitated session with the 
sector leads on 28th February 2017.  The outcome of this was tested at a stakeholder meeting on 
13th March 2017. 

3. Wider engagement 

3.1 In addition to the formal stakeholder conversations outlined above wider engagement has taken 
place including; 

• 4 staff sessions with council employees.  These sessions have helped inform the vision and 
outcomes of the Place Strategy, workshops were undertaken to gain reflections on how 
different parts of the council could deliver key priorities.  Key messages drawn from these 
sessions included; 

o Be a go to / happening place with great entertainment.  
o Be a safe place to live that is well looked after. 
o Be an attractive town for visitors and residents (parks, festivals, races, shopping). 
o Be caring, friendly and welcoming. 
o Celebrate our architecture – our regency heritage. 
o Embrace the town’s link to spies - cyber industry hub. 
o Encourage businesses into the area. 

Page 70



 

   

$lv44qw14 Page 7 of 11 Last updated 16 March 2017 

 

o Encourage the edgy not just the posh. 
o Heritage of municipal horticulture, trees, parks and green spaces. 
o Town within a garden. 
o More activities and facilities to retain the young people. 
o More inclusive and affordable events. 
o Must feel good, a good place to be. 
o Sell the unique small items e.g. the possibility of using pop-ups. 
o Spa town and link to Cotswolds. 
o Wildlife links and cycle access. 
o Use and promote our festivals more. 
o Be more ambitious about selling Cheltenham. 

• Engagement with hospitality industry led by consultant Kelly Ballard who is supporting the 
council on delivery of the tourism strategy. This was principally through the tourism forum, 
but also included a branding workshop with the hospitality trade linking engagement with 
the tourism strategy with the preparation of the Cheltenham Placemaking Vision.  

• Discussion reports have been presented to 3 meetings of Overview and Scrutiny, again this 
has helped in testing the visions and outcomes.   

• Presentation and debate with cabinet members on 22nd February 2017. Testing outputs of 
the stakeholder group and the Cheltenham Placemaking Vision. 

• A member seminar was held for all members on 1st March 2017 to review progress and 
debate the emerging Cheltenham Placemaking Vision.  

3.2 What couldn’t be achieved within the time and resources available is wider public/community 
engagement.  This is clearly a gap which we will need to address as we move to the testing stage 
and the preparation of the place strategy.  Should Council approve the recommendations, 
activities will be included within an engagement plan to consult more widely as outlined in section 
6 of this report.   

4. Evolution of the vision 

4.1 The starting point for the vision was established in October 2016 and over the past few months 
this has evolved, informed by the outcomes as set out above.  All parties have been clear that the 
vision is critical to setting the direction of travel and should be the catalyst for driving the agenda 
of the Cheltenham Placemaking Vision.  Expectations driven by the engagement with 
stakeholders and incorporated into the vision as now presented includes; 

• Celebration of our diversity; 

• Understanding that place is not just about the physical, it’s about the atmosphere, the 
sense of being, our psychology and personality; our history; 

• Outlining how we harness our ambition to make the most out of our potential; 

• A level of urgency – creating a culture of making things happen. 

4.2 There was concern that iterations of the vision, together with connected enablers and outcomes 
did not capture the essence of the above and felt more like a box ticking exercise to ensure key 
words/phrases were presented.  This was a challenge, therefore through the facilitated session 
with sector leads and testing with the wider stakeholder group the following simplified vision has 
been identified. 

Page 71



 

   

$lv44qw14 Page 8 of 11 Last updated 16 March 2017 

 

Our vision for Cheltenham  
 

    

By being 
creative 

By being 
pioneering 

By being 
nurturing 

By connecting & 
re-connecting 

What we want 
Cheltenham to be: 

How we will do this: 

The outcomes we 
hope to see: 

The local 
economy thrives 

The visitor 
economy thrives 

Young people 
thrive 

Our communities 
thrive 

A place where 

everyone 

thrives 

P
age 72



 

   

$lv44qw14 Page 9 of 11 Last updated 16 March 2017 

 

5. Draft Cheltenham Placemaking Vision 

5.1 With the vision ‘a place where everyone thrives’ agreed with key stakeholders; together with 
defining key values of Creative – Pioneering – Nurturing – Connecting & Reconnecting, a draft 
Cheltenham Placemaking Vision has been prepared (see appendix 1).  This document should be 
seen at this stage as the start of a conversation with stakeholders and the wider community, 
defining the ambition to help deliver the four outcomes as agreed by Cabinet in October and now 
redefined within the context of the revised vision; 

Outcome 1 – the local economy thrives; 

Outcome 2 – the visitor economy thrives; 

Outcome 3 – young people thrive; 

Outcome 4 – our communities thrive. 

5.2 The Cheltenham Placemaking Vision has been drafted in the context of a discussion document 
with a number of ideas and suggestions. The task now is to work with a wide range of 
stakeholders to test the vision and values and to explore whether the ideas and suggestions are 
ambitious enough and to develop collective solutions to turn the vision into reality. 

5.3 The focus moving forward will be on identifying projects and partners that will deliver the 
Placemaking Vision ambitions. 

5.4 During the course of the preparation of the Cheltenham Placemaking Vision there has been much 
discussion on the end date.  The starting point for this was 2050; linking into futures thinking 
works currently being led by Leadership Gloucestershire.  Whilst there was some support for this 
time horizon the majority of stakeholders felt that it was too far ahead.  Consensus was that the 
Placemaking Vision should initially align with the time period of the Gloucester, Cheltenham and 
Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy, 2031, but demonstrating a wider awareness beyond this 
timeframe. 

5.5 There has also been discussion on an appropriate governance model to support future delivery of 
a Place Strategy action plan.  This needs to be developed in partnership with key stakeholders 
and forms part of the next steps. 

6. Next steps 

6.1 Should Council endorse the Cheltenham Placemaking Vision, the next steps will be to work with 
key partners, elected members, stakeholders and the wider community of Cheltenham on 
agreeing the ambition for the town and considering how to turn it into reality.  This will include; 

1. Clearly setting out how the Cheltenham Placemaking Vision provides the spatial expression 
(the overarching plan) for other supporting plans and strategies, e.g. tourism, cultural and 
economic strategies, events, public realm and High Street plans etc. 

2. Preparing an engagement plan which sets out how the officer team will test the 
Cheltenham Placemaking Vision and develop the Place Strategy and supporting action 
plan. 

3. Making all relevant documents available via the Cheltenham placemaking webpage and 
engage with communities through this medium and through activities set out within the 
Place Strategy engagement plan.   

Page 73



 

   

$lv44qw14 Page 10 of 11 Last updated 16 March 2017 

 

4. Working with key stakeholders, for example cultural chairs, C5 group, LEP Infrastructure 
and Construction Group, University etc. to test the Cheltenham Placemaking Vision and 
develop the details of the action plan. To date engagement has very much focussed on 
facilitated conversations through identified stakeholders.  There now needs to be a deeper 
level of engagement.  

5. Continuing to engage with Overview and Scrutiny Group on the Place Strategy and 
supporting plans and strategies. 

6. Agreeing the final Place Strategy, Action Plan and governance through Cabinet. 

7. Continuing staff involvement to help embed the ambitions of the Place Strategy across all 
our activities, but also to use the group to test ideas and thinking. 

8. Developing the key values of Creative – Pioneering – Nurturing – Connecting & Re-
connecting through the council’s organisational development project. 

 

Report author Contact officer: tracey.crews@cheltenham.gov.uk   

01242 774405 

Appendices 1. Risks 

2. Cheltenham Placemaking Vision 

Background information 1. Cabinet report 11th October 2016 
https://democracy.cheltenham.gov.uk/documents/s20456/2016_10
_11_CAB_Place_Strategy.pdf  

 

Page 74



 

   

$lv44qw14 Page 11 of 11 Last updated 16 March 2017 

 

Risk Assessment                  Appendix 1  
 

The risk Original risk score 
(impact x likelihood) 

Managing risk 

Risk 
ref. 

Risk description Risk 
Owner 

Date 
raised 

Impact 
1-5 

Likeli- 
hood 
1-6 

Score Control Action Deadline Responsible 
officer 

Transferred to 
risk register 

 If current staff contracts are 
not addressed within the 
Planning Division, then 
there will be insufficient 
suitable staff resource 
available to deliver the 
Place Strategy to quality or 
to timetable.  

TC Oct 
2016 

5 3 15 Reduce Review current staffing 
arrangements within the 
Planning Division as part 
of the review of the 
Place and Economic 
development team. 

May 
2017 

TC Divisional 

 If the Council does not 
structure its strategy-
strands within an 
overarching Place Strategy, 
then there is a possibility of 
a divergence in strategic 
approaches with the 
potential to impact on 
economic growth.  

TC Oct 
2016 

4 2 8 Reduce Produce Place Strategy 
in partnership with key 
stakeholders and wider 
community which 
provides a coherent and 
spatial expression of the 
ambition for 
Cheltenham.  

Summer 
2017 

TC Corporate 

 If the Council does not 
effectively engage with its 
communities in the 
preparation of the Place 
Strategy, then it runs the 
risk of failing to bring with it 
organisations and 
communities vital to the 
Strategy’s delivery and 
isolating parts of its 
community.  

TC Oct 
2016 

5 2 10 Reduce Undertake engagement 
as set out in the main 
report. 

Summer 
2017 

TC Corporate 

 

P
age 75



Page 76



Place Strategy for Cheltenham
2017

Cheltenham  Placemaking  Vision   

P
age 77



a pioneering spirit

nurturing

connecting & reconnecting

K
in

g
 G

e
o
rg

e
 III p

a
rta

k
e
s
 o

f th
e
 re

s
to

ra
tiv

e
 w

a
te

rs
 1
7
8
8

G
u
s
ta

v
 H

o
ls

t 1
8
7
4

F
o
re

ru
n
n
e
r o

f th
e
 U

n
iv

e
rs

ity
 fo

u
n
d
e
d
 1
8
3
4

C
h
e
lte

n
h
a
m

 A
rt G

a
lle

ry
 1
8
9
9

C
h
e
lte

n
h
a
m

 F
ly

e
r 1
9
3
1

C
h
e
lte

n
h
a
m

 L
ite

ra
tu

re
 F

e
s
tiv

a
l 1
9
4
9

M
e
rre

ts
 to

w
n
 p

la
n
 1

8
3
4

C
h
e
lte

n
h
a
m

 M
u
s
ic

  F
e
s
tiv

a
l 1
9
4
5

C
h
e
lte

n
h
a
m

 T
ru

s
t fo

u
n
d
e
d
 2
0
1
4

C
h
e
lte

n
h
a
m

 G
lo

u
c
e
s
te

r T
ra

m
ro

a
d
 1
8
1
1

 B
irm

in
g
h
a
m

 &
 G

lo
u
c
e
s
te

r R
a
ilw

a
y
 1
8
4
0

c
o
a
c
h
in

g
 s

to
p
 o

n
 th

e
 F

is
h
g
u
a
rd

 - L
o
n
d
o
n
 A

4
0

S
ta

v
e
rto

n
 A

irp
o
rt 1
9
3
1

s
p
a
 w

a
te

rs
 d

is
c
o
v
e
re

d
 1
7
1
6

G
C
H

Q
 1
9
5
1

U
C
A
S
 fo

rm
e
d
 1
9
9
2

C
h
e
lte

n
h
a
m

 M
in

s
te

r 2
0
1
4

C
h
e
lte

n
h
a
m

 S
y
n
a
g
o
g
u
e
 1
8
3
7

E
d
w

a
rd

 W
ils

o
n
 a

c
c
o
m

p
a
n
ie

s
 S

c
o
tt to

 th
e
 s

o
u
th

 p
o
le

 1
9
1
2
 

S
u
p
e
rd

ry
 fo

u
n
d
e
d
 1
9
8
5

S
a
lu

b
rita

s
 e

t E
ru

d
itio

 - h
e
a
lth

 &
 le

a
rn

in
g

1
8
5
7

T
h
e
re

s
a
 B

a
ile

y
 a

w
a
rd

e
d
 th

e
 R

e
d
 C

ro
s
s
 1
9
1
7

F
e
s
tiv

a
l o

f P
e
rfo

rm
in

g
 A

rts
 1
9
2
7

D
o
ro

th
e
a
 B

e
a
le

 P
rin

c
ip

a
l o

f th
e
 L

a
d
ie

s
 C

o
lle

g
e
 &

 S
u
ffra

g
is

t

T
e
a
c
h
e
r T

ra
in

in
g
 C

o
lle

g
e
 1
8
4
7

edgy inventive imaginative inspirational sparky

original enterprising aspiringng

foster cherish nourish sustain regenerateate

building
connecting & reconnectingconnecting & reconnecting

linking
connecting & reconnectingconnecting & reconnecting

 uniting 
connecting & reconnectingconnecting & reconnecting

combining
connecting & reconnectingconnecting & reconnecting

communityy

M
5
 m

o
to

rw
a
y
 1
9
6
0
’s

creativityE
v
e
ry

m
a
n
 th

e
a
tre

 1
8
9
1

P
ittv

ille
 E

s
ta

te
 1
8
2
4

S
a
n
d
fo

rd
 P

a
rk

s
 L

id
o
 1
9
3
5

a place where everybody thrives

yyyy
uuu
n

rryyyy
 fffooo

uuu
nnn
ddd
eeee
ddd
  

uu
111
9999
8888
55

C
h
e
lte

n
h
a
m

 M
u
s
lim

 A
s
s
o
c
ia

tio
n
 1
9
8
4

H
in

d
u
 te

m
p
le

 1
9
8
6

d
m

 T
ru

s
t fo

u
n
dd
e
d
 

n
d

2
0
1
4

B
a
n
g
la

d
e
s
h
i C

o
m

m
u
n
ity

 1
9
9
5

i
t

Core values

Cheltenham’s new vision is focused along four 

core values that form part of the lifeblood and 

heritage of the town. The vision re-connects with 

these themes to underpin the vision.    

Cheltenham’s inheritance

Cheltenham can take pride in its great history and 

heritage, and this legacy must be the basis on which 

its future is built. Over the last 250 years, the town 

has seen periods of rapid growth, and periods of 

evolve and embrace change.

Placemaking vision

To help shape the way Cheltenham will change, 

the town has embarked on a ‘place making’ plan. 

consensus for a new vision for how the town can 

P
age 78



MalvernMalvernMalvern

heltenhamCheltenhamCCCheCheltenhamCCCCheltCheltenhamhelteCheltenhamCCCCheCheltenham

BerkeleyBerkeleyBerkeley
LondonLondonLondon

... where businesses choose to invest

... where visitors choose to visit, stay and return

enable a new cyber security centre of excellence

generate high-tech inward investment

encourage cycling & walking

ensure a cycling legacy from the ‘Tour of Britain’

build links between schools, colleges & the university to employers to expand apprenticeships & traineeships

tourism sector 

re-invent the Town Hall as a cultural hub

ensure edge of town businesses & town centre businesses can work together

grow the festivals and cultural events to re-animate the town’s streets, spaces & parks

deliver more affordable housing & create mixed 
communities

rejuvenate the built heritage to support inward investment

Cheltenham now

The borough’s economy supports around 72,000 

electronics and tourism.

Yet the number of overnight stays is falling.

Schools in Cheltenham are high performing both in 

the state sector and the independent sector.

However  the town does not compelling reasons for 

young people to stay, with high housing costs and 

limited skilled employment.

and although the borough has some of the most 

some of the poorest.

community groups has generated a long list of visions 

for Cheltenham, a snapshot of some of these ideas 

are outlined here.

P
age 79



City  of London - Staverton... 27 minutes?

... where younger people can study and prosper

... where everyone has opportunity to live in thriving communities

implement a rapid transit link between the station & town centre

revamp Cheltenham Spa station

develop talent pathways to help retain younger people

foster an entrepreneurial spirit to encourage pop-up businesses

deliver super fast broadband

create a high quality public realm accessible to all

invest in faster connections regionally & to London

bring together the retail offer across the town centre and local centres

re-imagine parks & streets to connect people to the place, heritage & each other

encourage family & child focused activities

establish a creative quarter to make space for start-ups

inspire resident & volunteer action

help older people to be active & connected

build inclusive communities

P
age 80



A Place Where Everybody Thrives

Measuring success

For the vision to succeed it must be measured 

developed through the place making process will 

demonstrate if the vision is delivering our outcomes.

- the local economy thrives, for employers and               

  employees across a wide range of sectors

 

- the visitor ecomomy thrives, building on a

  new brand image for the town

  safe, healthy, inclusive environments.

Next steps

We look forward to working with you.

Town Hall-
Re-invent as a culture and learning hub, bridging local community activities to national and
international audiences, creating Cheltenham as a ‘place for people’

Cyber-security hub-
Lever in high quality business spaces and homes in ways that ensure local communities share the bene"ts.

A#ordable housing-
Ensure the growing needs are met by close working with Cheltenham Borough Homes and other providers. 

Public realm-
Re-juvenate the towns streets & spaces as inclusive, social and active cultural experiences.

P
age 81



key partners

Cheltenham Borough Homes Cheltenham Business Improvement District Cheltenham 

Chamber of  Commerce Cheltenham Civic Society Cheltenham Development Taskforce 

Cheltenham Festivals Cheltenham Racecourse Cheltenham Trust Cheltenham Voluntary 

and Community sector Gloucestershire County Council Gloucestershire Local Enterprise 

Partnership Gloucestershire University

Spring 2017 Cheltenham Borough Council Place & Economic Development

P
age 82



 

   

Financing of improvements to Leisure@ Page 1 of 11 Last updated 14 March 2017 

 

Cheltenham Borough Council 

Cabinet 7 March 2017 

Council 27 March 2017 

Financing arrangements for improvements to Leisure-at-
Cheltenham 

 

Accountable member Cllr. Flo Clucas; Cabinet Member Healthy Lifestyles 

Accountable officer Richard Gibson, Strategy and Engagement Manager 

Ward(s) affected All 

Key/Significant 
Decision 

Yes 

Executive summary The Cheltenham Trust has asked Cheltenham Borough Council for 
assistance with funding a range of improvements to the facilities within 
Leisure-at-Cheltenham, which is owned by Cheltenham Borough Council 
and currently leased to the Trust on a 15 year term. The proposed 
improvements are as follows: 

• Convert two existing squash courts into new studios to enable an 
increase in the number of class and activity programmes. 

• Upgrade the existing dry-side changing spaces to reflect the quality of 
offer that customers expect and that competes well with the local 
market. 

• The provision of a new sauna and steam room suite adjacent to the new 
changing rooms, strengthening the link with health and fitness and 
replacing the outdated existing health suite facilities. 

• Extend the existing fitness suite on the ground floor into the current 
dance studio enabling an increased capacity to meet demand and 
enable improved functional training space and health support related 
activities. 

• Conversion of the existing health suite into an aquatics play space, 
developing and extending the aquatics opportunities for families with 
young children and also the commercial hires for children’s birthday 
parties 

The improvement scheme will deliver much needed investment into Leisure-
at-Cheltenham to keep it competitive and to enable a growth in income and 
footfall. Although gym equipment was refurbished in 2013, there has been 
no significant investment into the fabric of the building since the post-flood 
refurbishment in 2007.  

The council plans to support this request via a loan of up to £1.5m which will 
be repaid by the Trust at an interest rate of 3% per annum.  

 

 

 

Agenda Item 10
Page 83



 

   

Financing of improvements to Leisure@ Page 2 of 11 Last updated 14 March 2017 

 

Recommendations 1 Cabinet approves the proposed improvements to Leisure-at-
Cheltenham as set out in this report and recommends that 
Council;  

2 Subject to the conditions set out in section 6 being met to the 
satisfaction of the Section 151 Officer in consultation with the 
Cabinet Member Finance authorises: 

3 The Authority to offer a loan of up to £1.5million at an interest 
rate of 3% per annum to the Cheltenham Trust for onward 
funding of the improvements to Leisure-at-Cheltenham as 
detailed in Section 3 of this report; 

4 The Authority entering into a loan agreement with The 
Cheltenham Trust for the sum of up to £1.5m at an interest rate 
of 3% per annum for onward funding of the improvements to 
Leisure-at-Cheltenham as detailed in Section 3 of this report. 

 

Financial implications The proposed loan will be a 3% annuity loan for 10 years with twice yearly 
repayment of capital and interest. 
 
The loan will be unsecured because the Trust does not itself own any land 
or buildings. It should be noted that the remaining 8 year period of the 
current management agreement is less than the 10 year period of the 
proposed loan, as detailed in the key risks section below. However, the 
council could, if both parties were willing, extend the management 
agreement to cover the remaining term of the loan. 
 
The business case submitted by the Trust (Appendix 2) has been reviewed 
in terms of the proposed capital costs of the scheme, affordability and 
expected rate of return. This is based on a proposed capital cost of 
£1.43m. However for the basis of this report to Cabinet / Council we have 
based our workings on the maximum loan of £1.5m. 
 
The revenue forecast at 4.3 shows that the proposed improvements will 
generate a cumulative net surplus of £675k at the end of the 10 year loan 
period, with an average return on investment over the 10 year period of 
4.22%. This is slightly below the CBC target of 5% but this can be off-set 
by the social and health benefits of the proposed scheme. 
 
The preliminary costs of £81k will be funded by the Trust from their cash-
flow.  The projected net cash outflows in the first three years of the capital 
scheme, as detailed in paragraph 4.3, will also need to be absorbed within 
the Trust’s revenue budgets. 
 
Contact officer: 
Sarah Didcote 
GO Business Partner Manager (West) 
Sarah.Didcote@cheltenham.gov.uk 
01242 264125 

Page 84



 

   

Financing of improvements to Leisure@ Page 3 of 11 Last updated 14 March 2017 

 

Legal implications The Authority has power under Section 19 of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 to provide the loan to the 
Cheltenham Trust (the Trust). 
 
If approved by full Council, the Authority will be providing a loan at a lower 
interest rate than offered by financial institutions and advice has been 
given to officers about state aid. It is considered that the assistance is not 
state aid because the assistance will not affect trade between member 
states because the activities carried on at Leisure-at-Cheltenham are of a 
local nature. On 19 July 2016 the European Commission published  
“Notice on the notion of State aid as referred to in Article 107(1) of the 
Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union” which stated the 
following; 
 
“The Commission has in a number of decisions considered, in view of the 
specific circumstances of the cases, that the measure had a purely local 
impact and consequently had no effect on trade between Member States. 
In those cases the Commission ascertained in particular that the 
beneficiary supplied goods or services to a limited area within a Member 
State and was unlikely to attract customers from other Member States, 
and that it could not be foreseen that the measure would have more than 
a marginal effect on the conditions of cross- border investments or 
establishment.” The Notice referred to a number of examples which 
included “sports and leisure facilities serving predominantly a local 
audience and unlikely to attract customers or investment from other 
Member States” 
 
The Trust occupy Leisure-at-Cheltenham under a lease granted for a term 
of 15 years which commenced on 1st October 2014. The Lease will 
automatically end before the expiry of the 15 years should the 
management agreement be terminated earlier or is not extended at the 
end of year 10. The Lease requires the prior written consent of the 
Authority as freeholder of the building before any works can be carried 
out. The consent will be documented by both the Authority and the Trust 
entering into a Licence for Alterations.  
 
It is intended that the Trust employs the building contractors, design team 
and other professionals and contractors. The Council will not be party to 
these contracts so in order to protect the Authority’s position as freeholder, 
the Authority will need to be supplied with collateral warranties from each 
professional and contractor in a form approved by the Authority. 
 
The Lease and the Management Agreement contain provisions about the 
ownership and maintenance of equipment. It may be that variations to are 
required depending on the agreement reached regarding the new 
equipment and facilities being provided.  
 
The terms of the loan and repayments will be documented in a loan 
agreement.  
 
Contact officer: 
Donna Ruck, Solicitor, One Legal  
Tel:  01684 272696 
Donna.ruck@tewkesbury.gov.uk 
 

Page 85



 

   

Financing of improvements to Leisure@ Page 4 of 11 Last updated 14 March 2017 

 

HR implications 
(including learning and 
organisational 
development)  

No HR implications identified with this report 
 

Property/Asset 
Implications 

Leisure@ Cheltenham is currently leased to the Trust on a 15 year term 
starting on October 2014.  
 
To undertake the Phase 1 there will be a requirement for ‘A Licence for 
Alterations’. This is also subject to the works occurring within the term of 
the lease. There will be two elements to this: 

• Works to the structure and fabric of the building 

• Works that change and alter fixtures and fittings and maintenance 
and repairing liabilities 
 

As part of the licence to alteration, consideration will need to be given to  

• Ownership of the ‘Assets’ (depreciation) 

• How changes effect repair and maintenance responsibilities 

• Exit strategies (for the Council or the Trust) 
 
These elements will require negotiation between the two parties. 
 
In addition, as there are other capital works being undertaken in the next 
year or so (such as replacing the air conditioning units in the gym, the 
installation of a changing places toilet and potential improvement works 
funded by Sport England’s Swim Local programme), consideration should 
be given to coordinating these works as a whole which may help reduce 
the costs of those works and minimise disruption to customers.  
 
Contact officer: 
Abigail Marshall 
Estates Surveyor 
Abigail.Marshall@cheltenham.gov.uk - 01242 775166 

Page 86



 

   

Financing of improvements to Leisure@ Page 5 of 11 Last updated 14 March 2017 

 

Key risks As set out above in the financial implications, there are two areas of risk 
for the council: 
 
The Council is proposing to grant a loan to the Trust which will be 
unsecured because the Trust does not itself own any land or buildings. 
This is a risk to the council because in the event of default on the loan, 
there will be no property that CBC can repossess. This is a risk that CBC 
has taken at least once before other external organisations operating from 
within council owned buildings. The Council owes a fiduciary duty to its 
council tax payers to ensure that the business case is sound so that it can 
be sure that the repayments will made.  
 
Secondly, the term of the loan is 10 years, and there is less than 8 years 
of the certain term of the management agreement with the Trust 
remaining. If the Council were not to extend the management agreement 
and as a result if the Trust needed to wind itself up, it must clear all its 
debts. If it cannot repay the remainder of the loan, the council would need 
to seize any assets of value (assuming CBC takes a floating charge over 
its assets under the loan agreement) and potentially write off any 
remaining repayments.  
 
In mitigation against these two risks, as CBC owns the building, the loan 
will be spent on improving its asset and the works may add value to it and 
to CBC’s financial position.  
 

Corporate and 
community plan 
Implications 

Successful delivery of the project by the Cheltenham Trust will help the 
council deliver its corporate strategy outcome: 

• People live in strong, safe and healthy communities 
 

Environmental and 
climate change 
implications 

The range of improvements to Leisure-at-Cheltenham will be built in 
accordance with the environmental specifications set out in the latest 
building regulations.   

 

  

Page 87



 

   

Financing of improvements to Leisure@ Page 6 of 11 Last updated 14 March 2017 

 

1. Background 

1.1 The Cheltenham Trust were established as a consequence of a commissioning review into how 
best the Council could continue to support the delivery of its leisure and cultural services, and the 
management of five properties (The Wilson, Town Hall, Pittville Pump Room, Leisure at 
Cheltenham, Prince of Wales Stadium)  whilst delivering best value to the taxpayer.   

1.2 The Trust went live in October 2014 and are in receipt of a declining management fee from the 
Council: 

Year 2014 15 2015 16 2016 17 2017 18 2018 19 Total 

Management Fee £1,666k £968k £764k £648k £641k  

Net reduction £0 -£698 -£204 -£116 -£7 -£1,025 
 

1.3 The Council has encouraged the Trust to develop a vision for the Leisure Centre and Prince of 
Wales stadium.  

1.4 The Trust has subsequently come back with an initial vision. This is: 

To develop a hub within the town that encourages public participation in diverse experiences that 
touch and inspire people be it through sport, culture, play, competition, heritage, learning, health 
and wellbeing.  The ambition is to put Cheltenham at the forefront nationally, creating a unique 
place that contributes to the social, cultural and economic value of the town and enriching the 
lives of residents and visitors.  

1.5 In March 2016 the Cheltenham Trust commissioned an initial feasibility study and developed a 
two-phase approach to creating a hub at Leisure-at-Cheltenham.  The proposals were presented 
to the Council in the autumn of 2016 and the first phase element (described in section 3) was 
endorsed as a robust first step to delivering the broader vision. The second phase included works 
to re-orientate the entrance and reception along with the provision of a large adventure play 
facility and outdoor trampoline park and it was agreed not to progress these at this point.  

1.6 In summary, the phase 1 project is to update and upgrade the wellbeing facilities at the leisure 
centre and develop a new aquatic play space.  It is planned to obtain funding through a loan from 
Cheltenham Borough Council and for the new facilities open to be open to the public for January 
2018.  

2. Current arrangements 

2.1 Leisure-at-Cheltenham is currently leased to the Trust on a 15 year term that started on October 
2014. It hosts over 570,000 visits per year and welcomes visitors from cradle to grave.  
Customers come to the facilities from Cheltenham and surrounding areas and its regional and 
national competition events attract people from all over the UK. 

2.2 Many services are delivered in partnership with 19 other providers across health, education, 
social services and sport.  The proposal aims to ensure that the facilities remain attractive to 
these partners. 

2.3 In terms of its wider operations, the Trust remains very successful at delivering a range of 
outcomes for local residents. Performance is assessed at a quarterly review meeting chaired by 
the Cabinet Member Healthy Lifestyles.  

2.4 To support the council’s understanding of the performance of the Trust, a value for money study 
is to be undertaken this year which will assess the Trust’s contribution to social, cultural and 
economic outcomes against a picture of how much it costs to support the Trust.  

Page 88



 

   

Financing of improvements to Leisure@ Page 7 of 11 Last updated 14 March 2017 

 

3. Details of the proposal 

3.1 The proposed improvements are as follows: 

• Convert two existing squash courts into new studios to enable an increase in the number of class 
and activity programmes. 

• Upgrade the existing dry-side changing spaces to reflect the quality of offer that customers expect 
and that competes well with the local market. 

• The provision of a new sauna and steam room suite adjacent to the new changing rooms, 
strengthening the link with health and fitness and replacing the outdated existing health suite 
facilities. 

• Extend the existing fitness suite on the ground floor into the current dance studio enabling an 
increased capacity to meet demand and enable improved functional training space and health 
support related activities. 

• Conversion of the existing health suite into an aquatics play space, developing and extending the 
aquatics opportunities for families with young children and also the commercial hires for children’s 
birthday parties 

4. Business Plan Assessment 

4.1 The estimated capital costs of the project are shown below: 

Phase 1 

Preliminary costs 81,000 

Build costs 666,000 

Equipment 557,000 

Contingency costs (8.1%) 106,000 

Project Management & Delivery 90,000 

Total 1,500,000 

 

4.2 Based on a 3% loan over the 10 year term of the loan, the total interest payments equate to 
£247,372.  

4.3 The revenue forecast is shown below – assuming a loan at £1.5m: 

 Years 

SUMMARY 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 

Income 273 344 389 418 434 429 425 421 417 412 

Expenditure 127 131 135 137 139 139 139 139 139 139 

Lost income  24 40 39 39 40           

Surplus  122 173 215 242 255 290 286 282 277 273 

                      
Loan repayment 174 174 174 174 174 174 174 174 174 174 

                      
Net Surplus -52 -1 41 68 81 116 112 108 103 99 

                      
Cumulative Surplus -52 -53 -12 56 137 253 365 473 576 675 

 

Page 89



 

   

Financing of improvements to Leisure@ Page 8 of 11 Last updated 14 March 2017 

 

4.4 The revenue forecast is based on the following assumptions: 

• Income grows from years 1 to 5 and then shows a marginal decline from years 5 – 10 

• Squash retains 80% of income through fully utilising capacity in the remaining courts 

• Splash pad utilisation rates are based on term time v holiday time attendance levels 

• Attrition rate on membership based on 5% v actual of 4.8% 

• Capital loan repayments shown as full cost in year one 

• Food and beverage spend estimated at 10p per user on new attendances and 50p in café spend 

• Staff costs for new role based on UK Living wage at £8.45 from April 2017 

• Loss of squash income and health suite income are factored into the business plan up to year 5 
 

5. Project governance 

5.1 The project will be co-sponsored project between The Cheltenham Trust and Cheltenham 
Borough Council with oversight being provided by the Joint Commissioning Group. The Joint 
Commissioning Group is the mechanism by which Cheltenham Borough Council and The 
Cheltenham Trust work together using a co-commissioning approach to deliver capital 
development projects relating to CBC owned and TCT managed venues.  

5.2 Current membership of the Group is: 

Jaki Meekings-Davis Trustee, The Cheltenham Trust 
Cllr Flo Clucas Cabinet Member, Cheltenham Borough Council  

Julie Finch  CEO, The Cheltenham Trust 

Riah Pryor  Head of Content & Programmes, The Cheltenham Trust 

Mark Sheldon Director Corporate Resources & Projects, Cheltenham Borough Council   

Richard Gibson Lead Commissioner for the Trust, Cheltenham Borough Council  

Jackie Rigby Programme Manager, Cheltenham Borough Council 

 

5.3 Scrutiny of the project will be via the Cheltenham Trust’s Audit and Governance Committee and 
the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

5.4 Delivery of the project will be through a development partner, which is a tried and tested formula 
model to ensure delivery on time and within budget. The Trust will manage the procurement of the 
development partner which will be achieved through national frameworks to ensure speed and 
compliance with procurement regulations.  

6. Suggested conditions for the offer of a loan 

6.1 If council are minded to offer a loan, it is suggested that it is offered with the following conditions: 

6.2 The maximum loan that will be offered to The Cheltenham Trust will be £1.5m at an interest rate 
of 3% per annum.  

6.3 The offer of the loan will remain open for 12 months from the date of the Council meeting. 

6.4 The offer of the loan is only to be used in connection with the proposed improvement scheme as 
detailed in section 3.  

6.5 The Trust will bring forward detailed costings for the improvement scheme and this work will be 
funded in the first instance by their own cash-flow though will be later refunded from the loan. 

6.6 The Trust will agree to enter into a licence for alterations and associated collateral warranties as 
detailed in the property and legal implications.  

6.7 Subject to the detailed costings for the scheme not being greater than £1.5m, the loan will then be 

Page 90



 

   

Financing of improvements to Leisure@ Page 9 of 11 Last updated 14 March 2017 

 

agreed by the s.151 officer, in consultation with the Cabinet Member Finance. 

 

7. Reasons for recommendations 

7.1 The proposed loan of £1.5m to fund the proposed improvement scheme is being recommended 
for the following reasons: 

• The loan will be repaid by the Trust in full over a 10 year period. 

• It will enable much needed investment into leisure-at-Cheltenham, which is owned by the council 
and leased to the Trust. This will ensure the building remains an attractive leisure destination for 
local residents within a competitive market.   

• The investment will increase footfall and therefore income for the Trust.  

• The improvement scheme will have direct benefits for local residents increasing their health and 
wellbeing 

• The improvement scheme will support the work of 19 partners who deliver health and wellbeing 
related activities at leisure-at. 

8. Alternative options considered 

8.1 The Council and the Trust have explored two other options:  

8.2 DO NOTHING: Continue to maintain the existing facility to ensure it is fit for purpose within 
resources, in the knowledge that Leisure – at will not be able to meet the demand for business 
and customer expectations, with reducing appeal and subsequent declining retention and 
reputation with increased wear and tear on kit and facilities.  There will be a negative impact upon 
economic viability of the business and the Trust. This option has therefore been dismissed.  

8.3 COMMERCIAL FUNDING: The Cheltenham Trust could fully fund the capital investment 
programme without contribution by CBC through seeking a commercial loan. Although on the face 
of it, this would minimise the risk to the Council in that the Trust business activities would fund the 
repayments, the Council would need to act as a guarantor for the loan. That would mean 
assigning an equivalent sum in our reserves to fund this in case the Trust failed. In addition, the 
cost of the loan would have been higher at an estimated 5%. On advice from the s.151 officer, 
this option has been dismissed.  

9. Consultation and feedback 

9.1 It is suggested that, prior to the loan being finally agreed by the s.151 officer and the Cabinet 
Member Finance, the works should be discussed by the Asset Management Working Group. 

10. Performance management – monitoring and review 

10.1 If a loan is entered into, this will be managed via the agreed terms and conditions as set out in the 
loan agreement.  

 

Page 91



 

   

Financing of improvements to Leisure@ Page 10 of 11 Last updated 14 March 2017 

 

Report author Contact officer: 

Richard Gibson 
Strategy and Engagement Manager 
Richard.gibson@cheltenham.gov.uk 
01242 235 354 

Appendices 1. Risk Assessment 

2. Business Plan 

3. Project Assessment Tool  

Background information  

 

Page 92



 

   

$uoubndcf Page 11 of 11 Last updated 14 March 2017 

 

Risk Assessment                  Appendix 1  
 

The risk Original risk score 
(impact x likelihood) 

Managing risk 

Risk 
ref. 

Risk description Risk 
Owner 

Date 
raised 

Impact 
1-5 

Likeli- 
hood 
1-6 

Score Control Action Deadline Responsible 
officer 

Transferred to 
risk register 

 If the Trust defaults on the loan, 
there will be no property that CBC 
can repossess. Therefore the 
Council owes a fiduciary duty to its 
council tax payers to ensure that the 
business case is sound.  
 

s.151 
officer 

20.2.17 3 2 6 Accept Ensure that the business case 
is sound so that it can be sure 
that the repayments will made. 
 
 

Feb 2017 Sarah 
Didcote 

 

 As the term of the loan is 10 years, 
and there is less than 8 years of the 
certain term of the management 
agreement with the Trust remaining, 
if the Council were not to extend the 
management agreement and as a 
result if the Trust needed to wind 
itself up the loan repayment 
agreement would not be fulfilled.  

s.151 
officer 

20.2.17 4 2 8 Reduce The council would need to be 
in a position to seize any 
assets of value. This therefore 
suggests that CBC should take 
a floating charge over its 
assets under the loan 
agreement 

Sept 
2017 

Donna 
Ruck 

 

Explanatory notes 

Impact – an assessment of the impact if the risk occurs on a scale of 1-5 (1 being least impact and 5 being major or critical) 

Likelihood – how likely is it that the risk will occur on a scale of 1-6  

(1 being almost impossible, 2 is very low, 3 is low, 4 significant,  5 high and 6 a very high probability) 

Control - Either: Reduce / Accept / Transfer to 3rd party / Close 
 

 

 
 

P
age 93



Page 94



 

 

Phase 1 development of leisure-at-cheltenham 

 

Stephen Petherick, January 2017 

 

1.0 Introduction 

1.1 The Proposal 

Sport England recommends 150 minutes of activity per week as an absolute base line.  

Leisure at can become a venue where it becomes easier to take part in ‘activity’ of many 

kinds.  This will be a place where the dwell time is increased by the very fact that the choices 

for families, friends and communities enable multiple opportunities to get active, socialise, 

participate and compete.  This will be a place that will enable everyone to ‘find their thing’, 

to take part and love life.  This development proposes to make the following changes to the 

facilities within leisure-at-Cheltenham: 

 

• Convert 2 existing squash courts into two new studios enabling development of class 

and activity programmes. 

• Upgrade the existing dry side changing spaces to reflect a quality of offer that customers 

expect and that competes well with the local market 

• Provision of new sauna and steam room suite adjacent to the new changing rooms, 

strengthening the link with health & fitness and replacing the out dated existing health 

suite facilities. 

• Extend the existing fitness suite on the ground floor into the current dance studio 

enabling increased capacity to meet demand and enable improved functional training 

space and health support related activities. 

• Conversion of the existing health suite into an aquatics play space, developing and 

extending the aquatics opportunities for families with young children and also the 

commercial hires for children’s birthday parties 

• Opportunities for new employment, job creation, learning and volunteering. 

 

Together, this will enable growth in income and footfall, delivering an increased surplus to 

meet the charitable objectives of the Cheltenham Trust and social objectives of the Council. 

 

 

Appendix 2 Page 95



 

 

 

 

 

Page 96



 

 

 

 

Page 97



 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 98



1.3 Context 

The Cheltenham Trust made a bid to Cheltenham Borough Council for North Place Funding 

in December 2014 to develop the concept of a Sport and Play Hub, these proposals were 

not supported in that round of funding and the Council asked the Trust to look at 

commercial options for funding. The Council confirmed that it wished to work with The 

Cheltenham Trust to develop a broader vision for the leisure centre and stadium as well as 

the redevelopment of the Town Hall. 

The broad vision is to develop of a hub within the town that encourages public participation 

in diverse experiences that touch and inspire people be it through Sport, Culture, Play, 

Competition, Heritage, Learning, Health and Wellbeing.  The ambition to put Cheltenham at 

the forefront nationally, creating a unique place that contributes to the Social, Cultural and 

Economic value of the town and enriching the lives of residents and visitors.  

In March 2016 the Cheltenham Trust commissioned an initial feasibility study and developed 

a proposal to create a Hub at Tommy Taylors Lane for Sport, Wellbeing and Culture.  The 

initial proposals were presented to the Council in the autumn of 2016 and the phase 1 

element being suggested as a first step. 

The phase 1 project is to update and upgrade the wellbeing facilities at the leisure centre 

and develop a new aquatic play space.  It is planned to obtain funding through loan from 

CBC and the new facilities open to the Public for January 2018.  

1.4 Financial context 

In common with many other Charities the Trust faces significant financial challenges.  To 

have a positive impact on the people who live, work, visit and study in Cheltenham, the 

Trust must remain sustainable.   

 

The Trust will meet these challenges through developing its content and product mix, capital 

investments, growth in commercial business, efficiency and active fundraising.  As an 

example Table 1 below shows the reduction in Council funding years 1 to 5. 

 

Year 2014 15 2015 16 2016 17 2017 18 2018 19 

Management Fee 1672 974 770 654 647 

Net reduction 0 -698 -204 -116 -7 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 99



1.5 Audience 

 

Attracting over 570,000 visits per year Leisure-at-Cheltenham welcomes a wide range of 

people.  Its services support people from the unborn child through to those nearing the end 

of life.  Customers come to the facilities from Cheltenham and its surrounds and its regional 

and national competition events attract people from all over the UK and internationally. 

 

Many services are delivered in partnership with other providers across Health, Education, 

Social Services and Sport; this with the facilities available, ensure that the places are 

accessible and services targeted around need.  The proposal aims to ensure that the 

facilities attract more people more often – with quality, value and opportunity being the 

main drivers of growth.  Table 2 provides examples of the key partners and groups. 

Partner Activity Social Wellbeing Learning 

University of 

Gloucestershire 

1. Teacher Training (PE) 

2. Universal Sport  

3. Sport (Talent) 

4. Sport (Professional) 

5. Placements 

X 

X 

X 

X 

X 

X 

X 

X 

X 

X 

X 

X 

X 

Glos College 1. Universal Sport 

2. Placements 

X X X 

X 

Primary Schools (36 slots) Key Stage 2 Swimming X X X 

CCG  Exercise on referral X X X 

NHS (Chelt Gen & St Pauls) Physiotherapy X X X 

NHS (Chelt Gen) Cardiac Rehab & Respiratory Failure X X X 

NHS (2gether Trust) 1. Swimming 

2. Trampolining 

X 

X 

X 

X 

X 

X 

GRFC Wheel Chair Rugby Disability Sport X X X 

Chelt & District SAD Disability Sports X X X 

CSWPC Water Polo, Swimming & Synchro Coaching X X X 

Harriers 1. Athletics Coaching 

2. Athletics Competition 

X 

X 

X 

X 

X 

X 

CBC Concessions Disabled, 60+, Unemployed, Students, Low 

Income, Free Swims for U16 

X X X 

Netball Leagues / Clubs Netball X X X 

Soccer Leagues / Clubs Soccer X X X 

Skaters Fun Club Roller skating X X X 

Roller Torrent Roller Derby X X X 

St Vincents & St Georges  Leisure activities access X X X 

The Key Disability Access to sport X X X 

Gloucestershire CCC 1. Cricket Coaching 

2. Cricket Youth Team Practice 

X 

X 

X 

X 

X 

X 

Badminton England 1. Coaching 

2. Social schemes  

X 

X 

X 

X 

X 

X 

 

 

 

Page 100



1.6 Civic role of leisure at cheltenham 

Leisure-at-Cheltenham plays a crucial civic role within the life of the town Table 3 below 

highlights some key aspects of this. 

Civic Function Activity Social Health & 

Wellbeing 

Learning / Culture 

Democracy Election Count centre for 

Local, National & EU 

elections 

X  X 

Civil Emergency Rest centre for local 

communities in the event 

of emergency 

X X  

Community A place to meet that is 

accessible and open to all 

X X X 

Community A place that offers safe 

and secure access to 

public services and 

information 

X X X 

 

1.7 The role of leisure at cheltenham in relation to disabilities & health 

 

Long standing and new activities are delivered directly or with partners to help improve the 

quality of life of local people.  Table 4 below outlines some of the core activities and their 

impact.   

Health Partner Activity Physical  Mental  Emotional  

Clinical Commissioning 

Group 

Reactive Exercise on prescription & 

concession scheme 

x x x 

NHS CGH Back 2 Fitness x x x 

NHS CGH ACL x x x 

NHS CGH Respiratory Failure x x x 

NHS 2gether Trampolining x x x 

NHS 2gether Swimming x x x 

St Georges & St Vincent’s Activities x x x 

NHS CGH LEAP x x x 

Social The Key x x x 

CSAD Sport & Swim x x x 

GRFC Wheelchair Rugby x x x 

Special Olympics Host / Partner x x x 

Milsom Street Centre  Sexual Health x x x 

Dept of Health PIP Assessment x   

Eddystone Trust Sexual Health HIV/ Hep C x x x 

Winston’s Wish Bereavement/Meeting place drop in x x x 

GFA (WFA) & Active Glos Powerchair Football x x x 

 

Page 101



2 Business Plan 

 

2.1 Capital Cost and repayment 

 

The capital costs of the project are shown in Table 5 

Phase 1 

Build and preliminary costs 747,000 

Equipment & contingency costs  602,000 

Project Management & Delivery 90,000 

Total 1,439,000 

 

The repayments based on the 3% Public Works Loan Board loan over the term of the loan 

the total interest payments on the initial loan equate to £237k. 

 

2.2 Revenue Forecast 

 

Table 6 provides a summary of the revenue split growth in income over ten years.  Table 7 

shows the revenue position over the duration of the loan.  Trading enters surplus in year 2 

and over the term provides a net cumulative benefit of £739k, a return on investment of 

51% over 10 years.  An updated cash flow can be seen in Appendix 1. Key assumptions: 

Description Budget Additional Income 

Income  EXISTING 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 

Health & Fitness (membership) 726 79 145 184 209 218 

   

216  

   

214  

   

212  

   

209  

   

207  

Health & Fitness Casual 143 15 15 16 16 17 

     

17  

     

17  

     

16  

     

16  

     

16  

Splashpad 0 155 158 161 165 168 

   

166  

   

165  

   

163  

   

161  

   

160  

Secondary Spend (Retail, F&B) 202 23 26 28 29 30 

     

30  

     

29  

     

29  

     

29  

     

29  

Total Income Growth 1,071 272 344 389 419 433 429 424 420 416 412 

 

• Income grows from  years 1 to 5 and then shows a marginal decline from year 5 – 10 

• Squash retains 80% of income through fully utilising capacity in the remaining  courts 

• Splash pad utilisation rates are based on term time v holiday time attendance levels 

• Attrition rate on membership based on 5% v actual of 4.8% 

• Capital Loan repayments shown as full cost in year 1 

• F&B spend estimated at 10p per user on new attendances and 50p in café spend 

• Staff costs for new role based on UK Living wage at 8.45 from April 2017 

• Loss of squash income and health suite income are factored into the business plan 

 

Page 102



SUMMARY 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 

Income 273 344 389 418 434 429 425 421 417 412 

Expenditure 127 131 135 137 139 139 139 139 139 139 

Surplus (including lost income) 122 173 215 242 255 290 286 282 277 273 

Capital Payment 125 129 133 137 143 147 149 154 159 163 

Interest Payment 42 38 34 30 26 22 17 13 8 3 

Net Operating Surplus -   45 6 47 74 85 120 118 114 110 106 

Cumulative Net Surplus -   45 -   38 9 83 169 290 408 523 633 739 

 

2.3 Governance 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Project Manag 

 

 

2.4 Project Management (Procurement, Delivery, Timeframe & Contract Structure) 

 

2.4.1 Procurement of the Development Partner (DP) through National Frameworks will 

ensure speed and compliance with procurement regulations. For example 

a)  Minor Works Framework SCAPE  

http://www.scapegroup.co.uk/services/procure/frameworks/minor-works  

b) Development Partner Leisure Facilities Framework  

https://www.sell2wales.gov.wales/search/show/search_view.aspx?ID=JAN11773

1  

2.4.2 Delivery of the project would be through a Development Partner Model, this ensures 

delivery on time, within budget and utilises a nationally tried and tested formula. 

2.4.3 The Development Partner must deliver within the agreed budget and timeframes.   

2.4.4 The Development Partner reports to the Joint Project Board on progress against the 

project deliverables. 

2.4.5 Project would include the 5 stages of Gateway review: 

Sponsoring Groups: 

 

TCT Board of Trustees  Council 

Capital Dev  Commitee               Cabinet & Cabinet Member 

Finance Committee  Working Groups 

TCT Executive   SLT   

CBC Executive Team 

Project Sponsors  

TCT Julie Finch 

CBC Mark Sheldon  

Project Scrutiny  

TCT Audit &    CBC Overview &  

Governance Committee Scrutiny 

Committee 

 

Joint Project Board  

TCT Representatives 

CBC Representatives 

Development Partner 

Evaluation Panel  

TCT Representatives 

CBC Representatives 

 

Page 103



• Brief developed in line with business needs – completed (INCEPTION) 

• Solution matched to best business outcomes - Feasibility Report and confirm 

affordability programme (completed) – Sign off PID (including business case) CBC/TCT 

(out-standing) (FEASIBILITY) 

• Social Value & Local spend agreed – appoint design team, mitigate risks and maximise 

opportunities – project costs agreed on order (PRE-CONSTRUCTION) develop design 

• Best VFM solution – contract information agreed and costs 100% market tested – cost 

agreed on project order (PRE-CONSTRUCTION) detailed design 

• Quality build delivered on time and in budget with performance measurement at all 

stages – contract sum (CONSTRUCTION).  

• Occupy new facilities, client value report & post project review, final accounts (IN USE) 

 

 

2.4.6 Joint Project Board  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

In summary we already have the feasibility, the business case and governance model, 

approach (joint board) model require sign off once agreement between the Cheltenham 

trust and council is in place.  

 

 

 

 

 

The Cheltenham Trust 

Cheltenham Borough Council 

Joint Board 

Project Delivery  

Development Partner 

Appoints and delivers with 

specialist suppliers/services 

Cheltenham Borough Council 

(provides PWLB loan) 

Page 104



 The estimated timeframe of the project is evidenced in table 7 below 

 

  Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Jan 

  16 16 17 17 17 17 17 17 17 17 17 18 

Phase 1 Business Case                         

Phase 1 PID                         

TCT Exec Sign Off                         

TCT Sign Off of Phase 1                         

CBC S151 Officer Sign Off                         

CBC Exec Board Sign Off                         

CBC Cabinet Sign Off                         

CBC Council Sign Off                         

TCT Budget Sign Off                         

CBC Budget Sign Off                         

Loan Approval                         

Procure & Appt Dev Partner                         

Agree Project Cost & timeframe                         

Project Initiation                         

Consultation & Pre Planning                         

Planning                         

Build (20 weeks) Open 01/18                         

Convert Squash Courts                         

Convert Changing Rooms                         

Convert Fitness Suite                          

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 105



3 Consultation 

 

An analysis and engagement plan template is a sensible way to reflect this.  Consideration 

must be given to keeping stakeholders aware of changes to project costs, timescales, 

quality, scope, risk profile and benefits.  The table below indicates the stakeholders and 

level of interest in the project.   

 Stakeholder Group 
What is their 

Role? 

What is their 

level of interest 

(high/med/low) 

and influence 

(high/med/low) 

in the project? 

What are the Key 

Messages we 

wish to send 

Ongoing and 

Future Activity 

Board of TCT 

Trustees and CBC 

Cabinet 

Owners of the 

project  

High interest 

High Influence 

Project on time, 

budget 

Monitoring and 

evaluation 

Audit & Governance 

Ctte 

Assurance High Interest  

High Influence 

Project is being 

delivered within 

plan 

Scrutiny of 

project and its 

deliverables 

TCT Exec Project driver High Interest 

High influence 

As above As above 

CBC Cabinet 

Member, Cabinet 

and SLT 

Landlord, 

funding 

provider & 

client 

monitoring of 

the 

management 

agreement 

High Interest  

High Influence  

As above As above 

Customers / 

Customer Groups 

Principle users 

of the facilities 

High Interest  

High Influence  

Improvement of 

services  & 

facilities, 

expansion of the 

offer and 

increased 

inclusivity, 

accessibility 

Consultation 

Health & Fitness 

Members 

Users of 

facilities and 

services 

High Interest  

High Influence 

Improvement, 

extension and 

broadening of the 

offer, increased 

quality and value 

Consultation 

Sport England Overarching 

NGB for sport 

High Interest  

High Influence  

Alignment of 

project to national 

values and 

objectives around 

Consultation and 

possible funding / 

grants 

Page 106



 Stakeholder Group 
What is their 

Role? 

What is their 

level of interest 

(high/med/low) 

and influence 

(high/med/low) 

in the project? 

What are the Key 

Messages we 

wish to send 

Ongoing and 

Future Activity 

physical activity & 

engagement 

UK Active Health & 

Fitness 

National Body 

Medium Interest 

Medium 

Influence  

As above linked 

into Sport England 

and Dept. of 

Health 

Consultation 

ASA Nat Governing 

Body 

Swimming 

Medium Interest  

Medium 

Influence 

Improved services 

and accessibility 

to broaden 

engagement in 

aquatics 

Consultation and 

possible funding 

Tenants SME’s based 

within leisure 

centre 

High Interest   

Medium 

Influence  

Possible impact 

upon their 

business 

Consultation  

Active 

Gloucestershire 

Customer and 

Partner 

High Interest  

Medium 

Influence 

Project will 

contribute to 

Active 

Gloucestershire 

and The 

Cheltenham Trust 

objectives around 

engagement and 

growing 

participation 

especially 

amongst target 

groups 

Consultation 

Police Advice on 

security 

Low Interest 

Medium to High 

Influence 

Consideration 

given to deliver 

improvement 

Consultation 

 

4 Risk 

 

The management of Risk is a key element of the development and a summary of risks 

associated with the project can be found in Appendix 2. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 107



5 Recommendation 

To proceed with the project in light of the following factors: 

• Time - The project build time of 20 weeks in combination with the methodology of 

development partner will reduce risks and ensure that the project is delivered on time 

and within budget. 

• Social Impact – The projects improvements will enable more people to be active more 

often.   

• Equalities – The project through design will improve accessibility to people with 

disabilities, target groups around Health, Older people, Families and Older people, 

Young people. 

• Partnerships – Ability to increase the work with partners around health & education 

• Learning – The project will provide new opportunities for informal learning and play 

• Opportunity - Opening of new facilities coincides with peak season in the marketplace - 

if the project commences in Sept 2017. 

• Affordability - The term of the loan repayment at 10 years ensures the project 

completed within the existing lease agreement between the Council and The 

Cheltenham Trust. 

• Financial opportunity - The growth in revenue, opportunity for engagement and 

employment with a prudent budget delivers a net return on investment of 57% with 

interest at 2% dropping to a return of 49% if interest is charged at 3.5%.  

• Financial sustainability - Increased net surplus provides additional and critical income for 

the Trust to meet its charitable objectives, business plan and need to ensure a 

sustainable future. 

Stephen Petherick 

Cheltenham Trust 

Page 108



 

 
Page 4 

 
Name of proposal Version and date last 

assessed 
Lead Officer 

Improvements to Leisure-at-
Cheltenham 

v.1.1 Richard Gibson 

Brief description of project for use in public documents 

The proposed improvements are as follows: 

• Convert two existing squash courts into new studios so enabling an increase in the number of class 
and activity programmes. 

• Upgrade the existing dry-side changing spaces to reflect a quality of offer that customers expect and 
that competes well with the local market. 

• The provision of a new sauna and steam room suite adjacent to the new changing rooms, 
strengthening the link with health and fitness and replacing the outdated existing health suite 
facilities. 

• Extend the existing fitness suite on the ground floor into the current dance studio enabling increased 
capacity to meet demand and enable improved functional training space and health support related 
activities. 

• Conversion of the existing health suite into an aquatics play space, developing and extending the 
aquatics opportunities for families with young children and also the commercial hires for children’s 
birthday parties 

The improvement scheme will deliver much needed investment into Leisure-at-Cheltenham to keep it 
competitive and to enable a growth in income and footfall. Although gym equipment was refurbished in 
2013, there has been no significant investment into the fabric of the building since the post-flood 
refurbishment in 2007.  

The management arrangement between the Trust and the Council provide for a year on year reduction 
in funding by the Council.  This project will help to strengthen the financial viability and performance of 
Leisure-at Cheltenham creating a surplus for reinvestment and development by the Trust.   

The council plans to support this request via a loan of £1.5m which will be repaid by the Trust at an 
interest rate of 3% per annum. 

 
  

Cheltenham Borough Council – Project Assessment Tool 
Section 1:  Business case for capital projects 

Appendix 3 Page 109



 

 
Page 4 

 

What is the Timescale of this project (critical milestones)? 

The estimated timeframe of the project is evidenced in table 7 below 

 

  Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Jan 

  16 16 17 17 17 17 17 17 17 17 17 18 

Phase 1 Business Case                         

Phase 1 PID                         

TCT Exec Sign Off                         

TCT Sign Off of Phase 1                         

CBC S151 Officer Sign Off                         

CBC Exec Board Sign Off                         

CBC Cabinet Sign Off                         

CBC Council Sign Off                         

TCT Budget Sign Off                         

CBC Budget Sign Off                         

Loan Approval                         

Procure & Appt Dev Partner                         

Agree Project Cost & timeframe                         

Project Initiation                         

Consultation & Pre Planning                         

Planning                         

Build (20 weeks) Open 01/18                         

Convert Squash Courts                         

Convert Changing Rooms                         

Convert Fitness Suite                          
 

 

What are the alternatives options to delivering the project (include doing nothing) 

DO NOTHING: Continue to maintain the existing facility to ensure it is fit for purpose within resources, in 
the knowledge that Leisure – at will not be able to meet the demand for business and customer 
expectations, with reducing appeal and subsequent declining retention and reputation with increased 
wear and tear on kit and facilities.  Negative impact upon economic viability of the business and the 
Trust. This option has therefore been dismissed.  
 
COMMERCIAL FUNDING: The Cheltenham Trust fully fund capital investment programme without 
contribution by CBC through seeking a commercial loan. Although on the face of it, this would minimise 
the risk to the Council in that the Trust business activities would fund the repayments, the Council would 
need to act as a guarantor for the loan. That would mean assigning an equivalent sum in our reserves to 
fund this in case the Trust failed. In addition, the cost of the loan would have been higher at an 
estimated 5%. On advice from the s.151 officer, this option has been dismissed.  
 
CBC FACILITATED LOAN: The council secures funding for the investment on the Trust behalf.  This will 
be a rate of 3%. The loan repayments will be met through growth in Trust business.  The relationship 
between Trust / Council will require clarification and ongoing issues of security of tenure, asset 
ownership.  Officers and members have expressed a preference for this model and a joint approach to 
delivering the project. 
 

What will be the impact of the project on other parts of the CBC; property services, legal, procurement, 
finance etc? 

It is proposed to utilise a development partner, a well tried and established route that at cost removes 
any direct pressure on capacities within the Trust.  This can be secured through existing national 
frameworks.  The development partner owns and covers the risk of delay and cost of exceeding agreed 

Page 110



 

 
Page 4 

project costs. 
 
The development would be overseen by a joint Trust CBC project board.  The project management of 
the delivery would be through a Development partner who would be contracted to deliver on time and 
within budget a turn-key solution.  This is a well-used process with robust evidence of delivery to 
support the approach.  
 
 
Will the proposal involve any longer term commitments from the council particularly in terms of long-
term financial and staffing commitments? 

Yes, the project involves a 10 year loan to the Trust which will be re-paid at an interest rate of 3%. 
 
The asset will remains in control of the Council and the Council would benefit ultimately in the 
improvement of its buildings. 
 
Staffing costs for operating the facility will sit with The Cheltenham Trust and have been built into future 
calculations 
 
There are no long term revenue commitments for the council although replacement of equipment will 
continue to be planned at 5 year intervals. Though the new equipment will come with 5 year parts and 
labour service agreement. 
 
 
How will the views, opinions and concerns of the community and partners be considered in planning the 
proposal? 

Customer comment, stakeholder engagement and operational concerns have in part motivated this 
project. Further consultation will be included within the delivery of the project. The project will 
contribute significantly to improved service delivery and meeting customer needs, as well as ensuring 
the offer at Leisure-at remains fresh and at the top end of Cheltenham’s competitive leisure market.  
 
Consultation is planned as part of planning processes to assure any concerns with regard to the built and 
heritage environment and security. 
 
Further to this, the Stakeholder Event on 24th November 2014 held by TCT highlighted the need to be 
competitive in growing market place; the provision of improved facilities also supports use of those 
individuals from deprived areas or targeted communities eg special needs. 
 

 

 

Page 111



 

 
Page 4 

 

 
These figures are drafted as viewed from the Trust 
Preliminary costs 

Architect fees £30,188 

Mechanical and electrical advice £17,250 

WFC Construction £11,500 

Local Authority Fees (Building 

Control, signage etc) 
£  4,025 

Structural Engineer Fees £  9,775 

Hippo £  3,500 

ALS / SPC £  5,000 

Total £81,238 

 
Capital costs 

Preliminary costs 81000.00 

Squash courts to Studio's  135000 

Extend gym 63000 

Refurb dry change & sauna / steam 129000 

First Floor corridors 16000 

Health suite to splash pad 63000 

M&E 243000 

build prelims 17000 

Build Total 666000 

Fitness Equipment 216000 

Splash Pad Equipment costs 341000 

equipment total 557000 

Project Management & Delivery 90000 

Contingency costs 106000 

Total 1500000.00 

Cheltenham Borough Council - Project Assessment Tool 
Section 2:  Financial details of proposal (at current pay and price levels) 
 

P
age 112



 

 
Page 4 

 
Loan Repayments and return on investment calculation: 
 

Principal £1,500,000         

Rate 3.00% Fixed   

Years 10   

Half years 20   

semi-annual   

annuity payment £87,368.60   
Annual 

repayment  £174,737.21   

Due Date 
Opening 
balance 

annuity 

payment interest paid principal repaid closing balance 

  

 

£1,500,000 

1 £1,500,000.00 £87,368.60 £22,500.00 £64,868.60 £1,435,131.40 

2 £1,435,131.40 £87,368.60 £21,526.97 £65,841.63 £1,369,289.76 

3 £1,369,289.76 £87,368.60 £20,539.35 £66,829.26 £1,302,460.51 

4 £1,302,460.51 £87,368.60 £19,536.91 £67,831.70 £1,234,628.81 

5 £1,234,628.81 £87,368.60 £18,519.43 £68,849.17 £1,165,779.64 

6 £1,165,779.64 £87,368.60 £17,486.69 £69,881.91 £1,095,897.73 

7 £1,095,897.73 £87,368.60 £16,438.47 £70,930.14 £1,024,967.59 

8 £1,024,967.59 £87,368.60 £15,374.51 £71,994.09 £952,973.50 

9 £952,973.50 £87,368.60 £14,294.60 £73,074.00 £879,899.50 

10 £879,899.50 £87,368.60 £13,198.49 £74,170.11 £805,729.39 

11 £805,729.39 £87,368.60 £12,085.94 £75,282.66 £730,446.73 

12 £730,446.73 £87,368.60 £10,956.70 £76,411.90 £654,034.82 

13 £654,034.82 £87,368.60 £9,810.52 £77,558.08 £576,476.74 

14 £576,476.74 £87,368.60 £8,647.15 £78,721.45 £497,755.29 

15 £497,755.29 £87,368.60 £7,466.33 £79,902.27 £417,853.01 

16 £417,853.01 £87,368.60 £6,267.80 £81,100.81 £336,752.21 

17 £336,752.21 £87,368.60 £5,051.28 £82,317.32 £254,434.88 

18 £254,434.88 £87,368.60 £3,816.52 £83,552.08 £170,882.80 

19 £170,882.80 £87,368.60 £2,563.24 £84,805.36 £86,077.44 

20 £86,077.44 £87,368.60 £1,291.16 £86,077.44 £0.00 

  £1,747,372.08 £247,372.08 £1,500,000.00   

            

 
loan £1,500,000.00 

interest £247,372.00 

Total 1,747,372 

Cumulative surplus  739,000 

RO1 -10 years 42.20% 

ROI per annum 4.22% 

P
age 113



 

 
Page 4 

 
These figures are drafted as viewed from CBC          

CAPITAL COSTS PROFILE 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 Totals £ 

Buildings 666,000     666,000 

Infrastructure e.g. parks and gardens, landscaping       

Vehicles, plant or equipment 557,000     557,000 

Project Management 90000     90000 

Contingency 106,000     106,000 

Prelim costs 81,000     81,000 

Total capital cost of project 1,500,000     1,500,000 

       

CAPITAL FUNDING PROFILE (please state if confirmed) 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 Totals £ 

Loan to The Cheltenham Trust 1,500,000     1,500,000 

Total capital funding of project 1,500,000     1,500,000 

Net capital cost to CBC 1,500,000     1,500,000 

       

ADDITIONAL REVENUE COSTS PROFILE 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 Totals £ 

Direct staffing / Additional support services staffing       

Maintenance       

Heating/lighting/NNDR etc.       

Other       

Total additional revenue cost of project 0     0 

       

INCOME / SAVINGS / MATCH FUNDING PROFILE 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 Totals £ 

Loan repayment £174,737 £174,737 £174,737 £174,737 £174,737 873,685 

Cashable savings       

Non-cashable savings       

       

NET CONTRIBUTION TO BRIDGING THE GAP 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 Totals £ 

Please profile the net contribution to the bridging the gap programme   25,000    

       

 

Cheltenham Borough Council - Project Assessment Tool 
Section 2:  Financial details of proposal (at current pay and price levels) 

P
age 114



 

 
Page 4 

 

What contribution will the 

project make: 

 

assessment Please describe how the project will 

contribute to the delivery of the council’s 

strategic objectives and outcomes and what 

the constraints are to delivering these 

outcomes 

s
ig

n
if

ic
a

n
t 

m
o

d
e

ra
te

 

w
e

a
k

 

n
o

n
e

 

u
n

d
e

rm
in

e
s
 

Cheltenham's environmental quality and heritage is protected, maintained and enhanced 

Green space improvements / 

maintenance and enforcement 

   X  None anticipated  

Public realm improvements / 

maintenance and enforcement 

   X  None anticipated 

Being environmentally sustainable 

 

 X    The project will introduce new equipment and 

fittings eg lighting air-con etc will be at a 

higher level of carbon efficiency and will 

reduce the carbon footprint of the facilities 

further 

Sustain and grow Cheltenham’s economic and cultural vitality 

Economic growth 

 
 X    Continuing to invest in Cheltenham’s leisure 

offer is important as it strengthens Cheltenham 

as a place where people wish to live, work and 

play. 

Cultural vitality 

 
X     The Trust actively seeks to explore 

opportunities to expose its customers to sport 

arts and culture across all its venues through 

cross fertilisation. 

Improving connectivity 

 
 X    Many services are delivered in partnership with 

19 other providers across Health, Education, 

Social Services and Sport.  The proposal aims 

to ensure that the facilities remain attractive to 

these partners 

People live in strong, safe and healthy communities 

Safety and wellbeing of 

individuals and communities 

 

X     The activities delivered will contribute directly 

to the safety and wellbeing of local residents 

through building communities and social 

cohesion, in particular with some of the target 

populations that use the facilities 

Decent and affordable housing    X  None anticipated 

Strong and healthy communities 

 
X     The activities delivered will contribute directly 

to the strength and health of local residents; 

the scheme will increase access to facilities for 

the public that both improve physical, mental 

and emotional wellbeing 

Our council can continue to facilitate the delivery of our outcomes for both Cheltenham and its 

residents 

Effective use of assets 

 
X     The proposal makes a significant investment 

into leisure-at to keep it competitive and to 

enable a growth in income and footfall. 

Although gym equipment was refurbished in 

2013, there has been no significant investment 

into the fabric of the building since the post-

flood refurbishment in 2007. 

Commissioning      None anticipated 

Organisational development      None anticipated 

Cheltenham Borough Council - Project Assessment Tool 
Section 3:  Assessment against corporate strategy objectives and outcomes 

Page 115



 

 
Page 4 

 

  

 

 

 

See risk assessment in main body of Cabinet report 

Please identify the main risks 

associated with the project (financial, 

health and safety, reputation) 

Impact 

1-5 
Likelihood 

1-5 
Score 

out of 

25 

How would you manage 

the risk 
Risk Manager 

If the Trust defaults on the loan, there will 
be no property that CBC can repossess. 
Therefore the Council owes a fiduciary duty 
to its council tax payers to ensure that the 
business case is sound.  
 

3 2 6 Ensure that the business 
case is sound so that it can 
be sure that the repayments 
will made. 
 
 

Sarah Didcote 

As the term of the loan is 10 years, and 
there is less than 8 years of the certain 
term of the management agreement with 
the Trust remaining, if the Council were not 
to extend the management agreement and 
as a result if the Trust needed to wind itself 
up the loan repayment agreement would 
not be fulfilled.  

4 2 8 The council would need to 
be in a position to seize any 
assets of value. This 
therefore suggests that CBC 
should take a floating 
charge over its assets under 
the loan agreement 

Donna Ruck 

 

 

Cheltenham Borough Council - Project Assessment Tool 
Section 4:  Risk assessment 

Page 116



 

   

$ialmw03r Page 1 of 6 Last updated 14 March 2017 

 

 

Cheltenham Borough Council 

Appointments and Remuneration Committee – 27 February 2017 

Council – 23 March 2017 

Section 151 Officer Arrangements 

 

 

Accountable member Councillor Rowena Hay, Cabinet Member for Finance  

Accountable officer Pat Pratley 

Ward(s) affected None 

Key/Significant 
Decision 

No  

Executive summary On 22 June 2015, the Council recommended that the Deputy s151 Officer, 
Paul Jones, be designated, on an interim secondment basis to the role of 
Section 151 Officer for a period of 18 months to free up capacity to allow the 
Council’s designated s151 Officer to spend his time leading on a number of 
key corporate projects. This interim period has nearly concluded. 

The permanent designated Section 151 Officer, Mark Sheldon (Director of 
Corporate Resources & Projects) has now confirmed his wish to 
permanently relinquish the Section 151 duties and this presents the Council 
with an opportunity to make the current interim arrangements permanent.  

Members have indicated in previous Council reports that they wish to 
receive GOSS and ICT services from the 2020 partnership, and the 
direction of travel is that these will be provided through a local authority 
company, the legal form through which the s151 officer role would be 
provided is either a secondment agreement or a contract of employment 
directly with this council.  

The interim Section 151 Officer is currently employed by Cotswold District 
Council but seconded to the Council and to the Forest of Dean District 
Council as their permanent designated Section 151 Officer. Following 
discussions with the current interim post holder, the Forest of Dean District 
Council and the 2020 Partnership MD, the recommended option is that Paul 
Jones is appointed as the permanent designated Section 151 Officer 
employed directly by Cheltenham BC. The Council will then enter into a 
secondment agreement with the Forest of Dean Council. An arrangement 
that all parties are fully agreeable to.  

 It is recommended that the Appointments and Remuneration 
Committee:   

1. Agrees the content of this report.  

2. Approves the salary grade and job description for the post of Chief 

Agenda Item 11
Page 117



 

   

$ialmw03r Page 2 of 6 Last updated 14 March 2017 

 

Finance Officer. 

3. Considers the permanent appointment of the interim s151 Officer, 
Paul Jones, to the Chief Finance Officer role (to include the role of 
Section 151 Officer) with effect from 28th March 2017. 

4. Makes an onward recommendation to Council for designation to the 
role of Chief Finance Officer (to include the role of Section 151 
Officer) 

 

Recommend to Council that: 

1. Paul Jones is designated permanently to the role of Chief Finance 
Officer (to include the role of Section 151 Officer) with effect from 28th 
March 2017.  

 

Financial implications There are no financial implications arising from this report. The salary 
costs of the Chief Financial Officer, as detailed in paragraph 1.9, are within 
the 2017/18 approved budget.    

Contact officer: Sarah Didcote,  

sarah.didcote@cheltenham.gov.uk, 01242 264125 

Legal implications The Council has a statutory duty to appoint a designated Section 151 
Officer. The Appointment and Remuneration Committee agree who to 
appoint but the final decision on the designation rests with Council. The 
Employment Rules must be complied with and this includes the need to 
consult with Cabinet before any offer of appointment is made.  

 

Contact officer: Peter Lewis, 

peter.lewis@tewkesbury.gov.uk, 01684 272012 

HR implications 
(including learning and 
organisational 
development)  

As outlined in the body of this report. 

Contact officer: Julie McCarthy, 

julie.mccarthy@cheltenham.gov.uk, 01242 264355 

Key risks See appendix 1 

Corporate and 
community plan 
Implications 

The proposal will continue to support release of some strategic capacity 
which will assist in the delivery of some key corporate plan objectives. 

Environmental and 
climate change 
implications 

None arising from this report 

Property/Asset 
Implications 

 None arising from this report 

Contact officer:   David Roberts@cheltenham.gov.uk 

Page 118



 

   

$ialmw03r Page 3 of 6 Last updated 14 March 2017 

 

1. Background 

1.1 In 2015, the remit of the Director of Corporate Resources & Projects included the role of Section 
151 Officer (s151). The Council report in June 2015 explained the business rationale and the need 
to free up capacity of the post holder to enable the delivery of a number of key corporate projects.  

1.2 It was also envisaged at that time that the role of s151 Officer would likely be considered in the 
development of the 2020 vision partnership and that there could be the potential for a different 
arrangement to be considered. 

1.3 It was proposed that the then Deputy s151 Officer, Paul Jones, be seconded into the role of s151 
Officer, for a period of 18 months, and for him to also continue to fulfil the role of s151 Officer for 
Forest of Dean District Council.  

1.4 The interim period has nearly concluded. Paul has fulfilled his s151 responsibilities thus far with 
considerable competence including the additional duties of line management of the Revenues & 
Benefits section following the return of the service from the control of the Joint Committee to the 
Council.   Paul also attends Executive Board meetings and has provided invaluable and 
authoritative financial advice to the board during this interim period and during a continued period 
of financal challenge for the authority. 

1.5 The permanent designated s151 Officer, Mark Sheldon (Director Resources & Projects) has 
confirmed in writing to the HR Manager that he wishes to permanently relinquish the s151 duties. 
This presents the Council with an opportunity to make the interim s151 arrangements, including 
the line management of Revenues & Benefits, permanent.  

1.6 Members have indicated in previous Council reports that they wish to receive GOSS and ICT 
services from the 2020 partnership, and the direction of travel is that these will be provided through 
a local authority company, the legal form through which the s151 officer role would be provided is 
either a joint employment contract with all parties or a direct employment contract with this council 
and a secondment to the Forest of Dean DC.  

1.7 The interim s151 Officer is currently employed by Cotswold District Council but seconded to this 
Council and to the Forest of Dean District Council as their permanent designated s151 Officer. 
Following discussions with the current interim post holder, the Forest of Dean District Council and 
the 2020 Partnership MD the recommended option is a direct employment contract with 
Cheltenham BC. Cheltenham will then enter into a secondment agreement with the post holder 
and the Forest of Dean Council. All parties are fully agreeable to this.  

1.8 The proposed new Chief Finance Officer (CFO) role is described at appendix 2.  

1.9 The salary for the CFO role has been established at Grade 3, £67,392 - £77,884. The Forest of 
Dean District Council will be paying circa £35k contribution and the salary proposal is within 
current budget provision. This is just a different employment arrangement. 

2. Delivery of statutory duties 

2.1 To guidance on the role of the Section 151 Officer which can be summarised as follows: 

• Leading the development of a medium term financial strategy and the annual 

budgeting process to ensure financial balance and a monitoring process to ensure its 

delivery; 

• Promotion of financial management, value for money and the safeguarding of public 

money; 

Page 119



 

   

$ialmw03r Page 4 of 6 Last updated 14 March 2017 

 

• Provision of professional financial advice; 

• Production and sign-off of the annual Statement of Accounts; 

• Leading and directing the finance function through a ‘business partnering’ ethos 

(including treasury management, accounts payable, accounts receivable, insurance 

and procurement) so that it makes a full contribution to and meets the needs of the 

business; 

• Compliance with the statutory requirements for accounting ; 

• Compliance with the statutory requirements for internal audit which is provided by 

currently by Audit Cotswolds and from 1st April 2017 South West Audit Partnership 

(SWAP). 

2.2 Article 12 of the Constitution and in particularly 12.4.2 states that The Section 151 Officer has 
responsibility for the administration of the financial affairs of the Council and will ensure that an 
adequate and effective internal audit system is maintained. As Head of Paid Service, I am 
comfortable that the interim arrangements to be put in place will ensure that the statutory function 
will continue to be delivered. 

3. Reasons for recommendations 

3.1 The proposal will continue to release strategic capacity in order to support the delivery of the 
corporate plan. 

3.2 Ensures that the Council retains the skills and expertise of the current interim officer by entering 
into a direct employment relationship with him. 

4. Alternative options considered 

4.1 That the s151 role reverts back to the Director Resources & Projects but this would impact on the 
delivery of some key corporate objectives. 

4.2 That the Council continue to procure the s151 services from the 2020 Partnership company. 
However, the requirement to use a joint employment contract across multiple employers and the 
employee was felt to be too complex. 

5. Consultation and feedback 

5.1 The appointment and remuneration committee will be consulted prior to the Council decision.  

6. Performance management –monitoring and review 

6.1 The post-holder will report to the head of paid service who will be responsible for monitoring 
performance through regular 1-2-1 meetings as well as through the appraisal process. 

Report author Contact officer: Julie McCarthy  

Julie.mccarthy@cheltenham.gov.uk,  

01242 264355 

Page 120



 

   

$ialmw03r Page 5 of 6 Last updated 14 March 2017 

 

Appendices 1. Risk Assessment 

2. Chief Finance Officer – Job Description  

Background information Council Report 22nd June 2015 

A&R Briefing Note – October 2016 

 

Page 121



 

   

 Page 6 of 6 Last updated 14 March 2017 

 

Risk Assessment                  Appendix 1  
 

The risk Original risk score 
(impact x likelihood) 

Managing risk 

Risk 
ref. 

Risk description Risk 
Owner 

Date raised Impact 
1-5 

Likeli- 
hood 
1-6 

Score Control Action Deadline Responsible 
officer 

Transferred to 
risk register 

 If the council does not 
ensure adequate Section 
151 resource then there 
is a risk that the council 
may not fulfil the 
statutory responsibilities 
covered by this role.  
 

Pat 
Pratley 

01.02.2017 5 2 10 Reduce Council to ensure 
there is an 
appropriate 
appointment to the 
role of Section 151 
officer with access to 
adequate resources. 

31.03.2017 Paul 
Jones 

 

 Any environmental risks           

            

            

            

Explanatory notes 

Impact – an assessment of the impact if the risk occurs on a scale of 1-5 (1 being least impact and 5 being major or critical) 

Likelihood – how likely is it that the risk will occur on a scale of 1-6  

(1 being almost impossible, 2 is very low, 3 is low, 4 significant,  5 high and 6 a very high probability) 

Control - Either: Reduce / Accept / Transfer to 3rd party / Close 
 

 

  

P
age 122



 

 - 1 - 

 

 

Job Description   
 

Job Title: Chief Finance Officer  

Post No: XXX 

Grade: Grade 3 

Section: Finance and Resources 

Location: Municipal Offices or any such other location within 
the District as the Council may determine from time 
to time. 

Responsible to: Head of Paid Service / Cabinet Leads 

Responsible for:  Strategic resource management with Section 151 
responsibility for ensuring the sound management 
of the council’s finances; resources for and teams 
engaged in strategic finance, internal audit, counter 
fraud, revenues and benefits, other support 
services functions (unless transferred to another 
service division of partner).  

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

    Job purpose 

 
� As a member of the Councils Executive Leadership team provide leadership, vision 

and strategic direction to the organisation in order to deliver the Councils policies 

and priorities 

� Ensure there is sufficient and relevant corporate capacity to achieve Council 

priorities and ensure the effective management of resources including employees 

and partnerships which fosters innovation and secures value for money whilst 

being underpinned by effective financial controls 

� To assume professional responsibility for the authority’s financial management in 

accordance with the statutory Section 151 (s151) requirements.* 

� Provide leadership to the teams in the Finance and Resources section (Finance, 

Internal Audit, Counter Fraud and revenues and benefits, ensuring that the services 

are in line with the expectations and are responsive to customer needs. 

� Represent the Council as a non-executive Director on Council owned companies 

(e.g. South West Audit Partnership). 

 

* Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 requires every local authority to make 
arrangements for the proper administration of their financial affairs and requires one officer to 
be nominated to take responsibility for the administration of those affairs. The s151 officer is 
usually the local authority’s Chief Finance Officer and must be a qualified accountant 

Page 123



 

 - 2 - 

belonging to one of the recognised chartered accountancy bodies. The s151 officer has a 
number of statutory duties, including the duty to report any unlawful financial activity involving 
the authority (past, present or proposed) or failure to set or keep to a balanced budget. The 
s151 officer also has a number of statutory powers in order to allow this role to be carried 
out, such as the right to insist that the local authority makes sufficient financial provision for 
the cost of internal audit.  
 
Accountabilities specific to the role  

s151 Officer  

� Take overall responsibility for the proper administration of both Councils financial 

affairs including an effective audit function.  

� Lead the development of the authority budget process against a background of 

needing to make further significant savings.  

� Working with cabinet, members, and management board lead the development of 

the medium term financial strategy ensuring the allocation of resources to deliver 

the councils priorities, and maintaining adequate levels of reserves and ensuring 

demonstration of value for money when compared with statistical neighbours.  

� Give assurance to both Councils on the deliverability of proposed budgets and that 

the councils can operate legally within its overall financial resources.  

� Working with the Executive Leadership team and Monitoring Officer, support the 

effective governance of the authority through the development of corporate 

governance arrangements, risk management and reporting frameworks and 

decision making arrangements.  

� Ensure the delivery of effective audit and assurance arrangements including an 

effective audit committee.  

� Hold directors and senior managers to account for delivery against financial plans.  

� Produce recommendations on cost savings and efficiencies through critically 

analysing the budget, current and historical spend. Undertake benchmarking and 

modeling demand/cost trajectories to inform the plan which must integrate within 

the overall corporate planning cycle and evidence base.  

� Ensure the provision of high quality financial support to the organisation; giving 

strategic, professional financial advice.  

� Develop, implement and review the Councils capital and property investment 

strategies; treasury management strategies, policies and procedures; and, financial 

management policies, procedures and practices.  

� Develop, implement and review final accounts procedures so the annual statement 

of accounts is produced accurately and on time. This will include compliance with 

the International Financial Reporting Standards.  

� Ensure maintenance of key corporate financial databases and systems.  

Page 124



 

 - 3 - 

� Lead on the development, implementation and review of financial and performance 

monitoring arrangements to ensure accurate information is available when needed 

for the Councils formal performance monitoring reports.  

� Aid the decision-making process for the effective use of the Councils property and 

land portfolio.  

� Ensure a dynamic corporate asset management plan, aligned to the objectives of 

the Councils, and in particular securing increased income generation, supporting 

the transition of services to local communities, maximising capital receipts, and 

stimulating growth and investment in the districts.  

� Ensure effective programme and project management arrangements are in place to 

support delivery of the capital programme.  

 
 
Responsibilities and behaviours  

1. As a management board member, lead the creation and implementation of the overall 
business strategy and operating model to achieve the vision for both Councils.  

2. Design and deliver value for money integrated public services and ensure attention to 
improving efficiency and robust cost management.  

3. Ensure services are customer focused through effective community and user 
engagement in the commissioning of services.  

4. Develop relationships with partner organisations to meet the needs of the Councils 
communities collaborating with all sectors to continuously improve the quality of life in 
the districts.  

5. Assume accountability for directly managing integrated service delivery, managing 
conflicting priorities and driving the achievement of continuously improved locality-
based customer outcomes.  

6. Develop services managed with appropriate partners, spotting and taking advantage 
of external changes so resource utilisation is maximised in the long term.  

7. Act as a figurehead for the service areas managed, liaising with Members, non-
executive directors and senior individuals in external agencies, regionally and 
nationally, to influence agendas and increase inward investment.  

8. Promote the Councils to all key stakeholders to ensure the Councils are positioned 
successfully for increased inward investment and policy consideration. Manage the 
investment in relationships made by the Councils to deliver the best possible return.  

9. Support Members by providing the highest quality advice and guidance on areas of 
policy and strategy, ensuring that Members are appraised about issues to enable 
informed decision making in line with the Councils vision and priorities.  

10. Drive appropriate organisational improvement and transformation; and lead cultural 
and policy change in line with the Councils vision and values.  

11. Provide exemplary leadership ensuring behaviours meet organisational values and 
creates a working environment where employees are empowered and can deliver 
their best; holding others accountable for their decisions.  

12. Set and manage ambitious performance expectations, recognising success and 
taking timely remedial action; keeping stakeholders informed of progress against 
targets.  

Page 125



 

 - 4 - 

13. Establish appropriate performance standards and determine priorities for resource 
allocation to meet clearly defined customer expectations.  

14. Ensure the provision of expert technical advice by service areas to senior leaders and 
partner organisations.  

15. Create an environment where learning, innovation and the application of new ideas 
flourish resulting in significant improvements to service delivery.  

16. Take responsibility for managing risks and resolving issues that may have a 
significant impact on the council.  

17. Understand and meet all required legislation and governance to deliver the required 
service standards.  

 

 
 
 
 

Scope for Impact 
 
The prime scope for impact of this post is finances, people, (employees), property and asset 
management portfolio, contributing to a culture of excellence and innovation. 

The post holder will  

 

� be the lead officer for strategic resource management with s151 responsibility for 

ensuring the sound management of the Council’s finances. 

 

Key Result Areas 
 
For all at Grade 3 level: 
 

� Service delivery plan 

� Financial targets (income, or budget /salary and supplies and services) 

� Data quality 

� Performance management (recognition, under-performance) 

� Appraisal completion 100% annually 

� Attendance management (targets set annually)  

 
 
 
Key contacts 
 

� Executive Board 

� Elected Members including Cabinet 

� Colleagues as part of Executive & Senior leadership team 

� Senior officers in other councils 

� Regional and National bodies  

� Customers/ service users 

� Other - partners, funders  

Page 126



 

   

$yjqon5b1 Page 1 of 5 Last updated 16 March 2017 

 

Cheltenham Borough Council 

Council – 27 March 2017 

2020 Joint Committee – Withdrawal of employment matter 
delegations 

Accountable member Councillor Roger Whyborn, Cabinet Member Corporate Services 

Accountable officer Pat Pratley, Head of Paid Service 

Ward(s) affected None 

Key/Significant 
Decision 

No  

Executive summary 1.1 On 19 October 2015 Council approved a number of 
recommendations with regard to the formation of the 2020 
Partnership Joint Committee (Joint Committee) and the delegation of 
services and functions to it including employment matters. 

1.2 On 11 October 2016 Cabinet approved the 2020 Partnership 
business case in so far as it related to this authority for the provision 
of GO Shared Services (GOSS) and ICT functions, and also 
approved the transfer of those services to a local authority company.  
At the same time, Cabinet also agreed to withdraw this authority’s 
Revenues (including Council Tax), Benefits and Customer Services 
from the Joint Committee with effect from 14 November 2016. 

1.3 Having now approved a 3 company model for the provision of 
services to all the partner councils the Joint Committee is in the 
process of progressing appointments for both non-executive and 
executive directors.  Having registered the company the proposal is 
that the Articles and the Members Agreement will be agreed by 1 
April 2017- with the Contract for Services to be agreed prior to the 
business support company coming into operation.  

1.4 The intention is for the company to operate in “shadow” form for a 
period of time post 1 April and ahead of services and staff formally 
transferring to the company/ies in the autumn.  During this period the 
Joint Committee will remain in existence and undertake the functions 
and activities delegated to it. 

1.5 In light of the fact that this authority has no staff which will transfer to 
the new companies and, in particular, this authority’s HR policies and 
procedures relating to its own staff are currently delegated to the 
Joint Committee, it is being recommended that these delegations are 
withdrawn. 

Recommendations It is recommended that Council 

1. Agrees to withdraw, from 1 April 2017 the following delegations from 
the 2020 Partnership Joint Committee 

 a) HR policies and procedures 

Agenda Item 12
Page 127



 

   

$yjqon5b1 Page 2 of 5 Last updated 16 March 2017 

 

 b) Pay and grading policy 

 c) Total reward policy (including financial and non-financial benefits 

2. Authorises the Head of Paid Service, in consultation with the Borough 
Solicitor, to complete appropriate legal documentation as necessary to 
facilitate the implementation of the recommendations in this report. 

3. Authorises the Democratic Services Manager, in consultation with the 
Borough Solicitor, to make such changes to the Constitution as are 
necessary to reflect and facilitate the implementation of the 
recommendations in this report. 

Financial implications There are no direct financial implications arising from this report. 

Contact officer:    Sarah Didcote@cheltenham.gov.uk, 01242 264125 

Legal implications The Authority entered in to an Inter- Authority Agreement on 11 February 
2016 which delegated the services referred to in this report to a Joint 
Committee.  The Authority now seeks to withdraw the delegations 
mentioned by mutual agreement with the partner councils. 

Contact officer:  shirin.wotherspoon@tewkesbury.gov.uk, 01684 
272017 

HR implications 
(including learning and 
organisational 
development)  

There are no immediate HR implications arising from the content of this 
report. If approved, the decision to withdraw the delegated authority will 
mean that the Councils pre-joint committee process for approving HR 
policies and procedures will re-start. Where the Council’s operating model 
permits, and to ensure previous business efficiencies within the shared HR 
function are maintained, the standard common GO HR developed policies 
will continue to be adopted.  

Contact officer:  julie.mccarthy@cheltenham.gov.uk, 01242 264355  

Key risks Decisions relating to employment matters for this authority’s staff can be 
made by the Joint Committee despite this authority having no direct 
employees within GOSS or ICT nor intending for any of its staff to become 
employees of the companies. 

Corporate and 
community plan 
Implications 

2020 Partnership falls within the purview of providing services which 
deliver value for money to meet the needs of the authority’s customers. 

Environmental and 
climate change 
implications 

There are no implications arising directly from this report. 

Contact officer: gill.morris@cheltenham.gov.uk 

Property/Asset 
Implications 

There are no direct property implications resulting from the withdrawal of 
the delegations relating to the outlined employment matters 

Contact officer:   david.roberts@cheltenham.gov.uk 

Page 128



 

   

$yjqon5b1 Page 3 of 5 Last updated 16 March 2017 

 

2. Background 

2.1 On 19 October 2015 Council approved a number of recommendations with regard to the 
formation of the 2020 Partnership Joint Committee (Joint Committee) and the delegation of 
services and functions to it, including employment matters.  

2.2 On 11 October 2016 Cabinet approved the 2020 Partnership business case in so far as it related 
to this authority for the provision of GOSS and ICT functions, and also approved the transfer of 
those services to a local authority company.  At the same time, Cabinet also agreed to withdraw 
this authority’s Revenues (including Council Tax), Benefits and Customer Services from the Joint 
Committee with effect from 14 November 2016. 

2.3 The Joint Committee has now approved a company model comprising 3 companies, it has 
registered the companies and is now in the process of progressing appointments for both non-
executive and executive directors.  Work has progressed to finalise and complete the Articles of 
Association and Members Agreement in consultation with the Leader, Cabinet Member for 
Corporate Services, s151 Officer and Borough Solicitor in order to enable the companies to 
commence operation in their ‘shadow’ form from 1 April 2017.   

3. Functions and activities delegated to the 2020 Partnership Joint Committee 

3.1 In October 2015 Council delegated a number of functions and activities to the Joint Committee 
outlined in Appendix 6 to the Council report. 

3.2 Specifically regarding employment matters Council delegated the following functions to the Joint 
Committee to apply to all staff employed by the partner councils; 

HR policies and procedures 

Pay and grading policy 

Total reward policy (including financial and non-financial benefits) 

3.2 In light of the fact that this authority has no staff which will transfer to the new companies and, in 
particular, that this authority’s employment matters are currently delegated to the Joint 
Committee, it is being recommended that these delegations are withdrawn. 

3.3 Reasons for recommendations 

3.3 As a consequence of decisions made last October, and the ultimate cessation of the Joint 
Committee at some point in the autumn, steps need to be taken to withdraw those delegations 
outlined in the recommendation. 

4. Alternative options considered 

4.1 The employment matter delegations could be left with the Joint Committee until it ceases to exist 
however this means that in the meantime this authority cannot make its own decisions, with 
regard to its HR policies and procedures, pay and grading policy or total reward policy. 

5. Consultation and feedback 

5.1 Consultation has taken place with the Leader, this authority’s 2020 Partnership Joint Committee 
members and trade union and employee representatives.  Consultation has also taken place with 
the Partnership Managing Director. 

Page 129



 

   

$yjqon5b1 Page 4 of 5 Last updated 16 March 2017 

 

6. Performance management –monitoring and review 

6.1 This authority has a Joint Liaison Forum which is chaired by the Head of Paid Service and which 
provides a means of informal engagement with trade union and employee representatives.  The 
forum is used to share new and emerging policies as well as considering changes to employment 
legislation/best practice which may impact on current policies.  This forum has continued to 
review policies since these were delegated to the Joint Committee.   

6.2 HR performance information arising out of the implementation of policies, eg, sickness absence, 
appraisal completion rates, health and safety data are reported and monitored by the Senior 
Leadership Team. 

Report author Contact officer: Pat.Pratley@cheltenham.gov.uk,  

Pat Pratley, Head of Paid Service 

01242 264100 

Appendices 1. Risk Assessment 

Background information 1. 2020 Vision – 13 October 2015 (Cabinet Report), 19 October 2016 
(Council Report) 

2. 2020 Partnership Local Authority Company – 11 October 2016 
(Cabinet Report), 17 October 2016 (Council Report) 

 

Page 130



 

   

\\MODGOVAPP601\mgdatarootCBC\Agend
aItemDocs\8\0\6\AI00011608\$yjqon5b1.do
cx 

Page 5 of 5 Last updated 16 March 2017 

 

Risk Assessment                  Appendix 1  
 

The risk Original risk score 
(impact x likelihood) 

Managing risk 

Risk 
ref. 

Risk description Risk 
Owner 

Date 
raised 

Impact 
1-5 

Likeli- 
hood 
1-6 

Score Control Action Deadline Responsible 
officer 

Transferred to 
risk register 

 If employment matters 
remain delegated to the 
joint committee then the 
authority has cannot make 
its own decisions regarding 
these matters 

Pat 
Pratley 

27.3.17 2 2 4 Reduce Withdraw employment 
matters delegation from 
the 2020 Joint 
Committee 

27.3.17 Julie 
McCarthy 

 

Explanatory notes 

Impact – an assessment of the impact if the risk occurs on a scale of 1-5 (1 being least impact and 5 being major or critical) 

Likelihood – how likely is it that the risk will occur on a scale of 1-6  

(1 being almost impossible, 2 is very low, 3 is low, 4 significant,  5 high and 6 a very high probability) 

Control - Either: Reduce / Accept / Transfer to 3rd party / Close 
 

 

 

P
age 131



Page 132



 

   

$gksnm3pu Page 1 of 10 Last updated 16 March 2017 

 

 

Cheltenham Borough Council 

Council – 27 March 2017 

Community Governance Review 

 

Accountable member Councillor Steve Jordan, Leader 

Accountable officer Pat Pratley, Head of Paid Service 

Ward(s) affected Pittville, St Pauls, Oakley, Prestbury, Park, Warden Hill 

Significant Decision Yes  

Executive summary A campaign group in Pittville submitted a valid petition to Cheltenham 
Borough Council in January 2017, calling for the creation of a new parish 
council for Pittville.  This means CBC is required under the Local 
Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 to carry out a 
community governance review to decide whether or not a new parish 
council should be created.   The review must take place within 12 months of 
receipt of the petition.   
 
As part of the review, it will also be possible to address two very small 
areas: 

• An anomaly in Merestones Drive (see parapraph 2.3) 

• Part of St Nicholas Drive (8 properties), which is the only part of 
Prestbury ward not to be in Prestbury parish, and would be between 
Prestbury and Pittville parishes if the new parish council in Pittville is 
created (see paragraph 2.2).   

 
It is proposed that a cross party working group is set up to manage the 
review.  Full Council is responsible for agreeing the terms of reference for 
publication (please see Appendix 2) and the recommendations from the 
review.   

 

Recommendations 1. That Council approves the terms of reference for the Community 
Governance Review (to include Pittville and the properties in St 
Nicholas Drive and Merestones Drive), to be published as soon as 
possible after approval.   The terms of reference are attached as 
Appendix 2.   
 

2. That Council sets up a cross party working group to oversee the  
Community Governance Review (with terms of reference as 
attached at Appendix 3) and to report back to Council with its 
recommendations.   
 

3. That Council authorises the Head of Paid Service to take such steps 
and actions as are necessary to facilitate an effective Community 
Governance Review. 

 

Agenda Item 13
Page 133



 

   

$gksnm3pu Page 2 of 10 Last updated 16 March 2017 

 

Financial 
implications 

There is no budget for the review, so the consultation will need to be undertaken by 
the working group at the lowest possible cost to the Borough Council.  The costs of 
setting up any new parish council (recruitment of a Clerk and election costs, etc.) 
will need to be met from the Parish Council’s first Precept, which must be identified 
as part of the Reorganisation Order made by the Borough Council.  Any such 
precept, which cannot be set until the Reorganisation Order is made, must be 
agreed before the Council Tax is set by the Borough Council in February each year. 

Any Allotments that become part of a new parish council area would have to be 
transferred to the parish council.  The proposed boundary for the new parish 
council for Pittville includes the Midwinter allotments.  The Borough Council would 
therefore save on the maintenance costs, but also lose the income, arising from 
these allotments. 

Contact officer:   Martyn Scull, martyn.scull@cheltenham.gov.uk, 01242 
264351 

Page 134



 

   

$gksnm3pu Page 3 of 10 Last updated 16 March 2017 

 

Legal 
implications 

The Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 gives district and 
unitary councils the responsibility for undertaking Community Governance Reviews. 
A valid petition for the creation of a Parish Council was received by a campaign 
group in Pittville. As the petition received by the council was signed by the required 
number of electors and in accordance with section 80 (3), the council now has to 
undertake this review. The council has 12 months from receipt of the petition within 
which to conclude the review. 

Under section 83 (2), the Community Governance Review must have terms of 
reference which specify the terms of the review (Appendix 2). Moreover the council 
must publish the terms of reference and any modifications to them as soon as 
practicable after deciding them as stipulated in section 81 (5). 

Section 93 sets out the council’s duties when conducting the review which includes 
the requirement in section 93 (4) to “have regard to the need to secure that 
community governance within the area under review— 

(a) reflects the identities and interests of the community in that area, and (b) is 
effective and convenient.” 

Having determined the area of the review, under section 93(3) of the Act the council 
must consult: 

“(a) the local government electors for the area under review;(b) any other person or 
body (including a local authority) which appears to the principal council to have an 
interest in the review.” 

The council must consider whether a new local (parish) council should be 
constituted. This will be done through the creation of a cross party working group, 
set up to manage the review and eventually make recommendations to Council. 
Throughout the process the council must have regard to the Guidance on 
Community Governance Reviews issued by the Secretary of State for Communities 
and Local Government. This Guidance, and also that which has been issued more 
recently by the National Association of Local Councils, has been considered in 
drawing up the terms of reference. Both are attached at Appendices 5 and 6. 

S82 of the Act gives the council the power at any time to undertake a Community 
Governance Review, without the need for the process to be invoked by a valid 
petition. With this in mind and in the interest of efficiency, the Council is also using 
this as an opportunity to address the anomaly at Merestones Drive and to consult 
with those who live on St Nicholas Drive (see paragraphs 2.2 and 2.3). The 
procedure, regardless of whether or not it is initiated by petition, is the same for 
both the creation and alteration of a Parish Council. 

The final decision on whether to approve the proposals will rest with Council when it 
considers the recommendations of the Community Governance Working Group. If 
the proposals are approved (in whole or part) then a Community Governance 
Reorganisation Order will need to be made.  

The Act contains no right of appeal. The only way the process can be challenged is 
through Judicial Review. 

Contact officer:  John Teasdale, email:  john.teasdale@tewkesbury.gov.uk, 
Tel:  01684 272699 

Page 135



 

   

$gksnm3pu Page 4 of 10 Last updated 16 March 2017 

 

HR implications 
(including 
learning and 
organisational 
development)  

As clearly identified in the report, Cheltenham Borough Council is responsible for 
carrying out the Community Governance Review so must ensure it has the 
necessary officer time to dedicate to carrying out the review. 

Contact officer: HR Business Partner: Carmel Togher 

Email:Carmel.Togher@cheltenham.gov.uk 

Tel: 01242 775215 

Key risks Please see risk assessment. 

Corporate and 
community plan 
Implications 

 Supporting the creation and growth of parish councils in the borough supports the 
Corporate Strategy theme ‘People live in strong, safe and healthy communities’, as 
people are encouraged to get actively involved in their communities.   

Environmental 
and climate 
change 
implications 

Neutral impact on climate change.   

Property/Asset 
Implications 

 Allotments that became part of a parish council area would have to be transferred 
to the parish council.  The proposed boundary for a new parish council for Pittville 
includes the Midwinter allotments.   

Part of the Midwinter site that was sold for development included allotment land, 
which required the approval of the Secretary of State.  Should the demand for 
allotments at Midwinter exceed the capacity of the current site then Elmfield Playing 
Field will be required to meet that demand. If this arose then the Council will need 
to provide a playing field in the near vicinity. 

Contact officer:   David Roberts, Email:  David Roberts@cheltenham.gov.uk 
Tel:  01242 264151 

Page 136



 

   

$gksnm3pu Page 5 of 10 Last updated 16 March 2017 

 

1. Background 

1.1 Why are we carrying out a community governance review? 

1.2 A campaign group in Pittville submitted a valid petition to Cheltenham Borough Council in January 
2017, calling for the creation of a new parish council for Pittville.  This means CBC is required 
under the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 to carry out a community 
governance review to decide whether or not a new parish council should be created.   The review 
must take place within 12 months of receipt of the petition.   

1.3 The petition from the Pittville Parish Council Campaign Group states: 

This petition is addressed to Cheltenham Borough Council under Section 80 of the Local 
Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 (‘The Act’).  We the undersigned, each 
being a local government elector for the area defined in the map produced by Pittville Parish 
Council Campaign Group, call upon Cheltenham Borough Council to conduct a Community 
Governance review in accordance with its duties under Section 83 of the Act.  Pursuant to Section 
80(4) of the Act, we recommend the Council designates the areas defined on the map a parished 
area.  We further recommend that a Parish Council be established for this proposed new parish, 
to be called Pittville Parish Council.   

1.4 The Guidance on Community Governance Reviews (attached as Appendix 4) states: 

‘For a petition to be valid, it must meet certain conditions.  The first of these conditions is that the 
petition must be signed by the requisite number of local electors.  It is recommended that 
petitioners aim to collect the requisite number of signatures based on the most recently published 
electoral register.  It should be against this register that the petition thresholds (set out below) will 
be assessed.  The three thresholds are: 

a)  for an area with less than 500 local electors, the petition must be signed by at least 50% of 
them. 

b)  for an area with between 500 and 2500 local electors, the petition must be signed by at least 
250 of them. 

c)  for an area with more than 2500 local electors, the petition must be signed by at least 7.5% of 
them.   

The area chosen by the Pittville Parish Council Campaign Group has 3833 electors, meaning 287 
signatures were required.  The campaign group collected 310 signatures, of which 302 were valid.   

2. What will the review consider?   

2.1 Pittville 

2.1.1 The review will include consideration of whether a new parish council should be created in 
Pittville.  The boundary chosen by the Pittville Parish Council campaign group (see map at 
Appendix 3) includes all of the Pittville “LA” polling district area plus part of Pittville “LB” polling 
district and a small part of Oakley “JC” polling district (the south side of Prestbury Road) and a 
small part of St Pauls “PA” polling district (the south side of Clarence Square).   It also includes 
the Midwinter allotments.  The review should be undertaken on the basis of this boundary, but the 
recommendations of the working group do not have to be the same as those in the petition if there 
are good reasons for it.   

 

Page 137



 

   

$gksnm3pu Page 6 of 10 Last updated 16 March 2017 

 

2.2 Prestbury 

2.2.1 8 properties in St Nicholas Drive are put forward for the review, to find out whether they would like 
to become part of Prestbury Parish Council.  These are the only addresses in polling district MC 
and the only part of Prestbury ward not to be included in the Prestbury Parish Council area.  

2.3 Anomaly 

2.3.1 It has come to the attention of the Elections Team that there are 2 properties in Merestones Drive, 
which are counted on the electoral register as part of Warden Hill ward and Leckhampton with 
Warden Hill Parish Council, but the rest of the road is in Park ward and these properties clearly 
have more of a relationship with Park ward, so will be consulted about amending this.   

3. Process 

3.1 Cheltenham Borough Council is responsible for carrying out the review and Full Council is 
responsible for agreeing the terms of reference for the review (appendix 2) and any 
recommendations from the review.  A cross party working group will oversee the review (with 
terms of reference as at appendix 4) and will bring the consultation document and process for 
analysing the results of the consultation to Council for approval in June.   

3.2 There is no budget identified for the review, so the review will need to be undertaken at the lowest 
possible cost to the council.  

3.3 Any recommendations arising from the review will need to be given approval by Council and if 
approved, will be given effect through a Reorganisation Order, which will include a detailed map 
of the boundaries and include any agreed issues, for example the transfer of assets, functions, 
rights or liabilities.   

3.4 The review will include giving consideration to the way in which a council is constituted for the 
parish (if applicable).  This will cover:   

• The ordinary year in which elections are held; 

• The number of councillors to be elected to the parish council; 

• The division (or not) of the parish into wards for the purpose of electing councillors; 

• The number and boundaries of any such wards; the name to be given to it and the number 
of councillors to be elected for it.   

3.5 Allotments that became part of a parish council area would have to be transferred to the parish 
council.  Allotments are the only statutory function of a parish council. 

3.6 Set up costs for a new parish council would come from collecting the precept before the first 
parish council election is held.  Gloucestershire Association for Parish and Town Councils has 
confirmed that this is the case.  Cheltenham Borough Council would need to identify in the 
Reorganisation Order whether the interim council will commence in March or April, and within the 
order, the precept would need to be set, based on a cost comparison analysis which includes the 
aspirations for the parish and the cost of the first election.  The campaign group has calculated 
indicative costs, based on similar sized councils elsewhere and this can be honed using known 
costs for the election.   

 

Page 138



 

   

$gksnm3pu Page 7 of 10 Last updated 16 March 2017 

 

 

4. Timetable 

Action Who By when 

Terms of reference to be agreed and approval for a 

working group of officers and councillors to be set up 

to oversee the review 

Full Council 27 March 2017 

Terms of reference published  28 March 2017 

Planning of consultation phase Working group April/May 2017 

Consultation document and process for analysing the 

results to be approved.  

Full Council  19 June 2017 

Consultation phase:   consulting with all electors and 

interested parties within the defined areas. 

Working group June / July 2017 

Prepare recommendations Working group September/October 

2017 

Recommendations presented for approval Full Council November 2017 

Recommendations published (if approved)  November 2017 

Reorganisation Order made (if approved)  December 2017 

Precept for new parish council included in council 

budget 

 February 2018 

Parish Council elections  May 2018 

 

5. Reasons for recommendations 

5.1 Cheltenham Borough Council is required to carry out a Community Governance Review in 
relation to Pittville because of the submission of the valid petition.   

5.2 The review presents a good opportunity to address the part of St Nicholas Drive which would be 
left unparished between Pittville and Prestbury parish councils, with a view to including it in 
Prestbury Parish and also the anomaly in Merestones Drive which has come to the attention of 
the Elections Team.  

6. Alternative options considered 

6.1 Since CBC must carry out a community governance review in 2017, we have taken the 
opportunity to ask the existing parish councils whether they want to revisit the review of their 
boundaries which was started in 2012. In 2012, the council started a community governance 
review, which was going to look at extending the boundaries of Charlton Kings, Leckhampton with 
Warden Hill and Up Hatherley parish councils.  The review was stopped because its scope 
became bigger than just resolving small anomalies and therefore the budget was insufficient and 
it was felt that people within the existing parish areas should be consulted as well as those being 
asked whether they wanted to become part of one, which would have been an even bigger 
undertaking.  A commitment was made to revisit the review ahead of the 2018 parish council 
elections, by which time it was thought that the future shape of the borough would be better 
known through the JCS and Cheltenham Plan.   

6.2 The parish councils were advised that this review would only cover boundaries within the existing 
Cheltenham borough boundary, as there are no plans to review the borough boundary at this 
stage.  The other limitation given was that we will only consult with electors in the areas that the 
parish councils would like to add to their areas, rather than those within the existing parish council 

Page 139



 

   

$gksnm3pu Page 8 of 10 Last updated 16 March 2017 

 

boundary, due to the costs involved.   

6.3 Three of the parish councils (Charlton Kings, Leckhampton with Warden Hill and Up Hatherley) 
have requested the opportunity to put forward proposals, but these need to be agreed between 
the parish councils before they are brought forward, so are not included in the terms of reference 
for this review. They will be brought forward at a future meeting for approval.   

6.4 In considering the timing for this community governance review, consideration was given as to 
whether a ward boundary review may be instigated by the Local Government Boundary 
Commission for England (LGBCE).  This would happen if more than 30% of a council’s 
wards/divisions have an electoral imbalance of more than 10% from the average ration for that 
authority, and or one or more wards/divisions have an electoral imbalance of more than 30% and 
the imbalance is unlikely to be corrected by foreseeable changes to the electorate within a 
reasonable period.  Looking at the anticipated population increases from the JCS trajectory, it 
appears that Swindon Village ward may increase by more than 30% within ten years, but not 
within five years, so there isn’t an imminent expectation of a ward boundary review being set in 
motion by the LGBCE.   

6.5 Swindon and Up Hatherley Parish Councils also have proposals which include areas in 
Tewkesbury borough, to be borne in mind if and when a borough boundary review takes place.   

7. Consultation and feedback 

7.1 Discussions have been held with Pittville Parish Council Campaign Group; the C5 Parish Councils 
Group, Group Leaders, Exective Board and Informal Cabinet Board.   

8. Performance management –monitoring and review 

8.1 The Community Governance Review must be completed by January 2018, which is 12 months 
from the date of receipt of the petition from the Pittville Parish Council Campaign Group.   

8.2 The working group to be set up will oversee the review, which will include consultation with all 
electors and interested parties within the defined areas.  Terms of reference for the working group 
are attached as Appendix 4.  The working group will bring the consultation document and process 
for analysing the results of the consultation to Council for approval in June.  It will then use the 
feedback from the consultation to prepare recommendations, to be presented to Full Council for 
approval.   

Report author Contact officer: Helen Down, helen.down@cheltenham.gov.uk,  

01242 774960 

Page 140



 

   

$gksnm3pu Page 9 of 10 Last updated 16 March 2017 

 

Appendices 1. Risk Assessment 

2. Community Governance Review 2017 – Terms of Reference (to be 
published following approval) 

3. Map of the proposed Pittville Parish Council boundary submitted 
with the petition 

4. Terms of reference for the Community Governance Review 
Working Group 

5. Guidance on Community Governance Reviews (DCLG and 
LGBCE) 
 

6. Community Governance Reviews:  Legal Topic Note 73 July 2015 
(NALC) 

 

Page 141



 

   

$gksnm3pu Page 10 of 10 Last updated 16 March 2017 

 

Risk Assessment                  Appendix 1  
 

The risk Original risk score 
(impact x likelihood) 

Managing risk 

Risk 
ref. 

Risk description Risk 
Owner 

Date 
raised 

Impact 
1-5 

Likeli- 
hood 
1-6 

Score Control Action Deadline Responsible 
officer 

Transferred to 
risk register 

 Reputational risk if Council 
does not approve 
recommendations put forward 
through the community 
governance review.   

Helen 
Down 

27.3.17 2 2 4  Draft consultation 
document and process 
for analysing the results 
to be brought back to Full 
Council in June for 
approval.   

June 
2017 

Helen 
Down 

 

 Financial risks if it is agreed 
that the new parish council 
should be created, but the 
Reorganisation Order is not 
made in time to set the 
precept for the new council in 
Febraury 2018.   

Helen 
Down 

27.3.17 3 2 6  Recommendations to be 
presented to Full Council 
by November 2017, to 
allow time to make the 
Reorganisation Order.   

 Helen 
Down 

 

Explanatory notes 

Impact – an assessment of the impact if the risk occurs on a scale of 1-5 (1 being least impact and 5 being major or critical) 

Likelihood – how likely is it that the risk will occur on a scale of 1-6  

(1 being almost impossible, 2 is very low, 3 is low, 4 significant,  5 high and 6 a very high probability) 

Control - Either: Reduce / Accept / Transfer to 3rd party / Close 
 

 

 
  

P
age 142



 

 

 

Report to Council 27.3.17 – Appendix 2 

Community Governance Review 2017 

Terms of Reference 

 

What is a community governance review? 

Cheltenham Borough Council is carrying out a Community Governance Review, which is a review of 

the whole or part of the district area to consider one or more of the following: 

• Creating, merging, altering or abolishing parishes (in the case of this review – creating); 

• The naming of parishes and the style of new parishes; 

• The electoral arrangements for parishes (the ordinary year of election; Council size, the 

number of Councillors to be elected to the Council and parish warding). 

 

What does a parish council do? 

Parish councils are the most local form of government.  They collect money from council tax payers 

via the borough council, which is known as a ‘precept’ and this is used to invest in the area to 

improve services or facilities.  Parish councils are usually made up of local people who stand for 

election as parish councillors to represent their area.  They can be the voice of the local community 

and work with other tiers of government and external organisations to co-ordinate and deliver 

services.   

 

Legislation 

Principal councils are required, by section 100(4) of the Local Governance and Public Involvement in 

Health Act 2007 to have regard to the Guidance on Community Governance Reviews which is issued 

by the Secretary of State, under section 100(1) and (3), and the LGBCE under section 100(2).   

 

The 2007 Act places a duty on principal authorities to have regard to the need to secure that any 

community governance for the area under review reflects the identities and interests of the local 

community in that area, and that it is effective and convenient, in terms of a local authority’s 

ability to deliver quality services economically and efficiently, and give users of services a 

democratic voice in the decisions that affect them.   

 

Relevant considerations which influence judgments against these two principal criteria include the 

impact on community cohesion, and the size, population and boundaries of the proposed area.   

 

The guidance states that: 

• A parish should be based on an area which reflects community identity and interest and is of 

a size which is viable as an administrative unit of local government.   

• Boundaries should be, and be likely to remain, easily identifiable. 

• The recommendations made in the community governance review ought to bring about 

improved community engagement; better local democracy, and result in more effective and 

convenient delivery of local services.   

• Parishes must fall within the boundaries of a single principal council’s area.   

• Community governance reviews should be conducted transparently so that local people and 

other local stakeholders who may have an interest are made aware of the outcome of the 

decisions taken on them and the reasons behind these decisions.   

• The review must be completed within 12 months of the receipt of a petition.   

 

Page 143



 

 

 

Why are we carrying out a community governance review? 

 

A campaign group in Pittville submitted a valid petition to Cheltenham Borough Council in January 

2017, calling for the creation of a new parish council for Pittville.  This means Cheltenham Borough 

Council is required under the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 to carry 

out a community governance review to decide whether or not it should be created.   The review 

must take place within 12 months of receipt of the petition (by January 2018).  A map of the 

proposed Pittville Parish Council area is attached.   

 

The petition states: 

 

This petition is addressed to Cheltenham Borough Council under Section 80 of the Local Government 

and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 (‘The Act’). 

 

We the undersigned, each being a local government elector for the area defined in the map produced 

by Pittville Parish Council Campaign Group, call upon Cheltenham Borough Council to conduct a 

Community Governance review in accordance with its duties under Section 83 of the Act.   

 

Pursuant to Section 80(4) of the Act, we recommend the Council designates the areas defined on the 

map a parished area.  We further recommend that a Parish Council be established for this proposed 

new parish, to be called Pittville Parish Council.   

 

The guidance states: 

‘For a petition to be valid, it must meet certain conditions.  The first of these conditions is that the 

petition must be signed by the requisite number of local electors.  It is recommended that 

petitioners aim to collect the requisite number of signatures based on the most recently published 

electoral register.  It should be against this register that the petition thresholds (set out below) will 

be assessed.  The three thresholds are: 

a)  for an area with less than 500 local electors, the petition must be signed by at least 50% of them. 

b)  for an area with between 500 and 2500 local electors, the petition must be signed by at least 250 

of them. 

c)  for an area with more than 2500 local electors, the petition must be signed by at least 7.5% of 

them.   

 

The number of electors in the area defined by the Pittville Parish Council Campaign Group is 3833 

(based on the 1 December 2016 electoral register), so a minimum of 287 valid signatures was 

needed.  The campaign group collected 310 signatures, of which 302 were valid.   

 

Areas included in the review and covered by these terms of reference 

Creating a parish council for Pittville 

The review will consider the creation of a new parish to be known as Pittville Parish Council and we 

will consult all electors and stakeholders with an interest in the review, based on the area identified 

in the map attached.  The review will need to consider the electoral arrangements including the 

number of Councillors to be elected and any warding arrangements. 

 

Prestbury 

The review will be used to consult with a small number of properties in St Nicholas Drive, Prestbury, 

which make up polling district MC and are the only part of the Prestbury ward not to be included in 

Page 144



Prestbury Parish Council area.  These properties would be between the parishes of Prestbury and 

Pittville if the new parish council for Pittville is created.   

 

Rectifying anomalies 

The review will also be used to consult on rectifying a small anomaly in Merestones Drive, where 2 

properties are on the electoral register for Warden Hill and Leckhampton with Warden Hill Parish 

Council, but have more of a relationship with Park ward which the rest of the road is in. 

 

Who carries out the community governance review? 

Cheltenham Borough Council is responsible for carrying out the review.  Full Council will be 

responsible for overseeing the process and agreeing the terms of reference and the 

recommendations from the review.   

 

A cross party working group will be set up, including council officers, to oversee the implementation 

of the Community Governance Review and to report back to Full Council with recommendations 

based on the responses to the consultation.  The working group will need to carry out the review 

impartially and objectively.   

 

If the community governance review concludes that changes should be made and that the new 

parish council should be created, and this is approved by Full Council, then Cheltenham Borough 

Council would make and publish a Reorganisation Order to put changes into effect.  The Order may 

cover any matters that appear to the council to be necessary to give effect to the Order.  These may 

include the transfer and management or custody of property, functions, rights and liabilities and the 

setting of a precept if a new parish is to be created.   

 

How will the council consult on the review? 

Before making or publicising the recommendations, the Council will take account of the views of 

local people.  The Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 requires the Council 

to consult the local government electors for the areas under review and any other person or body 

who appears to have an interest in the review and to take the representations that are received into 

account.   

 

The Council will: 

• Write to all households in the area under review; 

• Consult other interested stakeholders (local residents associations, friends of groups, 

schools, the voluntary and community sector and local businesses); 

• Consult ward councillors, adjacent ward councillors and parish councils; 

• Welcome comments from any other person or body that wishes to make representation; 

• Notify Gloucestershire County Council that a review is to be undertaken and consult them 

on the matters under review and 

• Take into account any representations received in connection with the review. 

 

Information about the review will be available on the council’s website and documents will be 

available from the Municipal Offices.   

 

Any decisions made and the reasons for those decisions will be published following the review. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 145



 

 

 

Timetable 

Action Who By when 

Terms of reference to be agreed and approval for a 

working group of officers and councillors to be set up 

to oversee the review 

Full Council 27 March 2017 

Terms of reference published  28 March 2017 

Planning of consultation phase Working group April/May 2017 

Consultation document and process for analysing the 

results to be approved.  

Full Council  19 June 2017 

Consultation phase:   consulting with all electors and 

interested parties within the defined areas. 

Working group June / July 2017 

Prepare recommendations Working group September/October 

2017 

Recommendations presented for approval Full Council November 2017 

Recommendations published (if approved)  November 2017 

Reorganisation Order made (if approved)  December 2017 

Precept for new parish council included in council 

budget 

 February 2018 

Parish Council elections  May 2018 

 

Electorate forecast 

It isn’t possible to determine the electorate forecast for the boundary of the proposed Pittville 

Parish Council, so the forecast is based on the Pittville ward.  Based on the population increase 

estimated in the Joint Core Strategy and Local Plan trajectory, the Pittville ward has a net gain of 90 

dwellings permitted up to 2021/22.  An estimate of the increase in the electorate of the ward in the 

next five years is therefore 142.  This is based on applying a multiplier of 2.1 people per household, 

and this is then divided by 75%, which is the estimated percentage of people eligible to vote.  The 

current electorate of the ward (as at 1 March 2017) is 4570.   

 

What will it cost residents in the area under review if it becomes parished?   

Residents within parished areas pay a parish precept, which is determined by the parish council and 

is linked to its activities and the level of support needed to deliver these, for example associated 

salaries, premises and any assets that might be transferred to its possession.   

 

The annual precept for 2017/18 of the existing parish councils is detailed in the below table as an 

example: 

Parish Tax Base  Precept (£) per annum Council Tax Band D (£) 

per annum 

Charlton Kings 4186.10 68,720.00 16.42 

Leckhampton with 

Warden Hill 

1842.80 33,812.23 18.34 

Prestbury 2858.30 63,868.68 22.34 

Swindon 677.50 11,181.46 16.50 

Up Hatherley 2155.00 21,505.34 9.98 

 

Date of publication of the terms of reference:  after approval by Full Council 

Page 146



 

Community Governance Terms of Reference 

Appendix 3 

 

a)  Map of the proposed Pittville Parish Council boundary

 
 

P
age 147



P
age 148



 

 

Council 27.3.17:  Community Governance Review, Appendix 4 

Community Governance Review Working Group – Terms of Reference 

 

Areas covered by Community Governance Review 

• Pittville – the areas shown in the attached map (Appendix 3),  

• Part of St Nicholas Drive, Prestbury ward 

• Part of Merestones Drive 

 

Membership 

Membership of the working group will comprise: 

• Cllr Steve Jordan, Leader  

• A minimum of one elected member from each party, who do not have any conflict of 

interest. 

• Helen Down - Participation and Engagement Team Leader 

• Richard Gibson – Strategy and Engagement Manager 

• John Teasdale - One Legal (advisory as required) 

• Paul Jones or Sarah Didcote – Finance (advisory as required) 

• Alison Robinson – Gloucestershire Association of Town and Parish Councils  

 

The Pittville Parish Council Campaign Group will be asked to offer advice to the working group in 

considering the proposal and to offer feedback on the recommendations of the working group, 

before they are presented for approval.   

 

Purpose of the working group 

The working group will be an advisory group, to conduct the community governance review (in 

accordance with the criteria below) and will present its recommendations to Full Council for 

consideration.  The purpose of the working group is: 

• To consult local government electors in the areas under review. 

• To consult others including Gloucestershire County Council which would have an interest in 

the review.  Other bodies might include local businesses, local public and voluntary 

organisations – such as schools and health bodies.  The working group will draw up a list of 

consultees with advice from the Pittville Parish Campaign Group.    

• To make recommendations as a result of the review, which take account of representations 

received in connection with the review as well as this authority’s  own knowledge of the 

local area, while having regard for the statutory criteria (see below in italics) and for the 

criteria as agreed by Council.   

 

Criteria for the community governance review 

Principal councils are required, by section 100(4) of the Local Governance and Public Involvement in 

Health Act 2007 to have regard to the Guidance on Community Governance Reviews which is issued 

by the Secretary of State, under section 100(1) and (3), and the LGBCE under section 100(2).   

 

The 2007 Act places a duty on principal authorities to have regard to the need to secure that any 

community governance for the area under review reflects the identities and interests of the local 

community in that area, and that it is effective and convenient, in terms of a local authority’s 

ability to deliver quality services economically and efficiently, and give users of services a 

democratic voice in the decisions that affect them.   

 

Page 149



Relevant considerations which influence judgments against these two principal criteria include the 

impact on community cohesion, and the size, population and boundaries of the proposed area.   

 

 

The guidance states that: 

• A parish should be based on an area which reflects community identity and interest and is of a 

size which is viable as an administrative unit of local government.   

• Boundaries should be, and be likely to remain, easily identifiable 

• The recommendations made in the community governance review ought to bring about 

improved community engagement; better local democracy, and result in more effective and 

convenient delivery of local services.   

• Parishes must fall within the boundaries of a single principal council’s area.   

• Community governance reviews should be conducted transparently so that local people and 

other local stakeholders who may have an interest are made aware of the outcome of the 

decisions taken on them and the reasons behind these decisions.   

• The review must be completed within 12 months of the receipt of the petition. In this case the 

petition from Pittville Parish Council Campaign Group was received in January 2017.   

 

Recommendations to be made by the working group 

The first requirement of the working group will be to present, for agreement by Council: 

• A consultation document to go out to electors and stakeholders in the area(s) under review. 

• A proposal for how recommendations will be determined from the feedback, for example, 

what proportion of respondents need to respond and agree to the proposals.   

 

Following the consultation, the working group will put forward recommendations for Council to 

agree as to: 

• Whether a new parish should be constituted; 

• What the electoral arrangements for the new parish council should be (based on the 

numbers of electors)   

 

The working group may make a recommendation which is different to the proposal put forward by 

the petitioners if there are grounds for doing so. 

 

The working group may also recommend that minor changes to borough ward boundaries are 

required as a result of the parish boundary review.   

 

Meeting arrangements 

The working group will meet fortnightly from April to June 2017, monthly during the consultation 

phase and then fortnightly from September to December 2017 to develop the recommendations 

and (if agreed), the Reorganisation Order and setting of the parish precept.    

 

Decision Making 

It is for Council to take any decision, based on consideration of the recommendations of the working 

group, and the options will be: 

• Do nothing and decide that a new parish council for Pittville should not be created and the 

other changes should not be made. 

• Accept the proposals put forward in the terms of reference of the community governance 

review  

• Accept the proposals put forward in the terms of reference of the community governance 

review but on an amended boundary.   

 

Page 150



After taking a decision on the extent to which the council will give effect to the recommendations 

made in a community governance review, the council must publish its decision.   

Page 151



Page 152



Guidance on community governance reviews 

www.communities.gov.uk

Page 153



Guidance on community governance reviews 

March 2010 

Department for Communities and Local Government 

Local Government Boundary Commission for England 

Page 154



Department for Communities and Local Government  

Eland House 

Bressenden Place 

London  

SW1E 5DU 

Telephone: 0303 444 0000 

Website: www.communities.gov.uk 

© Crown Copyright, 2010 

Copyright in the typographical arrangement rests with the Crown. 

This publication, excluding logos, may be reproduced free of charge in any format or medium for research, 

private study or for internal circulation within an organisation. This is subject to it being reproduced accurately 

and not used in a misleading context. The material must be acknowledged as Crown copyright and the title 

of the publication specified. 

Any other use of the contents of this publication would require a copyright licence. Please apply for a Click-Use 

Licence 

for core material at www.opsi.gov.uk/click-use/system/online/pLogin.asp, or by writing to the Office of Public Sector 

Information, Information Policy Team, Kew, Richmond, Surrey TW9 4DU 

e-mail: licensing@opsi.gov.uk 

If you require this publication in an alternative format please email alternativeformats@communities.gsi.gov.uk 

Communities and Local Government Publications 

Online via the Communities and Local Government website: www.communities.gov.uk 

March 2010 

ISBN: 978 1 4098 2421 3

Page 155



Contents 3

Contents

Foreword 6 

Section 1 

Introduction 7 

 The Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 

         and community governance reviews 7

 Aim of this guidance 7

 Issues covered in this guidance 8

 Statutory provisions 8

 Structure of guidance 9

 Further information 9

Section 2 

Undertaking community governance reviews 10

 Why undertake a community governance review? 10

 Terms of reference for community governance reviews 11 

 Timing of community governance reviews 12

 Undertaking community governance reviews 14

 Public petitions to trigger community governance reviews 16 

Section 3 

Making and implementing recommendations made in community

governance reviews 18

 Context of parishes in the wider community 18

 Defining a parish 18

 Criteria for undertaking a community governance review:  19 

 The identities and interests of local communities 19

 Effective and convenient local government 21

 Factors for consideration 22

  The impact on community cohesion of community  

          governance arrangements 22

Size, population and boundaries of a local community or

parish 24 

Page 156



Guidance on community governance reviews 4

Parish meetings and parish councils 26

 Recommendations and decisions on the outcome of community

         governance reviews 27

  Implementation of community governance reviews by order 29 

 Maps of parish changes and mapping conventions 30

Section 4 

Other aspects of community governance reviews 32

Parish names and alternative styles for parishes 32

 Grouping or degrouping parishes 33

 Abolishing parishes and dissolving parish councils 34

 Rural areas 36

 London 36

  Other urban areas 37

 Charter trustee areas 38

 Other (non-parish) forms of community governance 38

  Area committees 39

  Neighbourhood management 39

  Tenant management organisations 40

  Area/community forums 40

  Residents’/tenants’ associations 41

  Community associations 41

Section 5 

Electoral arrangements 42

 Introduction 42

 What are electoral arrangements? 42

 Ordinary year of election 42

 Council size 43

 Parish warding 44

  The number and boundaries of parish wards 45

  The number of councillors to be elected for parish wards 46 

  Names of parish wards 47

 Electorate forecasts 47

Page 157



Contents 5

 Consent/protected electoral arrangements 47

Section 6 

Consequential recommendations for related alterations to the

boundaries of principal councils’ wards and/or divisions 49

Page 158



Guidance on community governance reviews 6

Foreword

This document comprises guidance issued by the Secretary of State and 

the Local Government Boundary Commission for England under section 

100 of the Local Government and Public Involvement and Health Act 2007 

(the 2007 Act) on undertaking, and giving effect to recommendations made 

in, community governance reviews and on making recommendations about 

electoral arrangements respectively. 

The Implementation Plan for the Local Government white paper, Strong

and Prosperous Communities
1
 (the 2006 white paper), sets out 

Communities and Local Government’s future approach to guidance. It 

proposes that guidance must be short, clear and practical, and that an open 

and inclusive approach to its preparation should be followed, involving the 

range of stakeholders who will be affected by or have an interest in it. 

This guidance follows that approach. It is an updated version of guidance 

originally published in 2008 prepared by a partnership of Communities and 

Local Government and the Electoral Commission with stakeholders 

including DEFRA, the Local Government Association, County Councils 

Network, London Councils, the National Association of Local Councils, and 

the Society of Local Council Clerks. It aims to be clear and practical but 

also to encourage innovative and flexible local action.  The main change to 

the guidance has been to reflect the establishment of the Local 

Government Boundary Commission for England, which is responsible for 

the boundary-related functions previously exercised by the Electoral 

Commission and the Boundary Committee for England. 

A model community governance reorganisation order is available on the 

Department’s website.
2

1
Strong and Prosperous Communities, the Local Government white paper, The Stationery 

Office, October 2006(Cm 6969). 
2
http://www.communities.gov.uk/publications/localgovernment/modelreorganisationorder

Page 159



Section 1 Introduction 7

Section 1: Introduction 

The Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 
2007 and community governance reviews 

1. Chapter 3 of Part 4 of the 2007 Act devolves the power to take 

decisions about matters such as the creation of parishes and their 

electoral arrangements to local government and local communities in 

England.

2. The Secretary of State therefore has no involvement in the taking of 

decisions about recommendations made in community governance 

reviews and the Local Government Boundary Commission for 

England's (LGBCE) involvement is limited to giving effect to 

consequential recommendations for related alterations to the electoral 

areas of principal councils. 

3. From 13 February 2008, district councils, unitary county councils and 

London borough councils (‘principal councils’) have had responsibility 

for undertaking community governance reviews and have been able 

to decide whether to give effect to recommendations made in those 

reviews. In making that decision, they will need to take account of the 

views of local people. 

4. Principal councils are required, by section 100(4) of the 2007 Act, to 

have regard to this guidance which is issued by the Secretary of 

State, under section 100(1) and (3), and the LGBCE under section 

100(2).

5. This guidance is not an authoritative interpretation of the law (as that 

is ultimately a matter for the courts) and it remains the responsibility 

of principal councils to ensure that any actions taken by them comply 

with the relevant legislation. They should seek their own legal advice 

where appropriate. 

Aim of this guidance  

6. This guidance is intended to provide assistance to principal councils 

on:

 a) undertaking community governance reviews 

b) the making of recommendations for electoral arrangements for 

parish councils and the making of consequential 

recommendations to the LGBCE for related alterations to the 

boundaries of electoral areas of principal councils; and 

Page 160



Guidance on community governance reviews 8

c) giving effect to recommendations made in community governance 

reviews

Issues covered in this guidance 

7. The guidance supports and helps to implement key aspects of the 

2006 white paper. The 2007 Act requires that local people are 

consulted during a community governance review, that 

representations received in connection with the review are taken into 

account and that steps are taken to notify them of the outcomes of 

such reviews including any decisions.  

8. The matters covered by the guidance include:

a) duties and procedures in undertaking community governance 

reviews (Chapter 2), including on community governance petitions; 

the document gives guidance on a valid petition, and for the 

requirement for petitions to meet specific numerical or percentage 

thresholds signed by local electors 

b) making and implementing decisions on community governance 

(Chapter 3): the 2007 Act places a duty on principal authorities to 

have regard to the need to secure that any community governance 

for the area under review reflects the identities and interests of the 

local community in that area, and that it is effective and 

convenient; relevant  considerations which influence judgements 

against these two principal criteria include the impact on 

community cohesion, and the size, population and boundaries of 

the proposed area

c) other forms of community governance not involving parishes 

(Chapter 4) for example, residents’ associations, community 

forums, tenant management organisations, area committees

d) considerations on whether parish meetings and parish councils 

would be most appropriate, and electoral arrangements (Chapter 

5)

e) consequential recommendations for related alterations to ward 

and division boundaries (Chapter 6)  

Statutory provisions 

9. In addition to the 2007 Act, legislation relating to parishes can also be 

found in the Local Government Act 1972 (in particular, provision 

about parish meetings and councils, the constitution of a parish 

meeting, the constitution and powers of parish councils and about 

parish councillors) and the Local Democracy, Economic Development 

and Construction Act 2009 (reviews of, and recommendations about, 

Page 161



Section 1 Introduction 9

electoral areas by the LGBCE), as well as in other enactments. 

Structure of guidance 

10. This document is published jointly and is divided into two parts. 

Chapters 2 to 4 deal with those matters which the Secretary of State 

may issue guidance on and the issues raised in Chapters 5 and 6 are 

those on which the LGBCE may issue guidance. Having conducted a 

community governance review, unless in certain circumstances there 

are no implications for electoral arrangements, principal councils will 

need to consider both parts of this guidance together.  

Further information 

11. Further information about electoral arrangements for parishes and 

any related alterations to district or London borough wards, or county 

divisions should be sought from the LGBCE's website 

www.lgbce.org.uk

Page 162



Guidance on community governance reviews 10

Section 2: Undertaking community governance 
reviews

Why undertake a community governance review? 

12. Community governance reviews provide the opportunity for principal 

councils to review and make changes to community governance 

within their areas. It can be helpful to undertake community 

governance reviews in circumstances such as where there have been 

changes in population, or in reaction to specific or local new issues. 

The Government has made clear in the 2006 white paper and in the 

2007 Act its commitment to parish councils. It recognises the role 

such councils can play in terms of community empowerment at the 

local level. The 2007 Act provisions are intended to improve the 

development and coordination of support for citizens and community 

groups so that they can make the best use of empowerment 

opportunities.

13. The 2007 Act is intended to streamline the process of taking 

decisions about giving effect to recommendations made in a 

community governance review, such as recommendations for the 

creation of new parishes and the establishment of parish councils, 

and about other matters such as making changes to parish 

boundaries and electoral arrangements. By devolving the powers to 

take these decisions from central government to local government, 

the 2007 Act is intended to simplify the decision-making process and 

make it more local. 

14. Parish and town councils are the most local tier of government in 

England. There are currently about 10,000 parishes in England – 

around 8,900 of which have councils served by approximately 70,000 

councillors. There is a large variation in size of parishes in England 

from those with a handful of electors to those with over 40,000 

electors.

15. In many cases making changes to the boundaries of existing 

parishes, rather than creating an entirely new parish, will be sufficient 

to ensure that community governance arrangements to continue to 

reflect local identities and facilitate effective and convenient local 

government. For example, over time communities may expand with 

new housing developments. This can often lead to existing parish 

boundaries becoming anomalous as new houses are built across the 

boundaries resulting in people being in different parishes from their 

neighbours. In such circumstances, the council should consider 

undertaking a community governance review, the terms of reference 

Page 163



Section 2 Undertaking community governance reviews 11

of which should include consideration of the boundaries of existing 

parishes.

16. A community governance review offers an opportunity to put in place 

strong, clearly defined boundaries, tied to firm ground features, and 

remove the many anomalous parish boundaries that exist in England. 

Reviews also offer the chance to principal councils to consider the 

future of what may have become redundant or moribund parishes, 

often the result of an insufficient number of local electors within the 

area who are willing to serve on a parish council. Some of these 

issues are considered elsewhere in this guidance (see Chapter 3 

about parish councils and parish meetings and Chapter 4 regarding 

grouping parishes and dissolving parish councils and abolishing 

parishes).

17. Since new boundaries may be used to provide the building blocks for 

district and London borough ward and/or county division boundaries 

in future electoral reviews of district, London borough, unitary and 

county councils, it is important that principal councils seek to address 

parish boundary anomalies when they arise. Principal councils should 

therefore consider carefully changes to parish boundaries as these 

can have consequential effects on the boundaries for other tiers of 

local government. 

18. Community governance reviews may also be triggered by local 

people presenting public petitions to the principal council. This is 

explained in more detail in paragraphs 39 to 43 on public petitions to 

trigger community governance reviews. 

Terms of reference for community governance reviews 

19. The 2007 Act allows principal councils to determine the terms of 

reference under which a community governance review is to be 

undertaken. It requires the terms of reference to specify the area 

under review and the principal council to publish the terms of 

reference. If any modifications are made to the terms of reference, 

these must also be published.

20. Terms of reference will need to be drawn up or modified where a valid 

community governance petition has been received by the principal 

council. Local people will be able to influence the terms of reference 

when petitioning (see paragraphs 24 and 39 to 43 for more 

information).

21. As the 2007 Act devolves power from central to local government and 

to local communities, it is inappropriate to prescribe a “one size fits 

Page 164



Guidance on community governance reviews 12

all” approach to terms of reference for community governance 

reviews applied by principal councils. However, the Government 

expects terms of reference to set out clearly the matters on which a 

community governance review is to focus. The local knowledge and 

experience of communities in their area which principal councils 

possess will help to frame suitable terms of reference. The terms 

should be appropriate to local people and their circumstances and 

reflect the specific needs of their communities. 

22. In areas for which there is both a district council and a county council, 

district councils are required under section 79 of the 2007 Act to notify 

the county council of their intention to undertake a review and of their 

terms of reference. County councils play a strategic role in the 

provision of local services, and they can offer an additional dimension 

to any proposal to conduct a review, particularly as the terms of 

reference are being formulated. The bodies which the principal 

council must consult under section 93 of the 2007 Act include other 

local authorities which have an interest in the review. Such local 

authorities would include any county council for the area concerned. 

In such circumstances the district council should seek the views of 

the county council at an early stage.

23. Local people may have already expressed views about what form of 

community governance they would like for their area, and principal 

councils should tailor their terms of reference to reflect those views on 

a range of local issues. Ultimately, the recommendations made in a 

community governance review ought to bring about improved 

community engagement, better local democracy and result in more 

effective and convenient delivery of local services.

Timing of community governance reviews  

24. A principal council is under a duty to carry out a community 

governance review if it receives a valid community governance 

petition for the whole or part of the council’s area. However, the duty 

to conduct a review does not apply if: 

a) the principal council has concluded a community governance 

review within the last two years which in its opinion covered the 

whole or a significant part of the area of the petition or 

b) the council is currently conducting a review of the whole, or a 

significant part of the area to which the petition relates

25. Where a review has been conducted within the last two years the 

principal council still has the power to undertake another review if it 

so wishes. Where a review is ongoing, the council can choose to 

Page 165



Section 2 Undertaking community governance reviews 13

modify the terms of reference of the ongoing review to include the 

matters within the petition, or to conduct a second review. 

26. Otherwise, the 2007 Act provides for a principal council to conduct a 

community governance review at any time. Principal councils will 

want to keep their community governance arrangements under 

review, and they should ensure that they consider on a regular basis 

whether a review is needed. A review may need to be carried out, for 

example, following a major change in the population of a community 

or as noted earlier in this chapter (see paragraph 15) to re-draw 

boundaries which have become anomalous, for example following 

new housing developments being built across existing boundaries. 

Principal councils should exercise their discretion, but it would be 

good practice for a principal council to consider conducting a review 

every 10-15 years – except in the case of areas with very low 

populations when less frequent reviews may be adequate.  

27. In the interests of effective governance, the principal council should 

consider the benefits of undertaking a review of the whole of its area 

in one go, rather than carrying out small scale reviews in a piecemeal 

fashion of two or three areas. However, it is recognised that a full-

scale review will not always be warranted, particularly where a review 

of the whole area or a significant part of the principal council’s area 

has been carried out within the last few years. Occasionally, it may be 

appropriate to carry out a smaller review, for example, to adjust minor 

parish boundary anomalies.

28. Principal councils should use their knowledge and awareness of local 

issues when deciding whether to undertake a review. However, 

principal councils should avoid starting a community governance 

review if a review of district, London borough or county council 

electoral arrangements is being, or is about to be, undertaken. 

Ideally, community governance reviews should be undertaken well in 

advance of such electoral reviews, so that the LGBCE in its review of 

local authority electoral arrangements can take into account any 

parish boundary changes that are made. The LGBCE can provide 

advice on its programme of electoral reviews. 

29. Where the LGBCE bases its new district or London borough ward 

boundaries on parish boundaries the Parliamentary Boundary 

Commission will then use these boundaries to determine 

parliamentary constituency boundaries (parliamentary constituencies 

use district and London borough wards as their building blocks). This 

illustrates the importance of keeping parish boundaries under review 

and ensuring they accurately reflect local communities. 

30. Reorganisation of community governance orders (explained further in 

Page 166



Guidance on community governance reviews 14

this chapter under implementation) creating new parishes, abolishing 

parishes or altering their area can be made at any time following a 

review. However for administrative and financial purposes (such as 

setting up the parish council and arranging its first precept), the order 

should take effect on the 1 April following the date on which it is 

made. Electoral arrangements for a new or existing parish council will 

come into force at the first elections to the parish council following the 

reorganisation order. However, orders should be made sufficiently far 

in advance to allow preparations for the conduct of those elections to 

be made. In relation to a new parish council, the principal council may 

wish to consider whether, during the period between 1 April and the 

first elections to the parish council, it should make interim 

arrangements for the parish to be represented by councillors who sit 

on the principal council.  

31. Parish council elections should normally take place every four years 

at the same time as the elections for the district or London borough 

ward or, in areas outside of London which have no district council, the 

county division in which a parish, or part of a parish, is situated. 

However, where a new parish is to be created, it may be necessary to 

alter the date of the next parish election, particularly if the next 

elections to the ward or division are not scheduled to take place for 

some time. To achieve this, section 98 of the 2007 Act allows 

principal councils to modify or exclude the application of sections 

16(3) and 90 of the Local Government Act 1972, so that the first 

election to the new parish council is held in an earlier year. This 

results in councillors serving either a shortened or lengthened first 

term to allow the parish council’s electoral cycle to return to that of the 

unitary, district or London borough ward at the next election. 

Undertaking community governance reviews  

32. Section 93 of the 2007 Act allows principal councils to decide how to 

undertake a community governance review, provided that they 

comply with the duties in that Act which apply to councils undertaking 

reviews.

33. Principal councils will need to consult local people and take account 

of any representations received in connection with the review. When 

undertaking the review they must have regard to the need to secure 

that community governance reflects the identities and interests of the 

community in the area under review, and the need to secure that 

community governance in that area is effective and convenient. 

Further information on making recommendations is in Chapter 3.

34. Under the 2007 Act principal councils are required to consult both 

Page 167



Section 2 Undertaking community governance reviews 15

those local government electors in the area under review, and others 

(including a local authority such as a county council) which appears to 

the principal council to have an interest in the review. In the case of a 

community governance review where a parish council already exists, 

as a local authority, it too should be consulted. Other bodies might 

include local businesses, local public and voluntary organisations - 

such as schools or health bodies. The principal council must take into 

account any representations it receives as part of a community 

governance review. 

35. Principal councils must consider the wider picture of community 

governance in carrying out their reviews. In some areas there may be 

well established forms of community governance such as local 

residents’ associations, or community forums which local people have 

set up and which help make a distinct contribution to the community. 

Some principal councils may also have set up area committees which 

perform a specific role in the local community.

36. In undertaking a review, section 93(5) requires principal councils to 

take these bodies into account. Potentially, as representatives of their 

community, these bodies may be considered as foundations for or 

stages towards the creation of democratically elected parishes 

(further information about other non-parish forms of community 

governance can be found in Chapter 4).  

37. Principal councils are required to complete the review, including 

consequential recommendations to the LGBCE for related alterations 

to the boundaries of principal area wards and/or divisions, within 12 

months of the start of the community governance review.  The review 

begins when the council publishes terms of reference of the review 

and concludes when the council publishes the recommendations 

made in the review
3
.  The Government stated in the 2006 white paper 

that they wanted the process for undertaking community governance 

(formerly parish reviews) to be simplified and speeded up. Given that 

there is no longer the need to make recommendations to Central 

Government prior to implementing any review recommendations, the 

2007 Act makes it easier for principal councils to reach decisions on 

community governance reviews. Whilst a community governance 

review will depend on a number of factors, such as the number of 

boundary changes, the Government believes it should be feasible to 

accomplish reviews within 12 months from the start.

38. Principal councils will need to build into their planning process for 

3
 See section 102(3) of the 2007 Act for the interpretation of ‘begin’ and ‘conclude’ in rela-

tion to a review. 

Page 168



Guidance on community governance reviews 16

reviews reasonable periods for consultation with local electors and 

other stakeholders, for the consideration of evidence presented to 

them in representations, as well as for decision-making (see Chapter 

3 on making and implementing recommendations made in community 

governance reviews). Implementation of reviews by Order and the 

requirement for the principal council to publicise the outcome of a 

community governance review are covered in paragraphs 98 to 103.

Public petitions to trigger community governance reviews 

39. In recent years, the Government has been keen to encourage more 

community engagement. The 2006 white paper confirmed this 

development further stressing the intention to build on the existing 

parish structure improving capacity to deliver better services, and to 

represent the community’s interests.

40. Under the 2007 Act, local electors throughout England can petition 

their principal council for a community governance review to be 

undertaken. The petition must set out at least one recommendation 

that the petitioners want the review to consider making. These 

recommendations can be about a variety of matters including: 

the creation of a parish 

the name of a parish 

the establishment of a separate parish council for an existing 

parish

the alteration of boundaries of existing parishes 

the abolition of a parish 

the dissolution of a parish council 

changes to the electoral arrangements of a parish council 

whether a parish should be grouped under a common parish 

council or de-grouped 

a strong, inclusive community and voluntary sector 

a sense of civic values, responsibility and pride; and

a sense of place – a place with a ‘positive’ feeling for people and 

local distinctiveness

reflective of the identities and interests of the community in that 

area and

effective and convenient 

the impact of community governance arrangements on community 

cohesion; and

Page 169



Section 2 Undertaking community governance reviews 17

the size, population and boundaries of a local community or parish 

people from different backgrounds having similar life opportunities 

people knowing their rights and responsibilities 

41. For a petition to be valid it must meet certain conditions. The first of 

these conditions is that a petition must be signed by the requisite 

number of local electors. It is recommended that petitioners aim to 

collect the requisite number of signatures based on the most recently 

published electoral register. It should be against this register that the 

petition thresholds (set out below) will be assessed. The three 

thresholds are: 

a) for an area with less than 500 local electors, the petition must be 
signed by at least 50% of them 

b) for an area with between 500 and 2,500 local electors, the peti-
tion must be signed by at least 250 of them 

c) for an area with more than 2,500 local electors, the petition must 
be signed by at least 10% of them

42. These thresholds have been chosen to ensure that the minimum 

number of signatures to be obtained is neither so high that it will be 

impossible in most cases to collect that number nor so low as to allow 

a very small minority of electors to trigger a review. So, in areas with 

higher populations the threshold is not so high as to prevent a 

genuine desire for a review not being realised. Equally, in areas with 

smaller numbers of electors, this means that a handful of electors 

cannot initiate a review against the wishes of the majority of their 

fellow electors. The thresholds therefore help to ensure that the local 

democratic process is properly maintained.

43. The petition should define the area to which the review relates, 

whether on a map or otherwise, and refer to identifiable fixed 

boundaries. Where a proposed boundary is near an individual 

property, the petition must make clear on which side of the boundary 

the property lies. The petition must specify one or more proposed 

recommendations for review. 

44. Where a petition recommends the establishment of a town or parish 

council or parish meeting (see paragraph 88) in an area which does 

not currently exist as a parish, the petition is to be treated as including 

a recommendation for a parish to be created even if it does not 

expressly make such a recommendation
4

4
 See Section 80 (8) of the 2007 Act 

Page 170



Guidance on community governance reviews 18

Section 3: Making and implementing 
recommendations made in community 
governance reviews 

45. As stated in the 2006 white paper parish councils are an established 

and valued form of neighbourhood democracy and management. 

They are not only important in rural areas but increasingly have a role 

to play in urban areas. We propose to build on the existing parish 

structure, so as to improve its capacity to deliver better services and 

represent the community’s interests. 

Context of parishes in the wider community 

46. Communities and Local Government is working to help people and 

local agencies create cohesive, attractive and economically vibrant 

local communities, building on the Government’s Sustainable 

Communities’ strategy. 

47. An important aspect to approaching sustainable communities is 

allowing local people a say in the way their neighbourhoods are 

managed. One of the characteristics of a sustainable community is 

the desire for a community to be well run with effective and inclusive 

participation, representation and leadership. This means: 

a) representative, accountable governance systems which both 

facilitate strategic, visionary leadership and enable inclusive, 

active and effective participation by individuals and organisations; 

and

b) effective engagement with the community at neighbourhood level 

including capacity building to develop the community’s skills, 

knowledge and confidence 

48. Central to the concept of sustainable communities is community 

cohesion. The impact of community governance on cohesion is an 

issue to be taken into account when taking decisions about 

community governance arrangements, and this is discussed further 

below.

Defining a parish 

49. Parish and town councils vary enormously in size, activities and 

circumstances, representing populations ranging from less than 100 

(small rural hamlets) to up to 70,000 (large shire towns – Weston-

Super-Mare Town Council being the largest). The majority of them 

are small; around 80% represent populations of less than 2,500. 

Small parishes with no parish council can be grouped with 

Page 171



Section 3 Making and implementing recommendations made in community governance reviews 19

neighbouring parishes under a common parish council (see 

paragraphs 112 to 115).  

50. Parish councils continue to have two main roles: community 

representation and local administration. For both purposes it is 

desirable that a parish should reflect a distinctive and recognisable 

community of place, with its own sense of identity. The views of local 

communities and inhabitants are of central importance. 

51. The identification of a community is not a precise or rigid matter. The 

pattern of daily life in each of the existing communities, the local 

centres for education and child care, shopping, community activities, 

worship, leisure pursuits, transport facilities and means of 

communication generally will have an influence. However, the focus 

of people’s day-to-day activities may not be reflected in their feeling of 

community identity. For instance, historic loyalty may be to a town but 

the local community of interest and social focus may lie within a part 

of the town with its own separate identity. 

Criteria for undertaking a community governance review 

52. Section 93 of the 2007 Act requires principal councils to ensure that 

community governance within the area under review will be: 

 reflective of the identities and interests of the community in that 

area and 

 effective and convenient 

53. When considering the criteria identified in the 2007 Act, principal 

councils should take into account a number of influential factors, 

including: 

 the impact of community governance arrangements on community 

cohesion and 

 the size, population and boundaries of a local community or parish 

54. In considering this guidance, the impact on community cohesion is 

linked specifically to the identities and interests of local communities. 

Size, population and boundaries are linked to both but perhaps more 

specifically to community governance being effective and convenient.

The identities and interests of local communities  

55. Parish councils have an important role to play in the development of 

their local communities. Local communities range in size, as well as 

in a variety of other ways. Communities and Local Government is 

Page 172



Guidance on community governance reviews 20

working to help people and local agencies create cohesive, attractive 

and economically vibrant local communities. The aim for communities 

across the country is for them to be capable of fulfilling their own 

potential and overcoming their own difficulties, including community 

conflict, extremism, deprivation and disadvantage. Communities need 

to be empowered to respond to challenging economic, social, and 

cultural trends, and to demographic change.  

56. Parish councils can contribute to the creation of successful 

communities by influencing the quality of planning and design of 

public spaces and the built environment, as well as improving the 

management and maintenance of such amenities. Neighbourhood 

renewal is an important factor to improve the quality of life for those 

living in the most disadvantaged areas. Parish councils can be well 

placed to judge what is needed to build cohesion. Other factors such 

as social exclusion and deprivation may be specific issues in certain 

areas, and respect is fundamental to the functioning of all places and 

communities. The Government remains committed to civil renewal, 

and empowering citizens to work with public bodies, including parish 

councils, to influence public decisions.  

57. ‘Place’ matters in considering community governance and is a factor 

in deciding whether or not to set up a parish. Communities and Local 

Government’s vision is of prosperous and cohesive communities 

which offer a safe, healthy and sustainable environment. One aspect 

of that is strong and accountable local government and leadership. 

Parish councils can perform a central role in community leadership. 

Depending on the issue, sometimes they will want to take the lead 

locally, while at other times they may act as an important stakeholder 

or in partnership with others. In either case, parish councils will want 

to work effectively with partners to undertake the role of ‘place-

shaping’, and be responsive to the challenges and opportunities of 

their area in a co-ordinated way.

58. It is clear that how people perceive where they live - their 

neighbourhoods - is significant in considering the identities and 

interests of local communities and depends on a range of 

circumstances, often best defined by local residents. Some of the 

factors which help define neighbourhoods are: the geography of an 

area, the make-up of the local community, sense of identity, and 

whether people live in a rural, suburban, or urban area.

59. Parishes in many cases may be able to meet the concept of 

neighbourhoods in an area. Parishes should reflect distinctive and 

recognisable communities of interest, with their own sense of identity. 

Like neighbourhoods, the feeling of local community and the wishes 

Page 173



Section 3 Making and implementing recommendations made in community governance reviews 21

of local inhabitants are the primary considerations. 

60. Today, there may well be a variety of different communities of interest 

within a parish; for example, representing age, gender, ethnicity, faith 

or life-style groups. There are other communities with say specific 

interests in schools, hospitals or in leisure pursuits. Any number of 

communities of interest may flourish in a parish but they do not 

necessarily centre on a specific area or help to define it.

61. Building a sense of local identity may make an important contribution 

to cohesion where a local area is facing challenges arising from rapid 

demographic change. In considering the criteria, community 

governance reviews need to home in on communities as offering a 

sense of place and of local identity for all residents.  

Effective and convenient local government 

62. The Government believes that the effectiveness and convenience of 

local government is best understood in the context of a local 

authority’s ability to deliver quality services economically and 

efficiently, and give users of services a democratic voice in the 

decisions that affect them.

63. Local communities should have access to good quality local services, 

ideally in one place. A parish council may be well placed to do this. 

With local parish and town councils in mind, effective and convenient 

local government essentially means that such councils should be 

viable in terms of providing at least some local services, and if they 

are to be convenient they need to be easy to reach and accessible to 

local people.

64. In responding to the requirement for effective and convenient local 

government, some parish councils are keen, and have the capacity to 

take on more in the provision of services. However, it is recognised 

that not all are in position to do so. The 2007 Act provides a power of 

well-being to those parish councils who want to take on more, giving 

them additional powers to enable them to promote the social, 

economic and environmental well being of their areas. Nevertheless, 

certain conditions must be met by individual parish councils before 

this power is extended to them. 

65. Wider initiatives such as the Quality Parish Scheme and charters 

agreed between parish councils and principal councils also help to 

give a greater understanding of securing effective and convenient 

local government. In such cases, parish and town councils which are 

well managed and good at representing local views will be in a better 

Page 174



Guidance on community governance reviews 22

position to work closely with partner authorities to take more 

responsibility for shaping their area’s development and running its 

services.

Factors for consideration 

66. When reviewing community governance arrangements, principal 

councils may wish to take into account a number of factors, to help 

inform their judgement against the statutory criteria.

The impact on community cohesion of community governance arrangements 

67. Setting up parishes and parish councils clearly offers the opportunity 

to strengthen community engagement and participation, and generate 

a positive impact on community cohesion. In conducting community 

governance reviews (whether initiated by itself or triggered by a valid 

petition), the principal council should consider the impact on 

community cohesion when deciding whether or not to set up a parish 

council.

68. Britain is a more diverse society – ethnically, religiously and culturally 

– than ever before. Today’s challenge is how best to draw on the 

benefits that migration and diversity bring while addressing the 

potential problems and risks to cohesion. Community cohesion is 

about recognising the impact of change and responding to it. This is a 

fundamental part of the place-shaping agenda and puts local 

authorities at the heart of community building.

69. In its response to the recommendations of the Commission on 

Integration and Cohesion the Government has defined community 

cohesion as what must happen in all communities to enable different 

groups of people to get on well together. A key contributor to 

community cohesion is integration which is what must happen to 

enable new residents and existing residents to adjust to one another. 

70. The Government’s vision of an integrated and cohesive community is 

based on three foundations: 

people trusting one another and trusting local institutions to act fairly 

71. And three key ways of living together: 

a shared future vision and sense of belonging 

a focus on what new and existing communities have in common, 

alongside a recognition of the value of diversity 

strong and positive relationships between people from different 

backgrounds

Page 175



Section 3 Making and implementing recommendations made in community governance reviews 23

72. The Commission on Integration and Cohesion’s report, Our Shared 

Future, is clear that communities have expert knowledge about their 

own circumstances and that actions at the local level contribute to 

achieving integration and cohesion, with local authorities well placed to 

identify any pressures. The Commission reports that policy makers and 

practitioners see civic participation as a key way of building integration 

and cohesion – from ensuring people have a stake in the community, 

to facilitating mixing and engendering a common sense of purpose 

through shared activities. The 2006 white paper’s proposals for 

stronger local leadership, greater resident participation in decisions 

and an enhanced role for community groups contribute to promoting 

cohesion.  

73. Community cohesion is about local communities where people should 

feel they have a stake in the society, and in the local area where they 

live by having the opportunity to influence decisions affecting their 

lives. This may include what type of community governance 

arrangements they want in their local area.

74. The 2007 Act requires principal councils to have regard to the need to 

secure that community governance reflects the identity and interests of 

local communities; the impact on community cohesion is linked 

strongly to it. Cohesion issues are connected to the way people 

perceive how their local community is composed and what it 

represents, and the creation of parishes and parish councils may 

contribute to improving community cohesion. Community governance 

arrangements should reflect, and be sufficiently representative of, 

people living across the whole community and not just a discrete cross-

section or small part of it. It would be difficult to think of a situation in 

which a principal council could make a decision to create a parish and 

a parish council which reflects community identities and interests in the 

area and at the same time threatens community cohesion. Principal 

councils should be able to decline to set up such community 

governance arrangements where they judged that to do so would not 

be in the interests of either the local community or surrounding 

communities, and where the effect would be likely to damage 

community cohesion.  

75. As part of a community governance review a principal council should 

consider whether a recommendation made by petitioners will 

undermine community cohesion in any part of its area.

76. Challenges to community cohesion are often very local in nature and 

because of their knowledge of local communities, local authorities are 

in a good position to assess these challenges. As for the other 

considerations set out in this guidance, principal councils will wish to 

Page 176



Guidance on community governance reviews 24

reach a balanced judgement in taking community cohesion into 

account in community governance arrangements.

Size, population and boundaries of a local community or parish  

77. Size, population and boundaries of a local community or parish are 

linked to aspects of both principal criteria as identified in the 2007 Act, 

but perhaps more specifically to community governance being 

effective and convenient. Often it is factors such as the size, 

population and boundaries which influence whether or not it is going 

to be viable to create a parish council. Parishes must fall within the 

boundaries of a single principal council’s area. 

78. The Local Government Commission for England in its 1993 Report 

Renewing Local Government in the English Shires makes the point 

that there is a long history of attempts to identify ideal minimum and 

maximum sizes for local authorities. Instead its preference was for 

authorities to be based on natural communities and reflecting 

people’s expressed choices. This is even truer today, particularly at 

the most local level of government. Nevertheless, the size of 

communities and parishes remains difficult to define.

79. Parish councils in England currently vary greatly in size from those 

with a handful of electors with some representing hamlets of around 

50 people to those in towns with well over 40,000 electors. 

Geography and natural boundaries; population size; and to an extent 

‘council size’ (the term used by the LGBCE to describe the number of 

councillors who are elected to a local authority) may influence how 

small or large a parish council can be.

80. The general rule should be that the parish is based on an area which 

reflects community identity and interest and which is of a size which is 

viable as an administrative unit of local government. This is generally 

because of the representative nature of parish councils and the need 

for them to reflect closely the identity of their communities. It is 

desirable that any recommendations should be for parishes or groups 

of parishes with a population of a sufficient size to adequately 

represent their communities and to justify the establishment of a 

parish council in each. Nevertheless as previously noted, it is 

recognised that there are enormous variations in the size of parishes, 

although most parishes are below 12,000 in population.  

81. A parish council should be in a position to provide some basic 

services and many larger parishes will be able to offer much more to 

their local communities. However, it would not be practical or 

desirable to set a rigid limit for the size of a parish whether it is in a 

Page 177



Section 3 Making and implementing recommendations made in community governance reviews 25

rural or urban area, although higher population figures are generally 

more likely to occur in urban areas. Equally, a parish could be based 

on a small but discrete housing estate rather than on the town within 

which the estate lies.  

82. There may be cases where larger parishes would best suit the needs 

of the area. These might include places where the division of a 

cohesive area, such as a Charter Trustee town (see paragraphs 133 

to 134), would not reflect the sense of community that needs to lie 

behind all parishes; or places where there were no recognisable 

smaller communities. 

83. As far as boundaries between parishes are concerned, these should 

reflect the “no-man’s land” between communities represented by 

areas of low population or barriers such as rivers, roads or railways. 

They need to be, and be likely to remain, easily identifiable. For 

instance, factors to consider include parks and recreation grounds 

which sometimes provide natural breaks between communities but 

they can equally act as focal points. A single community would be 

unlikely to straddle a river where there are no crossing points, or a 

large area of moor land or marshland. Another example might be 

where a community appeared to be divided by a motorway (unless 

connected by walkways at each end). Whatever boundaries are 

selected they need to be, and be likely to remain, easily identifiable. 

84. In many cases a boundary change between existing parishes, or 

parishes and unparished areas, rather than the creation of an entirely 

new parish, will be sufficient to ensure that parish arrangements 

reflect local identities and facilitate effective and convenient local 

government. For example, over time, communities may expand with 

new housing developments. This can often lead to existing parish 

boundaries becoming anomalous as new houses are built across 

them resulting in people being in different parishes from their 

neighbours.  

85. A review of parish boundaries is an opportunity to put in place strong 

boundaries, tied to firm ground detail, and remove anomalous parish 

boundaries. Since the new boundaries are likely to be used to provide 

the building blocks for district ward, London borough ward, county 

division and parliamentary constituency boundaries in future reviews 

for such councils, it is important that principal councils seek to 

address parish boundary issues at regular intervals. 

Page 178



Guidance on community governance reviews 26

Parish meetings and parish councils 

86. Under the Local Government Act 1972 all parishes, whether or not 

they have a parish council, must have a parish meeting. In many 

parishes the requirement to have a parish meeting takes the form of 

at least one annual meeting, or more often several meetings during 

each year, organised (where one exists) by the parish council or if not 

by the parish meeting itself. The parish meeting of a parish consists 

of the local government electors for the parish, and as such local 

electors are invited to attend these meetings. Parish meetings have a 

number of functions, powers and rights of notification and 

consultation. The trustees of a parish meeting hold property and act 

on its behalf. Depending on the number of local government electors 

in the parish, there are different rules about whether or not a parish 

council must be created for the parish, or whether it is discretionary. 

87. Where principal councils are creating new parishes, the 2007 Act 

requires them to make recommendations about whether or not a new 

parish should be constituted in their area. New parishes can be 

constituted in a number of different ways, including by creating a 

parish in an area that is not currently parished, amalgamating two or 

more parishes and separating part of a parish, with or without 

aggregating it with parts of other parishes.

88. Section 94 of the 2007 Act applies in relation to these 

recommendations. It places principal councils under a duty to 

recommend that a parish should have a council in parishes which 

have 1000 electors or more. In parishes with 151 to 999 electors the 

principal council may recommend the creation of either a parish 

council or a parish meeting. In parishes with 150 or fewer electors 

principal councils are unable to recommend that a parish council 

should be created and therefore only a parish meeting can be 

created. The aim of these thresholds is to extend the more direct 

participatory form of governance provided by parish meetings to a 

larger numbers of electors. Equally, the thresholds help to ensure that 

both the population of a new parish for which a council is to be 

established is of sufficient size to justify its establishment and also 

that local people are adequately represented.  

89. One of the reasons for these differing thresholds is that the 

Government recognises the difficulty which sometimes exists in small 

parishes, in particular, in managing to get sufficient numbers to stand 

for election to the parish council. However, the thresholds identified 

above do not apply to existing parish councils. If the community 

governance review concludes that the existence of the parish council 

reflects community identities and provides effective and convenient 

Page 179



Section 3 Making and implementing recommendations made in community governance reviews 27

local government, despite the small number of electors, then it can 

recommend that the parish council should continue in existence. So, 

where an existing parish of 150 or less electors already has a parish 

council with the minimum number of five parish councillors it can 

continue to have a parish council.  

90. If a principal council chooses to establish a parish council, or if an 

existing parish whose boundaries are being changed has a parish 

council, the principal authority must consult on, and put in place the 

necessary electoral arrangements for that parish. (See Chapter 5 

Electoral Arrangements.) 

Recommendations and decisions on the outcome of community 
governance reviews  

91. Community governance reviews will make recommendations on 

those matters they have considered, as defined by the terms of 

reference set at the start of the review.

92. A principal council must make recommendations as to: 

a) whether a new parish or any new parishes should be constituted 

b) whether existing parishes should or should not be abolished or 

whether the area of existing parishes should be altered or 

c) what the electoral arrangements for new or existing parishes, 

which are to have parish councils, should be 

93. It may also make recommendations about: 

a) the grouping or degrouping of parishes 

b) adding parishes to an existing group of parishes or 

c) making related alterations to the boundaries of a principal councils’ 

electoral areas 

94. In deciding what recommendations to make the principal council must 

have regard to the need to secure that community governance 

reflects the identities and interests of the community in that area and 

is effective and convenient. The 2007 Act provides that it must also 

take into account any other arrangements (apart from those relating 

to parishes and their institutions) that have already been made, or 

that could be made, for the purposes of community representation or 

community engagement. 

95. The recommendations must take account of any representations 

received and should be supported by evidence which demonstrates 

Page 180



Guidance on community governance reviews 28

that the recommended community governance arrangements would 

meet the criteria set out in the 2007 Act. Where a principal council 

has conducted a review following the receipt of a petition, it will 

remain open to the council to make a recommendation which is 

different to the recommendation the petitioners wished the review to 

make. This will particularly be the case where the recommendation is 

not in the interests of the wider local community, such as where 

giving effect to it would be likely to damage community relations by 

dividing communities along ethnic, religious or cultural lines. 

96. In making its recommendations, the review should consider the 

information it has received in the form of expressions of local opinion 

on the matters considered by the review, representations made by 

local people and other interested persons, and also use its own 

knowledge of the local area. It may be that much of this information 

can be gained through the consultation which the council will have 

held with local people and also the council’s wider engagement with 

local people on other matters. In taking this evidence into account and 

judging the criteria in the 2007 Act against it, a principal council may 

reasonably conclude that a recommendation set out in a petition 

should not be made. For example, a recommendation to abolish or 

establish a parish council, may negatively impact on community 

cohesion, either within the proposed parish area, or in the wider 

community within which it would be located, and therefore should not 

be made.

97. The aim of the 2007 Act is to open up a wider choice of governance 

to communities at the most local level. However, the Government 

considers that there is sufficient flexibility for principal councils not to 

feel ‘forced’ to recommend that the matters included in every petition 

must be implemented. 

98. Under the 2007 Act the principal council must both publish its 

recommendations and ensure that those who may have an interest 

are informed of them. In taking a decision as to whether or not to give 

effect to a recommendation, the principal council must have regard to 

the statutory criteria (see paragraph 51). After taking a decision on 

the extent to which the council will give effect to the recommendations 

made in a community governance review, the council must publish its 

decision and its reasons for taking that decision. It must also take 

sufficient steps to ensure that persons who may be interested in the 

review are informed of the decision and the reasons for it. Who 

should be informed will depend on local circumstances. Publicising 

the outcome of reviews is dealt with in the next section on 

implementation. 

Page 181



Section 3 Making and implementing recommendations made in community governance reviews 29

Implementation of community governance reviews by order 

99. There are a number of steps that a principal council must take to 

publicise the outcome of any review it has conducted, and to provide 

information about that outcome to the bodies it must notify following 

any reorganisation order it makes to implement the review. 

Community governance reviews should be conducted transparently 

so that local people and other local stakeholders who may have an 

interest are made aware of the outcome of the decisions taken on 

them and the reasons behind these decisions. 

100. If the council implements the recommendations made in its review, 

there are other steps it is required to undertake. These include 

depositing copies of the reorganisation order
5
 which the principal 

council will need to draw up to give effect to its decisions. Besides 

depositing at its main office a copy of the reorganisation order, it 

should also deposit a map showing the effects of the order in detail 

which should be available for inspection by the public at all 

reasonable times (i.e. during normal working hours). The 2007 Act 

also requires the council to make available a document setting out the 

reasons for the decisions it has taken (including where it has decided 

to make no change following a community governance review) and to 

publicise these reasons. 

101. The principal council must publicise how the council has given effect 

to the review, and that the order and map are available for public 

inspection as set above. Other means of publicity it may wish to 

consider are through publication on the council’s website, in local 

newspapers, on notice boards in public places, and in local libraries, 

town halls or other local offices. In addition, after a principal council 

has made a reorganisation order, as soon as practicable, it must 

inform the following organisations that the order has been made:

a) the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government 

b) the LGBCE 

c) the Office of National Statistics 

d) the Director General of the Ordnance Survey 

e) any other principal council (e.g. a county council) whose area the 

order relates to

5
 A copy of a model reorganisation order with different examples of recommendations can 
be viewed on the Communities and Local Government website. It may help principal 
councils to draw up reorganisation orders which could be adapted to their own needs and 
circumstances. Principal councils are not obliged to follow this example. It is offered on an 
advisory basis and principal councils will want to seek their own legal advice that any 
orders they produce meet the necessary legal requirements. 

Page 182



Guidance on community governance reviews 30

102. The Audit Commission has statutory responsibility for appointing 

external auditors to all local councils in England. For the purposes of 

its audit appointment functions the Commission needs to be aware of 

changes emerging from community governance reviews. Therefore, 

principal councils should inform the Audit Commission of any 

reorganisation orders made to implement the recommendations of 

community governance reviews. 

103. Section 97 of the 2007 Act provides for regulations to make 

incidental, consequential, transitional or supplementary provision for 

the purposes of, or in consequence of, reorganisation orders.  Two 

sets of regulations have been made under the 2007 Act, which apply 

to reorganisation orders - both came into force on 8 April 2008. The 

first of these, the Local Government (Parishes and Parish Councils) 

(England) Regulations 2008 No.625 make provisions in relation to 

matters such as the distribution of property and the rights and 

liabilities of parish councils affected by a reorganisation order. The 

second set, the Local Government Finance (New Parishes) 

Regulations 2008 No.626 deal with the setting of precepts for new 

parishes.

104. Section 99 of the 2007 Act provides for public bodies affected by 

reorganisation following a community governance review to make 

agreements about incidental matters and what those agreements 

may provide for. So as to ensure that a reorganisation order has 

effect subject to the terms of any such agreement, principal councils 

should make provision for this in the reorganisation order. An 

example provision has been included in the model reorganisation 

order which can be found on the Communities and Local Government 

website (see footnote 2). 

Maps of parish changes and mapping conventions 

105. To assist those who will have an interest in any recommendations 

made by the principal council when conducting a community 

governance review and to accompany the reorganisation order, clear 

high quality maps should be produced to a standard equivalent to 

using Ordnance Survey large scale data as a base. Maps can be 

graphically presented at a reduced scale for convenience but 

preferably no smaller than 1:10,000 scale. Each recommendation and 

order should be depicted on a map or maps. The mapping should 

clearly show the existing parish ward, parish, district or London 

borough boundaries and all proposed parish ward and parish 

boundaries in the area(s) affected, or given effect to in a 

reorganisation order.  

Page 183



Section 3 Making and implementing recommendations made in community governance reviews 31

106. It can be useful to include some positional information to identify the 

location of the area(s) in relation to the complete area of the principal 

council. A colour key can be included to clearly identify each 

boundary type. Where there are only proposed changes to an existing 

parish boundary alignment it can be helpful to show in translucent 

colour any areas to be transferred from one parish to another. This 

indicates clearly the extent of the proposed change. It can also be 

beneficial to add unique references to all areas of transfer to create a 

cross reference to the re-organisation order document. Applying a 

reference to each order map should also be considered so that a link 

is created with the re-organisation order. 

Page 184



Guidance on community governance reviews 32

Section 4: Other aspects of community 
governance reviews 

Parish names and alternative styles for parishes 

107. Prior to the 2007 Act, a parish could be given the status of a town 

under section 245 of the Local Government Act 1972. “Town” status 

continues to be available to a parish. In addition, the 2007 Act 

inserted sections 12A and 12B into the 1972 Act to offer a further 

choice of alternative styles for a parish: community, neighbourhood 

and village. However, for as long as the parish has an alternative 

style, it will not also be able to have the status of a town and vice 

versa.

108. The ‘name’ of a parish refers to the geographical name of the area 

concerned and can be changed independent of a review by a 

principal council at the request of a parish council or parish meeting 

(where there is no parish council)
6
.  A change in the status or ‘style’ 

of a parish allows for that area to be known as a town, community

neighbourhood or village, rather than as a parish. The status or style 

of the parish will be reflected in the name of any council of the parish, 

the parish meeting, any parish trustees, and the chairman or vice-

chairman of the parish meeting or of any parish council. So, for 

example, the council of a parish which uses the style ‘village’ will be 

known as the ‘village council’ and its councillors as the ‘village 

councillors’, etc. 

,

109. References in legislation to a ‘parish’ should be taken to include a 

parish which has an alternative style, as is the case in relation to a 

parish which has the status of a town. The same applies in relation to 

references in legislation to a ‘parish meeting’, ‘parish council’, ‘parish 

councillor’, ‘parish trustees’, etc in connection with a parish which has 

an alternative style. 

110. The Government recognises that in long established parishes, 

particularly in rural areas, local people may wish to retain the name of 

their parish and the existing style of their parish councils, - although 

others may prefer “village” or another style. Following a community 

governance review, in areas previously unparished where a new 

parish is being created, people living there may wish for the style of 

their parish council to reflect the local community in a different way 

and may prefer one of the alternative styles. This may well be the 

case for those living in urban areas. Local authorities will wish to take 

6
 Section 75 Local Government Act 1972 

Page 185



Section 4 Other aspects of community governance reviews 33

account of these preferences in deciding the name of the parish and 

the chosen style. 

111. Where the review relates to a new parish, it is for the principal council, in 

the first instance, to make recommendations as to the geographical 

name of the new parish, and as to whether or not it should have one of 

the alternative styles. So far as existing parishes under review by 

principal councils are concerned, the review must make 

recommendations as to whether the geographical name of the parish 

should be changed, but it may not make any recommendations for the 

parish about alternative style. It will be for the parish council or parish 

meeting to resolve whether the parish should have one of the alternative 

styles.  

112. In relation to a group of parishes, provision about alternative styles for 

the group may be made by the principal council in a reorganisation 

order that forms that group, adds a parish to an existing group or de-

groups a parish or group. A grouping containing a mixture of styles is 

not permitted under section 11A(4) of the Local Government Act 

1972. Where an individual parish is removed from a group through a 

de-grouping order the parish must retain the style it had when it was 

part of the group until such time as the parish council or meeting 

resolves to adopt an alternative style. Provision about alternative 

styles in relation to groups will normally be made independently of a 

community governance review. 

Grouping or degrouping parishes

113. Section 91 of the 2007 Act provides for a community governance 

review to recommend the grouping or degrouping of parishes by 

principal councils. As mentioned in chapter 3, (paragraph 87) unless 

they already exist as functioning parish councils smaller new parishes 

of less than 150 electors will be unable to establish their own parish 

council under the 2007 Act.

114. In some cases, it may be preferable to group together parishes so as to 

allow a common parish council to be formed. Degrouping may offer the 

reverse possibilities perhaps where local communities have expanded. 

Such proposals are worth considering and may avoid the need for 

substantive changes to parish boundaries, the creation of new parishes 

or the abolition of very small parishes where, despite their size, they still 

reflect community identity. Grouping or degrouping needs to be 

compatible with the retention of community interests. It would be 

inappropriate for it to be used to build artificially large units under single 

parish councils. 

115. Section 91 also requires a review to consider the electoral arrangements

Page 186



Guidance on community governance reviews 34

of a grouped parish council or of a parish council established after a 

parish is de-grouped. Each parish in a group must return at least one 

councillor.

116. When making a recommendation to group or de-group parishes, the 

principal council may make a request to the LGBCE to make a related 

alteration to the boundaries of district or London borough wards or 

county divisions. For example, if a principal council decided to add an 

additional parish to a group, because of their shared community 

identities, it may wish to recommend that all of the parishes in the 

group be included in the same district ward (see Chapter 6 for more 

details).

Abolishing parishes, and dissolving parish councils  

117. While the Government expects to see a trend in the creation, rather 

than the abolition, of parishes, there are circumstances where the 

principal council may conclude that the provision of effective and 

convenient local government and/or the reflection of community 

identity and interests may be best met, for example, by the abolition 

of a number of small parishes and the creation of a larger parish 

covering the same area. If, following a review, a principal council 

believes that this would provide the most appropriate community 

governance arrangements, then it will wish to make this 

recommendation; the same procedures apply to any recommendation 

to abolish a parish and/or parish council as to other recommendations 

(see paragraphs 90 -97). Regulations
7
 provide for the transfer of 

property, rights and liabilities of a parish council to the new successor 

parish council, or where none is proposed to the principal council 

itself.

118. Section 88 of the 2007 Act provides for a community governance 

review to recommend the alteration of the area of, or the abolition of, 

an existing parish as a result of a review. The area of abolished 

parishes does not have to be redistributed to other parishes, an area 

can become unparished. However, it is the Government’s view that it 

would be undesirable to see existing parishes abolished with the area 

becoming unparished with no community governance arrangements 

in place. 

119. The abolition of parishes should not be undertaken unless clearly 

justified. Any decision a principal council may make on whether to 

abolish a parish should not be taken lightly. Under the previous parish 

review legislation, the Local Government and Rating Act 1997 , the 

7
 The Local Government (Parishes and Parish Councils) (England) Regulations 2008 

No.625.

Page 187



Section 4 Other aspects of community governance reviews 35

Secretary of State considered very carefully recommendations made

by principal councils for the abolition of any parish (without 

replacement) given that to abolish parish areas removes a tier of local 

government. Between 1997 and 2008, the Government rarely 

received proposals to abolish parish councils, it received only four 

cases seeking abolition and of these only one was approved for 

abolition by the Secretary of State. 

120. Exceptionally, there may be circumstances where abolition may be 

the most appropriate way forward. Under the 2007 Act provisions, the 

principal council would need to consider local opinion, including that 

of parish councillors and local electors. It would need to find evidence 

that the abolition of a parish council was justified, and that there was 

clear and sustained local support for such action. A factor taken into 

account by the Government in deciding abolition cases, was that local 

support for abolition needed to have been demonstrated over at least 

a period equivalent to two terms of office of the parish councillors (i.e. 

eight years), and that such support was sufficiently informed. This 

means a properly constituted parish council should have had an 

opportunity to exercise its functions so that local people can judge its 

ability to contribute to local quality of life. 

121. Where a community governance review is considering abolishing a 

parish council we would expect the review to consider what 

arrangements will be in place to engage with the communities in 

those areas once the parish is abolished. These arrangements might 

be an alternative forum run by or for the local community, or perhaps 

a residents’ association. It is doubtful however, that abolition of a 

parish and its council could ever be justified as the most appropriate 

action in response to a particular contentious issue in the area or 

decision of the parish council. 

122. In future, principal councils will wish to consider the sort of principles 

identified above in arriving at their decisions on whether or not to 

abolish a parish council. In doing so, they will be aware that decisions 

about community governance arrangements, including decisions for 

the abolition of a parish council, may attract a challenge by way of 

judicial review. 

123. The 2006 white paper underlined the Government’s commitment to 

parish councils as an established and valued form of neighbourhood 

democracy with an important role to play in both rural, and 

increasingly urban, areas.

124. Section 10 of the Local Government Act 1972 makes provision for the 

dissolution of parish councils in parishes with very low populations, 

Page 188



Guidance on community governance reviews 36

but not for the de-parishing of the area. Recommendations for the 

dissolution of a parish council which is not in this position are 

undesirable, unless associated either with boundary changes which 

amalgamate parishes or divide a parish or with plans for a parish to 

be grouped with others under a common parish council (see 

paragraphs 112 to 115). Recommendations for changing a parish 

area (or part of a parish area) into an unparished area are also 

undesirable unless that area is amalgamated with an existing 

unparished urban area. 

Rural areas 

125. About 90% of the geographical area of England is covered by a 

parish, and this is mostly in rural or semi-rural areas. So, most 

populated rural areas already have a structure of local government 

that includes parishes and many of these have been in existence for 

hundreds of years. It is desirable that any changes do not upset 

historic traditions but do reflect changes that have happened over 

time, such as population shift or additional development, which may 

have led to a different community identity. 

126. The focus of community feeling will differ from place to place and 

between different types of settlement. A scatter of hamlets may have 

a feeling of community within each hamlet, meriting a separate parish 

for each one, or amongst a number of hamlets, for which one parish 

covering all may be appropriate. Where a number of hamlets 

surround a village a parish could be based on the village and its 

environs, provided that the sense of individual identity is not lost. 

127. In rural areas, the Government wants to encourage the involvement 

of local people in developing their community and having a part to 

play in shaping the decisions that affect them. A parish can be a 

useful and democratic means of achieving this.  

London

128. The London Government Act 1963 abolished parishes existing at the 

time within London. When the boundaries for Greater London were 

established, they were adjusted to allow the surrounding shire 

counties to keep parishes that were in the fringe areas. Since then, 

London has been the only part of England not to have parishes or 

parish councils.

129. The Government’s view is that Londoners should have the same 

rights as the rest of the country. The 2007 Act corrects this anomaly 

to allow London boroughs the possibility to exercise the same 

community governance powers as other principal councils including 

Page 189



Section 4 Other aspects of community governance reviews 37

being able to set up parishes and parish councils. Similarly, local 

electors in London boroughs are, as elsewhere in England, able to 

petition for a community governance review. 

130. In London, there is the same possibility to choose a style for a parish 

perhaps to reflect better the local urban area like “community” or 

“neighbourhood”. Whilst some parts of London are populated by 

people who may be more transient or mobile than elsewhere, there 

are equally areas of the capital where there are stable populations 

who may wish to see the creation of a parish council for their local 

area.

Other urban areas 

131. There are parts of rural or semi-rural England which are unparished, 

but the opportunities for establishing new parishes are increasingly to 

be found in urban and suburban areas. It is possible that identifying 

the community upon which a parish might be based may be more 

difficult to discern in some urban areas. A “community” perhaps 

already represented by a voluntary organisation or a community 

endeavour, such as a Neighbourhood Watch area or a residents’ 

association, may indicate a suitable area on which to base proposals 

for a new or altered parish, (see paragraphs 135 -145). 

132. Much of the information described in Chapter 3 on the identities and 

interests of local communities is applicable to urban areas. There are 

parishes in parts of some large cities or unitary authorities, as well as 

a number of parishes in the metropolitan boroughs of the larger 

conurbations. Some of these parishes have been created under the 

Local Government and Rating Act 1997 Act, but in most metropolitan 

boroughs these are on the more sparsely populated peripheries (the 

originals having been transferred, as part of former rural districts, to 

the metropolitan counties in 1974). 

133. The lower population limits and grouping mentioned above are more 

relevant to rural areas than to urban areas, although both are 

applicable in law. The general rule is that the parish is based on an 

area which reflects community identity and interest and which is 

viable as an administrative unit. In urban areas this may mean, for 

example, that a parish should be based on a housing estate rather 

than on the town within which the estate lies. The larger the town, the 

greater will be the scope for identification of distinct communities 

within it. 

Page 190



Guidance on community governance reviews 38

Charter trustee areas 

134. Charter trustees were established following the local government 

reorganisations in the early 1970s and 1990s to preserve the historic 

identity of former boroughs or cities, most with relatively large 

populations. To this end, charter trustees have the power to carry out 

ceremonial functions. They were not intended to act as administrative 

units. Proposals to create a parish or parish council covering all or 

part of a charter trustee area need to be judged in particular against 

the following considerations: 

a) the effect on the historic cohesiveness of the area 

b) what are the other community interests in the area? Is there a 

demonstrable sense of community identity encompassing the 

charter trustee area? Are there smaller areas within it which have 

a demonstrable community identity and which would be viable as 

administrative units? 

135. These issues need to be taken into account in those areas with certain 

cities or boroughs which will be affected by any consequent 

reorganisation from the structural and boundary changes in the 2007 

Act.

Other (non-parish) forms of community governance 

136. In conducting a community governance review, principal councils 

must consider other forms of community governance as alternatives 

or stages towards establishing parish councils. Section 93(5) of the 

2007 Act states that “In deciding what recommendations to make [in 

the community governance review] the principal council must take 

into account any other arrangements… that have already been made 

or that could be made for the purposes of community representation 

or community engagement in respect of the area under review”. The 

following paragraphs consider other types of viable community 

representation which may be more appropriate to some areas than 

parish councils, or may provide stages building towards the creation 

of a parish council. There is sometimes evidence locally of an existing 

community governance infrastructure and of good practice which are 

successfully creating opportunities for engagement, empowerment 

and co-ordination in local communities.

137. However, what sets parish councils apart from other kinds of 

governance is the fact they are a democratically elected tier of local 

government, independent of other council tiers and budgets, and 

possess specific powers. This is an important distinction to make. 

Parish councils are the foundation stones for other levels of local 

government in England. Their directly elected parish councillors 

Page 191



Section 4 Other aspects of community governance reviews 39

represent local communities in a way that other bodies, however 

worthy, cannot since such organisations do not have representatives 

directly elected to those bodies.  

138. The 2006 white paper recommended that local communities should 

be able to take more responsibilities for local issues affecting their 

area. Key to this approach is community empowerment, and the 

ability of various existing organisations themselves to see through 

specific projects to tackle local issues. Structures such as local 

residents’ associations, community or neighbourhood forums and 

area committees have an important role to play in local community 

governance. 

139. At the neighbourhood level, there are various initiatives in existence, 

which through being representative and accountable can effectively 

empower local people. They have varying degrees of power and 

influence, and commensurate levels of transparency and 

accountability.

Area committees 

140. Area committees are part of the structure of some principal councils 

(e.g. district, unitary and London borough), where they choose to 

have them. Area committees are a key initiative for enabling local 

government to fulfil community governance roles and also to deliver 

government policy on issues affecting social inclusion in local 

communities. Principal councils also provide resources for area 

committees, and their councillors are commonly integral to their 

constitution. Area committees can cover large areas and exist to 

advise or make decisions on specific responsibilities that can include 

parks, off-street parking, public toilets, street cleaning, abandoned 

vehicles and planning applications amongst others. Also, more 

widely, they contribute to shaping council services and improving 

local service provision. 

Neighbourhood management 

141. Neighbourhood management programmes are similarly set up by 

principal councils and may be led by one of a number of bodies. The 

expansion of neighbourhood management was promoted in the 2006 

White Paper as a tool to enable local authorities to deliver more 

responsive services through their empowerment of citizens and 

communities. Their purpose is to create the opportunity for residents to 

work with local agencies, usually facilitated by a neighbourhood 

manager, to improve services at the neighbourhood level.  

Page 192



Guidance on community governance reviews 40

142. Neighbourhood management arrangements aim to improve ‘quality of 

life’ through implementation of (rather than advising or making 

decisions on) better management of local environment, increasing 

community safety, improving housing stock, working with young 

people, and encouraging employment opportunities, supported 

strategically by relevant stakeholders and Local Strategic 

Partnerships. They tend to cover smaller populations than area 

committees. The 2006 white paper recommends that take up of 

neighbourhood management should be encouraged and that 

Government should work with local authorities pioneering the 

approach, to raise the profile of achievements and promote adoption 

elsewhere.

Tenant management organisations 

143. The 2006 white paper makes a series of proposals that facilitate the 

empowerment of residents through tenant management organisations 

(TMOs). Tenant management organisations are established by the 

local housing authority; they usually function on urban housing 

estates and can take responsibility for housing services (such as 

collecting rents and service charges and organising repairs and 

maintenance) from the local housing authority under the Housing 

(Right to Manage) (England) Regulations 2008. The 2006 white paper 

promoted the role of TMOs and recommended simplifying and 

extending their scope; enabling them to take on additional services 

and undertake further representation of residents within 

neighbourhoods. A TMO is an independent legal body and usually 

elects a tenant-led management committee to the organisation; they 

can also enter into a legal management agreement with landlords. 

Area/community forums 

144. Area or community forums (including civic forums) can be set up by 

the principal council, or created by local residents to act as a 

mechanism to give communities a say on principal council matters or 

local issues. Sometimes forums are set up to comment on a specific 

project or initiative that will impact upon the local area, and so may be 

time-limited. They increase participation and consultation, aiming to 

influence decision making, rather than having powers to implement 

services. They vary in size, purpose and impact, but membership 

usually consists of people working or living in a specific area. Some 

forums also include ward councillors, and representatives from the 

council and relevant stakeholders can attend meetings.

Page 193



Section 4 Other aspects of community governance reviews 41

Residents’ and tenants’ associations 

145. Residents’ and tenants’ associations enable local people to 

participate in local issues affecting their neighbourhood or housing 

estate, including the upkeep of the local environment, crime, 

sometimes dealing with anti-social behaviour matters, or on some 

estates, housing management. They can be set up by any group of 

people living in the same area and can choose who members will be; 

how they will be represented and what they want to achieve. In the 

case of tenants’ and residents’ associations on estates, they may be 

established with direct support from the principal council, as a 

mechanism for communicating with the tenants and residents on its 

estates. To engage effectively with other organisations, residents’ and 

tenants’ associations must be able to show that they are accountable 

and represent the views of the whole community, rather than narrow 

self interests of just a few local people. 

Community associations 

146. Community associations offer a particular and widespread democratic 

model for local residents and local community-based organisations in 

a defined neighbourhood to work together for the benefit of that 

neighbourhood. They can use a model constitution registered with the 

Charity Commission. The principal council may also be represented 

on the association’s committee. They usually manage a community 

centre as a base for their activities. Membership is open to everyone 

resident in the area. 

Page 194



Guidance on community governance reviews 42

Section 5: Electoral arrangements

Introduction 

147. The purpose of a review undertaken by a principal council, or a 

petition from the electorate, is likely primarily to concern the 

administrative boundaries of a new or existing parish. As discussed 

earlier (Chapter 2), this might be in the light of growth from within an 

existing parish or a locally identified need for a new form of 

community governance. However, in addition to these primary 

concerns, principal authorities will also need to consider the 

governance of new or altered parishes. The principal council must 

have regard to the need for community governance within the area 

under review to reflect the identities and interests of the community in 

that area, and to ensure that the governance is effective and 

convenient. Further information on electoral arrangements is 

available from the LGBCE’s website www.LGBCE.org.uk

What are electoral arrangements? 

148. Electoral arrangements in relation to an existing or proposed parish 

council are defined in the 2007 Act and are explained in detail below: 

a) ordinary year of election – the year in which ordinary elections of 

parish councillors are to be held 

b) council size – the number of councillors to be elected to the 

council, or (in the case of a common council) the number of 

councillors to be elected to the council by local electors in each 

parish

c) parish warding – whether the parish should be divided into wards 

for the purpose of electing councillors. This includes considering 

the number and boundaries of any such wards, the number of 

councillors to be elected for any such ward and the name of any 

such ward 

Ordinary year of election 

149. Ordinary parish elections are held once every four years with all 

councillors being elected at the same time. The standard parish 

electoral cycle is for elections in 2011, 2015 and every four years 

after 2015, but parish elections may be held in other years so that 

they can coincide with elections in associated district or London 

borough wards or county divisions and share costs. For example, all 

London borough ward elections take place in 2010, 2014 and so on. 

We would therefore expect parish elections in London to take place in 

these years. 

Page 195



Section 5 Electoral arrangements 43

150. New or revised parish electoral arrangements come into force at 

ordinary parish elections, rather than parish by-elections, so they 

usually have to wait until the next scheduled parish elections. They can 

come into force sooner only if the terms of office of sitting parish 

councillors are cut so that earlier parish elections may be held for 

terms of office which depend on whether the parish is to return to its 

normal year of election. 

151. For example, a parish that had elections in 2007 could wait until its 

next scheduled elections in 2011 for new parish wards to come into 

force. Alternatively, the new parish wards could have come into force 

at elections in 2009 if the terms of office of the councillors elected in 

2007 were cut to two years. If the elections in 2009 were for two-year 

terms of office then the parish council could return to its normal 

electoral cycle in 2011.  

152. Alternatively, if new or revised parish electoral arrangements are to 

be implemented in the third year of sitting councillors’ term of office, 

provision can be made to cut short the term of office of existing 

councillors to three years.  Elections could then take place with all 

councillors serving a five-year term of office, enabling the parish to 

return to its normal year of election. 

Council size 

153. Council size is the term used to describe the number of councillors to be 

elected to the whole council. The 1972 Act, as amended, specifies that 

each parish council must have at least five councillors; there is no 

maximum number. There are no rules relating to the allocation of those 

councillors between parish wards but each parish ward, and each parish 

grouped under a common parish council, must have at least one parish 

councillor.

154. In practice, there is a wide variation of council size between parish 

councils. That variation appears to be influenced by population. 

Research by the Aston Business School Parish and Town Councils in 

England (HMSO, 1992), found that the typical parish council 

representing less than 500 people had between five and eight 

councillors; those between 501 and 2,500 had six to 12 councillors; 

and those between 2,501 and 10,000 had nine to 16 councillors. Most 

parish councils with a population of between 10,001 and 20,000 had 

between 13 and 27 councillors, while almost all councils representing 

a population of over 20,000 had between 13 and 31 councillors. 

155. The LGBCE has no reason to believe that this pattern of council size 

to population has altered significantly since the research was 

Page 196



Guidance on community governance reviews 44

conducted. Although not an exact match, it broadly reflects the 

council size range set out in the National Association of Local 

Councils Circular 1126; the Circular suggested that the minimum 

number of councillors for any parish should be seven and the 

maximum 25. 

156. In considering the issue of council size, the LGBCE is of the view that 

each area should be considered on its own merits, having regard to 

its population, geography and the pattern of communities. 

Nevertheless, having regard to the current powers of parish councils, 

it should consider the broad pattern of existing council sizes. This 

pattern appears to have stood the test of time and, in the absence of 

evidence to the contrary, to have provided for effective and 

convenient local government. 

157. Principal councils should also bear in mind that the conduct of parish 

council business does not usually require a large body of councillors. 

In addition, historically many parish councils, particularly smaller 

ones, have found difficulty in attracting sufficient candidates to stand 

for election. This has led to uncontested elections and/or a need to 

co-opt members in order to fill vacancies. However, a parish council’s 

budget and planned or actual level of service provision may also be 

important factors in reaching conclusions on council size. 

Parish warding 

158. Parish warding should be considered as part of a community 

governance review. Parish warding is the division of a parish into 

wards for the purpose of electing councillors. This includes the 

number and boundaries of any wards, the number of councillors to be 

elected for any ward and the names of wards. 

159. In considering whether or not a parish should be divided into wards, 

the 2007 Act requires that consideration be given to whether: 

a) the number, or distribution of the local government electors for the 

parish would make a single election of councillors impracticable or 

inconvenient; and 

b) it is desirable that any area or areas of the parish should be 

separately represented 

160. Accordingly, principal councils should consider not only the size of the 

electorate in the area but also the distribution of communities within it. 

The warding of parishes in largely rural areas that are based 

predominantly on a single centrally-located village may not be 

justified. Conversely, warding may be appropriate where the parish 

Page 197



Section 5 Electoral arrangements 45

encompasses a number of villages with separate identities, a village 

with a large rural hinterland or where, on the edges of towns, there 

has been some urban overspill into the parish. However, each case 

should be considered on its merits, and on the basis of the 

information and evidence provided during the course of the review. 

161. There is likely to be a stronger case for the warding of urban 

parishes, unless they have particularly low electorates or are based 

on a particular locality. In urban areas community identity tends to 

focus on a locality, whether this be a housing estate, a shopping 

centre or community facilities. Each locality is likely to have its own 

sense of identity. Again, principal councils should consider each case 

on its merits having regard to information and evidence generated 

during the review. (See also under Chapter 3, paragraphs 54 to 60).

The number and boundaries of parish wards 

162. In reaching conclusions on the boundaries between parish wards the 

principal council should take account of community identity and 

interests in the area, and consider whether any particular ties or 

linkages might be broken by the drawing of particular ward 

boundaries. Principal councils should seek views on such matters 

during the course of a review. They will, however, be mindful that 

proposals which are intended to reflect community identity and local 

linkages should be justified in terms of sound and demonstrable 

evidence of those identities and linkages. 

163. The principal council should also consider the desirability of parish 

warding in circumstances where the parish is divided by district or 

London borough ward and/or county division boundaries. It should be 

mindful of the provisions of Schedule 2 (electoral change in England: 

considerations on review) to the Local Democracy, Economic 

Development and Construction Act 2009 in relation to reviews of 

district or London borough and county council electoral 

arrangements. These provide that when the LGBCE is making 

changes to principal council electoral arrangements, no unwarded 

parish should be divided by a district or London borough ward or 

county division boundary, and that no parish ward should be split by 

such a boundary. While these provisions do not apply to reviews of 

parish electoral arrangements, the LGBCE believes that, in the 

interests of effective and convenient local government, they are 

relevant considerations for principal councils to take into account 

when undertaking community governance reviews. For example, if a 

principal council chooses to establish a new parish in an area which 

is covered by two or more district or London borough wards or county 

division boundaries it may also wish to consider the merit of putting 

Page 198



Guidance on community governance reviews 46

parish warding in place to reflect that ward and/or division.

164. When considering parish ward boundaries principal councils should 

ensure they consider the desirability of fixing boundaries which are, 

and will remain, easily identifiable, as well as taking into account any 

local ties which will be broken by the fixing of any particular 

boundaries.  

The number of councillors to be elected for parish wards 

165. If a principal council decides that a parish should be warded, it should 

give consideration to the levels of representation between each ward. 

That is to say, the number of councillors to be elected from each ward 

and the number of electors they represent. 

166. It is an important democratic principle that each person’s vote should 

be of equal weight so far as possible, having regard to other 

legitimate competing factors, when it comes to the election of 

councillors. There is no provision in legislation that each parish 

councillor should represent, as nearly as may be, the same number of 

electors. However, the LGBCE believes it is not in the interests of 

effective and convenient local government, either for voters or 

councillors, to have significant differences in levels of representation 

between different parish wards. Such variations could make it difficult, 

in workload terms, for councillors to adequately represent the 

interests of residents. There is also a risk that where one or more 

wards of a parish are over-represented by councillors, the residents 

of those wards (and their councillors) could be perceived as having 

more influence than others on the council. 

167. The LGBCE offers no specific guidelines for what might constitute 

significant differences in levels of representation; each case will need 

to be considered on its merits. Principal councils should be mindful 

that, for the most part, parish wards are likely to be significantly 

smaller than district or London borough wards. As a consequence, 

imbalances expressed in percentage terms may be misleading, 

disguising the fact that high variations between the number of 

electors per councillor could be caused by only a few dozen electors.  

168. Where a community governance review recommends that two or 

more parishes should be grouped under a common parish council, 

then the principal council must take into account the same 

considerations when considering the number of councillors to be 

elected by each parish within the group.  

Page 199



Section 5 Electoral arrangements 47

Names of parish wards 

169. In considering the names of parish wards, the principal council should 

give some thought to existing local or historic places so that, where 

appropriate, these are reflected and there should be a presumption in 

favour of ward names proposed by local interested parties.  

Electorate forecasts 

170. When considering the electoral arrangements for a parish, whether it 

is warded or not, the principal council must also consider any change 

in the number or distribution of the electors which is likely to occur in 

the period of five years beginning with the day when the review starts. 

The most recent electoral register should be used to gain an accurate 

figure for the existing electorate. Planning assumptions and likely 

growth within the area, based on planning permissions granted, local 

plans or, where they are in place, local development frameworks 

should be used to project an accurate five year electorate forecast. 

This ensures that the review does not simply reflect a single moment 

but takes account of expected population movements in the short- to 

medium-term.

171. Electorate forecasts should be made available to all interested parties 

as early as possible in the review process, ideally before the formal 

commencement of the review so that they are available to all who 

may wish to make representations. 

Consent/protected electoral arrangements 

172. If, as part of a community governance review, a principal council 

wishes to alter the electoral arrangements for a parish whose existing 

electoral arrangements were put in place within the previous five 

years by an order made either by the Secretary of State, the Electoral 

Commission, or the LGBCE, the consent of the LGBCE is required. 

This includes proposals to change the names of parish wards. 

173. The principal council must write to the LGBCE detailing its proposal 

and requesting consent. The LGBCE will consider the request and 

will seek to ensure that the proposals do not conflict with the original 

recommendations of the electoral review, and that they are fair and 

reasonable.

174. Where a request for consent is made to the LGBCE, it will expect to 

receive evidence that the principal council has consulted with electors 

in the relevant parish(es) as part of the community governance review 

and will wish to receive details of the outcome of that review.

175. For changes to the number or boundaries of parish wards, the 

Page 200



Guidance on community governance reviews 48

principal council will also need to provide the LGBCE with an existing 

and five-year forecast of electors in the parish(es) affected. Five-year 

forecasts should be accurate from the day that the review began. 

Both existing and forecast figures should be provided for the existing 

parish (and parish wards where relevant) and the proposed parish 

(and parish wards where relevant).

176. If the LGBCE consents to the changes it will inform the principal 

council which can then implement the proposed changes by local 

order. No LGBCE order is required. Conversely, if the LGBCE 

declines to give consent, no local order may be made by the local 

authority until the five-year period has expired. 

Page 201



Section 6 Consequential recommendations for related alterations to the boundaries of principal council’s 
wards and/or divisions

49

Section 6: Consequential recommendations for 
related alterations to the boundaries of principal 
council’s wards and/or divisions 

177. As part of a community governance review, principal councils may 

wish to consider whether to request the LGBCE to make changes to 

the boundaries of district or London borough wards or county 

divisions to reflect the changes made at parish level. 

178. There are three instances when a principal council may wish to 

consider related alterations to the boundaries of wards or divisions 

following:

 the creation, alteration or abolition of a parish 

 the establishment of new or altered parish ward boundaries 

 a grouping or de-grouping of parishes 

179. In the interests of maintaining coterminosity between the boundaries 

of principal authority electoral areas and the boundaries of parishes 

and parish wards, principal councils may wish to consider as part of a 

community governance review whether to make consequential 

recommendations to the LGBCE for related alterations to the 

boundaries of any affected district or London borough wards and/or 

county divisions. The Commission may agree to make related 

alterations to ensure coterminosity between the new parish boundary 

and the related ward and/or division boundary. If so, the Commission 

will make an order to implement the related alterations. The 

Commission will not normally look to move ward or division 

boundaries onto new parish ward boundaries. However, it will 

consider each proposal on its merits. 

180. In addition, when making a recommendation to group or de-group 

parishes, (see paragraph 108 to 111 for more details) the principal 

council may make a request to the LGBCE to make a related 

alteration of district or London borough ward or county division 

boundaries. For example, if a principal council decided to add an 

additional parish to a group it may wish to recommend that all of the 

parishes be included in the same district or London borough ward 

and/or county division. Recommendations for related alterations 

should be directly consequential upon changes made as part of a 

community governance review. 

181. It will be for the LGBCE to decide, following the receipt of proposals, if 

Page 202



Guidance on community governance reviews 50

a related alteration should be made and when it should be 

implemented. Only the LGBCE can make an order implementing any 

alterations to the district or London borough ward or county division 

boundary. No order will be made to implement related alterations until 

the order changing the boundary of the relevant parish(es) or parish 

ward(s), or the order grouping or de-grouping parishes, has been 

made. Rather than make related alterations that would create 

detached wards or divisions or that would have a disproportionate 

impact on ward or division electoral equality, the LGBCE may decide 

to programme an electoral review of the principal council area. 

182. If, in liaison with the district or London borough council and/or the 

county council, the LGBCE decides to make related alterations to 

ward and/or division boundaries at a different time, it will consider 

whether there would be any adverse effects for local people in the 

holding of elections while the boundaries are not coterminous. 

However, changes to wards and divisions come into force at district 

or London borough and county ordinary elections in the electoral 

areas on either side of the electoral boundary change, so a period of 

non-coterminosity until the scheduled parish, district or London 

borough and county elections have taken place may be preferable to 

unscheduled elections. Unscheduled elections will be necessary to 

bring into force changes between adjacent parishes or wards whose 

scheduled elections never normally coincide. 

183. In two-tier areas, district councils are advised to seek the views of the 

county council in relation to related alterations to division boundaries. 

184. A principal council may decide that it does not wish to propose related 

alterations to ward or division boundaries. Where this results in 

boundaries no longer being coterminous, principal councils will need 

to be satisfied that the identities and interests of local communities 

are still reflected and that effective and convenient local government 

will be secured. Principal councils will also wish to consider the 

practical consequences, for example for polling district reviews, of 

having electors voting in parish council elections with one community 

but with a different community for district or London borough and/or 

county elections. 

185. Where proposals for related alterations are submitted to the LGBCE, 

it will expect to receive evidence that the principal council has 

consulted on them as part of a community governance review and the 

details of the outcome of that review. Principal councils may wish to 

undertake this consultation at the same time as they consult on 

proposals to alter the boundaries of parishes or establish new 

parishes. They must complete the community governance review, 

Page 203



Section 6 Consequential recommendations for related alterations to the boundaries of principal council’s 
wards and/or divisions

51

including making any consequential recommendations to the LGBCE 

for related alterations, within a period of one year.  Sufficient time 

should be given to the LGBCE to consider the proposals in advance 

of the election year in which the principal council proposes they be 

implemented.    

186. The principal council will need to take into account the number of 

registered electors in any district or London borough ward or county 

division affected when the review starts, and a forecast of the number 

of electors expected to be in the areas within five years, and provide 

this information to the LGBCE. This information should be used to 

establish a total electorate figure for each district or London borough 

ward and/or county division affected by the recommendations, both 

for the current electorate and for expected electorate five years after 

the start of the review. These totals should also be provided to the 

LGBCE.

187. When submitting proposals to the LGBCE the principal council should 

illustrate the proposed changes on maps of a suitable scale, using 

different coloured lines and suitable keys to illustrate the required 

changes.

188. If the LGBCE decides not to implement the proposed related 

alterations, then the existing ward and/or division boundaries will 

remain in force. The LGBCE has no power to modify any 

recommendations submitted to it; it may only implement or reject the 

recommendations.

189. In most cases, related alterations to district or London borough ward 

and/or county division boundaries tend to be fairly minor in nature and 

simply tie the ward and/or division boundary to the affected parish 

boundary. However, if an authority has altered several parish and/or 

parish ward boundaries and proposes several related alterations to 

district or London borough ward and/or county division boundaries, 

the cumulative effect of these could affect electoral equality at district 

or London borough and/or county level. This could be particularly 

acute if a number of parishes were transferred between district or 

London borough wards or county divisions to reflect grouped 

parishes. In such circumstances, the LGBCE will wish to consider 

conducting an electoral review of the principal council area or an 

electoral review of a specified area within it.  The timing of such 

reviews would be dependent on the LGBCE's review programme 

commitments.

Page 204



Department for Communities and Local Government

© Crown Copyright, March 2010 

ISBN: 978 1 4098 2421 3 

Page 205



Page 206



Page 207



Page 208



Page 209



Page 210



Page 211



Page 212



Page 213



Page 214



Page 215



Page 216



Page 217



Page 218



Page 219



Page 220



 

   

$agbve0xx Page 1 of 21 Last updated 14 March 2017 

 

 

Cheltenham Borough Council 

Cabinet – 7th March, 2017 

Council – 27th March, 2017 

Progress update regarding the new crematorium project including 
business case decisions regarding access road and second 

chapel option 

 

Accountable member Cllr Chris Coleman, Cabinet Member for Clean and Green Environment 

Accountable officer Mike Redman, Director of Environment 

Ward(s) affected All 

Key/Significant 
Decision 

Yes 

Executive summary This report provides an update on the development of Cheltenham’s 
new crematorium as it moves through its design stage. 

It is proposed that a permanent exit route from the new facility is built 
immediately to the south of the cemetery emerging onto Bouncers 
Lane and that this is included within the planning application, which is 
timetabled for submission in April/May. 

It is also proposed that a second new chapel is built as an integral part 
of the development of the facility. 

A further round of public consultation is taking place, including a 
staffed event at the Municipal Offices to which all members have been 
invited. An update on the results of this consultation will be available 
to help inform decision-making on 7th March, with a particular focus 
on the second chapel option, proposed road and construction access 
issues. 

Recommendations Cabinet is recommended to: 

1. Approve the approach to providing public access to and from 
the new crematorium, including the development, subject to 
planning consent, of a new permanent road linking the new 
facility to Bouncer’s Lane (See option ‘Route B’ at Appendix 2); 

2. Approve the appropriation of land on prior’s farm playing field 
from use as open space to cemetery use and delegate authority 
to the Head of Property and Asset Management to carry out the 
appropriation should planning permission for the development 
of the crematorium and access road be granted; 

3. Note that a temporary route for construction traffic leading to 
the new crematorium will be required, with the preferred route 
to be informed by professional advice and the results of public 

Agenda Item 14
Page 221



 

   

$agbve0xx Page 2 of 21 Last updated 14 March 2017 

 

consultation, provided in a supplementary update; 

4. Approve, subject to Council agreeing the additional project 
budget, the construction of a second chapel in conjunction with 
the new crematorium. 

5. Agrees to programme further work to review the options for 
repurposing the existing chapels and how the associated costs 
can be further mitigated to improve scheme viability. 

Cabinet recommends that Council: 

6. Allocates the budget for the construction of a second new 
chapel, including the use of the capital receipt of £275,000 from 
the sale of the cemetery lodge and £373,000 from the revenue 
budget reserve arising from the introduction of new 
crematorium fees in 2017-18, with the balance of £352,000 being 
supported by prudential borrowing. 

 

Financial implications A range of financial models have been drawn up to compare the financial 
return, the total cost and the impact on the medium term financial strategy 
for the options surrounding the use of the existing chapels and the 
proposed 2nd new chapel. 

The financial implications are detailed throughout this report. In summary, 
the proposed option for the construction of a second chapel, whilst 
temporarily mothballing the existing chapel, pending consideration of its 
future use, will incur capital costs of £1million.  

The proposed funding will be from the use of £275k capital receipts, £373k 
use of reserves and Public Works Loan Board borrowing of £352k.  
Members will need to take account of how these funding arrangements 
represent a loss of opportunity to fund other schemes going forward. 

The business case has been prepared over 25 years, generating an 
internal rate of return of 4.5% and total additional revenue income of 
£2.6m over this period.  However, this assumes an increase in the volume 
of activity from 2027 onwards, as per the expected growth in the local 
population and age profile.  The risk of this growth not being achieved is 
detailed in Section 7 and the Risk Appendix 1 to this report. 

When taking into account the additional costs and savings from this 
proposal, although there is a positive impact on the Medium Term 
Financial Strategy over a 25 year period, there is a deficit impact over the 
first 9 years, totalling £283k, prior to the expected increase in demand in 
year 10 of the business case. However, a small increase in fees from 
2018-19 onwards will offset this shortfall, as shown in Appendix 4. 

Contact officer:  Sarah Didcote,                
sarah.didcote@cheltenham.gov.uk, 01242 264125 

Page 222



 

   

$agbve0xx Page 3 of 21 Last updated 14 March 2017 

 

Legal implications The Authority owns the land upon which it is proposed to build the new 
crematorium and associated car parking. The land on which the 
crematorium will be constructed lies within the administrative area of 
Tewkesbury Borough Council. 
 
By virtue of Sections 214(1) and (3) of the Local Government Act 1972 and 
Section 4 of the Crematorium Act 1902, the Authority has the power to 
build and operate a crematorium outside of its own administrative area. 
The Authority is complying with its obligations under the Public Contract 
Regulations 2015 by accessing a framework to engage with project 
managers, Pick Everard and build contractors Willmott Dixon to work up 
designs for the new crematorium prior to a build contract being entered 
into. 
 
The framework being accessed (the SCAPE framework) expires on 7 May 
2017 and the Authority is able to enter into a build contract with Willmottt 
Dixon up to that date. If this deadline is not achieved, whilst the Authority 
may join the new framework issued by SCAPE, there is no guarantee that 
Willmottt Dixon will be on the new SCAPE framework or that the prices 
fixed by the current framework will remain the same. Therefore, many of 
the costs incurred to date could be abortive costs if the authority has to 
contract with a different contractor either through the new SCAPE 
framework or another procurement route. 
 
The land on which the Authority wishes to construct a permanent access 
to the new crematorium is open space used for the purposes of public 
recreation. The Authority is therefore required to appropriate the land 
under Section 122(1) Local Government Act 1972 to change the use of the 
land from open space to cemetery use. This section requires that the land 
is no longer needed for recreational purposes. Case law has held that this 
does not mean that the land has to have fallen into disuse; the Authority is 
entitled to strike the balance between comparative local interests; between 
the need for one land use over another, taking account of  wider 
community interests. Therefore, when deciding whether or not to 
appropriate the land, Cabinet will need to first consider the interests of the 
users of Priors Farm Playing Field and the current and future users of the 
Crematorium, together with the need for the access to be provided on land 
currently used for public recreation.  
 
S122(2) Local Government Act 1972 required the Authority to cause notice 
of its intention to appropriate the land to be advertised in two consecutive 
weeks in a local newspaper and to consider any objections to the 
proposed appropriation. Notices were placed in the Gloucestershire Echo 
on 12th and 19th January 2017, with a 3 week period within which to make 
objections. No responses were received to these notices. However, 
representations have been received in relation to the outline planning 
application for potential access roads. Whilst these objections are not 
directly related to the issue of appropriation of the public open space, 
Cabinet should take these into account when making its decision about the 
appropriation. The representations are set out in Appendix 5. 
 
 
 

Page 223



 

   

$agbve0xx Page 4 of 21 Last updated 14 March 2017 

 

  Part of the land at the cemetery, including the North chapel is consecrated 
ground. Advice has been given to officers that should the intention be to 
use this land for secular use, it needs to be either deconsecrated or 
consent obtained for the proposed use. Further enquiries regarding this 
issue will need to be made with the Bishop of Gloucester. 
 

When considering potential uses for the existing chapels, the Authority will 
need to comply with and have regard to the provisions of the Local 
Authorities Cemeteries Order 1977. Advice has been given to officers 
about the provisions of the Order. 

Contact officer:  Donna Ruck, donna.ruck@tewkesbury.gov.uk, 01684 
272696 

HR implications 
(including learning and 
organisational 
development)  

There are no immediate HR implications arising from the content of this 
report however, should the decision to construct a second chapel proceed 
then a review of operational staffing levels will be required once the 
building is completed.   

Contact officer:  Julie McCarthy,   
julie.mccarthy@cheltenham.gov.uk, 01242 264355 

Key risks Business case assumptions are set out at section 7 and key risks are set 
out at Appendix 1. 

The project to deliver a new crematorium is primarily driven by the need to 
replace the existing two cremators, which have a limited lifespan and are 
currently giving rise to significant maintenance and business continuity 
concerns. 

The development project has a detailed risk register which currently 
contains 34 risks and mitigating actions, which are subject to regular 
review. There is a further risk register relating to the safety and business 
continuity of the existing crematorium, which also helps evidence the need 
for a new facility. 

The new build crematorium is viewed as the primary means by which the 
Council will stabilise and improve upon its current bereavement services 
offer, providing a more financially sustainable commercial operation which 
better aligns to the needs of our customers.  

A second new chapel would provide customers with the same advantages 
as those for the new main chapel, but it would add cost that is unlikely to 
significantly increase income. There is also a risk that the existing chapels 
could remain vacant for some time, whilst proposals for repurposing them 
are refined. The effect of this risks putting additional financial pressure on 
the medium term financial strategy (MTFS). 

 

Page 224



 

   

$agbve0xx Page 5 of 21 Last updated 14 March 2017 

 

Corporate and 
community plan 
Implications 

The new crematorium will help to underpin the continuation of the 
Council’s bereavement service and contribute to the following high level 
objectives:- 

• Cheltenham's environmental quality and heritage is protected, 
maintained and enhanced.  

• Transform our Council so it can continue to enable delivery of our 
outcomes for Cheltenham and its residents.  

Whilst the provision of a cremation service is discretionary, there is 
insufficient capacity within the catchment area of our current facility to 
cater for demand were it to close.  

The Council has run this service successfully for very many years and our 
experience and level of customer satisfaction is such that there is 
considerable community support for the authority continuing to do so. 

Environmental and 
climate change 
implications 

The Council currently pays around £53k per annum into a national scheme 
called CAMEO which helps to offset the impact of mercury emissions from 
our current cremation plant. The proposed new facility will have mercury 
abatement plant which will minimise our emissions and remove the need 
for the authority to pay into the CAMEO scheme. Indeed, this may even 
generate a cash return from CAMEO based on our mercury abatements in 
respect of the proposed new plant. 

It is also anticipated that the new gas cremators will be significantly more 
efficient than those we currently use, reducing our carbon emissions. 

Property/Asset 
Implications 

If the delivery of a second new chapel is to be considered, it should be 
predicated on the financial viability and income generation forecasts for a 
new use of the existing facility, or there is a risk that the existing chapel 
buildings which are Grade II listed will remain vacant for an extended 
period.  
 
This issue is addressed under recommendation 5. 
 

Contact officer: David.Roberts@cheltenham.gov.uk, 01242 264151 

Page 225



 

   

$agbve0xx Page 6 of 21 Last updated 14 March 2017 

 

1. Background 

1.1 In September 2015, Cabinet approved the principle of building a new crematorium on Council-
owned land to the east of the current cemetery and in October 2015, Council approved a total 
budget of £7,443,100 for the proposed development. £6,523,000 of this budget is allocated to the 
‘design and build’ phases of the project. 

1.2 Subsequently, a programme team was formed to lead the work and determined that the SCAPE 
Procurement Framework was the best approach for securing contractors. SCAPE is a public 
sector owned organisation which specialises in providing compliant frameworks to public bodies 
in the UK. 

1.3 Using the SCAPE framework, Pick Everard was appointed in April 2016 to provide project 
management and quantity surveying support and in June 2016, Willmottt Dixon was appointed as 
principal contractor. 

1.4 As anticipated in the report brought to Cabinet in November 2016, further decisions are now 
required on important issues. It is imperative that decisions are made in order to maintain the 
programme’s momentum and minimise the period where the service is dependent on the existing 
cremators, which continue to give rise to concerns about their reliability and life expectancy. 

1.5 This report builds on the Cabinet decisions already taken in relation to the project and seeks 
approval for a preferred new access (exit) road for the new facility, a decision about whether to 
build a second new chapel now as part of the development and if so, what use should be made of 
the existing chapel buildings. 

1.6 Consultant advice which informs the rationale for the conclusions and recommendations within 
the report are appended and referenced where appropriate. 

2. Crematorium development options 

2.1 In broad terms, three principal options were considered for taking the project forward, with the 
advantages and disadvantages of each set out on pages 6-7 of the Pick Everard report at 
Appendix 3. 

2.2 The options are as follows:- 

Option A Build one new chapel with two cremators at the new site and use one 
existing chapel 

Option B  Build one new chapel with two cremators at the new site and use one 
existing chapel in the short term, but build a second chapel later 

Option C Build two new chapels now at the new site, identify funding to support 
this and release the existing chapels to enable their deployment for a 
new commercial venture 

 

2.3 Option A is the one which already has Cabinet and Council support in terms of funding and 
Option B was discounted at an early stage, as there would be significant additional costs and 
service impacts in seeking to deliver a second chapel at a later date. In addition to increased 
preliminaries in relation to site set up costs, there would be lost income arising from disruption 
and downtime of the service. Our contractors advised that in practice, services in the new main 
chapel would need to stop for several months. 

Page 226



 

   

$agbve0xx Page 7 of 21 Last updated 14 March 2017 

 

2.4 In the absence of further information, this analysis makes a good argument for Option C, i.e. the 
building of two new chapels now. 

2.5 The report goes on to examine a number of commercial options, including the repurposing of the 
existing chapel buildings and identifies that a number of them would be revenue positive over a 
25 year period. The most favourable options from a financial viewpoint include the provision of 
offices, boutique-style holiday accommodation, or a mix of wake facilities with catering and 
business units. 

2.6 None of the options account for the costs associated with building out the second chapel building. 
If these costs are included, none of the options presents a viable financial case. 

2.7 In appraising options, both financial and non-financial criteria should be considered in assessing 
the investment decision. . The assessment of non-financial criteria has indicated a preference for 
a conversion of the existing chapels to a wake facility with catering and some associated business 
units on the site. 

2.8 This does not of course resolve the financial challenges regarding the funding of such an option, 
which would require up-front investment of £1.0M, representing a major project in its own right, 
with considerable resource implications and risks attaching to it. 

2.9 In view of the Council’s challenging financial situation, including a lack of capital for reinvestment, 
a number of options have been modelled for funding the new second chapel, including some 
which would not involve immediately reinvesting in an option for the reuse of the existing chapel 
buildings. This analysis has identified how the second chapel might be funded, utilising a capital 
receipt from the sale of the cemetery lodge building and income from an early uplift in cremation 
fees to help offset the total borrowing that would otherwise be required. Using this approach to 
funding and the assumptions set out in section 7 below, the project is cash positive over 25 years, 
but has some negative impact on the MTFS in years one to nine. This impact is modest and it 
would only take a small fee increase to cover the extra costs profiled in the early years.  

2.10 However, Cabinet should note that it does not allow for the foregone opportunity cost of using 
internal capital and revenue resources to part fund the option. This is because the suggestion is 
that £275,000 is funded from the receipt from the sale of the cemetery lodge (an asset which was 
previously aligned to the service) and that £373,000 is funded from income from increased 
cremation fees which will be received before the Council draws down the PWLB loan for the main 
scheme.  

2.11 Based on the Pick Everard option analysis and the accountancy analysis at Appendix 4, Cabinet 
is recommended to pursue the delivery of a second chapel now and to undertake further work to 
examine how the costs associated with the development of the existing chapels might be 
managed down to improve scheme viability. Members need to be mindful of the assumptions and 
risks relating to this recommendations as set out in this report. 

3. Budgeted increase in cremation fees 

3.1 The Council’s proposed budget for 2017-18 includes the following in relation to fee increases 
relating to the service:- 

Current cremation fee = £620  

• + £12.40  2% inflation (£620 + 2% = £632.40) 

• + £168.71 to support the new crematorium development (£632.40 + £168.71 = £801) 

• + £26.50 Environmental fee (CAMEO mercury abatement) (£801 + £26.50 = £827.50) 

• + £25 Medical Fees (£827.50 + £25 = £852.50) 
 

Page 227



 

   

$agbve0xx Page 8 of 21 Last updated 14 March 2017 

 

New cremation fee = £852.50 

3.2 Memorial and Burial fees will increase by:- 

• 5% on burial fees – i.e. interment and exclusive rights 

• 2% increase on all other fees. 

3.3 The following benefits will be delivered through the provision of the new facility:- 

• A more reliable and efficient service; 

• More space for larger services; 

• Modern up-to-date flexible facility; 

• Better parking, including disabled provision; 

• Future proofing with equipment to meet modern funeral requirements, including audio-visual 
technology; 

• Pricing comparable to other neighbouring crematoria. 
 
 

4. Access Roads 

4.1 In the work carried out in 2015, the building of an additional permanent egress road through the 
cemetery was proposed to serve the new facility. However, it was identified early on that further 
work would be needed to confirm its feasibility. Also, it was recognised that providing a route for 
construction vehicles through the cemetery would be extremely disruptive and hence a temporary 
haul route to the south of the cemetery was also proposed. 

4.2 Subsequently, following a recommendation by Pick Everard, an investigation of the potential 
access options was commissioned through Willmottt Dixon as part of the feasibility work. 

4.3 The conclusions of the resulting studies are set out at Appendix 2 and have been considered by 
the programme team, resulting in a preferred access route and identified costs which are within 
the original programme estimate, together with a fall-back approach in the event of any show-
stopping risks arising.  

4.4 The preferred egress ‘Route B’ takes the line of a farm track which runs east to west, to the 
immediate south of the existing cemetery site and emerges onto Bouncers Lane at its western 
extremity. 

4.5 Whilst there are risks associated with this option, including potential ecology, archaeology, tree, 
playing field/public open space and ground condition impacts, specialist reports and input from 
planning officers have informed the view that these should be manageable.  

4.6 The proposed ‘inward access’ to the new crematorium would follow existing road routes within the 
site, which may need some upgrading, but represents a relatively low cost and low risk option. 

4.7 An outline planning application (ref: 17/00011/OUT) was submitted to provide public transparency 
about the Council’s likely intentions regarding an egress route across Priors Farm land, which is 
in Council ownership.  

4.8 A range of representations have been received in relation to this undetermined application and 
these are set out at Appendix 5. Cabinet is requested to have regard to these representations in 
considering the recommended option for providing public access to and from the new 
crematorium, including the development and subject to planning consent, a new permanent road 
linking the new facility to Bouncer’s Lane. A plan of the recommended route is also included 
within Appendix 2a page 49. 

Page 228



 

   

$agbve0xx Page 9 of 21 Last updated 14 March 2017 

 

4.9 If the access route through Priors Farm is agreed in conjunction with the planning application for 
the new crematorium, it will be necessary to appropriate some existing Public Open Space for this 
purpose; the necessary advertisement for this has already taken place and no objections were 
received. However, the relevance of representations to the outline planning application set out in 
para 4.8 above should be taken into account in considering recommendation 2 of this report.  

4.10 Cabinet needs to consider the balance of interests between the current users of the land, the 
impact of the proposed development on them and the necessity (or otherwise) to interfere with 
those uses because of the needs of the cemetery and its users.  

4.11 Access route options summary 

Option Advantages Disadvantages Programme Board / Exec 
Board view 

Route A – 
through the 
existing 
memorial 
gardens 

Relatively cheap 
option, primarily 
utilising existing 
roads 

 

Unsatisfactory as 
permanent route due 
to service conflicts 

H&S concerns 

Damaging to 
tranquillity of 
memorial gardens. 

Risk of damage to 
memorials. 

Not suitable for 
construction traffic 
haul route, which 
would still need to be 
provided across 
Priors Farm. 

This is a fall-back option 
which could be used 
temporarily. 

Requires certainty that a 
more permanent route 
would be provided within a 
reasonable timescale (i.e. 
two years). 

Not the most attractive 
option for the project, but 
may be appropriate if 
wider development of 
Priors Farm area 
considered viable. 

Route B – to the 
immediate 
south of the 
cemetery site 

Provides a 
potential 
permanent 
egress route 

Relatively 
discreet route 
adjoining 
boundary of 
existing site  

Services can 
follow road route 

No direct long 
term impact on 
Imjin Road 

Preference of 
ward members 

 

More expensive 
option than following 
existing roads 

Some risk, 
particularly  around 
ecology 

Impacts on 
properties backing 
on to the farm lane 

Recommended egress 
route 

Route C – via 
Imjin Road  

Provides a 
potential 
permanent 
egress route 

Severance of playing 
area and changing 
facilities 

High risk in relation 

Not recommended 

Page 229



 

   

$agbve0xx Page 10 of 21 Last updated 14 March 2017 

 

Would support 
wider potential  
development of 
Priors Farm land 

to site archaeology 

Landscape impact 

Likely to attract most 
resident opposition 

Route D - to the 
south of the 
cemetery site, 
then linking 
with Imjin Rd 

Provides a 
potential 
permanent 
egress route  

Would avoid 
traffic exiting the 
site through Imjin 
Road 

Similar risks to C, but 
with additional costs 
as longer route 

Impacts on 
residential properties 
backing onto Priors 
Farm  

Not recommended 

Route E – via 
Prestbury 
playing field off 
Roberts Road 

Provides a 
potential 
permanent 
egress route  

Shortest route 

Unsuitable road 
access via bridge 
which would need 
replacing 

Unsatisfactory 
narrow approach 
through residential 
area 

Would require 
landowner consent 

Developer has 
advised this option is 
unworkable 

Not recommended 

 

4.12 There will need to be a haul route provided to service construction traffic accessing the new 
crematorium site. This is likely to follow the line of the proposed permanent access (Route B) for 
much of its length, but there are options about where the route links to the existing road system. 
One option is for this to be temporarily accessed via the lower end of Priors road playing field site 
via Imjin Road, or the route could emerge either adjacent to, or at the existing entrance to the 
cemetery site. 

4.13 There are a range of considerations in this respect, including the impact on local residents, 
highway issues and potential conflicts with funerals and other service users of the Bouncers Lane 
cemetery site. This issue forms part of the public consultation regarding the project and will be 
subject to a supplementary update report to Cabinet on 7th March. 

5. Second chapel business case 

5.1 The construction of a second new chapel was outside the scope of the original crematorium build 
programme, but there were enduring concerns that if the construction of a second chapel were to 
take place once the new facility had begun operating, it would be extremely disruptive to the 
service. It was also identified that this approach would have significant service delivery, quality 
and financial implications. In particular, there were considerable operational concerns that splitting 
the operation between the existing and new chapels could have a negative impact on the 
business. Funeral directors have advised that they believe there will be customer concerns about 
moving coffins between buildings which could impact on cremation numbers. 

5.2 The suggestion therefore, was that the scope of the programme should be extended to include 
the creation of a business case to identify whether there were any viable options to help meet the 

Page 230



 

   

$agbve0xx Page 11 of 21 Last updated 14 March 2017 

 

costs of a second new chapel (for example, from a commercial use for the existing chapel 
buildings).  

5.3 In November 2016, Cabinet thus approved the increase in the scope of the programme, to include 
the development of a business case for a second new chapel, in order to identify whether it was a 
financially viable proposition. 

5.4 Cabinet also agreed that a second (optional) new chapel consistent with the main programme’s 
scope would be included in the planning application for the new facility. This maintained the 
option of either partially or fully building out a second new chapel, subject to the viability of the 
business case. 

5.5 When Cabinet originally gave approval for the building of a new crematorium, including a single 
chapel, one of the existing chapels (North) was expected to be retained for small ceremonies. It 
was intended that the scheme would allow scope for future expansion in the medium to long term. 
At that time, initial estimates had shown that the construction of a second new chapel was 
unaffordable at an additional cost of £1.7M. 

5.6 Following Cabinet approval in November 2016, subsequent feasibility and design work has 
incorporated the potential for a second new chapel (with the intention of seeking full planning 
approval for a two chapel design) whilst recognising that the approved scheme allows for only a 
single chapel to be funded and built initially.  

5.7 The continuing feasibility and design work has allowed our contractors to re-estimate the cost of 
the second chapel, on the basis that it is constructed at the same time as the first. Even with due 
allowance for contingency and internal costs, the revised build estimate is £1.0M, considerably 
less (-41%) than the earlier estimate in 2015. 

5.8 The study of the potential business options has been undertaken by Pick Everard and is included 
in this report as Appendix 3. 

5.9 In their study, Pick Everard set out the advantages and disadvantages of using two new chapels 
as opposed to using a single new chapel. They also looked at the option of continuing to operate 
one existing chapel, with the possibility of constructing a second new chapel later. Pick Everard 
also looked at the opportunities for re-purposing the existing chapel buildings and the potential for 
generating a commercial return which might support a second new chapel. Financial modelling 
and an analysis of non-financial benefits were undertaken for the three most viable options: 

1. A wake / café facility with office / retail accommodation for bereavement related 
services; 

2. Serviced offices; 

3. Boutique style visitor accommodation. 

5.10 GOSS Finance has used the analysis from Pick Everard to assess the overall financial impact of 
options, taking account of how the additional investment costs might be funded. The return on 
investment, payback period and impact on the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) have 
been assessed. The results of this analysis are detailed in Appendix 4. 

5.11 The main advantages of constructing a second new chapel along with the first chapel are: 

• Construction will not disrupt the ongoing service. Later construction of an additional chapel will 
likely lead to the first new chapel being out of action for months with a consequent impact on 
mourners and on the Council’s income. As a result, later construction is not thought to be a 
likely scenario in practice. 

Page 231



 

   

$agbve0xx Page 12 of 21 Last updated 14 March 2017 

 

• Construction now will be less costly. Later construction will entail additional start-up costs. 

• Focussing services on one site will simplify the experience of mourners. There will be a single 
set of access routes to and from the crematorium, a single car park and chapels will be 
located close to each other. The likelihood of confusion, for example mourners going to the 
wrong chapel, will be much reduced. 

• Focussing services on one site will lead to operational savings. Bereavement services will not 
need to staff both locations, nor will a vehicle be required to move coffins from the existing 
chapels to the new crematorium (a consequent saving has been estimated in the financial 
modelling). Maintenance costs for two buildings might not need to be met by Bereavement 
Services (assuming a new use is found for the existing buildings) 

• The risk that the transfer of coffins from the existing chapels to the new crematorium leads to 
negative comments and services being moved to other crematoria would be eliminated. 

• Increasing the quality of the construction helps to protect against loss of business to 
competitors and may help to deter new competitors, thus protecting the Council’s revenue 
from the overall service. 

• Delaying construction risks reputational damage, as it is perceived as missing an obvious 
opportunity to improve the service. 

• Both existing chapels will be available for alternative uses from the outset, unfettered by the 
constraint of an operational chapel in the same building. 

• Informal contact with funeral directors suggests that they are in favour of a two chapel 
scheme.  

5.12 The main disadvantages of constructing a second new chapel along with the first chapel are: 

• There is no guarantee that two new chapels will generate any more custom and income than 
one new chapel and one existing chapel; 

• There is a risk that the lack of a traditional chapel option may lead to some services being 
moved to other crematoria; 

• Undertaking the construction of an additional chapel will put additional pressure on the 
Council’s finances and resources.  

5.13 The non-financial advantages of re-purposing the existing chapels depend on the uses to which 
chapels are put. The potential advantages are: 

• Some provision of support for economic growth through the encouragement of small 
businesses; 

• Improving the experience of mourners at the crematorium and cemetery, possibly thereby 
increasing the attraction of the crematorium for holding funeral services (e.g. due to the 
availability of an on-site wake facility); 

• Ensuring the listed buildings have a function and are not left to deteriorate. 

The programme team’s analysis against a number of non-financial criteria suggests that the 
option of a wake / café facility with adjacent office / retail accommodation for bereavement related 
services, is the most favourable. Inevitably, there are a number of risks and uncertainties 
associated with re-purposing, which are detailed in the Pick Everard report. 

Page 232



 

   

$agbve0xx Page 13 of 21 Last updated 14 March 2017 

 

5.14 The conclusions of the financial analysis of constructing a second new chapel and potential re-
purposing of the existing chapels are: 

• The additional capital costs of constructing a second new chapel are approximately £1.0M 
(Willmottt Dixon estimate adjusted to include internal CBC costs) – this cost would add to the 
current budget of £7.4M for the approved project based on a single chapel. 

• The estimated capital costs of re-purposing the existing chapels are £0.94M (Pick Everard 
estimate adjusted to include internal CBC costs). Pick Everard have commented that 
reduction of these costs may be possible if a ‘light touch’ refurbishment is used, but does not 
have confidence in such an approach without more detailed work. This can be revisited at a 
later date and a more detailed assessment of possible uses / disposal options will be 
considered. Given the options work that has been carried out, there is a high degree of 
confidence that a scheme can be achieved which will provide a better than cost neutral future 
for the existing chapels.  

• CBC financial modelling has taken place on 11 options with a variety of assumptions, with the 
preferred option recommended in this report attached at Appendix 4 and subsequent funding 
analysis based on the assumptions set out in Section 7. 

• None of the options for re-purposing the existing chapels has demonstrated a significant 
financial business case for the construction and operation of a second new chapel. 

• The most favourable financial option considered is the construction of a second new chapel, 
whilst not immediately re-purposing the existing chapels; with capital costs funded by the early 
fee increase, use of Cemetery Lodge capital receipt and borrowing; and factoring in 
reasonably projected extra deaths over 25 years. It has a payback period of 12 years, an 
internal rate of return (IRR) of 4.5% and a total return of £2.6M over 25 years. However, it has 
a cumulative negative impact on the MTFS of £283K over the first nine years (from 2019-20), 
Prior to the expected volume increase in accordance with population projections. This impact 
on the MTFS could be offset by the increase in fee charges of £26.50 per cremation, 
representing a permanent environmental fee. This funding is in addition to the funding from 
the capital receipt, PWLB loan and reserves, as detailed above. 

• The main financial risks are uncertainty over the precise borrowing rate; some limited 
uncertainty as to whether the projected increased mortality will materialise (assumptions are 
based on an assessment using national statistical data from OPCS); the risk of competition 
from other operators reducing our income; uncertainty over utility costs and business rates 
treatment for the new facilities. 

5.15 None of the models constitute a favourable return if the options are considered in purely financial 
terms. However, the financial implications of the options need to be weighed against the non-
financial considerations set out above.  

6. Alternative options considered 

6.1 The range of option considered for utilising the existing chapel buildings with a view to assisting 
the funding for the second chapel, is set out in the report by Pick Everard at Appendix 3, with 
further detailed financial assessment undertaken by our accountancy team, as set out at 
Appendix 4. 

6.2 Alternative access road options are set out in the report and subsequent update from our 
consultants WSP, which form Appendix 2 to this report. 

 

Page 233



 

   

$agbve0xx Page 14 of 21 Last updated 14 March 2017 

 

7. Assumptions in relation to recommended option 

7.1 There are a number of key assumptions which generate associated risks in relation to the 
recommendation to build out a second chapel now.  

7.2 The table below sets out the key assumptions, together with the risks which are further assessed 
within Appendix 1 against the Council’s corporate risk score card. Cabinet is advised to have 
regard to the reasonableness of these assumptions in determining whether or not to accept the 
report recommendations. 

Key assumptions Sensitivity considerations Key risks 

That the base demand for cremations is 
assumed to be 1,900 per annum, but 
this figure is itself subject to annual 
fluctuations. 

In most recent years, cremations have 
exceeded 2,000, providing some 
resilience within the business case, 
despite the unreliability of the current 
cremators. 

In the 2016 calendar year, 
there were 2,043 
cremations (+7.5% on 
baseline assumption) 

Additional cremations have 
been assessed to generate 
an 80% margin. 

Business continuity 

Competition from new or 
improved service offers 

Technological 
alternatives to cremation 

That there will be a 28% increase in 
cremation activity in the next 20 years, 
linked to population growth within the 
Cheltenham catchment, based on 
OPCS death rate data and JCS growth 
projections for the catchment. 

If the JCS growth attracts a 
greater proportion of 
younger people to the area, 
this may moderate the 
expected additional demand 
for cremations.  

Financial - cremation 
demand does not grow 
at the anticipated rate. 

Capital borrowing costs have been 
assessed at the PWLB loan rate, 
currently fixed at 2.4% from date of 
drawdown. This has not been applied to 
the other sources of funding to be 
applied to the project – i.e. there is no 
internal rate of return on capital receipts 
or revenue funding from fee income. 

The PWLB loan rate could 
rise before the project is 
completed. 

Financial – an increase 
in the PWLB rate prior to 
completion of the new 
facility. 

Demand will not be affected by the 
transition from traditional to new 
modern chapels. 

Options within the 
Cheltenham catchment are 
currently limited, but we are 
aware of one new facility 
being proposed by a private 
operator. This could 
potentially reduce demand 
within our catchment by up 
to 150 cremations per 
annum (7.9%). 

Financial – potential for 
reduction in service 
demand and associated 
fee income. 

The costs of the new two chapel 
crematorium will be managed within the 
estimated budget. 

The project is being 
managed with a reasonable 
level of contingency. 

Financial - as with any 
major building project, 
costs will need to be 
actively managed, but 
may be subject to 
pressures outside of the 

Page 234



 

   

$agbve0xx Page 15 of 21 Last updated 14 March 2017 

 

control of the 
programme e.g. 
materials inflation. 

No allowance has been made for an 
increase in custom as a result of the 
new facilities offering a higher standard 
to customers. 

Improvements to parking 
and chapel capacity may 
result in a marginal demand 
increase. 

This may help to 
mitigate other financial 
risks. 

 

8. Consultation and feedback 

8.1 A discussion report was taken to Overview and Scrutiny on 16th January 2017, which focussed 
upon programme progress and timeline, major risks (including access roads and the second new 
chapel business case) and contingency plans in the event that the current cremators fail. 

8.2 A joint consultation event was held on 23rd January 2017, for the cross-party Cemetery and 
Crematorium Cabinet Member Working Group and local Funeral Directors. At that meeting, the 
Council’s architects and lead contractors presented the developing design and an update was 
given on both access roads and the second chapel. Useful feedback was given on the routing of 
vehicles in the immediate vicinity of the new buildings and this has led to adjustments in the 
designs. There was quite general support for the building of a second new chapel although it was 
noted that some members of the public do have an attachment to the Victorian chapels.  

8.3 Local ward members continue to be kept in touch with the programme, particularly on those 
aspects such as access roads which most affect people in the locality, with dedicated briefings in 
October 2016 and February 2017. Members generally are informed of progress and issues 
through the Member Briefing. 

8.4 A public consultation will take place in the week commencing 27th February. The main event will 
be a drop-in session at the Municipal Offices from 2.30pm to 7.30pm on 1st March at which 
members of the public and key stakeholders will be able to view the designs and discuss them 
with the architects and lead contractors. Designs may also be viewed on 
www.cheltenham.gov.uk/Cem-and-Crem until 10a.m. on 2nd March and in the foyer of the 
Municipal Offices on 27th and 28th February All those viewing the designs will be encouraged to 
feedback on a questionnaire which will also ask for views on access roads and on the 
construction of a second new chapel. 

8.5 It is intended that the results of the consultation will be reported to Cabinet on 7th March. 

9. Performance management – monitoring and review 

9.1 The programme is managed by a Programme Board led by the Director of Environment and 
which includes the Cabinet Member for Clean and Green Environment. 

9.2 The programme uses the ‘Managing Successful Programmes’ methodology. 

9.3 The programme reports every four weeks to the Council’s Senior Leadership Team and as 
required, to the Council’s Executive Board. 

Report author Contact officer:  Mike Redman, Director of Environment,  
mike.redman@cheltenham.gov.uk,  

01242 264160 

Page 235



 

   

$agbve0xx Page 16 of 21 Last updated 14 March 2017 

 

Appendices 1. Risk Assessment 

2. WSP reports on access routes 

a. original study  

b. update covering routes B and C  

c. Gardens of Remembrance route 

3. Two Chapels Options Study – Pick Everard 

4. Financial Model for second chapel  

5. Outline planning application for possible access roads – public 
representations received 

Background information 1.  

 

Page 236



 

   

$agbve0xx Page 17 of 21 Last updated 14 March 2017 

 

Risk Assessment                  Appendix 1  
 

The risk Original risk score 
(impact x likelihood) 

Managing risk 

Risk 
ref. 

Risk description Risk 
Owner 

Date raised Impact 
1-5 

Likeli- 
hood 
1-6 

Score Control Action Deadline Responsible 
officer 

Transferred 
to risk 
register 

1 If Cabinet/Council  
fail to make timely 
decisions in 
relation to the 
project, there is 
an increased risk 
that the 
programme will 
not be delivered 
on time or within 
budget. 

Director 
Environment 

04/11/2016 4 4 16 Reduce Approve report 
recommendations. 

March 
2017 
 

Director 
Environment 

 

2 If sufficient 
maintenance 
funds are not 
made available 
for the upkeep of 
the existing 
chapels whilst 
they are not being 
used, there is a 
risk to the future 
of the Grade II 
listed buildings, 
for which the 
Council has a 
statutory 
responsibility. 

Director 
Environment 

04/11/2016 3 4 12 Reduce Consider the 
implications for the 
existing Grade II 
listed chapel 
building in the 
context of 
temporary 
mothballing. 
 
Ensure that the 
need for 
maintenance of the 
existing chapels is 
considered in 
relation to the 
business case. 

March 
2017 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
On-
going 

Programme 
Manager 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Head of Property 
Services 

 

3 If the Cabinet 
agrees to support 
the construction 
of 2nd new chapel 
at the same time 
as delivering the 

Director 
Environment 

04/11/2016 3 4 12 Reduce The timeline for the 
project has been 
re-evaluated to 
show the 
implications of 
constructing a 2nd 

Mar 
2017 

Programme  
Manager 

 

P
age 237



 

   

$agbve0xx Page 18 of 21 Last updated 14 March 2017 

 

original new 
crematorium 
programme there 
is a risk that the 
delivery timeline 
could increase 
with a consequent 
delay to the 
opening of the 
new facility. This 
in turn could 
impact on; 

1. service 
delivery 
because 
of the 
unreliabilit
y of the 
current 
facility, 

2. the 
reputation 
of the 
Council to 
manage to 
an agreed  
plan, and 

3. fee 
income 
and 
programm
e costs.   

chapel and this can 
be achieved with 
minimal impact on 
the overall 
programme. 
 
As with any 
building 
programme, there 
are financial and 
project timeline 
risks that will need 
to be managed and 
these will be 
proportionately 
greater in relation 
to a larger project. 

4 If Cabinet does 
not support the 
construction of a 
second chapel at 
the same time as 
the first, there 

Director 
Environment 

04/11/2016 3 3 9 Reduce Approve report 
recommendations. 

Mar 
2017 

Director 
Environment 

 

P
age 238



 

   

$agbve0xx Page 19 of 21 Last updated 14 March 2017 

 

may be 
reputational 
damage to the 
authority arising 
from any future 
forward planning 
(linked to 
population growth 
etc.) for 
maintaining a 
sustainable 
service. 
Operational 
limitations may be 
significant and a 
later construction 
would have a 
detrimental 
impact on 
customer service 
and income. 
 

5 If the Council 
does not include 
the design of a 
2nd Chapel within 
the Planning 
Application, it will 
lose the 
opportunity to 
provide a closely 
linked facility that 
is capable of 
expanding to 
meet future 
service needs 
and expectations.   

Director 
Environment 

04/11/2016 3 2 6 Reduce Include scope for 
the provision of a 
second chapel 
within the Planning 
Application for the 
new facility. 

Apr 
2017 

Director 
Environment 

 

7 If the Council Director 04/11/2016 4 3 12 Reduce Follow the agreed Apr Programme  

P
age 239



 

   

$agbve0xx Page 20 of 21 Last updated 14 March 2017 

 

does not agree a 
Delivery 
(Construction) 
Agreement with 
Willmottt Dixon 
before 7th May 
2017 it will need 
to re-procure 
construction 
services with a 
consequent 
impact on costs, 
timescales and 
customer service 

Environment pre-construction 
plan with adequate 
contingency for 
reaching 
agreement 

2017 Manager 

8 If projected future 
population growth 
and the resulting 
increase in 
demand for 
cremations does 
not arise, or 
competitor 
facilities are built, 
there is a risk that 
the income from 
the crematorium 
may fall, exposing 
the authority to 
increased 
financial risk. 
 

Director 
Environment 

01/02/2017 3 3 9 Accept Careful 
consideration has 
been given to the 
likelihood of 
increased demand 
for the service over 
time and estimates 
are considered 
reasonable. 
 
The future-proofing 
of our crematorium 
facility is one of the 
best means of 
countering the risk 
of competitor 
facilities, which is a 
risk borne by the 
current service. 
 
 

N/A Bereavement 
Services 
Manager 

 

9 If the new chapels 
do not provide a 
quality experience 

Director 
Environment 

01/02/2017 3 3 9 Reduce It is important that 
adequate 
investment is put 

Mar 
2017 

Director 
Environment 

 

P
age 240



 

   

$agbve0xx Page 21 of 21 Last updated 14 March 2017 

 

for mourners, 
there is a risk that 
some bereaved 
families may 
choose to have 
funeral services 
elsewhere 

into the new 
facility, such that 
the design and 
materials used in 
the new facility, 
including space 
standards and 
technological 
improvements can 
be funded.  

10 If the 2nd chapel 
project is 
approved utilising 
the sources of 
funding identified, 
this will have a 
negative impact 
on the Council’s 
MTFS position 
and increase the 
Council’s 
exposure to 
external 
borrowing  

Director 
Environment 

01/02/2017 3 3 9 Accept The Cabinet will 
need to identify 
additional savings 
or income to bridge 
the increased 
MTFS funding gap. 
 
The income levels 
for the facility will 
need to be closely 
monitored to 
ensure delivery of 
increase targets 
which support the 
scheme and part 
finance borrowing.  

N/A Section 151 
officer 
 
 
 
 
 
Bereavement 
Services 
Manager 

 

Explanatory notes 

Impact – an assessment of the impact if the risk occurs on a scale of 1-5 (1 being least impact and 5 being major or critical) 

Likelihood – how likely is it that the risk will occur on a scale of 1-6  

(1 being almost impossible, 2 is very low, 3 is low, 4 significant,  5 high and 6 a very high probability) 

Control - Either: Reduce / Accept / Transfer to 3rd party / Close 
 

 

 

P
age 241



Page 242



REPORT N
O
 70024730 V4 

CHELTENHAM BOROUGH 
COUNCIL, PROPOSED 
CREMATORIUM 
ACCESS ROAD STUDY 

OCTOBER 2016 

Page 243



Project no: 70024730 
Date: October 2016  

WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
King’s Orchard, Queen Street 
Bristol BS2 0HQ 

Tel: +44 (0) 117 930 2000 
www.wspgroup.com 
www.pbworld.com 

CHELTENHAM BOROUGH 
COUNCIL, PROPOSED 
CREMATORIUM

ACCESS ROAD STUDY 

Cheltenham Borough Council 

Page 244



iii

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 

Access Road Study Project No 70024730 
October 2016 

Q U A L I T Y  M A N A G E M E N T  

ISSUE/REVISION FIRST ISSUE REVISION 1 REVISION 2 REVISION 3

Remarks Draft Issue Final Issue Final Issue Final Issue 

Date September 2016 October 2016 October 2016 October 2016 

Prepared by James Morgan James Morgan James Morgan James Morgan 

Signature

Checked by James Morgan / 
David Baber 

James Morgan / 
David Baber 

James Morgan / 
David Baber 

James Morgan / 
David Baber 

Signature

Authorised by David Baber David Baber David Baber David Baber 

Signature

Project number 70024730 70024730 70024730 70024730

Report number V1 V2 V3 V4

File reference \\uk.wspgroup.com\central data\Projects\700247xx\70024730 - CBC, New 
Crematorium\C Documents\Reports 

Page 245



iv

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 

Access Road Study Project No 70024730 
 October 2016 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
1 INTRODUCTION ...........................................................................1

2 SITE OVERVIEW ..........................................................................3

3 PROPOSED ROUTE OPTIONS .................................................11

4 ROUTE OPTIONS – OPPORTUNITIES AND 
CONSTRAINTS ..........................................................................18

5 FURTHER CONSIDERATIONS ..................................................28

6 SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION ................................................35

Page 246



v

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 

Access Road Study Project No 70024730 
 October 2016 

A P P E N D I C E S  

A P P E N D I X  A CBC’S ACCESS ROAD BRIEF

A P P E N D I X  B STUDY AREA CONSTRAINTS

A P P E N D I X  C ATC SURVEY DATA AND SERVICE TIME INFORMATION

A P P E N D I X  D PREVIOUS ROUTE OPTION STUDIES

A P P E N D I X  E PETER MITCHELL ASSOCIATES REPORT

A P P E N D I X  F TREE SPECIALIST REPORT

A P P E N D I X  G ADDITIONAL ECOLOGICAL DETAILS

Page 247



vi

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 

Access Road Study Project No 70024730 
 October 2016 

R O U T E  O P T I O N  P L A N S  

WSP | PARSONS BRINCKERHOFF DRAWING 4730-SK-01 REV A – EXISTING 
ACCESS ROUTE 

WSP | PARSONS BRINCKERHOFF DRAWING 4730-SK-02 REV A – PROPOSED 
ACCESS ROUTE 

WSP | PARSONS BRINCKERHOFF DRAWING 4730-SK-03 REV B – PROPOSED 
ROUTE OPTIONS 

WSP | PARSONS BRINCKERHOFF DRAWING 4730-SK-04 REV A – PROPOSED 
ROUTE OPTION A 

WSP | PARSONS BRINCKERHOFF DRAWING 4730-SK-05 REV B – PROPOSED 
ROUTE OPTION B 

WSP | PARSONS BRINCKERHOFF DRAWING 4730-SK-06 REV A – PROPOSED 
ROUTE OPTION C 

WSP | PARSONS BRINCKERHOFF DRAWING 4730-SK-07 REV B – PROPOSED 
ROUTE OPTION D 

WSP | PARSONS BRINCKERHOFF DRAWING 4730-SK-08 REV A – PROPOSED 
ROUTE OPTION B – ACCESS OPTIONS 1 AND 2 

Page 248



1

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 

Access Road Study Project No 70024730 
October 2016

1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 BACKGROUND 

1.1.1 WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff has been commissioned by Cheltenham Borough Council (CBC) to 
undertake an independent options appraisal and impact assessment study to identify potential 
vehicular access and egress routes (for both construction and operational traffic) to and from a 
proposed new Crematorium, in Cheltenham.   

1.1.2 The proposed new Crematorium will replace the existing Crematorium and North Chapel buildings 
located within the existing Cheltenham Cemetery and Crematorium. 

1.1.3 This study has been commissioned on the basis that the existing internal road network which 
currently serves Cheltenham Cemetery and Crematorium (herein referred to as ‘the existing 
Cemetery and Crematorium’) is deemed insufficient to serve the proposed new Crematorium.  

1.1.4 This report considers the potential transport / highways, flood risk, ecological, and environmental 
opportunities and constraints presented by various proposed vehicular route options to and from 
the proposed new Crematorium.  

1.1.5 This report presents the findings of a detailed desktop study supplemented by a site visit, which 
took place on Friday 16

th
 September, 2016.  

1.1.6 This report does not seek to highlight the preferred vehicular route option, but instead provides a 
review of opportunities and constraints presented by each vehicular route option, which in turn will 
assist CBC in making their decision of the preferred access strategy for the proposed new 
Crematorium.  

1.1.7 For reference, CBC is the relevant planning authority for which the site is located in, and 
Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) is the relevant highway authority.  It is understood that the 
existing Cemetery and Crematorium is operated by CBC.  It is also worth noting that the proposed 
development site falls under the planning jurisdiction of Tewkesbury Borough Council (TBC).  

1.1.8 This report has been prepared in line with CBC’s ‘Access Road Brief – Initial Draft’ document, 
which is included at Appendix A.

1.1.9 In support of this study, WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff has obtained additional specialist advice 
from: 

Peter Mitchell Associates – Independent Grave Specialist; and 

Chris Chavasse – Senior Tree Officer (CBC). 

1.1.10 WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff has also sought advice from GCC highways department; however a 
response has not been received in sufficient time to inform this report.   

1.2 PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT SITE AND STUDY AREA 

PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT SITE 

1.2.1 The site for the proposed new Crematorium comprises of undeveloped fields (two in total) which 
are located to the immediate east of the existing Cemetery and Crematorium.  The fields border 
the existing Cemetery and Crematorium to the west, and are currently bounded by existing trees 
and hedgerows.  

Page 249



2

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 

Access Road Study Project No 70024730 
October 2016

1.2.2 There is currently no formal vehicular access arrangement to the proposed development site, 
other than local field access.  

STUDY AREA 

1.2.3 The ‘study area’ comprises of: 

The existing Cemetery and Crematorium, which is currently accessible directly from Bouncers 
Lane via a gated entrance.  Internally, there are a number of existing vehicular routes to 
access the various areas of the existing Cemetery and Crematorium, including the North and 
South Chapels and Crematorium buildings (located within the western half of the existing 
Cemetery and Crematorium) and the Garden of Remembrance (located within the southeast 
section of the existing Cemetery and Crematorium); 

Existing agricultural land, which is located to the south and east of the proposed development 
site;  

Oakley Playing Fields (comprising up to three pitches and associated changing facilities and 
parking for approximately 20 cars), which are located to the south of the existing Cemetery 
and Crematorium. Oakley Playing Fields are accessible directly from Imjin Road; and 

An existing residential estate, which is located to the southwest of the existing Cemetery and 
Crematorium, and is accessible directly from the B4075 Priors Road and/or Bouncers Lane.  

1.3 DEVELOPMENT PROPOSALS 

1.3.1 CBC is intending to build a new Crematorium to the immediate east of the existing Cemetery and 
Crematorium  At present, it is understood that CBC are considering two potential options, 
comprising of either one or two Chapels, with associated infrastructure and parking. 

1.3.2 In conjunction with the development proposals, it is understood that CBC intend to close the 
existing Crematorium and North Chapel and transfer all activity to the proposed new 
Crematorium.  However, it is understood that the South Chapel will remain open to the general 
public.  

1.3.3 CBC has indicated that vehicular access to the proposed new Crematorium is intended via the 
internal road network which currently serves the existing Cemetery and Crematorium. 

1.3.4 Owing to the constraints of the existing internal road network, CBC is currently investigating 
potential options to provide a new vehicular route for vehicles to exit the proposed new 
Crematorium (which would be used specifically during services).  In addition, CBC has indicated 
that there is a requirement to provide a temporary route for construction traffic to access and 
egress the proposed new Crematorium (during the construction phase of the development).  

1.4 REPORT STRUCTURE  

1.4.1 Following this introduction, the remainder of the report is structured as follows:  

Chapter 2: Site Overview;  

Chapter 3: Proposed Route Options;   

Chapter 4: Route Options – Opportunities and Constraints;  

Chapter 5: Further Considerations; and 

Chapter 6: Summary and Conclusion.   

Page 250



3

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 

Access Road Study Project No 70024730 
October 2016

2 SITE OVERVIEW

2.1 INTRODUCTION 

2.1.1 This Chapter of the report provides an overview of the proposed development site and wider 
study area, including the existing Cemetery and Crematorium, agricultural land, Oakley Playing 
Fields, and existing residential estate.  

2.1.2 This Chapter also provides an overview of the local highway network, flood risk, ecology and 
conservation.  

2.2 CHELTENHAM CEMETERY AND CREMATORIUM  

2.2.1 The existing Cemetery and Crematorium is located approximately 2.5km to the east of 
Cheltenham Town Centre, within a built up area consisting of primarily residential uses (albeit the 
undeveloped agricultural land to the east).  It is understood that the older western section of the 
existing Cemetery and Crematorium, which comprises the North and South Chapels and 
Crematorium buildings, is Victorian era, whilst the newer eastern section is effectively a modern 
extension. 

2.2.2 The existing Cemetery and Crematorium is currently accessible directly from Bouncers Lane via a 
gated entrance and internal two-way access road (which varies in width between 5.0m and 5.5m).  
Internally, the two-way access road runs for approximately 150m before it splits to provide 
designated one-way access and egress routes to the various areas of the existing Cemetery and 
Crematorium, including the North and South Chapels and Crematorium (located within the older 
western half of the existing Cemetery and Crematorium) and the Garden of Remembrance 
(located within the southeast section of the existing Cemetery and Crematorium).  There is also 
an existing car park which is located approximately 100m to the southeast of the South Chapel.  

2.2.3 A designated pedestrian entrance / footway is provided to the existing Cemetery and 
Crematorium from Bouncers Lane.   

2.2.4 For reference, the existing vehicular access and egress routes within the existing Cemetery and 
Crematorium are illustrated on WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff drawing SK-01.

2.2.5 In terms of its operation, it is understood that the existing Cemetery and Crematorium is open to 
the general public seven days a week (including Good Friday, Christmas Day and bank holidays), 
between the following hours: 

1
st

April to 30
th
 September – 9am to 7.30pm; and 

1
st
 October to 31

st
 March – 9am to 4.30pm. 

2.2.6 Over the course of a typical year, it is understood that up to 2000 cremations and 200 burials are 
held at the existing Cemetery and Crematorium (equating to an average of 5-6 cremations and 1 
burial per day).  It is understood that all services currently use the access from Bouncers Lane 
and internal road network to access the North or South Chapel, Crematorium, and associated car 
park.   

Page 251



4

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 

Access Road Study Project No 70024730 
October 2016

2.2.7 The existing Cemetery and Crematorium has been formally landscaped with mature trees, 
shrubs, flower beds, paths and grassland areas, as well as ornamental ponds and water-courses.  
A large area of the existing Cemetery and Crematorium on the southern boundary has been given 
over to deciduous woodland.  For a full report on the habitats present within the survey area 
please refer to the Extended Phase 1 Habitat Survey report prepared by Lepus Consulting.   

2.3 AGRICULTURAL LAND 

2.3.1 The area to the south of the proposed development site comprises of namely agricultural land 
(fields segregated by trees and hedgerow).   

2.3.2 Currently there are no formal vehicular arrangements to the agricultural land, other than local field 
access.  Pedestrians can currently access the agricultural land via Oakley Playing Fields to the 
west or via the residential areas to the north.  

2.3.3 The agricultural fields have become scrubbed over from lack of management in recent years, 
therefore the dominant species are rank grasses and tall ruderal species with scattered mature 
and semi-mature trees and shrubs scattered throughout. 

2.3.4 To the east of the proposed development site, part of the agricultural land is designated as 
Cotswolds Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) (see Figure 5 provided in Appendix B of 
this report).  

2.3.5 A number of Public Footpaths run through the agricultural land to the east of the existing 
Cemetery and Crematorium (see Figure 6 provided in Appendix B of this report).  

2.3.6 It is understood that the majority of the agricultural land falls within CBC’s ownership.  

2.4 OAKLEY PLAYING FIELDS  

2.4.1 Oakley Playing Fields are located to the immediate south of the existing Cemetery and 
Crematorium. The playing fields are designated recreational ground, and comprise of up to three 
football pitches with associated changing facilities and parking (for approximately 20 cars).  It is 
understood that the existing football fields fall under FA regulation.  In addition to the football 
fields, there is also an existing children’s playground located at the southeast boundary of the 
playing fields.  

2.4.2 Vehicular access to the playing fields is currently provided from Imjin Road, which is a two-way 
road which serves the residential areas to the west.  There is also a designated paved footpath 
provided along the southern boundary of the playing fields which links Imjin Road and the 
children’s playground,  

2.4.3 On reviewing the topographical survey that is available (and observations from the site visit ), 
there is a notable difference in height between the western and eastern extents of the football 
fields (approximately 5.0m between the car park and the football field, and a further 4.0m between 
the football fields and top of the bank at the eastern extent of the fields), and between the 
southern and northern extents of the fields (approximately 2-3m between the footpath to the south 
of the football fields and the football fields itself, and a further 1-2m between the football fields and 
the southern boundary of the existing Cemetery and Crematorium). 

2.4.4 The playing fields are predominantly amenity grassland maintained as close cut turf with areas of 
scrub and semi-mature trees on the boundaries.  During the site visit, a stream was identified 
running to the south of the playing fields and hedgerows were observed to the east. Residential 
housing and associated gardens are located to the west and the north is bordered by areas of 
woodland marking the border with the existing Cemetery and Crematorium. 

Page 252



5

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 

Access Road Study Project No 70024730 
October 2016

2.4.5 It is understood that Oakley Playing Fields fall within CBC’s ownership.  

2.5 EXISTING RESIDENTIAL ESTATE 

2.5.1 To the southwest of the proposed development site, south of the existing Cemetery and 
Crematorium, and west of Oakley Playing Fields, there are currently a number of residential 
streets which take their access namely from the B4075 Priors Road (via Ladysmith Road and 
Imjin Road).  

2.5.2 There are currently no restrictions on parking within the residential estate.  

2.6 LOCAL HIGHWAY NETWORK  

DESCRIPTION OF HIGHWAY NETWORK  

2.6.1 There is currently no formal vehicular access arrangement to the proposed development site, 
other than local field access.   

2.6.2 The existing Cemetery and Crematorium is accessible directly from Bouncers Lane via a priority 
junction.  Internal, the existing Cemetery and Crematorium is served by a mix of one-way and 
two-way routes. 

2.6.3 Bouncers Lane links to the B4075 Priors Road to the west, via a priority junction.  To the 
immediate south of the existing access from Bouncers Lane, Ladysmith Road provides access to 
an existing residential estate.  In addition, Ladysmith Road also provides access to an existing 
Farm Track which skirts the southern boundary of the existing Cemetery and Crematorium (see 
WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff drawing SK-01). 

2.6.4 Further south, Imjin Road is accessible directly from the B4075 Priors Road via a priority junction.  
Imjin Road provides access the residential estate located to the south of the existing Cemetery 
and Crematorium.  Imjin Road also provides access to Oakley Playing Fields, where there is an 
existing car park (which includes approximately 20 parking spaces). 

2.6.5 Further afield, the B4075 Priors Road links to Prestbury Road to the north, via a priority junction, 
and to Harp Hill / Hewlett Road / Hales Road via a double mini-roundabout.  It is also worth noting 
that to the south of the Imjin Road, the B4075 Priors Road links to Redmarley Road which 
provides access to Sainsbury’s Supermarket, and also Oakley Farm housing development.  

TRAFFIC FLOWS 

2.6.6 In order to understand the existing traffic volumes (and vehicular speeds) using the existing 
Cemetery and Crematorium over the course of a given weekday and weekend, an Automatic 
Traffic Count (ATC) survey was undertaken along the existing Cemetery and Crematorium access 
road (inside the initial gated entrance point from Bouncers Lane).   

2.6.7 The ATC survey was undertaken between Saturday 6
th
 August (00:00) and Friday 12

th
 August 

(23:59).  For reference, a copy of the ATC survey data is included in Appendix C.

2.6.8 Details of the existing traffic volumes entering and exiting the existing Cemetery and 
Crematorium, as recorded by the ATC survey, are summarised in Table 2.1.

Table 2.1 Average Daily Flows (derived from ATC Survey) 

INBOUND OUTBOUND TWO-WAY

Weekday  468 470 938

Weekend  303 304 607

Page 253



6

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 

Access Road Study Project No 70024730 
October 2016

2.6.9 Table 2.1 shows that on a typical weekday there was an average daily flow of 468 vehicles 
entering and 470 vehicles exiting the existing Cemetery and Crematorium, respectively. On a 
typical Saturday or Sunday there was an average of 303 vehicles entering and 304 vehicles 
exiting the existing Cemetery and Crematorium, respectively. 

2.6.10 In order to ascertain the number of vehicles that utilise the existing Cemetery and Crematorium 
during a typical weekday and weekend period, CBC has provided details (times and durations) of 
all services that were held between Monday 8

th
 August and Friday 12

th
 August 2016 (which 

coincides with the dates of the ATC survey).  CBC has confirmed that services are currently held 
between Monday and Friday only (generally between the hours of 10:00 and 16:00), with no 
services being held on weekends.  It is also understood that the duration of services is usually in 
the region of 45 minutes, with vehicles arriving / departing approximately 30 minutes either side of 
a service.   On average there were 9 services held per day between Monday 8

th
 August and 

Friday 12
th
 August 2016.  For reference, a copy of the service information, which includes the start 

and end times, is included in Appendix C.

2.6.11 Based on the information provided by CBC, the ATC survey data was further interrogated to 
understand the traffic flows associated with a service taking place, and when there is no service 
taking place.  For ease of reference, average and peak hour weekday and weekend traffic flows 
are highlighted separated. The results of which are shown in Table 2.2.

Table 2.2 Average and Peak Hour Flows (Non-Service and Service) 

WEEKDAY

Period  Inbound Outbound Two - Way 

Average Hour (across 5 days) 

Non-service (average hour) 18 20 38

Service (average hour) 59 62 121

Peak Hour (day specific) 

Non-service (peak hour) 09:00 –
10:00

97 22 119

Service (peak hour) 10:00-11:00 –
Highest Entry Flow* 

113 36 149

Service (peak hour) 11:00-12:00 –
Highest Exit Flow** 

49 159 208

Service (peak hour) 11:00 – 12:00 
– Highest Two-Way Flow** 

110 103 213

WEEKEND 

Period Inbound outbound Two - Way 

Average Hour (across 2 days) 

Non-service (average hour) 26 26 52

Peak Hour (day specific) 

Non- Service (peak hour) 11:00 –
12:00

54 43 104

Note: Average hour taken as all service hours / all non-service hours 
* Highest entry flow recorded on Friday 12

th
 August 2016 between 10:00 to 11:00  

** Highest exit flow recorded on Friday 12
th
 August between 11:00 to 12:00 

*** Highest two-way flow recorded on Tuesday 9
th
 August 2016 between 11:00 to 12:00 

2.6.12 It should be noted from the above, that there is potential that some of the traffic movements may 
not be associated with a specific service, and could just comprise of people visiting the existing 
Cemetery and Crematorium separately.  

2.6.13 Table 2.2 shows that on a typical weekday, during service periods, on average 121 (two-way) 
vehicles were recorded using the existing Cemetery and Crematorium access.

Page 254



7

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 

Access Road Study Project No 70024730 
October 2016

2.6.14 During weekday service periods, the highest recorded entry flow was 113 vehicles (which 
occurred between 10:00 and 11:00) and the highest recorded exit flow was 159 vehicles (which 
occurred between 11:00 and 12:00).  The highest recorded two-way flows were 213 vehicles 
(which occurred between 11:00 to 12:00). 

2.6.15 During weekday non-service periods, the highest recorded two-way flow was 119 vehicles (which 
occurred between 09:00 to 10:00 on Friday 12

th
 August 2016).  

2.6.16 On a typical weekend where there are no services held, on average 52 vehicles (two-way) were 
recorded using the existing Cemetery and Crematorium access. The highest recorded two-way 
flow on a typical weekend was 104 vehicles (11:00 to 12:00 on Sunday 7

th
 August 2016).  

2.6.17 In addition to recording the volume of traffic, the ATC survey also recorded average vehicle 
speeds along the existing Cemetery and Crematorium access road.  For reference, these are 
summarised in Table 2.3.

Table 2.3 Seven Day Average & 85th Percentile Speeds (mph) 

CEMETERY ACCESS ROAD 

INBOUND  OUTBOUND 

Average Speed 85
TH

percentile speed Average Speed 85
TH

percentile speed 

16 21 17 22

HIGHWAY SAFETY  

2.6.18 In order to understand the existing highway safety conditions on the local highway network, 
Personal Injury Accident (PIA) data was obtained from CRASHMAP for a five year period 
between 2011 and 2015. A summary of the total number of recorded accidents within the study 
area for a five year period is provided in Table 2.4.  The area investigated includes the access 
road to the existing Cemetery and Crematorium, Bouncers Lane, Priors Road, and Imjin Road. 

Table 2.4 Summary of Recorded Accidents  

SLIGHT SERIOUS FATAL

Number of Accidents 7 0 0

2.6.19 In total there were seven slight incidents recorded over the past five year period, of which: 

Two incidents were recorded on Bouncers Lane; and 

Five incidents were recorded on Priors Road. 

2.6.20 No incidents were recorded along the access road to the existing Cemetery and Crematorium, not 
along Imjin Road.  

Page 255



8

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 

Access Road Study Project No 70024730 
October 2016

2.7 FLOOD RISK 

EXISTING FLOOD RISK 

2.7.1 The online Environment Agency Flood Map
1
 shows that the entirety of the study area lies within 

Flood Zone 1, which means that there is less than a 0.1 per cent chance of flooding from rivers in 
any given year. However, this designation is principally due to the lack of hydraulic modelling that 
has been undertaken in the area, therefore placing the site in Flood Zone 1 by default. 

2.7.2 The Gardens of Remembrance located in the southeast of the existing Cemetery and 
Crematorium is bound to the south by an Environment Agency Main River – a tributary of the 
Wyman’s Brook. The headwaters of this watercourse flow from the north and east as minor 
drains. The other Main River – the main channel of the Wyman’s Brook – is located to the south 
of Oakley Playing Fields. 

2.7.3 A more accurate assessment of risk has been undertaken by CBC as part of the Whaddon Flood 
Alleviation Scheme (FAS) Feasibility Study (ch2m, 2016). This included using the Surface Water 
Management Plan hydraulic model to understand the likely flood extents close to the site. The 
resultant 1 in 200 year flood map, which can be said to be assessing the study area for a 
combination of surface water and fluvial sources is shown in Figure 2.1.

Figure 2.1 Flood Map Taken from Whaddon FAS Consultation Showing Flood Surface Water/fluvial 
Flood Risk at the Site 

2.7.4 The resultant flood map shows the majority of the study area to be outside the fluvial/surface 
water floodplain, thus presenting a very low risk. No significant areas of floodplain are predicted, 
with flooding mostly constrained to the watercourse channel and immediate surrounds. 

1
 See: http://maps.environment-agency.gov.uk/wiyby/wiybyController?x=394500.0&y=222500.0&topic=floodmap&ep=map&scale=9&location=Cheltenham, 

Gloucestershire&lang=_e&layerGroups=default&distance=&textonly=off#x=396943&y=223157&lg=1,2,10,&scale=11

Page 256



9

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 

Access Road Study Project No 70024730 
October 2016

WHADDON FLOOD ALLEVIATION SCHEME 

2.7.5 The Whaddon FAS Consultation Note (ch2m, 2016) states that: 

“Whaddon, Lynworth and Prestbury experienced severe flooding during the June and July 2007 
flooding events. The peak event was identified as 1 in 125-year annual probability event. During 
the July 2007 event over 300 properties are known to have experienced internal or external 
flooding… 

Flooding was principally caused by excess surface runoff from the escarpment to the east 
exceeding the capacity of the culverted watercourses, which resulted in surface runoff entering 
the urban environment, following the natural (or man-made) topography, and ponding in low spots 
within the catchment (e.g. immediately to the north of Cheltenham Town Football Club). 
Anecdotal evidence gained from the public consultation confirmed that the flood water was 
extremely fast as it flowed down roads and into properties.”

2.7.6 To try and alleviate further flooding the Whaddon FAS scheme is being taken forward as a 
preferred option for construction. This involves the construction of two flood storage areas at 
Noverton Farm (immediately east of the proposed Crematorium extension) and Priors Farm (to 
the south of the Gardens of Remembrance). Ensuring that the future construction of these flood 
storage areas are not compromised by the Access Route Options, is considered to be a key 
constraint to the proposed development.  The timescales for delivery of the proposed Whaddon 
FAS scheme are unknown at this stage.  

2.7.7 Modelling of the 1 in 200 year event with the flood storage areas in place demonstrates no 
increases in flood risk to the site; as illustrated on Figure 2.2.

Figure 2.2 1 in 200 Year Flood Extent with Flood Storage Areas in Place 

Page 257



10

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 

Access Road Study Project No 70024730 
October 2016

2.8 ECOLOGY AND CONSERVATION 

OVERVIEW  

2.8.1 The ecological site overview is included in Appendix B of this report.   

2.9 STUDY AREA CONSTRAINTS  

2.9.1 Consideration has been given to the constraints presented by the overall study area.  For 
reference, these are detailed in Appendix B.

Page 258



11

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 

Access Road Study Project No 70024730 
October 2016

3 PROPOSED ROUTE OPTIONS

3.1 INTRODUCTION 

3.1.1 This Chapter provides details of the various vehicular route options which are currently being 
considered as part of this study, to serve the proposed new Crematorium.  

3.2 PROPOSED NEW CREMATORIUM 

3.2.1 CBC is intending to build new Crematorium to the immediate east of the existing Cemetery and 
Crematorium.  At present, it is understood that CBC are considering two potential options, 
comprising of either one or two Chapels, with associated infrastructure and parking. 

3.2.2 In conjunction with the development proposals, it is understood that CBC intend to close the 
existing Crematorium and North Chapel and relocate activity to the proposed new Crematorium.  
However, it is understood that the South Chapel will remain open to the general public 

3.3 PREVIOUS VEHICULAR ROUTE OPTION STUDIES  

3.3.1 It is understood that both Robert Potter and Partners architects and Willmott Dixon has previously 
undertaken studies which have considered potential route options to and from the proposed new 
Crematorium.  

3.3.2 Robert Potter and Partners considered the potential for providing a new 2.5m wide route internally 
within the existing Cemetery and Crematorium (which roughly follows the alignment of WSP | 
Parsons Brinckerhoff’s Route Option A – see Section 3.5).   The route alignment is shown on 
Robert Potter and Partners plan ‘6333-SK02, Proposed Link Road’, which is included in 
Appendix D.

3.3.3 Willmott Dixon has previously produced a Draft Stage 2 Feasibility Report for the proposed new 
Crematorium (Ref: CC/S2/JM/180716) in which they have undertaken a high-level access/egress 
appraisal of two potential Route Options: 

Option 1 – the provision of a permanent egress route through the existing Cemetery and 
Crematorium; and 

Option 2 – the provision of a segregated permeant egress route. 

3.3.4 Willmott Dixon’s report identified high level opportunities and constraints presented by each 
option.  For reference, a copy of the relevant section of Willmott Dixon’s Draft Stage 2 Feasibility 
Report is provided in Appendix D.

3.4 PROPOSED VEHICULAR ACCESS ROUTE 

3.4.1 CBC has indicated that vehicular access to the proposed new Crematorium would be via the 
internal road network which currently serves the existing Cemetery and Crematorium.   

3.4.2 More specifically, on entry to the site vehicles would follow the existing-one way route, which runs 
to the north of the existing Chapels and Crematorium.  From this point vehicles would join the 
section of one-way road, which links the older western and newer eastern sections of the existing 
Cemetery and Crematorium, before travelling north then east (within the new eastern section of 
the existing Cemetery and Crematorium where the roads are wide enough to accommodate two-
way traffic movements) to the proposed new Crematorium.   

Page 259



12

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 

Access Road Study Project No 70024730 
October 2016

3.4.3 For reference, the proposed access route is shown on WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff drawing 
number SK-02.

3.5 PROPOSED VEHICULAR EGRESS ROUTES (OPTIONS A, B, C, AND D) 

3.5.1 A total of four possible vehicular routes have been identified as part of this study, a detailed 
description of which is outlined in the following sections.  In reviewing the four routes, 
consideration has been given to the potential for the routes to accommodate both construction 
traffic (temporarily) and operational traffic (permanently).   

3.5.2 It should be worth noting that, at this stage Route Option A has been ruled out for accommodating 
any construction traffic, on the basis that CBC does not want any construction vehicles travelling 
through the main area of the existing Cemetery and Crematorium.   

3.5.3 If Route Option A was pursued, then a separate haulage routes would need to be provided as 
outlined for Routes Option B, C or D below.   

3.5.4 Routes A, B, C or D would be required to serve the proposed new Crematorium (as an egress 
route only).   

3.5.5 For reference, the four egress routes which are currently being considered as part of this study 
are illustrated on WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff drawing SK-03.

ROUTE OPTION A 

3.5.6 Route Option A is intended as an egress route only to the proposed new Crematorium, and would 
only accommodate operational traffic associated with the proposed new Crematorium.  It is not 
proposed to use Route Option A for construction purposes.  

3.5.7 Route Option A includes the use of part of the existing internal access roads between the main 
entrance to the existing Cemetery and Crematorium and the car park located to the immediately 
west of the Garden of Remembrance.  From this point it is proposed to provide a new 3m wide 
road which would skirt the southern boundary of the existing Cemetery and Crematorium (to the 
immediate north of the Garden of Remembrance), linking the existing car park and the proposed 
new Crematorium.   

3.5.8 It is proposed to use the roads which serve the existing Cemetery and Crematorium, it is not 
proposed to alter the existing widths or alignments of the existing roads.  However, there may be 
a requirement to undertake some minor carriageway repairs / resurfacing, the details of which 
would be subject to a separate study.   

3.5.9 It is not proposed to provide any footways along the new section of road.  Instead, it is envisaged 
that pedestrians would use the routes provided within the existing Cemetery and Crematorium to 
access and egress the proposed new Crematorium.  

3.5.10 It is understood from CBC that Route Option A would only be used to allow vehicles to exit the 
proposed new Crematorium following a service.  During all other times, the route would not be 
available for general use (albeit the existing two-way section of road between the two gated 
entrances which would remain in use to serve the existing Cemetery and Crematorium). 

3.5.11 For reference, the proposed access route alignment is shown on WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
drawing number SK-04.

Page 260



13

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 

Access Road Study Project No 70024730 
October 2016

3.5.12 Route Option A has a total length of approximately 725m (between the existing gated entrance to 
the existing Cemetery and Crematorium (from Bouncers Lane) and the proposed new 
Crematorium); of which newly constructed carriageway would be 300m.  The elevation of the road 
increases from 83.615m at the western end to 93.233m at the eastern end and will climb at an 
even gradient of approximately 3.3% (1 in 30). 

3.5.13 Further to the site visit it is evident that part of the land required to accommodate Route Option A 
is heavily populated with gravestones.  To help understand the potential impacts on the existing 
graves and the feasibility of delivering Route Option A, Peter Mitchell Associates has been 
commissioned to undertake a separate study.  The findings of which are summarised in Chapter 4 
of this report, and are included in Appendix E.

3.5.14 In addition to the above, it was also noted during the site visit that there are a number of well-
established trees which could be impacted by the proposed route alignment.  To help understand 
the potential impacts on the existing trees, WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff has discussed the 
proposed route alignment with Chris Chavasse (Senior Tree Officer) at CBC.  For reference, 
Chris’s comments are summarised in Chapter 4 of this report, with a full copy of his comments 
provided at Appendix F.

ROUTE OPTION B  

3.5.15 Route Option B has been considered for use by both construction and operational traffic.   

3.5.16 Route Option B includes the use of part of the existing Cemetery and Crematorium access road, 
between the two gated entrance points, with the construction of a new 3m wide access road 
which would link to the existing access roads (in the vicinity of the internal gated entrance point) 
skirting the southern boundary of the existing Cemetery and Crematorium.  

3.5.17 At present it is envisaged that the proposed new section of road would follow the alignment of the 
existing Farm Track.  Owing to the presence of an existing Badger Sett, an option has also been 
considered which shifts the alignment of the road approximately 30m south.    

3.5.18 For reference, the proposed access route alignment is shown on WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
drawing number SK-005.  It should be noted from the plan that where there is sufficient space, an 
indicative outline (dashed line) has been provided along the Route Option alignment which 
denotes a 9.5m wide carriageway, which allows for the provision of a two-way route (with 
footways) to serve any potential future development to the south of the proposed new 
Crematorium.  

3.5.19 During the construction phase of the proposed new Crematorium, CBC has indicated that their 
preference is not for construction traffic to use any of the existing internal access roads within the 
existing Cemetery and Crematorium.  However, CBC has not discounted the use of the existing 
internal section of the road between the two gated entrance points.  As such, consideration has 
been given to two potential options for accommodating construction traffic internally along this 
section of road, which are as follows: 

Option 1 retains the existing Cemetery and Crematorium access road as one-way (at 3m 
wide), and introduces a segregated construction traffic route which relies on use of the 
remainder of the carriageway and the introduction of localised widening (to accommodate a 
3m wide haulage route).  In this Option both operational and construction traffic would use the 
existing gated entrance via Bouncers Lane.  As such there would be a likely requirement to 
either widen the existing main entrance gates or control traffic movements (via the 
introduction of a banksman or similar).  In this option it is envisaged that hording could be 
introduced to split normal operational and construction traffic movements.  In the section of 
one-way workings, measures to control traffic movements, such as temporary traffic lights, 
would be required; and 

Page 261



14

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 

Access Road Study Project No 70024730 
October 2016

Option 2 proposes the introduction of a segregated construction route which would make use 
of the existing grass / landscape verge and existing Farm Track located to the immediate 
south of the existing Cemetery and Crematorium access road.  In this Option, construction 
traffic could potentially use the existing Farm Track access, which links to Ladysmith Road, as 
opposed to the existing Cemetery and Crematorium main entrance gates.  In this Option, the 
existing Cemetery and Crematorium access road would continue to operate as two-way.  

3.5.20 CBC has indicated that on completion of the proposed new Crematorium, there would no longer 
be a need to retain either of the options detailed above (as construction traffic would no longer 
need to access the proposed Crematorium).  As such, the intention would be to re-instate the 
route to reflect its current arrangement (including the re-introduction of trees and hedgerow).  For 
reference, both of the Options described above are illustrated on WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
drawing SK-08.

3.5.21 Route Option B has a total length of approximately 740m (between the main gates to the existing 
Cemetery and Crematorium (from Bouncers Lane) and the proposed Crematorium).  For 
operational purposes, the route would comprise of approximately 617m of new carriageway 
(excluding the route intended for construction traffic using / adjacent to main access to the 
existing Cemetery and Crematorium). The elevation of the road increases from 75.576m at the 
western end to 93.109m at the eastern end. The road climbs at approximately 2.09% (1 in 48) for 
the first two thirds of its length and then increases to 3.94% (1 in 25) for the final third flattening off 
as it enters the proposed new Crematorium. 

3.5.22 Further to the site visit it is evident that part of the land required to accommodate Route Option B 
forms part of the usable (working) space within the existing Cemetery and Crematorium.  On this 
basis, to help understand the potential impacts on the existing Cemetery and Crematorium, Peter 
Mitchell Associates has been commissioned to undertake a separate study.  The findings of which 
are summarised in Chapter 4 of this report, and are included in Appendix E.

3.5.23 In addition to the above, it was also noted during the site visit that there are a number of well-
established trees which could be impacted by the proposed route alignment.  To help understand 
the potential impacts on the existing trees, WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff has discussed the 
proposed route alignment with Chris Chavasse (Senior Tree Officer) at CBC.  For reference, 
Chris’s comments are summarised in Chapter 4 of this report, For reference, Chris’s comments 
are summarised in Chapter 4 of this report, with a full copy of his comments provided at 
Appendix F.

ROUTE OPTION C 

3.5.24 Route Option C has been considered for use by both construction and operational traffic.   

3.5.25 Route Option C includes the provision of a new 3m wide access road which would skirt the 
southern extent of Oakley Playing Fields and the agricultural land to the south of the proposed 
development site, and would link the proposed new development to Imjin Road at its western 
extent.  The land required to provide Route Option C is within adopted highway and / or under 
CBC’s ownership.    

3.5.26 At the southern extent of Oakley Playing Fields, it is envisaged that the route would skirt the 
northern edge of the existing changing facilities building and would either i) travel through or, ii) to 
the north of the existing children’s playground.  

3.5.27 It is understood that part of this route (between Imjin Road and the southeast extent of Oakley 
Playing Fields) was previously used as a haulage route for construction traffic when constructing 
the footbridge over Wyman’s Brook.   

Page 262



15

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 

Access Road Study Project No 70024730 
October 2016

3.5.28 For reference, the proposed access route alignment is shown on WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
drawing number SK-06. It should be noted from the plan that where there is sufficient space, an 
indicative outline (dashed line) has been provided along the Route Option alignment which 
denotes a 9.5m wide carriageway, which allows for the provision of a two-way route (with 
footways) to serve any potential future development to the south of the proposed new 
Crematorium. 

3.5.29 Route Option C has a total length of 613m (between the point where it intersects Imjin Road and 
the proposed new Crematorium).  The 613m would comprise of completely new carriageway.  
The elevation of the road increases from 75.576m at the western end to 93.109m at the eastern 
end. The road climbs at approximately 2.32% (1 in 43) for the first two thirds of its length and then 
increases to 4.34% (1 in 23) for the final third flattening off as it enters the proposed development 
site. 

3.5.30 Owing to the proposed alignment of Route Option C, there is potential for the route to conflict with 
existing established trees located to the south of the existing Cemetery and Crematorium and the 
proposed development site.  This has been considered by both WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff and 
also CBC’s Tree Office; the comments are summarised in Chapter 4 and Appendix F.

ROUTE OPTION D 

3.5.31 Route Option D has been considered for use by both construction and operational traffic.   

3.5.32 Route Option D is a hybrid of both Route Options B and C.   

3.5.33 In this Option, a 3m wide road is proposed which would run between Imjin Road, up the western 
boundary of Oakley Playing Fields, and along the northern boundary of Oakley Playing Fields 
(along the same alignment as Route Option B – i.e. following the existing Farm Track alignment). 
The land required to provide Route Option D is within adopted highway and / or under CBC’s 
ownership.  As per Route Option B, owing to the presence of an existing Badger Sett, an option 
has also been considered which shifts the alignment of the road approximately 30m south.    

3.5.34 For reference, the proposed access route alignment is shown on WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
drawing number SK-07.  It should be noted from the plan that where there is sufficient space, an 
indicative outline (dashed line) has been provided along the Route Option alignment which 
denotes a 9.5m wide carriageway, which allows for the provision of a two-way route (with 
footways) to serve any potential future development to the south of the proposed new 
Crematorium. 

3.5.35 Route Option D has a total length of approximately 637m (between the point where it intersects 
Imjin Road and the proposed new Crematorium).  The 670m would comprise of completely new 
carriageway.  The elevation of the road increases from 75.031m at the western end to 93.060m at 
the eastern end. The road climbs at approximately 3.18% (1 in 31.4) for the first 80m of its length 
and then decreases to 1.77% (1 in 56.33) for the next 310m before increasing to 4.13% (1 in 24) 
for a further 250m. The final 220m of the road is at approx. 4.13% (1 in 24) except for the 
flattening off as it enters the proposed new Crematorium. 

3.5.36 Owing to the proposed alignment of Route Option D, there is potential for the route to conflict with 
existing established trees located to the south of the existing Cemetery and Crematorium and the 
proposed development site.  This has been considered by both WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff and 
also CBC’s Tree Office, who’s comments are summarised in Chapter 4 and Appendix F.

SUMMARY  

3.5.37 For ease of reference, the four Route Options and their potential use (i.e. construction and / or 
operational traffic) is summarised in Table 3.1.

Page 263



16

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 

Access Road Study Project No 70024730 
October 2016

Table 3.1 Route Options and Indicative Use  

ROUTE CONSTRUCTION TRAFFIC (TWO-WAY) OPERATIONAL TRAFFIC (EGRESS ONLY)

A No Yes

B Yes (Two Options) Yes

C Yes Yes

D Yes Yes

3.6 FURTHER CONSIDERATIONS  

DRAINAGE  

3.6.1 Although drainage has not been considered in detail as part of this study, it is envisaged that 
Surface Water Run-off from proposed roads within the existing Cemetery and Crematorium could 
be collected by a conventional gulley and pipe system and attenuated to Qbar for rainfall return 
periods up to 1 in 100year + 40% climate change.  Due to space constraints attenuation is to be 
within oversized pipes under the proposed road with controlled discharge to the existing culvert 
system within the existing Cemetery and Crematorium. 

3.6.2 Surface Water Run-off from proposed roads outside of the cemetery (B, C, and D) could be via 
shallow ditches located adjacent to the carriageway which would discharge to a small detention 
area within the open space.  Discharge from the detention area would be at Qbar for rainfall 
return periods up to 1 in 100year + 40%. Discharge would be to Wymans Brook or adjacent 
Surface Water Sewer.  Sections of road below the open space would be drained and attenuated 
as per proposed existing Cemetery and Crematorium roads. 

UTILITIES  

3.6.3 At this stage no utility searches have been carried out, but it is envisaged that there is enough 
flexibility within the road designs that utility diversion/protection works could be avoided where 
needed.

LIGHTING  

3.6.4 It is envisaged that there may be a requirement to provide lighting for some / all of the Route 
Options (in particular Route Options B, C, and D).  This would be considered further once the 
preferred Route Option is taken forward.    

GROUND RISK AND REMEDIATION  

3.6.5 It should be noted that Route Options B, C and D skirt Oakley Playing Fields, which is an historic 
landfill site.   The stability (or level of contamination) of the land, and potential implications in 
terms of the preferred route alignment and carriageway make-up, is unknown at this stage.  It is 
recommended that a ground risk assessment is undertaken prior to any construction works.   

FUTURE ADOPTION 

3.6.6 Should it be required, it is envisaged that Route Options C or D could potentially be upgraded to 
adoptable standards, to serve any potential future development.  However, please note 
[depending on the initial specification of the carriageway] that there would be a likely requirement 
to upgrade the carriageway sub base and base course, and drainage and lighting.    

Page 264



17

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 

Access Road Study Project No 70024730 
October 2016

3.7 ROUTE OPTIONS EXCLUDED FROM THIS STUDY 

EXISTING INTERNAL CEMETERY AND CREMATORIUM ROADS 

3.7.1 As detailed above, one of the main constraints to achieving both access and egress to the 
proposed new Crematorium from within the existing Cemetery and Crematorium is the presence 
of a solitary one-way road which links the older western and newer eastern sections (which is 
lined by existing gravestones). 

3.7.2 Although this route is excluded from this study, Peter Mitchell Associates (grave specialist) has 
been commissioned to undertake a separate study to determine the potential implications 
associated with using / modifying the existing internal route to serve the proposed new Cemetery.  
In addition, Peter Mitchell Associates has also considered the implications of potentially upgrading 
an existing internal pedestrian footpath to provide vehicular access.     

3.7.3 The findings of Peter Mitchell Associates report are summarised in Chapter 4 of this report, and 
are included in Appendix E.

ALTERNATIVE ROUTE OPTIONS TO NORTH AND SOUTH 

3.7.4 CBC in their brief has outlined the following alternative potential vehicular route options and 
subsequent reasons for their exclusion from this study: 

Via Prestbury village and Noverton Farm from the north - farm land not owned by the Council; 

Via Prestbury village and Finchcroft Lane from the north – costs and legal issues associated 
with need to bridge Noverton brook; and 

Via Oakley Farm housing development from the south - costs and legal issues associated 
with need to bridge Wyman’s brook and complications of traffic flow through Oakley Farm 
housing estate. 

Page 265



18

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 

Access Road Study Project No 70024730 
October 2016

4 ROUTE OPTIONS – OPPORTUNITIES 
AND CONSTRAINTS 

4.1 INTRODUCTION 

4.1.1 This Chapter of the report considers the opportunities and constraints presented by the proposed 
vehicular Access Route, and by each of the proposed vehicular Egress Routes (Options A, B, C, 
and D), as detailed by Chapter 3 of this report. 

4.1.2 For ease of reference, the opportunities and constraints presented by each of the routes have 
been numbered, and have been marked on the relevant Route Option plans (SK-002, SK-004 to 
SK-007 and SK-08).  Where the points identified are general to the route, these are highlighted in 
the key of the relevant Route Option plan. 

4.1.3 This Chapter also summarises the advice received from Peter Mitchell Associates and CBC’s 
Tree Officer.  

4.2 OPPORTUNITIES AND CONSTRAINTS  

ACCESS ROUTE  

4.2.1 For reference, the location of each of the opportunities and constraints detailed below are 
illustrated on WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff drawing number SK-02.

4.2.2 It is worth noting that in this option, there would still be a requirement to provide a temporary 
haulage route to the proposed new Crematorium (see opportunities and constraints for Route 
Options B, C and D).  

Opportunities  

1. The proposed access route does not require the construction of any new roads internally or 
externally to the existing Cemetery and Crematorium.  

2. This proposed access route would not result in any displacement of traffic onto the local 
highway network, nor would this route impact on any existing operation of / parking along 
local streets (i.e. along Imjin Road). 

3. The proposed access route relies on existing roads which currently serve the existing 
Cemetery and Crematorium; as such it would not impact on any existing hedgerows / trees / 
habitats. 

Constraints 

4. The existing Grade II listed gates (main entrance and inner) on entry to the existing Cemetery 
and Crematorium restrict vehicle movements to one-way.  Although, in this option the gates 
would not be required to be widened, it is worth noting that there would likely still be an issue 
with queuing and delays experienced at the main entrance (as per the current situation).  

5. This Option would result in increased traffic movements internally within the existing 
Cemetery and Crematorium.  In particular, there would be a likely increase in traffic using the 
one-way section of road which skirts the northern boundary of the older western section of the 
existing Cemetery and Crematorium (which is currently used to access the wider existing 
Cemetery and Crematorium).  This could result in increased congestion internally within the 
existing Cemetery and Crematorium.      

Page 266



19

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 

Access Road Study Project No 70024730 
October 2016

6. The existing internal Cemetery and Crematorium roads are narrow in places.  As such, any 
intensification of use of these routes (resulting from the relocation of the Crematorium) could 
result in internal congestion / delays and increased safety risks to pedestrians.  

7. In general, the existing internal roads, in particular within the older western section of the 
existing Cemetery and Crematorium are observed to be in poor condition (the road surface is 
cracked / breaking up in numerous locations).  This is likely to be exacerbated as a result of 
the relocation of the Crematorium and the intensification of traffic using these roads.  

ROUTE OPTION A  

4.2.3 For reference, the location of each of the opportunities and constraints detailed below are 
illustrated on WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff drawing number SK-04.

4.2.4 It is worth noting that in this option, there would still be a requirement to provide a temporary 
haulage route to serve the proposed new Crematorium [please see opportunities and constraints 
for Route Options B, C and D].  

Opportunities  

1. Route Option A is contained within the curtilage of the existing Cemetery and Crematorium.  
As such it does not rely on the use of any existing [or proposed] external roads. 

2. The length of the proposed new road section [in isolation] required for Route Option A is 
considerably less than the proposed new road sections proposed for Route Options B, C and 
D.

3. Route Option A does not impact on existing housing estates to south (i.e. noise / pollution). 

4. Route Option A does not impact on Oakley Playing Fields to the south.   

Constraints  

5. This Option would potentially result in the loss of parking internally within the existing 
Cemetery and Crematorium (where it is proposed to use the existing car park located to the 
immediate west of the Garden of Remembrance). 

6. This Option involves crossing one Ordinary Watercourse (Wyman’s Brook Tributary), which 
will likely need a simple assessment of flood risk and water quality impacts in consultation 
with GCC as Lead Local Flood Authority. 

7. The proposed route alignment is in close proximity to an active badger sett.  Any works within 
30 m of the sett will require further consideration.  Should the badger sett be directly affected 
a licence would be required to close the sett.  Should works be required within 30 m of the 
sett, a pre-works check and subsequent ecological method statement would be required.  The 
pre-works check should be carried out within eight weeks of the construction start date in 
case a licence is required. 

8. The proposed route alignment falls within 250 m of ponds suitable for Great crested newts.  A 
record of Great crested newt was returned by the desk study, located 180 m from the survey 
area.  Previous Great crested newt surveys did not identify any Great crested newts within the 
pond surveyed.  However, only one of the three suitable ponds was surveyed.  The Natural 
England Great crested newt Risk Grading Tool was applied to ascertain the risk of causing an 
offence under Great crested newt legislation.  The results of this were ‘Amber: Offence 
Likely’.  It is therefore recommended that presence/likely absence surveys for Great crested 
newts be undertaken, which would then inform further recommendations. 

9. The proposed route alignment skirts near existing trees that are suitable for roosting bats.  
Micro-siting of the road alignment is advised to ensure mature trees are not affected.  Should 
tree works be required further survey for bats may be necessary.  This could include aerial 
assessments and/or dusk/dawn emergence surveys for bats within the bat activity season. 

Page 267



20

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 

Access Road Study Project No 70024730 
October 2016

10. The area in which the route is proposed is considered to contain habitats suitable for breeding 
birds.  Clearance works should be carried out outside of the breeding bird season (considered 
to be March - September).  If this were not possible, additional ecological input would be 
required.  This could include pre-works breeding bird checks and ecological supervision of 
clearance works. 

11. The area in which the route is proposed is considered to be suitable habitat for reptiles.  It is 
recommended that a detailed Method Statement be written to control vegetation clearance 
methods and ensure legal compliance. 

12. Habitats of Principal Importance, specifically existing hedgerows and lowland woodland have 
potential to be impacted by the proposed route alignment.  This would likely be taken into 
consideration at the planning stage to comply with relevant legislation.  These habitats should 
ideally be avoided by the proposed route and where this is not possible. 

13. The proposed alignment would likely impact directly on Bouncers Lane Cemetery, which is a 
Grade II listed Park and Gardens, and includes the following Grade II Listed buildings / 
structures:

13.1 Main entrance and inner gates to the existing Cemetery and Crematorium; 

13.2 Cemetery Lodge; 

13.3 North and South Chapel; and 

13.4 Octagonal Lodge (located approximately 15m northwest of the North and South 
Chapel). 

14. The proposed alignment would directly impact on existing deciduous woodland which is 
identified within the Priority Habitat Inventory.

15. The proposed alignment would directly impact on the following tree types:

15.1 Common Beach (Category A1 tree); and 

15.2 Copper Beach (Category A1 tree). 

16. The proposed alignment could directly impact on existing graves. 

ROUTE OPTION B 

4.2.5 For reference, the location of each of the opportunities and constraints detailed below are 
illustrated on WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff drawing numbers SK-05.

4.2.6 It should be noted that Route Option B could also be used as a temporary haulage route for 
construction traffic, in which two potential options have been considered for the existing Cemetery 
and Crematorium access road section (see WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff drawing number SK-08).

Opportunities  

1. Route Option B would result in the bulk of traffic being taken away from the existing internal 
Cemetery and Crematorium roads (albeit the section of road located between the two existing 
gated entrance points), which in turn would reduce internal congestion / delays.   

Constraints  

2. For the operational phase, this Option would require the provision of a new internal junction 
where the proposed new section of road (external to the existing Cemetery and Crematorium) 
would tie into the internal section of road located between the two existing gated entrance 
points.  There is potential for increase congestion / conflict as a result of the proposed 
arrangement. 

Page 268



21

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 

Access Road Study Project No 70024730 
October 2016

3. The existing Farm Track, which skirts the southern boundary of the existing Cemetery and 
Crematorium is narrow and observed to be in poor condition.  This would likely require 
upgrading and resurfacing.  

4. Of the two options for construction access which are currently considered for the internal 
section of road located between the two existing gated entrance points (see WSP | Parsons 
Brinckerhoff drawing SK-08): 

1. In Option 1 – construction traffic would be directed to use the existing Farm Track via 
Ladysmith Road.  This would require that the existing access is upgraded to 
accommodate construction traffic.  

2. In Option 2 – the narrowing of the existing Cemetery and Crematorium access road 
(to accommodate the construction route) would require the introduction of one-way 
controlled workings (such as temporary traffic lights).  This arrangement would likely 
lead to increased congestion and delays (particularly during peak hours).  

3. In Option 2 – this arrangement would likely lead to increased traffic movements at the 
existing [modified] access. 

4. In Option 2 – there would be a potential requirement to widen the main entrance 
gates to the existing Cemetery and Crematorium (or control movements). 

5. In both Options – it is noted that there are currently areas of parking located along the 
existing access which could restrict movements / result in congestion.  

6. In both options – there would be an intensification of traffic movements, in particular 
construction vehicles, on the local highway network in the vicinity of the existing 
access which could result in increased congestion and delays (particularly during 
peak hours).   

5. Potential highway safety implications associated with bringing construction traffic through the 
existing Cemetery and Crematorium access.  

6. This Option involves crossing a Main River (Wyman’s Brook Tributary) which will likely need a 
simple assessment of flood risk and water quality impacts in consultation with the 
Environment Agency. 

7. This Option crosses the proposed ditch / culvert offtake from Wyman’s Brook Tributary for the 
Priors Farm Flood Storage Area. The timing of construction and future proofing of the FSA 
Scheme should be considered in conjunction with its designers. 

8. This Option appears to run within 8m of the Environment Agency’s Main River (Wyman’s 
Brook Tributary), alongside the football pitches. An Environmental Permit is required from the 
Environment Agency for any works within this distance from top of bank 

9. The proposed route alignment is in close proximity to an active badger sett.  Any works within 
30 m of the sett will require further consideration.  Should the badger sett be directly affected 
a licence would be required to close the sett.  Should works be required within 30 m of the 
sett, a pre-works check and subsequent ecological method statement would be required.  The 
pre-works check should be carried out within eight weeks of the construction start date in 
case a licence is required. 

10. The proposed route alignment falls within 250 m of ponds suitable for Great crested newts.  A 
record of Great crested newt was returned by the desk study, located 180 m from the survey 
area.  Previous Great crested newt surveys did not identify any Great crested newt within the 
pond surveyed.  However, only one of the three suitable ponds was surveyed.  The Natural 
England Great crested newt Risk Grading Tool was applied to ascertain the risk of causing an 
offence under Great crested newt legislation.  The results of this were ‘Amber: Offence 
Likely’.  It is therefore recommended that presence/likely absence surveys for Great crested 
newts be undertaken, which would then inform further recommendations. 

11. The proposed route alignment skirts near existing trees which trees that are suitable for 
roosting bats.  Micro-siting of the road alignment is advised to ensure mature trees are not 

Page 269



22

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 

Access Road Study Project No 70024730 
October 2016

affected.  Should tree works felling be required further survey for bats may be necessary 
required.  This could include aerial assessments and/or dusk/dawn emergence surveys for 
bats within the bat activity season. 

12. The area in which the route is proposed contains suitable breeding bird habitat.  Clearance 
works should be carried out outside of the breeding bird season (considered to be March - 
September).  If this were not possible, additional ecological input would be required. This 
could include pre-works breeding bird checks and ecological supervision of clearance works. 

13. The area in which the route is proposed contains suitable habitat for reptiles.  It is 
recommended that a detailed Method Statement be written to control vegetation clearance 
methods and ensure legal compliance. 

14. Habitats of Principal Importance, specifically existing hedgerows, running water and lowland 
woodland, have potential to be impacted by the proposed route alignment.  This would likely 
be taken into consideration at the planning stage to comply with relevant legislation.  These 
habitats should ideally be avoided by the proposed route and where this is not possible. 

15. The proposed alignment would likely impact directly on Bouncers Lane Cemetery, which is a 
Grade II listed Park and Gardens, and includes the following Grade II Listed buildings / 
structures:

15.1 Main entrance and inner gates to the existing Cemetery and Crematorium; 

15.2 Cemetery Lodge; 

15.3 North and South Chapel; and 

15.4 Octagonal Lodge (located approximately 15m northwest of the North and South 
Chapel). 

16. The proposed alignment would directly impact on existing deciduous woodland which is 
identified within the Priority Habitat Inventory.

17. The proposed alignment would directly impact on the following tree types:

17.1 Cedar (Category B1/C1 tree). 

18. The proposed route would impact on areas of mixed vegetation (trees, hedgerows), which 
have not been included as part of the arboriculture survey, and may be of potential local 
conservation importance. 

19. The route would skirt the northern boundary of Oakley Playing Fields, which is an historic 
landfill site.  The stability of the landfill site is unknown, and would likely require a separate 
Ground Investigation Study.  

20. The proposed route would directly impact on the existing residential properties (approximately 
16 in total) (in terms of noise and pollution) which skirt the southern boundary of the Farm 
Track.  There is also potential that the existing playing fields could be contaminated.   

21. The option crosses a water body.  This means riparian species have potential to be 
impacted.  Depending on the final route alignment, further surveys for otters, water vole and 
white clawed crayfish may be required.

22. The route alignment would impact on the existing basketball court and northernmost football 
pitch. 

ROUTE OPTION C 

4.2.7 For reference, the location of each of the opportunities and constraints detailed below are 
illustrated on WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff drawing number SK-06.

4.2.8 It should be noted that Route Option C could also be used as a temporary haulage route for 
construction traffic.

Page 270



23

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 

Access Road Study Project No 70024730 
October 2016

Opportunities  

1. Route Option C would not impact on the existing Cemetery and Crematorium.  

2. The provision of a new separate road to the existing Cemetery and Crematorium would 
reduce traffic movements at the existing Cemetery and Crematorium access (from Bouncers 
Lane).

3. The proposed route alignment would not directly impact on the existing car park which serves 
Oakley Playing Fields.  

4. Route Option C could be used to access potential future development land / proposed flood 
alleviation scheme located to the south of the proposed new Crematorium. 

Constraints  

5. This Option would require traffic (construction and operational) to use Imjin Road.  The 
potential implications associated with this are as follows: 

1. Potential for access to be obstructed by motorists parking along both sides of Imjin 
Road; and 

2. Potential congestion / delays resulting from increased traffic using Imjin Road;  

3. Increased safety concerns resulting from increased traffic using Imjin Road; and 

4. Potential impacts on wider network, including along B4075 Priors Road.  

6. This Option involves crossing a Main River (Wyman’s Brook Tributary) which will likely need a 
simple assessment of flood risk and water quality impacts in consultation with the 
Environment Agency. 

7. This Option crosses two proposed culverts associated with the Priors Farm Flood Storage 
Area. The timing of construction and future proofing of the FSA Scheme should be considered 
in conjunction with its designers. Suitable cover should be sought over the culvert. 

8. This Option appears to run within 8m of the Environment Agency’s Main River (Wyman’s 
Brook Tributary), alongside the football pitches. An Environmental Permit is required from the 
Environment Agency for any works within this distance from top of bank. 

9. The proposed route alignment falls within 250 m of ponds suitable for Great Crested Newts.  
A record of Great Crested Newt was returned by the desk study, located 180 m from the 
survey area.  Previous Great Crested Newt surveys did not identify any Great Crested Newt 
within the pond surveyed.  However, only one of the three suitable ponds was surveyed.  The 
Natural England Great Crested Newt Risk Grading Tool was applied to ascertain the risk of 
causing an offence under Great Crested Newt legislation.  The results of this were ‘Green: 
Offence Highly Unlikely’ due to the location of the ponds and the extent of habitat to be 
affected.  Therefore no surveys are required in this instance.   It is recommended that once 
the exact scope of works has been agreed this assessment is confirmed.   It is recommended 
that should Option C be taken forward, all works are carried out under a precautionary 
method of working for great crested newts. 

10. The proposed route alignment skirts near existing trees that are suitable for roosting bats.  
Micro-siting of the road alignment is advised to ensure mature trees are not affected.  Should 
tree works be required further survey for bats may be necessary.  This could include aerial 
assessments and/or dusk/dawn emergence surveys for bats within the bat activity season. 

11. The area in which the route is proposed contains suitable breeding bird habitat.  Clearance 
works should be carried out outside of the breeding bird season (considered to be March – 
September inclusive).  If this were not possible, additional ecological input would be required.  
This could include pre-works breeding bird checks and ecological supervision of clearance 
works. 

Page 271



24

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 

Access Road Study Project No 70024730 
October 2016

12. The area in which the route is proposed contains suitable habitat for reptiles.  It is 
recommended that a detailed Method Statement be written to control vegetation clearance 
methods and ensure legal compliance. 

13. The option crosses one water body and comes in close proximity to another.  This means 
riparian species have potential to be impacted.  Depending on the final route alignment, 
further surveys for otters, water vole and white clawed crayfish may be required. 

14. Habitats of Principal Importance, specifically existing hedgerows, have potential to be 
impacted by the proposed route alignment.  This would likely be taken into consideration at 
the planning stage to comply with relevant legislation.  These habitats should ideally be 
avoided by the proposed route and where this is not possible impacts should be minimised. 

15. The proposed route would impact on areas of mixed vegetation (trees, hedgerows), which 
have not been included as part of the arboriculture survey, and may be of potential local 
conservation importance. 

16. The route would skirt the southern boundary of Oakley Playing Fields, which is an historic 
landfill site.  The stability of the landfill site is unknown, and would likely require a separate 
Ground Investigation Study. There is also potential that the existing playing fields could be 
contaminated.   

17. The proposed route alignment would impact on the existing football fields and associated 
changing facilities (effectively bisecting the two).  

18. The proposed route alignment would impact on the existing children’s playground.  

19. The proposed route alignment would require re-profiling of land / potential introduction of 
retaining wall along the southern boundary of the Oakley Football Fields.

ROUTE OPTION D 

4.2.9 For reference, the location of each of the opportunities and constraints detailed below are 
illustrated on WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff drawing number SK-07.

4.2.10 It should be noted that Route Option D could also be used as a temporary haulage route for 
construction traffic. 

Opportunities  

1. Although Route Option D would skirt the southern boundary of the existing Cemetery and 
Crematorium, it would not impact directly on any existing graves. 

2. The provision of a new separate road to the existing Cemetery and Crematorium would 
reduce traffic movements at the existing Cemetery and Crematorium access (from Bouncers 
Lane).

3. The proposed route alignment would not directly impact on the existing car park which serves 
Oakley Playing Fields.  

4. Route Option D could be used to access potential future development land / proposed flood 
alleviation scheme located to the south of the proposed new Crematorium. 

Constraints  

5. This Option would require that traffic (construction and operational) would use Imjin Road.  
The potential implications associated with this are as follows: 

1. Potential for access to be obstructed by motorists parking along both sides of Imjin 
Road; and 

2. Potential congestion / delays resulting from increased traffic using Imjin Road;  

3. Increased safety concerns resulting from increased traffic using Imjin Road; and 

Page 272



25

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 

Access Road Study Project No 70024730 
October 2016

4. Potential impacts on wider network, including along B4075 Priors Road.  

6. This Option involves crossing a Main River (Wyman’s Brook Tributary) which will likely need a 
simple assessment of flood risk and water quality impacts in consultation with the 
Environment Agency. 

7. This Option crosses the proposed ditch / culvert offtake from Wyman’s Brook Tributary for the 
Priors Farm Flood Storage Area. The timing of construction and future proofing of the FSA 
Scheme should be considered in conjunction with its designers. 

8. This Option appears to run within 8m of the Environment Agency’s Main River (Wyman’s 
Brook Tributary), alongside the football pitches. An Environmental Permit is required from the 
Environment Agency for any works within this distance from top of bank. 

9. The proposed route alignment is in close proximity to an active badger sett.  Any works within 
30 m of the sett will require further consideration.  Should the badgers sett be directly affected 
a licence would be required to close the sett.  Should works be required within 30 m of the 
sett, a pre-works check and subsequent ecological method statement would be required.  The 
pre-works check should be carried out within eight weeks of the construction start date in 
case a licence is required. 

10. The proposed route alignment falls within 250 m of ponds suitable for Great crested newts.  A 
record of Great crested newt was returned by the desk study, located 180 m from the survey 
area.  Previous Great crested newt surveys did not identify any Great crested newt within the 
pond surveyed.  However, only one of the three suitable ponds was surveyed.  The Natural 
England Great crested newt Risk Grading Tool was applied to ascertain the risk of causing an 
offence under Great crested newt legislation.  The results of this were ‘Amber: Offence 
Likely’.  It is therefore recommended that presence/likely absence surveys for Great crested 
newts be undertaken, which would then inform further recommendations. 

11. The proposed route alignment skirts near existing trees which trees that are suitable for 
roosting bats.  Micro-siting of the road alignment is advised to ensure mature trees are not 
affected.  Should tree works felling be required further survey for bats may be necessary 
required.  This could include aerial assessments and/or dusk/dawn emergence surveys for 
bats within the bat activity season. 

12. The area in which the route is proposed contains suitable breeding bird habitat.  Clearance 
works should be carried out outside of the breeding bird season (considered to be March - 
September).  If this were not possible, additional ecological input would be required.  This 
could include pre-works breeding bird checks and ecological supervision of clearance works. 

13. The area in which the route is proposed contains suitable habitat for reptiles.  It is 
recommended that a detailed Method Statement be written to control vegetation clearance 
methods and ensure legal compliance. 

14. Habitats of Principal Importance, specifically existing hedgerows, running water and lowland 
woodland have potential to be impacted by the proposed route alignment.  This would likely 
be taken into consideration at the planning stage to comply with relevant legislation.  These 
habitats should ideally be avoided by the proposed route and where this is not possible 
impacts should be minimised. 

15. The proposed alignment would likely impact indirectly on Bouncers Lane Cemetery, which is 
a Grade II listed Park and Gardens, and includes the following Grade II Listed buildings / 
structures: 

15.1 Cemetery Lodge; 

15.2 North and South Chapel; and 

15.3 Octagonal Lodge (located approximately 15m northwest of the North and South 
Chapel). 

16. The proposed alignment would directly impact on existing deciduous woodland which is 
identified within the Priority Habitat Inventory.

Page 273



26

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 

Access Road Study Project No 70024730 
October 2016

17. The proposed route would impact on areas of mixed vegetation (trees, hedgerows) which 
have not been included as part of the arboriculture survey, and may be of potential local 
conservation importance. 

18. The route would skirt the north and west of Oakley Playing Fields, which is an historic landfill 
site.  The stability of the landfill site is unknown, and would likely require a separate Ground 
Investigation Study.  There is also potential that the existing playing fields could be 
contaminated.   

19. The proposed route would directly impact on the existing residential properties (approximately 
8 in total) (in terms of noise and pollution) which skirt the western boundary of Oakley Playing 
Fields. 

20. The proposed route alignment would require re-profiling of land / potential introduction of 
retaining wall along the western boundary of the Oakley Football Fields. 

21. The option crosses one water body and comes in close proximity to another.  This means 
riparian species have potential to be impacted.  Depending on the final route alignment, 
further surveys for otters, water vole and white clawed crayfish may be required.

22. The route alignment would impact on the existing basketball court and northernmost football 
pitch

4.3 EXTERNAL ADVICE   

GRAVE SPECIALIST  

4.3.1 As detailed in Chapter 3 of this report, Peter Mitchell Associates has also undertaken a separate 
study which identifies the issues surrounding the potential use / modification of the existing 
internal road (and potential pedestrian footpath) which links the older western and newer eastern 
sections of the existing Cemetery and Crematorium. 

4.3.2 In addition, Peter Mitchell Associates has also considered the implications, in terms of impacts on 
existing graves resulting from the proposed Route Options (namely Route Options A and B) 
identified within this report.  

In summary, Peter Mitchell Associates report identifies: 

“In my view, there is no legislation that is applicable to authorising the removal of memorials 
and burials in an operational local authority cemetery; 

Based upon the information that I have received, of the routes identified by WSP | Parsons 
Brinckerhoff which impact directly on the cemetery (namely A and B), I recommend that 
Route B shown in purple on the WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff’s drawing SK03 is regarded as 
having a much greater chance of being feasible than Route A shown in yellow, due to the 
clear indications of coffin burials along Route A; 

Similarly, Route B shown in purple on the WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff’s drawing SK03 avoids 
areas clearly used for coffin burials within the areas shaded orange and red on the RES 
Surveying Topographic Survey Sheet 13; and 

The proposals threaten to disturb a place where the bodies and ashes of deceased people lie 
and thereby have the potential to cause great distress to bereaved people, which must be 
recognised by the team working on this project.” 

4.3.3 For reference, a copy of Peter Mitchell Associates report is contained in Appendix E.

Page 274



27

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 

Access Road Study Project No 70024730 
October 2016

TREE SPECIALIST  

4.3.4 As detailed in Chapter 3 of this report, to help understand the potential impacts on the existing 
trees internal and external to the existing Cemetery and Crematorium, WSP | Parsons 
Brinckerhoff has discussed the proposed Route Options with Chris Chavasse (Senior Tree 
Officer) at CBC. 

4.3.5 For reference his comments are summarised below for each Route Option (A-D), with a copy of 
the Chris’s full comments included at Appendix F.

Route A would incur the most tree related damage/removals and may be the most expensive 
to construct but would ultimately fit best into this landscape on the assumption that a 
generous landscaping scheme could mitigate for tree loss/damage.  This may be technically 
the most challenging route to achieve due to the “no-dig” requirement where the route 
deviates into the root protection area of existing large trees; 

Route B would incur some loss of boundary screening and trees along front of drive (if drive is 
to be widened).  However, re-landscaping could mitigate for this loss.  This new route would 
fit aesthetically well into the local environment; 

Route C would not incur significant tree loss but the proposed new road may look 
incongruous through this open space.  Some ground cover would have to be removed; and 

Route D would also not incur significant tree loss but some ground cover would need to be 
removed.  The road would fit more discretely into the landscape. 

Page 275



28

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 

Access Road Study Project No 70024730 
October 2016

5 FURTHER CONSIDERATIONS 

5.1 INTRODUCTION 

5.1.1 This Chapter considers the potential additional tasks that could be required should any of the 
proposed Route Options be progressed further.  More specifically, the Chapter considers potential 
future survey requirements, consultation, cost implications and deliverability.  

5.2 POTENTIAL SURVEY REQUIREMENTS 

TRAFFIC IMPACTS  

5.2.1 When compared to the existing service time information provided by CBC, the ATC survey 
recorded a maximum of 113 and 159 vehicles entering and exiting the existing Cemetery and 
Crematorium, respectively (which occurred during two separate hours).  This equates to 
approximately 1.5 vehicles per minute in either direction.  

5.2.2 Assuming that the hours of operation of the proposed new Crematorium would reflect that of the 
existing Cemetery and Crematorium (i.e. services would be held between 10:00 and 16:00), traffic 
generated by the proposed new Crematorium would not be anticipated to conflict with the peak 
hours of operation of the local highway network.  

5.2.3 Notwithstanding this, given that two of the routes identified in this report rely on the use of Imjin 
Road for access, GCC, as relevant highway authority, may request that further analysis is 
undertaken (as part of any assessment required to support a planning application) to understand 
the potential impacts that the development proposals, in terms of traffic generation, could have on 
the existing local highway network (in particular Imjin Road / Priors Road).   

5.2.4 Based on the traffic volumes derived from the ATC survey (and in the absence of any detailed 
assessment) we do not envisage that there would be a need to undertake any significant 
upgrades to the existing Imjin Road / Priors Road junction.  This is however subject to discussions 
with GCC highways department.  

5.2.5 Internally, vehicles are currently permitted to park along the existing access road between the 
main entrance and inner gates.  However, CBC has indicated that they would potentially look to 
prohibit parking in this location once the proposed new Crematorium is in place.  Should this be 
the case, then there may be a requirement to assess the likely impacts on parking displacement 
(although this is not envisaged to be substantial). 

5.2.6 Externally, it is also worth noting that, should there be a requirement to use Imjin Road to access 
the proposed new Crematorium, there may also be a need to undertake a parking beat survey to 
understand existing parking demand and any impacts associated with the potential displacement 
of parking.     

Page 276



29

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 

Access Road Study Project No 70024730 
October 2016

PROTECTED SPECIES 

BADGERS

5.2.7 The proposed route alignments are in close proximity to an active badger sett.  Any works within 
30 m of the sett will require further consideration.  Should the badgers sett be directly affected a 
licence would be required to close the sett.  Should works be required within 30 m of the sett, a 
pre-works check and subsequent ecological method statement would be required.  The pre-works 
check should be carried out within eight weeks of the construction start date in case a licence is 
required.   

5.2.8 The peak time to survey badgers is February to April.  Should a licence and sett closure be 
required it should be noted that no closures can take place between December and June due to 
the dependence of juveniles upon their mothers. 

RIPARIAN

5.2.9 The route options potentially cross one water body and comes in close proximity to another.  This 
means riparian species have the potential to be impacted.  Depending on the final route 
alignment, further surveys for otters, water vole and white clawed crayfish may be required.   

5.2.10 The optimal time of year to carry out surveys for water vole is from mid-April to September, whilst 
otter survey can be undertaken at any time of year.  Surveys carried out after heavy rains are not 
advisable, as field signs are often washed away.  White clawed crayfish should be surveyed 
during late summer (July to September). 

BATS

5.2.11 The proposed route alignments skirt near existing trees that are suitable for roosting bats.  Micro-
siting of the road alignment is advised to ensure mature trees are not affected.  Should tree works 
or felling be required further survey for bats may be necessary required.  This could include aerial 
assessments and/or dusk/dawn emergence surveys for bats within the bat activity season (May to 
September).   

5.2.12 Preliminary ground level roost assessments of trees are best carried out in winter due to the lack 
of foliage.  

5.2.13 Should trees identified as being of moderate roost suitability or high roost suitability need to be 
removed or affected then the following surveys would need to be undertaken under best practice 
guidance (BCT Guidelines, 2016): 

Table 5.1 Potential Bat Surveys   

Low roost suitability Moderate roost suitability High roost suitability 

No further surveys required Two separate survey visits.  One 
dusk emergence and a separate 
dawn re-entry survey. 

Surveys undertaken between May 
to September, with at least one 
survey between May and August. 

Three separate survey visits. At 
least one dusk emergence and a 
separate dawn re-entry 
survey.  The third visit could be 
either dusk or dawn. 

Surveys undertaken between May 
to September, with at least two 
surveys between May and August. 

Page 277



30

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 

Access Road Study Project No 70024730 
October 2016

BREEDING BIRDS 

5.2.14 The areas in which the routes are proposed are suitable breeding bird habitat.  Clearance works 
should be carried out outside of the breeding bird season (February to August).  If this were not 
possible, additional ecological input would be required.  This could include pre-works breeding 
bird checks and ecological supervision of clearance works. 

5.2.15 The breeding bird season is considered to be February to August.  Vegetation clearance within 
this time would require ecological supervision.  

GREAT CRESTED NEWTS 

5.2.16 Ponds within the survey area were identified as being suitable for Great crested newts and 
records of Great crested newts were returned within 180 m of the survey area by a previous third 
party survey.   

5.2.17 It is recommended that presence/absence survey be undertaken under best practice guidance in 
the event that options A, B or D are selected.  Should option C be selected it is recommended 
that a detailed Method Statement be written to protect against breaches of legislation.   

5.2.18 Presence absence survey would consist of four survey visits between mid-March to mid-June, 
with at least two of these visits during mid-April to mid-May. 

ADDITIONAL ECOLOGICAL DETAILS   

5.2.19 Further detail regarding the potential ecological survey requirements and implications on the 
programme for delivery is included in Appendix G.

HERITAGE 

5.2.20 Consultation should be undertaken with the relevant CBC Planning and Conservation Officers at 
the earliest opportunity. Widening of the Grade II listed entrance pillars will require listed building 
consent prior to works commencing. 

5.2.21 The timescales for achieving listed building consent will vary depending on the outcomes of 
consultation with CBC planning and Conservations Officers (and / or any third parties).   

5.2.22 Landscape consultation should be undertaken with the Cotswold AONB Conservation Board at 
the earliest opportunity. The proposed scheme may impact on the setting of the AONB; therefore 
it is advisable to inform the Board of the proposals.  Although not envisaged to be significant, the 
potential implications of constructing a new route adjacent to the AONB, would not be fully 
understood until discussions have been held with the Cotswold AONB Conservation Board. 

5.2.23 It is also worth noting that the proposed Route Options (namely Route Options A and B) would 
impact upon the existing Bouncers Lane Cemetery, which is a Grade II listed Park and Gardens. 
As such, CBC as Local planning Authority would likely have to liaise directly with Historic England 
to understand the potential implications associated with the preferred Route Option.  

GROUND INVESTIGATION 

5.2.24 The Oakley Playing Fields historical landfill site has been identified as a potential risk to delivery 
of Route Options B, C and D.  Construction on or in the vicinity of a landfill site can give rise to 
abnormal costs which need to be considered when assessing the feasibility and design of the 
various scheme options. Landfill material is often heterogeneous and contaminated which can 
give rise to a number of geotechnical and contaminated land constraints. 

Page 278



31

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 

Access Road Study Project No 70024730 
October 2016

5.2.25 Depending on the route option under consideration and subject to further information in relation to 
the extent of the landfill, in order to evaluate the significance of potential constraints and abnormal 
constraints, an intrusive geotechnical and geo-environmental assessment is required. The 
assessment will need to obtain data on the composition of the landfill material and underlying 
geology, geotechnical parameters, contamination concentrations, hydrogeological and ground 
gas regimes.  

5.2.26 Potential measures which may be required to mitigate potential ground and contamination 
related  constraints may include the use of piled foundations, ground improvement / stabilisation 
of materials, retaining features and removal of unacceptable material; and the installation of long 
term leachate and / or ground gas control measures. 

SUMMARY 

5.2.27 Based on the above, it is anticipated that the following surveys could be required for each of the 
proposed vehicular egress Route Options 

Table 5.2 Potential Survey Requirements   

SURVEY TYPE ROUTE OPTION A ROUTE OPTION B ROUTE OPTION C ROUTE OPTION D

Traffic X X

Badger X X X

Riparian X X X X

Bats X X X X

Breeding Birds X X X X

Great crested newts X X X X

Ground Investigation X X X X

5.3 OFF-SITE HIGHWAY WORKS 

5.3.1 Although this report does not take into consideration the design and construction of the preferred 
route option, it should be noted that where it is intended to link into the existing highway network 
(i.e. Imjin Road) there may be a need to enter into a S278 minor works agreement (or similar 
agreement) to undertake any necessary works. This could also be the case should there be a 
requirement to undertake any off-site highway improvements on the local highway network (i.e. 
Imjin Road / Priors Road junction).  

5.4 CONSTRUCTION PERMITS FOR WORKS NEAR WATERCOURSES 

5.4.1 Works within 8m of an Environment Agency Main River (Wyman’s Brook and Tributary) will 
require an Environmental Permit. The process and timescales for this will vary depending on the 
final design. However, early consultation with the Environment Agency is recommended, and 
between 4 and 12 weeks are required for determination. Prior to the granting of the permit no 
works should be undertaken within 8m of the top of bank. 

5.4.2 It is recommended that more detailed consultation is undertaken with Gloucestershire County 
Council to identify who will approve any required Land Drainage Consents prior to construction. 
Powers have been delegated to Cheltenham Borough Council but it is expected they are unable 
to self-approve an application. 

5.5 CONSULTATION  

5.5.1 Owing to the proposed alignment of each of the Route Options considered and their associated 
impacts, CBC are likely to have to enter into discussions / consultation with: 

General Public; 

Page 279



32

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 

Access Road Study Project No 70024730 
October 2016

GCC (Highways Authority); 

Environment Agency; 

Historic England; and 

Natural England. 

5.5.2 Please note that the above list is by no means extensive, and is intended to provide an indication 
of likely third parties that would need to be consulted.    

5.6 COST IMPLICATIONS  

5.6.1 It is understood that Willmott Dixon will prepare a detailed cost estimate of each of the Route 
Options described in this report, which will be provided to CBC under separate cover.   Please 
note that there would be a likely difference in costs associated with constructing the 3m 
carriageway to serve the proposed new Crematorium, and any future upgrade of the route/s to 
meet adoptable standards.  

5.7 DELIVERABILITY 

PLANNING RISK 

5.7.1 Owing to the complexities surrounding each of the proposed Route Options, it is difficult to gauge 
the level of planning inputs required and subsequent time-frames for their delivery.    

5.7.2 However, based on the information presented in this report, it is considered that: 

Route Option A would impact directly on graves / ash scatterings within the existing Cemetery 
and Crematorium, which could carry significant risk in terms of achieving planning / 
deliverability.    

Route Options B carries low to medium risk, in the respect that it relies on the use of external 
land (Farm Track) to provide a new road, which would likely impact directly on existing 
residents and existing trees / hedgerows located to the south of the existing Cemetery and 
Crematorium).  

Route Option C and D carry higher risk, as they rely on land outside of the existing Cemetery 
and Crematorium, which could require considerable consultation / planning inputs.    It is 
considered that Route Options C and D would be the most expensive (to be confirmed by 
Willmott Dixon) of the four Route Options to implement (owing to their length and their 
variations in height).  

5.7.3 It is considered that CBC would take a view on the likely planning risks and subsequent 
timeframes for delivery of each Route Option following receipt of this report.  

CBC’S ‘ACCESS ROAD BRIEF – INITIAL DRAFT’ 

5.7.4 Each of the proposed Route Options has been evaluated against the points raised I CBC’s 
‘Access Road Brief – Initial Draft’, namely: 

Most positive impact on proposed Crematorium Redevelopment Project budgeted costs; 

Least negative impact on Crematorium Redevelopment Project timescales; 

Maximise likelihood of planning permission, taking account of the sensitivity of the location; 
the nearby Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty and public green space aspirations; 

Ability to deal with expected traffic volumes; 

Page 280



33

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 

Access Road Study Project No 70024730 
October 2016

Least negative impact on local facilities, e.g. cemetery, sports facilities including paying fields, 
playground etc.; and 

Greatest social value through enabling or not constraining flood alleviation schemes; 
allotment provision; local green space designation and potential for future housing 
development. 

5.7.5 In respect of the first two points, these are addressed through the earlier points raised in this 
report.  The latter points are considered in Table 5.3, over page.  

Page 281



34

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Access Road Study Project No 70024730 

October 2016

Table 5.3 Route Options Appraisal (Against Points Highlighted by CBC’s Brief) 

ROUTE 

OPTION 
AONB 

PUBLIC GREEN 

SPACE
TRAFFIC VOLUMES

LOCAL FACILITIES 

– CEMETERY

LOCAL FACILITIES 

– OAKLEY 

PLAYING FIELDS

LOCAL FACILITIES 

- PLAYGROUND

FLOOD ALLEVIATION SCHEME 

(FAS) 
FUTURE DEVELOPMENT

Access No Impact No Impact 

Potential 
implications 

internally with re-
distribution of 

traffic 

No Impact No Impact No Impact No Impact 
Not considered feasible 
to facilitate any future 

development  

A* No Impact No Impact 

Potential 
implications 

internally with re-
distribution of 

traffic 

Direct impact on 
existing graves / 
memorial area 

No Impact No Impact No Impact 
Not considered feasible 
to facilitate any future 

development 

B
Indirect 
Impact 

(setting) 

Direct impact 
on Public 

Green Space 

Potential 
implications 

internally with re-
distribution of 

traffic 

Direct impact on 
main access to 

existing 
Cemetery and 
Crematorium 

Indirect impact 
(skirts north of 
Oakley Playing 

Fields) 

No Impact 

Indirect impact on location of 
FAS scheme   

Direct impact in respect that 
proposed alignment crosses 
culverts associated with the 
Priors Farm Flood Storage 

Area 

Not considered feasible 
to facilitate any future 

development (owing to 
use of existing Cemetery 
and Crematorium access 

road / and road width 
constraints presented by 

Farm Track) 

C
Indirect 
Impact 

(setting) 

Direct impact 
on Public 

Green Space 

Direct impact on 
Imjin Road 

No Impact Direct impact 

Direct / Indirect 
Impact – 

depending on 
preferred route 

alignment  

Indirect impact on location of 
FAS scheme   

Direct impact in respect that 
proposed alignment crosses 
culverts associated with the 
Priors Farm Flood Storage 

Area 

Considered feasible to 
facilitate any future 

development 

D
Indirect 
Impact 

(setting) 

Direct impact 
on Public 

Green Space 

Direct impact on 
Imjin Road 

No Impact Direct impact No Impact 

Indirect impact on location of 
FAS scheme   

Direct impact in respect that 
proposed alignment crosses 
culverts associated with the 
Priors Farm Flood Storage 

Area 

Considered feasible to 
facilitate any future 

development 

* Please note that in Route Option A, a separate haulage route would need to be considered (i.e. Route Options B, C and D).  

P
age 282



35

WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff                                                                                                                                  WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Access Road Study                                                                                                                                                          Project No 70024730                                                                                                          
                                                                                                                                                                                                      October 2016

6 SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION 

6.1 SUMMARY

6.1.1 This report summarises the transport / highways, flood risk, ecological, and environmental 
opportunities and constraints presented by various potential Route Options which are proposed to 
serve a new Crematorium in Cheltenham.  

6.1.2 This study has been commissioned on the basis that the existing internal road network which 
currently serves the existing Cemetery and Crematorium is deemed insufficient to serve the 
proposed new Crematorium. 

6.1.3 This report does not seek to highlight the preferred vehicular route option, but provides a review of 
opportunities and constraints presented by each vehicular route option, which in turn will assist 
CBC in making their decision of the preferred access strategy for the proposed new Crematorium. 

6.1.4 The proposed Route Option alignments presented in this report are intended to serve the 
proposed new Crematorium.  However, where sufficient space allows, an indicative outline 
(dashed line) has been provided along the Route Option alignments which denotes a 9.5m wide 
carriageway, which allows for the provision of a two-way route (with footways) to serve any 
potential future development to the south of the proposed new Crematorium. 

6.1.5 In support of this study, WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff has obtained additional specialist advice 
from: 

Peter Mitchell Associates – Independent Grave Specialist; and 

Chris Chavasse – Senior Tree Officer (CBC). 

6.1.6 WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff has also sought advice from GCC highways department; however a 
response has not been received in sufficient time to inform this report.  

6.1.7 This report has also been informed by a number of existing ecological / environmental surveys 
which were commissioned by CBC at the existing Cemetery and Crematorium.  

6.1.8 Based on the information available and points raised by this report, there will likely be a 
requirement to undertake additional surveys (see Chapter 5) prior to implementing the preferred 
Route Option.   In addition, there would be likely requirement to consult with third parties.  

6.1.9 It is understood that Willmott Dixon will prepare a detailed cost estimate of each of the Route 
Options described in this report, which will be provided to CBC under separate cover. 

6.1.10 For ease of reference, the Route Options are summarised in Table 6.1, along with a description of 
the key opportunities and constraints and an indication of the likely level of risk of delivery (low to 
high).  

6.2 CONCLUSION  

6.2.1 This report demonstrates that, by virtue of its nature and location, there are a number of potential 
constraints which need to be considered and addressed prior to the implementation of any of the 
potential Route Options (A, B, C, and D) to serve the proposed new Crematorium.   

Page 283



36

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Access Road Study Project No 70024730 

October 2016

Table 6.1 Route Options Summary  

ROUTE 

OPTION
DESCRIPTION

POTENTIAL USE 

(CONSTRUCTION /
OPERATIONAL)

KEY OPPORTUNITIES KEY CONSTRAINTS RISK

Access
Use of existing internal roads to 
access the proposed new 
Crematorium 

Operational [only]  The proposed access route does not require the construction of any new 
internal or external roads. 

 This proposed access route would not result in any displacement of traffic 
onto the local highway network. 

 The proposed access route would not impact on any existing hedgerows / 
trees / habitats. 

 Existing main entrance gates restrict access to one-way.  

 Likely intensification of traffic along specific internal routes resulting in internal 
congestion / delays.  

 Existing internal roads are narrow and observed to be in poor condition in places. 

Low

A

Relies in part on the use of the 
existing internal Cemetery roads, 
and the provision of a new 3m wide 
access road which would skirt the 
northern boundary of the Garden of 
Remembrance. 

Operational [only] 

 The proposed access route would be contained within the curtilage of the 
existing Cemetery and Crematorium. 

 The length of the proposed new road section [in isolation] required for 
Route Option A is considerably less than the proposed new road sections 
proposed for Route Options B, C and D 

 The proposed access route does not impact on Oakley Playing Fields / 
residential estates to the south of the existing Cemetery and Crematorium.

 Impacts on existing graves.  The proposals threaten to disturb a place where the 
bodies and ashes of deceased people lie and thereby have the potential to cause 
great distress to bereaved people (Grave Specialist) (see Section 4.3).  

 Would potentially result in loss of internal parking. 

 The proposed route alignment is in close proximity to an active badger sett.  

 The proposed route alignment falls within 250 m of ponds suitable for Great 
crested newts.  

 Would impact on existing established trees / hedgerows. 

 Route A would incur the most tree related damage/removals and may be the 
most expensive to construct but would ultimately fit best into this landscape on 
the assumption that a generous landscaping scheme could mitigate for tree 
loss/damage (Tree Officer) (see Section 4.3). 

High 

B

Relies on use of part of the existing 
internal Cemetery access road, 
between the two gated entrance 
points, and then the provision of a 
new 3m wide access road which 
would link to the existing access 
road (in the vicinity of the internal 
gated entrance point) and would 
skirt the southern boundary of the 
existing Cemetery and 
Crematorium.  Consideration has 
also been given to two potential 
options to split construction and 
operational traffic within of the 
existing Cemetery and 
Crematorium.  

Construction and 
Operational  

 Traffic would be taken away from existing internal Cemetery and 
Crematorium roads. 

 Preferred Route Option by Grave Specialist which does not impact on 
existing graves (Grave Specialist) (see Section 4.3). 

 Provision of new junction onto existing internal Cemetery and Crematorium 
access road could lead to potential congestion / conflict. 

 Construction access: 
- Option 1 - Farm Track likely to require significant upgrading. 
- Option 2 – Would require introduction of one-way workings 
- Option 2 –Would potentially require the widening of the Grade II Listed main 

entrance gates (or introduction of control measures). 

 Potential highway safety implications associated with bringing construction traffic 
through the existing Cemetery and Crematorium access. 

 Proposed Route Option alignment would cross Main River, which would require 
consultation with Environment Agency / Environmental Permit.  

 The proposed route alignment is in close proximity to an active badger sett.  

 The proposed route alignment falls within 250 m of ponds suitable for Great 
crested newts.  

 Would impact on existing established trees / hedgerows, and residential 
dwellings located to south of the existing Cemetery and Crematorium access 
road.

 Proposed Route alignment would skirt northern extent of Oakley Playing Fields, 
which is an historic landfill site.   The stability of the landfill site is unknown.  

 Route B would incur some loss of boundary screening and trees along the 
access road (if drive is to be widened).  However, re-landscaping could mitigate 
for this loss.  This new route would fit aesthetically well into the local environment 
(Tree Officer) (see Section 4.3). 

Medium / High 

C

Includes the provision of a new 3m 
wide access road which would skirt 
the southern extent of Oakley 
Playing Fields and the agricultural 
land to the south of the proposed 
development site, and would link the 
proposed new development to Imjin 
Road at its western extent. 

Construction and 
Operational 

 The proposed access route would not impact on the existing Cemetery 
and Crematorium 

 The provision of a new separate road would reduce traffic movements at 
the existing Cemetery and Crematorium access. 

 The proposed access route could be used to access potential future 
development land / proposed flood alleviation scheme located to the south 
of the proposed new Crematorium. 

 Potential highway operation and safety implications resulting from additional 
traffic movements along Imjin Road.  

 Proposed Route Option alignment would cross Main River, which would require 
consultation with Environment Agency / Environmental Permit.  

 Route crosses proposed ditch / culvert offtake from Wyman’s Brook Tributary for 
the Priors Farm Flood Storage Area.   

 The proposed route alignment falls within 250 m of ponds suitable for Great 
crested newts.  

 Proposed Route alignment would skirt southern extent of Oakley Playing Fields, 
which is an historic landfill site.   The stability of the landfill site is unknown. 

Route C would not incur significant tree loss but the proposed new road may look 
incongruous through this open space.  Some ground cover would have to be 
removed (Tree Officer) (see Section 4.3). 

High 

D

Hybrid of both Route Options B and 
C.  Includes the provision of a new 
3m wide road is proposed which 
would run between Imjin Road, up 
the western boundary of Oakley 

Construction and 
Operational 

 The provision of a new separate road would reduce traffic movements at 
the existing Cemetery and Crematorium access. 

 The proposed access route could be used to access potential future 
development land / proposed flood alleviation scheme located to the south 
of the proposed new Crematorium. 

 Potential highway operation and safety implications resulting from additional 
traffic movements along Imjin Road.  

 Proposed Route Option alignment would cross Main River, which would require 
consultation with Environment Agency / Environmental Permit.  

 Route crosses proposed ditch / culvert offtake from Wyman’s Brook Tributary for 

High 

P
age 284



37

Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Access Road Study Project No 70024730 

October 2016

ROUTE 

OPTION
DESCRIPTION

POTENTIAL USE 

(CONSTRUCTION /
OPERATIONAL)

KEY OPPORTUNITIES KEY CONSTRAINTS RISK

Playing Fields, and along the 
northern boundary of Oakley 
Playing Fields (along the same 
alignment as Route Option B – i.e. 
following the existing Farm Track 
alignment. 

the Priors Farm Flood Storage Area.   

 The proposed route alignment is in close proximity to an active badger sett.  

 The proposed route alignment falls within 250 m of ponds suitable for Great 
crested newts.  

 Proposed Route alignment would skirt southern extent of Oakley Playing Fields, 
which is an historic landfill site.   The stability of the landfill site is unknown. 

 The proposed route would directly impact on the existing residential properties 
(approximately 16 in total) (in terms of noise and pollution) which skirt the 
southern boundary of the Farm Track. 

 Route D would also not incur significant tree loss but some ground cover would 
need to be removed.  The road would fit more discretely into the landscape (Tree 
Officer) (see Section 4.3). 

P
age 285



ROUTE OPTION PLANS

Page 286



WSP Group Ltdc

P
age 287



WSP Group Ltdc

P
age 288



1

WSP Group Ltdc

P
age 289



WSP Group Ltdc

P
age 290



1

 

WSP Group Ltdc

 

P
age 291



1

WSP Group Ltdc

P
age 292



1

 

WSP Group Ltdc

 

P
age 293



WSP Group Ltdc

P
age 294



Appendix A 
CBC’S ACCESS ROAD BRIEF  

Page 295



ACCESS ROAD BRIEF – INITIAL DRAFT 

Page 1 of 6

Introduction & Background 

Cheltenham Borough Council is intending to build a new crematorium on land it owns immediately to the 

east of its existing Cemetery and Crematorium off Bouncers Lane, Cheltenham. See Diagram 1.  

An independent options appraisal undertaken in 2015 by Robert Potters and Partners, identified possible 

entrance and exit routes to and from a new crematorium and car park, producing some initial ideas for 

routes within the existing cemetery and land owned by the council to the south. See Diagram 2. 

Principal Contractor for the project, Willmott Dixon has recently completed a feasibility study of a 

conceptual plan for the new facilities which includes a comparison of two alternative exit routes, one 

inside the existing grounds and one to the south known as Prior’s Farm. 

While studies so far have been useful conceptually, it is clear the Council and its partnering Contractor 

require a comprehensive impact assessment study and detailed appraisal of possible operational access 

routes taking account of all relevant factors. This need was also suggested in a strategic development 

report undertaken by the lead planning Officer who advises the Crematorium Redevelopment Project 

Board.

The crematorium development project is constrained by an allocated budget which has no provision for 

land purchase. Therefore certain possible access route options have been ruled out for further 

consideration. As such, the following possible routes can be discounted for the reasons stated: 

a. Via Prestbury village and Noverton Farm from the north - Farm land not owned by the Council 

b. Via Prestbury village and Finchcroft Lane from the north – Costs and legal issues associated with 

need to bridge Noverton brook 

c. Via Oakley Farm housing development from the south - Costs and legal issues associated with need 

to bridge Wyman’s brook and complications of traffic flow through Oakley Farm housing estate 

Objectives 

Provide a comprehensive report, which is able to support any forthcoming planning application, to 

Cheltenham Borough Council and Willmott Dixon, analysing options for: 

- The preferred operational access routes to and from the proposed new crematorium and car park 

- Construction traffic haul road ( Principal Contractor’s temporary Works) 

- Reducing Project risk in terms of practical implementation and costs 

Scope

Ingress to the proposed new facilities via the existing entrance to the cemetery has always been the 

preferred operational option. However the options for a permanent egress route are numerous, and the 

following shall be included and considered in this study. See Diagram 3: 

- Utilising existing routes through the cemetery investigating all reasonable alternative routes therein 

- Utilising the existing redundant farm track to the southern boundary of the cemetery and 

investigating all variants thereof 

- Utilising existing land within Prior’s Farm and the playing field leading from Imjin Road to the south 

In conjunction with the operational access route options the study shall investigate and consider the best 

option for the Contractor’s temporary Works construction traffic haul road, taking into account both 

time and cost to the project delivery programme. 

The study shall reference all necessary legislative and regulatory requirements pertaining to roads, civil 

engineering, trees, conservation restrictions, burials, playing fields, traffic and environmental impact 

assessments and the like, in order to provide a definitive report that can be used to support future 

planning application/s.

Page 296



ACCESS ROAD BRIEF – INITIAL DRAFT 

Page 2 of 6

Constraints 

Conceptual plans for the location of the new crematorium and car park. See Willmott Dixon feasibility 

study.

Deliverables 

1. A report to the Council and Willmott Dixon setting out: 

- Options considered  

- Assessment against criteria including development and operational costs, timescales and 

risks

The report should set out in CAD format: 

- Road routes 

- Road characteristics, including but not limited to, separation; drainage; width; lanes; surface; 

footpaths; lighting, future adoption; etc. 

The report must include 

- An assessment of likely traffic volumes taking into account the option to build a second 

chapel in the future. 

- An assessment of likely traffic volumes along local roads. 

- Adequate engineering drawings to support the feasibility of the chosen option, including any 

topographical surveys required. 

2. A presentation supporting the report to be given to the Council, Willmott Dixon and other 

relevant parties. 

Quality 

Options should be evaluated against the following assessment criteria: 

- Most positive impact on proposed Crematorium Redevelopment Project budgeted costs 

- Least negative impact on Crematorium Redevelopment Project timescales 

- Maximise likelihood of planning permission, taking account of the sensitivity of the location; the 

nearby Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty and public green space aspirations. 

- Ability to deal with expected traffic volumes 

- Least negative impact on local facilities, e.g. cemetery, sports facilities including paying fields, 

playground etc. 

- Greatest social value through enabling or not constraining flood alleviation schemes; allotment 

provision; local green space designation and potential for future housing development 

Assumptions 

It’s assumed that local residents will be consulted as part of the planning application process and 

therefore no public consultation is required during this study. 

Report Delivery Timescales 

To be agreed with Willmott Dixon and CBC 

Reporting 

To: 

- Cheltenham Borough Council Senior Responsible Officer (Mike Redman) 

- Cheltenham Borough Council Senior Property Surveyor (Garrie Dowling) 

Page 297



ACCESS ROAD BRIEF – INITIAL DRAFT 

Page 3 of 6

- Project Principal Contractor (Willmott Dixon) 

Stakeholders 

- Crematorium Programme Team 

- Cabinet Member 

- Ward Members 

- Cabinet Member Working Group 

- Project Design Team (Willmott Dixon / Pick Everard / Roberts Limbrick) 

- Cheltenham Borough Council Senior Engineer (Flood Alleviation Scheme lead Officer) 

- Cheltenham Borough Council Green Environment Service Manager (Allotments & Playing Fields) 

- Cheltenham Borough Council Managing Director (Place and Economic Development) 

Attachments

- Willmott Dixon feasibility report (draft) 

- Lead Planning Officer’s report on Prior’s Farm 

Site investigation and survey works undertaken to date and available include:  

- Topographical surveys of the Cemetery & Crematorium 

- Cemetery & Crematorium Heritage statement of significance  

- Ecology Surveys (Extended Phase 1 Habitat survey; great crested newt survey; reptile survey; badger 

survey; bats surveys)  

- Arboricultural surveys  

- Hydro-geotechnical (Tier 1) survey  

- Archaeological survey (Heritage Desk-based assessment and geophysical survey)  

Page 298



ACCESS ROAD BRIEF – INITIAL DRAFT 

Page 4 of 6

Diagram 1 – Location Plan 

P
age 299



ACCESS ROAD BRIEF – INITIAL DRAFT 

Page 5 of 6

Diagram 2 – Site Plan 

P
age 300



ACCESS ROAD BRIEF – INITIAL DRAFT 

Page 6 of 6

Diagram 3 – Potential Routes 

P
age 301



Appendix B 
STUDY AREA CONSTRAINTS 

Page 302



APPENDIX B - STUDY AREA 
CONSTRAINTS 

INTRODUCTION 

The following Sections consider the existing constraints presented by the overall study area (see 
Chapter 4 of the main report for individual Route Options opportunities and constraints).  

For ease of reference, the site-wide constraints have been split out by discipline (transport, flood risk, 
ecology, and environmental).  

TRANSPORT AND HIGHWAYS 

EXTERNAL ROAD NETWORK 

There is currently no formal vehicular access arrangement to the proposed development site, other 
than local field access.  As such motorists would rely on either the existing [potentially upgraded] 
access to the existing Cemetery and Crematorium from Bouncers Lane, a new access assuming use 
of the existing [upgraded] farm track located to the immediate south of the existing access, or via a 
new access road linking to Imjin Road further south.  

Although it is not anticipated that any additional trips would be generated by the proposals, 
consideration may need to be given to the potential impacts of any displaced traffic (i.e. to a new 
route) onto the existing highway network, including at the existing roads and junctions of: 

B4075 Priors Road; 

Imjin Road;  

Bouncers Lane; 

Cheltenham Cemetery and Crematorium / Bouncers Lane priority junction; 

Bouncers Lane / B4075 Priors Road priority junction; 

Bouncers Lane / Ladysmith Road priority junction (including Burma Avenue and the existing Farm 
Track); and 

B4075 Priors Road / Imjin Road / Whaddon Road crossroads.  

The existing road network that serves the residential estate to the south of the existing Cemetery and 
Crematorium comprises of predominantly residential streets, where there are currently no restrictions 
on parking.  Should any of these streets be used to serve the proposed new Crematorium (in 
particular by construction traffic) there could be a requirement to restrict parking (so that sufficient 
width can be achieved for access) which in turn could result in potential displacement of parking onto 
the wider network.  Taking Imjin Road for example, the existing carriageway is between 7.5m and 8m.  
However, when taking into consideration parking (which currently occurs along both sides of the 
carriageway) the road width is effectively narrowed to below 4m (which is insufficient to accommodate 
two-way vehicular movements).  

Consideration would also have to be given to the potential safety implications associated with using 
these routes to access the proposed new Crematorium. 

Page 303



On-site observations of the Farm Track, which skirts the southern boundary of the existing Cemetery 
and Crematorium indicates that the track is narrow (to the north of the residential dwellings the Farm 
Track varies in width from 2.5m at its western extent to 1.4m at its eastern extent) and overgrown.  
Furthermore, the track abuts existing properties to the south.  Significant works could be required to 
upgrade this route to serve the proposed new Crematorium.   We understand that CBC control the 
Farm Track between the existing Cemetery and Crematorium and the northern edge of the residential 
estates.  

INTERNAL ROAD NETWORK 

In respect of the internal access roads which currently serve the existing Cemetery and Crematorium, 
the following constraints have been identified: 

The existing Cemetery and Crematorium / Bouncers Lane priority junction is informal and lends 
itself to confusion; 

The existing gates on entry to the existing Cemetery and Crematorium are not wide enough to 
accommodate two-way vehicle movements; 

Part of the access road (between the main entrance and inner gates) is unrestricted; as such 
parked vehicles can impede access.  This is particularly evident during peak periods of operation 
(i.e. when a service is held);  

There is only one road which links the older western and newer eastern sections of the existing 
Cemetery and Crematorium.  This route is one-way at present and is lined by numerous graves / 
stones (which limit the potential for any localised widening works to accommodate future two-way 
movements); and 

The existing internal routes, in particular within the older western section of the existing Cemetery 
and Crematorium are observed to be narrow and in poor condition (the road surface is cracked / 
breaking up in numerous locations). 

For reference, the existing vehicular access and egress routes within the existing Cemetery and 
Crematorium are illustrated on WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff drawing SK-01.

As detailed above, one of the main constraints to achieving both access and egress internal within the 
existing Cemetery and Crematorium is the presence of a solitary one-way road which links the older 
western and newer eastern sections of the existing Cemetery and Crematorium (which is lined by 
existing gravestones).    

FLOOD RISK 

As discussed in Chapter 2 of this report, the study has a low flood risk, with flooding predicted to be 
constrained to the watercourses and immediate surrounds. The overall study area constraints are as 
follows: 

Crossings of watercourses, which will require Ordinary Watercourse Consent and/or 
Environmental Permit applications. Box culverts may be allowed but the impacts on ecology and 
water quality will have to be discussed with the Lead Local Flood Authority and Environment 
Agency where appropriate; and 

Ensuring that the future construction of the Whaddon FAS Scheme is not compromised by the 
development works. 

The latest design drawings for the Whaddon FAS Scheme have been obtained from CBC’s 
consultant’s ch2m and overlain with the route options.  The location of Whaddon FAS Scheme in 
relation to the proposed Route Options (considered in Chapter 4 of this report) is shown on WSP | 
Parsons Brinckerhoff’s drawing SK-03.  As can be seen from the plan over page, all but Route Option 
A cross the proposed scheme. 

For reference and extract of WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff’s drawing (SK-03).  

Page 304



Figure 1 Extract of Flood Alleviation Scheme Drawing with Proposed Routes 

ECOLOGY

Between 2015 and 2016, CBC commissioned a number of surveys at the existing Cemetery and 
Crematorium, which included: 

Badger Survey (undertaking by Lepus Consulting in July, 2015); 

Reptile Survey (undertaken by Lepus Consulting in June, 2015); 

Extended Phase I Habitat Survey (undertaken by Lepus Consulting in April, 2015); 

Bat Survey (undertake by Aspect Ecology in February, 2016); 

Great Crested Newt Survey (undertaken by Lepus Consulting in June, 2015); and 

Arboriculture Survey (undertaken by Tree King Consulting in November, 2015).   

The following Sections detail the findings of the above-detailed reports.   

DESIGNATED SITES AND PROTECTED HABITATS 

Designated areas of note include the Cleeve Common SSSI (2.1km north-west) and the Puckham 
Woods SSSI (3km east). 

HABITATS OF PRINCIPLE IMPORTANCE 

During the site visit, four Priority Habitats were identified within the study area, comprising of 
deciduous woodland, running water, standing water and hedgerows.  

Page 305



PROTECTIVE SPECIES  

BADGERS

The badger survey identified two badger setts within the existing Cemetery and Crematorium area.  
These were located in the north west corner of the existing Cemetery and Crematorium (the Nursery 
sett) and in the south of the existing Cemetery and Crematorium near the entrance to the Garden of 
Remembrance ( the Garden of Remembrance sett).  For further details please refer to the Extended 
Phase 1 Habitat Survey report prepared by Lepus Consulting’s 

The entire scheme area is considered suitable for use by badgers for foraging, commuting and sett 
building. Badgers are protected under the Protection of Badgers Act (1992).  As such, it is an offence 
to wilfully take, kill, injure or ill-treat a badger, or possess a dead badger or any part of a badger.  
Under the Act, their setts are also protected against obstruction, destruction, or damage in any part. 

Sett interference includes damaging or destroying a sett, obstructing access to a sett, and disturbing a 
badger whilst it is occupying a sett.  The Act defines a badger sett as ‘any structure or place, which 
displays signs indicating the current use by a badger’ and Natural England (NE) takes this definition to 
include seasonally used setts.  

Work that may disturb badgers or their setts or damage or destroy a sett may take place under a 
licence from the relevant statutory body.  In England, licences are administered by NE.  This will 
usually require mitigation measures to be put in place as a condition of the licence. 

RIPARIAN SPECIES 

Two streams were identified by the Extended Phase 1 Habitat survey.  The streams are unknown 
stream that runs through the centre of the survey area and Wyman Brook, which runs immediately to 
the south of the survey area.  The streams were both observed during the constraints walkover and 
were both considered suitable to support riparian species (otter (Lutra lutra), water vole (Arvicola 
amphibius) and white clawed crayfish (Austropotamobius pallipes)).

Water voles are fully protected under the Wildlife and Countryside Act (1981, as amended) (WCA).  It 
is an offence to possess, control or sell water voles or to intentionally or recklessly kill, injure or take 
water voles.  It is also an offence to intentionally or recklessly damage, destroy or obstruct access to a 
place that water voles use for shelter or protection or disturb water voles whilst using such a place.   

Otters are fully protected under Schedule 2 of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 
2010 (as amended)(Conservation Regulations) which defines “European protected species of 
animals”, and also receive partial protection under the WCA. 

Taken together the Act and Regulations make it illegal to: 

deliberately kill, injure or capture otters;  

deliberately disturb otters (whether in a resting place or not);  

damage, destroy or obstruct access to a resting place used by an otter;  

possess or transport an otter or any part of an otter, unless acquired legally; or to 

sell, barter or exchange or advertise for such purposes an otter. 

Development activities that could result in impacts on otters should be modified to avoid/minimise the 
likelihood of an impact occurring in the first instance.  If impacts are unavoidable then the works may 
need to be carried out under a European Protected Species development licence, granted under the 
Conservation Regulations. 

White-clawed crayfish receive partial protection under Schedule 5 of the WCA.  This prohibits the 
taking of any native crayfish for any purpose except under licence.  They are listed on Annex II of the 
European Communities Habitats Directive (1992), which allows sites to be designated based on the 
species being present. 

Page 306



Otters, water voles and white-clawed crayfish are also Species of Principal Importance in England 
under Section 41 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 (NERC). 

DORMICE 

The habitats within the survey area were considered sub-optimal for dormice (Muscardinus 
avellanarius) as reported within the 2015 Extended Phase 1 Habitat survey by Lepus Consulting.  The 
constraints walkover observed sub-optimal habitat for dormice within the survey area and surrounding 
landscape. 

Dormice are therefore not considered further in this report. 

BATS

A bat tree inspection was undertaken in the eastern extent of the survey area, focussing on the area 
highlighted for the proposed new Crematorium works.  In the survey, Aspect Ecology identified 
several trees with potential to support roosting bats (for further detail please see Aspect Ecology’s 
report). 

The constraints walkover noted numerous tress in the south, east, and centre of the survey area that 
were suitable for roosting bats, although a full assessment was not within the scope of the constraints 
walkover. 

All 18 native UK bat species receive partial protection under Schedule 5 of the WCA.  The 
Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000 (CRoW) has amended the WCA in England and Wales and 
this act adds additional enforcement.  Barbastelle (Barbastella barbastellus), Bechstein’s bat (Myotis
bechsteinii), greater horseshoe bat (Rhinolophus ferrumequinum) and lesser horseshoe bat 
(Rhinolophus hipposideros) are also listed on Annex II of the Habitats Directive. 

Together this legislation makes it illegal to: 

Deliberately kill, injure or capture bats; 

Deliberately disturb bats whether in a roost or not, disturbance includes anything that is likely to 
impair their ability to survive, breed, reproduce or rear their young, or impair their ability to 
hibernate or migrate; 

Intentionally or recklessly disturb roosting bats or obstruct access to their roosts; 

Damage or destroy a bat roosting place (even if bats are not occupying the roost at the time); 

Possess or transport a bat or any part of a bat unless acquired legally; and; 

Sell or exchange bats, or parts of bats. 

Certain bat species are also Species of Principal Importance in England under Section 41 of the 
NERC Act.  These species need to be taken into consideration by a public body when performing any 
of its functions.  The species are: greater horseshoe bat, lesser horseshoe bat, Bechstein’s bat, 
noctule (Nyctalus noctula), soprano pipistrelle (Pipistrellus pygmaeus), brown long-eared bat 
(Plecotus auritus) and barbastelle.   

BREEDING BIRDS 

The survey area (Cheltenham Cemetery and Crematorium) contained numerous areas suitable for 
breeding birds, in particular areas of deciduous woodland, scrub and tall ruderal vegetation. 

All birds, their nests and eggs are protected by the WCA.  It is an offence to intentionally kill, injure, or 
take any wild bird, or take or destroy an egg of any wild bird.  It is also an offence to damage or 
destroy the nest of any wild bird (whilst being built, or in use).  Birds listed under Schedule 1 of the 
WCA are afforded additional protection with regard to intentional or reckless disturbance while nest 
building, or at a nest containing eggs or young, or disturb the dependent young of such a bird. 

Page 307



REPTILES 

The survey area contained numerous areas suitable for reptile, in particular areas of woodland edge, 
scrub and tall ruderal vegetation to the south and east of the survey area. 

The reptile survey was undertaken in the south and east of the survey area.  The survey did not 
identify any reptiles.  

The four common reptile species, adder (Vipera berus), grass snake (Natrix natrix), common lizard 
(Zootoca vivipara) and slow-worm (Anguis fragilis), are protected under Schedule 5 of the WCA 
against intentional killing, injuring and trade.  The natural range of the rarer UK reptile species 
(smooth snake (Coronella austriaca) and sand lizard (Lacerta agilis) does not include 
Gloucestershire, thus they are not considered further in this assessment.   

The widespread reptile species are also listed as Species of Principal Importance in England under 
Section 41 of the NERC Act. 

GREAT CRESTED NEWTS 

A survey for great crested newt (Triturus cristatus) (GCN) was undertaken of a single pond within the 
survey area.  Several other ponds were identified as suitable for GCN but were scoped out of the 
2015 survey by Lepus Consulting.  The survey did not identify any GCN. 

The constraints walkover identified two ponds that were considered suitable to support GCN. 

GCN receive full protection under the Conservation Regulations Schedule 2 and are also partially 
protected under the WCA Schedule 5.  It is illegal to deliberately capture, injure or kill, to intentionally 
or recklessly disturb, or to deliberately take or destroy the eggs of GCN.  It is also illegal to damage, 
destroy or intentionally or recklessly obstruct access to a breeding or resting place used by GCN.  All 
life stages of GCN are afforded the same level of protection. 

INVERTEBRATES (EXCLUDING WHITE CLAWED CRAYFISH)  

The habitats observed within the survey area during the ecological constraints walkover were 
considered unlikely to support a diverse range of invertebrate species (excluding white clawed 
crayfish). 

Invertebrates are therefore not considered further in this report. 

FLORA (INCLUDING INVASIVE SPECIES) 

No protected or invasive flora species were recorded within the existing Extended Phase 1 report by 
Lepus Consulting.  In addition, no protected or invasive flora species were observed during the 
ecological constraints walkover.  It must be noted however that no targeted invasive species surveys 
were undertaken; therefore, their absence is not confirmed.  

Protected or invasive flora species are not considered further in this report. 

ENVIRONMENTAL  

CBC commissioned Justin Ayton Ltd to prepare a Statement of Significance (dated January, 2015) to 
help formulate long-term plans for the evolution of the existing Cemetery and Crematorium.  The 
report has been used to inform the following sections if this report.   

Page 308



AIR QUALITY 

The entire proposed development site falls within an Air Quality management Area (AQMA). The 
whole borough of Cheltenham was declared an AQMA on the 18

th
 September, 2011, due to 

heightened levels of Nitrogen dioxide (NO2) sourced from road traffic.  Figure 2 illustrates the extent 
of the AQMA in Cheltenham.   

Figure 2 Cheltenham AQMA 

There are a number of air quality sensitive receptors located within the vicinity of the overall study 
area, which include: 

Adjacent residential properties and residents; and 

A school is located 250m North West of the Cemetery. 

ARCHAEOLOGY AND CULTURAL HERITAGE 

In respect of archaeology and cultural heritage: 

The land adjacent to the existing Cemetery and Crematorium is classified as a Grade II listed park 
and garden; 

The two the existing Cemetery and Crematorium Chapels are Grade II listed; and 

There are also two lodges, and two gateways (including the main entrance) and a tomb on the 
existing Cemetery and Crematorium grounds, which are all Grade II listed structures. 

Figure 3 illustrates (black triangles) the Grade II Structures and Land which surround existing the 
existing Cemetery and Crematorium.   

Page 309



Figure 3 Grade II Structures and Land surround Cemetery site 

CONTAMINATED LAND 

The Environment Agency interactive online map indicates that there are two historic (the exact date of 
their use is unknown, however it is understood that their last use was likely to be during the Victorian 
era) landfills in the immediate vicinity of the existing Cemetery and Crematorium.   

One is located directly to the north (Land at the Old Sand Pit), while the other is located directly to the 
south of the existing Cemetery and Crematorium (Recreation Ground at Oakley) which forms part of 
the study area. For reference, the locations of the landfill sites are illustrated on Figure 4.

Page 310



Figure 4 Historic Landfills located around Cemetery site 

LANDSCAPE 

The study area is located to the immediate east of a designated Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 
(AONB), as illustrated by Figure 5.

Figure 5 Illustrative Extent of Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty  

Page 311



NOISE AND VIBRATION 

There are a number of noise and vibration sensitive receptors located within 200m of the study area, 
including the existing residential properties located to the south of the existing Cemetery and 
Crematorium and to the west of Oakley Playing Fields.  

ARBORICULTURE 

There are a number of existing trees located within the study area which fall within the following 
categories:  

Class A: Exceptionally good trees or arboriculture features with >40 years useful safe life.  

Class B: Good trees with a minimum of 20 years useful safe life.  

Class C: Unremarkable trees of limited merit.  Minimum safe life of 10 years.  

Class U: Unsuitable for retention.  Likely to have <10 years useful safe life. 

The arboriculture survey, previously undertaken by Tree King Consulting, considered the 
classification and quality of the trees in the vicinity of the proposed vehicular route options.  The 
survey has been used to inform this study.   

CBC has confirmed that there are some trees (namely beech trees which are located to the north east 
of the chapel and adjacent to the rear garden of 6 Blackberry Field) which are subject to Tree 
Preservation Orders (TPO’s).  There are no trees with TPO’s in the vicinity of the proposed vehicle 
route options. 

It is worth noting however, that there are number of well-established trees, in particular along the 
southern boundary of the access road (between the main entrance and inner gates), and along the 
northern boundary of the Gardens of Remembrance.  

SOCIAL 

To the immediate south of the existing Cemetery and Crematorium, Oakley Playing Fields are 
designated as recreational ground. In addition, it is worth noting that there is also an existing 
children’s playground located at the southeast boundary of the playing fields. 

There is an existing public footpath which skirts the southern boundary of Oakley Playing Fields, and 
travels through the agricultural fields to the south of the proposed development site.  

For reference, the existing public footpath is illustrated on Figure 6.

Page 312



Figure 6 Indicative Location of Public Footpaths 

Page 313



Appendix C 
ATC SURVEY DATA AND SERVICE TIME INFORMATION 

Page 314



���������
�

	��
�
�����
��
���
��

��������
��	��
�
���

����������

���������

�

���������	
������

��������	
�����

����������������������������������������� �� �!�

��"��������� ������������������������ �� �!�

#�$��������%&&�����

'�����(�%&&����)�����*������+���*�

'�����(*�,�����!*�)-���+.�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

����� �!"#$�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

��%�%�&��'��(&)'�*+&	����

�	+� +'	���

� ����&�+,�

�

��&�+,�&+%�& �

/#%01)��2% � 
��

)'1)314� 5 2%##6.�

47�1� �
8��8	��
�

)%2�7)�� 2 ��%%21�

#1-6.6%2� �

Page 315



� �

� � $��-�.��	+� +'	���

� � � � ����� �!"#$�

� � � � � ����&�+,�

�

��' +' ��

�

6������������

�

4��$������9�:�������+��������/����

�

.����2������

�

.����/;���$��<;��

�

7<<������7�9�-�;�����)���$�������

�

7<<������=�9�7������������&&���)�����4����

Page 316



� �

� � $��-�.��	+� +'	���

� � � � ����� �!"#$�

� � � � � ����&�+,�

�

)' &�/�� )�'�

�

2����������4����)����������>24)?����������������"(�,./�/�������=����!��;�&&�����������!���������������

���&&���������>7�)?����);�����;��*�:����������;��� �

�

7�$����������������<�������$�@������4��$����� �

�

�

�0�12����� ������10���

�

�;���������������&&�����������>7�)?�������������������;��&�������$�����������

�

.�������);�����;���)������(�������*�%.:#��.%��
��	����

�

/�����1��
���1��

�

7�5����������
�����������������������&&����������*������;������<�����������"��*��������������;������ ��

�;������������������������&�����<�������&������!����������$�.������(�
�;�7�$����	��
 �

�

�;����������$������&�����;�@��"��������(�������<��������<����������������������;����(������@��� �4��������&�

�;�� @�;����� ����$������ A� �<���� "��� ������&��������� ���� $�@��� ��� 7<<������ 7*� ���� �� ��<(� �&� �;�� ����� ���

������������7<<������= �

�

�;����������������������3����;�� 3;�������<$���< �������������(��
�;�7�$��� �

�

/��3��2�#�4��
�
�����1����1��%����

.��@�(�

.����

Page 317



� �

� � $��-�.��	+� +'	���

� � � � ����� �!"#$�

� � � � � ����&�+,�

�

���
�'1�
��

�

� �����
��1�
��5�/����60������

�

�;��7�)��������������������;����������������������<��������!��(�����&&�����;��������� �

�

���
�%71�13��87�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

Page 318



����������

	
���
����
����
�

Page 319



����������	
����

�����
�����

��
��
���
�����������


�
�������	����
�������

����� ���� � !��"�# $#�% &'�'(�$��� !�(#%'%$���)#"�� �**��*'$�

� ������

�����	
�������������

������������� �� � �������������������

� ������

	
������	���� �

!�"�� �#!$ �%������ �

&�"
����� 	� �

����'����� �

������(�������������

( �#����) (

	
����*�+��"���*������ �

����,�� ���� ����� 	�* +

"��-.��( �

����'����� �

������(��� �

����'��������

������( # )

� � *+���������-�/����-� *� , ����'(�������������

( �

*
�����������-�/����

-� *( � ������(���"��-.���

'( � 0�-���������-�/ *# � �����'(���"��-.���

( (

*
���������

�����-������,�
�����

���1�"���,�
���������

������� 21*( -

����'(��� �������(���

"��-.��(

��'��

���&�"
��

�������-��

�������������

�������������

����'(���

��������#���"��-.�'�

�������������

�������������

����'(���

������)���"��-.�'�

'�3 '�

	������������������

�����-������,�
�����

���1�"���,�
���������

������� 21*3 ��

������3���"��-.�'�����

�����'3���"��-.��(

'3 #

�$�-4������5��,��

��-�/������������ $ �� "��-.��#��������'3

'3 '�)

$�-4���������.��������

���������5��,����-�/�

�����+������������

�������� $1* �� "��-.�'�)��������'3 (��5��,��

# '�

0�-������������-������

,�
��������1�"���

,�
���������������� 21*# .

) '�

0�,������������-������

,�
��������1�"���

,�
���������������� 21*) �

Appendix A - vehicle categories ATC 
NDC for

WSP Parsons Brinckerhoff

Page 320



����������	
����

�����
�����

��
��
���
�����������


�
���&��!�/����0�!�
�����!����

��'1#%* ��'1#%*

��2�� 3&�	

��2��� 3&�	4

��2��
3�	��

��&�

���2���
3�	�4�

��&�

���2��� 3�	��!5


���2�+� 3�	�4��!5


+��2�+� �'%

+��2�,� �  �.�

,��2�,�

,��2���

���2���

!��"�# $#�% !��"�# $#�%

	.����4����������6���)��.
 7��������
����
��.�������.���������

	.����4����������)����6��.
 7��������
����
��.�������.���������������.�������"�

	.����4�����������6����)��.

7��������
���2�89��2������������:��
��:�8������9::�������

����������2�89����8	&����6;<��.


	.����4�����������)����6��.
 7��������
���2�89����.�����������.�������"�

	.����4�����������6����)��.

7��������
���$0*��$�.��������0���*����.���������������$0*����

8	&�.�-���)�.
�

	.����4�����������)���(6��.
 7��������
���$0*����.�����������.�������"�

	.����4����������(6���()��.
 2,���"���.���

	.����4����������()���#6��.
 =)�
�.�����������.���

	.����4����������#6���#)��.


	.����4����������#)���)6��.


	.����4����������)6���))��.


���2���

���2���

���2�-�

-��2�-�

-��2�.�

.��2�.�

.��2���

���2���

���2����

����2����

����2����

����2����

����2����

����2����

����2��+�

�+��2��+�

�+��2��,�

	.����4����������))���36��.


	.����4����������36���3)��.


	.����4����������3)����6��.


	.����4�����������6����)��.


	.����4�����������)���=6��.


	.����4����������=6���=)��.


	.����4����������=)���>6��.


	.����4����������>6���>)��.


	.����4����������>)����66��.


	.����4�����������(6����()��.


	.����4�����������()����#6��.


	.����4�����������66����6)��.


	.����4�����������6)�����6��.


	.����4������������6�����)��.


	.����4������������)�����6��.


	.����4������������6�����)��.


	.����4������������)����(6��.


Appendix A - vehicle categories ATC 
NDC for

WSP Parsons Brinckerhoff

Page 321



���������	

�
�����������������
�������

Page 322



����������	
����

�����
�����

��
��
���
�����������


�����

���
	�
������ ���
�����

������

	�������

��	�

�����

���������� ��������
������

����
����
���������  ��������

����!�

������

	�����

"��!�������

	�����

����!�

�#�$�

	�����

"��!��#�$�

	�����

����!�%��

	�����

"��!�%��

	�����

&����

�����

'�"����

�����

����(�)�� *��
����+,��)-)���

.+*,

/���*.��)-)���

.+*,
.01' 1,' 1.* *'�0 ,2�*  '� .,�, ** +�1 *,�� .+�,

3���(�)�� *��
����+,��)-)���

.+*,

/���*.��)-)���

.+*,
.0� 1 + 1.. .+'�  +�� *+*1 21�2 .* +� * �2 .*� 

�4��4�� *��
����+,��)-)���

.+*,

/���*.��)-)���

.+*,
�0+� 02' '11 2011 ,,�' * 00 2+�� 2. +�� *,�0 .*�2

#����������#��������

�

���5�6*����!���$�789�$�

0,'���.2+*�

++*

������4��������#����
����

%��

3�����������:���
;����%%

������4��������#����
����

%��

3�����������:���
;����%%

P
age 323



���� ++* ����������	
����

	�
����� #����������#���������

���5�6*����!���$�789�$�0,'���.2+*� �����
�����

���
���� ����(�)�� ��
��
���
�����������


������������������


��� 
 ��! �!����"�#��� $ %&�	 %&�	' %�	� %�	�' %�	� %�	�' ��$ ())

� � * + � � , - � �� �� �� �� �� �� �� *� *� -�

�	 �( �(
 
.� 
.* 
+ ��
* ��
+ ��
� ��
� ./ /�
 ��&� ��&� /"
 /"


++++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+*++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+.++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+2++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+1++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+�++ * + * + + + + + + + + + + * *++ * *++ + + .*�� �

+,++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+ ++  . � + + + + + + + + + + 1 � �* . .'�, + + *1�0 �

+'++ ' + ' + + + + + + + + + +  ' �� 1 �+ + + *0�0 �

+0++ 2+ + .0 + * + + + + + + + + . 0+ ** 2,� + + *'�2 ..�1

*+++ .* + .* + + + + + + + + + + *' '�� ' 2'�* + + *'�1 ..�1

���� *� � *� � � � � � � � � � � ** -+0� �, +*0� � � �-0� ��0�

���� *� � ** � � � � � � � � � � �, ,,0� �* *,0� � � �,0, ��0,���� *� � ** � � � � � � � � � � �, ,,0� �* *,0� � � �,0, ��0,

*2++ 2+ + .0 + * + + + + + + + + .' 02�2 *, �2�2 * 2�2 .+ .2� 

*1++ .1 + .* + 2 + + + + + + + + .* ' �� *1 �'�2 + + *0�� ..�1

*�++ .+ + *0 + * + + + + + + + + *' 0+  2� + + *'�1 .*��

*,++ .+ + .+ + + + + + + + + + + *1  +  2� + + * �' .*� 

* ++ *0 * *' + + + + + + + + + + * '0�� *. ,2�. + + *0�* ..�*

*'++ *. * *+ + + + * + + + + + + , �+ . *,� + + *��* *'�*

*0++ 1 + 1 + + + + + + + + + + 2  � 2  � * .� .1�0 �

.+++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

.*++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

..++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

.2++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

�,1�� ��� � ��� � , � � � � � � � � ��� -* ��* +�0� � �0+ �-0+ ��0+

��1�� ��� � ��� � , � � � � � � � � ��* -�0� ��� +*0� � �0, �-0� ��0�

��1�� ��� � ��� � , � � � � � � � � ��* -�0� ��� +*0� � �0, �-0� ��0�

��1�� �,� � ��, � , � � � � � � � � ��+ -* ��, +*0* � �0, �-0� ��0�

������4��������#����
����

%��

3�����������:���
;����%%

P
age 324



���� ++* ����������	
����

	�
����� #����������#���������

���5�6*����!���$�789�$�0,'���.2+*� �����
�����

���
���� ����(�)�� ��
��
���
�����������


��$��,������������


��� 
 ��! �!����"�#��� $ %&�	 %&�	' %�	� %�	�' %�	� %�	�' ��$ ())

� � * + � � , - � �� �� �� �� �� �� �� *� *� -�

�	 �( �(
 
.� 
.* 
+ ��
* ��
+ ��
� ��
� ./ /�
 ��&� ��&� /"
 /"


++++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+*++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+.++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+2++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+1++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+�++ * + * + + + + + + + + + + * *++ * *++ + + .��2 �

+,++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+ ++ � + � + + + + + + + + + + � *++ * .+ + + * �

+'++ .* . *' + * + + + + + + + + *2 ,*�0 � .2�' + + *,�. *0� 

+0++ .+ + .+ + + + + + + + + + + *�  � ' 1+ * � *0�* .2�0

*+++ 1+ + 1+ + + + + + + + + + + 21 '� *1 2� + + * � .+�1

���� �+ � �+ � � � � � � � � � � +� -�0� �� +-0� � � �� ��0-

���� *� * *� � � � � � � � � � � *� ,�0� �� +� � � �-0� ������ *� * *� � � � � � � � � � � *� ,�0� �� +� � � �-0� ��

*2++ 2� * 22 + + * + + + + + + + .�  *�1 0 .�� + + *,�' *0��

�+�� *� � *, � � � � � � � � � � �- ,�0- �� *�0- � � ��0, ��0�

*�++ .� * .1 + + + + + + + + + + *'  .  .' + + * �2 .*� 

*,++ 2+ 2 . + + + + + + + + + + .+ ,,� 0 2+ + + *,�2 .*�0

* ++ *, . *1 + + + + + + + + + + ** ,'�' , 2 �� + + *,�1 .+�1

*'++  +  + + + + + + + + + +  *++ �  *�1 + + .*�2 �

*0++ 1 + 1 + + + + + + + + + + 1 *++ 2  � + + .*�, �

.+++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

.*++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

..++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

.2++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

�,1�� **� �* *�+ � � � � � � � � � � ��* ,�0+ ��- *�0� � �0* �,0� ��

��1�� **� �* *�- � � � � � � � � � � ��, ,�0, ��� *�0� � �0* �,0� ��

��1�� **� �* *�- � � � � � � � � � � ��, ,�0, ��� *�0� � �0* �,0� ��

��1�� **� �* *�� � � � � � � � � � � ��- ,�0- ��� *�0* � �0* �,0, ��0*

������4��������#����
����

%��

3�����������:���
;����%%

P
age 325



���� ++* ����������	
����

	�
����� #����������#���������

���5�6*����!���$�789�$�0,'���.2+*� �����
�����

���
���� ����(�)�� ��
��
���
�����������


 $��-������������


��� 
 ��! �!����"�#��� $ %&�	 %&�	' %�	� %�	�' %�	� %�	�' ��$ ())

� � * + � � , - � �� �� �� �� �� �� �� *� *� -�

�	 �( �(
 
.� 
.* 
+ ��
* ��
+ ��
� ��
� ./ /�
 ��&� ��&� /"
 /"


++++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+*++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+.++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+2++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+1++ * + * + + + + + + + + + + * *++ + + + + *��� �

+�++ * + * + + + + + + + + + + * *++ + + + + *' �

+,++ * + * + + + + + + + + + + * *++ * *++ + + .1� �

+ ++ ** . 0 + + + + + + + + + + , �1�� 2 . �2 + + *,�, .*

+'++ , + , + + + + + + + + + + 1 ,,� . 22�2 + + *,�, �

+0++ *' + * + * + + + + + + + + *. ,,� , 22�2 + + *,�. *0��

���� -� � ,� � * � � � � � � � � �, ,�0* �+ *� � �0* �,0� ��0-

**++ �0 + �. +  + + + + + + + + 2� �0�2 * .'�' + + *, .+�1

*.++ �+ + 1, + 1 + + + + + + + + *, 2. * . + + *1�* *,�'*.++ �+ + 1, + 1 + + + + + + + + *, 2. * . + + *1�* *,�'

�*�� ,� � ,* � + � � � � � � � � �� *�0� � ��0+ � � �*0� �,0�

*1++ 10 * 11 + 1 + + + + + + + + .� �* ' *,�2 + + *��* *0��

*�++ .. + .* + * + + + + + + + + *2 �0�*  2*�' + + * �1 ..�1

*,++ *1 + *. + . + + + + + + + + 0 ,1�2 1 .'�, + + * �2 .+�1

* ++ *2 * *. + + + + + + + + + + *+  ,�0 1 2+�' + + *,�' .+�'

*'++ *2 * *. + + + + + + + + + + ' ,*�� , 1,�. + + *,�0 *0�0

*0++ . + . + + + + + + + + + + . *++ . *++ + + .+�� �

.+++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

.*++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

..++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

.2++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

�,1�� +�+ - *-� � �� � � � � � � � � ��� �*0� �� �� � �0� ��0� ��0�

��1�� +�, - *-* � �� � � � � � � � � ��* �*0� �+ ��0� � �0� ��0� ��0�

��1�� +�, - *-* � �� � � � � � � � � ��* �*0� �+ ��0� � �0� ��0� ��0�

��1�� +�� - *-� � �� � � � � � � � � ��� �*0, �+ ��0+ � �0� ��0� ��0�

������4��������#����
����

%��

3�����������:���
;����%%

P
age 326



���� ++* ����������	
����

	�
����� #����������#���������

���5�6*����!���$�789�$�0,'���.2+*� �����
�����

���
���� ����(�)�� ��
��
���
�����������



�����������������


��� 
 ��! �!����"�#��� $ %&�	 %&�	' %�	� %�	�' %�	� %�	�' ��$ ())

� � * + � � , - � �� �� �� �� �� �� �� *� *� -�

�	 �( �(
 
.� 
.* 
+ ��
* ��
+ ��
� ��
� ./ /�
 ��&� ��&� /"
 /"


++++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+*++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+.++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+2++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+1++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+�++ * + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + *1�� �

+,++ 2 * . + + + + + + + + + + . ,,� . ,,� + + ..�0 �

+ ++ *1 . *+ + . + + + + + + + +  �+ � 2�� + + *��, .+�'

+'++ 0 + 0 + + + + + + + + + + , ,,� . ..�. + + * �* �

+0++ �� + �. + 2 + + + + + + + + 1*  1�� .2 1*�' + + *'�* .*� 

*+++ '' .  0 * , + + + + + + + + ,2  *�, .2 .,�* + + *,�0 .+�,

���� ��� � ��� � � � � � � � � � � �� +�0� �, ��0� � �0- ��0- ��

���� ,, � ,� � � � � � � � � � � +, �� �� �,0* * *0� �-0� ��0-���� ,, � ,� � � � � � � � � � � +, �� �� �,0* * *0� �-0� ��0-

*2++ .. + .+ + . + + + + + + + + *� ,'�. 2 *2�, + + *, *'�2

*1++ �, * 10 + � + + * + + + + + 2. � �* *2 .2�. + + *��1 .+�,

*�++ 22 * 2+ + * * + + + + + + + *' �1�� , *'�. + + *��. *0�.

*,++ *. * *+ + * + + + + + + + +  �'�2 . *,� + + *��� *'�*

* ++ *2 2 *+ + + + + + + + + + + ' ,*�� 1 2+�' + + *,�. .+�,

*'++ ** + ** + + + + + + + + + + 0 '*�' , �1�� + + *'�' .*��

*0++ * + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + *+�. �

.+++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

.*++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

..++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

.2++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

�,1�� ��� �* +�� � *� � � � � � � � � *�* ��0� ��� �� � � ��0, ��0�

��1�� ��+ �+ +�� � *� � � � � � � � � *�� ��0� ��, ��0� � � ��0, ��0�

��1�� ��+ �+ +�� � *� � � � � � � � � *�� ��0� ��, ��0� � � ��0, ��0�

��1�� ��� �+ +�� � *� � � � � � � � � *�� ��0+ ��, ��0� � � ��0, ��0�

������4��������#����
����

%��

3�����������:���
;����%%

P
age 327



���� ++* ����������	
����

	�
����� #����������#���������

���5�6*����!���$�789�$�0,'���.2+*� �����
�����

���
���� ����(�)�� ��
��
���
�����������


2�3���������������


��� 
 ��! �!����"�#��� $ %&�	 %&�	' %�	� %�	�' %�	� %�	�' ��$ ())

� � * + � � , - � �� �� �� �� �� �� �� *� *� -�

�	 �( �(
 
.� 
.* 
+ ��
* ��
+ ��
� ��
� ./ /�
 ��&� ��&� /"
 /"


++++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+*++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+.++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+2++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+1++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+�++ * + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + *2�1 �

+,++ . * * + + + + + + + + + + . *++ + + + + *��* �

+ ++ *2 2 *+ + + + + + + + + + + 0 ,0�. , 1,�. + + * �, *0�0

+'++ *2 * ** + * + + + + + + + + 0 ,0�. 1 2+�' + + * �, .2��

+0++ .1 + .2 + * + + + + + + + + *  +�' 0 2 �� + + * �. .+�1

���� �- � �- � � � � � � � � � � +� ,�0+ �� *�0� � � �,0� ��

**++ �1 + 10 + � + + + + + + + + 21 ,2 *2 .1�* + + *,�2 .+�'

*.++ 2* * .0 + * + + + + + + + + ..  * 0 .0 + + *,� .+�'*.++ 2* * .0 + * + + + + + + + + ..  * 0 .0 + + *,� .+�'

*2++ ,2 . �� + , + + + + + + + + ., 1*�2 *. *0 + + *� *0�.

�+�� ��� � �� � � � � � � � � � � *- *,0* � +0� � � �+0+ �,0�

*�++ 2. * 2+ + * + + + + + + + + *, �+ 2 0�1 + + *1�� *'�*

*,++ .. . *' + . + + + + + + + + *1 ,2�,  2*�' + + *,�1 .+�1

* ++ * . *� + + + + + + + + + + 0 �.�0 1 .2�� + + *��2 *0

*'++ *. + *. + + + + + + + + + +  �'�2 1 22�2 + + * �, .*��

*0++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

.+++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

.*++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

..++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

.2++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

�,1�� ++� �+ +�� � �� � � � � � � � � �+* ��0� �, �� � � ��0� ��0�

��1�� ++* �� +�� � �� � � � � � � � � �+� ��0* �, ��0� � � ��0� ��0�

��1�� ++* �� +�� � �� � � � � � � � � �+� ��0* �, ��0� � � ��0� ��0�

��1�� +++ �� +�, � �� � � � � � � � � �+� ��0� �, ��0- � � ��0� ��0,

������4��������#����
����

%��

3�����������:���
;����%%

P
age 328



���� ++* ����������	
����

	�
����� #����������#���������

���5�6*����!���$�789�$�0,'���.2+*� �����
�����

���
���� ����(�)�� ��
��
���
�����������



4����������������


��� 
 ��! �!����"�#��� $ %&�	 %&�	' %�	� %�	�' %�	� %�	�' ��$ ())

� � * + � � , - � �� �� �� �� �� �� �� *� *� -�

�	 �( �(
 
.� 
.* 
+ ��
* ��
+ ��
� ��
� ./ /�
 ��&� ��&� /"
 /"


++++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+*++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+.++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+2++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+1++ * + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + *2�. �

+�++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+,++ . * * + + + + + + + + + + * �+ + + + + *��0 �

+ ++ *+ . ' + + + + + + + + + + , ,+ . .+ * *+ * �1 �

+'++ 0 + ' + * + + + + + + + +    �' 1 11�1 + + *'�2 �

+0++ *1 + *2 + * + + + + + + + + **  '�, 2 .*�1 + + *,� *0�0

*+++ 2 + 2, + * + + + + + + + + .2 ,.�. ' .*�, + + *,�� .+�'

���� �� � -� � � � � � � � � � � �� ��0� �� ��0* � �0� �+0� ��

*.++ �1 * �* + . + + + + + + + + 2, ,,� ' *1�' + + *�� *'�2*.++ �1 * �* + . + + + + + + + + 2, ,,� ' *1�' + + *�� *'�2

*2++ ,1 . ,+ + . + + + + + + + + 2, �,�2 *+ *��, + + *��� *'�,

�+�� -* * ,� � � � � � � � � � � �� *+0� �� �� � � �*0� �-0�

*�++ .� + .2 + . + + + + + + + + *0  , 0 2, + + * �� .*

*,++ *' * * + + + + + + + + + + *. ,,� 1 ..�. + + *,�2 *0�.

* ++ *+ * ' + * + + + + + + + +   + 1 1+ + + *,�, �

*'++ 0 + 0 + + + + + + + + + +    �' 1 11�1 + + * �� �

*0++ 2 * . + + + + + + + + + + * 22�2 * 22�2 + + *1�� �

.+++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

.*++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

..++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

.2++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

�,1�� +�� �� *�, � �, � � � � � � � � �+� �,0� -� ��0� � �0� ��0� ��0�

��1�� +*� �* +�� � �, � � � � � � � � �+, �,0+ -� ��0� � �0� ��0� ��0�

��1�� +*� �* +�� � �, � � � � � � � � �+, �,0+ -� ��0� � �0� ��0� ��0�

��1�� +*� �* +�� � �, � � � � � � � � �+, �,0* -� �� � �0� ��0� ��0�

������4��������#����
����

%��

3�����������:���
;����%%

P
age 329



���� ++* ����������	
����

	�
����� #����������#���������

���5�6*����!���$�789�$�0,'���.2+*� �����
�����

���
���� ����(�)�� ��
��
���
�����������


�5����������������


��� 
 ��! �!����"�#��� $ %&�	 %&�	' %�	� %�	�' %�	� %�	�' ��$ ())

� � * + � � , - � �� �� �� �� �� �� �� *� *� -�

�	 �( �(
 
.� 
.* 
+ ��
* ��
+ ��
� ��
� ./ /�
 ��&� ��&� /"
 /"


++++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+*++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+.++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+2++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+1++ * + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + *1�1 �

+�++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+,++ * + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + **�0 �

+ ++ ** 2 ' + + + + + + + + + +  ,2�, , �1�� + + *'�1 ..�'

+'++ *2 + *2 + + + + + + + + + + ** '1�,  �2�' + + *0 ..�'

+0++ 0 + 01 + 2 + + + + + + + + ,'  +�* .+ .+�, + + *,�1 *0�.

���� ��* � ��+ � , � � � � � � � � ,* �+0� �� ��0� � � ��0� ��0�

**++ 10 . 1* + � + + * + + + + + . ���* *2 .,�� + + *1�' .+�,

*.++ 1. * 2' + 2 + + + + + + + + 2.  ,�. *' 1.�0 + + *'� ..�'*.++ 1. * 2' + 2 + + + + + + + + 2.  ,�. *' 1.�0 + + *'� ..�'

*2++ �� 1 1� + , + + + + + + + + 2* �,�1 *, .0�* + + *�� .+�*

�+�� -+ � -� � * � � � � � � � � �� ��0� �� ��0� � � ��0� ��0�

*�++ .. + .* + * + + + + + + + + *,  .� ' 2,�1 + + * �2 .*�0

*,++ .* + .+ + * + + + + + + + + * '*  22�2 + + * �, .+�*

* ++ *1 * *2 + + + + + + + + + + 0 ,1�2 1 .'�, + + *,� *0��

*'++ *0 2 *, + + + + + + + + + + *. ,2�. 2 *��' + + *��0 *'�*

*0++ * * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +  �1 �

.+++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

.*++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

..++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

.2++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

�,1�� �+� �� +�+ � �� � � � � � � � � *�� ��0, �+� �, � � ��0+ ��0+

��1�� �+� �, +�� � �� � � � � � � � � *�� ��0� �+� ��0� � � ��0* ��0+

��1�� �+� �, +�� � �� � � � � � � � � *�� ��0� �+� ��0� � � ��0* ��0+

��1�� �+* �, +�� � �� � � � � � � � � *�� ��0+ �+� ��0� � � ��0* ��0+

������4��������#����
����

%��

3�����������:���
;����%%

P
age 330



���� ++* ����������	
����

	�
����� #����������#���������

���5�6*����!���$�789�$�0,'���.2+*� �����
�����

���
���� ����(�)�� ��
��
���
�����������


(�5���!�/�6�7,8


��� 
 ��! �!����"�#��� $ %&�	 %&�	' %�	� %�	�' %�	� %�	�' ��$ ())

� � * + � � , - � �� �� �� �� �� �� �� *� *� -�

�	 �( �(
 
.� 
.* 
+ ��
* ��
+ ��
� ��
� ./ /�
 ��&� ��&� /"
 /"


++++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+*++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+.++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+2++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+1++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + 22�2 + + + + *1�2 �

+�++ * + * + + + + + + + + + + + ,+ + 1+ + + *'�� �

+,++ * + * + + + + + + + + + + * ,,� + 22�2 + + *'�, �

+ ++ *+ . ' + + + + + + + + + + , ,. 1 2��. + *�1 *,�' .*

+'++ ** + *+ + + + + + + + + + + '  .�. 1 2��1 + + * �, .2��

+0++ 2 + 2� + * + + + + + + + + .  1 ** 2* + +�1 * �2 .+�,

*+++ ,. * �0 + . + + + + + + + + 11  +�0 *' .'�* + +�. * .+�,

���� �� � �� � + � � � � � � � � +� ��0� �, ��0- � �0, ��0� ��0�

*.++ 1 * 12 + . + + + + + + + + 2+ ,1�2 *. .,�. + +�0 * �* .+�'*.++ 1 * 12 + . + + + + + + + + 2+ ,1�2 *. .,�. + +�0 * �* .+�'

*2++ �+ . 1� + 2 + + + + + + + + . �2�1 ** .*�, + +�2 *��1 *0� 

�+�� �� � �- � * � � � � � � � � *� ��0� �� �-0� � � ��0� ��0�

*�++ ., + .1 + * + + + + + + + + * ,��0  .,�2 + + *,�, .*

*,++ .+ * *' + * + + + + + + + + *2 , �0 , .0�. + + *,�' .+�1

* ++ *� . *2 + + + + + + + + + + *+ ,0�, � 2 �2 + + *,�' .+�,

*'++ *. * ** + + + + + + + + + + ' , �� 1 2,�* + + * �. .*��

*0++ . + . + + + + + + + + + + * ,,� * ,+ + ,� *0�. �

.+++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

.*++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

..++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

.2++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

�,1�� +�, �� *-� � �� � � � � � � � � ��* �*0� ��� ��0+ � �0* ��0+ ��0�

��1�� +�� �� *-- � �� � � � � � � � � ��� �*0� ��� ��0� � �0+ ��0� ��0�

��1�� +�� �� *-- � �� � � � � � � � � ��� �*0� ��� ��0� � �0+ ��0� ��0�

��1�� +�� �� *-� � �� � � � � � � � � ��� �*0� ��� ��0� � �0+ ��0� ��0�

������4��������#����
����

%��

3�����������:���
;����%%

P
age 331



���� ++* ����������	
����

	�
����� #����������#���������

���5�6*����!���$�789�$�0,'���.2+*� �����
�����

���
���� ����(�)�� ��
��
���
�����������


(�5���!�2��9�7�8


��� 
 ��! �!����"�#��� $ %&�	 %&�	' %�	� %�	�' %�	� %�	�' ��$ ())

� � * + � � , - � �� �� �� �� �� �� �� *� *� -�

�	 �( �(
 
.� 
.* 
+ ��
* ��
+ ��
� ��
� ./ /�
 ��&� ��&� /"
 /"


&�� 1*0 ' 2'� + ., + + + + + + + + ..� �2� 01 ..�1 * +�. *��, .+�*

�)� �+� *1 1�, * 2* . + * + + + + + 2+� ,+�1 *. .��* � * *,� .+�,

3�� 111 *� 1+ + .. + + + + + + + + .1� ���. 0 .*�' + + *��0 *0� 

��) 12* *2 1+* + * + + + + + + + + .1 � �2 '. *0 . +�� *��� *0��

/�� �12 * 10, + .0 + + * + + + + + 2�� ,��1 *1, .,�0 + + *,�2 .+�1

<��� . + � .� +  + * + + + + + + ..1 '2 ** 12�2 . +� *'�� ..�,

<�)� 22, *2 2*0 + . * * + + + + + + .�'  ,�' *.. 2,�2 * +�2 * � .*�2

��/�6��:�0 +�- �* +�� � �� � � � � � � � � �,� �-0- ��� �*0* � �0+ ��0� ��0�

,�/�6��:�0 +�� �� *-� � �� � � � � � � � � ��� �*0� ��� ��0� � �0+ ��0� ��0�

11 ��+- -� �,�� � �*+ * � � � � � � � �-�� �*0� ,-� ��0� �� �0+ ��0� ��0�

,++
8�

:
0+

*++

�
�
�
�
�
56
��
5�
)
4
�

+

*++

.++

2++

1++

�++

&
�
�

�)
�

3
�
�

��
)

/��

<
�
�
�

<
�
)
�

�
�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

 
�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
 
0�
 
"�
(
�
4
�#
!�
�

:

�8�,

�8��

�8�1

�8�2

�1

�:2

�:.

���

��

&#	

+

*+

.+

2+

1+

�+

,+

 +

'+

&
�
�

�)
�

3
�
�

��
)

/��

<
�
�
�

<
�
)
�

�
�
�
�
��
�
�
�

 
�
�
�
��
�
�
�

�
)
�
�
3 &���

'�"���

!��	"

!�	*"

!�	."

������4��������#����
����

%��

3�����������:���
;����%%

P
age 332



����

	�
�����

���
����


��� 
 ��!

++++ +

+*++ +

+.++ +

+2++ +

+1++ +

+�++ *

+,++ +

+ ++  

+'++ '

+0++ 2+

*+++ .*

���� *�

���� *�

++* ����������	
����

#����������#���������

���5�6*����!���$�789�$�0,'���.2+*� �����
�����

����(�)�� ��
��
���
�����������


������������������

�)��3�.�$��7�)48

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ . * 2 * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + * 1 + 2 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + 2 *0 ' + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + 2 ** , * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

� � + �� �� * � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� � � �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

-��1�

-�

-��1�

��

*��1�

*�

*��1�

+�

+��1�

+�

+��1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

��1�

�

��1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

*�

����1�

���

����1�

�*�

�*��1�

�*�

�*��1�

�+�

���1�

��

���1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

���1�

��

���1�

,�

,��1�

,�

,��1�

-�

���� *�

*2++ 2+

*1++ .1

*�++ .+

*,++ .+

* ++ *0

*'++ *.

*0++ 1

.+++ +

.*++ +

..++ +

.2++ +

�,1�� ���

��1�� ���

��1�� ���

��1�� �,�

� � � �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

+ + . *1 *. * * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + 2 *+ ** + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + . *2 1 * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + , ' � * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * *  0 * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ . 1 1 . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + * + * * * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

� � *� ��- ,- �* � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� � *, ��- ,� �+ � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� � *, ��- ,� �+ � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� � *, ��- -� �+ � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

������4��������#����
����

%��

3�����������:���
;����%%

P
age 333



����

	�
�����

���
����


��� 
 ��!

++++ +

+*++ +

+.++ +

+2++ +

+1++ +

+�++ *

+,++ +

+ ++ �

+'++ .*

+0++ .+

*+++ 1+

���� �+

���� *�

++* ����������	
����

#����������#���������

���5�6*����!���$�789�$�0,'���.2+*� �����
�����

����(�)�� ��
��
���
�����������


��$��,������������

�)��3�.�$��7�)48

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + 1 * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ *  ** * * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + � 0 1 * * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * � .� 0 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

� � - �� �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� � , �- �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

+��1�

+�

+��1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

��1�

�

��1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

*�

����1�

���

����1�

�*�

�*��1�

�*�

�*��1�

�+�

���1�

��

���1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

���1�

��

���1�

,�

,��1�

,�

,��1�

-�

-��1�

-�

-��1�

��

*��1�

*�

*��1�

+�

���� *�

*2++ 2�

�+�� *�

*�++ .�

*,++ 2+

* ++ *,

*'++  

*0++ 1

.+++ +

.*++ +

..++ +

.2++ +

�,1�� **�

��1�� **�

��1�� **�

��1�� **�

� � , �- �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

+ * 0 .. . * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

� � �� �+ * � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

+ * , ** � . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ 2  *. ' + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ . 2  1 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + . 1 * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + * . * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

� �� �, �,� ,� �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� �� �, �,� ,* �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� �� �, �,� ,* �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� �� �, �,� ,* �* � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

������4��������#����
����

%��

3�����������:���
;����%%

P
age 334



����

	�
�����

���
����


��� 
 ��!

++++ +

+*++ +

+.++ +

+2++ +

+1++ *

+�++ *

+,++ *

+ ++ **

+'++ ,

+0++ *'

���� -�

**++ �0

*.++ �+

++* ����������	
����

#����������#���������

���5�6*����!���$�789�$�0,'���.2+*� �����
�����

����(�)�� ��
��
���
�����������


 $��-������������

�)��3�.�$��7�)48

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * 1 2 . * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + . 2 * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ . 1 0 2 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

� � �* +� �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

+ ' *, .1 *+ * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ 2 2* *� * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

��1�

�

��1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

*�

����1�

�*�

�*��1�

�*�

�*��1�

�+�

���1�

��

���1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

���1�

��

���1�

,�

,��1�

,�

,��1�

-�

-��1�

-�

-��1�

��

*��1�

*�

*��1�

+�

+��1�

+�

����1�

���

+��1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

*.++ �+

�*�� ,�

*1++ 10

*�++ ..

*,++ *1

* ++ *2

*'++ *2

*0++ .

.+++ +

.*++ +

..++ +

.2++ +

�,1�� +�+

��1�� +�,

��1�� +�,

��1�� +��

+ 2 2* *� * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

* �� *� �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

+ � *0 *0 , + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + 0 ' � + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * 1 , * . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

* * *  . * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * 1 � 2 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ +� �+� ��� �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

+ +� �+� ��� �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

+ +� �+� ��� �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

+ +� �+� ��, �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

������4��������#����
����

%��

3�����������:���
;����%%

P
age 335



����

	�
�����

���
����


��� 
 ��!

++++ +

+*++ +

+.++ +

+2++ +

+1++ +

+�++ *

+,++ 2

+ ++ *1

+'++ 0

+0++ ��

*+++ ''

���� ���

���� ,,

++* ����������	
����

#����������#���������

���5�6*����!���$�789�$�0,'���.2+*� �����
�����

����(�)�� ��
��
���
�����������



�����������������

�)��3�.�$��7�)48

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + * + + . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ 2 1 . 1 * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + 2 1 . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + *1 .� *� * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+  *' 1� *, . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

� - �� *, �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� * �, *� �* � � � � � � � � � � � * � � � � � � � � � � �

��1�

�

��1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

*�

-��1�

-�

-��1�

��

*��1�

*�

*��1�

+�

+��1�

+�

+��1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

����1�

���

����1�

�*�

�*��1�

�*�

�*��1�

�+�

���1�

��

���1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

���1�

��

���1�

,�

,��1�

,�

,��1�

-�

���� ,,

*2++ ..

*1++ �,

*�++ 22

*,++ *.

* ++ *2

*'++ **

*0++ *

.+++ +

.*++ +

..++ +

.2++ +

�,1�� ���

��1�� ��+

��1�� ��+

��1�� ���

� * �, *� �* � � � � � � � � � � � * � � � � � � � � � � �

+ * , *2 . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ *. *. .. 0 * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ , 0 *1 . . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * 1 � . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ . 2 1 2 * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + . , 2 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

� +* ��+ ��- -� � � � � � � � � � � � * � � � � � � � � � � �

� +* ��� ��- -� �� � � � � � � � � � � * � � � � � � � � � � �

� +* ��� ��- -� �� � � � � � � � � � � * � � � � � � � � � � �

� +* ��, ��- -� �� � � � � � � � � � � * � � � � � � � � � � �

������4��������#����
����

%��

3�����������:���
;����%%

P
age 336



����

	�
�����

���
����


��� 
 ��!

++++ +

+*++ +

+.++ +

+2++ +

+1++ +

+�++ *

+,++ .

+ ++ *2

+'++ *2

+0++ .1

���� �-

**++ �1

*.++ 2*

++* ����������	
����

#����������#���������

���5�6*����!���$�789�$�0,'���.2+*� �����
�����

����(�)�� ��
��
���
�����������


2�3���������������

�)��3�.�$��7�)48

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + 1 , 2 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * 2 � 1 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * , ** , + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

� � �� �, �+ � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

+ , *1 .2 0 . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ .  *, , + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+��1�

+�

+��1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

��1�

�

��1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

*�

����1�

���

����1�

�*�

�*��1�

�*�

�*��1�

�+�

���1�

��

���1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

���1�

��

���1�

,�

,��1�

,�

,��1�

-�

-��1�

-�

-��1�

��

*��1�

*�

*��1�

+�

*.++ 2*

*2++ ,2

�+�� ���

*�++ 2.

*,++ ..

* ++ * 

*'++ *.

*0++ +

.+++ +

.*++ +

..++ +

.2++ +

�,1�� ++�

��1�� ++*

��1�� ++*

��1�� +++

+ .  *, , + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ � 2. *'  * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

� + �� *� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

+ , *+ *2 2 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ *  *+ 1 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ . ,  . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + � 1 . * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

� �- �,� �,� �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� �- �,� �,- �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� �- �,� �,- �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� �- �,� �,- �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

������4��������#����
����

%��

3�����������:���
;����%%

P
age 337



����

	�
�����

���
����


��� 
 ��!

++++ +

+*++ +

+.++ +

+2++ +

+1++ *

+�++ +

+,++ .

+ ++ *+

+'++ 0

+0++ *1

*+++ 2 

���� ��

*.++ �1

++* ����������	
����

#����������#���������

���5�6*����!���$�789�$�0,'���.2+*� �����
�����

����(�)�� ��
��
���
�����������



4����������������

�)��3�.�$��7�)48

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + * * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * 2 � + + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + . � * * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + 2 0 . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ 1 *+ *� , . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

� �� �* +* � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

+ . *, 2+ , + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

��1�

�

��1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

*�

����1�

�*�

�*��1�

�*�

�*��1�

�+�

���1�

��

���1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

���1�

��

���1�

,�

,��1�

,�

,��1�

-�

-��1�

-�

-��1�

��

*��1�

*�

*��1�

+�

+��1�

+�

����1�

���

+��1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

*.++ �1

*2++ ,1

�+�� -*

*�++ .�

*,++ *'

* ++ *+

*'++ 0

*0++ 2

.+++ +

.*++ +

..++ +

.2++ +

�,1�� +��

��1�� +*�

��1�� +*�

��1�� +*�

+ . *, 2+ , + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ 1 .1 2* � + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

� � +� �+ � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

+ * � *2 � * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ . 1 *+ * * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * . , * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + . � . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * * + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

� +� �*� ��� +� , � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� +� �+� ��, +� , � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� +� �+� ��, +� , � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� +� �+� ��, +� , � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

������4��������#����
����

%��

3�����������:���
;����%%

P
age 338



����

	�
�����

���
����


��� 
 ��!

++++ +

+*++ +

+.++ +

+2++ +

+1++ *

+�++ +

+,++ *

+ ++ **

+'++ *2

+0++ 0 

���� ��*

**++ 10

*.++ 1.

++* ����������	
����

#����������#���������

���5�6*����!���$�789�$�0,'���.2+*� �����
�����

����(�)�� ��
��
���
�����������


�5����������������

�)��3�.�$��7�)48

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * 2 . 2 . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + . 1 , * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ 1 .� �' 0 * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

� + *� �� �* � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

. *. ' *  2 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + *+ *, *1 . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

��1�

�

��1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

*�

-��1�

-�

-��1�

��

*��1�

*�

*��1�

+�

+��1�

+�

+��1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

����1�

���

����1�

�*�

�*��1�

�*�

�*��1�

�+�

���1�

��

���1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

���1�

��

���1�

,�

,��1�

,�

,��1�

-�

*.++ 1.

*2++ ��

�+�� -+

*�++ ..

*,++ .*

* ++ *1

*'++ *0

*0++ *

.+++ +

.*++ +

..++ +

.2++ +

�,1�� �+�

��1�� �+�

��1�� �+�

��1�� �+*

+ + *+ *, *1 . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

*  *, .. 0 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

� �* �� *- �+ � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

+ + , 0  + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + 1 *. � + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * 1 ' * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ 2 1 *+ * * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ +� �*� ��� -� �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

+ +� �*, ��� -� �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

+ +� �*, ��� -� �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

+ +� �*- ��� -� �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

������4��������#����
����

%��

3�����������:���
;����%%

P
age 339



����

	�
�����

���
����


��� 
 ��!

++++ +

+*++ +

+.++ +

+2++ +

+1++ +

+�++ *

+,++ *

+ ++ *+

+'++ **

+0++ 2 

*+++ ,.

���� ��

*.++ 1 

++* ����������	
����

#����������#���������

���5�6*����!���$�789�$�0,'���.2+*� �����
�����

����(�)�� ��
��
���
�����������


(�5���!�/�6�7,8

�)��3�.�$��7�)48

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * 2 1 . * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + 2 � . * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * 0 .+  + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ . *, 2. ** * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

� , �- �, �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

+ . *� .+ 0 * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+��1�

+�

+��1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

��1�

�

��1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

*�

����1�

���

����1�

�*�

�*��1�

�*�

�*��1�

�+�

���1�

��

���1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

���1�

��

���1�

,�

,��1�

,�

,��1�

-�

-��1�

-�

-��1�

��

*��1�

*�

*��1�

+�

*.++ 1 

*2++ �+

�+�� ��

*�++ .,

*,++ .+

* ++ *�

*'++ *.

*0++ .

.+++ +

.*++ +

..++ +

.2++ +

�,1�� +�,

��1�� +��

��1�� +��

��1�� +��

+ . *� .+ 0 * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

* � * *0  + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

� � �+ �� , � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

+ .  *. 1 * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * � 0 1 * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * 2  2 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * 2 � . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

� *� ��� �-+ �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� *� ��� �-� ,� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� *� ��� �-� ,� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� *� ��* �-� ,� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

������4��������#����
����

%��

3�����������:���
;����%%

P
age 340



����

	�
�����

���
����


��� 
 ��!

&�� 1*0

�)� �+�

3�� 111

��) 12*

/�� �12

<��� . +

<�)� 22,

��/�6��:�0 +�-

,�/�6��:�0 +��

11 ��+-

++* ����������	
����

#����������#���������

���5�6*����!���$�789�$�0,'���.2+*� �����
�����

����(�)�� ��
��
���
�����������


(�5���!�2��9�7�8

�)��3�.�$��7�)48

1 1* *10 *� ,. � * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ 12 *� .+' '* ** + + + . + + + + + + 2 + + + + + + + + + + +

+ .' * * * ' ,. � + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

* 1* *1. *0 1*  . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

1 1, *2' .�� '0 ** + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ 0 2 *.' '+ *1 . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ ** , * *  2 *2 * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

� +� ��� ��� �, - � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� *� ��* �-� ,� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� ��� -�� ���+ +-- �� � � � � � � � � � � * � � � � � � � � � � �

��1�

�

��1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

*�

����1�

���

����1�

�*�

�*��1�

�*�

�*��1�

�+�

���1�

��

���1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

���1�

��

���1�

,�

,��1�

,�

,��1�

-�

-��1�

-�

-��1�

��

*��1�

*�

*��1�

+�

+��1�

+�

+��1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

2++

�
�
�
�
�
56
��
5�
)
4
�

+

�+

*++

*�+

.++

.�+

+
��
�

�
��
*
+

*
+
��
*
�

*
�
��
.
+

.
+
��
.
�

.
�
��
2
+

2
+
��
2
�

2
�
��
1
+

1
+
��
1
�

1
�
��
�
+

�
+
��
�
�

�
�
��
,
+

,
+
��
,
�

,
�
��
 
+

 
+
��
 
�

 
�
��
'
+

'
+
��
'
�

'
�
��
0
+

0
+
��
0
�

0
�
��
*
+
+

*
+
+
��
*
+
�

*
+
�
��
*
*
+

*
*
+
��
*
*
�

*
*
�
��
*
.
+

*
.
+
��
*
.
�

*
.
�
��
*
2
+

*
2
+
��
*
2
�

*
2
�
��
*
1
+

�
 
0�
 
"�
(
�
4
�#
!�
�

�)��3�.�$�

&��

�)�

3��

��)

/��

<���

<�)�

������4��������#����
����

%��

3�����������:���
;����%%

P
age 341



���� ++* ����������	
����

	�
����� #����������#���������

���5�6*����!���$�789�$�0,'���.2+*� �����
�����

���
���� 3���(�)�� ��
��
���
�����������


������������������


��� 
 ��! �!����"�#��� $ %&�	 %&�	' %�	� %�	�' %�	� %�	�' ��$ ())

� � * + � � , - � �� �� �� �� �� �� �� *� *� -�

�	 �( �(
 
.� 
.* 
+ ��
* ��
+ ��
� ��
� ./ /�
 ��&� ��&� /"
 /"


++++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+*++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+.++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+2++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+1++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+�++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+,++ * + * + + + + + + + + + + * *++ + + + + *' �

+ ++ 1 + 1 + + + + + + + + + + 2  � . �+ + + *0�1 �

+'++ , + , + + + + + + + + + + 1 ,,� 2 �+ + + *0�1 �

+0++ *0 + *0 + + + + + + + + + + *�  '�0 , 2*�, + + * �0 .+�*

*+++ ., + .� + * + + + + + + + + *' ,0�. , .2�* + + *,�1 *0��

���� *� � *+ � � � � � � � � � � �� -�0� �- ��0+ � � �� �+0-

���� +� � +� � � � � � � � � � � *� -,0- �, +�0� � �0+ ��0, ��0,���� +� � +� � � � � � � � � � � *� -,0- �, +�0� � �0+ ��0, ��0,

*2++ .2 + .2 + + + + + + + + + + .+ ' ** 1 �' * 1�2 .+�1 .�� 

*1++ .� + .2 + . + + + + + + + + .2 0. *2 �. * 1 *0�, ..�*

*�++ .� + .. + 2 + + + + + + + + .2 0. *, ,1 + + .+�� .2��

*,++ .. + .* + * + + + + + + + + *0 ',�1 ' 2,�1 + + *'�1 .*��

* ++ .+ * *0 + + + + + + + + + + *' 0+ *2 ,� + + .+�* .1�.

*'++ ** + ** + + + + + + + + + +  ,2�, � 1��� + + *'�. .1�1

*0++ 0 * ' + + + + + + + + + + 1 11�1 1 11�1 * **�* *0 �

.+++ * + * + + + + + + + + + + * *++ * *++ + + .��, �

.*++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

..++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

.2++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

�,1�� ��, � �+- � , � � � � � � � � ��� -*0, ��- +�0� * �0� ��0� �*0�

��1�� ��- * ��- � , � � � � � � � � ��� -�0� ��* +�0� + �0� ��0� �+0�

��1�� ��- * ��- � , � � � � � � � � ��� -�0� ��* +�0� + �0� ��0� �+0�

��1�� ��- * ��- � , � � � � � � � � ��� -�0� ��* +�0� + �0� ��0� �+0�

������4��������#����
����

%��

3�����������:���
;����%%

P
age 342



���� ++* ����������	
����

	�
����� #����������#���������

���5�6*����!���$�789�$�0,'���.2+*� �����
�����

���
���� 3���(�)�� ��
��
���
�����������


��$��,������������


��� 
 ��! �!����"�#��� $ %&�	 %&�	' %�	� %�	�' %�	� %�	�' ��$ ())

� � * + � � , - � �� �� �� �� �� �� �� *� *� -�

�	 �( �(
 
.� 
.* 
+ ��
* ��
+ ��
� ��
� ./ /�
 ��&� ��&� /"
 /"


++++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+*++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+.++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+2++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+1++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+�++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+,++ * + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + *1�, �

+ ++ . + . + + + + + + + + + + * �+ * �+ + + *,�, �

+'++ *+ * 0 + + + + + + + + + + 0 0+ 1 1+ + + *0�2 �

+0++ ., * .2 + . + + + + + + + + .* '+�' 0 21�, + + * �� .*

*+++ 2+ + 2+ + + + + + + + + + + .' 02�2 *' ,+ + + *0�� .��2

���� +* � +� � � � � � � � � � � +� �* �� ++0� � � ��0� �+0�

���� �� * +, � � � � � � � � � � ++ -- �� �� � � ��0� �+0����� �� * +, � � � � � � � � � � ++ -- �� �� � � ��0� �+0�

*2++ 2' + 2 + * + + + + + + + + ., ,'�1 *2 21�. + + * �' ..�*

*1++ 2* . .' + + + * + + + + + + * �1�'  ..�, + + *��' *0

*�++ 2, * 21 + * + + + + + + + + 2* ',�* ** 2+�, * .�' *'�. .+�*

*,++ .� + .� + + + + + + + + + + *'  .  .' + + * �* .+�,

* ++ .' 1 .1 + + + + + + + + + + .2 '.�* ** 20�2 + + * �0 .*� 

*'++ *. * ** + + + + + + + + + + *. *++  �'�2 * '�2 .+�1 ..�'

*0++  +  + + + + + + + + + + �  *�1 �  *�1 + + *0 �

.+++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

.*++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

..++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

.2++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

�,1�� **� �* *�� � � � � � � � � � � �,� -�0� �** +�0� � �0� �-0+ ��0�

��1�� **� �* *�� � � � � � � � � � � �,� -�0� �*- +�0, � �0� �-0+ ��0-

��1�� **� �* *�� � � � � � � � � � � �,� -�0� �*- +�0, � �0� �-0+ ��0-

��1�� **� �* *�� � � � � � � � � � � �,� -�0� �*- +�0, � �0� �-0+ ��0-

������4��������#����
����

%��

3�����������:���
;����%%

P
age 343



���� ++* ����������	
����

	�
����� #����������#���������

���5�6*����!���$�789�$�0,'���.2+*� �����
�����

���
���� 3���(�)�� ��
��
���
�����������


 $��-������������


��� 
 ��! �!����"�#��� $ %&�	 %&�	' %�	� %�	�' %�	� %�	�' ��$ ())

� � * + � � , - � �� �� �� �� �� �� �� *� *� -�

�	 �( �(
 
.� 
.* 
+ ��
* ��
+ ��
� ��
� ./ /�
 ��&� ��&� /"
 /"


++++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+*++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+.++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+2++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+1++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+�++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+,++ . + . + + + + + + + + + + . *++ * �+ + + *0�. �

+ ++ * + * + + + + + + + + + + * *++ * *++ + + *0� �

+'++ 2 + 2 + + + + + + + + + + * 22�2 * 22�2 + + *��, �

+0++ ** + *+ + * + + + + + + + + , �1�� 2 . �2 + + *��� *0�.

*+++ .' . .� + * + + + + + + + + .1 '�� *+ 2�� * 2�, *'� .*� 

���� +, � ++ � * � � � � � � � � *� ,�0� �� *+ � � �,0- ��0�

���� �� � -� � - � � � � � � � � �� ,*0* �- *�0� � �0� �,0� ��0����� �� � -� � - � � � � � � � � �� ,*0* �- *�0� � �0� �,0� ��0�

*2++ �� . �* + . + + + + + + + + 2' ,0�* *1 .��� + + *,�, *0� 

*1++  ' *  * + � + + + + + * + + 10 ,.�' *0 .1�1 + + *,�1 .+�,

*�++ 2' + 21 + 1 + + + + + + + + 2* '*�, *2 21�. + + * �' .+�'

*,++ 20 . 2 + + + + + + + + + + 2. '.�* *' 1,�. + + *'� ..�,

* ++ * * *� + * + + + + + + + + *2  ,�� ' 1 �* * ��0 *0 .,�.

*'++ *1 * *2 + + + + + + + + + + **  '�,  �+ + + *0�1 .��2

*0++ 0 * ' + + + + + + + + + + , ,,� 1 11�1 + + * � �

.+++ * * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + '�* �

.*++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

..++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

.2++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

�,1�� +�� �� *-+ � �� � � � � � � � � *�- ,*0� �*- *�0- * �0, �,0+ ��0*

��1�� +** �* *�+ � �� � � � � � � � � *�� ,* �+* ** * �0, �,0+ ��0*

��1�� +** �* *�+ � �� � � � � � � � � *�� ,* �+* ** * �0, �,0+ ��0*

��1�� +** �* *�+ � �� � � � � � � � � *�� ,* �+* ** * �0, �,0+ ��0*

������4��������#����
����

%��

3�����������:���
;����%%

P
age 344



���� ++* ����������	
����

	�
����� #����������#���������

���5�6*����!���$�789�$�0,'���.2+*� �����
�����

���
���� 3���(�)�� ��
��
���
�����������



�����������������


��� 
 ��! �!����"�#��� $ %&�	 %&�	' %�	� %�	�' %�	� %�	�' ��$ ())

� � * + � � , - � �� �� �� �� �� �� �� *� *� -�

�	 �( �(
 
.� 
.* 
+ ��
* ��
+ ��
� ��
� ./ /�
 ��&� ��&� /"
 /"


++++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+*++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+.++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+2++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+1++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+�++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+,++ * + * + + + + + + + + + + * *++ * *++ * *++ 2.� �

+ ++ � + � + + + + + + + + + + � *++ . 1+ + + *'� �

+'++  + � + . + + + + + + + + 1 � �* * *1�2 + + *��� �

+0++ * + *, + * + + + + + + + + *� ''�. *.  +�, + + .+�2 .2��

*+++ 21 * 2+ + 2 + + + + + + + + .  0�1 *1 1*�. + + *'�0 .2� 

���� ��* � �- � * � � � � � � � � ,� ��0� ** *� � � �,0* ��0*

���� �� � �� � � � � � � � � � � ,* ,*0, *, *,0+ � � �,0- ��0����� �� � �� � � � � � � � � � � ,* ,*0, *, *,0+ � � �,0- ��0�

*2++  0 +  2 + , + + + + + + + + �  .�. .� 2*�, + + * �* .+�1

*1++ 1� + 1* + 2 * + + + + + + + 2* ,'�0 0 .+ + + * .+�1

*�++ 1, * 1* * 2 + + + + + + + + 2�  ,�* *+ .*� + + *,�' *0�.

*,++ ., . .* + 2 + + + + + + + + *, ,*�� ' 2+�' * 2�' * �* ..�'

* ++ *� * *2 + * + + + + + + + + *+ ,,� ' �2�2 * ,� *0�. .2� 

*'++ ** * *+ + + + + + + + + + + 0 '*�' 2 . �2 + + * *0

*0++  * , + + + + + + + + + + 1 � �* . .'�, + + * �1 �

.+++ * * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + 0�' �

.*++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

..++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

.2++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

�,1�� +-, � +++ � *� * � � � � � � � *�+ ,�0, ��� **0* * �0� �,0� ��0�

��1�� +�� �� +�� � *� * � � � � � � � *�� ,�0+ ��� **0* + �0- �,0� ��0�

��1�� +�� �� +�� � *� * � � � � � � � *�� ,�0+ ��� **0* + �0- �,0� ��0�

��1�� +�� �� +�� � *� * � � � � � � � *�� ,�0+ ��� **0* + �0- �,0� ��0�

������4��������#����
����

%��

3�����������:���
;����%%

P
age 345



���� ++* ����������	
����

	�
����� #����������#���������

���5�6*����!���$�789�$�0,'���.2+*� �����
�����

���
���� 3���(�)�� ��
��
���
�����������


2�3���������������


��� 
 ��! �!����"�#��� $ %&�	 %&�	' %�	� %�	�' %�	� %�	�' ��$ ())

� � * + � � , - � �� �� �� �� �� �� �� *� *� -�

�	 �( �(
 
.� 
.* 
+ ��
* ��
+ ��
� ��
� ./ /�
 ��&� ��&� /"
 /"


++++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+*++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+.++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+2++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+1++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+�++ * * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + 0�* �

+,++ * + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + **�* �

+ ++ . * * + + + + + + + + + + * �+ + + + + *��* �

+'++ ' * , + * + + + + + + + + � ,.�� 1 �+ + + * �, �

+0++ ** + *+ + * + + + + + + + + '  .� � 1��� + + .+�* .��*

*+++ .0 + .0 + + + + + + + + + + .� ',�. *� �*� + + *0�. .1�,

���� �� � +- � � � � � � � � � � ** �� �, *+ � � �, ��0,

*.++  0 *  2 + � + + + + + + + + �+ ,2�2 *, .+�2 + + *,�. *0�0*.++  0 *  2 + � + + + + + + + + �+ ,2�2 *, .+�2 + + *,�. *0�0

*2++ 2� . .' + � + + + + + + + + .   �* .* ,+ * .�0 .+ .��*

*1++ �2 * 10 + 2 + + + + + + + + .0 �1� *� .'�2 * *�0 *��� .+�*

���� ��, � ��� � � � � � � � � � � �, ��0� �* ��0� � � �� ��0�

*,++ 1+ . 2 + * + + + + + + + + .0  .�� *+ .� + + *,�. .+�,

* ++ *, . *1 + + + + + + + + + + ** ,'�' 1 .� + + *,�1 .*

*'++ *0 . * + + + + + + + + + + ** � �0 , 2*�, + + *,�0 .*�2

*0++ 1 * 2 + + + + + + + + + + 2  � . �+ + + .* �

.+++ * * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + *+�. �

.*++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

..++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

.2++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

�,1�� ++� �* +�* � �* � � � � � � � � ��� ��0� �*� *�0* � �0+ ��0- ��0*

��1�� +�� �� +�, � �* � � � � � � � � ��� ��0, �*- *�0* � �0+ ��0- ��0*

��1�� +�� �� +�, � �* � � � � � � � � ��� ��0, �*- *�0* � �0+ ��0- ��0*

��1�� +�� �� +�, � �* � � � � � � � � ��� ��0� �*- *�0* � �0+ ��0- ��0*

������4��������#����
����

%��

3�����������:���
;����%%

P
age 346



���� ++* ����������	
����

	�
����� #����������#���������

���5�6*����!���$�789�$�0,'���.2+*� �����
�����

���
���� 3���(�)�� ��
��
���
�����������



4����������������


��� 
 ��! �!����"�#��� $ %&�	 %&�	' %�	� %�	�' %�	� %�	�' ��$ ())

� � * + � � , - � �� �� �� �� �� �� �� *� *� -�

�	 �( �(
 
.� 
.* 
+ ��
* ��
+ ��
� ��
� ./ /�
 ��&� ��&� /"
 /"


++++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+*++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+.++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+2++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+1++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+�++ * * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + '�� �

+,++ * + * + + + + + + + + + + * *++ * *++ + + .*� �

+ ++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+'++  + , + * + + + + + + + + 1 � �* . .'�, + + *,�* �

+0++ ** + ** + + + + + + + + + +  ,2�, 1 2,�1 + + * �0 .*�2

*+++ .1 + .2 + + + + + * + + + + *, ,,�  .0�. + + * .*�2

���� +� � *, � � � � � � � � � � *� ,,0� �� �� � � �-0� ��0-

*.++  2 * , + � + + + + + + + + ,+ '.�. .. 2+�* * *�1 * �' .+�'*.++  2 * , + � + + + + + + + + ,+ '.�. .. 2+�* * *�1 * �' .+�'

*2++ �. . 1 + 2 + + + + + + + + 2. ,*�� *+ *0�. + + *, *0�0

�+�� ,, * ,� � + � � � � � � � � +- ��0* �� **0- � � ��0- ��0*

*�++ �0 2 �� + * + + + + + + + + 1* ,0�� .+ 22�0 + + * �� .+�,

*,++ 1, 2 1. + * + + + + + + + + 2�  ,�* *. .,�* * .�. * �2 .*� 

* ++ *+ + *+ + + + + + + + + + +   + + + + + *,�. �

*'++ ** * 0 + * + + + + + + + +  ,2�, 2 . �2 + + *,�� .*�2

*0++  * , + + + + + + + + + + �  *�1 2 1.�0 + + * �0 �

.+++ * * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + *+�2 �

.*++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

..++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

.2++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

�,1�� +�� �+ *,, � �- � � � � � � � � �-- ,�0� ��� *�0, � �0� �,0� ��0*

��1�� +�� �� *-+ � �- � � � � � � � � ��+ ,�0� �*� *� � �0� �,0� ��0*

��1�� +�� �� *-+ � �- � � � � � � � � ��+ ,�0� �*� *� � �0� �,0� ��0*

��1�� +�� �, *-+ � �- � � � � � � � � ��+ ,� �*� *� � �0� �,0� ��0*

������4��������#����
����

%��

3�����������:���
;����%%

P
age 347



���� ++* ����������	
����

	�
����� #����������#���������

���5�6*����!���$�789�$�0,'���.2+*� �����
�����

���
���� 3���(�)�� ��
��
���
�����������


�5����������������


��� 
 ��! �!����"�#��� $ %&�	 %&�	' %�	� %�	�' %�	� %�	�' ��$ ())

� � * + � � , - � �� �� �� �� �� �� �� *� *� -�

�	 �( �(
 
.� 
.* 
+ ��
* ��
+ ��
� ��
� ./ /�
 ��&� ��&� /"
 /"


++++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+*++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+.++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+2++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+1++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+�++ * * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + 0�' �

+,++ . + . + + + + + + + + + + * �+ + + + + *.� �

+ ++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+'++ 1 + 1 + + + + + + + + + + 1 *++ * .� + + *'�1 �

+0++ .. + *0 + 2 + + + + + + + + ' 2,�1 1 *'�. + + *1�� *0

*+++ 2, + 2. + 1 + + + + + + + + .* �'�2 *2 2,�* + + * �* .2�2

���� ��� � ��� � , � � � � � � � � *� ��0� �� �0� � � �0� ��0�

���� ,� * �� � � � � � � � � � � �+ ,�0� �� +�0- � � �,0- ��0*���� ,� * �� � � � � � � � � � � �+ ,�0� �� +�0- � � �,0- ��0*

*2++ �, * 10 + , + + + + + + + + 1*  2�. .. 20�2 . 2�, *'�. ..�,

*1++ �1 + �* + 2 + + + + + + + + 1 ' ., 1'�* * *�0 *0�. ..�*

*�++ �1 * �+ + 2 + + + + + + + + 1, '��. .0 �2� + + *0�. ..�1

*,++ 12 + 1. + * + + + + + + + + 2' ''�1 .. �*�. * .�2 *0�� .2�0

* ++ *� * *2 + * + + + + + + + + *. '+ 0 ,+ + + *'�0 .2� 

*'++ .� � .+ + + + + + + + + + + *, ,1 *+ 1+ + + * �0 .2��

*0++ . * * + + + + + + + + + + * �+ * �+ + + * �, �

.+++ * * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + 0�0 �

.*++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

..++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

.2++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

�,1�� �*� �� +�� � *+ � � � � � � � � *�� ��0� �,� *�0, + �0, ��0, ��0,

��1�� �++ �* +�� � *+ � � � � � � � � *�� �� �,, *�0� + �0, ��0, ��0,

��1�� �++ �* +�� � *+ � � � � � � � � *�� �� �,, *�0� + �0, ��0, ��0,

��1�� �+� �+ +�� � *+ � � � � � � � � *�� �-0� �,, *�0� + �0, ��0, ��0,

������4��������#����
����

%��

3�����������:���
;����%%

P
age 348



���� ++* ����������	
����

	�
����� #����������#���������

���5�6*����!���$�789�$�0,'���.2+*� �����
�����

���
���� 3���(�)�� ��
��
���
�����������


(�5���!�/�6�7,8


��� 
 ��! �!����"�#��� $ %&�	 %&�	' %�	� %�	�' %�	� %�	�' ��$ ())

� � * + � � , - � �� �� �� �� �� �� �� *� *� -�

�	 �( �(
 
.� 
.* 
+ ��
* ��
+ ��
� ��
� ./ /�
 ��&� ��&� /"
 /"


++++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+*++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+.++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+2++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+1++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

+�++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + 0�* �

+,++ * + * + + + + + + + + + + * ,,� + 22�2 + **�* *' �

+ ++ . + . + + + + + + + + + + .  '�, * 1.�0 + + *'�. �

+'++ , + , + * + + + + + + + + 1 ,'�0 . 2��, + + * �, �

+0++ * + *� + * + + + + + + + + ** ,'�1 , 2,�' + + * �� .*�0

*+++ 2+ + .' + * + + + + + + + + .2  ,�' *. 1+�* + +�� *'�. .2

���� �- � �� � * � � � � � � � � *� �,0� �� �-0� � � ��0� ��0*

���� ,� � �� � + � � � � � � � � �� ,�0� �� *+0- � �0- �,0- ��0,���� ,� � �� � + � � � � � � � � �� ,�0� �� *+0- � �0- �,0- ��0,

*2++ 1' * 11 + 2 + + + + + + + + 21  *�2 * 21�2 * *�. * �, ..�*

*1++ �. * 1' + 2 + + + + + + + + 2� , �. *, 2*� + +�' * .*�2

*�++ �. * 1' + 2 + + + + + + + + 20  ��* * 22�1 + +�2 * �� .*

*,++ 21 * 2. + * + + + + + + + + .   �, *. 2��2 + *�. * �' .*�0

* ++ * * *� + + + + + + + + + + *2   � ' 12�' + *� *'�1 ..�'

*'++ *� . *2 + + + + + + + + + + *+  +�0 , 20�' + * *' .2� 

*0++ , * , + + + + + + + + + + 1 ,.�. 2 1,� + .�. *'�1 �

.+++ * * + + + + + + + + + + + + *,� + *,� + + *.�2 �

.*++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

..++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

.2++ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + � �

�,1�� +�* �� *-� � �� � � � � � � � � ��* ,�0- �+� *+0� * �0, �,0* ��0,

��1�� +�� �� *-- � �� � � � � � � � � ��- ,�0� �+� *+0* * �0, �,0* ��0,

��1�� +�� �� *-- � �� � � � � � � � � ��- ,�0� �+� *+0* * �0, �,0* ��0,

��1�� +�� �� *-- � �� � � � � � � � � ��- ,�0� �+� *+0* * �0, �,0* ��0,

������4��������#����
����

%��

3�����������:���
;����%%

P
age 349



���� ++* ����������	
����

	�
����� #����������#���������

���5�6*����!���$�789�$�0,'���.2+*� �����
�����

���
���� 3���(�)�� ��
��
���
�����������


(�5���!�2��9�7�8


��� 
 ��! �!����"�#��� $ %&�	 %&�	' %�	� %�	�' %�	� %�	�' ��$ ())

� � * + � � , - � �� �� �� �� �� �� �� *� *� -�

�	 �( �(
 
.� 
.* 
+ ��
* ��
+ ��
� ��
� ./ /�
 ��&� ��&� /"
 /"


&�� 122 *2 201 + .� + + + + + * + + 2*,  2 *12 22 2 +� * �1 .*�2

�)� 10, ** 1�* * 2+ 2 + + + + + + + 2�0  .�1 *,� 22�2 1 +�' * �� .*��

3�� 1�, *, 1* + .2 + + + + + + + + .00 ,��, *2' 2+�2 . +�1 *,�' .*�2

��) 1.+ * 2'1 + *' + + + * + + + + .01  + *2+ 2* . +�� * �. .*�2

/�� �1� *1 10� + 21 * + * + + + + + 2.* �'�0 *  2.�� 1 +� *�� .*� 

<��� .,' 2 .�' +  + + + + + + + + ..* '.�� *.2 1��0 1 *�� *0�* .1�.

<�)� 220 *2 2.+ + � + * + + + + + + . � '*�* *2' 1+� . +�, *'�1 ..�'

��/�6��:�0 +,� �+ +�- � �� � � � � � � � � *�- �,0, ��� *�0� * �0� ��0� ��0+

,�/�6��:�0 +�� �� *-- � �� � � � � � � � � ��- ,�0� �+� *+0* * �0, �,0* ��0,

11 ���, -, �,�� � �+� + � � � � � � � ��-� ,�0� ���+ *+0* �� �0, �,0* ��0,

,++
8�

:
0+

*++

�
�
�
�
�
56
��
5�
)
4
�

+

*++

.++

2++

1++

�++

&
�
�

�)
�

3
�
�

��
)

/��

<
�
�
�

<
�
)
�

�
�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

 
�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
 
0�
 
"�
(
�
4
�#
!�
�

:

�8�,

�8��

�8�1

�8�2

�1

�:2

�:.

���

��

&#	

+

*+

.+

2+

1+

�+

,+

 +

'+

&
�
�

�)
�

3
�
�

��
)

/��

<
�
�
�

<
�
)
�

�
�
�
�
��
�
�
�

 
�
�
�
��
�
�
�

�
)
�
�
3 &���

'�"���

!��	"

!�	*"

!�	."

������4��������#����
����

%��

3�����������:���
;����%%

P
age 350



����

	�
�����

���
����


��� 
 ��!

++++ +

+*++ +

+.++ +

+2++ +

+1++ +

+�++ +

+,++ *

+ ++ 1

+'++ ,

+0++ *0

*+++ .,

���� *�

���� +�

++* ����������	
����

#����������#���������

���5�6*����!���$�789�$�0,'���.2+*� �����
�����

3���(�)�� ��
��
���
�����������


������������������

�)��3�.�$��7�)48

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + * * . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + . * * . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * 2 ** 2 * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ . , *1 2 * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

� � � �� - � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� � * �� , , � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

-��1�

-�

-��1�

��

*��1�

*�

*��1�

+�

+��1�

+�

+��1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

��1�

�

��1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

*�

����1�

���

����1�

�*�

�*��1�

�*�

�*��1�

�+�

���1�

��

���1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

���1�

��

���1�

,�

,��1�

,�

,��1�

-�

���� +�

*2++ .2

*1++ .�

*�++ .�

*,++ ..

* ++ .+

*'++ **

*0++ 0

.+++ *

.*++ +

..++ +

.2++ +

�,1�� ��,

��1�� ��-

��1�� ��-

��1�� ��-

� � * �� , , � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

+ + 2 *+ , 2 * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + . *1  * * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + . ' ** 1 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + 2 *2 � * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * * 0  . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * 2 . 2 . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + � + . * * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

� , *� ��� �* �� * � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� , +� ��� �� *� + � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� , +� ��� �� *� + � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� , +� ��� �� *� + � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

������4��������#����
����

%��

3�����������:���
;����%%

P
age 351



����

	�
�����

���
����


��� 
 ��!

++++ +

+*++ +

+.++ +

+2++ +

+1++ +

+�++ +

+,++ *

+ ++ .

+'++ *+

+0++ .,

*+++ 2+

���� +*

���� ��

++* ����������	
����

#����������#���������

���5�6*����!���$�789�$�0,'���.2+*� �����
�����

3���(�)�� ��
��
���
�����������


��$��,������������

�)��3�.�$��7�)48

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + * + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + * � 2 * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * 1 *1  + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ . + *2 *+ � + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

� � * �� �� * � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� � � �� �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

+��1�

+�

+��1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

��1�

�

��1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

*�

����1�

���

����1�

�*�

�*��1�

�*�

�*��1�

�+�

���1�

��

���1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

���1�

��

���1�

,�

,��1�

,�

,��1�

-�

-��1�

-�

-��1�

��

*��1�

*�

*��1�

+�

���� ��

*2++ 2'

*1++ 2*

*�++ 2,

*,++ .�

* ++ .'

*'++ *.

*0++  

.+++ +

.*++ +

..++ +

.2++ +

�,1�� **�

��1�� **�

��1�� **�

��1�� **�

� � � �� �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

+ * ** *1 *+ . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ . *. *1 2 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + � .1 , + + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * , *2 1 * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + � *�  * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + , 1 * * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * * + 1 * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

� - �* ��� �� �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� � �� ��� �� �, � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� � �� ��� �� �, � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� � �� ��� �� �, � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

������4��������#����
����

%��

3�����������:���
;����%%

P
age 352



����

	�
�����

���
����


��� 
 ��!

++++ +

+*++ +

+.++ +

+2++ +

+1++ +

+�++ +

+,++ .

+ ++ *

+'++ 2

+0++ **

*+++ .'

���� +,

���� ��

++* ����������	
����

#����������#���������

���5�6*����!���$�789�$�0,'���.2+*� �����
�����

3���(�)�� ��
��
���
�����������


 $��-������������

�)��3�.�$��7�)48

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + * * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + . + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * 1 1 . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * 2 *�  * * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

� � �� �+ � * � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� � �* �� �* � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

��1�

�

��1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

*�

����1�

�*�

�*��1�

�*�

�*��1�

�+�

���1�

��

���1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

���1�

��

���1�

,�

,��1�

,�

,��1�

-�

-��1�

-�

-��1�

��

*��1�

*�

*��1�

+�

+��1�

+�

����1�

���

+��1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

���� ��

*2++ ��

*1++  '

*�++ 2'

*,++ 20

* ++ * 

*'++ *1

*0++ 0

.+++ *

.*++ +

..++ +

.2++ +

�,1�� +��

��1�� +**

��1�� +**

��1�� +**

� � �* �� �* � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

+ + * 2. � * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ . . 2� *. . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * , .2 , . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ +  *' *. . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ . . , 2 2 * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + 2 � 2 2 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * . 2 2 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

� � ��+ ��+ ,* �- * � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� �� ��� ��- ,, �- * � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� �� ��� ��- ,, �- * � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� �� ��� ��- ,, �- * � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

������4��������#����
����

%��

3�����������:���
;����%%

P
age 353



����

	�
�����

���
����


��� 
 ��!

++++ +

+*++ +

+.++ +

+2++ +

+1++ +

+�++ +

+,++ *

+ ++ �

+'++  

+0++ * 

*+++ 21

���� ��*

���� ��

++* ����������	
����

#����������#���������

���5�6*����!���$�789�$�0,'���.2+*� �����
�����

3���(�)�� ��
��
���
�����������



�����������������

�)��3�.�$��7�)48

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + 2 . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + 2 1 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + . �  2 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ +  *� ' 1 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

� � �� +, �+ � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� � �+ +* �� * � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

��1�

�

��1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

*�

-��1�

-�

-��1�

��

*��1�

*�

*��1�

+�

+��1�

+�

+��1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

����1�

���

����1�

�*�

�*��1�

�*�

�*��1�

�+�

���1�

��

���1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

���1�

��

���1�

,�

,��1�

,�

,��1�

-�

���� ��

*2++  0

*1++ 1�

*�++ 1,

*,++ .,

* ++ *�

*'++ **

*0++  

.+++ *

.*++ +

..++ +

.2++ +

�,1�� +-,

��1�� +��

��1�� +��

��1�� +��

� � �+ +* �� * � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

+ . .+ 1+ *, * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * *2 .2 , . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ . 0 2* . . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ . ' *+ 1 * * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + � 1 � + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + .  . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + 2 . * * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

� �� ��� �*� ��� �, * � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� �� ��� �*+ ��* �- + � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� �� ��� �*+ ��* �- + � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� �� ��� �*+ ��* �- + � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

������4��������#����
����

%��

3�����������:���
;����%%

P
age 354



����

	�
�����

���
����


��� 
 ��!

++++ +

+*++ +

+.++ +

+2++ +

+1++ +

+�++ *

+,++ *

+ ++ .

+'++ '

+0++ **

*+++ .0

���� ��

*.++  0

++* ����������	
����

#����������#���������

���5�6*����!���$�789�$�0,'���.2+*� �����
�����

3���(�)�� ��
��
���
�����������


2�3���������������

�)��3�.�$��7�)48

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + * * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + 2 * 1 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + 2 2 . 2 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + 1 *. *+ 2 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

� + �* �� �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

+ . . 2 ** . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+��1�

+�

+��1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

��1�

�

��1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

*�

����1�

���

����1�

�*�

�*��1�

�*�

�*��1�

�+�

���1�

��

���1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

���1�

��

���1�

,�

,��1�

,�

,��1�

-�

-��1�

-�

-��1�

��

*��1�

*�

*��1�

+�

*.++  0

*2++ 2�

*1++ �2

���� ��,

*,++ 1+

* ++ *,

*'++ *0

*0++ 1

.+++ *

.*++ +

..++ +

.2++ +

�,1�� ++�

��1�� +��

��1�� +��

��1�� +��

+ . . 2 ** . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ *  ' *2 � * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

* ' *� .+ ' + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

� , ** �� �+ � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

+ . 0 .* ' + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + � ' 2 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ *  � � * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + * * * * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

� �� ��, �-, �� �, � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� �� �*� �-- �� �- � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� �� �*� �-- �� �- � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� �� �*� �-- �� �- � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

������4��������#����
����

%��

3�����������:���
;����%%

P
age 355



����

	�
�����

���
����


��� 
 ��!

++++ +

+*++ +

+.++ +

+2++ +

+1++ +

+�++ *

+,++ *

+ ++ +

+'++  

+0++ **

*+++ .1

���� +�

*.++  2

++* ����������	
����

#����������#���������

���5�6*����!���$�789�$�0,'���.2+*� �����
�����

3���(�)�� ��
��
���
�����������



4����������������

�)��3�.�$��7�)48

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + 2 . . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + 1 2 2 * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + ' *+ 1 . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

� � - �� �� * � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

+ + *2 1, ** . * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

��1�

�

��1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

*�

����1�

�*�

�*��1�

�*�

�*��1�

�+�

���1�

��

���1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

���1�

��

���1�

,�

,��1�

,�

,��1�

-�

-��1�

-�

-��1�

��

*��1�

*�

*��1�

+�

+��1�

+�

����1�

���

+��1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

*.++  2

*2++ �.

�+�� ,,

*�++ �0

*,++ 1,

* ++ *+

*'++ **

*0++  

.+++ *

.*++ +

..++ +

.2++ +

�,1�� +��

��1�� +��

��1�� +��

��1�� +��

+ + *2 1, ** . * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ . *' .2 ' * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

� + �� *� �+ + � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

+ + *' .0 0 2 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ . 0 .1 *+ + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + 2  + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + 1 1 2 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + . . . * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

� � ��* ��+ ,� �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� � ��� ��� ,� �, � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� � ��� ��� ,� �, � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� �� ��� ��� ,� �, � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

������4��������#����
����

%��

3�����������:���
;����%%

P
age 356



����

	�
�����

���
����


��� 
 ��!

++++ +

+*++ +

+.++ +

+2++ +

+1++ +

+�++ *

+,++ .

+ ++ +

+'++ 1

+0++ ..

*+++ 2,

���� ���

���� ,�

++* ����������	
����

#����������#���������

���5�6*����!���$�789�$�0,'���.2+*� �����
�����

3���(�)�� ��
��
���
�����������


�5����������������

�)��3�.�$��7�)48

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + 2 * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * *2 � 2 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

* . *. **  2 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

** ,� �� �+ - � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� � �� *� �- + � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

��1�

�

��1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

*�

-��1�

-�

-��1�

��

*��1�

*�

*��1�

+�

+��1�

+�

+��1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

����1�

���

����1�

�*�

�*��1�

�*�

�*��1�

�+�

���1�

��

���1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

���1�

��

���1�

,�

,��1�

,�

,��1�

-�

���� ,�

*2++ �,

*1++ �1

*�++ �1

*,++ 12

* ++ *�

*'++ .�

*0++ .

.+++ *

.*++ +

..++ +

.2++ +

�,1�� �*�

��1�� �++

��1�� �++

��1�� �+�

� � �� *� �- + � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

+ . *2 .* *� 2 . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ +  ., * 2 * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + ' .+ .� * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * 1 .* *. 1 * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + 2 �  + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * ' ,  2 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + * + * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

*+ -+ ��� �,+ ��� �� + � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

*+ -� ��* �,� ��� �� + � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

*+ -� ��* �,� ��� �� + � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

*+ -, ��* �,� ��� �� + � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

������4��������#����
����

%��

3�����������:���
;����%%

P
age 357



����

	�
�����

���
����


��� 
 ��!

++++ +

+*++ +

+.++ +

+2++ +

+1++ +

+�++ +

+,++ *

+ ++ .

+'++ ,

+0++ * 

*+++ 2+

���� �-

���� ,�

++* ����������	
����

#����������#���������

���5�6*����!���$�789�$�0,'���.2+*� �����
�����

3���(�)�� ��
��
���
�����������


(�5���!�/�6�7,8

�)��3�.�$��7�)48

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + * * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + . . . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * � , 1 * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * , *2  2 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

� �� �* �+ �* � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� � �� *� �� * � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

+��1�

+�

+��1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

��1�

�

��1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

*�

����1�

���

����1�

�*�

�*��1�

�*�

�*��1�

�+�

���1�

��

���1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

���1�

��

���1�

,�

,��1�

,�

,��1�

-�

-��1�

-�

-��1�

��

*��1�

*�

*��1�

+�

���� ,�

*2++ 1'

*1++ �.

*�++ �.

*,++ 21

* ++ * 

*'++ *�

*0++ ,

.+++ *

.*++ +

..++ +

.2++ +

�,1�� +�*

��1�� +��

��1�� +��

��1�� +��

� � �� *� �� * � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

+ * *2 .* *+ . * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ . *1 .2 *+ . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ * *. . *+ . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ *  * ' * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + 2 ' � * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + 1 � 1 * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + . * . * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

� �� �+ �-* -- �� * � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� �* �� �-� �� �� * � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� �* �� �-� �� �� * � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� �* �� �-� �� �� * � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

������4��������#����
����

%��

3�����������:���
;����%%

P
age 358



����

	�
�����

���
����


��� 
 ��!

&�� 122

�)� 10,

3�� 1�,

��) 1.+

/�� �1�

<��� .,'

<�)� 220

��/�6��:�0 +,�

,�/�6��:�0 +��

11 ���,

++* ����������	
����

#����������#���������

���5�6*����!���$�789�$�0,'���.2+*� �����
�����

3���(�)�� ��
��
���
�����������


(�5���!�2��9�7�8

�)��3�.�$��7�)48

+ ** *+, .*'   *' 2 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

* ** *.� .21 *+2 *' 1 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

* ., *2+ *'' 0* *' . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ *+ **, *0,  0 * . + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

21 ' *+2 * � *.* .* 1 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+  1+ *.* ,� 2* 1 + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

+ 0 �� *,+ 0, * * * + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +

, �� ��� ��� �+ �- * � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

� �* �� �-� �� �� * � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

*� ��� �,� ���� �*� �+� �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

��1�

�

��1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

*�

����1�

���

����1�

�*�

�*��1�

�*�

�*��1�

�+�

���1�

��

���1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

����1�

���

���1�

��

���1�

,�

,��1�

,�

,��1�

-�

-��1�

-�

-��1�

��

*��1�

*�

*��1�

+�

+��1�

+�

+��1�

��

���1�

��

���1�

��

.�+

�
�
�
�
�
56
��
5�
)
4
�

+

�+

*++

*�+

.++

+
��
�

�
��
*
+

*
+
��
*
�

*
�
��
.
+

.
+
��
.
�

.
�
��
2
+

2
+
��
2
�

2
�
��
1
+

1
+
��
1
�

1
�
��
�
+

�
+
��
�
�

�
�
��
,
+

,
+
��
,
�

,
�
��
 
+

 
+
��
 
�

 
�
��
'
+

'
+
��
'
�

'
�
��
0
+

0
+
��
0
�

0
�
��
*
+
+

*
+
+
��
*
+
�

*
+
�
��
*
*
+

*
*
+
��
*
*
�

*
*
�
��
*
.
+

*
.
+
��
*
.
�

*
.
�
��
*
2
+

*
2
+
��
*
2
�

*
2
�
��
*
1
+

�
 
0�
 
"�
(
�
4
�#
!�
�

�)��3�.�$�

&��

�)�

3��

��)

/��

<���

<�)�

������4��������#����
����

%��

3�����������:���
;����%%

P
age 359



Page 360



Page 361



Page 362



Page 363



Page 364



Appendix D 
PREVIOUS ROUTE OPTION STUDIES 

Page 365



F
e
n
c
in

g

6
0
0
.2

4
9
 m

P
age 366



CHELTENHAM CREMATORIUM 

DEVELOPMENT

Stage 2 Feasibility Report

Ref:CC/S2/JM/180716

Submitted: 15th July 2016

Valid Until: 18th August 2016

Page 367



During the feasibility study we have 

considered options for logistics and 

more specifically access and egress 

arrangements for construction 

materials, plant and operatives.

NB. Please refer to appendix G for options.

On a daily basis we will be bringing vehicles onto site and 

subsequently off site for materials, plant and operatives as well 

as taking away waste materials.

A major consideration is how we provide access and egress 

routes for this traffic.

Following discussions with our client we have looked at the 

viability of each of the  following options:

Option 1 – Provide a temporary Haul road off site which will be 

removed at the end of the contract. Construct a new exit route 

within the existing cemetery connecting to the existing road 

layout. 

Option 2 - Form a permanent road from the existing highways 

infrastructure to the construction site through land surrounding 

the cemetery (adjacent fields) to serve construction traffic and 

future permanent egress.

Benefits of constructing a permanent egress through the 

cemetery (option 1)

• Keeps the existing road network within the cemetery

• Less opposition from neighbouring community

Constraints of constructing a permanent egress through 

the cemetery (option 1)

• Constructing a new road creates a ‘construction site’ 

considered to be major disruption for a cemetery 

environment.

• Graves and memorials will need to be exhumed and 

relocated

• Legals, permission and licensing issues associated with 

grave and memorial relocation.  

• Ecology issues will need to be investigated and 

accommodated

• Trees and hedges will need to be removed, tree root 

protection required

• Working space requirements could impinge on adjacent 

graves, memorials and areas of cremated human remains.

• Construction activities immediately adjacent to mourners 

visiting graves.

• Accommodation of road drainage.

• Potential increase in programme duration due to downtime 

from sensitive cemetery events.

Benefits of a permanent egress road (option 2)

• All construction traffic provided with access and egress 

route completely segregated from cemetery

• Elimination of down time or risk allowances for periods 

when it would not be acceptable for construction traffic to 

use cemetery roads

• Provides potential for dedicated egress route for funeral 

traffic from new chapel to leave site.

• Enhances value of land along road route for future 

development

• Possible shared funding from temporary access haul roads 

of flood defence woks project

9

4. ACCESS/EGRESS APPRAISAL

Page 368



Constraints of permanent egress road (option 2)

• Ecology issues will need to be investigated and 

accommodated

• Disruption to playing field

• Opposition from residents.

• Potential relocation of sports field changing facilities. 

Cost based comparison

We have assessed each option and provided the following 

budget costs within out estimate of the works.

NB:  As there will already be a capital expenditure required 

to construct a haul road to service the construction site it 

would be beneficial to convert the haul road into a permanent 

service road to maximise on this investment and eliminate any 

disruption to the cemetery

High Level Cost Assessment of Haul Road v's Internal Cemetery Road

Option Description

1
Cost of a Haul 

Road
2400 m2  120.00  288,000.00 

Cost of Internal 

road through 

Cemetery

997.5 m2  100.00  99,750.00 

 387,750.00

2
Permanent Exit 

and Haul Road
2400 m2  150.00  360,000.00 

Recommendation

Having taken the above considerations into account we would 

recommend option 2 as the best option to proceed against.  

Our site layout and logistics plan (SL-01) illustrates this proposal 

and allows the existing Cemetery roads to continue to be used 

for its intended use on a day to day basis without impact from 

large scale volumes of construction traffic and effect to the 

Cemetery and its visitors.

We recommend that this permanent egress road be completed 

as an enabling works package prior to the main contract to 

maintain a completion date of Phase 1 in June 2018.

   

10

4. ACCESS/EGRESS APPRAISAL

Page 369



Appendix E 
PETER MITCHELL ASSOCIATES REPORT 

Page 370



Cheltenham Cemetery and Crematorium 

Route Options Appraisal 

Peter Mitchell Associates 

September 2016 

Page 371



Contents 

Contents ................................................................................................................................ 2

Executive Summary ................................................................................................................ 3

About the Author ................................................................................................................... 4

Basis of this report ................................................................................................................. 5

Key Issues .............................................................................................................................. 6

Legal issues ............................................................................................................................ 6

Cheltenham Cemetery and Crematorium .......................................................................................... 8

Consecrated areas ....................................................................................................................... 11

Unconsecrated areas ................................................................................................................... 12

Practical issues ..................................................................................................................... 13

Financial issues .................................................................................................................... 14

Legal costs ....................................................................................................................................... 14

Practical costs.................................................................................................................................. 14

Public Relations.................................................................................................................... 15

Page 372



Executive Summary 

This report provides a high-level overview of the issues surrounding the potential creation 

of access through Cheltenham Cemetery. 

In my view, there is no legislation that is applicable to authorising the removal of memorials 

and burials in an operational local authority cemetery.  

Based upon the information that I have received, of the routes identified by WSP | Parsons 

Brinckerhoff which impact directly on the cemetery (namely A and B), I recommend that 

Route B shown in purple on the WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff’s drawing SK03 is regarded as 

having a much greater chance of being feasible than Route A shown in yellow, due to the 

clear indications of coffin burials along Route A. 

Similarly, Route B shown in purple on the WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff’s drawing SK03 avoids 

areas clearly used for coffin burials within the areas shaded orange and red on the RES 

Surveying Topographic Survey Sheet 13. 

The proposals threaten to disturb a place where the bodies and ashes of deceased people 

lie and thereby have the potential to cause great distress to bereaved people, which must 

be recognised by the team working on this project. 

Page 373



About the Author

I  am  Peter  Mitchell  and  I  have  worked  at  all  levels  in  the  Bereavement  Services  sector  in  

both public and private sectors since 1983. Since 2002 I have been an independent 

consultant, specialising in all matters relating to burial, cremation and exhumation. 

I wrote the IBCA Exhumation Handbook in 1998 and have project managed the exhumation 

of approximately 30,000 burials, mainly in the UK, but also in Luxor, Egypt and Jakarta, 

Indonesia. These exhumations have ranged from single bodies to large numbers of burials 

and the type of client and their reasons for requiring exhumation have also varied widely. 

I have been featured in 3 TV documentaries on exhumation, including being the subject of 

‘The Exhumer’, a 50-minute documentary broadcast on Channel 4 in July 2009. 

Page 374



Basis of this report 

My understanding of the proposed route options is informed by the following drawings: 

Company Drawing Ref Date

RES Surveying Ltd Topographic Survey Sheet 13 13/04/2015

WSP / Parsons Brinckerhoff 4730-SK03 Rev B

Overview Map 

Proposed Route Options 

September 2016

WSP / Parsons Brinckerhoff 4730-SK04 Rev A

Proposed Route A 

September 2016

WSP / Parsons Brinckerhoff 4730-SK05 Rev A

Proposed Route B 

September 2016

I have also had the benefit of seeing 17 photographs of the areas shaded Blue, Orange and 

Red on the RES Surveying Topographic Survey Sheet 13. 

The various route options under consideration relate to an operational cemetery and 

crematorium site. I have not made a site visit nor sought any information directly from the 

client, Cheltenham Borough Council. 

The ‘Proposed Route Options’ drawing shows areas shaded Blue, Orange and Red, which all 

directly impact upon areas of the cemetery previously used for burial. The area shaded in 

blue forms part of WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff’s Route Option A.  

This same drawing shows Route B in purple, which does not appear to affect graves as such, 

but may impact upon an area adjacent to the site entrance drive, previously used for the 

burial or scattering of ashes. 

Page 375



Key Issues 

The key issues for consideration include: 

Legal 

Practical

Financial 

Public relations 

Legal issues 

The redevelopment of land previously used for burial is not unusual in the UK and there is a 

statutory framework in place to enable this to happen, subject to the particular 

circumstances of each case. These circumstances do not necessarily have to involve the 

disturbance of buried human remains. 

A significant factor in understanding which legislation applies within England is the status of 

the land in terms of its formal consecration by a Bishop of the Church of England. Whilst 

liaison and gaining consent may be required when dealing with churchyards in Wales or 

Scotland, in England only consecration has a legal status recognised in statutes relating to 

exhumation.  

Regardless of the ownership of the land, its consecration by a Bishop of the Church of 

England places it under the Faculty Jurisdiction, which places restrictions upon what can be 

done on the land without applying for faculty permission.  

The statutes relevant to the use or redevelopment of land used for burial include: 

Burial Act 1857 

Disused Burial Grounds (Amendment) Act 1981 

Page 376



Town and Country Planning Act 1990 & Town and Country Planning Regulations 

1950

Open Spaces Act 1906 

Mission and Pastoral Measure 2011 

Care of Churches and Ecclesiastical Jurisdiction (Amendment) Measure 2015 

Private Acts of Parliament  

Examples of relevant private Acts of Parliament include the Channel Tunnel Rail Link Act 

1996 and the Crossrail Act 2008. 

Statutes have provisions relating not only to the actual burials, but also to the treatment of 

memorials on graves, which technically remain the property of the person who originally 

paid for their installation. 

In general, there are requirements to give public notice of the intentions regarding the land 

previously used for burial and arrangements relating to objections from relatives and others 

and to compensation for loss of burial rights. 

In terms of creating access for vehicles over old burials, the Disused Burial Grounds 

(Amendment) Act 1981 provides that the Secretary of State may issue an Order dispensing 

with the requirements to exhume burials in areas of old burials where no building is to take 

place. The provision is used to enable the redevelopment of an old non-conformist chapel 

so that burials in the area redeveloped as entrance and car park are left undisturbed. The 

formality  of  what  is  known  as  a  Dispensation  Order  is  required  as  the  work  results  in  the  

graves being made inaccessible. 

The Church of England sometimes grants faculty permission for raft type foundations to be 

used for the extension of church buildings to bridge over old graves. 

It  is  important  to  note  that,  regardless  of  the  location  and  status  of  the  site,  graves  

containing Commonwealth War Burials have special protection. These are defined in the 

Page 377



Local Authorities’ Cemeteries Order 1977 (LACO) as a burial of any member of the forces of 

His Majesty fallen in the war of 1914-1921 or the war of 1939-1947. 

It is also important to note that cremation ashes are also classified as human remains for 

the purposes of legislation. This applies where ashes are buried, whether in a container or 

otherwise. The situation where ashes are scattered is less clear and is considered below. 

Another factor that may be relevant is that the original part of the cemetery is registered 

under the Historic Buildings and Ancient Monuments Act 1953 within the Register of 

Historic Parks and Gardens by English Heritage (now Historic England) for its special historic 

interest.  It  was  Grade  2  listed  in  2003.  This  does  not  apply  to  20
th 

Century cemetery 

extensions, in which the proposed route options currently being considered may be located. 

Cheltenham Cemetery and Crematorium 

The Cheltenham site under consideration is neither a churchyard nor a disused burial 

ground, but an operational cemetery. This means that it does not readily fit in with any of 

the statutory provisions listed above. 

I suspect that, in common with most other local authority cemeteries, a significant 

proportion of the site may be consecrated. 

The  memorials  visible  in  the  photographs  that  I  have  seen  suggest  to  me  that  the  graves  

lying in the Blue, Orange and Red areas are purchased graves, although there may be 

unpurchased graves in the Blue area. 

‘Purchased’ means that the burial authority sold the exclusive rights of burial in the grave to 

a relative of the person first buried in it. That owner may have subsequently also been 

buried in the grave. The sale of the exclusive rights is a legally binding contract between the 

burial authority and the purchaser and in subject to the terms and conditions of the grant of 

rights. 

Page 378



I do not know the age of the burials along the 3 potential routes, but in the photographs the 

memorials generally look quite old. I therefore suggest that the exclusive rights in the graves 

may have been sold prior to 1974 in perpetuity. This needs clarification from the cemetery 

records, but it means that the rights were not sold for a limited period, as they have been 

since 1974, and they do not simply expire. In all probability the rights are still extant, even if 

the registered owners of those rights are themselves deceased. There are appropriate 

procedures for the rights to be transferred to those legally entitled, usually but not 

necessarily a direct descendant. 

‘Unpurchased’ means that no-one purchased any exclusive rights and unrelated people may 

have been buried over a period of time in the same grave. Some burial authorities permit 

memorials on unpurchased graves, so the presence or absence of a memorial does not 

define the status of a grave. 

In addition to any consideration of the potential disturbance of burials, there should also be 

factored in the exclusive rights of burial and the property rights in memorials. These matters 

are dealt with in the legislation relating to disused burial grounds, but this is an operational 

cemetery regardless of the age of any burials that might be affected by new access routes. 

The area shaded in blue which forms part of WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff’s Route Option A 

may  appear  to  have  good  potential  as  an  access  route,  due  to  the  smaller  number  of  

memorials visible in the photographs. However: 

The  absence  of  a  memorial  does  not  indicate  that  there  is  not  a  grave  in  which  

burials have taken place. 

There appears to be a CWGC headstone in one of the photographs (P1080270). 

There appears to be evidence from photographs of vases (P1080248) and a 

memorial feature (P108262) that ashes have been scattered or buried in the area on 

the Blue route. A site inspection is required to confirm this. 

Page 379



The  Purple  Route  B  appears  not  to  affect  graves,  but  it  may  affect  an  area  used  for  the  

scattering or burial of ashes where it links to the main drive close to the main entrance to 

the cemetery. 

If ashes have been buried in containers the affected area, particularly if individual burial 

plots have been sold, then legally there is no difference from graves containing bodies. 

When scattered, ashes are not identifiable or recoverable. 

The Ministry of Justice publishes guidance notes with its exhumation licence application 

form, which state: 

It is not practical to remove scattered remains. They are not considered to be buried and no 

licence is therefore required if they are to be disturbed. 

If the remains have been placed in the grave without a container, it may not be practicable 

to  remove  them.  Any  application  for  a  licence  to  do  so  will  be  considered  in  the  light  of  

advice from the burial authority.

Whilst the legal implications of scattered ashes many seem to be minimal, other aspects are 

discussed in the Public Relations section below. 

In London only, local authorities have powers to extinguish exclusive rights of burial granted 

in perpetuity if the most recent burial in the grave concerned was 75 years or more ago. The 

wording  of  the  legislation  -  the  Greater  London  Council  (General  Powers)  Act  1976  s.9  –  

specifically refers to extinguishing rights where there is depth remaining in the grave for at 

least one further burial. Last year, I sought the opinion of the Ministry of Justice team as to 

whether these powers could be used to extinguish exclusive rights in order to create a new 

pedestrian access through 3 rows of graves.  

I  made  my  original  request  on  5
th

 November  2015,  but  did  not  receive  a  reply  until  24
th

March 2016. The reply included the following: 

Page 380



“… I’m afraid MoJ is not in a position to provide the information you’re seeking. As you’ll 

know, neither the City of London (Various Powers) Act 1969 nor the Greater London Council 

(General Powers) Act 1976 were pieces of government legislation and, therefore, it’s not 

possible for us to speculate on the policy intention behind the provisions you have queried. In 

any event, the issues you have raised are essentially matters of legal interpretation and, as a 

Government department, we’re unable to give advice of this kind.  I can only suggest that 

you should seek this from an independent adviser.”  

I think that the words of the legislation in this specific example do not extend to permit the 

creation of access routes. The situation for a local authority outside of London seeking to do 

something similar, but lacking even powers to extinguish exclusive rights in graves that have 

been used for burial, seems even less likely to find a successful legal outcome. 

Regardless of the merits of improving access, one cannot simply remove memorials from 

graves  and  create  a  new  route  or  widen  an  existing  route  by  covering  graves  partially  or  

completely or exhume burials as part of this process. 

In general terms, in my view the options for gaining legal consent to encroach upon graves 

in Cheltenham Cemetery, whether involving the disturbance of burials or building access 

routes over graves without disturbing burials, are very limited. There appears to be no 

provision in law to authorise these works.  

Consecrated areas 

Discussion with the Gloucester Diocesan Registrar to explore how the Church of England 

views the proposals. These discussions should be informed by clear maps and other 

information showing the number of graves, memorials and burials potentially affected by 

the creation of new or wider routes. 

Page 381



Unconsecrated areas 

Discussion with the Ministry of Justice along the same terms. As discussed above, I am not 

optimistic that the Ministry team would have the capacity or willingness to commit to 

providing any helpful advice. 

The time required to successful engage in dialogue and reach conclusions with these 2 

bodies could be considerable. Based upon my own and others’ experience, it would not 

surprise me if  up to one year or  even two years  were spent on this  process and yet  there 

would be no guarantee that a successful outcome could be achieved. 

In the absence of any alternative, the client could consider seeking powers within a new and 

specific private Act of Parliament, but there would be no guarantee of success.  

Subject to site investigations to confirm the situation on the ground regarding ashes of body 

burials, the Purple Route B appears to offer the least legal obstacles. 

Page 382



Practical issues 

If legal authority could be obtained to authorise the removal of memorials and build a road 

over old graves, the practical issues would be relatively straightforward. Even if some or all 

of the burials were to be removed, this would not present significant practical challenges. 

The memorials and burials could be relocated to another part of the cemetery. Where 

disused burial grounds are cleared, normal practice is to rebury exhumed remains in 

communal  graves in order to save space in existing cemeteries.  In  this  case,  however,  the 

sensitivities of the situation would require the reinterment of burials and the re-erection of 

memorials  to be on a grave by grave basis.  If  50 graves were affected,  the memorials  and 

burials would be relocated to 50 new graves elsewhere in the cemetery.   

The dismantling and re-erection of memorials would require care to minimise any damage. 

The memorials would have to be re-erected to modern standards in terms of foundations 

and fixing of components to ensure safety. If burials were to be exhumed, the work would 

need to be screened from public view and undertaken in liaison with the local authority’s 

Environmental Health Officer. In view of the specific nature of the project, each burial would 

likely be reinterred in a new individual coffin. Both activities would need to be completed by 

people suitably experienced in the work, with BRAMM / NAMM registration applicable to 

the memorial work. 

The time taken to complete this work would obviously depend upon the number of 

memorials and/or burials involved. However, I would expect completion within a matter of 

a few weeks rather than months. 

Purple Route B appears to offer the least practical difficulties. There may be no need to 

move any memorials  or  buried ashes or  bodies at  all.  The removal  of  lawn areas used for  

scattering ashes would need to be completed with an awareness of the sensitivity of the 

situation and manual excavation may be deemed more appropriate than mechanical 

excavation. The site and method of relocation of such ground would need consideration, 

with a location within the cemetery. 

Page 383



Financial issues 

Legal costs 

If the client wished to pursue the identified route options, the costs of seeking legal consent 

may  include  charges  made  by  the  Diocesan  Registry  for  the  time  of  the  Registrar  and/or  

Chancellor. These charges would likely be equivalent to lawyers’ fees. 

The Ministry of Justice would not make any charge.  

The  client  might  wish  to  engage  specialist  lawyers  to  act  on  their  behalf  in  the  hope  of  

increasing the chances of a successful outcome to the discussions with Diocese and 

Ministry. 

Practical costs 

The costs of dismantling and re-erecting the memorials are unlikely to be significant, in view 

of the modest size and design of memorials apparent in the photographs. I suggest an 

allowance of £250 to £500 per memorial. 

The costs of exhuming burials if required would again be modest. I suggest an allowance of 

£2,000 per coffin burial.  

In addition, there would be the costs of new coffins. I suggest an allowance of £300 per 

coffin. 

The client would be providing new graves for any reinterments and could excavate the 

graves as in the case of standard coffin burials. If an exhumation contractor were 

responsible for the reinterments, the costs would be minimal if carried out on the same site 

immediately following exhumation. 

Page 384



In  view  of  the  sensitivity  of  the  project,  the  client  might  wish  to  engage  the  services  of  a  

Funeral Director, for which quotations would have to be sought. 

Public Relations 

Perhaps even greater than the challenges of obtaining legal consent for the works, 

managing the public relations aspects of such a project is likely to be very difficult. 

As an example, within recent years Perth and Kinross Council have faced protests from 

members of the public disturbed by the prospect of a new road being constructed within 

the grounds of Perth Crematorium and potentially affecting areas where ashes had been 

scattered.  

(See: https://www.thecourier.co.uk/news/local/perth-kinross/238648/anger-over-new-link-road-near-perth-

crematorium/)

The use of social media, combined with what I perceive from experience to be a heightened 

awareness and sensitivity to the disturbance of the dead in the UK, enables even a relatively 

small minority to gain a high public profile for their objections to such a project.  

Any activity that threatens to disturb a place where the bodies and ashes of deceased 

people lie has the potential to cause great distress to bereaved people, which must be 

recognised by the team working on this project. This distress is not limited to those families 

whose graves are directly affected by any proposals, but includes relatives of others buried 

in this cemetery and also elsewhere. 

Ideally, the proposals to create access routes and discussions regarding legal authority for 

the works should be kept out of the public domain until there is certainty as to what might 

be the finally agreed solution. This would avoid causing unnecessary distress to bereaved 

people. 

Page 385



If any of the route options are to be pursued and legal authority successfully obtained, it will 

be essential to ensure the integrity of the work on the ground, maintain the identity of any 

memorials and burials affected, whether bodies or ashes. 

Page 386



L13

Cheltenham Cemetary and

Crematorium

Bouncers Lane

Topographic Survey

Sheet 13

SUR.1126

13/04/2015

ZA

KL

1:1000

RES Surveying Ltd

Unit 19.4

Highnam Business Centre
Highnam

Gloucester

GL2 8DN

T: 01452 506079
E: mail@ressurveying.co.uk

www.ressurveying.co.uk

A0

PROJECT NO

DATE

DRAWN BY

CHECKED BY

SCALE

REV DATEDESCRIPTION

ADDRESS

DRAWING

P
age 387



1

WSP Group Ltdc

P
age 388



WSP Group Ltdc

P
age 389



1

 

WSP Group Ltdc

 

P
age 390



Appendix F 
TREE SPECIALIST REPORT  

Page 391



Cheltenham Cemetery-Proposed Route Options  

CBC Tree Section comment pertaining to WSP Drawing no 4730-SK-03 Sept 2016 

Route A-

Pros-

If constructed well, this would be the most visually pleasing route for mourners/visitors to 

the cremator as it meanders through several different well tree’d and more open areas 

throughout the cemetery.   

It would leave the southern existing boundary vegetation intact thus leaving functional 

screening into and out of the cemetery from the playing pitches and open space to the 

south.

Cons

A more expensive “no-dig construction” method for the road would need to be engineered 

to reduce damage to trees rooting environment. 

Route would likely need the removal of several trees from within the children’s cemetery as 

well as part of a hedge line within the cemetery.  This hedge line is species-rich and is 

composed of rowan, Berberis, smoke bush, yew, birch, Laburnum, cotoneaster, hawthorn 

etc.

Unless this road meanders significantly, it will involve the placing of the road right under the 

canopy of several large beech, hornbeam and oak.  Whilst this may be technically possible, 

some collateral damage will be incurred to these trees and indeed access facilitation pruning 

(in the form of crown lifting would be necessary-such crown lifting involves the removal of 

several large limbs off these trees to enable vehicle access under the canopy) would be 

required.  This pruning would likely detract from the visual amenity of these trees.    

Alternatively the road could meander away from trees, but this would likely involve the 

moving of grave stones. 

Road construction would be over an area where it is suspected ashes are scattered (there 

appears to be many bunches of flowers and other assorted mementos on the ground in this 

area).    

Any “new road” will take some time to “bed-in” and may look somewhat “shiny and new” in 

a mature amenity landscape.  It would likely take several years before it blends into the 

landscape.

No-dig construction specialist advice would be required to ascertain whether such an 

engineering construction is possible.  

Cedar tree and 2 mature lime trees near to the entrance would need to be removed if 

proposed entrance-widening is required. 

Page 392



Route B 

Pros

Little /no damage to trees within the cemetery assuming road follows route outside the 

palisade fence line. 

New road would not be highly visible within cemetery or externally from the open space or 

playing pitches. 

Relatively easy to construct-whether temporary or permanent. 

No high quality trees would need to be removed to facilitate construction or future visitor 

movement. 

Construction over cedar rooting area at top of drive should be relatively simple. 

Loss of southern hedge line could be overcome with renewed planting. 

If road route is to the south of the existing palisade fence line, then most internal trees could 

be retained without significant damage to root protection areas. 

No significant trees exist within private rear gardens along 62-41 Salamanca road inhibiting 

construction of new road/track. 

Traffic within the cemetery would not increase during the construction period. 

Cons

Cedar and limes adjacent to entrance would need removal should access widening be 

required.

Part of the hedgerow along the southern boundary would need to be removed.  This would 

open up views into/out of the cemetery 

There is a manhole cover along this existing track indicating the presence of underground 

services.  Construction methods/design would need to take account of this. 

Much valuable wildlife rich cover such as bramble, plum, blackthorn, willow, alder etc would 

need to be removed.  However there is a lot of such cover around the playing fields and 

open space to the south of the cemetery.  It would be a relatively small overall proportion of 

total cover. 

Route C 

Pros

No tree related damage or removals required (assuming route could easily avoid several 

mature oak and willow within open space to the east of the playing field).   

Page 393



If sensitively designed and the existing young oak trees within this open space to the east of 

the playing pitches are protected and further planting included, this would add to the overall 

tree-rich landscape. 

No increase of internal construction related traffic during the build. 

Cons

Some cover for wildlife would be lost-bramble, wild plum, ash etc to enable access into the 

open space to the east of the playing pitches.   

The new road/route through this open space could look somewhat incongruous through the 

existing landscape and could take several years to “bed in”. 

Route D 

Pros

Little/no damage to significant individual trees required.   

No loss of significant individual trees. 

Existing south boundary screening into/out of cemetery would be retained. 

No increase of internal construction related traffic during the build. 

Cons

Some ground cover loss (as per Route B) of overall woody vegetation.  

Conclusion 

Each option carries several positives and negatives-some of these carry more weight and are of 

more significance than others. 

Route A would incur the most tree related damage/removals and may be the most expensive to 

construct but would ultimately fit best into this landscape on the assumption that a generous 

landscaping scheme could mitigate for tree loss/damage.  This may be technically the most 

challenging route to achieve due to the “no-dig” requirement where the route deviates into the root 

protection area of existing large trees. 

Route B would incur some loss of boundary screening and trees along front of drive (if drive is to be 

widened).  However, re-landscaping could mitigate for this loss.  This new route would fit 

aesthetically well into the local environment. 

Route C would not incur significant tree loss but the proposed new road may look incongruous 

through this open space.  Some ground cover would have to be removed. 

Page 394



Route D would also not incur significant tree loss but some ground cover would need to be removed.  

The road would fit more discretely into the landscape. 

All comments are from a “trees-only” perspective and do not take account of inconvenience to 

neighbours, nuisance, cost,  the proposed Noverton and Priors flood alleviation scheme or the 

appropriateness of design.  CBC Tree Section considers that Route B may offer the best long term 

solution. 

A possible alternative solution may be to construct a temporary access road for the construction 

phase of this project and then, where necessary, upgrade existing  surfaces for future car users to 

the new cremator.  This would avoid the necessity to construct lorry-bearing roads within the 

existing cemetery.  Such a new temporary road surface could be constructed using eg Eve Trackway 

solutions.  This would avoid the need to construct expensive loadbearing roads internally as well as 

reducing the need for tree removal whilst still involving visitor movement within the tranquil 

environs of the Cemetery. 

Christopher Chavasse 

CBC Trees Officer 20.9.16 

Page 395



Appendix G
ADDITIONAL ECOLOGICAL DETAILS  

Page 396



APPENDIX G – ADDITIONAL ECOLOGY DETAILS 

The following Tables outline the potential ecological survey requirements, timeframes and mitigation measures (should they be required) for each route. 

Table 1 Potential Ecology Survey Requirements  

Route 
Option (A 
– D)  

Survey 
Type 

Survey (Brief) 
Description  

Survey 
Requirement  

Survey 
Window 

Time 
Required to 
Complete 
Survey  

Completion 
Prior to 
August 2017 
Construction 
Start 

Mitigation Timeframe

A Badger – 
updated 
survey 

Updated 
survey to 
ensure no 
changes in sett 
locations have 
occurred 

Recommended Within 8 
weeks of 
construction 
start   

1 day Yes  Should no evidence be found, works can 
proceed without delay.   

Should new badger excavation(s) be found 
then further survey would be required.  If 
works are required within 30m of any badger 
setts, a sett closure licence would be 
required to close the sett legally.   

Refer below for mitigation timeline for badger 
sett closure.     

Bat – Tree 
Roost

Bat roost 
assessment of 
trees to be 
affected 

Recommended 
to ensure 
appropriate 
consideration 
for planning 

Preferably 
during winter 
due to 
reduction in 
foliage 

1 day Yes Should potential roosting features be 
identified then aerial assessment for bats 
would be required.  These could be carried 
out at any time of the year.   

Should bat roosts be identified and the trees 
require works/ felling then a licence from 
Natural England would be required to carry 
out the works legally.  Dusk and dawn 
emergence / re-entry surveys would be 
required to inform a licence 
application.  Dusk and dawn surveys would 
need to be carried out in May – August.  

P
age 397



Route 
Option (A 
– D)  

Survey 
Type 

Survey (Brief) 
Description  

Survey 
Requirement  

Survey 
Window 

Time 
Required to 
Complete 
Survey  

Completion 
Prior to 
August 2017 
Construction 
Start 

Mitigation Timeframe

Worst case delay – 6 months 

Should no evidence be found, works can 
proceed without delay.   

Great 
crested 
newt (GCN) 

Presence/likely 
absence 
survey 

Recommended 
to ensure 
appropriate 
consideration 
for planning 

Mid-March to 
mid-June, 
with at least 
two of these 
visits during 
mid-April to 
mid-May 

4 visits in 
suitable 
weather 
conditions 

Yes Should GCN be found to be present within 
the ponds on site, a licence application 
would be required.  This would take 2 weeks 
to prepare and 6 weeks for deliberation.  All 
information on the scheme (including 
justification for the works and consideration 
of alternatives) would be required for the 
application.  

Worst case delay – 2 months  

Should no evidence be found, works can 
proceed without delay.   

B Badger – 
updated 
survey 

Updated 
survey to 
ensure no 
changes in sett 
locations have 
occurred 

Recommended Within 8 
weeks of 
construction 
start   

1 day Yes   B1.  Avoiding badger sett (more than 30m 
and no heavy impact works within 50 m).   

Update survey only.   

Should no evidence be found, works can 
proceed without delay.   

If new excavation(s) found further survey 
required.  If works are required within 30m of 
any badger setts, a sett closure licence 
would be required to close the sett 
legally.  Refer to details below.   

Worst case delay – 9 months 

P
age 398



Route 
Option (A 
– D)  

Survey 
Type 

Survey (Brief) 
Description  

Survey 
Requirement  

Survey 
Window 

Time 
Required to 
Complete 
Survey  

Completion 
Prior to 
August 2017 
Construction 
Start 

Mitigation Timeframe

B2.  Not avoiding badger sett (works within 
30m) 

A licence would be required to close the 
badger sett.  Badger surveys would be 
required to determine the use of the badger 
sett and the sett would need to be closed 
within the closure period (July –
November).  A period of monitoring and 
excavations works are required as part of the 
licensable works.  

Worst case delay – 9 months 

Bat – Tree 
Roost

Bat roost 
assessment of 
trees to be 
affected 

Recommended 
to ensure 
appropriate 
consideration 
for planning 

Preferably 
during winter 
due to 
reduction in 
foliage 

1 day Yes Refer to bat tree roost mitigation timeline 
provided for Option A.   

Great 
crested 
newt (GCN) 

Presence/likely 
absence 
survey 

Recommended 
to ensure 
appropriate 
consideration 
for planning 

Mid-March to 
mid-June, 
with at least 
two of these 
visits during 
mid-April to 
mid-May 

4 visits in 
suitable 
weather 
conditions 

Yes Refer to great crested newt mitigation 
timeline provided for Option A.   

Combined 
otter, water 
vole and 
white 
clawed 
crayfish 

Habitat 
suitability/ 
Presence/likely 
absence and 
survey 

Recommended 
to ensure 
appropriate 
consideration 
for planning 

April / May 
and
August – 
September 

2 days 
(combined 
survey over 
1 day, 
followed by 
an additional 

No
(incomplete by 
August)

Otter 
Should an otter holt be found, monitoring and 
a licence may be required to undertake the 
works legally.
Worst case delay – 3 months 

P
age 399



Route 
Option (A 
– D)  

Survey 
Type 

Survey (Brief) 
Description  

Survey 
Requirement  

Survey 
Window 

Time 
Required to 
Complete 
Survey  

Completion 
Prior to 
August 2017 
Construction 
Start 

Mitigation Timeframe

water vole 
survey on a 
second day) 

Water vole 
Should water vole be identified, mitigation 
measures would be required.  A licence may 
be required to undertake the works legally.   
Worst case delay – 3 months 

White clawed crayfish 

Should white clawed crayfish be found a 
licence may be required depending on an 
impact assessment.   Mitigation measures 
would be required for temporary loss of 
habitat. 
A trapping operation and seasonal 
restrictions on when works proximate to the 
watercourse may be required.  Works to be 
carried out under a Method Statement for 
white clawed crayfish.
Worst case delay – 1 month 

C Badger – 
updated 
survey 

Updated 
survey to 
ensure no 
changes in sett 
locations have 
occurred 

Recommended Within 8 
weeks of 
construction 
start   

1 day Yes  Refer to badger mitigation timeline provided 
for Option A.     

Bat – Tree 
Roost

Bat roost 
assessment of 
trees to be 
affected 

Recommended 
to ensure 
appropriate 
consideration 
for planning 

Preferably 
during winter 
due to 
reduction in 
foliage 

1 day Yes Refer to bat tree roost mitigation timeline 
provided for Option A.   

Combined 
otter, water 

Habitat 
suitability/ 

Recommended 
to ensure 

April / May 
and

2 days 
(combined 

No
(incomplete by 

Refer to otter, water vole and white clawed 
crayfish mitigation timeline for Option B.   

P
age 400



Route 
Option (A 
– D)  

Survey 
Type 

Survey (Brief) 
Description  

Survey 
Requirement  

Survey 
Window 

Time 
Required to 
Complete 
Survey  

Completion 
Prior to 
August 2017 
Construction 
Start 

Mitigation Timeframe

vole and 
white 
clawed 
crayfish 

Presence/likely 
absence and 
survey 

appropriate 
consideration 
for planning 

August – 
September 

survey over 
1 day, 
followed by 
an additional 
water vole 
survey on a 
second day) 

August)

D Badger – 
updated 
survey 

Updated 
survey to 
ensure no 
changes in sett 
locations have 
occurred 

Recommended Within 8 
weeks of 
construction 
start   

1 day Yes   D1.  Avoiding badger sett (more than 30m 
and no heavy impact works within 50 m).   

Update survey required.  

Should no evidence be found, works can 
proceed without delay.   

If new excavation(s) found further survey 
required.  If works are required within 30m of 
any badger setts, a sett closure licence 
would be required to close the sett 
legally.  Refer to details below.   

Worst case delay – 9 months 

D2.  Not avoiding badger sett (works within 
30m) 

A licence would be required to close the 
badger sett.  Badger surveys would be 
required to determine the use of the badger 
sett and the sett would need to be closed 
within the closure period (July –
November).  A period of monitoring and 
excavations works are required as part of the 
licensable works.  

P
age 401



Route 
Option (A 
– D)  

Survey 
Type 

Survey (Brief) 
Description  

Survey 
Requirement  

Survey 
Window 

Time 
Required to 
Complete 
Survey  

Completion 
Prior to 
August 2017 
Construction 
Start 

Mitigation Timeframe

Worst case delay – 9 months 

Bat – Tree 
Roost

Bat roost 
assessment of 
trees to be 
affected 

Recommended 
to ensure 
appropriate 
consideration 
for planning 

Preferably 
during winter 
due to 
reduction in 
foliage 

1 day Yes Refer to bat tree roost mitigation timeline 
provided for Option A.   

Great 
crested 
newt (GCN) 

Presence/likely 
absence 
survey 

Recommended 
to ensure 
appropriate 
consideration 
for planning 

Mid-March to 
mid-June, 
with at least 
two of these 
visits during 
mid-April to 
mid-May 

4 visits in 
suitable 
weather 
conditions 

Great crested 
newt (GCN) 

Refer to great crested newt mitigation 
timeline provided for Option A.   

Combined 
otter, water 
vole and 
white clawed 
crayfish 

Habitat 
suitability/ 
Presence/likely 
absence and 
survey 

Recommended 
to ensure 
appropriate 
consideration for 
planning 

April / May and 
August – 
September 

2 days 
(combined 
survey over 1 
day, followed 
by an 
additional 
water vole 
survey on a 
second day) 

No (incomplete 
by August) 

Refer to otter, water vole and white clawed 
crayfish mitigation timeline for Option B.   

Notes: 
-Please note that this schedule assumes that no additional protected species are encountered during the above surveys and that likely absence of additional badger setts, 
GCN, trees suitable for roosting bats and protected riparian species (otters, water vole and white clawed crayfish) is confirmed.  The potential impacts of protected species 
presence within the survey area are discussed below. 
-This schedule assumes that no works will be undertaken within 30 m of the known badger setts and no piling or similar works will be undertaken nearby (exact distances to be 
determined by the supervising ecologist on an individual basis). 
-Additional species constraints, such as breeding bird checks and method statements for reptiles, are considered elsewhere. This table should therefore not be considered as 
the full ecological recommendations of the report.  

P
age 402



The following table details a broad timeframe of potential works in the event a protected species has potential to be affected by the works.  The timeframes 
detailed below are deliberately vague, as specific mitigation and timing constraints can only be confirmed once the full details of the proposed works and 
species presence is known. 

Table 2 Timeframes of Potential Works   

Species Potential further works (in the event of potential impacts to protected species)

Badger Should the proposed works encroach within 30 m of a badger sett or require a sett to be closed a licence to disturb or displace badgers 
would be required from Natural England.   

In order to apply for a licence, Natural England would require additional surveys and mitigation to prove that no viable alternative is 
possible to prevent impact to badger and that no net negative effects will be experienced by the badger clan affected.  This could include 
surveys to understand the use of the area by badger, such as bait marking surveys, and mitigation to offset the loss of a sett, such as 
creation of an artificial sett.   

Exact mitigation and requirement for further survey would depend on the degree of effects to the sett and it should be noted that it cannot 
be guaranteed that Natural England will issue a licence.  

Great crested 
newt 

Should great crested newts (GCN) be identified in one or more of the ponds in the survey area further surveys and mitigation would be 
required. 

In the event that GCN are identified an additional two surveys would be required to give a population class assessment.  Once these 
surveys were completed mitigation would be required to ensure no breach of relevant legislation occurs, which could include a licence 
application in the event that trapping is required. 

The exact level of mitigation would depend on the level of impact and its proximity to breeding ponds.   

Otter, water 
vole and white 
clawed 
crayfish 

Should any protected riparian species (otter, water vole and/or white clawed crayfish) have potential to be affected by the work 
appropriate controls and mitigation would be required to ensure compliance with relevant legislation. 

The exact level of control and mitigation would vary by species and may include measures such as changes in the design of any culverts, 
licence applications to Natural England in the event that a water vole or otter resting place is to be affected and/or sympathetic methods of 
working. 

Bats Should a tree requiring removal or pruning be identified as suitable for roosting bats further surveys would be required.   

This would likely involve aerial surveys to determine whether suitable features are in use and/or presence/likely absence (summer) 
surveys.  Should a bat roost be identified within a tree to be affected, a licence would be required from Natural England in order for works 
to proceed, if the loss of the tree is unavoidable. 

Breeding birds In the event that vegetation clearance is required in the breeding bird season, ecological supervision would be required.  Should a nest in 
use be identified within an area to be cleared a suitable buffer would need to retained until the young had fledged and we no longer 

P
age 403



Species Potential further works (in the event of potential impacts to protected species)

dependant on the nest. 

P
age 404



��

�

�

�
�

���������	�
�����������������������
���	�����	�

����������	
�����������	�����
������
���
����������
	��
��

������	�
���������������

��
�	
��������������

� �

�

����������������������� ����!!�"#������$��%��	�%�&���'��	�%�	�%�(�	�������)��������%�!������'���	��'����*���+��������	��,�#,��,�-�.�/�!���	���'��'���%�

��0�-��*	������-����	�����,��%�����	�	��	����1��	��+�-����	��������	�,����������2���,�-��*	�����3���0���!�	����'	����,���.�-�0��������4���	*��

��*��	�%�!���!��	������5��	�+�	��������%��!���!���*�%�������3��������'��%��	�����!�	������	��*���'��	����(�	�������),�	���!�**�0��+��%%�	����*���!����	��������

�����	����%����'��%���%��������������������� ����!!6�

•� ��5��������	���	�����0�+����%�0�	�����''*���	�	�	���������%��

•� ��*�0�+����%����5�������%������5����!����%����	�����.�-�

•� ���!!���	�������*���	���
7����8�'��	��!����'���%�-����	������9+�����$��	��:('	����-;����8�����$��%�:%�	�%���3��3��;���%���*�	�%��%%�	����*�	��!!���

��%�'�� ��+����5���.�%�	����**��	����

•� ���*��������<��79�5�������	�*���%�<��	�������*�$�� �#��������	�:/�� �����%;�$�'��	�
�3���������7<9(7$��

•� 9��*�+���*�=���!���	�������5��������%�	�%�>������������

•� ?'%�	�%����*��������9��*�+���*�#''�����*�$�'��	�%�	�%��������������

P
age 405



��

�

�

#%%�	����*���!����	���������*���������%���5��*�*��!�����	����'��	���,����'��	���*���!����	���%���+��	����0�� ��+����	���'��'���%�!*��%��**�5��	����

����������*�%��+��%%�	����*����*�+���*����5���,��������*�+���*���5��	�+�	������%���5���%�!*��%��**�5��	�����������%���+��3�������5���*���������%���0����

�!�'��'���*��!�������0�������+�����������!��*%��	��	������	���!�	����1��	��+�����	���3�

#�'����*��!��	�����+��������	���'	����5���	����1��	��+���	�����%��	����+��	���<��%�����!�$�������������������	*�����+���5��0�%�0�	����+��%��	��	��!!���

��!�	����%�5����*���0�'	�'�	�����*�������%����	���������%�����%��!���!���*�%�����������	���'��!����%��+��������	�����	���@
	�
�>������3�

����!�**�0��+�	��*�	�%��'	�������%�����	����	�������1	���	�%�!�������	����A��!��������+���*�(�	�������)�#������$��%��	�%����'��	�!���	���������	*��

�����%���%����	�������%�-���*����%��'%�	�%�������	���%%�%����	�����+�	����%���*����0�������0���!����	�����1��	������!���%��!�������������3�����������

������	�������%%�%,�	������+���**���%��	�!��%��''��	���	���������	����	������	������%���%�	�����*	���%��������	���!����	���3��-�����	������*%������%����

�������	����0�	��	������+���*�#������$��%��	�%����'��	,�	���%�	��*�%���!����	����*��	�%���5����%������������������� ����!!�����	����	��%��0��+�

��������7<#7���"-���	����	��*��&���5�������,�'��'���%�	���**��	��	��	��� ��0������������	����	����*�	�%�	��'�	��	��*����	�����.�-3�����

�

���������	�
���

���� ������
	�	������
��	
��������������� ��
���������

������
	�	���

���
�������������
������������������ ��!��"��#���$##�%�!���&��$"���$�$'�#��(�� ���)�����&�������$��
��(����'�$������($�����(���$���*$�!��������� ����%������#���$����%$����!�������� �������)�����&�
&$��������$�%��������+��� �% �������������������%��������$��%��&�������,����$'�-��

�

��
���	
���

���
.���� ������$����$��� $����� ������������������/������ �����0�������#�$�����������$��1��%������ ����
� �����������������%������#���$��*�)����$������ ���)�����&���(����'�$������($�����(+�����������
������ ��������$����%������#���$����%$����!�������� �������)�����&�&$��������$�%��������-��� �������
�������$��#�����%��$���%��&�������,�%��#��%��$��$���������#�� �����������$��$�&�(���-�

�

���
� ���)�����&�.$�(���$%"��� �% ��"������ ������ ����!����$�'��#�� ���)�����&���(����'�$���
���($�����(�����$�����$����!���0������!����������%��������-��� �����������"��'���/�������&�$���&�
$��������#$%��&-��

���� �0��*%����%�	������7����	���	�%�	����0����%�

�'���!���	���3��91��	��+��*�0�+����%����5�������5��

�����%��	�!��%��*��+�	�������	����4�����+�%���

����%���	������%����	�������!�	��������	���	���3��

���������0�0�%	���5��*�*���	�	�����%��!�	�������	��

�%�����	�	��	���������+���	�	��0�**���4��������

�5����B�%��	����%�����+���		����	����'�'��	����

*��%��*�0�	�����0����%3���

P
age 406



��

�

�

���������	�
���

���� ������
	�	������
��	
��������������� ��
���������

���
�#�� ��������������#���%������%�����$%%����� �% �$���%�������'�%����������#���� ��������$����%������#�
��$����%$����!�������� �������)�����&�&$��������$�%���������*����2���3��$������
���%"�� �##�
��$���&������+4�

5-� ����������5�6�%������%�������$##�%�������!������%������������ ���)�����&�.$�(���$%"�0�$�
�$�'�(�� ���$�-��� �����������/������ $��� ���)�����&�$%%���������&�$�������
$%%�((��$���%������%�������$##�%-��

7-� ����������7�6�� ���$������&��#�� ���)�����&���(����'�$������($�����(�$%%������$��*���
$%%�((��$���� ��%������%����������+���������/������ ���������%������#����8�$'�
%�������������"��&��*��% �$����(���$�'���$##�%���& ��+-��� ���$��$�&�(������������"��'�
��$�������%��$����%��&�������$������$'��*�$���%��$��'������&���$"� ����+-��

9-� ����������7�6�� ���$��$�&�(������������"��'���$�������%��$������$##�%�(�0�(�����$��� ��
�)�����&�:(���#���;�$%%���-�

<-� ����������7�6�� ����������!��$��������$����/����(�������������� ��($�������$�%��&$����
���� ���)�����&���(����'�$������($�����(�*���%�������(�0�(����+-�

=-� ���!�� ���������6�������������� $��� ����$���%�������'�$��$���#��$�"��&���%$����$���&�� ��
�)�����&�$%%����� �% �%�����������%��(�0�(�����,�����������%��&������-��

>-� ���!�� ���������6�� ����������!��$���������#�%$������#���$##�%�(�0�(����������$���%��$��
%������%�����0� �%��������� ����%$�� �& �$'�������"����� ��0�%����'��#�� ���)�����&�$%%����
� �% �%�����������������%��$����%��&�������$������$'��*�$���%��$��'������&���$"� ����+-���

�3� ����*��+���'�	��	��*�����	���	����	��!!����������

!�**���	���*�	�%�C<=���%���	��%�	������4����%�

!���%�*�5�����!�	��������	����0��*%���5��

�1	����*��	�+�	��*�������������%�	���+��%���

0�**���	�	����		���D��%�+����	�����+����	���

*������%�0��*%���	�������	*�����*��	��

��+�	��	��	���'�%��	������������+���*��%��	�	���

��%��!�2�%����	��$��%3�������%�+�����!���7

%���+����%��������	�%���+�0�����''��5�*��

0��*%�	����!���������������3���

�

������1�	����	��:!����	����1��	��+�*������	��

2�%����	��$��%�������	�*���0���*������

�����%���%�!��������	���	����	��!!��,��!�

�����%���%������!�	����'�������	��+��������	��

!���-����	������	��!!���!��	�����	�%������%�

	��!!�����%�**��+��!�	����1��	��+�2���,�

2�%����	��$��%,����������2��������	����0��*%�

����4����%���%�*� �*��4������+�	�����

�����%���%3�

�

A3���8	������%���	��%�	��	�	�������	�+���!!����������

��������*� �*��	����''��	�0�%����+��!�	���+�	�����%����

������	����!�����	�0��*%���'��%��	�	���������	��	��

���������	��*��!�	��!!�����5����	����%�4�����+��	�	���

��������	������+�	���0�**������������3�

�

���
�������$�� �& �$'��$#��'��(���%$������$���%�$������� �!���&��&�%������%�������$##�%�� ���& �� ��
�)�����&���(����'�$������($�����(�$%%���-��

�

���
� ������������0��0���%������&�$�	$�����0���*2'($�?��
���"����!��$�'+�� �% ��������"��'������$�
��(����$�����(�����#�#��������"�$����$����/�$���'��(�$%������%������$�������� �� ����0����(����

8	������%���	��%�!����%�����������	��%�	��	��	�	���

0�	�����������*������������9�5�������	�#+�����

P
age 407



A�

�

�

���������	�
���

���� ������
	�	������
��	
��������������� ��
���������

�&��%'-� E����$�5����	�	�����������!�	����1��	��+�����	����

��%����%�'��%��	����	����1��	�!���*�'��'���%�

'���	��!��������+��!�	���0�	��������,���*5��	�

�''��5�*�����*%�����%����-�-�����''���%�	��	���

9�5�������	�#+����3�

���
� ����������%�������� ��������������% �,�%��0�����##�$"��#��(�2'($�?��
���"����!��$�'�#���� ��
�������.$�(�.���������$&�����$-�� ����(��&��#�%������%�����$���#����������#��&��#�� ��.����% �(��
� �����!��%�������������%��1��%�������� ���������&����-�

8	������%���	��%�!����	���%���+������!�	���>�#�

������,�-C�E,�	��	�����	���	�������%���	���+������

E������������%�0��*%�	����!�������1'��	�%�	����

���'*�	��������	��	��**�����'*�	���!����

����	���	�����!�	�����0�-����	�������+��������%3���

8	�����*�����%���	��%�	��	�����5���%�>�#������������

��������		�%�!���'*�����+�'����������0�����

��*���	���	�����	� ��%�	���	��	���9��	�0���������

�5��%�	������%�	���������	�0�	��	���'��'���%����	��

�����%3��������������0���	�*�%��	������	��+�

��3��3����	�������	�������	*��������%���5��*�*��

	��������������!����	�	��	��������5��*��%�0�	��

	���������	�'�����	�'��'���*�3���������!��	����

�0������0�5���!�**�0��+�	������	��+���3��3���

	��	�!��	�����%���	���	��	��	���>�#������������

������	*�����+���5��	�+�	�%�0�����0��*%�

'�	��	��**����	����	���%���+���*�����	��	��	�

������	*����%���	�%����-���	����	�/��0��+�

��������7<#7��3���

���
� ����������$���$������������� ���@(��#�� ����0����(�����&��%'?��	$�����0���*2'($�?��
���"�
���!��$�'+��$���&������ ��#���!$������% ��-������0����(���$�����(��������/������#��(�� ����0����(����
�&��%'�#���$�'����"����� ���� �������$�%��#��(������#�!$�"�

�

 ��
� �����������������$��&�(����������%��������)�(��'����$��$%��0��!$�&�������-����'����"����� ���9A�(�
�#�� ��������������/�����#��� ���%�������$����-��� ������ ��!$�&��������!������%��'�$##�%����$���%��%��
������!����/���������%������ ������-��� ��������"��!����/��������� ���9A�(��#�� ��������$����8���"��
% �%"�$�����!��/������%���&�%$��(�� �����$��(����������!����/�����-��� �����8���"��% �%"�

?'%�	�%���%�!��	������!����	����'��5�%�%����

�������?'%�	�%����*��������9��*�+���*�#''�����*�

$�'��	�%�	�%�������������3��

P
age 408



��

�

�

���������	�
���

���� ������
	�	������
��	
��������������� ��
���������

� �����!��%$������������� �����& �����"���#�� ��%������%�������$����$������%$���$���%��%�������/�����-�

����
� �����������������$��&�(����#$������� ���7=A�(��#�����������$!���#������$��%������������-����
��%�����#����$��%�������������$�����������!'�� �����"�����'����%$����5@A�(�#��(�� �����0�'�$��$-��
���0��������$��%���������������0�'����������������#'�$�'����$��%��������������� ���� �������
���0�'��-������0�������'������#�� ��� ��������$!����������$�����0�'��-��� ���$���$����&�$���
���$��%���������������"���$���&�������$��$����������$�%���$���� �����"��#�%$����&�$���##��%��������
���$��%��������������&���$����-��� �����������#�� ��������B�(!��4��##��%����"��'?-��������� ���#����
��%�((������� $��������%�,��"��'�$!���%�����0�'��#������$��%�������������!��������$"����� �% �
������� �����#��(�#��� �����%�((���$�����-�

�/
#�	��	��+��!�	���	0��'��%��0�	����	����1��	��+�

-���	����������%���	���-C�E����������	����0�	��

	���>�#�������,����������	����0�	��	���

	��%�	����*����5�����2�'����!�	����
�%
����	�*��'��%�

��%���	���*� �*����������!�<-
��������	�����	����%�

	����!����	������� F����	����	������0�����5�%3���

����
� �����������������$��&�(�����"�������$���)�����&�������� $��$�������$!���#����������&�!$��-��	�%��8
�����&��#�� ����$��$��&�(�������$�0���������������($�����������$�������$##�%���-��� �������������"��
#�����&�!����/������#��� ������0�'�#���!$���($'�!����%���$�'���/�����-��� ���%�������%�����$���$��
$�����(�����$��,������",�$����(��&��%�����0�'��#���!$������ ���� ��!$��$%��0��'���$����

8���%%�	���,������%���	��������*%���+�5���	��

'��	��	��+�	���	�����%����+�����	���	����0�� 3�

����
� ��$��$����� �% �� ��������������������%���$��������$!���!������&�!���� $!��$�-�����$�$�%�����"��
� �����!��%$�������������������#�� ��!������&�!������$����*%�������������!��	$�% �8������(!��+-���#�
� �����������������!����$�������$���%���&�%$��������������!����/�����-�� ���%�������%��������8���"��
!������&�!����% �%"��$����%���&�%$�������0�������#�%��$�$�%�����"�-��

(�����	����	�������������%��	�!��%������5��+�

'�	��	��*�	����''��	������0*3������*%�('	��������

	� ���!��0��%�������'��	����!�������+�	�����*%���

��%��	��!��	�����������	���'�	��	��*��!�	���	����	��

��''��	����%��+������0*3���

����
� ��$��$����� �% �� ��������������������%���$��������$!��� $!��$��#�����������-����������%�((������
� $��$����$�����	�� �����$��(����!�������������%�������0�&��$�����%��$�$�%��(�� ����$����������
��&$��%�(���$�%�-�

�

����
�$!��$����#�����%��$���(����$�%������%�#�%$��'��)�����&� ��&�������������&��$����$�������$���
�����$���� $0���������$�����!���(�$%����!'�� �����������������$��&�(���-��� �����������"��'�!��
�$"��������%�������$�����$��� ����$����&���$&�����%�(��'���� �����0$�����&���$����-��� ���� $!��$���
� ��������$��'�!��$0������!'�� �����������������$���� ����� ���������������!���(���&$�����(�$������
($'�!����/�����-�

�

����
� �����������$��&�(������������"��'��(�$%������%��'����
���%�����$�����(����'��� �% ����$���$���
�����������$�"�$����$�������$�����%������� ��#�������&���$�������������!������&��,�����%�����4�

5=-5� 	$�������$�%��$���������&$�������� ���)�����&���(����'�$������($�����(C�

5=-7� ��(����'����&�C�

5=-9� ���� �$������� �� $���C�$���

�

P
age 409



)�

�

�

���������	�
���

���� ������
	�	������
��	
��������������� ��
���������

5=-<� �%�$&��$�����&��*��%$����$����)�($���'�5=(����� ������#�� ������ �$������� �� $���+-�

����
� �����������$��&�(��������������%��'��(�$%������)�����&���%������������$���� �% ����������#����
��� ���� ���������'��$!��$����0�����'-�

�

����
� �����������$��&�(��������������%��'��(�$%������ ��#�������&�������'���4�

�� ���$��*�$��&��'�
5,�5�����+-�

�

����
� ������������������������(�$%�����$��$���#�(�)���0�&��$�����*������� ��&�����+��� �% � $0������
!������%������$���$����#�� ��$�!���%����������0�'��$���($'�!���#��������$����%$��%�����0$�����
�(����$�%�-�

�

� ��
� ���������������"����� ������ ����!����$�'��#��$"��'���$'��&�.�������� �% ����$�� ������%��$��#����
����-��� ����$!����'��#�� ���$��#��������������"������$�����������"��'���/�����$����$�$����������
��0����&$���������'-��

#�+����%���5��	�+�	�����	�%�������������'�%���%�

�'���!��%���%����������	*����	�	��	��%��3�

����
� ���������������������������%��'��(�$%������ ���)�����&����������$�������������*$����)�($���'�5>����
���$�+�*������(���#�������$������������+�� �% ��"����� ������ ����!����$�'��#�� ��.$�(���$%"-��� ����
���$�����������$��� $��� ���)�����&���$'��&�#������%�����!��%���$(��$���-���

�

����
� ���������%�������$��$����!��'-��� ���(�$������$��$�����%���� $0���������$�����!��
�(�$%���-����������&����� ��#��$��������$��&�(�����#��� ������0�'��#������������$����0����$���� ����
%�$����%�$'#�� �($'�!����/�����-�

#����	�	����	��*�	�����������	�!���	������'������

��������*�%�%����'�	��	��*�*� �*����%���%�	����

����	����	F��� �������0�������5�%3��

����
� ��������$��&�(�����������(�$%������ ���)�����&�!$�"��!$���%�����$������� ���(����#���!$������% -��

��������	����	��%��0��+���������7<#7���

%�����	��	�����'�	��	��*���*���	�����!�	����!!��	�%�

!��	�**�'�	��3��8	������%���	��%�	��	������!������!�

'�	���%�����+�������1��	���%�	����!����'�	��	��**��

���%���*����+3�

�

�

���������	�
���

���� ������
	�	������
��	
��������������� ��
���������

������
	�	���

���
��������������������������(�$%������ ���)�����&���(����'�$������($�����(-�

�

P
age 410



��

�

�

���������	�
���

���� ������
	�	������
��	
��������������� ��
���������

���
� �����0�������#�$��������$�$�����$������ ���)�����&���(����'�$������($�����(�����������%��
��$##�%�(�0�(�����$��� ���)�����&���(����'�$������($�����(�$%%����*#��(�
���%�����$��+-�

�

���
� �����������������$��&�(������������������%��'��(�$%������ ���)�����&�%$���$�"�� �% ����0���
�$"��'���$'��&�.�����-��

�

���
���������������%�����!����������$%%�����������$��#��������0����(�����$���,����������#�����
$���0�$������% �(����%$�������� ������ ��#�� ������������������($�����(-�

����������	�'��'���*��!���	���-����	�������+�����

���%�����!��������0�%�����%�'	�*������	���	���3��

���*�	�	�������*%�'�	��	��**������������%����0�%	��

��%��'���!���	����	���**�0�0�%����+���%����5�������

	�����!�**�	0�70����%�'	�*�����%��''��'���	��	����

������+�����������	���!�	����	����0��*%���5�*5��

�%%�	����*����	��*�����	���	����0�� ����%�

�����%���*��%����'	������%�����	���	������	�5�	����

�����*�	����	�����%�0�� ����%����5����

�'+��%��+F��*����+�0��*�	�	������%�0�������	����%�

�����*�5��-����	�������+��������	�3��<�5���	������*��

��	�����!�	���'�	��	��*�������+��������'��'���*���	�

����*���*� �*��	��	�����!���*��'	����-����	��0��*%���	�

���������	����	�	��	���������+�'��'���*�3��

��
���	
����

���
� ������������������/�������$##�%�*%������%�����$�������$����$�+���������(1�����$�-��� ���������$��
�(���%$������$���%�$������� �� ���$���$��#������4�

5-� �������$��#���$%%�������!���!����%����!'�(����������$�"��&�$���&�!�� ��������#��(1���
��$�C�$���

7-� �������$��%��&�������,����$'����������&�#��(���%��$������$##�%�����&��(1�����$�C��

9-� ��%��$�����$#��'�%��%�������������&�#��(���%��$������$##�%�����&��(1�����$�C�$���

<-� �������$���(�$%������������������"����%�����&�$���&�
<AD=����������$�-��

>��	����	��!!�����%�'�� ��+�%�	����**��	������%�

���*�������������*�%�%�	��	��1��	��+���'���	���!�

8��������%���%�	���8�����$��%F�������$��%�����	����

�������'	�*��!���	�����	���'�	�%�-����	������

�'���	����*�	��!!���5�*����3���

�

������5�%���!�	�������������%�'����*������%��	�

����	�����������+�*�+�	�%����'����*�3�

�

>�**�%�	��*������'��5�%�%����	�������*���	���
7���

%�	�%���
	�
�������������3�

P
age 411



@�

�

�

���������	�
���

���� ������
	�	������
��	
��������������� ��
���������

���
� ������������0��0���%������&�$�	$�����0���*2'($�?��
���"����!��$�'+�� �% ��������"��'������$�
��(����$�����(�����#�#��������"�$����$����/�$���'��(�$%������%������$�������� �� ����0����(����
�&��%'-�

8	������%���	��%�!����%�����������	��%�	��	��	��	�	���

'��'���%�'���	��!��������+��!�	���0�	��������,�

��*5��	��''��5�*�����*%�����%����-�-����

�''���%�	��	���9�5�������	�#+����3�

���
� ����������%��������������������%��0�����$���%�$������� �� ���������.$�(�.���������$&�����$-�
� ����(��&��#�%������%�����$���#����������#��&��#�� ��.����% �(��� �����!��%�������������
%��1��%�������� ���������&����-�����$!���%�0���� �����!�����& ���0���� ��%��0���-�

�����%���	��%�	��	�����	���	�����!�	���>�#�

����������������	*��%���	��������������E�����

��%�0��*%�	����!�������1'��	�%�	�������'*�	��

������	��	��**�����'*�	��'�����	������	���	�����!�

	����+��������%3������	����0�����%5���%���>�#�

%���+�����-C�E�%����+������	��+��	�-�-&���!!�����

�����3��3���	��	�	����������%���+����%�����

��5���%���%�����		�%�	��'*�����+���%���	��+�	���

�'�**0�����*���	�%�	��	������	���!�	���>�#���%�

������	��+�0�	������������� 3�������0��*%������

���	��-�0��*%���5��	��������	����'�**0��,���	����

�	�*����+�	����'�**0���������%����!����������������!�

�����%���*5��	������%+��+��	���	����3�������������

��%���	��%�	����5����������		�%�!���'�����+�

�''��5�*�������	�������	*��������%���5��*�*��	��

�������	���5��*������	���-����	������'�����	�

'��'���*�3��>��	����	��	������	��+���3��3�����%�

��4���	����	���������+��������	���,�0��

��%���	��%�!��	��������%���	��	��	���>�#�

�����������������	*�����+������%���%3�

���
� ����������$���$������������� ���@(��#�� ����0����(�����&��%'?��	$�����0���*2'($�?��
���"�
���!��$�'+��$���&������ ��#���!$������% ��-������0����(���$�����(��������/������#��(�� ����0����(����
�&��%'�#���$�'����"����� ���� �������$�%��#��(������#�!$�"-�

8	������%���	��%�!����%�����������	��%�	��	��	�	���

0�	�����������*������������9�5�������	�#+�����

E����$�5����	�	�����������!�	����1��	��+�����	����

��%����%�'��%��	����	����1��	�!���*�'��'���%�

'���	��!��������+��!�	���0�	��������,���*5��	�

�''��5�*�����*%�����%����-�-�����''���%�	��	���

9�5�������	�#+����3�

P
age 412



D�

�

�

���������	�
���

���� ������
	�	������
��	
��������������� ��
���������

 ��
� �����������������$��&�(����#$������� ���7=A�(��#�����������$!���#������$���������������-����
��%�����#����$����������������$�����������!'�� �����"�����'����%$����5@A�(�#��(�� �����0�'�$��$-��
���0��������$������������������0�'����������������#'�$�'����$������������������ ���� �������
���0�'��-������0�������'������#�� ��� ��������$!����������$�����0�'��-��� ���$���$����&�$���
���$������������������"���$���&�������$��$����������$�%���$���� �����"��#�%$����&�$���##��%��
���������$�����������������&���$����-��� �����������#�� ��������B�����4��##��%����& �'����"��'?�����
���� ����%$������#�� ��������$���� ���)������#� $!��$�����!��$##�%���-��� ���#����������0�'��$���
��/���������� �������$�%�-�����������%�((������� $����%��� ���)$%���%�����#����"�� $��!����$&�����
� ���$�����(�������%��#��(��-�����������%�((������� $��� ��������������!���$"���#���$����$������"��
$���%$����������������$����%$�����$�'�(�� ����#����"��&�#���&��$��%������������-�

#����	�%�!������	������5�,�<���	�-���	�%�
�0	�

�/
#�	��	��+����	���	0��'��%��0�	����	����1��	��+�

��	��������	����%���+�	�5������*	�3��8��������	����

0�	��	���*� �*������	�����*�������!�	���'��5�����

2�'������5���	��	����
�%
�'��%��������%������5��+�

<-
�'�	��	��*,�<���	�-���	�%�
�0	���� �������0���

%������	�%����������	����	3�

����
� �����������������$��&�(�����"�������$���)�����&�������� $��$�������$!���#����������&�!$��-��	�%��8
�����&��#�� ����$��$��&�(�������$�0���������������($�����������$�������$##�%���-��� �������������"��
!����/������#��� ������0�'�#���!$���($'�!����%���$�'-��� ���%�������%�����$���$��$�����(�����
$��,������",�$����(��&��%�����0�'��#���!$������ ���� ��!$��$%��0��'���$���-�

8	�����*��5�%�%��	�������	��	�����*�5��	�	���������

���5��%�%,������%���	����0��*%��*�������4����%�

	��'��	��	����%����+�����	���	������	�5�	���3�

����
� ��$��$����� �% �� ��������������������%���$��������$!���!������&�!���� $!��$�-�����$�$�%�����"��
� �����!��%$�������������������#�� ��!������&�!������$����*%�������������!��	$�% �6������(!���
��%����0�+-���#�� �����������������!����$�������$���%���&�%$��������������!����/�����-��� ���%�����
��%��������8���"��!������&�!����% �%"��$����%���&�%$�������0�������#�%��$�$�%�����"�-�

�

����
� ��$��$����� �% �� ��������������������%���$��������$!��� $!��$��#�����������-����������%�((������
� $��$����$�����	�� �����$��(����!�������������%�������0�&��$�����%��$�$�%��(�� ����$����������
��&$��%�(���$�%�-�

�

����
� ���������%������������$����!��'�$���%�(������%��������)�(��'����$��� ��-��� ���(�$������$��$��
���%���� $0���������$�����!���(�$%���-����������&����� ��#��$��������$��&�(�����#��� ������0�'��#���
���������$����0����$���� ����%�$����%�$'#�� �($'�!����/�����-�

>��	�������5���0�� ���������*�%�%����	�	����

�����	�*�,���� ��!�(		��,���	���=�*����%�-���!����

������0���%������	�%3�

����
�$!��$����#�����%��$���(����$�%������%�#�%$��'��)�����&� ��&������� $0���������$�����!���(�$%����!'�
� �����������������$��&�(���-��� �����������"��'�!���$"��������%�������$�����$��� ����$����&���$&�����
%�(��'���� �����0$�����&���$����-��� ���� $!��$���� ��������$��'�!��$0������!'�� �����������������
$���� ����� ���������������!����(�$%���� �����!��(���(����-�

�

����
� ������������������������(�$%�����$��$���#�(�)���0�&��$�����*������� ��&�����+��� �% � $0������
!������%������$���$����#�� ��$�!���%����������0�'��$���($'�!���#��������$����%$��%�����0$�����
�(����$�%�-�

�

����
� ���������������"����� ������ ����!����$�'��#��$"��'���$'��&�.�������� �% ����$�� ������%��$��#����

#�+����%���5��	�+�	�����	�%�������������'�%���%�

P
age 413



���

�

�

���������	�
���

���� ������
	�	������
��	
��������������� ��
���������

����-��� ����$!����'��#�� ���$��#��������������"������$�����������"��'���/�����$����$�$����������
��0����&$���������'-�� �������$�����������$��� $��� ���)�����&���$'��&�#������%�����!��%���$(��$���-��

�'���!��%���%����������	*����	�	��	��%��3�

����
� �����������������$��&�(�����������(�$%������ ���)�����&�#���!$���#������$���$���%�$����% $�&��&�
#$%��������*�##�%��0��'�!���%���&�� �����+-�

�

����
� �����������������$��&�(�����������(�$%������ ���)�����&�% ������?����$'&�����-�

�

� ��
� �����������������$��&�(������������/�������8���#����&��#��$���,��������$���������%������#����$����&�
�$���$���&�� ������ ����!����$�'��#�� ���$"��'�.���!$���.�����-�

�

�

��������
	��
��	���������������	�
�������
���������

�

�� !�"���#�$��

/�� �	�'��	�%����%���	����5��	�+�	�������������	����0�	��	���>*��%�#**�5��	�����������������5��*�%��������*�+���*�!��	����3�������%���	��%���!�**�

��'��	��!�	�����	��0�� �������0��������'*�	�%���%�0�**��������*�	�%�����	*�3��������!����	����'��5�%�%�	��%�	������������''�%���	��	���

����	����	��'*�����%������������	��������%��0�	������+��!����	����	�����!����	��-3��-���	��#������*�+��	�-���*����������%5���%��	������	��+��	�-�-&��

�!!�������3��3���	��	�����������%�	������%�������%��!�������������*�+���*���'��	����������	�	����������%���	�!����	�����	����.�-��'	������	�

	��	�+�5��� ��0*�%+��+�	����%�!����	�����	��0�� ,��	�0��*%���*� �*��	��	���%�� ����%����������	���%���	�+�	�������������0��*%�����4����%�!���

���	��-���%���0�	����+����!���*��!������	���3��E�	�+�	�������������	�����	��-����*%�'����*�����*�%��������+�*�5�*���!�	������%�	���5��%��1��5�	��+�

	����+��!��	����,�*���	��+�	���0�%	���!��������5�����	������������������*�+���*���5��	�+�	����	���1'������%������%�!��	�����'�����	������	���	���3�

�� %���	
$�&�"�'��

�����5��������%���0�����!�'��'���*��!���!�	����������+����	���!��*%��	��	������	���!�	����1��	��+�����	���3�����'���*������*� �*��	����	����

����	��������������	�����%����������	��-��*�+����	3�

�

P
age 414



���

�

�

�� (#��)�!##�*	��	�
�&�"�'��+��	$
��

$�5�������	��	���'��'���%��������>����>*��%��	���+��#����������'��	����!����*���*�+����	,�*�5�*����%���������%����'*�1�	���!���*5��	�

�	���	�������4����%�!������	��-3���8	�����1'��	�%����%������+�	��!���7%���+���'	�����	��%�	��	��	����	����0�**����������������+*����*5��	��������	���>�#�

�������+�%�	����*	���+��	���*���	���������������	�	������+�3�

�

�

P
age 415



P
age 416



1

70020522: Cheltenham Borough Council, Proposed Crematorium 

Technical Note 02: Egress Route Option Appraisal – Existing Gardens of Remembrance  

06
th

 February, 2017 

Introduction
WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff has been commissioned by Cheltenham Borough Council (CBC) to provide 
transport and highways advice in support of proposals to provide a new Crematorium on land located to the 
east of the existing Cemetery and Crematorium, in Cheltenham.  

WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff previously undertook an independent Options Appraisal and Impact Assessment 
Study (dated October, 2016) to identify potential vehicular access and egress routes to and from the proposed 
Crematorium and their associated opportunities and constraints. 

This Technical Note (02) has been prepared at the request of CBC, to consider the feasibility of using the 
existing Gardens of Remembrance and Cemetery and Crematorium access roads (from Bouncers Lane) as an 
egress route (only) to serve the proposed Crematorium as a temporary route for operational traffic (and not 
construction traffic).  To achieve this, it is recognised by CBC that a new road link would need to be provided 
between the existing internal access roads that currently serve the newer, eastern section of the Cemetery and 
Crematorium, and the internal access roads that currently serve the Gardens of Remembrance.  For reference, 
the proposed egress route is shown on WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff’s drawing number SK-05.  It should be 
noted that this route was not considered as part of the initial Options Appraisal and Impact Assessment Study 
(on the grounds that the use of the Gardens of Remembrance was politically sensitive and potentially fraught 
with safety related issues, namely to pedestrians). 

Following this introduction, this TN provides: 

 A description of the proposed egress route; 

 An overview of the potential opportunities and constraints presented by the proposed egress route; and 

 A summary of the suitability of the proposed egress route to accommodate traffic associated with the 
proposed Crematorium.  

For clarity, this TN does not provide details of potential geometries, or preliminary drawings of the proposed 
new road link, as detailed above.   

Overview of Proposed Egress Route
The proposed egress route comprises, in part: 

 The existing internal access roads that currently serve the newer, eastern section of the Cemetery and 
Crematorium; 

 The internal access roads that currently serve the Gardens of Remembrance (namely the southern 
section of the road that loops around the Gardens of Remembrance);  

 The existing internal access roads that currently serve the older, eastern section of the Cemetery and 
Crematorium (namely the southern section of the road which loops around the existing North and 
South Chapels); and 

 The existing section of road between the main and inner gates to the existing Cemetery and 
Crematorium, from Bouncers Lane. 

In addition to the above, it should also be noted that the proposed route also incorporates the existing 
Cemetery and Crematorium car park. 

The existing internal access roads that serve the eastern section of the Cemetery and Crematorium are newer 
in nature than those in the western section of the Cemetery and Crematorium, and as such have been built to 
accommodate two-way vehicle movements.   

The existing internal road that currently serves the Gardens of Remembrance operates as a one-way clockwise 
loop road, and is accessed through the existing Cemetery and Crematorium car park.  The Gardens of 
Remembrance internal access road is wide enough to accommodate one-way traffic movements only.  It 
should be noted that the carriageway is kerbed, and lined with remembrance plaques (mounted along the kerbs 

Page 417



2

along both sides of the carriageway).   The nature of the road, in that it used by visitors to view the 
remembrance plaques, lends itself to low vehicular speeds.  

The existing internal access roads that currently serve the older, eastern section of the Cemetery and 
Crematorium (in particular the section which forms part of the route being considered) is wide enough to 
accommodate one-way traffic movements only, and as such operates as a one-way route (westbound from the 
car park).  At its western extent it links to the existing section of road between the main and inner gates to the 
existing Cemetery and Crematorium, from Bouncers Lane. 

For reference, the existing roads widths along the route are also shown on WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff’s 
drawing number SK-05.

Opportunities and Constraints 
The following section considers the opportunities and constraints presented by using the route to egress the 
proposed Crematorium.  

For ease of reference, the opportunities and constraints noted along the route have been numbered, and have 
been marked on WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff’s drawing number SK-06.  Where the points identified are generic 
to the route, these are highlighted in the key.   

Where applicable, the safety implications associated with each of the identified constraints are also detailed in 
the following section.  

Swept Path Analysis 

The following swept path assessments have been undertaken to determine the suitability of the proposed 
egress route to accommodate vehicular movements associated with the proposed Crematorium.  

 Limousine (see WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff drawing number ATR-01, attached to this report); 

 Hearse (see WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff drawing number ATR-02, attached to this report); 

 Small Skip Lorry (see WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff drawing number ATR-03, attached to this report); 

 Rigid Vehicle (7m in length) (see WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff drawing number ATR-04, attached to this 
report); 

 Fire Tender (see WSP | Parsons Brinckerhoff drawing number ATR-05, attached to this report); 

The results of the assessment demonstrate that all of the above vehicles could be accommodated along the 
proposed route.  However, it should be noted that the route is extremely tight in places (particularly within the 
Gardens of Remembrance) for the larger vehicles detailed above (including a small skip lorry, rigid vehicle, and 
fire tender).   

Opportunities 

1) This proposed egress route would not result in any displacement of traffic onto any other roads on the 
local highway network, above that currently used (i.e. Bouncers Lane); 

2) Albeit the need to provide a new road link (between the existing internal access roads that currently 
serve the newer, eastern section of the Cemetery and Crematorium, and the internal access roads that 
currently serve the Gardens of Remembrance), the majority of the proposed egress route relies on the 
use of existing roads which currently serve the existing Cemetery and Crematorium; 

3) It is not considered that there are any significant barriers (albeit an existing hedgerow and potential tree 
routes – see Point 22) to providing a new road link between the existing internal access roads that 
currently serve the newer, eastern section of the Cemetery and Crematorium, and the internal access 
roads that currently serve the Gardens of Remembrance; 

4) The existing internal access road that currently serves the older, eastern section of the Cemetery and 
Crematorium (namely the southern section of the road which loops around the existing North and 
South Chapels) has recently been resurfaced.  As such the carriageway in this location is in good 
condition;  

5) It is assumed that, given the relocation of the existing Crematorium (North and South Chapels) and 
associated services, the level of use of the existing car park would drop significantly.  As such, any 
issues that are currently experienced relating to the over-use of parking (which could otherwise impede 
egress), would potentially subside; and   

Page 418



3

6) Further to point 5, it is assumed that fewer vehicles (associated with services) would park along the 
older, eastern section of the Cemetery and Crematorium access road (namely the southern section of 
the road which loops around the existing North and South Chapels) in the future.  As such, the potential 
for obstruction would be reduced.  

Constraints  

7) As detailed by the Options Appraisal and Impact Assessment Study, the proposed egress route would 
still rely on the use of the existing section of road between the main and inner gates to the Cemetery 
and Crematorium, from Bouncers Lane.  Although there is not anticipated to be any uplift in traffic, it is 
worth noting that this section of road is understood to already experience congestion, owing to parked 
cars (particularly during services) and also the restrictive nature of the gates (which currently restrict 
traffic movements to one-way); 

8) Owing to the fact that the egress route proposes use of the existing car park, there is potential for 
increased conflict and blocking (leading to delays) to occur, particularly during busy periods of the day / 
larger services.  This is exacerbated by the narrow nature of the aisles in the car park, and the angle in 
which traffic enters the car park from the Gardens of Remembrance internal access road.  This could 
also be exacerbated by the larger nature of the vehicles (limousine and hearse) which are proposed to 
use the route on a frequent basis in the future; 

9) Further to point 8, it is not clear how well utilised the car park would be once the Crematorium is 
relocated (i.e. would it continue to be well used for burials?).  On-site observations reveal that the car 
park is over-used during services, leading to vehicles parking haphazardly around the entrance / exit to 
the car park and along the existing internal access roads that currently serve the older, eastern section 
of the Cemetery and Crematorium.  Again this could lead to potential issues with conflict / and blocking 
(leading to delays);    

10) It is considered that there is potential that vehicles could stop, to visit memorial plaques (or even break 
down), along the Gardens of Remembrance internal access road, which could lead to potential 
blocking (given the route is one-way with limited passing points), and subsequent delays.  Also, 
although it is not clear how well utilised the existing layby is located along the southern section of the 
Gardens of Remembrance internal access road, should this be over-used, or should a vehicle be 
awkwardly parked, this again could lead to potential blocking and delays; 

11) Vehicles were observed to park along the verges of the internal access road that currently serves the 
older, eastern section of the Cemetery and Crematorium (namely the southern section of the road 
which loops around the existing North and South Chapels).  There is potential for blocking / delays to 
occur as a result of this; 

12) There are currently no road markings / physical barriers (such as kerbs) to denote the point where the 
Gardens of Remembrance internal access road (when entering from the car park) splits to travel north 
(to the immediate east of the kerbed island).  There is potential for motorists to get confused here, 
resulting in increased potential for conflict (especially given the uplift in traffic movements associated 
with the proposed Crematorium); 

13) Further to point 12, it is considered that the current road width (5.75m) and curvature of the road at the 
point where the Gardens of Remembrance internal access road splits (to the immediate east of the 
kerbed island) lends itself to a natural pinch point.  As a result, there is potential for increased conflict at 
this point (especially when used by larger vehicles);  

14) Sections of the carriageway along the Gardens of Remembrance internal access road were observed 
to be in poor condition (i.e. broken up, pot holed, ponding).  The carriageway condition could be 
worsened by the potential increase in traffic movements along the route;   

15) Owing to the projected increase in traffic movements through the Gardens of Remembrance, there is 
increased potential of damage occurring to the memorial plaques that currently line the kerbs.  

16) Although the swept path analysis demonstrates that the existing route could accommodate all vehicles 
assessed, it should be noted that the route is extremely tight in places (in particularly for larger service 
vehicles within the Gardens of Remembrance).  As such, there is increased risk of larger vehicles 
colliding with and damaging the kerbs; 

17) The carriageway is currently narrow (approximately 2.75m wide) at the point where it is proposed to 
link into the Gardens of Remembrance internal access road (at the northern extent).  There is potential 
for vehicles to clip the kerb in this location; 

Page 419



4

18) Visibility is somewhat restricted when looking right (by existing foliage) at the point where it is proposed 
to link into the Gardens of Remembrance internal access road (at the northern extent).  Furthermore 
(given the current layout) there are no priority workings in this location.  Combined, these points could 
lead to motorists failing to give-way in this location, leading to potential conflict;  

19) Forward visibility for vehicles at the southwest extent of the Gardens of Remembrance internal access 
road (when travelling westbound toward the car park) is somewhat limited by the curvature of the road 
and existing furniture / foliage lining the route.  On exiting the proposed Crematorium, there is potential 
for motorists not to see a pedestrian in the road at this point, leading to increased potential for vehicle 
to pedestrian conflict; 

20) Further to point 19, it should also be noted that pedestrian to vehicle visibility is also poor when looking 
left towards oncoming westbound traffic at the point where the existing footways intersect the road (at 
the southwest extent of the Gardens of Remembrance).  Again, owing to the projected increased 
vehicle movements associated with the proposed Crematorium, there is increased potential for vehicle 
to pedestrian conflict in this location; and  

21) Owing to the nature of the route, in particular through the Gardens of Remembrance, and the 
intensification of traffic movements, there is potential for increased safety risk to pedestrians.  This is 
exacerbated by: 

1. The position of the memorial plaques (which currently line the kerbs along the Gardens of 
Remembrance internal roads), which encourage residents to stand in the road for viewing;   

2. The narrow road widths along the Gardens of Remembrance internal roads (which varies between 
3.0m and 3.5m), in which there is insufficient space for a pedestrian to stand in the road whilst a 
vehicle passes;  

3. The network of footways within the Gardens of Remembrance, in which there are numerous points 
where pedestrians can cross the internal access road; and 

4. Where the route travels through the car park, there is potential for increased conflict with 
pedestrians entering / exiting vehicles. 

22) There is currently an existing hedgerow and tree-routes which would likely be impacted where it is 
proposed to provide road link between the existing internal access roads that currently serve the 
newer, eastern section of the Cemetery and Crematorium, and the internal access roads that currently 
serve the Gardens of Remembrance. 

Potential Mitigation Measures   
Consideration has been given to possible measures to mitigate against the constraints identified above.  For 
ease of reference, where applicable, reference is made to the specific constraints.  

Points 8 and 9 

Consideration could be given to removing the car parking within the central aisle of the car park.  This would 
ease egress for vehicles exiting the proposed Crematorium.   

Furthermore, consideration could be given to managing the use of the car park, particularly during peak times 
of operation of the proposed Crematorium (subject to its projected level of use in the future). 

Point 10 

Consideration could be given to formalising the existing layby (by introducing white lining), to discourage 
vehicles from parking within the extents of the running carriageway. 

Point 11 

This is considered to be an internal management issue.   

Points 12 and 13 

Consideration could be given to: 

 Introducing formal road markings in this location to denote entry / exit lanes; 

 Introducing improved signage to make motorists aware of the current arrangement; and 

 Widening this section of road / or, if not possible, introducing give-way road markings on entry / exit, 
which would discourage two-way traffic from using the pinch point.  

Page 420



5

Point 14  

Consider repairing / resurfacing the areas of poor / damaged road surface. 

Point 15 

Consider relocating the memorial plaques. 

Point 16 

Consideration could be given to using an alternative route to egress the proposed Crematorium for larger 
vehicles (namely service vehicles).  

Point 17 

Consideration could be given to widening the existing carriageway in this location.  However, it is not known the 
extent of memorial plaques / ash scatterings in this location, and the issues surrounding any impacts on these.  

Point 18 

Consideration could be given to: 

 Trimming the existing foliage in this location to improve visibility (looking right); and 

 Introducing formal give-way road markings.  

Points 19 and 20 

Consideration could be given to introducing signage and / or physical measures (i.e. speed humps) to further 
slow speeds in this location (thus reducing the potential for conflict to occur). 

Point 21 

Consider relocating the memorial plaques.  See also potential mitigation measures detailed above for points 8, 
9, 19 and 20.   

General 

In addition to the above, consideration could also be given to deploying a member of staff to manage traffic 
flows along the route (particularly through the Gardens of Remembrance) during service times. 

Suitability of Proposed Egress Route   
Further to the above assessment, it is considered that there are no significant physical constraints (in terms of 
geometry) that would otherwise restrict the use of the route by general vehicles (i.e. large cars, limousines, and 
hearses) to egress the proposed Crematorium.  However, there are potential physical constraints (in terms of 
existing road widths, particularly within the Gardens of Remembrance) to using the route for larger vehicles 
(namely service vehicles).  As such, an alternative route should be considered for service vehicles.  

There are a number of potential safety related reasons in which the route may not be suitable to serve the 
proposed Crematorium, including the potential for increased risk to pedestrians, and also other motorists using 
and / or parked along the route.   

It is considered that there are no major physical constraints to providing a road link between the existing 
internal access roads that currently serve the newer, eastern section of the Cemetery and Crematorium, and 
the internal access roads that currently serve the Gardens of Remembrance.  Following the site visit it was 
observed that part of the fields in the southeast section of the cemetery, where it is proposed to provide the 
new road link, were occupied by graves.  However, it is considered that, at present, there is still sufficient space 
to the west of this area to accommodate the road link (albeit there may be a requirement to provide a non-
straight road link, which would skirt around the existing graves in this location).   There was also observed to be 
a slight difference in levels between the field and Gardens of Remembrance internal road.  However, this was 
not considered significant.   

Page 421



6

Conclusion
This Technical Note (02) has been prepared at the request of CBC, to consider the feasibility of using the 
existing Gardens of Remembrance and Cemetery and Crematorium access roads (from Bouncers Lane) as an 
egress route (only) to serve the proposed Crematorium. 

The following key points can be concluded from this TN: 

 It is considered that there are no significant physical constraints (in terms of geometry) that would 
otherwise restrict the use of the route by general vehicles associated with services (i.e. large cars, 
limousines, and hearses) to egress the proposed Crematorium; 

 It is recognised that there are potential physical constraints to using the route for larger vehicles 
(namely by a service vehicles).  As such, an alternative route should be considered for service 
vehicles; and 

 There are a number of potential safety related reasons in which the route may not be deemed suitable 
to serve the proposed Crematorium, including the potential for increased risk to pedestrians, and also 
other motorists using and / or parked along the route. 

Page 422



7

Figures

Page 423



P
age 424



6.29

1 4.238

Daimler Hearse
Overall Length 6.290m
Overall Width 2.108m
Overall Body Height 1.950m
Min Body Ground Clearance 0.251m
Track Width 2.100m
Lock to Lock Time 6.00s
Wall to Wall Turning Radius 7.450m

WSP Group Ltdc

P
age 425



6.084

0.88 3.82

Limousine (2006)
Overall Length 6.084m
Overall Width 1.990m
Overall Body Height 1.583m
Min Body Ground Clearance 0.276m
Max Track Width 1.950m
Lock to Lock Time 4.00s
Wall to Wall Turning Radius 7.000m

WSP Group Ltdc

P
age 426



7.17

1.2 4.19

FTA Design LG Rigid Vehicle (1998)
Overall Length 7.170m
Overall Width 2.300m
Overall Body Height 3.580m
Min Body Ground Clearance 0.375m
Track Width 2.120m
Lock to Lock Time 3.00s
Kerb to Kerb Turning Radius 7.000m

WSP Group Ltdc

P
age 427



6.265

1.36 3.04

Small Skip Lorry
Overall Length 6.265m
Overall Width 2.390m
Overall Body Height 3.650m
Min Body Ground Clearance 0.396m
Max Track Width 2.435m
Lock to Lock Time 6.00s
Kerb to Kerb Turning Radius 6.340m

WSP Group Ltdc

P
age 428



8.68

1.52 3.81

DB32 Fire Appliance
Overall Length 8.680m
Overall Width 2.180m
Overall Body Height 3.452m
Min Body Ground Clearance 0.337m
Max Track Width 2.121m
Lock to Lock Time 6.00s
Kerb to Kerb Turning Radius 7.910m

WSP Group Ltdc

P
age 429



P
age 430



���

�
�

�

�

�
�
�

��������	
�������������

����

�

��	
	�������������������
�

�

Page 431



�

�
��������	
�������������

�
�������� ! "!#� $%&�'	�����(���	�

�

)����	����������
�
(���	�� )�	� ����	�� ������ ��*+��
)����
,���
�
& �

 -.& ./& $�
&0.&/./& $�
 !.&/./& $�

)����& �
,���
�
'	1�������

����
����
����

2�3�
4��
23��'�
�

� � � � �
�

Page 432



�

�
��������	
�������������

�
�������� ! "!#� $%&�'	�����(���	�

�

���	���
�

���� �����	
��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������

���� �������
�	����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������

���� �����������
	�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
� ��	�����	���	�	�1	�	���	�1��	��������� 0�
� )	�������������)	����� 0�
� ��	��	�1��	�)	
�1	���������� #�

���� �������������������
�������������������������������������������������������������������������������
� )���������������	���	���	
�����	�	5����������	
��������	�6���
�	�� $�
� '	���	
��	�����	
�������1��	�������
�������������	����
�1	���	����������1��	����

�	��������	������
���1	��	�������	��
�	�� $�
� '	
	��	��	�����	
�����	���	�����	����������
��	�	��� $�
� ���6��	������	
���������	����
���	� $�
� 2�	���
������������'	�	1	
���	������,���	�7�	�����	���������	
�� 8�

 ��� �������������������!�����"��"����������������������������������������������������������������#�
� ��9�*	�,���
����������������������	������	��
� -�
� �	�1��	�������	�,���
���  0�
� ����:�	���
	��������������  !�
� �������������������������  8�
� ���������������	�����	����
��������;�2������������� / �

$��� ���"������"��	���"�	�������"%����	�&���������%���������"����������������
� ��	��	��
����	5� /0�

���� ���'����������%�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
� �����
������ /#�
� 9��
	����	����� /#�
� ���	����
	����� /#�
� '	1	��	� /"�
� 2��6��*��	�����	������ /"�
� ���	�������������� /!�

(��� )���&�����������%����	"��
��������������������������������������������������������������������������
� ��	��	5����	�� /8�
� ���	������	�2��<	�� /8�
� �����1�
������4�1	�����	� /8�
� ������	������	�1��	� /8�

#��� �
�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������

!����	�*

!����	�*!
��6
	���������
		��������������,		�6��*����	��*	���������������������������

!����	�*�
/& !�,�������
�)��������	�	�1	�	���	�1��	��

Page 433



�

�
��������	
�������������

�
�������� ! "!#� $%&�'	�����(���	�

�

!����	�*�
���	���������=����	�

!����	�*)
9��
	����	��������	
�
�
�
�
�

Page 434



�

�
��������	
�������������

 �
�������� ! "!#� $%&�'	�����(���	�

�

 .& (����������
�
��	
	����� �������� ������
� ����	�
�� ��	��	� �� ��	������ �	�1��	� ����� ��� 4���	� ((� 
��	��
����	
��
���	������	��	��	�����	���	
	������	�		��.����	�����	
����	��	����	�������	�������
���6	������	�����>�
�

• ��	�����	
���	�	�����	����	��������	������?��������
���	����1	�6		������	�?�����
�����
�����
��	����������	�1��	�.�

• 2��*���� ���� ���	��� �� �	� ��	� ��� 1	��� ��������	�� ���� ����� �1	�� 6	�		�� �	�	����	��
��	�	����5�	���������1�������������	���	���	���������6	���
�������	�
	��1	.�

• ��	�	5��������	��������	����������������	

������		����6	��	�
��	�.�
�
����� �	���� 	5�
��	�� �	� ����	����
� 1��6�
��� ��� ������ �	� 	5������ ����	
�� �� �	�	��	� ��� �����	?�
���������
���	��	��6
	���������
������������	�
��	��	���������������	�
������6�������	
�����	�
���	���	.�
�
��	������������������	����	��	��������	���������	�����	�	5����������	
��
���	��	��?�������	��
���	�
������6�������	
�������	������
��	�������	����������	��������������	����
�	�	�����	���
6	��	
�1	�	���������������
���	��	.�
�
� �

Page 435



�

�
��������	
�������������

/�
�������� ! "!#� $%&�'	�����(���	�

�

�

/.& ���*��������
�

(�� �	�	�6	�� /& "?� ��6��	� �����1	�� ��� �������
	� �	� 6��
����� ��� �� �	�� ��	�������� ����
��6�	:�	�
�� ��� ���6	�� /& "� �����1	�� �� ��
� ���<	�� 6���	� ��� @$?##0? &&?� ���� @!?"/0?&&&�
�

���	�� �� �	� �	�� ����	
� �	1	
���	�.� ��	�	� �����1�
�� �

��	�� ���� �	� A����	� ���� ����	�
	5������������	��	�������
����	��B.���
�
9����	�����	������
��	�1��	�����������2��*�=1	���������9�

���)�5��?�6���������	�����	���	�
����	� C�����
� ,���	���*� ���� 2��<	�� �����	��� ���� D������ ���1	����� ���� ��<��� 9��*�?�
�	��	��1	
�?����	���6�
������������6		������
		�������	��	������	
.��
�
����������<���	�������	���
��������������	�?���	
	�������������������
������������������	��
�	� �	�

������� ��� �������� �� ������� �	� �	1	
���	�� ��� ��� �	�� ����	
�.� � ��	� �����1�
� ���
�	�	�6	�� /& "������	�� ��	� �	�� ����	
.� � 2����� �� ���� �����
��	�6	��� �����1�
� ���� �� �	�����
����	
?��	���6��	�������	�����������1	������	��		����8��C�1	�6	��/& !?������������	������	�
��6	����	��*	�������	����	���������������������6�������	
������
��	���
��������������	��
�	�����	����
���������������	%�	1	
�������	�	5����������	
����������
	����1	���	.�
�
���	������	��������������	��������	��	������	
E�F�����	���6<	��������	����	�����.��=5������
���	��� ����������
?��������� ���������������	��	�		��.� �������������?� �� ���������	�	���	�	������
�������	����	����
�����������	�������������	��������������������������6	����������	��������
�	��������
����<	��6���	.�
�
��*	�����*������	����	������	
��������	��	
��6�
�������
��	�	5�	����������	�	5��������	�������
��.��
��	
	�������������������
� ��	� �����	�� �� ���	����� �	� 	�1�����	��
� :��
��� ���� �	����	�
�������	�
���
�������	

�������1������
���
�6	�	�1	�	���	�1��	����������	���	��.��C	����	������
�
��� ��

� 6	� ���	� 	�����	�?� ������	� 
	��� �����
� ��	
�� ���� �	���	� ��/� ���� �	������ 	��������.��
'	�
��	�	������	�	5�������
�������		�	��������	�.�
�

�
�

�

� �

Page 436



�

�
��������	
�������������

0�
�������� ! "!#� $%&�'	�����(���	�

�

0.& ��	������������
��	���������������	�����	1	
�����������	��
	�����	���	���������	���������	�	��	�������?�������
�	������6
��������	��1�
�	��������	�.��������������������

��		*���	��6
���>�
�

o ��	��	�1��	��	:���	�	����������	���	�1��	����	��������	�	5����������	
��

o ��	������������	��	�����������

�����	
��	
�������

o ��	���	���
�������������	%��	�����	��������	
�����	�	��	����	��
��������������6
	�

�����	������	��
�	��

o ��	���1	��	��������
��6	��	:���	�����	���	
��	�����	
�������1��	�����6
	�


�����������������������	����
�����������

o ����
����������������	������������������������	����
���	.�

o )	������	��	��1	����������������6�
�������	���	�	��	����
�����

o (�	����������<	�	����	
��	����	
�1	���	������1	�	�����	����	������
����������	�

������	���	������	
�+��	1	
���	������	����	�����������������	�1��	���	������

���������������.�

o (�	�������������������*�����������������	����
�1	���	�����������	�����������

���	��	��

�
��	�	���	����6	��������*%��	������1�
1	�������

������	�����������������1��	��������	�	���1	�
�	1�	����� ���� ��1	��	��������.� �������������

��	������

����	�	�� �	��������� �	�������
	�
��������1	������������	�������	���	�.�
�

 ��	�����	���	�	�1	�	���	�1��	����������

(�� /& !?���	
	����� ��	�������� ����
��	�� /&#0� ��	������?� �1	������� 0-.0� �	���		*?� $.8!� �	��
���.����	�����	����	���������������	��������	�����	������������	�����1��	���	
��6
	��	�1��	?���
���
��6	������6
	�������	��	��	����6	�������	��������	����������� #�6	�		���	��������	
�.�
�
�	���	�1��	���	����������	�����	��
���	����5�������	����	�����������������	
��6
	���	�����?�
���������
��	�����������
���-����
�.����	�	�����
�����������������1��	��������������������	�1��	�
����	�����	.�
�
��������	
�����������	��������	��	:���	�����������6�������	���	�����������	���
�����	�
�	����������������	��6	
��.��(�������	����������	�1��	�������������
�����6	������	��6����
��
��	�������	�����	
�?����	1	���	�	����
��6	�����	��	���������������	�������������������	�	5������
��	� �� �	� �	�� ��	������ ����
��	�.� � ����� ���
�� �	���	� ����	�� 
	1	
�� ��� �	1	��	� ��� �	

� ���
��������������	���	���
���������
� �����	���������6	��	���	����������
	����1	���	�����	�
����	
�.�
�

�

 )	�������������)	�����

����	�� �������� ������	� ��� #-G� ��� 6	�	�1	�	�� �	�1��	�� ��	� ���1��	�� ���� �	���	��� ���
��	
	����?�����������	��#!."G�����	�1��	�������	��
	�
�1������������ "%��
	�������������	
	�����
6�������	
	��������������	���	��.�
�
(�����������
������<	������	���	���
��	:���	�	��������	�������	�1��	��6��	��������	����������
6	��1����.� �4	�	��

�?��	� ��	� 
�1���� 
���	�� ���� �	� ������ ��� ����	� ��1	���	�� ��
���	�� E����� ���
�����������������	�� �������F��������������	������������������	�������

� �����������	�����	�
����1����
.���
�
,�����	���6�C�����
�2���
�����2��<	������E�C22F�/& #������������1��
�6
	?�������6	�����	�	��
��������	������	����	����������� "%��
	�������������	
	����?��	�	����
��6	����	����	��/8G�
����	��	�����	�����1	���	��	5�/&��	���.���
�

Page 437



�

�
��������	
�������������

#�
�������� ! "!#� $%&�'	�����(���	�

�

��	� ����� ���	� ���	��� E���F� 	��?� ���� ��	� �	������6
	� ���� ���	���� �������� �
������� ���
��	
	����?�4
���	�	�������	�*�6���������	��������	����	���	��	��
���	�������?�������	���
�
���
������	������	��	��������
�����;� ��.���������
��	���������	1	���#��.��	���������	���	��C22�
���.� ����	1	�?����� ������������������������?� ����������	�	�����
�� ��

�������	�����
�����
����	��	���

��	��
��������������	�����	��	��������
��	�.���
�
,����	�������	������������	���	�?��	���1	�6��	��������
��
������������/8G�����	��	�����	�����
�1	��/&��	���.����	���������	�������	� ����	��	� ����	������

������� ����	� 
�	����������	�/&�
�	���?��
�������	���1	������	����������%
��	�����	��	.�
�
��	�	���	?� 6��	�� ����� �	�	� ����������?� �	� �������� ��� ��� ����	
�� ������	�� 6�� 	�����	��
��	����������
��	����

�6	��6
	���������������$&��	�1��	���	���		*?������	���������	�����?�6��	��
���������	���	�������������?������"&��	�1��	���	���		*�����	��	5�/&��	���.�
�
��	��	:���	�	����������	������	
�������	��������6
	�	�����	�����������6	�����	1	����������
�	����	��������

����	���	�6	�	�1	�	���	�1��	����	�������	��	�����	��.���
�
�

 ��	��	�1��	�)	
�1	�����������

��	��������
�����	
���	�	�����	����	��������	�������	�1��	��������1	���6�	:�	�
��6		������	��
�� ��	�� ���� ���� ��	� ��� 6	�	�1	�	�� �	�1��	.� � ���	1	�?� ��	� �� �	� ����
	5��� ��� �	� 	5������
������	?��	�����	���	�1��	����	��������������	������
���	��1����������	������	�����������������
�	��	�1��	.��(���������?������	�������������������	����������	
����	���	����������
��	���	����	�
���������	
?���1	���6	����	��

�������	����	����	��	������	����������		������	��	���
.�
�
��	���	�������
��� ����	�������	�	������ ��+���	��
� 
��	������		�����6	��	�
��	�.����������1��	����
���:�	����������������	���	
	�������������������
���������	���	��	�
��	�	������	�����	
��
��������
		��	
�����������	���	����������
��	�����	�?�������	�6��
�����	
�.���

�
��	���	���
����������	>��
�
• ������!>����
����	�����	
?���	���	�����	�	5����������	
�?����1��	�����	����	��������

�	��	����	�

• ������ �>� ���
�� ��	� ����	
?� ��	� ��	� ��� �	� 	5������ ����	
�� ��� �	� ����� 	��� ���� 6��
��

�	���������	
�����
�	����	�

• �������>����
��6�������	
�����?���1	��������������������	�������	����������.�

�
�

(���	�	�6	��/& "?���6��	������1	�� �	�����������������	��	������	
��������1������ ���� ���
�	����	�����.�������������������	�	��	��������	�������	����	������	�����	�	5����������	
�.��
��	� �
�	��+� 6���	� ���� �

��	�� ���� ���	� �����1	�	��� �� �	� �	�������� ����	
� �� 	��6
	� ���
������	����	������6	�	�1	�	������
��.�
�
��	��6
	�6	
���������	���	���1����	�������������������	��������	�������	��������>�
� �

Page 438



���������	
��
������	�
�����	�

�����	
� �����	
� �����	
�

�����
�	
������
��
�	
�����	��
���
	�
��������
��


	�
���

�����
�	
	�
������
��
�	
�����	�
�	
��
�����
���
�	�


�����
���	�
�����
�����
���
	�
��������
��
	�
���

�����
����
������
	���
�����
��	��
����
����
������
��


��������
	���
����
	�
���������
�	���
��
�����	�


������

����������	����
�������
	����	��	���	���
����������������

����	�������	����������������������	���������

����������	����
�������
	����	��	���	���
������������������

����������������������
�

�	�	����
���������
���	��������
���������	���
���	��

��������	�������

�	�	����
���������
���	��������
���������	���
���	��

��������	�������

�����
�����
�����������������������������
���	������

����������	��	�
�


���������	�����	��
�������������	������
�����������

�
�	�	
	���������
���	����������������������������

�������������������	��	��
����	��
�����
��������

���
���	
�

���������	�����	��
�������������	������
�����������

�
�	�	
	���������
���	����������������������������

�������������������	��	��
����	��
�����
��������

���
���	
�

 �	��������	�����������
����������
	������������������

���������	������
��	���������
��������������	��	��
��

����	����
����
��������
�����������
���	
��

����
���
���������
�������������
����
�����������
	�

�������	����������������
����������
��������
���������	�

�����������������	���������
���	����������	����
��

!����"����	����
������������
�
��
��������������
������

������������	�������������������#����	������
	�

���
���	
����
���

$�
���	����������
�����������	������#�����
�����	��

�
��������
��
	���������
�����������"����	����������

�
	
������������
���
����������������
��
���	�

����������
���	������������"����	����
������������

�����������������
������	
����������������	��������	��

��
���

%
��	��������
����
����
�
�����
���	���������	�������
�

���	��
���������������	�����	���%
��	���������
����
���
��

���
���	�������
����������

��������	
����������������

���������������� !"�#	��$��#	%�"�����

������
������	���
�����
����	�������&�������	�������	��
	������
������
��
	�
���
	�����
��
	�
������
��������	�

���������	
��
��
�����
�	�
������	

����	����

�

P
age 439



�������� �������	 �������


	�������������������������������������������������������

��������

	����������������������������������������������������������

������������������������������������������������������

	�������������������������������������������������������

��������������������������������������������������������

�������

���������	
��
�
������������
����������������
�
�������

����
�������
��
����
�����

���������	
��
�
������������
����������������
�
�������

����
�������
��
����
�����

������������
����
��������	��
�����������	���
��	������	���

	���
���
����������
����
���������������
������
����
�

	
���
������������
��

��
�
��������

�����	
��������

��
����	���������������

����������������
�
���������

��
�
��������

�����	
��������

��
����	���������������

����������������
�
���������

����������
����������������
����������
�������
���
��
����

���
����� 
�������
�������
����� 
��

!�����
������
�
�����������
����������������
�����
������

������������
��
������

�����������
�����������
������������

�����
�������
�"������

!�����
������
�
�����������
����������������
�����
������

������������
��
������

�����������
�����������
������������

�����
�������
�"������

#�������
���
�$�������
$�����
��������
������������
�����

	
������������������
�

%������������
����
��������	������� %������������
����
��������	������� ��
������
�
���������������������������������������
�����

����
��������
��
�������������
�����������
�����������
�

�
����������
��
������
�����������������������������
��

��� 
���

!��
����������
�����
��������
�
���������
���
����������
�

������������
����
&��
������
���������


!��
����������
�����
��������
�
���������
���
����������
�

������������
����
&��
������
���������


�����
������������������
�����
������������	�����
��
������

���������
��������
���	����������������
����
����
�������

����
�
�������������
�����������������������������
������

����������
������
������
�������
������
�

�����
�������������������
���
����������������
����
����������

���

!��
���������������������
��
������
���������������������

���
�������������������
�����
�������������������
�

��
������������������������������
�
������
������
�����
�����

�����
�
���������
����������������������


��
�
���
�����
�������	�����������������
����
�����
����
��������

������������
�������
�
����&���������&���������
�������
�����

����������	
��������
���������
���
���
�

'
����������
�����
������	
�
��
�
���
����
���������������
�

����
�����������������������
�����
�

�����
������������������
�����
������������	�����
��
������

���������
��������
���	����������������
����
����
�������

�����
�������������������
���
����������������
����
����������

���

��������	
����������������

���������������� !"�#	��$��#	%�"�����

����������	
��������
����
��������

������������

�

P
age 440



�

�
��������	
�������������

$�
�������� ! "!#� $%&�'	�����(���	�

�

#.& ��	�����	����
������������
��	�	5�������������	
�����	�������:�	���������������������	����
�1	���	������	���

�������	����
1���	�� ��� ������� �� 	5�
��	� ���� ����� ��	� ����� ������� ��� ��������� �	� ���1������ ��� 
���
�
6	�	�1	�	���	�1��	�.�

�

 )���������������	���	���	
�����	�	5����������	
��������	�6���
�	��

��������������
���
��	�������	����	�6���	��������	���������������
��������
���������	��	�����
�	1	��	.���	��������	
�?����4���	�((�
��	��6��
��������

��		����6	��������	������	����	���
���1��	�������	��
��	���������	�����������������	����.�(����
��6	��	�	�����������1��	���
	1	
����
�	�����������������
��	�1��	����������	��6
	���������������������
���	.�
�

 '	���	
��	�����	
�������1��	�������
�������������	����
�1	���	����������1��	����

�	��������	������
���1	��	�������	��
�	��

'���	�������	���
�����	����
���	����1	�6		���	1�	�	��������	�
��	��6	
��.����	�	���	���		���	�?�
������������	�	����1��6
	�����	����
���
����?������	�	���	��	1	
��	��������	��	��
����������
�	������%��*���.�
�
�

 '	
	��	��	�����	
�����	���	�����	����������
��	�	���

����� ���
�� 	��6
	� ��� ���	���	� ��	� ���� ����	�?� ��� �	� ����	
�� ���
�� 6	� �	
	��	�.� � 4�1	�� �	�

�����������	�����	
������	��	��	�����	��	�		�����������	�����	�����6	��	����	��6��	5������
��1	������������
���������	�����	����
�1�
�	�����	�����
��?������	��������������6
	�	1��	��	�
������	�����	�����*	?�������������	������	����*	�1�
�	�����	�����	
�����
��6	�����	��	�����
���@/"&?&&&�%�@0&&?&&&?���
������		�.�����	1	�?��������
���	�	���������
��������	����������6	����
����	�� ���� �����	� ��� ��	� ���� �	� �	1������� ��� ���� �	�����1	� ��1	����� ��� ���
�� ���	�	� ���
��	���
.��)	�	���������������	���	?���

��	�	����������1	����
������	����������1	���6	��

��	�.�
�
�

 ���6��	������	
���������	����
���	�

(�����6	������6
	����	������	������	�����	�����	
�������	���	
��	�����
�������	������1��	���
����	����
����������.����������	5�
��	��������	��	��
��������	��	���.�
�

�

�

�

�

�

� �

Page 441



�������� �	
��������������� ����	
������

���������������
��������	
��
������	�
��������������
��

���������

���������
������������������������

������������������������������������������

�
����������

�������
���������
���������������������

������
	������������������
��������������

�����������������
�������
����������������

�����
������
������������������������

����������������
����
��
���������������

�������

�����������������������
 �������������
�����������
���
����������
	�

���������
����������

�����������������������
���������������������

�������������������������!����������������

���������������
����������
"

�����������������������������
���
���#

����

���������������
��������������������������

�����������
�������������
��
�����
�

�������������������	���������

����������������

���
���	���������������	�����

���
���	� ���	�������

�������	�����

����� ���	����������
������ $������������������������%

�����������������������

�
	���������������������

������
��������"

$�����
������
�������������������������

����
����������
��������
	�������������

���������
������
�����������������

������������ &�����������
�������
��

������
�������
�����
��������������������

��'���
��������������
������������
��

�����������������������������

!����"������������
����

(�����
������������
���������#���
	���������

���������������������������"

���������
�����������
�����
�����������

��������������������������������

(�������������������������������
	�
	��

�����������������������������������������

��������������������
	���������������

������������
������������#�����
������

��������������������������������������������

�����
���

��������������������������������

������#��������	���������"�����

������$

(���������������������
���������

�������������������	���������
���������

�
������������������

$����������������������
�����
�����������

���������
	���
����������������

�����������������
������'����������
���

������
���
���
��"

�������������������������	��
�����������

����������������
��
�����

 ���������������������	�����

�%�������"����

)����������
��
���������������������������

��������������
��
������������
����������

��������
��
����
���������
������������

���������"

���������������������������������
��

���
��
�
����
���������������������������

�����������������������"

*�������
������������������
�������������


���������������������
����
���������

�������
"

(��������������
�	���
���������������

��������
���������������������������������


��������"

��������	
����������������

���������������� !"�#	��$��%���	����

���������� �	�
���������&	���������"��'����"�����

+����
�������������������������������

+����
�������������������������������

+����
�������������������������������

(

Page 442



�

�
��������	
�������������

-�
�������� ! "!#� $%&�'	�����(���	�

�

".& ��	�����	����
���������������
���
(�����	�������	����	�����	����
�����������������	���
��	1	��	�����������	%��	�����	�����	
�?�
�	���1	����	��*	���	���

���������1��	�>�
�

o ,�

���	���������
�

o �����������������	�������	�����0�
	����������	����
����������	��

o (�	���������	�����

o 7������������6
	����?�	1��	��	�����	�	����
	���	���	�.��

o =5�
������	��������6	�	���

o �		�������������������������
���
������	�����
���*	��
�	���

�
��	���	�	���������	�
���
����*	��
��	�����	���	
	�������	���������������������
���
����	��	�� ��� ��1	� 6		�� �	�	1	
��	�� ��� �	� �	�	�� ���� �	� ��1	� ��
��	�� ��		� ��	���
�
����	����
����������	����	5�
��	�������	��	��
>�
�
 . ����*	����	�����
������������	��	��
������������������6	�	�1	�	���	
�	���	�1��	�.�

/. �	�1��	�������	�����
���

0. ����:�	���
	�1������������������?�����	5���
	��������*������

�

�������������������
���

�	5�
��	�	����������������?�������	������	���	���
������	����1	���������
�	�����	
����������	�	����	H������	��������������	H��	������
���1	��	���	:���	�����	���	
��	�
	5������ ����	
�H� ���	������ �	� ����	����
� �	���� ��� 	���� ������ ����� �	
�1	�� 6��	�� �����
����	�����*	����������H��	�
���
����	5��������	�	����������������
��.����	������������������	�
�	%��	� ��� �	� ����	
�� ��

� ���1��	� �� �	��
� �	���� ���� ��	
	����� �������� ������
?� *		�� �	�
6��
������ �����	����������6�	���������	
�1	����� 
���
� ������1	���������������������	��������
�������6�
��.�
�
��	����������	������	�����	�	5����������	
����������	������
�6	�	�1	�	���	�1��	����
�� 
����
�	��	1	
���	������

�����	�	�������>�

�
 . ����*	�����
���������������	������	��
��������������;���
����������������	�����
��6	�

�	
�1	�	������	��	���	������	��1��
�6
	.��9�*	�����
��	�����
���		����6	����	��

���
���	����

�1�������	�	����������	������	����������	�1��	������	���<��	������	
.����	����	�
����

�����	���	��
�����
��	�����
��6	��	���	���������	���*	����	�.�

/. �	�1��	�������	��;��	��	���	����	������	�����	
����
������������
���	���	��	��1��
�6
	�����	�

�����	�1��	�������	�.��(���������?��	�����	
��	�1��	�����
���
��	����	�������������	������	�

�����	������	�	����
��6	�������������		����	����	�
���
	1	
���������	������������	�

��1	�	����������	�����
�����������	�1��	�.��,�����	���
�������	��?���������6	��		�	�����

���
������.�

0. �������������;��	��	���	����	������	�����	
����
���	���	��	���	���
��1��
�6
	���	���

�����	���	��	�������	�	���	���	���

����*	������������	���	
�����%1��6
	.�

�
�

 ��9�*	�,���
����������������������	������	��
�

�
��	�������
������������	������5	�����	�	����	����������	����	��
?�����6����	����	
�	��
�� �	� ���	��
� �	���.� ,��� 	5���
	?� �����	� 6��	�� ���� ���	��
� ���	����?� ��
	� ���� �����	�� ����
���	�������������
����������	�������
�������������I���	�������*	�����
��.����	����I�����
������
��

	��	�����������	��6��������	�	��	�����1��	�.������	�
���	�	�������������������	���	�1��	���	��
�		*����?�����	

�����	��
���1������������	��	�		�����	?��������������6��	�������	?�����	�	����
��
6	��	�����6
	��	������������I����������*	�����
���
�

Page 443



�

�
��������	
�������������

 &�
�������� ! "!#� $%&�'	�����(���	�

�

��	��6�1	��	1	
���	����������	���

���	:���	��������
����������������	�	5������6��
��������
�	� ����
��� ���� 6	� �	
��1	
�� ����
�� ��
�� �� ���1��	� �	� �	:���	�� ������������.� � '	��1�
� ��� �	�
��	���������
������
��6	��	:���	������	���������	�6�����	�����	���	���
���

�����
����1	���
6	��	��1	��6���1	��

�����	
��1	
���������������.�
�
(��	��������
�������?��	�����	�������	
����
���������	�����������
�������	�������������?�����
�	����	�����������	JJ����	�������������
��
������	�� ����	��	1	
��	��6��	������	�.����	�����	���
����	
����
���	����	���

������������I�K���*	�����
���������	�������	��	��������	����	��������
���	�=�������������
	���.����	�	5������6��*��������	���	������
��6	����1	�	��������	����	��
�
���� ��� ���� �������	� �
��	����	��� ��
	�� ������� �	��� ���	�?� ������ ���� �	� ���	����� ��� ��
�	JJ����	�����	��	1	
��	��6��	���	:���	���.��7���#��������	������	������	�	��6��
�����	5	������
�������
��6	����

���	
�%������	�������	�������������������������9������*���	�		��������
6	� ��	�� 6�� �	� ���	��
� ���	����� ��� ��	�� ����
��� �	�1��	� ��� �	:���	�.� � ��	� 	5������9�����1������
���
��6	��	���	��A���	5�����B�������	�6������� ?�/�K�0.�
�
��	�	5�������������*� ����
��������	��	��6�����
��6	���
��	������ �	�	�����
��6	� ����	� ���� �	��
�
���*���� ��� �	

� ��� �	��		�� �� �	� ��*	� ����
��.� � ��	�	� ���� 6	� ���������� �� �	1	
��� ���	�
���	���6
	����*�������	����������	�����	
�?�������	�����1��	�	��	�������	��.�
�
,����
���	%���
������������
����������	�����
�2
���������������E�2�F����
��6	��	:���	������
�������	�	������	�����	5������*�������6	��?�6��	���������
��������	���	��������6	�������	

����
�����	:���	�	�������������	�	5��������6�����������4���	�/�
��	��6��
����.�
�
�	
��������������
���
��	�����	���	���
�����	�������
��6	�����	1	������������	��������������
�	��������	
�>�

�

�
,��� >����6��	��9�*	������	�	�1	�	��������������	��'	��
�%�#�7���
�

����
	����1	������������	����	��1	��

���	?���0%������
���������
����1��
�6
	����
��*����
����	��	��	��1	��

���	�����7��� �����������	�7���#������	�	5������9��������������?�
������������
��	�	��
���	�������	�����
��.��7����/�K�0���

��	���	:���	����	���������
����*��
���
�	������	�	��	�������9������*���	�		�����
��	�.�����	5���
	�������������������
����
��
���*��������������	�����	�6	
��>�

Page 444



�

�
��������	
�������������

  �
�������� ! "!#� $%&�'	�����(���	�

�

�
,���/>����6��	��9�*	������	�	�1	�	��������������	��'	��
�;�0�7��.�

�
 ����	�����*	�������������

�
(�����	�������	����	���	���
����*	��������*	�1�
�	���������������
��?��	���1	�������	�	������	�
�����������	������1��
�6
	�����
�������	���	������	�����	��������	�������	�����	�.��,������������?�
�	� ��1	� 	5�
��	�� 6��� �	��
��	������� ���	��� ���� �1��
�6
	� �����	� ������������.� � ��	�	� ��	�
�	��
	��6	
��>�

�

". . .  �������6
	�'	��
�'	�����������
��	��

�

Page 445



�

�
��������	
�������������

 /�
�������� ! "!#� $%&�'	�����(���	�

�

". . ./ �������6
	������	���	���	��

�
���	�� ����� ���� ����������?� �	� ���� 	����	� ��� �	� �	���	

	�� �����	� ���� ���6��	��
���I��	�������������������������6	�
	��	������@  %@ "��	���:�.���������

��	�	�����������*	�
����������	���	����
	�����?���������?����*�����������	��.�
�
��	� �6
	� 6	
��� ���1��	�� �� 6�	�*����� ��� ��	���
� 
	��	� 1�
�	� �	�� ���� �
���	�� �� �	� ������	��
�
����
������,��� �

�

�
�
(��������	�	�����
	��	������
��6	����		����������������"%�	���	��?������
��	���������
��	1�	��
���
	��	�1�
�	.�
�
������������������	���	�
	������*�������	
	�������������������
.����	�	�����
�	���������

�����	�
���� ���	��
� �	
�	�� 6����	��� ���� ����	�
�� �	�	� ��� 
���	�� ��*	� ����
��� ���	�� ��� �	� 
���
��.� � ��	�
������
� ���
�� ��� 6	� �	������6
	� ���� ���� ��
��� ����?� ��������� ��� ����	����	� ����� ����� �	�
���������	��.�
�

���� �����	
��
	����� �
���	�	���	��� ��
�	�
���	��


������ ���� 	�
��� 	��������

����� �
�� 	����� 	��������

�����
 ��� 	����� 	��������

������ �� 	�
��� 	��������

���
� ����������

Page 446



�

�
��������	
�������������

 0�
�������� ! "!#� $%&�'	�����(���	�

�

 4	�	��
�(�	�	���

�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�
�
��
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�

 �	�1��	�������	�,���
���

�
��	� ��� ����	
�� ��	� 4���	� ((� 
��	�� ���� ��	�	�� �� �	�
�� ��� �����?� ������	�� ���� �����	����
�
��������	� ���� ���
�� 6	� ��	�
� ���� �	�1��	�� �����	� ������������� 	��	���

�� ���� �	� 	5������
��������������������	���
��		������	������������ ��	��	�� ���	.� �9��
�� �	� 
������������� �	�
�	�		��� ����� �		�� ���	� ��	���
� ��������?� �� ���
�� ���� ���6�6
�� 	�������	� ��	��� ����
�	:���	���:��	��������	����:���*��
������.�
�
����
������	���*	�����
��?������������
����	:���	����
��������
����������������	�	5������6��
�����
�����	��1�
�����	�	5��������	�����������������	��	:����	�.��(�	�1	��������	���������	���
�
�	JJ����	�������	����������������
�	
	�	��������*?�6����
�����������		����	���	�	�����.���

,���0>��	�1��	�������	�,���
���;�"������
�

(���4	���	�,��	��
��

����������	
��������
���	
�������	����	���������	������������	�������	���������������	����	�����������	���	�������������
�
����������������
���
��
����� ���!��"�������	������#$�%�&'$��()���)	��	��	�����
��	���!���

 )�����	��	
��������!����)�������������	���������������	���
�	
���	����������)�����

������K���*	��

������������)	���*	��
��
+�����������	,���������������������
�����!�
�������)	!��	���������
�	������)����
��	�,����
��,�
������,������"�������
���)�������������������������	����	����
���	��	�,��	�������������,����
���������������)����
�������	����������!�����������"���	����)��������������������)���	���
��
-	�
���
���
����)�����	���	�,�	
��)����)���������������������	�������!�����	���
�
�����!�������������
���)	!���)���	���
���!����,��)��)���������
�

�	
��������K����

���������-
��	��
�	����)��)	��
������
������
��)������
��
��)���������
�������	���������������	���	�����	��

�	������
�������	�������	��������
���������	�����)��������!�����	��	����	���

��%��	���1	�,��	��
����	�

���������*����	
���������
.����!�����	�����)	���
�,�����/�����	������	��������0
��������)��-�����������	����	�������	��
�������������)���	���	��	����	���������������)�
��)�������
�����
�����,�	
�������������
�����	��
�
�����,�����
��
��
�)����	�������������	�������
�����()������
��������
	�����������
��
�	�������������	������1�)���!��,��)��	������
���
����)�����	���	��	
������
���
�	�����
��)����
�	������������������	�������

Page 447



�

�
��������	
�������������

 #�
�������� ! "!#� $%&�'	�����(���	�

�

7��� ����	��	��1	
������	��6���	���	������	�����	�������	
?��������	JJ����	�
	1	
����	�	���������
���������	�����	�	����	���������
� �
������	�.�������	JJ����	����
��6	����	��	��6�����	�������
�
�������	� �������������
���� 
	1	
.�7���/� ��� 
���	�� ��� �	� ���������	
����� ���6����
�� �	� ���	����
7��� ��������	���	JJ����	�������	�� ����	�1��
	�����������	.��7���0� ���������	���	�	5������
�
��� ����
��	�� ���� A6��*���� ����	B� ������������� ���� ������ �	���	�����	JJ����	� ������	�����
�	�� �����
� �������	.� �7���� #�K� "� ��	�������	�� ������

	�� ����	�?������� ��	� ��	�	�� ��� �	�����
�	�	�� 	5	������ �� �	� 6��
����� ��� ����	�
�� ����	�� �	� ������� ��	�.� � �������
� 9�+�� ����
*���	����	�����	�����	������	�6��
������	5������9��K�*���	��������������������������	�����	�
�����	�	������	�*��������������	�����
��6	���	�	������	�����	�������	�����	�1	��6�
	.���
�
(��	����������*���������	�	���������	�����
�2
��?��	����	��������� �����	��	��/"�/�����	:���	��
���������	��������������E/!�����	���1	��

F?���������������6
	�����	�	5�������������*������	��	��6��
���	������=��?�����	

���� �����	��	��/&��������	���6�
���;��������
��6	������6
	����	�
����<��	��
�	�6��
�������	
�.�
�
,����
� ��	%���
������� �����
��������� �	� �2�����
�� 6	� �	:���	�� ���� ���� ���	�	?� �������
�� ��
���	�������	�	�� �	� ������	�������	� ��� 7�	� ��� ��� ���	��6
	� ��
����� ���� �� 	����	� ��� ����
��	�1	������ ����������������� �� ���� 
��	�� 6��
����� ��	� ���	��6
	� ��� ��������
?� 6�� �	1�	����� �	�
����	�1����������	�.�
�

�
 ����	�����*	�������������

��	�	� ��	� ����	�
�� ���	� �1��
�6�
��� ��� �	�1��	�� �����	� ������������� ��� ��	
	����H� ���	1	�?�
�	�	�����	��	����	�����	����@//%@/"��	�� �:�����������

�� ��%
���	��������������	�6��
������	�
����
	5	�.�

�
"./. .  �������6
	��	�1��	�������	��������������

Page 448



�

�
��������	
�������������

 "�
�������� ! "!#� $%&�'	�����(���	�

�

�
�

�
�

�
���	�� ����� �	� ���*	� ���������?� �� ���� 6	� �����6
	� ���� ��	
	����� �������� ������
� �� ���	��
�	�1��	�������	����������������	�������	��������6����	���������������	��1	��	����	����	�
��5��������������.�������������������1��	����������
�1�
�	����	�
���
�����������������������
�����	��������	��6����	������������	�� ��� �	���	�.� ���	������	�����
��6	� ����6
	� ����6����	��	��
���� �	:���	� �����	� ����	� ���� ���	�� �		�� ���� �
�	�� �		����� ��� ��	?� ����� ��� �	����� ������H�
6	�	�1	�	���	�1��	�H���������������	�	��
������	���������
������.�

�
��	��6
	�6	
������6��	�������������	��1	����*	��	�����@//��	���:�>�
�

����	

�����	
��
	

�����	

�
���	�	���	

���	

��
�	�
���	

��
	

������� ����� 	���� 	�
��
�����

������ ��
�� 	���� 	���
�����

�����
� ��
� 	���� 	���������

������� 
�� 	���� 	���������

������� �� 	���� 	��������

���
�	 �� �� �����������	

�
��	�	���	���������
�����	������	��������	������������	��	�1��	��������������������.����	�
�	�����
�����
��	>�

o 7�
��	��

o '�	��

o �
	������

o (�������	�

o �������
�3���	��

o �	�1��	������	�

o 9�%,��

o 2��*����

��	�	����
��6	������������� ����	�����

� �	�	� ����
��	���	�����������	��
� �����	.� � (���������?�
�	�	�����6	������1�
��	�����1	�����	����?�����������	��	���	�����	������	��+�������������
��
�	��
������������	�������	.�

Page 449



�

�
��������	
�������������

 !�
�������� ! "!#� $%&�'	�����(���	�

�

�
9��
���	���	���
��	������������������������	�?��������������*���		������	����*����	���������
��������	��	�������	��
��	�1��	����������
�����6	������	�.�

�

 ����:�	���
	��������������

�
��	
	�������������������	�?�6	���� 
���	�������������	���������������C�����
��	���.� ���	�
��	�� ���	��� ���	��� �� 6	�����
� ���������	?� 4	������� �����	���	� ���� ��� �	� ���	� ��� �	� ���
�%
�	����	�����	�����	�����	����	����	.��������	������������:�	�
������?��	���1	���	����	���	�	�
���
��6	����		������ ��	�	����?�:���*����
����������������������
������	��������*�����.���	�
�������*� ����� �	�� ��� ��	�	����� 6��
������ ����� ��� ����	
�� ���� ��

�	�� ��� ������ �������
����������	�73?��
�
��� �	��6�1	������?� �	����� ��
�� �����	������� �	� ���	���� �	������	�������������� ��
�����
�
6	�� ��
�� �1	�� #� ����� ��� �����	�� �� "?� ���� 7����  � ���� /� ���������	�� ��� �	� ��� ����	
��
�	��	��1	
�.� 7��� 0����
�� 
���	�� ��� �	� 6��*%��%����	� ��	�� ����7��� #����
�� 6	� 
���	�� ��� �	�
�	�	�����������	������9���������.����������	�1��	����

��		����6	��	%��������	����	�������?�
���� �	:���	�	��� ���������������1	��	��	�� ���	�����	���	��	���������	�� ��6	���� 
���	�� �����	�
�	���
���	��;������	�������	��	��1��������*�����	�	5������6��
�����6	
�����������������
��
��	���

�� �	��� ����	�� ��	�1	����� ���� ������������ �� �	� ��6���� ��� �	� 	5������ 6��
����.��
�	JJ����	�������	����	��
���������	����������������6���	�	���

�6	����	:���	�	��������������
�	�����������	��
����������	���������������
����		��	��	:���	�	���������
����������
.�

�
2
������� ������	������� �	�	���	���� �	������	� �������
������� �		�� ���� �������	����7�	� �
�������
���
������.� � ��	�	� ����
�� 6	� ��� 	5	���
� ��	���	��� ����� ����� �� ���

� ������ ��� �����	�� ��
����
��	�����#?�6���	�	���

�6	����	:���	�	����������	��	��	���
���6��������	�6��
��������

���
�	���	���
� ������������.� � ��	� 	5	�� ��� ���� ���� ���� �� ����� 6	� ���
	�	�	�� ���
�� �		��
���		����6	�		���	��2������	�1����������	���������
����������
������	������	���	���

��
��� �	�	� ���
�� 6	� �� �	���	�� �	���
� �	��������	� ��� 
�	�� ��� �	������� ��� ����� ��� �	� 	5������
�	���	������	�
��	��6��
�������������6
	.���
�
,������*���?��	����	����������	�
���
��
������
���	:���	� ����*��������	��	��6	���������1��	��
;��������	�����	����
�����6�6
�����������	����	�
�������	��	�6��
�������������	������
������
�	��	��6����%��	��������*�����
��.�

�


�

Page 450



�

�
��������	
�������������

 $�
�������� ! "!#� $%&�'	�����(���	�

�

�
��	�	���	������	���
�����	����
��������������	����������������.�
�

 ������������������� �

�
,�����	
	�������������������
��������	��	�
	��������	�����1����
�������	��	
1	�?�
	�1������
���	����*	����		����	�����������
	1	
�?����
�	��	��6�����������	���1	��������������������
�
���1��	�.� � ��	� ������
� ���
�� �		�� �� 	��
��� ����� ���� �
	�����?� ����	*		����� ���� ���%�%����
�����	�	������	�����
���������1	����������	�������%�����������	����	.�
�
�
�

�
".0. .  ����
����������������

�
�

���	������������*	����?��	���1	����	��	���	��	��
���	���
����������	����������������� ���
��	
	����>�

�

�

 �
��!���  ��
	"�#������� ���	���	��$%�	�
��&	 ���
�	

'##��
�#(

��&	
���
�	

'##��
�#(

)�&	
���
�	

'##��
�#(

�����

��������������������������������

��� !�����"���������"��!���#���

$ ��

	����� 	��������� 	�
������� 	�������

����

�����%�����&����������������������

��� !�������'�(��$ ����"���������

"��!���
�

	����� 	��������� 	�
������� 	�������

����

����%������������������������

��� !������"���������"��!��
	������ 	��������� 	
��
���� 	��������

�����

������%������������������������

��� !�����"���������"��!��� 	������
	��������� 	
��
���� 	��������

���
� �*+���� ���,������� ���)��+���� ���,�+�����

���������	
�������������� ���
�

 �����

�

 ��	���
�

 �	���

�



Page 451



�

�
��������	
�������������

 8�
�������� ! "!#� $%&�'	�����(���	�

�

9��
�� ���� ���
�� 6	� ��� ��	�
� 
������� ���� �� :���*�?� ������
� �
��	� �� ���?� ��
����� �	��
�� ��� �	�
�����
�����	�����������	��1	����*	.����������1������?��	����������
���		����6	�6	���������
�	� 
������?� ��� ���	����� �� 
�
	� ����	�	�.� � �������� ����	����	?� ���*	���� ����� ���� �	�
���	�����������������
�6��*����.�

�
 �������������������/�

����
	����1	�����
�����
	�?��	�������
�����������	�?���6<	����
	���
��1	������1�
�?��	������	�
����� ����� ��� ��� ��� �����	�� ����� ��
�� 	������ 6����.� � ��	�	� ��� ����� �	����� ���� �	�	��
������������� ���� �	� ���*	� ��� ����	�
�� �	������� �	��
� 1�
�	�� ���� ����
��� ��J	� ����	��	�� ���
@$"&.&&�%�@ /&&.&&����.�
�

�

 �������������������������

(�� �	1	
������ ���� ������ ����?� �� ���6	�� ��� ����������� ���� ���������� ����
�� 6	� ��	�� ����
���	��	�����������������	��������������1	��	��	1	
���	�����������	������.�

�
o ��	� ��	� 23��
���4�� 5	
��  �������6� ��� 
��	�� ��� �� ���
	� ;� �		� ������������� 
������

�����	����������	������������.�

�

o ��	�2(��� �������� )	����6� ��	��
��� �	����	
�� 
��	�������6��
�����;��		��������������

�����	����������	������������.�

�

o ��� �	� 6��
����� ��� 
��	�?� �� ��� �	�	���	� 
�*	
�� ��� ���� ��	�1	������ ���	� ��

���������	��	��������
���	�	�����	��	:���	����6	����	�������������������	������

6	��
���	�����A	�������B��������	����������1	�������1	��	�����������	�������	��

����	�	5������6��
����.��������	����������	�����
���������	����

�6	��		�	�������	�

������	�� ���*� �� 	����	� ��� �� ��	�� ��� ���	�� �	� L��	���
� �����	����
� ��� ��������

��	�	�L�����	�����	
�6��
����.�

�

o �����������������	����	�����	��2������������6
	������	��������
�?����������	�	��

��� �� ��	%���
��������		�������� �	� �2�� ��� �������	�� ��� ����� ��� �����6
	� �� ����	�

�	��� �	�����	.�� ��	� �����	� ��� �����		������

� �	�� 6		�� ��1��	� ��� �	� ��	���
�

���<	����������	.�

�

o 7�����	�����	��	���
��	��������	�����	�6��
�����	�1	
��	���

�6	��	:���	������������

����
����	������	����
�����'	��
������6������	�6��
��������
��	�?����	��
���	1�	����

�

6	� �	:���	�� ���� �	� 2
���	�?� �	� ����	�1����� �����	�?� ��	� ���
����� (���	���� ����

��	���

��=��
�����	����	E����	��2���		������	�	�����F������	�����������	���������

���
�#(  ��
	"�#������� -���%�(	����  ���
�	.�#�!�

�����

��������������������������������

��� !�����"���������"��!���#���

$ ��

	������� 	���������

����

�����%�����&����������������������

��� !�������'�(��$ ����"���������

"��!���
�

	������� 	���������

����

����%������������������������

��� !������"���������"��!��
	������ 	��������

�����

������%������������������������

��� !�����"���������"��!��� 	������
	���������

���
� �)������� �),�������

���������	
��������������	
������ 	
������� 	��������

Page 452



�

�
��������	
�������������

 -�
�������� ! "!#� $%&�'	�����(���	�

�

��� �	1	
���	�� ���� ���� 6��
����� ���� �� �		*� �	�������� ���� ���� 6��
�����

�����
���	:���	�	�������������	��������	��	:���	�	�������	���������	��.�

�

o (� ��� 
�*	
�����	5������ �	�	����������	��������
�����	
�������6	�������	�?����	��	��

�	���������
�J������

��		����6	� ���������	�����

�	5��������	�������������������

�

6	� �	���	�� A��� ��B?� ���� ��� ���	��������� ��� �� �	���	�� �	���
� �	��������	� ���� �	�

6��
�������� �����
	.��������� �	� �	���������
�J������� ����	������� ���	������ �	�

�������
� ��6�������
��6	���1	�	��6�����	������	���������
�	���������������� �	� 
��	��

6��
��������
������.��

�

o �������	�����
��6	��

��	�������	���������	�	5������
	���������������	�	������;�	5	��

��6	��	1�	�	����������	��	5����<	�����	.�

�

o (��	�������	5������	5	���
���

��K��������	��?�����	����1	����������

�6	��	:���	�����

�� 	5��� ������������ 6�� ��������� ��� 	5	���
� ��

�� ������ 6	� ������	�� �� �

?�

������	�� �� 
��� ��	��� ��

� 6	� �	�	������ ��� 	1	�� �	� ������������� ��� ���	�	��	��

����	��	���	�
�����E
��%����������	F�����6	��	�	��������������
����
	1	
����

������
��	�

�������	����������6�	�
�����������
����	���
�����
����.�

�

o (����	��������

���	���
���

�����	���	�������	�A�������
B�����	
����	���1	�	��������

���� 
��	�� ��� �
��	�� ��� ����
�� ����	�� ���	� ��� ������� ��	���
� ����
����� ����

�
��	�6����� ���� ��� 6	� ��� ������ ;� �	� ��

� �		�� �� �	1�	�� ���� �	�

���2
���	�����
�����(���	����	�.�	��
�������.�

�

o ��	� �	�� ������	�� ����� �
���� ����������� ��� 
�*	
�� �� 6	� �	����	�� ��� ��� ���	�	��	��

������	� �� �	� ����� 6��
����� ��	� �� ��� 
������ ;� �������
� �	��
�� ��

� �	�	���	� 6	�

�	:���	��
�	��6���������?������
�*	
������		
���������	�
��	�����	�	5	���
���

����	�

��
��	�?������������		
��	JJ����	�������	�������6	��<��������

.�

�

o �	JJ����	� ,
��������������� ;�����	JJ����	� �
�������

� 	��	��1	
�� 6	� 
���	��������

����1����
� ����?� ��� �������� ��� �	���
� �	�������� ��

� 6	� �	:���	�� ��� ���� ��� �	���

����������.���	������
�(�	��	���	�,
�����	��
�����	�	���	�
�*	
����6	���
��	������	��

����	��	��)	��
���	�	�	��	�(,%&/.�

�

o (�����	���
���������6	���A�	��������,
���B��	���	��
�����������	���������	�'�6���

)	��
�� �����	�� A���6	�� �	�������� ,
����B� ��

� 6	� �	:���	�� �
���� ���� ���� �	��

�����������������
����
	1	
������������	���		
�������	.����	��
�������	����������	�

�	��
� �� �	� �
���� �	���		�� ��

� 6	� �	:���	�� �	�	� �� 	����	� ��� ������ �����	�� ���

�������	�.���

�

o �	��������9�

��������������

�6	��	:���	��6	�		����<��	�����������	����	��
����


	1	
.�� ����� ��

� 6	� ���1��	�� ��� �	�� �	� '�6���)	��
�� �����	�� A���6	�� �	��������

9�

�B.�� ����� ���
�� �		�� �� 6	� �*	�� �� �	� ���	����	� ��� �	� ����� ������	� ���� 6	�

��������

�����	���	������������.�

�

o ������*��������������������1����
�������������	:���	����������	��������	?��������	�

�	��������	�����6	��	�
���������	�6�������	���������?��������������$&����		
�����

���� ����
��������� "����
��	�6�������6������	������
��6	��������	�������*� ����

�

Page 453



�

�
��������	
�������������

/&�
�������� ! "!#� $%&�'	�����(���	�

�

���	�.���������

��������		�����������	����	����	�����	�	5�����������������	�?�����	�

����	��	���	�
����;��	�	�������������
���	���������.�

�

o 9	������	�����������	�6	
������������

�6	�A�����B������	��	�1��	�������	����	�	����

����	�� �� ���������	� �	� ������	�� �	�� �������� 
�������� ������ ��� �	� �	�1��	��

�	���	���
��������
.�

�

o 9	������	� ��� �	�	5���������?�	
	�����
�������������	�1��	�� �� �	�6��
���������6	�

����	���������	��������
�.�����	1�	������	:���	��6�������
������	�1��	�������
���6��

����������	�������	��	������
	��	��������	�����
��6	���
��	�������	����
	�6��
�����

���� J��	�� ��������	�� �� 	���� ���� ���� ��6%�		����� ������	�.�� ����� ���	������
��

�
��� 6	� 	��
��	�� ��� �	��	�� ��� �

� ��	�� ���	�?� ��	�?� ���
� �������	� ���� ����

�	:���	�	��.�

�

o '�������?����*	�?������	�������	� 
�*	���

�6	� ��5	�����	�������������

����	�	1	��

�����6
	� 6�� ���� �		�� ��5���� �� �	� 	5������ 6��
����� ��6���� ��� �� ���6	�� ���

���	�.��2��	���*�������6
����	�.� ����	�	���	� 
�*	
����6	�	5���	����������	����6	����

6�5	�%��.������	��9�%,���������	���
���
����������������1�����.�

�

o ��	�	�����
��6	�����

�����	�������

����*	��������	��		��������	�������������	�

6��
�����;��	�	5	��������	����������������������
���		����6	����1��	��6�������
�����

�	�1��	�������
��.�

�

o ��	�	� ����
�� 6	� ��� �

�����	� ���� �	������ �� �	� ��6���� ��� �	� 	5������ 6��
����?� �.	.� �	%

�������� ��� �	� 	5	���
� ��M��	� ��� ��	������ ��	��� ���6	?� ��� �	%��������
	��� ���*�

�6��	��������	���6����	�����	5������������	�������� ����	5���
	.����	�	5	������

�	�	���	��	
��1	������������	
	�	�����
���		����6	��	1�	�	��6�������
��������1	����

����
�	�����	���������������

�6��
��������1	�.�

�

o ��	�	�����
��6	�����

�����	������	����
����������	�1��������������	��������	������

�

�	���6�
��	��;��	�	�����6	������	���������������6	������		
�A�����	���	
�B���������

�	�	��

�?� 6�� ���	� ������ ����� ���	��� ����� �������
� ����	�� �� ����1����
� ����� ���

6	�		�� �	����	� ����� ��

� �	:���	� ���	�%�������� ���� ���������	���
� 6�������� ��

����	1	��	��	
	1������������������	��	��������	��	:���	�	��.�

�

o 9	� �����	� ��� �������
� ��	��� ��� �	� ������	�� 6��
�������

� ���������	� �	� 	5������

�
���� ������	�?���������	�����	�
��1���6
	?����� ��� ����1����
��������

� ���������	��	��

����	��
	����������.�

�

o '	1�	�� ��� �	� ��	� ��� �	� 	5������ �
���� ������	�� ���� �����������	� ��� �	� �	���6���	��

9�+������
��6	������	�����6�� ���������	������	� ��� �

������������	�������6��
	�

���	�����	���6	��	�
��	����������	�����������������%�
���1���
��
����������������

E���
�������	�*���	����	�F.�

�

o ��	� *���	�� ��	��� ������	�� ���
�� �	�	��

�� ������� �������� ����
��	�� �������������

�����	���		J	�?��������1	?����*�	�.����������	:���	��	�����������������������	�����	�.��

��	����I����������
���	:���	������	�����	����
�*���	������
������	1	�.�

�

Page 454



�

�
��������	
�������������

/ �
�������� ! "!#� $%&�'	�����(���	�

�

o �� �	�� 1	��
����� ���	�� ��

� 6	� �	:���	�� ��������� �

� ���	�	�� �� ���1��	� �	�

�	:���	���
�����	�� �����	�9������*���	����	���6���
��������1��	� �	��	:���	������

�����	������	����6����	����	���	���
����.�������
������	�1��	�������
�������
���	1�	��

6����	���

�� ���N�'����	����	������������6	��	:���	�� ������	1	� ���?� ���������

����	��	���������
�J��������	5�������	�	����������	�����	���%��	��6
	���������.�

�

o =5	���

�?� �	� �����	� ��� �	� 	5������ ���� ���*���� ������	�	��� ���� �	� 6��
����� ��	�

���	��6
	�������:���*���	�*��������
�2
�������2�
������	�� �����	��	��/"�/�����������

�	� ����	����
� ���� 	:��	�� �� /!� ����	�?� ���� ���� �	���	���
H� ��	� ����	� �	��

6	�����.�� 9	� �����	� �	�	���	� ��� �	� 	5������ ���� ���*� �	� 1���	�� �	��� �� �	�

6��
�������

�������	������������	��	�����	���	:���	�	�������������������.�

�

o ��	�	���

�6	�����

�����	����� ����	���6
	����*��������	��	��/&�����	�����1��	�� ����

�

��	�������;������	:���	�	������6	����������	����<��	���	�6��
�������	
�.�

�

o 9	� ��1	� ���	� �

�����	� ���� �����		� ��	?� ������*� ���� ����� 	�����	� ������	� ����

��6
	�������������
���������������6�

�����	�.�

�

o =5	���

�?� �	� ��1	� ���	� �

�����	� ���� ������������� �� 	5������ ��	��� ��� �����


�����������������
��	��	������	������	�;������	�����	�	�	5��������	���������
������

��6	��	��1	��	�.�

�

�

�

 ���������������	�����	����
��������;�2��������������

�

(�� ���	�� �� ���1��	� �������	���� ��� ���	���	�� ��� �	� 1������� ������?� �	� ��1	� �	1	
��	�� ���
���	���	������5���	�	6�?� 	���� ������ ���� 6		�� ����	�� 6�� ���	��	�6	��� ��� �	� �
�	�� �	1�	��
	��.����	�	����	��	�	���2���	�������=��	�?��	��
�?����?�2
�������������	������������.�
�
�� ����������� �	� �������� ��� ���
��	�� 6	
��� ���� ���� 	��6
���	�� ��� �	� ��	�	��	�������?� 6��	��
��������		�����	���?�������	5	����6	�����<��������	��������	���	����������	�	5����������	
����
6	��	���	

	�������1��	���9�*	����������������	�1��	������
��.�

�
�
�

�
�
�

�

� �

Page 455



�������

���	�
�	� �	��	��

��������	
���
��������
��	����
�	�
������	�����
�	���
�	��
������	����
��

����������������	����
����	��

�����
����
	�����
��������������
�	�

�������	���������	�������������
���

�������	���������	�������������������
���������
�	�

 ���!�����������"����������	���
�	��
��
�	���	���
������

��������	
���
�������	����
	��	�����
��������������	�������	��
����	���

����	����

�������������
�������
�������������	����

�������������
�����	"�	������
��	��������
�����	��
������������

����!
��������	
�	��������
�����	��
������	
�����	���

 ���#������	����
�����
��	���������	��
����	������$���������������

�
�����	�	��
���
�	�	�����

%���&���
��������������	���������	�������
��	�������	
��������������

��������	
���
�������	��������	���
������	
���	
�	�������	�����
��

����������	���������'�
��������	�������	�������������
�������	����	��������

����(
�������	�������	����
������	���������	�

���)�������������	��������	�����������������

����#�	���������	��������������	�
����
	�����
����	

 ���&���
��������	����
����'���	�
����
	���	��"���������	

%���*������������	����
������������
���������	�����������

��������	
���
�������	��������	���
����������	
���	
�	�������	�����
��

����������	����������

����(
����	������������	����
����

���������������	���������

����)�������������	����������������������

����#�	���������	������������
�������	�
����
	�����
����	

 ���&���
��������	����
����'���	�
����
	���	���
�����������	

%���*������������	����
����������+���,���	����������
�����
����
���

��������	
���
���������������
�������������
��	�������	��������������������

������	����	
��
	��	������	
��������
��	��������������	�������	����

�����
����	�

����(
�����������������������	����

����-��	��������	�������	���	��������	��
���
���
�����.�����
������
��

	��������
�����	/

����(�
���������	����

 ���-�
�
�������
�����������������	��
������

%���-�
�
����������	��������
�����	��
�������

��������	
���
����������	����
��������������������	
��
�������	�����

������	�
���

�����
����
	�����
���
���
�	����	��	
��
�������
��	���

����&�������	��	�����	���
�������
��	���

����-��	�������
�	����������
���
�������
��	���

 ���)������	
����	�����������	�
��

%���,
�	����	�����������	�
����������	
��
�������
��	���

��������	
���
�������	����
	��	�������+�
��	����
������������	������������

��
�	�
��	�������������
	��	������������

����#��+�
���
����������������
�	����	���

�����#��+���������

����#��+�����
���������

 ���#��+�����������

%���0���	�����+

��������	
���
�������	����
	��	�������+�
��	����
������������	�����
	�������

�������������
��
	��������
��1�����������
�����"�
�	����	��
��������������	����

���	�	�
��
�����+�	��	��	����������������������
�	"���
��������	�����
���

���
�������������

����#��+�
����������������
�	����	���

�����#��+���������

����#��+�����
���������

 ���#��+�����������

%���0���	�����+

��� ��% ��% ��2 ��%

!
	��

����	�������	��

��3��������������������
��������������
��
������������������������	�
���

��3�����
������������������������������	�����������	�������	
����
�������������
�	���������	���������	�����	
���������������������	������

����� ��2��4��2

��2

�������������	�
�	�

��5��4��4

��6

���������	�
�	� ��4

�� �� 

�� 

������

��4

��������� �����	��

����	����

��4������

�� 

!��"�#�������
�

�� ������

��4

 �������

$%������
��&�������


���������

'���	�������

����
�(

 �6

��2 �4

��5

��2��2

��5

 �������

$%������
��&�%������


��������'���	�������

����
�(

&%��!���"����(

��5��2��2

��6

$����������	��

)��	
�

�� ��4��4

*+*,+-.�/0�� "	���� �����
�	����������������������	���1	���%

���������	�
����
�

��������������
��	�����

��	�
�����������

����������������������
�

��
�,�������7�	�
���	��

)89"80:"�;�4;%"�23�"#��
�	��&����

����������������������
�
���������
������

��	�������
�

���������
������

�������
��	���
�

-��� -��� -��� -��� -���

)�����	�
�	���	
��������)2���#����/���� $$#�!)/3��� /������$��1$�/

4�����5��0�"

&%��0���"����(
��2

��

Page 456



�

�
��������	
�������������

/0�
�������� ! "!#� $%&�'	�����(���	�

�

!.& ��������������������	������������	�	1	
���	������	�����	
��

 ��	��	��
����	5�

�

'	�	����� 6�� �	� ������
+�� 2���	��� ���� ���	� �����	�	�� 	��� ���� ������ ��� ���� ��� �	�
�	�		����������	���	��������.�����
������	���	���������6	��	:���	����6	���	�����������	��
���
������	?��	�
������

��		����6	��	����	���	��6���	�����������4
���	�	������	�����������

�6	�
�	:���	�.�9	���1	�������	�	�:����	������	�������+�������	�����	�	����	�������	��������������6	�
����	��E	.�.�6���	���������	��	
��������	��
	�������
�����F�������	�����	��������������	����������
	��
�����	.��
�
��	�����
��������	��E�	�		��	�F����	�� -$$������������1����������	���	����������	�	�����
�	�		��	����������

��		����6	� �*	�� �������������	��������	��������������	�����	�����	��
����	?�������
��
���	������������	���	���
���������	��������������6	����	���������������
����	��	�
���	���	����	�.�
�
���� 
	��	�� ����	�� ��

� �		�� �� ����
�� ���� �	� �	:���	�	��� ��� �	�����  /0� ��� �	� ����
�
4�1	���	����� -$/��	���������	�������	�������	�	�1	�������	�
	��	�.�
�
9	� ����	�� 	�	����� ���� 	��
�� ������������ ���� �	� ���	������ �������� �� ��� 	��
�� ���	� ��� �	�
������
��	:���	���	���*	�����
��	����6	��6
	����	�1	��������
���
����
.�

� �

Page 457



�

�
��������	
�������������

/#�
�������� ! "!#� $%&�'	�����(���	�

�

$.& ��	�,�������
�(����������

 �����
������

9	���1	���
��
�	���	������
�����	5�	�����	�����	���������.����������
������
������	����
��	��
������	���5��.�4�1	���	�1	���
���	���	�����������������1��
�6
	�����
��*�����	��
������	�	5������
����
��?��	���1	����	������6	������������������	����	���������������.���	�	����������������
��
6	��	1�	�	������	��
�������	������

�����	�������	����.�9	���������	��	�*	�������������

���>�
�
��	� ����� ��	� 6��	�� ��� �� ���%����	� ��	���������� ���� �����	�� �	� 	5������ ����
��� ��� �������

��
�����.�

o ��	���������������
��	�����������	����	5����������������	�1��	����������������	�

�����1	�����.�

o ��	� ����� �

��� ���� ���1	�� ���� �	��1�
� ��� ���	� ������ ��6	���� 6�� �	� �����	�

�	�	��

���	�	������������������
	1	
������6	������	�	�������	��������������

o ���� ����� ������� ���1������
� �

�����	�� ���������� �	������ �� �	� 	5	���
� ��M��	�

6�������������	�
�����:������	�.������1	�����
��6	��	:���	��������������������

o ������������
��	�������	���
��	���������
�J��������	����	��	��6���	��	�����	���

o ���� ����� ���
��	� ���������� 	5	���
� ���*�� E�	�� ������	?������� �	�����F� �����	�

�����	��	�	5�������������*������

��	�	��

���	����������.�

o 9	���1	������	�����	�������

����1��	������	�
���	��������	.�

o ������������������
��	�����������������	�������	��

o 9	������	�����	����<	����

�6	���6<	����������	��1	�	��	������������������	�

/& -���������	����*����

��*	�6	�		��/&�;�/"��		*�.��

�

9	���1	����	����	�	��
��

�����	������	�����������	���� �		������	

����������������	
�	�����*��
�
������ �� ����
��6	���	�� �����1	�� �	� 
��*���� ������������	
�	�� �� �	�6��
�����������1	�� ���

��	�� ����� �	�	� ��� �� ����	�� ��:������	�� ���*� ��� 1������	� �� �	� �

���	�� ����������� ���*�
�

�����	.�9	��	����	���������	����	�����	���6	����	��*	�����	1�	���	����<	�����	����*��
�����	1�	���	��		�������
��������������6���.�
�
9	����
���
����	����	�������	��		�������
�������	����1������
��������	������	��6	�����	��
�	1�	�	��6���	����<	��	������		����	��	�1��6�
�������	����	�	���	���	������
��������
	�

��	��������	���6<	�����	����1�����<���	��.�
�����������*	�����

�����	����������
�	�����	���		���������.�

�

 9��
	����	������

��	� ���
	� 
��	� ����� ���� ���� ���	�	� ��	� �������	�� ��� ��		� ����.� ��	� ����� ��� �	� �����
�
��������������������	����������������	������
������
���.���	��	�������������	����
	�
��	�����
���������%
	1	
�	����	�����	�
��	����
	�����.�

�

 ���	����
	�����

��	� 
��	� ���
	� ����� ��	� 6��	�� ��� �����
� �

� ��� ��	�� ���� �� �������� 
	1	
� ��� ��<��� ���� ������
����	����	?����	��
	�����������	��
	���	��������6���6��
�������6���������	�1��	�.��61����
�?��	�
��1	���� ����������������������

���	:���	������	����	���������6��*
�������	����	��	�	� ���
6�� 6�� ������ �� �����
� A�

� ��B� ��	� �	� ��	� �6
	� �� �	��1	� �� ��	��
� ���� ���	
� �� ����
��	� �	�
�����������������1	��

����
	�
��	��������	
.��
�
��	� 
��	� ���
	� ����� ��� ��� ���
��	� ������������	����	� ����	� �����	?� ��1	�� �	� 
������� ��� �	�
����
��?� �	�	� ��� �
�	���� 	5������ ������������	����	����*� ��� ��	�� 6���	�.����	1	�?� ��1	�� �	�
1	���
���	������	�����	�	5	���
����*���������������������
�*	
������1	�������������������������
����.�

Page 458



�

�
��������	
�������������

/"�
�������� ! "!#� $%&�'	�����(���	�

�

9	���1	����6		����1��	��6����	
	�������������������
���� ������	���������������������� 
	��
�
���������	�	���	�	5�
��	�����������
��	����
	�����.�9	���1	��

��	��������
��	������������
	������
�������	�	��	�	��	�1��	����	���6	����1��	��6���	�������
������	��	�1��	��������.�
�
,����	���*	�����
��	��������E#�����F��	���1	���
���

��	�������
	������������
��	������	��������
����.�9	���1	��
��������	��������	���	���*	�����
��	�������������	����	���

�6	����	���
����
�	�	��������
	��	�E�������?��	�����	����	�����	����������"����� &%�	������
	�F.�
�
�����	� �	��
	�� ����	����� ��� �	� 
��	� ���
	� ����� ���� 	���� ������ ��� ���
��	�� ��� �������
	� 
��	�
���	
����
��	��������	���5��.�
�
���������� ���������0."G�����6		����	�� ����
��
�	� �	�C2N� ����	���������������

� ����� E6���
�����
?�
��	������	1	��	F���	�����������	�	��1�
�	.�(���1����
������������������1	�6		���*	�������
�	� ��� ��	�����+�� 4�		�� ���*� ��������
� ���� =1�
������ ��� �	���
� 4�1	���	�� �� ��1	� �	��
��
��������������.�

�

 '	1	��	��

2���� ����	� ���� ���1��	�� �	��
� �����	�� ���� 	���������.� '	��
� 1�
�	�� ��1	� 6		�� ���
�	�� 6�� ��
����	����
����
������	��	���	����/G���������	���	�����������	�
	���������	�����	������	�.�
�
'	��
� 1�
�	�� �*	� ��� �� ������� 1���� 
���� �	
�	�� �� ���������� 
	1	
�� ��� �	

� ���
������ ���� ��

��
�	�1��	�� ����� ���� �	� �����	�� ���� 6���:�	� ��
	� ������������.� ��	���*	� ����
��	�� �	��
� 1�
�	��
�

��� ���� �	� 	����� ���1����������	����	?� �	�����?� �
	�����?� ���� ��
��	�� ������� �	� 
	��	� �	�����
E�����	�	5�	�������������������F.�
�
��������������������1	��
���6		�������	��������	��	��
�1�
�	�.��
�
��	� �	��
� 1�
�	�� ���� �	�����:�	� ��
	� ������������� �	�
	�� �	
�%��	����� ������	�	��� ���� �	�
��
�����
	��������	�6��	�������������	���������������8&G.��

�

 2��6��*��	�����	������

��	����
	� 
��	����	
��������	���

���������6��*��	�����	����������	� �����
� ��1	��	������ 
��	�
������������	����	�	�?��������	�	��	��������>�
�
9�*	�����
��	��#������ � �	���/ �
9�*	�����
��	��0������ � �	��� "�
�����	�������	JJ����	� �������������	��� 8�
����:�	���
	���
�����
	�� �	��� "�
�
��	��6�1	�����������	���*	�����
�������0������6	���������*	���������������	��� #��������.�
���������������
����	����	��	���	��
��	����������������	�	���	����	�6��
�����6	������

���	���	��
���� �	���<����� ��� �	� 
��	� ����� ��

���� �� �	� 	����� E������ ��� �	�
	�	�� ��� �	� �	���	�� �	��
�
1�
�	�F�
�
(�����	������	������	����6��*��	�����	��������������	��	��	�	�����������������	���1	��	��6��
�	� ������
� ���
� ������6�
��� ��� �		�.������ �������� ���� 6	� �����1	�� ��� �	� �����
� ��
��� ����� ��	�
�	���	�.���������
�� ��1�
1	���A
��������B��	���6����	������	�	5����������
��	������	����������
�	��	���� ��
�.� ���	1	�?� ��1	�� �	� 
	1	
� ��� �	����� ����������� ���� *���
	��	� ��� �	� 	5������
6��
������ �	� �����?� �� ���� ���	?� ��1	� ���� ������	��	� ��� �� 
���� ����� �	���	� ��� �����6
	.� ,���
	5���
	?� �� ����������� 	
	�	�� ��� �	� �����
� ����� �	
�	�� �� �	� ���������� ��� 	5������ �	�1��	��
����

��������

��	:���	������������������	������������	��	������	�����	���	���
�����*	�����
��	�.��
�
�������������6	��	����	�6���������	��
	�����1	�����*��	������������������.���	�	���	�����
�������	�6��	�������A����
	�������	����	B����	������
�������	������

�

Page 459



�

�
��������	
�������������

/!�
�������� ! "!#� $%&�'	�����(���	�

�

 ���	��������������
�

��	����	������ �������� 6	
��� ������ �	� �1	��

� �	�����
� 6�
���	� �� /"� �	���� ���� 	���� ������
���
��	�� ������ ���� �	���� �*���� ���� ������� �	� 	5�	�����	� ������� �	� �	1	��	.� � ��	�
	5�	�����	�����	����������������	��������	�����������������
����������	�
��	����
	�������1	����
/"��	����	����������	��	1	��	�������	�
	���������	����<	�	���	��
������	�����	���������.�
�
���	������	���������
����
����?� �	�����:�	���
	���
������	��������	�	�1	���	� 
���	���	������
@$0/*���/"��	�����������������	�	��	��������	��� "��������.�
�
��	�	� ��� �� 
���	� ���� ����	�	��	� 6	�		�� ���� ���� �	� ����:�	� ��
	� 2	����	�� �	� ������ ����
�	��
	�������
���	�
������������5.�@ �.�
�
�
�
�

�

� �

Page 460



����������	�
�����
��	���
��������

����������	��
���	������
�����	����	����	�����

��������	�
����	

��������	 
�� �� ��� ��� �
� �
�

�������	���	�����
�������	�����	

�����

������	�����	

�������	���

������	�����	

 �
������	���

��!�	����������	�"	

�����

��!�	����������	�#	

�����

$%& ���������	�

$%$ ''()&&&														 *+*)&&&														 $)$$*)&&&											 $)$$*)&&&											 *,()&&&														 *,*)&&&														

$%+

$%+%$ ��-�
	.	����
	�� ��������	.	�� ��
	�/��
��	.	0�
1�����	 #&2)+2&														 #,()"2+														 #'+)+2(														 #'+)+2(														 +")*22																 +"),,$																

$%+%+ 3���
����� $2)&&&																 $,)"*+																 $*)+,#																 $*)+,#																 $2)",#																 $2)2'*																

$%+%# 4
����	�����������	��5������	������	��
����	�����	����������	��	������ 65�� 65�� 65�� 65�� 65�� 65��

$%+%" �������� $(+)$'*														 +$&)(#"														 $,')''*														 $,')''*														 +2)#*+																 7																					

$%+%2 8�������� $,&)22,														 +"')",2														 +#+)#*,														 +#+)#*,														 +,)*+#																 7																					

$%+%( 9�������
�����	��5�����	7	������	��	�� �
���	������	������ 65�� 65�� 65�� 65�� 65�� 65��

$%+%' ����
	�����	��5������ 65�� 65�� 65�� 65�� 65�� 65��

���������������	������ ������������������� �� �!�������������� ������������������� ������������������� ��!����������������� ��������������������

+%& "�#����

+%$ $)""")$&,											 +)&(*)#,"											 +)('$)#$(											 *2+)2++														 $)$(&)&'*											 $)"2')2&&											

������"�#������$�� ������������������� !��%&�������������� !�% ��������������� &'������������������ ���%��������������� ���'&��������������

�'����� �%%����  �!���� ����&%����� �%&���� '������

����������������������������������������� ��� :��	��� ���	� ����	0���;;;%

9<=><��>$($2(">$'7&>�� �
��	?���;;;

"��������(����)�����!'���	���$�*�������+���#��(����)����,�-�����(	�).���

�����
�����	����	�����

����	�����	�����������	�����

������	?������

��

$	��	$

++>&+>+&$'

P
age 461



�

�
��������	
�������������

/8�
�������� ! "!#� $%&�'	�����(���	�

�

8.& )	
�1	������	���	�	��	����
������
�

 ��	��	5����	��

7������������������� �	���	�	��	����
���������6��	������� �	����������� ����� �	���������	
�
��

�6	������1	������������������������	�
�������	��	������	
?��	������

�6	������6
	����
����
�	1	
���	����� �	� �	���	

������� �	�	5����������	
�� ��� ���6������<	�����1	��
� �������1��	�
	�����	��������	
�1	��.�
�
��� ����	��?��	���1	���	���	�������
��	���������	?������� ��	����	�� �	������ 
	1	
� ���1��	�� ����
��	
��	�����������	1	
���	������	�	5����������	
���	���	

�������<	�.�

�

 ���	������	�2��<	��

��	�����	���� �	���6����	����

��		�� ��6	����	��

�� ������	�	�?� ��	����	� ��� �	� ����
��	�����	��
����6
	�������������������	�	��������	�	����������������	��
��������������6
	�������	��?�
���
�����	����	���	?�������������	��������	��
�	�.�
�
(� ���� 6	� ��	��
� �� �	�	����� ����
��� ����
��	�?� �� �	���	� �	� 6	�� ��������
� ���� �	��	��� 6��	�.� (��
�������?� �		*���� ����	�� ���� �����
����� ����� ��	���
� ������	��� ���
�� 	����	� ��� �	�
����������������1��	���	��������������	���	���������	.�
�
������	������ �		��� �� 6	� ��1	�� ��� �� ���� �	� 6��
���������� ������� �	� �		��� ��� �� 1���	�� ���
6��
����� ������	��?� ����� ��� J������ ��� �	�1��	�?� ���	��� �� �	� 1������� ����
��	�� 6�� ����	�	�� 6��
�����
��	�����������	����	��������	������	�.�
�
��� �	1	
������ �� �����	�	���1	� 6��	�� ������ 	��6
���	�� 	5�	������� 6	����� �	� �����������
���1��	�?� ������

� 	����	� ��� �	� �	%���	

	�� ����	
�� ��	�	����� ��	�	����� ���������� 
�������
�����
��
����������������������������%�����������
	������.�
�

 �����1�
������4�1	�����	�

��	�	5��������1	�����	����������1�
������	�����

�6	�����	�������������<	�.�
�

 ������	������	�1��	�

��	� ��
��	� ��������	� ���� �

��	�� ���� ���	� �
	5�6�
��� ���� ����
	���� ��� �	� �	�� ����	
�?� ��

�
��������������������	����������	���	���������������	������	�1��	.��(����������
��	��	������
���
������

�����1��	����������������	�1��	�����	��	���	

��������	�����	
������
������	��	.�
�
���	1	�?�������
��6	������6
	����
�������<	���	1	
���	�������	�����
	��������	��	������	
��
�������������������	
��?����*����������		�����	��	�	5����������
��	����	�1���	���������
���	��
��� �	�1��	.� ����� ��������� 	����	�� ��� ��	���
� ����	����
� �	���� ���� �	� 	5������ ����	
�� ���
�����

��	������	�	��
�	�����������.�
�

�
�
�

� �

Page 462



����������	���
���	�����
����	

�������	���������

�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
�

��
	

��



�
�
�

�

�

�
��

�
�
�

�

�

��
	

�

�

�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
�

��
	

��



�
�
�

�

�

�
��

�
�
�

�

�

��
	

�

�

�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
�

��
	

��



�
�
�

�

�

�
��

�
�
�

�

�

��
	

�

�

�
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
�

��
	

��



�
�
�

�

�

�
��

�
�
�

�

�

���� ���� ����

��������	���	���
���

�����	��	�������������

�� �������!�"�#�	�����$��	

�����$��	���	�$�������	$

�� �������%�"���
�����$��	

�����$$��	��&��
�		�	�����
������	

�
�		�	���������
������

����&������	��&��
�		�	�����$��	

�� �������'�"�(�)	���
��$��	

�� �������*�"�����
�$����	��	����	$�������	

+�	����

(��	$����	��&������$

��������	���������������������	� 	!"������	���
���

�����	��	�������������

�� �������,�"���$���
���������������	

�� �������!�"�#�	�����$��	

�����$��	���	�$�������	$

�� �������%�"���
�����$��	

�����$$��	��&��
�		�	�����
������	

�
�		�	���������
������

�������	�
��
�		�	���������
��

�-�	�

����&������	��&��
�		�	�����$��	

�� �������'�"�(�)	���
��$��	

(	��������

�����	��	���&����	�#�	�������

�� �������*�"�����
�$����	��	����	$�������	

+�	����

(��	$����	��&������$

���.�()$����
�	���������$��$$�������������	�
��������	����������	��)�	������&��)�������$��	��
�$���$����$��&��)�/�$��	���)��
$��	������	�$0�

���# ���$ ���% ���& '�(���

���",1

���",2

���",3

!*�,,�!4,5

,,�4'�!4,2

42�42�!4,2

,2�,!�!4,1

��������	
������������

������������������ �!	��"��#���	

$%

���",3

���",1

P
age 463



�

�
��������	
�������������

0&�
�������� ! "!#� $%&�'	�����(���	�

�

-.& ��������
�
���	��������	����	���	����������������������������	���?��	�����	����
��	%��	�����	�	5������
����	
����	�����1��	�����
	����1	������������6���������������������	������	�	�4���	�((�
��	��
����	��	�.������������
������1��	����������

��	1	��	.����	��	1	��	�������
�*	
����6	��������	����
������	����������������������	���	���������	
.��
�
���	1	�?� �	� 6����	��� ���	� ���� �	1	
������ �	� �	����� ����	
� �		��� �� ������	�� ���	� ���� �	�
���	���	� ��������
� ������	�� ���������.� ���	�	���	������6	��������%��������
� ������	�������
�������
������
�	��	��	��	���������	���������������	���������	
.�
�
�� ������

���6��
��6�������	
������
��	���
����

�6����	���	��	����������������������

��
���	����	����
	�����	������������������ �����5����	�.� � (�� �	��������	
����	�6��
��������	����	����<	��?��	��
�	�	���

�6	����������������	�����	��	�������������	��	��������<	�?���	�����������
���	
��������
���������	5	��	����	������	.�
�
(�� �	��	���������	
� ��� �������	������ ����	� ��	?��	����������������1��	����

����������	����
�	� ������	������	
.������������	����������	�E���6	�!�;�8������F?���	
	�������������������
�
���
�� 6	� �6
	� �� ���	�� �� �	���	�� �	�1��	� �������� ����� �	� �	���	�� ��	������
� 4���	� ((� 
��	��
����	
?� ��� 
���������������������*��������� 
���� �	� �	
���������� �������� �� �	��	����	������
����
��	�.���
�
(�� 6��� ����	
�� ��	� �������	�� �� �	� ���	� ��	?� �	�� �	� ����	�� ��	���� 6���4���	� ((�����	
��
���
��������	����
���

������	������	�1��	����	��	������
��	�.����	�	����
��6	���������	�������	�
��������������	�1��	����	��������	���
�	��.��'	1	��	�
	1	
�����
��������	�������	���.�
�
�� +"��,*��������

(� ������� ������������	��
�	��	5�	��	��	��	�����������
��������	�����		���������6
	.����1����
����	����	�����	
�
����������������	����	�������������������
�	������
�������	���	��������1����
���	
���	��������*.��
�
��������
��6	�����	������
���	��6�����	���������	������������������*�?����������
����1�
1	����
��	�����	
�������6	���	���

��	
���������������	������	
����	�.���	�	�������*�����	���	��������
�	� 6	�	�1	�	�� �	�1��	� ���	�� ���
�� 6	� ��������	�� ��� 
�������� ���� �����	�� �	�	� ��� �	

�
���������	�����������	���������
�	�������������

���	�.��(����1	����������
����
�����	��	��1	
��
�����	�����1����
�+��	�����	��������	?�������	������������6	�6	���������������
.�
�
�� -�.
"��%���&�����	"����

����	������	�4���	�((� 
��	������	
� ��������	���	�����	�1���	������	�.� ���	�	����
��6	����	�
�����
���1	��	���	:���	���������1	������	���6�����	�����
�������	
.����	�	����*�����
���������
�	���	�����	��	���	������	
?��������	����������	?���	�������	������	�	������1	����
�����1	�	�.�
�
��	��	%��	��������1���	������	�����
��6	�
���	��6���	��	:���	�	�����6�	�1	�:��	������	���	��
��1	�	�� ������� �	�1��	�.� � ��	�	� ��� ���*� ��� �	� ����	� ���
�� �	����� 	���� ��� ��	�� 6�� ����	��
�	����	���������	�����	?����������
������	�	��	������	1	��	����������������������	����	�
���������	�4���	�((�
��	������	
�.�
�
�� ,������������
����������&��������&����%%��

��	�	� ��� ��� ���������� �� 	�����	� �	� 	5������ 6	�	�1	�	�� �	�1��	� ���	�?� ������� �	�� ����	
��
����
��	�� ���� �����1	�� ���*���� ��� �	

� ��� ���	����� ��� ��	?� 6	�	�1	�	�� �	
�	�� �	�1��	�?� ����� ���
�
��	��?� ���	������������9�*	�����
��	�.� �9��� �	� ���������� 
���
� ���	��
����	����?� ���� ���
��
���	����	
	����������:�	���	%����6	�	�1	�	���	�1��	����	�?��������	���	���	����5�	�������	�
����
�	�.�

Page 464



�

�
��������	
�������������

0 �
�������� ! "!#� $%&�'	�����(���	�

�

��	� ����	����
� ��	� ��� �	� 	5������ ����	
�� ��

� 6	� ��������	�� 6�� �	� 
	��
��	�� ��� �	1	
������ ��
����	����
� 	�	�����	� ��� ��	��	�� ��� ������������ 6��� ���� ���� ����	�� ��	���� �	� �	�		��.�
9��
�� �	� 
	��
� ���������� ��� ��� ���	��� �� 6	� ����������6
	� ����	�?� �����
�� 6	� �	�	������ ��
�	1	
����	�	�������	��	��
�6	���	�����������������	���	

��������	�����	
�.�
�
(���������
	?��	�����	
������6	��������

���	���	

	�������1��	����������	�������������������	�
��	�	��	������	����
���	����������� �	���� ��� ���� �	���.���	����� ����	��	��1	� ��
����� ��� ��
����������������1	��	�	5��������	��������
	�����
��	����������	����	�6���	��	����������.�����
��	�	� ����1����
� ����?� ��

� �	:���	� 	5	������ ���� J������ ��� �	�1��	�?� ������ ���
�� ����	��	�
�	���	

���������6������	�	�����
��	����	�����	��	�������	.�
�
(���������?��	�6	�	�����������%6	�	�������������������	��	���������	
����	����	���	�����	�
����� �	�� ����	
� 	5	��� ���� 6	����� �	� ��������
� ���
�������.� � ��	� ����
� ����	����
� ��	� ��� �	�
	5����������	
�� ������ 
�*	
�� ���	���	���������
� �����	��������	�� ��������� �	���������
� �����
�
�������������������	��	���������	
?����	1	������	���		���	�����6
	�����	�����	����
��	%��	�
����	�����	
�����
����1	���	�����������������������������������	������	�����	
�?�������
�
	�
����
��.���
�
����������
������������	����	�����	���	���
���	�������	�	5����������	
�.����	��	1	
���	������	�
��	�	��	������	����
���	���� �	�	5����������	
�� ����
��6	������	��	�� ������ ��

� �	���6�
��?�������
��

�����	���	���	��	�6	�	���������	1	��	���	���
���������	�	1	
���	�.�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
� �

Page 465



�

�
��������	
�������������

0/�
�������� ! "!#� $%&�'	�����(���	�

�

���	���5��
�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

� �

Page 466



�

�
��������	
�������������

00�
�������� ! "!#� $%&�'	�����(���	�

�

���	���5���
�

��6
	���������
		��������������,		�6��*����	��*	���������������������������
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�

Page 467



���� ���� ��	
����
���
������� �����
�������
��
�����������
��������������
��


��������
��
����

���������� ����	
������ ������
������	

����������
��


�������������
���
���������


������

���������
����
����
������


��������
�
���

� �������! "���	
#���������

$���%��%
&�����'


����������
&�(��������
)���


*���

&��������
��(���
������


�������������

+�(����
�
��,��
��(��������


��
������
������
��(����
���


���-./���
�������	

�0�������! �����
1���

2������%
3�����

��(���������
���
�%�����	


1�(����
4
����������
����%�


�������

1�5�������
��
�������


��(��������
��������
��


����/
�������
��%�4��(��
62+


����%���.���������

+���'


�������
�%���������
��
2�4

+����������
������������


�����������

)��

���������� *��,��������


1�(����
������
��(���


)�
�������
������5��


�(������
���
������
�����


������
���


��������
��
���
����


��'������� 7������
�������
 1�(����
������
��(��� +�
�5�(�

 +�
�5�(�

���������� "���
�	��
���������


���������
�%����


)�
�������
������
���
�����


(�����
��
�����
'
������
���


������%
����������
��


����������
���


������(��	
5��	���
�����
��


������
���
�����
���


� �������! 7��
8��%�
*�����
&������

*�����
&������


)�
�������
������
��
���


�����
/���
����������

������(�
��
�
/���
�������	


� �������! ��
��
������
��(����
 *�����
&������
 +�
�5�(�
 +�
�5�(�


�9�������! 1����

1����
���
�� *�����
&������ +�
�5�(�
 +�
�5�(�

��������
��
���������
��
������
���������
�������

P
age 468



�

�
��������	
�������������

0#�
�������� ! "!#� $%&�'	�����(���	�

�

���	���5���
�

/& !�,�������
�)��������	�	�1	�	���	�1��	��
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�

Page 469



�������������	�
����
���	��������
�����������

�

������������

�����������
��������

�����������
�������

��������������������

������������������

�
����

���	���
�� �!"������

������
�����������

�
����

#��������������
���

$�����

������
�����������

�

�
����%��
���$�

����������
���

��������������������

&
�������
���������

�
�
�����'�

(������
����

�������
����)�

�

%��*���

+*��*��

������
�
����������,�����,�- ."������

!��������

�
�����������
�����

&����(/)�

0�����(1)�

����������2
��(3)�

+����������
�����

&����(/)�

0�����(1)�

������2
��(3)�

#������� �� �� �� �� ����������	�
���

��������

�����
�������

	���
��������������

���������������

������
��
�������


����	���
�����
�����

��������������	�

�
�
�
���������
��
�

�����
�����������


����

�� ��

���

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

���

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

�������������
���� ���� �� !"� #$%��"&��"� �� ��

��������
����'��������� ���� ���!�� #$��$��$�� �� ��

(������������
���
��'��������� ���� ���!�� #$��$��$�� �� ��

)����������� $�"� ���%%� #"�&& �%&� �� ��

����������*������+��������
���
�� $�$� ��$&%� #��%$$��!� #��!��!$���� ��"��)�������

�� �� �� �� �� ��

#������0��
���������
�� �� �� �� �� ��

)��������������������� �� � ��$�"� #���"$�!%� #$%��!����� �%��,���
���������
��

�� �� �� �� �� ��

�������
�� �� �� �� �� ��

�����
��������� $$� $�&%� #�%�$$���%� �� ��

��������
����'������
���� ��$� �� �%� #$ �&����&� �� ��

�����
������������ !�&� $��"�� #�!�%��� $� �� ��

�����
���������� ���� ����"� #% �� �� �� ��

(������������
���
�-�����
����� ���� ��� �� #$� �&�� � �� ��

����.�*�� $�$� ��$&%� #��%$$��!� #$���$�� ����� �$&"$������
�����

�� �� �� �� �� ��

�������
��0��
���������
�� �� �� �� �� ��

�����
���������������������� ���� ������ #$���&"�%�� �� ��

(���������
� ���� ��� �� #$� �&�� � �� ��

/����
��0� ���� ���!�� #$��$��$�� �� ��

1��
����
�����	������������
���� $�$� ��$&%� #��%$$��!� #$����"����� �2����������	���
������������������	������������
���������������

20����������3
���
��������
������
��
��������	������������������

������������	��������

�� �� �� �� �� ��

+������
��� �� �� �� �� ��

�����������
������� �%� � "�&""� #$"&��"$���� �� ��

�� �� �� �� �� ��

�� �� �� �� �� ��

!�����������������4������������(�#�)� ���� ����"� #% �� �� #!�������� �20�����������	�����
��4)��

���������� $�$� ��$&%� #��%$$��!� �� ��

����������������� ���� ��! "� #$��&&!� %� �� ��

����
������������� ��$� ���$%� #�� �� � �� ��

#������
���
����� ��!� ���&� #��$%"�%�� �� ��

����������-
�������0����������� %�&� $�"��� #�%�&�!� !� �� ��

+����� %�"� $�!�%� #� �"$��"!� �� ��

�
���5���������� �� � ��$�"� #���"$�!%� �� ��

��������� �� � ��$�"� #���"$�!%� �� ��

&6�� �����5�� ���� ����"� #% �� �� �� ��

�����������
7���� �� ���"� #%� � ��"� �� ��

�� 388� 39� $:/;,/<9�88� #$�""��������� ��

�
���=��

$� 4�������������
���������������	���
������������������$�+$!����
���������
�0��
��������
������������
���


�������
�����5������������
����5��������1�������������1�������3
�������������
���67
���3�	�0�������
����

�������
���������������
�		�
���������������0�
�������
��������������������0���
����
������
���������
��������


����
�����

��

�

�

P
age 470



�

�
��������	
�������������

0"�
�������� ! "!#� $%&�'	�����(���	�

�

���	���5���
�

���	���������=����	�
�
�

�
�

Page 471



�����������	
�
�	
��
�

���

����
���������
�����
�������	���


����
��������������������

�		�������� �
��
� �	
������������� 

Page 472



����
���������
������������	���


����
��������������������
�����������	
��	
��
�

����� �

!����
������"��������#��	�������
���

����	
�������

���� ������� ����

�������
��$ %�		���������� %&� ��'��'��� 

(���������������"��$ )����*��� )�* ��'��'��� 

+��
��
�����������"��$ ,#�����%��"-��� ,.% ��'��'��� 

(�/��'�*��������"��$ ,#�����%��"-��� ,.% ��'��'��� 

+//��#��$ ���"�%��	�� �0% ��'��'��� 

���������	�
��

��	
����
����1����������/���2 ���� ����
 ��������/��	 (��"�

)�����3��
����4�*��"��#����� *��5��
�3������ � � �

��6�����
������1������������"2

��6���	"�'��	��	
��"

%��6�%������/�

����	�����
���

�		�������� ��
���		���

� ��'��'��� 

� �7'��'��� 

���������
���

.$8����8���98�9�:9;�4�����4�(-�����/��	8!���
�
��.��#����	8� 4��(��������8� 4<���	
��	
��
�	8=���%&��4�����
�����

����
�����������>?�	

�������

��'��'��� 

Page 473



����
���������
������������	���


����
��������������������
�����������	
��	
��
�

����� �

���
��
	

� ��
�����
���@�����������
�	�������#�	������
�	�A�����
���

� �/
����.����

7 ./�������
������
�	@��		�/
���	������?���	���	

; �/
�����	
��
�1	2

��*,��0%($�(�����/�����
����
��	�������
��	�#�	
������*��"��#���������������
������/�����������/��
�������-�����

-�
���
�
������?/��		�-��

���/���		���>

��.�B+�3��$�(��	�������
�����
���������
�������
������
��������	�����
����?���	�#���	�����
�������������
�����*��"�

�#����������/
������	/��	�����
�������������	�C�����	����	������������
����	����	����������
����/��	��1	2>

7������

��'��'��� 

Page 474



����
���������
������������	���


����
��������������������
�����������	
��	
��
�

����� �

�>��4���
�����
���

�>�>�

�>�>�

�>�>7

�>�>;

�>�>:

�>�>9

�>�> 

�>�><

�>�>D

�>��4�0�������������
���

�>�>� ����������������

0��+ ��+

���	��� ���!�""#

��������	
��� 
�


�

��	���
���#�� 4 4

0����������� ;D� ; <

���	
������ 4 4

��
������	��� ���!�""# $%& $'(

���	��� )	
��!�""#

��������	
��� 
�


�

��	���
���#�� 4 4

0����������� ;D� ; <

���	
������ �; �; 

��
������	��� )	
��!�""# *+% *&,

-��
	.����
������!!���
	��

��������	
��� 
�


�

��	���
���#�� 4 4

0����������� ;D� ; �

���	
������ ��< ��<

���������������	

����������������

������
��
����������������������	

�����������	����

������
��
������������������������������������
�����	����������
��	���������
�����

�����������������������
��
������������������������	�
�������

������� �����
������!�������	������
������
���
���������������
��
�����������������

�>���
�����
���@���������������
���@���#�	������
�	�A�����
���

�����	
���������������
��
�������������������������
�!�����������������������������!����

������
��
����������������������������
���
������"��#��!�
�
������������������������$�
�	�����	����

�����
�%���������
��	
����������
�%���������
���������
��������!�
��	�������
�����������&

��������'�����((�����)&�*��	
�����������������������+��������	����� ����,�-��������
�	������������

��������' ������((�����)&�*��	
�����������������������+��������	����� ����,�-��������
�	�������������.�
�����
������
��

����
��������
�������������((���������
�����.�
�	�����

$�	���	��/����0������������&�*��	
�����������������������1����
������� ������((���������
����.�
����
�������

�
�!�������������������
�����������'������������!�
�������������������������������,����2���������3���)

,�#������������'1�	����)&�*��	
��������������������������������	����4���
�����	���������������������!�
����	���� ����

��
!�
��

,�#������������'.�	����)&�����������	����
��	
�������������5������������4���
�����	���4��������������!�
����	����������

�������	����

�������������������
	�������	
��������
����������������6�+� ��#�� ����������������������������	������7

�������������
����������������������!�������
���������
��
����������������������������
��� �
#��
�����

;������

��'��'��� 

Page 475



����
���������
������������	���


����
��������������������
�����������	
��	
��
�

����� �

�>���
�����
���@���������������
���@���#�	������
�	�A�����
���

��
���-��
	.����
������!!���
	�� *// ,'%

0������	�	
	��� $���	
�#

��������	
��� 
�


�

��	���
���#�� 4 4

0����������� ;< ;<7

���	
������ :< :<

��
���0������	�	
	��� $���	
�# ,$, ,$�

0������	�	
	��� +���	
�#

��������	
��� 
�


�

��	���
���#�� 4 4

0����������� ;D� ; D

���	
������ :< :<

��
���0������	�	
	��� +���	
�# ,$( ,+'


� ��

.�
�������1�2 �'+ �'+

.�
����#������1�E��'��2

������������������
����������������������	����������������������

�>�>� �����!�
	���1����

�>�>�>�

���-����������'�(�
�� ��#

�/
F���4��?�	
�����-� 4

�/
F���4�.��#�����������F���4��
��#��
��� 4

�/
F���4�.��#�����������F.��#����������� 4

�/
F���4�.��#�����+/��
��
	 4

�/
F�7�4�G�"��������
��	 4

�/
F�7>��4�G�"��������
��	 4

(��������-����������
������	�������	����������
���/�����
�������
��	������������	
��	
��
�

����
	

�?�	
�������-���

������	�1����HH2

������	�1-�
���HH2

���
�C���.
�����������
���

G�"��������
��	�1;����
	2

G�"��������
��	�17����
	2

:������

��'��'��� 

Page 476



����
���������
������������	���


����
��������������������
�����������	
��	
��
�

����� �

�>��/
����.����

�2
	���3 ������	�1����HH2 ������	�1-�
���HH2 ���
�C���.
����

+������
���

G�"��������
��	�1;�

���
	2

G�"��������
��	�17�

���
	2

4���2����!��
 4�5�� !&# ;D� 97D 9�� :;: :;<

G��"	���	
��	
��
� :<�@���I����������������� 9��@���I�������������������� <7<@���I���������������� 9 �@���I�������������� 9 ;@���I��������������

*��5��
'��	�������	��	
��
� ��9@���I����������������� ��;@���I�������������������� �9<@���I���������������� �7:@���I�������������� �7:@���I��������������

�
������#���/��
���	
	��	
��
� 4I������������������������ 4I��������������������������� 4I����������������������� 4I��������������������� 4I���������������������

��	"�����-������	
��
�  �@���I�������������������  ;@���I��������������������� ���@���I���������������� <�@���I���������������� <�@���I����������������

�����
�����	
��
� <@���I��������������������� D@���I����������������������� ��@���I����������������� D@���I����������������� D@���I�����������������

J+(��		�		��
 4I������������������������ 4I��������������������������� 4I����������������������� 4I��������������������� 4I���������������������

6��
��	!	
���
���7 ''*8///7���������������� (&(8///7������������������� �8��(8///7����������� (%*8///7������������� (%(8///7�������������

79!:�4�5� �8,'';&$9!: �8&%,;''9!: �8(*+;++9!: �8*$$;/$9!: �8*+(;*%9!:

79!:���� �8*&,;�+9!: �8+&,;(*9!: �8%+�;,(9!: �8*,*;(/9!: �8*'�;+&9!:

(���
�
���/��5��
���	
����
��������
������
��	������������	
��	
��
������
���	����
����/
���1	2��	��	������-	$

(������#����	
	�	��������������������5���
����-�
��
����
����	��
���	����
��	������������	
��	
��
���������/��
�������
���	/�������
������
�	@��		�/
���	������?���	���	�

������#�	������
�	>

9������

��'��'��� 

P
age 477



����
���������
������������	���


����
��������������������
�����������	
��	
��
�

����� �

7>�./�������
������
�	@��		�/
���	������?���	���	

7>��./�������
������
�	�4�+//���	�
�������/
���	

7>�>�

7>�>�

7>�>7

7>�>;

7>�>:

7>�>9

7>�>� �
��	��		����������	�������
����������
�����

7>�>� G��"	�
����������
�"������	������/��	�K

7>�>7 +		����
������	���������
������C������
��?��/
��������
��������
���
���	K

7>�>; +		������	@�-�
��@�����
����
��������
���������������#�������K

7>�>: +		��������������	�	
���
�������	����K

7>�>9 +		��������������/���'��/������
��	���C�����>

7>�> +		�����HH�����������	�����������	
���
��������
�������
����������������-�
���
���������
������������
���	

7>�><

7>7>�

7>7>�

7>7>7 ���#�����������?�	
����������
���	K

7>7>; +�����	
	��		����
���-�
�����������������/���		���	�����������	K

7>7>: .
�
�
�������	K

7>7>9 �
������#���/��
���	
	K

7>7> ��(�/��#�	���	K

7>7><

7>7>D

7>7>�� ��	��������������	��
����� <'��9��������
	��/�	������/������	K

7>7>�� +������
����/�����������	
����
	>

B��������	K

���
����
���	�������#���������������		������	����
��������C�����K

B����/�����	����	
	K

J+(K

3���������	/�������
������#����		�����	������	������
���	���������

B��	����A��
��������	��	�/��#�������
��?�����	���
������-���@�/��
����/���	�����/���
��	�����
�����"�@�
���/�����

	�	
�	@����
�����C��/��
�����
�����"�

������	�������
������	���������������
��
�����	����
�����/��
��
	

��?���-��
������	�
����	����
�����/��
��
	�������������

���L�����������
�����	�����������	��	�
���	��#������	
	

G����#�������������-���������
���	��#����������#�������	��	
�	���
���#���		����
������	����	���������
��	��	
�	�

���
����
���

7>7��?���	���	

7>��0��������		�/
���	

G����#���		����
��
����������������������	/�������
����	����
����������	�������
�����	�����������������
�����	
	>�(��	�

���	���
����������
�	�	�����	�/���
��	@���
������-���@�(JM	@���/�
���	�	
�	�����
�����"�@�����'����
�����C��/��
@�


���/���������	�
	@���
��������������
�����"�

 ������

��'��'��� 

Page 478



����
���������
������������	���


����
��������������������
�����������	
��	
��
�

����� �

;>��/
�����	
��
�@�������	�1����HH2 4�5�� !&# $%&

�>� 0�����6��
���
	!�
�

�>�

�>�>� ��-�������G��"	 4���������������������������������

�>�>� �������	���
�'������������-��"	 4���������������������������������

�>�

�>�>� ��-�������G��"	 4���������������������������������

�>�>� �������	���
�'������������-��"	 :<�@�����������������������������

�>�>7 ���	�C���
�����/��#���
	

�>7 ����

�>; ����

0�������
���
	!�
�� �# ,(&8///���������������������

�>� <��=�
9���	���5���

�>�

�>�>� �:>�N < @���������������������������

�>�>� :>�N �D@���������������������������

<��=�
9���	���5���� -# ��*8///���������������������

7>� �
������>���2!��
�6��
�

7>�

7>�>� 4������������������������������

�
������>���2!��
���
�� 6# 3�����������������������������

;>� -����6��
���
	!�
�

-������
���
	!�
�� �#�?���@�-�@�6 *%(8///���������������������

:>� A	�������)������
	!�
�

:>� 7>�N ��@���������������������������

:>� �>�N �;@���������������������������

:>7 7>�N ��@���������������������������

:>; �>�N �;@���������������������������

A	�������)������
	!�
�� �# '/8///�����������������������

9>� �����
	��

9>� �>7:N 7@�����������������������������

9>� �> �N :@�����������������������������

�����
	�����
	!�
�� 5# (8///�������������������������

 >� 6��
��	!	
�

 >�   9@��������������������������

 >�

��
���6��
��	!	
���
��� 4�@�B# ''*8///����������������8,''9!:

0���������	����
������	

�@�<7'O

�@;�D'O

�;�'O

�79'O

�9'O

J+(�+		�		��
�1%2�4��?������

+���������	

�
������#���/��
'/��5��
���	
	��	
��
�

�?������

��	������#���/��
���	"	��	
��
�

��	
����
�102�1��E���E���2

���	
���
������	"	��	
��
�

�/�����	����������	"��	
��
��

�/�����	��
������	"	��	
��
�

(�����������
����
��
��������
���

���	
���
���������
����
�����/���
�������	
���
���

������
�
����-��"	��	
��
�

���������G��"	

3�������
���
��	�*����������	

3�������
���
��	��#������	�����*����


*��5��
'��	����
������	

<������

��'��'��� 

Page 479



����
���������
������������	���


����
��������������������
�����������	
��	
��
�

����� �

;>��/
�����	
��
�@�������	�1-�
���HH2 4�5�� !&# *+%

�>� 0�����6��
���
	!�
�

�>�

�>�>� ��-�������G��"	 4���������������������������������

�>�>� �������	���
�'������������-��"	 4���������������������������������

�>�

�>�>� ��-�������G��"	 4���������������������������������

�>�>� �������	���
�'������������-��"	 9��@�����������������������������

�>�>7 ���	�C���
�����/��#���
	

�>7 ����

�>; ����

0�������
���
	!�
�� �# *&�8///���������������������

�>� <��=�
9���	���5���

�>�

�>�>� �:>�N D7@���������������������������

�>�>� :>�N 7�@���������������������������

<��=�
9���	���5���� -# �&$8///���������������������

7>� �
������>���2!��
�6��
�

7>�

7>�>� 4������������������������������

�
������>���2!��
���
�� 6# 3�����������������������������

;>� -����6��
���
	!�
�

-������
���
	!�
�� �#�?���@�-�@�6 '$,8///���������������������

:>� A	�������)������
	!�
�

:>� 7>�N ��@���������������������������

:>� �>�N �:@���������������������������

:>7 7>�N ��@���������������������������

:>; �>�N �:@���������������������������

A	�������)������
	!�
�� �# '$8///�����������������������

9>� �����
	��

9>� �>7:N 7@�����������������������������

9>� �> �N 9@�����������������������������

�����
	�����
	!�
�� 5# %8///�������������������������

 >� 6��
��	!	
�

 >� <�<@��������������������������

 >�

��
���6��
��	!	
���
��� 4�@�B# (&(8///���������������

3�������
���
��	��#������	�����*����


0���������	����
������	

D �'O

�/�����	����������	"��	
��
��

������
�
����-��"	��	
��
�

���������G��"	

3�������
���
��	�*����������	

�@�99'O

��	������#���/��
���	"	��	
��
�

���	
���
������	"	��	
��
�

*��5��
'��	����
������	

+���������	

�D;'O

�?������

�/�����	��
������	"	��	
��
�

�
������#���/��
'/��5��
���	
	��	
��
�

J+(�+		�		��
�1%2�4��?������

�8&%*9!:

��9'O

(�����������
����
��
��������
���

���	
���
���������
����
�����/���
�������	
���
���

�;'O

��	
����
�102�1��E���E���2

D������

��'��'��� 

Page 480



����
���������
������������	���


����
��������������������
�����������	
��	
��
�

����� �

;>��/
�����	
��
�@����
�C���+������
��� 4�5�� !&# *//

�>� 0�����6��
���
	!�
�

�>�

�>�>� ��-�������G��"	 4����������������������������������

�>�>� �������	���
�'������������-��"	 4����������������������������������

�>�

�>�>� ��-�������G��"	 4����������������������������������

�>�>� �������	���
�'������������-��"	 <7<@�������������������������������

�>�>7 ���	�C���
�����/��#���
	

�>7 ����

�>; ����

0�������
���
	!�
�� �# (+(8///�����������������������

�>� <��=�
9���	���5���

�>�

�>�>� �:>�N ��9@����������������������������

�>�>� :>�N ;�@�����������������������������

<��=�
9���	���5���� -# �*(8///�����������������������

7>� �
������>���2!��
�6��
�

7>�

7>�>� 4�������������������������������

�
������>���2!��
���
�� 6# 3�������������������������������

;>� -����6��
���
	!�
�

-������
���
	!�
�� �#�?���@�-�@�6 �8//*8///��������������������

:>� A	�������)������
	!�
�

:>� 7>�N 7�@�����������������������������

:>� �>�N ��@�����������������������������

:>7 7>�N 7�@�����������������������������

:>; �>�N ��@�����������������������������

A	�������)������
	!�
�� �# �//8///�����������������������

9>� �����
	��

9>� �>7:N ;@�������������������������������

9>� �> �N <@�������������������������������

�����
	�����
	!�
�� 5# �&8///�������������������������

 >� 6��
��	!	
�

 >� �@��<@�������������������������

 >�

��
���6��
��	!	
���
��� 4�@�B# �8��(8///�������������

�9 'O

(�����������
����
��
��������
���

��'O

��	
����
�102�1��E���E���2

�8(*+9!:

J+(�+		�		��
�1%2�4��?������

���	
���
���������
����
�����/���
�������	
���
���

������
�
����-��"	��	
��
�

���������G��"	

3�������
���
��	�*����������	

�@7D 'O

*��5��
'��	����
������	

3�������
���
��	��#������	�����*����


�@9  'O

��	������#���/��
���	"	��	
��
�

�<�'O

�
������#���/��
'/��5��
���	
	��	
��
�

�/�����	��
������	"	��	
��
�

0���������	����
������	

+���������	

�?������

�/�����	����������	"��	
��
��

���	
���
������	"	��	
��
�

��������

��'��'��� 

Page 481



����
���������
������������	���


����
��������������������
�����������	
��	
��
�

����� �

;>��/
�����	
��
�@�G�"��������
��	�1;����
	2 4�5�� !&# ,$,

�>� 0�����6��
���
	!�
�

�>�

�>�>� ��-�������G��"	 4���������������������������������

�>�>� �������	���
�'������������-��"	 4���������������������������������

�>�

�>�>� ��-�������G��"	 4���������������������������������

�>�>� �������	���
�'������������-��"	 9 �@�����������������������������

�>�>7 ���	�C���
�����/��#���
	

�>7 ����

�>; ����

0�������
���
	!�
�� �# *'&8///���������������������

�>� <��=�
9���	���5���

�>�

�>�>� �:>�N ���@��������������������������

�>�>� :>�N 7;@���������������������������

<��=�
9���	���5���� -# �+,8///���������������������

7>� �
������>���2!��
�6��
�

7>�

7>�>� 4������������������������������

�
������>���2!��
���
�� 6# 3�����������������������������

;>� -����6��
���
	!�
�

-������
���
	!�
�� �#�?���@�-�@�6 (/'8///���������������������

:>� A	�������)������
	!�
�

:>� 7>�N �;@���������������������������

:>� �>�N �9@���������������������������

:>7 7>�N �;@���������������������������

:>; �>�N �9@���������������������������

A	�������)������
	!�
�� �# (/8///�����������������������

9>� �����
	��

9>� �>7:N 7@�����������������������������

9>� �> �N 9@�����������������������������

�����
	�����
	!�
�� 5# %8///�������������������������

 >� 6��
��	!	
�

 >� <D9@��������������������������

 >�

��
���6��
��	!	
���
��� 4�@�B# (%*8///���������������

�@�77'O

�/�����	����������	"��	
��
��

������
�
����-��"	��	
��
�

���������G��"	

3�������
���
��	�*����������	

3�������
���
��	��#������	�����*����


�@;<�'O

��	������#���/��
���	"	��	
��
�

���	
���
������	"	��	
��
�

*��5��
'��	����
������	

�8*$$9!:

J+(�+		�		��
�1%2�4��?������

�/�����	��
������	"	��	
��
�

0���������	����
������	

+���������	

�;<'O

�
������#���/��
'/��5��
���	
	��	
��
�

�?������

�; 'O

(�����������
����
��
��������
���

���	
���
���������
����
�����/���
�������	
���
���

� 'O

��	
����
�102�1��E���E���2

��������

��'��'��� 

Page 482



����
���������
������������	���


����
��������������������
�����������	
��	
��
�

����� �

;>��/
�����	
��
�@�G�"��������
��	�17����
	2 4�5�� !&# ,$(

�>� 0�����6��
���
	!�
�

�>�

�>�>� ��-�������G��"	 4���������������������������������

�>�>� �������	���
�'������������-��"	 4���������������������������������

�>�

�>�>� ��-�������G��"	 4���������������������������������

�>�>� �������	���
�'������������-��"	 9 ;@�����������������������������

�>�>7 ���	�C���
�����/��#���
	

�>7 ����

�>; ����

0�������
���
	!�
�� �# *'$8///���������������������

�>� <��=�
9���	���5���

�>�

�>�>� �:>�N ���@��������������������������

�>�>� :>�N 7;@���������������������������

<��=�
9���	���5���� -# �+,8///���������������������

7>� �
������>���2!��
�6��
�

7>�

7>�>� 4������������������������������

�
������>���2!��
���
�� 6# 3�����������������������������

;>� -����6��
���
	!�
�

-������
���
	!�
�� �#�?���@�-�@�6 (/%8///���������������������

:>� A	�������)������
	!�
�

:>� 7>�N �;@���������������������������

:>� �>�N �9@���������������������������

:>7 7>�N �;@���������������������������

:>; �>�N �9@���������������������������

A	�������)������
	!�
�� �# (/8///�����������������������

9>� �����
	��

9>� �>7:N 7@�����������������������������

9>� �> �N 9@�����������������������������

�����
	�����
	!�
�� 5# %8///�������������������������

 >� 6��
��	!	
�

 >� <D<@��������������������������

 >�

��
���6��
��	!	
���
��� 4�@�B# (%(8///���������������

�@�7�'O

*��5��
'��	����
������	

�;9'O

�
������#���/��
'/��5��
���	
	��	
��
�

�?������

�8*+%9!:

�;9'O

(�����������
����
��
��������
���

���	
���
���������
����
�����/���
�������	
���
���

�9'O

��	
����
�102�1��E���E���2

J+(�+		�		��
�1%2�4��?������

�@; 9'O

��	������#���/��
���	"	��	
��
�

���	
���
������	"	��	
��
�

�/�����	����������	"��	
��
��

������
�
����-��"	��	
��
�

���������G��"	

3�������
���
��	�*����������	

3�������
���
��	��#������	�����*����


�/�����	��
������	"	��	
��
�

0���������	����
������	

+���������	

��������

��'��'��� 

Page 483



�

�
��������	
�������������

0"�
�������� ! "!#� $%&�'	�����(���	�

�

���	���5�)�


9��
	����	��������	
�
�

�
�

Page 484



��������	��
���
����

���


��������� 
�����������
��	������������������


������������������
������

������������ ����� �!"
#��� !$ �������%��&!'

Page 485




����������
�������������	����������


������������������
������
��������	��
��������

����� �

(�����%�����)�������� ��������������

����	
�������

���� ������� ����

����������* +����,��� +�, &!-&�-�&!'

.���������%�
���)��* /�����%�0��	��� /+0 &!-&�-�&!'

0������������%�
���)��* 1������2�3���% 12 &!-&�-�&!'

.%���-�,����
���)��* 1������2�3���% 12 &!-&�-�&!'

0���� ��* ���)�1����� �31 &!-&�-�&!'

���������	�
��

#����������������������������%" ���� ������ ����	������� .��)�

+�������������4�,��5���������� ,��5���������� 2 ! �

2�6�2������������������������)"

#�6����)�-���������)

1
�6�1�������%

����	�����
���

������������ #����������

� &!-&�-�&!'

! !7-&!-�&!'

�������������

/*8���%8�&!98!9!$9:�4�
�
�4�.;��
������8(������%�/�� �%���8!'4&�.��������8!'4<�
����2��������8=&&!+�,�4�!9!$9:�4���
�������

�������9�00�>?��?

���	�!<

��-&�-�&!'

Page 486




����������
�������������	����������


������������������
������
��������	��
��������

����� �


�������

! ������������@�����������	��������������� ������������A����������%

� /����	��������@������������������?��������������������������

7 ������/�����%

: 0����������/��������������������"

$ ��	��
%����
����/��������������������"

9 /�����%��	�������� �������%����!"


�,B��31.*�.������%�������	������������������ ���������,��)�2 ������������%���������������������������������;�����

;��������������?������;�����������������>

#�/
�0�2�*�.�����������������������	������������������������������	��������?����� �������	����������������������

,��)�2 �����������������������������%�	�����%������C���������������	����������������������%���%���������������">

7��	�!<

��-&�-�&!'

Page 487




����������
�������������	����������


������������������
������
��������	��
��������

����� �

!>!�4�������������

!>!>!

!>!>�

!>!>7

!>!>:

!>!>$

!>!>9

!>!>'

!>!>< .�����������������������������������	�������������������&�4��$�;��)��;�������������������������	�+�����&!<>

!>��4�3���������	��������

!>�>! ����������������

3��0 ��0

���	��� ���!�""��	��#

��������	
��� �
�

�
�

����������� �� 4 4

3����������� :D� :'<

����������� 4 4

��
������	��� ���!�""# $%& $'(

���	��� )	
��!�""��	��#

��������	
��� �
�

�
�

����������� �� 4 4

3����������� :D� :'<

����������� !:' !:'

��
������	��� )	
��!�""# *+% *&,

-��
	.����
������!!���
	��

��������	
��� �
�

�
�

����������� �� 4 4

3����������� :D� :'!

����������� !&< !&<

��
���-��
	.�����!!���
	�� *// ,'%

!>�������������@�����������	��������@��� ������������A����������%

���������	�
��	��������	�������		����	���	������������	���������	����������	�	���������������������

��	�������	������������	�
��	��������	�������������	���������	������������������	�

��	����	�	��������	���������	� �

��	����!	��������	��������	�����!	���������	�����������	�����"�����	�	��������#

$����	��%����	&&����	'#�(	��������	���������	������)������	������*�����+���������������������	�

$����	��%*����	&&����	'#�(	��������	���������	������)������	������*�����+���������������������	��"�����	������������

�������	���������	�������	&&����	����������"��������

����,�	�������������#�(	��������	���������	������-������	���*����	&&����	���������"��������	���

���������������������	����������	�%�	�	���	�*���	������������������'�

���	��������	��.��	����.������	�#�(	��������	���������	������ ������	�����/�0��	������������0�����������	�	���	�����

*����	��	���

���	��������	��.��	����.������	#�$�����������	���	��������	�����	1����������	�/�0��	�������/�0�����������	�	���	�����

����0������	�����

���������	�
��	��������	���������	����������	�0�

���������	�
��	��������	�������	��	������������	���	�����	��	,�	������������

��	����	���	������������	�
��	��������	�����2������� 304�

��	������*������	������	��		����	�������	���	�������������������	�
��	��������	�

:��	�!<

��-&�-�&!'

Page 488




����������
�������������	����������


������������������
������
��������	��
��������

����� �

!>�������������@�����������	��������@��� ������������A����������%

0������	�	
	��� $���	
�#

��������	
��� �
�

�
�

����������� �� 4 4

3����������� :<' :<7

����������� $< $<

��
���0������	�	
	��� $���	
�# ,$, ,$�

0������	�	
	��� +���	
�#

��������	
��� �
�

�
�

����������� �� 4 4

3����������� :D& :'D

����������� $< $<

��
���0������	�	
	��� +���	
�# ,$( ,+'

�
� ��

/�����������" �-0 �-0

/����
� ��������E���-��"

������������������
����������������������	����������������������

!>�>� �����!�
	���1����

!>�>�>!

#��;�����������-�.���� �� 

���F&!�4�2?��������;� 4

���F&!�4�/�� ������		���F���4����� ������ 4

���F&!�4�/�� ������		���F/�� ������		��� 4

���F&��4�/�� �����0��������� 4

���F&7�4���)��	��������� 4

���F&7>!�4���)��	��������� 4

������#�������� �� 

��������%�.���#�;��������������� ����� �!>!�>!9

�����C���/�%����������������

��)��	�����������:������"

��)��	�����������7������"

.���	����;������	����������������������������������������������	��������������	��
��������


�������

2?����������;���

�		�����������GG"

�		������;������GG"

$��	�!<

��-&�-�&!'

Page 489




����������
�������������	����������


������������������
������
��������	��
��������

����� �

�>�/����	�������������@������������������?��������

7>!�3������������

7>!>! 3�������%

7>!>!>!

7>!>!>�

7>!>!>7

7>!>!>:

7>!>!>$

7>!>!>9

7>!>!>'

7>!>!><

7>!>!>D

7>!>!>!&

7>!>� �		�����������������

7>!>�>!

7>!>�>�

7>!>�>7

7>!>�>:

7>!>�>$

7>!>7 �����C�����%����������������������

7>!>7>!

7>!>7>�

7>!>7>7

7>!>7>:

7>!>: ��)��	���������������

7>!>:>!

7>!>:>�

7>!>:>7

7>!>:>:

7>!>:>$

7>!>:>9

0������������;������,H�;������7>$I������������������������ ����$�%����>�.����H,���������������������?��������������������>

0������������������������3��0>


�����������������;�����	����������	����A�����������%���������%�	��������������������������>������ ���������������������

���������J��;����)J�������������������������������������>

.���:������������������������������������������������������������������������������������>

.����������������������������� �������	�	���%���� ���������������>�.�����������������������	���%���������	��������������������

���������>�1�;� ������������������������		������;���� �����������;������������������������	���������>

.���	������������������������������ �������	������C�����%��� ��������������������>�.���������������������	�������������������>

.���������������������������������		�����%�:&I������	�������������%�������������������������������>

.���������������������������������C�����%������������������������������������������������>���������������������������������

;�������	����������	�����!$I������������������������������������ �����%������>

.���	�������������������?������	�������@��		��������;�)��	���������>

.����������������������	�������	��������������		������������� ����������������������;�������%����������������	�����	���%�������������

������������>�.���:�����������������''����	����������������������7��������������������������������>

����� ������;���	�����$�%����%��%�����	������������������!&�%����%��%�����	����������������������������>

.������������	���������	���������������������;������ �������������������������%������������ ���������������������;���������������>

0����� ����������������������%��I��������������%�����"������	������������������������������������������������ ���������	���	�����

������>�.�����������������������������������������	�����7>$I����������	����,H>

.�������������������������� �������	�	������������������� �����������������������������������������%������������>

.����������������������������� �������	�	���%���� ������		�������������%���������������������������J���%�������%����J������>

�� �������� ��������������������	��������� ��������>�>����%��������������������	�����������%� ����������������������������������

�	�����������">

����������J������J��������� ��������5��������������������@���������������������������������������	��������	������������� ����>�

3��������������������������� ��������?������>


���������������������������������������		@�������	���"�����������)�������?����������������	���%��������������������� �����������

�� ������%������������>


�������	�����������������������������������������������������������?�����������������������������������������	��;������������

;�������	�������>

0����������?������.�?�������H0.>

��������������������GG������������������������GG������	����>

������� �������� ��������������������K�����������	������������ ����� �����>

.���������� ��������	����������������������������%�������	��&I����������>

.���7��������������������������%����������������������������;�����������������������������������������������������	���%������������

�������>

9��	�!<

��-&�-�&!'

Page 490




����������
�������������	����������


������������������
������
��������	��
��������

����� �

�>�/����	�������������@������������������?��������

7>!>:>'

7>�>!

7>�>�

7>�>7

7>�>:

7>7>!

7>7>�

7>7>7

7>7>:

7>7>$

7>7>9 #��������������>

����� ���������������������� �������� �������%�;�����������������������%����!��	��������5���>

7>7�2?��������

7>��3������������������

����� �����������������������%������������������	�������������������	�������	���������������������	���������������>�.�������������

������������������������������@����������;���@�.HL�@�����������%����������������)�@�����-����������C�������@�����������

��������@������������������������)�

����� ����������������������������������������5���������%�������� ��%�����%�����������������������C���������>

����� ����������D'>$I��	������������������;���������������%����&���������	������>$I�;���������������%����!������	�����������������

�	����������>

0�!&I�����������������������������	����� ������������������C��������%�����������>

3������������������>

������	���>

H0.>

��������?��>


���������������������������������������������������������">

'��	�!<

��-&�-�&!'

Page 491




����������
�������������	����������


������������������
������
��������	��
��������

+2����
�����!!���

5678�%� ' -9 :"9 :33 :33 )-) )-;

�		�����������GG"
�		������;����

��GG"

�����C�����%���

������%����

�����C�����%���

�������������

��)��	�����������:�

�����"

��)��	�����������7�

�����"

!>& �34���	
���

!>! ''9@&&&�������������� <�<@&&&�������������� !@!!<@&&&����������� !@!!<@&&&����������� <D9@&&&�������������� <D<@&&&��������������

!>�

!>�>! �5���A������������������A����������������A�/�� ����"� 7&$@�$&�������������� 7D9@:$��������������� 7'�@�$9�������������� 7'�@�$9�������������� �:@<$$���������������� �:@DD!����������������

!>�>� #��������� !$@&&&���������������� !D@:<����������������� !<@�D7���������������� !<@�D7���������������� !$@:D7���������������� !$@$'<����������������

!>�>7 3��������������������?������"���������������%�������������������%�������� 2?�� 2?�� 2?�� 2?�� 2?�� 2?��

!>�>: 
������� !9�@!'<�������������� �!&@97:�������������� !D'@''<�������������� !D'@''<�������������� �$@7<����������������� 4���������������������

!>�>$ M�������� !D&@$$D�������������� �:'@:D$�������������� �7�@7<D�������������� �7�@7<D�������������� �D@<�7���������������� 4���������������������

!>�>9 0����������������?�������4�����������������������������������" 2?�� 2?�� 2?�� 2?�� 2?�� 2?��

!>�>' ������
�������?������" 2?�� 2?�� 2?�� 2?�� 2?�� 2?��

��
����34���	
���� �#5 �6$$%6///��������� �6'/&6///��������� �6%+%6///��������� �6%+%6///��������� %%&6///������������ %+%6///������������

�>& 7�8����

�>! !@:::@!&D����������� �@&9<@7D:����������� �@9'!@7!9����������� <$�@$���������������� !@!9&@&'<����������� !@:$'@$&&�����������

��
���7�8����� -#5 �6$$$6///��������� &6/*(6///��������� &6*'�6///��������� (,+6///������������ �6�*/6///��������� �6$,(6///���������

 ,6///# +**6/// '+&6///  �6/(*6///# �*(6/// ,�%6///

<�8��������	����	������	�����	��	��	��0333

7��	�����9�������
�&,������� -�:��#� ����
	8��9����������)��	��9����
#


������������������
����

��	��
%���������������
����

��������������

<��	�!<

��-&�-�&!'

P
age 492




����������
�������������	����������


������������������
������
��������	��
��������

$2��������	�����34���	
��������7�8�������!!����:����	������!�""��	��

3��0 :D� ��

0������
���


����
����� B����& B����! B����� B����7 B����: B����$ B����9 B����' B����< B����D B����!& B����!! B����!� B����!7 B����!: B����!$ B����!9 B����!' B����!< B����!D B�����& B�����! B������ B�����7 B�����: B�����$ .�����

�34���	
���


�������
���������% '$9@9&&�������������� !D@:&&���������������� ''9@&&&�������������

��	��
%����
���� 4��������������������� 7D@:$����������������� 7<@!!<���������������� 79@<�D���������������� 7$@$<7���������������� 7:@7<&���������������� 77@�!<���������������� 7�@&D:���������������� 7!@&&D���������������� �D@D9&���������������� �<@D:'���������������� �'@D9<���������������� �'@&�7���������������� �9@!&D���������������� �$@��9���������������� �:@7'7���������������� �7@$:D���������������� ��@'$����������������� �!@D<7���������������� �!@�7D���������������� �&@$�!���������������� !D@<�'���������������� !D@!$'���������������� !<@$&D���������������� !'@<<7���������������� !'@�'<���������������� 9'�@D<'�������������

������
����

/�������� '$9@9&&�������������� $<@<$����������������� 7<@!!<���������������� 79@<�D���������������� 7$@$<7���������������� 7:@7<&���������������� 77@�!<���������������� 7�@&D:���������������� 7!@&&D���������������� �D@D9&���������������� �<@D:'���������������� �'@D9<���������������� �'@&�7���������������� �9@!&D���������������� �$@��9���������������� �:@7'7���������������� �7@$:D���������������� ��@'$����������������� �!@D<7���������������� �!@�7D���������������� �&@$�!���������������� !D@<�'���������������� !D@!$'���������������� !<@$&D���������������� !'@<<7���������������� !'@�'<���������������� !@::<@D<'����������

;�!���
	8���34���	
��� ',*6*//������������ (�,6$,&������������ (,+6,'/������������ (%/6+%%������������ %&,6%(&������������ %*/6+*&������������ %%+6,(/������������ �6/&,6*'$��������� �6/,*6*(+��������� �6/(*6*$$��������� �6��,6,%���������� �6�$+6,,%��������� �6�'/6,(&��������� �6�%*6*%/��������� �6&&�6%�*��������� �6&$*6&(%��������� �6&*%6(+'��������� �6&%&6,%/��������� �6+�$6,'&��������� �6++,6(�&��������� �6+,*6+++��������� �6+'*6�*/��������� �6+%,6+�'��������� �6$�+6(&*��������� �6$+�6'/%��������� �6$$(6%('���������

7�8����

M����!�4�$ 9<@:::���������������� 9'@:$����������������� 99@:'$���������������� 9$@$!����������������� 9:@$9����������������� 97@9�9���������������� 9�@'&:���������������� 9!@'D9���������������� 9&@D&&���������������� 9&@&!'���������������� $D@!:<���������������� $<@�D&���������������� $'@::9���������������� $9@9!7���������������� $$@'D����������������� $:@D<:���������������� $:@!<'���������������� $7@:&����������������� $�@9�<���������������� $!@<9$���������������� $!@!!7���������������� $&@7'7���������������� :D@9:7���������������� :<@D�7���������������� :<@�!:���������������� !@:::@!&D����������

/�������� 4��������������������� 9<@:::���������������� 9'@:$����������������� 99@:'$���������������� 9$@$!����������������� 9:@$9����������������� 97@9�9���������������� 9�@'&:���������������� 9!@'D9���������������� 9&@D&&���������������� 9&@&!'���������������� $D@!:<���������������� $<@�D&���������������� $'@::9���������������� $9@9!7���������������� $$@'D����������������� $:@D<:���������������� $:@!<'���������������� $7@:&����������������� $�@9�<���������������� $!@<9$���������������� $!@!!7���������������� $&@7'7���������������� :D@9:7���������������� :<@D�7���������������� :<@�!:���������������� !@:::@!&D����������

;�!���
	8��7�8���� :�������������������� *(6$$$�������������� �+,6(%'������������ &/&6+'&������������ &*'6((+������������ ++&6$$,������������ +%*6/'&������������ $,(6''*������������ ,&/6,'&������������ ,(�6$'&������������ *$�6$(%������������ '//6*+*������������ ',(6%&'������������ (�*6+'&������������ ('&6%(,������������ %&(6''(������������ %(+6'*&������������ �6/+'6%$%��������� �6/%�6+,/��������� �6�$+6%'(��������� �6�%,6($+��������� �6&$*6%,*��������� �6&%'6+&%��������� �6+$*6%'&��������� �6+%,6(%,��������� �6$$$6�/%���������

��������� 4�������������'$9@9&&� 4�������������':'@&&<� 4�������������'!'@9'7� 4�������������9<<@&�'� 4�������������9$<@&DD� 4�������������9�'@D!'� 4�������������$D'@$&<� 4�������������$99@<D<� 4�������������$79@!!�� 4�������������$&$@!'�� 4�������������:':@!&�� 4�������������::�@D�7� 4�������������:!!@9$$� 4�������������7<&@7!<� 4�������������7:<@D7!� 4�������������7!'@$!!� 4��������������<9@&'9� 4��������������$:@9:!� 4���������������7@���� 4�������������!D!@<7:� 4�������������!9&@:D&� 4�������������!�D@�&:� 4���������������D'@D<<� 4���������������99@<$:� 4���������������7$@<!:� 4�����������������:@<'<�

$2�&�������	�����34���	
��������7�8�������!!����:����	���)	
��!�""��	��

3��0 97D�������������������� ��

0������
���


����
����� B����& B����! B����� B����7 B����: B����$ B����9 B����' B����< B����D B����!& B����!! B����!� B����!7 B����!: B����!$ B����!9 B����!' B����!< B����!D B�����& B�����! B������ B�����7 B�����: B�����$ .�����

�34���	
���


�������
���������% <&'@7&&�������������� �&@'&&���������������� <�<@&&&�������������

��	��
%����
���� 4��������������������� $!@�:&���������������� :D@$&'���������������� :'@<77���������������� :9@�!$���������������� ::@9$����������������� :7@!:����������������� :!@9<7���������������� :&@�':���������������� 7<@D!����������������� 7'@$D9���������������� 79@7�$���������������� 7$@&D9���������������� 77@D&D���������������� 7�@'97���������������� 7!@9$$���������������� 7&@$<:���������������� �D@$$&���������������� �<@$$!���������������� �'@$<$���������������� �9@9$7���������������� �$@'$!���������������� �:@<<&���������������� �:@&7D���������������� �7@��9���������������� ��@::!���������������� <':@&97�������������

������
����

/�������� <&'@7&&�������������� '!@D:&���������������� :D@$&'���������������� :'@<77���������������� :9@�!$���������������� ::@9$����������������� :7@!:����������������� :!@9<7���������������� :&@�':���������������� 7<@D!����������������� 7'@$D9���������������� 79@7�$���������������� 7$@&D9���������������� 77@D&D���������������� 7�@'97���������������� 7!@9$$���������������� 7&@$<:���������������� �D@$$&���������������� �<@$$!���������������� �'@$<$���������������� �9@9$7���������������� �$@'$!���������������� �:@<<&���������������� �:@&7D���������������� �7@��9���������������� ��@::!���������������� !@'&�@&97����������

;�!���
	8���34���	
��� (/'6+//������������ ('%6&$/������������ %&(6'$*������������ %'*6,'%������������ �6/&&6'%$��������� �6/*'6$$*��������� �6��/6,(%��������� �6�,&6&'&��������� �6�%&6,$*��������� �6&+�6$,(��������� �6&*%6/,$��������� �6+/,6+'(��������� �6+$/6$',��������� �6+'$6+($��������� �6$/'6�$'��������� �6$+(6(/&��������� �6$*%6+(*��������� �6$%(6%+*��������� �6,&'6$('��������� �6,,,6/'+��������� �6,(�6'&,��������� �6*/'6$'*��������� �6*+&6+,'��������� �6*,*6+%*��������� �6*'%6*&&��������� �6'/&6/*+���������

7�8����

M����!�4�$ D<@&77���������������� D9@9!����������������� D$@�!����������������� D7@<7����������������� D�@:'����������������� D!@!7����������������� <D@<!!���������������� <<@$!&���������������� <'@��'���������������� <$@D97���������������� <:@'!'���������������� <7@:<D���������������� <�@�'D���������������� <!@&<'���������������� 'D@D!!���������������� '<@'$7���������������� ''@9!����������������� '9@:<'���������������� '$@7'D���������������� ':@�<9���������������� '7@�!&���������������� '�@!:D���������������� '!@!&7���������������� '&@&'����������������� 9D@&$'���������������� �@&9<@7D:����������

/�������� 4��������������������� D<@&77���������������� D9@9!����������������� D$@�!����������������� D7@<7����������������� D�@:'����������������� D!@!7����������������� <D@<!!���������������� <<@$!&���������������� <'@��'���������������� <$@D97���������������� <:@'!'���������������� <7@:<D���������������� <�@�'D���������������� <!@&<'���������������� 'D@D!!���������������� '<@'$7���������������� ''@9!����������������� '9@:<'���������������� '$@7'D���������������� ':@�<9���������������� '7@�!&���������������� '�@!:D���������������� '!@!&7���������������� '&@&'����������������� 9D@&$'���������������� �@&9<@7D:����������

;�!���
	8��7�8���� :�������������������� %(6/++�������������� �%$6*$,������������ &(%6(,'������������ +(+6*(%������������ $'*6�*������������� ,*'6&%+������������ *,'6�/$������������ '$,6*�$������������ (+&6($������������� %�(6(/+������������ �6//+6,&/��������� �6/('6//%��������� �6�*%6&((��������� �6&,/6+',��������� �6++/6&(*��������� �6$/%6/$/��������� �6$(*6*,&��������� �6,*+6�+%��������� �6*+(6,�(��������� �6'�&6(/$��������� �6'(*6/�+��������� �6(,(6�*&��������� �6%&%6&*,��������� �6%%%6++(��������� &6/*(6+%$���������

��������� 4�������������<&'@7&&� 4�������������'<!@�&'� 4�������������'7:@!&!� 4�������������9<9@'��� 4�������������97D@!&$� 4�������������$D!@�<$� 4�������������$:7@�D9� 4�������������:D$@!9<� 4�������������::9@D7�� 4�������������7D<@9!'� 4�������������7$&@�$&� 4�������������7&!@<$<� 4��������������$7@:99� 4��������������&$@&D9� 4�������������!$9@''�� 4�������������!&<@$!$� 4���������������9&@7:9� 4���������������!�@�<$� ����������������7$@9$�� ����������������<7@::$� ��������������!7!@&'D� ��������������!'<@$7'� ����������������$@<&$� ���������������'�@<9D� ��������������7!D@'!$� ��������������799@77��

D��	�!<

��-&�-�&!'

P
age 493




����������
�������������	����������


������������������
������
��������	��
��������

$2+�������	�����34���	
��������7�8�������!!����:�-��
	.����
������!!���
	��6����	������
�

3��0 9&& ��

0������
���


����
����� B����& B����! B����� B����7 B����: B����$ B����9 B����' B����< B����D B����!& B����!! B����!� B����!7 B����!: B����!$ B����!9 B����!' B����!< B����!D B�����& B�����! B������ B�����7 B�����: B�����$ .�����

�34���	
���


�������
���������% !@&D&@&$&�������� �'@D$&������������� !@!!<@&&&�������

��	��
%����
���� 4������������������ :<@!!�������������� :9@:<$������������� ::@D!7������������� :7@7D:������������� :!@D�'������������� :&@$&D������������� 7D@!7D������������� 7'@<!9������������� 79@$7'������������� 7$@7&!������������� 7:@!&<������������� 7�@D$:������������� 7!@<:&������������� 7&@'97������������� �D@'�7������������� �<@'!<������������� �'@':'������������� �9@<&<������������� �$@D&�������������� �$@&�9������������� �:@!<&������������� �7@79�������������� ��@$'�������������� �!@<&D������������� �!@&'!������������� <�&@'!9����������

������
����

/�������� !@&D&@&$&�������� '9@&9�������������� :9@:<$������������� ::@D!7������������� :7@7D:������������� :!@D�'������������� :&@$&D������������� 7D@!7D������������� 7'@<!9������������� 79@$7'������������� 7$@7&!������������� 7:@!&<������������� 7�@D$:������������� 7!@<:&������������� 7&@'97������������� �D@'�7������������� �<@'!<������������� �'@':'������������� �9@<&<������������� �$@D&�������������� �$@&�9������������� �:@!<&������������� �7@79�������������� ��@$'�������������� �!@<&D������������� �!@&'!������������� !@D7<@'!9�������

;�!���
	8���34���	
��� �6/%/6/,/������� �6�**6��&������� �6&�&6,%'������� �6&,'6,��������� �6+//6%/,������� �6+$&6(+&������� �6+(+6+$&������� �6$&&6$(�������� �6$*/6&%'������� �6$%*6(+$������� �6,+&6�+,������� �6,**6&$+������� �6,%%6�%'������� �6*+�6/+'������� �6**�6(//������� �6*%�6,&+������� �6'&/6&$�������� �6'$'6%('������� �6''$6'%*������� �6(//6*%'������� �6(&,6'&+������� �6($%6%/+������� �6('+6&*,������� �6(%,6(+'������� �6%�'6*$,������� �6%+(6'�*�������

7�8����

M����!�4�$ !�9@9&D����������� !�:@'':����������� !��@D9$����������� !�!@!<7����������� !!D@:�'����������� !!'@9D9����������� !!$@DD!����������� !!:@7&D����������� !!�@9$7����������� !!!@&�&����������� !&D@:!!����������� !&'@<�9����������� !&9@�97����������� !&:@'�7����������� !&7@�&$����������� !&!@'&D����������� !&&@�7$����������� D<@'<7������������� D'@7$!������������� D$@D:&������������� D:@$$&������������� D7@!'D������������� D!@<�D������������� D&@:D<������������� <D@!<'������������� �@9'!@7!9�������

/�������� 4������������������ !�9@9&D����������� !�:@'':����������� !��@D9$����������� !�!@!<7����������� !!D@:�'����������� !!'@9D9����������� !!$@DD!����������� !!:@7&D����������� !!�@9$7����������� !!!@&�&����������� !&D@:!!����������� !&'@<�9����������� !&9@�97����������� !&:@'�7����������� !&7@�&$����������� !&!@'&D����������� !&&@�7$����������� D<@'<7������������� D'@7$!������������� D$@D:&������������� D:@$$&������������� D7@!'D������������� D!@<�D������������� D&@:D<������������� <D@!<'������������� �@9'!@7!9�������

;�!���
	8��7�8���� :����������������� �&*6*/%���������� &,�6+(&���������� +'$6+$(���������� $%,6,+����������� *�$6%,(���������� '+&6*,,���������� ($(6*$,���������� %*&6%,,���������� �6/',6*/'������� �6�(*6*&(������� �6&%*6/+%������� �6$/+6(*$������� �6,�/6�&'������� �6*�$6(,/������� �6'�(6/,,������� �6(�%6'*$������� �6%&/6///������� &6/�(6'(&������� &6��*6�++������� &6&�&6/'+������� &6+/*6*&+������� &6+%%6(/&������� &6$%�6*+�������� &6,(&6�+/������� &6*'�6+�*�������

��������� 4�������!@&D&@&$&� 4�������!@&7D@$&:� 4����������D9!@�!$� 4����������<<7@!97� 4����������<&$@7':� 4����������'�'@<':� 4����������9$&@9<'� 4����������$'7@<79� 4����������:D'@7:�� 4����������:�!@��9� 4����������7:$@$&'� 4�����������'&@�&:� 4����������!D$@777� 4����������!�&@D!&� 4������������:9@D$&� ��������������9@$7�� �������������DD@$�:� �����������!'�@&!�� ������������:7@D<'� �����������7!$@:79� �����������7<9@7$&� �����������:$9@'�&� �����������$�9@$7<� �����������$D$@'D$� �����������99:@:<:� �����������'7�@9&&�

$2$�������	�����34���	
��������7�8�������!!����:�-��
	.����
������!!���
	��6�4��!����
���
�

3��0 9&&����������������� ��

0������
���


����
����� B����& B����! B����� B����7 B����: B����$ B����9 B����' B����< B����D B����!& B����!! B����!� B����!7 B����!: B����!$ B����!9 B����!' B����!< B����!D B�����& B�����! B������ B�����7 B�����: B�����$ .�����

�34���	
���


�������
���������% !@&D&@&$&�������� �'@D$&������������� !@!!<@&&&�������

��	��
%����
���� 4������������������ :<@!!�������������� :9@:<$������������� ::@D!7������������� :7@7D:������������� :!@D�'������������� :&@$&D������������� 7D@!7D������������� 7'@<!9������������� 79@$7'������������� 7$@7&!������������� 7:@!&<������������� 7�@D$:������������� 7!@<:&������������� 7&@'97������������� �D@'�7������������� �<@'!<������������� �'@':'������������� �9@<&<������������� �$@D&�������������� �$@&�9������������� �:@!<&������������� �7@79�������������� ��@$'�������������� �!@<&D������������� �!@&'!������������� <�&@'!9����������

������
����

/�������� !@&D&@&$&�������� '9@&9�������������� :9@:<$������������� ::@D!7������������� :7@7D:������������� :!@D�'������������� :&@$&D������������� 7D@!7D������������� 7'@<!9������������� 79@$7'������������� 7$@7&!������������� 7:@!&<������������� 7�@D$:������������� 7!@<:&������������� 7&@'97������������� �D@'�7������������� �<@'!<������������� �'@':'������������� �9@<&<������������� �$@D&�������������� �$@&�9������������� �:@!<&������������� �7@79�������������� ��@$'�������������� �!@<&D������������� �!@&'!������������� !@D7<@'!9�������

;�!���
	8���34���	
��� �6/%/6/,/������� �6�**6��&������� �6&�&6,%'������� �6&,'6,��������� �6+//6%/,������� �6+$&6(+&������� �6+(+6+$&������� �6$&&6$(�������� �6$*/6&%'������� �6$%*6(+$������� �6,+&6�+,������� �6,**6&$+������� �6,%%6�%'������� �6*+�6/+'������� �6**�6(//������� �6*%�6,&+������� �6'&/6&$�������� �6'$'6%('������� �6''$6'%*������� �6(//6*%'������� �6(&,6'&+������� �6($%6%/+������� �6('+6&*,������� �6(%,6(+'������� �6%�'6*$,������� �6%+(6'�*�������

7�8����

M����!�4�$ :&@:&9������������� 7D@<�&������������� 7D@�:7������������� 7<@9':������������� 7<@!!:������������� 7'@$9!������������� 7'@&!'������������� 79@:<!������������� 7$@D$�������������� 7$@:7!������������� 7:@D!'������������� 7:@:!!������������� 77@D!7������������� 77@:�!������������� 7�@D7'������������� 7�@:$D������������� 7!@D<D������������� 7!@$�$������������� 7!@&9D������������� 7&@9!<������������� 7&@!'$������������� �D@'7'������������� �D@7&9������������� �<@<<!������������� �<@:97������������� <$�@$������������

/�������� 4������������������ :&@:&9������������� 7D@<�&������������� 7D@�:7������������� 7<@9':������������� 7<@!!:������������� 7'@$9!������������� 7'@&!'������������� 79@:<!������������� 7$@D$�������������� 7$@:7!������������� 7:@D!'������������� 7:@:!!������������� 77@D!7������������� 77@:�!������������� 7�@D7'������������� 7�@:$D������������� 7!@D<D������������� 7!@$�$������������� 7!@&9D������������� 7&@9!<������������� 7&@!'$������������� �D@'7'������������� �D@7&9������������� �<@<<!������������� �<@:97������������� <$�@$������������

;�!���
	8��7�8���� :����������������� $/6$/*������������ (/6&&*������������ ��%6$*%���������� �,(6�$+���������� �%*6&,'���������� &++6(�%���������� &'/6(+*���������� +/'6+�'���������� +$+6&*%���������� +'(6*%%���������� $�+6*�'���������� $$(6/&(���������� $(�6%$����������� ,�,6+*&���������� ,$(6&%%���������� ,(/6',(���������� *�&6'$'���������� *$$6&'+���������� *',6+$����������� '/,6%,%���������� '+*6�+$���������� '*,6('����������� '%,6�''���������� (&$6/,%���������� (,&6,&&����������

��������� 4�������!@&D&@&$&� 4�������!@!�$@'&9� 4�������!@!7�@7'!� 4�������!@!7<@&:�� 4�������!@!:�@'9�� 4�������!@!:9@$'$� 4�������!@!:D@$�7� 4�������!@!$!@9:$� 4�������!@!$�@D<&� 4�������!@!$7@$9$� 4�������!@!$7@:79� 4�������!@!$�@9�9� 4�������!@!$!@!9D� 4�������!@!:D@&D9� 4�������!@!:9@:7<� 4�������!@!:7@��:� 4�������!@!7D@:<�� 4�������!@!7$@�:&� 4�������!@!7&@$�7� 4�������!@!�$@7$9� 4�������!@!!D@'9:� 4�������!@!!7@'9D� 4�������!@!&'@7D:� 4�������!@!&&@9$D� 4�������!@&D7@$<9� 4�������!@&<9@!D$�

!&��	�!<

��-&�-�&!'

P
age 494




����������
�������������	����������


������������������
������
��������	��
��������

$2,�������	�����34���	
��������7�8�������!!����:�0������	�	
	��� $���	
�#

3��0 $:$ ��

0������
���


����
����� B����& B����! B����� B����7 B����: B����$ B����9 B����' B����< B����D B����!& B����!! B����!� B����!7 B����!: B����!$ B����!9 B����!' B����!< B����!D B�����& B�����! B������ B�����7 B�����: B�����$ .�����

�34���	
���


�������
���������% <'7@9&&������������ ��@:&&�������������� <D9@&&&��������������

��	��
%����
���� 4������������������� 7@�79���������������� 7@!�'���������������� 7@&�!���������������� �@D!D���������������� '@&9:���������������� �@'�$���������������� �@977���������������� �@$::������������������� �@:$<������������������� �&@:D������������������ �@�D:������������������� �@�!'������������������� �@!:�������������������� �@&9D������������������� $@&&<������������������� !@D7�������������������� !@<99������������������� !@<&7������������������� !@':�������������������� !:@$�'����������������� !@9�9������������������� !@$'!������������������� !@$!<������������������� !@:9'������������������� 7@$$&������������������� D$@$$�����������������

������
����

/�������� <'7@9&&������������ �$@979�������������� 7@!�'���������������� 7@&�!���������������� �@D!D���������������� '@&9:���������������� �@'�$���������������� �@977���������������� �@$::������������������� �@:$<������������������� �&@:D������������������ �@�D:������������������� �@�!'������������������� �@!:�������������������� �@&9D������������������� $@&&<������������������� !@D7�������������������� !@<99������������������� !@<&7������������������� !@':�������������������� !:@$�'����������������� !@9�9������������������� !@$'!������������������� !@$!<������������������� !@:9'������������������� 7@$$&������������������� DD!@$$���������������

;�!���
	8���34���	
��� ('+6*//����������� (%%6&+*����������� %/&6+*+����������� %/,6+($����������� %/(6+/+����������� %�,6+*'����������� %�(6/%&����������� %&/6'&,����������� %&+6&*%�������������� %&,6'&*�������������� %$*6&�(�������������� %$(6,�+�������������� %,/6'&%�������������� %,&6('��������������� %,$6%$/�������������� %,%6%$(�������������� %*�6((/�������������� %*+6'$*�������������� %*,6,,/�������������� %*'6&%&�������������� %(�6(�%�������������� %(+6$$,�������������� %(,6/�'�������������� %(*6,+,�������������� %((6//&�������������� %%�6,,&��������������

7�8����

M����!�4�$ $:@D<7�������������� $:@!<9�������������� $7@:&&�������������� $�@9�'�������������� $!@<9:�������������� $!@!!��������������� $&@7'!�������������� :D@9:!����������������� :<@D������������������� :<@�!7����������������� :'@$!:����������������� :9@<�9����������������� :9@!:'����������������� :$@:'<����������������� ::@<!D����������������� ::@!'&����������������� :7@$�D����������������� :�@<DD����������������� :�@�''����������������� :!@99:����������������� :!@&9&����������������� :&@:9$����������������� 7D@<'D����������������� 7D@7&!����������������� 7<@'7!����������������� !@!9&@&'<������������

/�������� 4������������������� $:@D<7�������������� $:@!<9�������������� $7@:&&�������������� $�@9�'�������������� $!@<9:�������������� $!@!!��������������� $&@7'!�������������� :D@9:!����������������� :<@D������������������� :<@�!7����������������� :'@$!:����������������� :9@<�9����������������� :9@!:'����������������� :$@:'<����������������� ::@<!D����������������� ::@!'&����������������� :7@$�D����������������� :�@<DD����������������� :�@�''����������������� :!@99:����������������� :!@&9&����������������� :&@:9$����������������� 7D@<'D����������������� 7D@7&!����������������� 7<@'7!����������������� !@!9&@&'<������������

;�!���
	8��7�8���� :������������������ ,$6%(+������������� �/%6�*(����������� �*&6,*%����������� &�,6�%,����������� &*'6/,%����������� +�(6�'������������ +*(6,$+����������� $�(6�($�������������� $*'6�/*�������������� ,�,6+�%�������������� ,*&6(++�������������� */%6*,%�������������� *,,6(/*�������������� '/�6&($�������������� '$*6�/+�������������� '%/6&'+�������������� (++6(/&�������������� ('*6'/��������������� %�(6%''�������������� %*/6*$&�������������� �6//�6'/&����������� �6/$&6�*'����������� �6/(&6/$*����������� �6�&�6+$*����������� �6�*/6/'(�����������

��������� 4�����������<'7@9&&� 4�����������<::@�$:� 4�����������'D7@!D$� 4�����������':�@<!$� 4�����������9D7@!&<� 4�����������9:<@7&<� 4�����������$DD@D�!� 4�����������$$�@!<�� 4��������������$&$@&<:� 4��������������:$<@9�&� 4��������������:7&@<DD� 4��������������7<$@9'D� 4��������������7:!@&'&� 4���������������D'@&9$� 4���������������$7@9$9� 4���������������!7@<:$� 4��������������!'!@9&'� 4��������������!�D@D::� 4����������������<<@<:D� 4����������������:<@7!:� 4�����������������!@!'<� �����������������!<@�$9� �����������������$'@!$&� �����������������D$@$!!� ����������������!77@7::� ����������������!9<@$�$�

$2*�������	�����34���	
��������7�8�������!!����:�0������	�	
	��� +���	
�#

3��0 $:<������������������ ��

0������
���


����
����� B����& B����! B����� B����7 B����: B����$ B����9 B����' B����< B����D B����!& B����!! B����!� B����!7 B����!: B����!$ B����!9 B����!' B����!< B����!D B�����& B�����! B������ B�����7 B�����: B�����$ .�����

�34���	
���


�������
���������% <'$@$$&������������ ��@:$&�������������� <D<@&&&��������������

��	��
%����
���� 4������������������� 4������������������� 4������������������� 4������������������� 4������������������� :@�9<���������������� 4������������������� 4������������������� 4���������������������� 4���������������������� !<@�!'����������������� 4���������������������� 4���������������������� 4���������������������� 4���������������������� 7@&�$������������������� 4���������������������� 4���������������������� 4���������������������� 4���������������������� !�@D!$����������������� 4���������������������� 4���������������������� 4���������������������� 4���������������������� �@!:$������������������� :&@$'&����������������

������
����

/�������� <'$@$$&������������ ��@:$&�������������� 4������������������� 4������������������� 4������������������� :@�9<���������������� 4������������������� 4������������������� 4���������������������� 4���������������������� !<@�!'����������������� 4���������������������� 4���������������������� 4���������������������� 4���������������������� 7@&�$������������������� 4���������������������� 4���������������������� 4���������������������� 4���������������������� !�@D!$����������������� 4���������������������� 4���������������������� 4���������������������� 4���������������������� �@!:$������������������� D7<@$'&��������������

;�!���
	8���34���	
��� (',6,,/����������� (%(6///����������� (%(6///����������� (%(6///����������� (%(6///����������� %/&6&*(����������� %/&6&*(����������� %/&6&*(����������� %/&6&*(�������������� %/&6&*(�������������� %&/6$(,�������������� %&/6$(,�������������� %&/6$(,�������������� %&/6$(,�������������� %&/6$(,�������������� %&+6,�/�������������� %&+6,�/�������������� %&+6,�/�������������� %&+6,�/�������������� %&+6,�/�������������� %+*6$&,�������������� %+*6$&,�������������� %+*6$&,�������������� %+*6$&,�������������� %+*6$&,�������������� %+(6,'/��������������

7�8����

M����!�4�$ 9D@&'D�������������� 9<@&'<�������������� 9'@&D!�������������� 99@!!D�������������� 9$@!9!�������������� 9:@�!9�������������� 97@�<9�������������� 9�@79D����������������� 9!@:9$����������������� 9&@$':����������������� $D@9D9����������������� $<@<7!����������������� $'@D'<����������������� $'@!7<����������������� $9@7!&����������������� $$@:D:����������������� $:@9D&����������������� $7@<D'����������������� $7@!!9����������������� $�@7:9����������������� $!@$<'����������������� $&@<:&����������������� $&@!&7����������������� :D@7''����������������� :<@99!����������������� !@:$'@$&&������������

/�������� 4������������������� 9D@&'D�������������� 9<@&'<�������������� 9'@&D!�������������� 99@!!D�������������� 9$@!9!�������������� 9:@�!9�������������� 97@�<9�������������� 9�@79D����������������� 9!@:9$����������������� 9&@$':����������������� $D@9D9����������������� $<@<7!����������������� $'@D'<����������������� $'@!7<����������������� $9@7!&����������������� $$@:D:����������������� $:@9D&����������������� $7@<D'����������������� $7@!!9����������������� $�@7:9����������������� $!@$<'����������������� $&@<:&����������������� $&@!&7����������������� :D@7''����������������� :<@99!����������������� !@:$'@$&&������������

;�!���
	8��7�8���� :������������������ *%6/'%������������� �+'6�,'����������� &/$6&$(����������� &'/6+*'����������� ++,6,&(����������� +%%6'$,����������� $*+6/+/����������� ,&,6+%%�������������� ,(*6(*$�������������� *$'6$+'�������������� '/'6�++�������������� '*,6%*$�������������� (&+6%$&�������������� ((�6/(/�������������� %+'6+%/�������������� %%&6(($�������������� �6/$'6,'+����������� �6�/�6$'/����������� �6�,$6,(*����������� �6&/*6%+&����������� �6&,(6,&/����������� �6+/%6+,%����������� �6+,%6$*&����������� �6$/(6(+%����������� �6$,'6,//�����������

��������� 4�����������<'$@$$&� 4�����������<�<@D�!� 4�����������'9&@<:7� 4�����������9D7@'$�� 4�����������9�'@977� 4�����������$99@'7D� 4�����������$&�@$�7� 4�����������:7D@�7'� 4��������������7'9@<9D� 4��������������7!$@:&:� 4���������������'7@&:<� 4���������������!7@7$�� 4��������������!$:@$�!� 4����������������D9@$:7� 4����������������7D@:&$� �����������������!7@<<&� �����������������9D@7':� ����������������!�:@&97� ����������������!''@D9&� �����������������7!@&'9� �����������������'&@$&'� ����������������7��@&D$� ����������������7'�@D7:� ����������������:�7@&7'� ����������������:'�@:!:� ����������������$!<@D7&�

!!��	�!<

��-&�-�&!'

P
age 495




����������
�������������	����������


������������������
������
��������	��
��������

,2���	���;����;��
�������:����	��� ���!�""��	��#

��	��
%����,�������	�0���%�������%�����������������������"� �$

���������� :(�&!<

�����������
�/�����?" 
���������

3��0 ��	���������� :D�

��; &

.�����3��0 :D�

#������������ 7>$I

!>& 
������������
���� ,H�
���

!>! 
������������;��)�������@������������������������ $<�@&&&

!>� ��������������������������������

#�����������4�
���������� !!9@&&&


������#������#� ���������A�,��5�������) '&@&&&

��	������ <@&&&

/������� ''9@&&&

!>7 
��������	������������

�����0�C���������
���� 2?������

�����������������*���������A2������. 2?������


������������
���� ''9@&&&

�>& �����������
���� ,H�
���

�>! �5���������������A���	�����������
����� 7&$@�$&

�>� ��	������������������������� 2?������

�5���������������
������ ����$�%�������� 7&$@�$&

,H�
���

�>7 #���������� !$@&&&

�>: ����������������@��������� ���������>!

�>$ M������������������@��������������������������� ���������>!

�>9 3����������������� 2?������

.����������������
������ ����$�%�������� !$@&&&

7>& ����������
����� ,H�
���

7>! 
������� !9�@!'<

7>� M�������� !D&@$$D

7>7 0��������������
���� 2?������

7>: � ������� 2?������

7>$ .�?�� 2?������

7>9 
��������	������������ 2?������

.���������������
������ ����$�%�������� 7$�@'7'

: ��������%�
����

0������������������%�
������ ����$�%�����

$ 2����	���	��
���� 2?������

.�����2����	���	��
������ ����$�%�����������

94< ��������	����������������?�������	���������������� 2?������

�	���;����;��
���8���&,����4��	���	����	������
��
	�����
� �6$$(6%('�����������������

��������.�	8����
��;;�	����	������
��
	�����
�� <=!&=����!# ��'2(/����������������������

�	���;����;��
���8���&,����4��	����3���	������
��
	�����
� *'&6%('��������������������

��������.�	8����
��;;��3���	������
��
	�����
�� <=!&=����!# ,$2'�������������������������

�
�
�
�
�
��
�

�
	�


�
�
�
�

�
6�
�



�
4
�
�

�
�>

��
4
�
��


	
�
�
�;

�
�


�
�
�
�
��

��

�
	�
�

0
�
�
��

�

�
	�
�

!���	�!<

��-&�-�&!'

Page 496




����������
�������������	����������


������������������
������
��������	��
��������

,2&��	���;����;��
�������:����	��� )	
��!�""��	��#

��	��
%����,�������	�0���%�������%�����������������������"� �$

���������� :(�&!<

�����������
�/�����?" 
���������

3��0 ��	���������� 97D

��; &

.�����3��0 97D

#������������ 7>$I

!>& 
������������
���� ,H�
���

!>! 
������������;��)�������@������������������������ 9�!@&&&

!>� ��������������������������������

#�����������4�
���������� !�:@&&&


������#������#� ���������A�,��5�������) ':@&&&

��	������ D@&&&

/������� <�<@&&&

!>7 
��������	������������

�����0�C���������
���� 2?������

�����������������*���������A2������. 2?������


������������
���� <�<@&&&

�>& �����������
���� ,H�
���

�>! �5���������������A���	�����������
����� 7D9@:$�

�>� ��	������������������������� 2?������

�5���������������
������ ����$�%�������� 7D9@:$�

,H�
���

�>7 #���������� !D@:<�

�>: ����������������@��������� ���������>!

�>$ M������������������@��������������������������� ���������>!

�>9 3����������������� 2?������

.����������������
������ ����$�%�������� !D@:<�

7>& ����������
����� ,H�
���

7>! 
������� �!&@97:

7>� M�������� �:'@:D$

7>7 0��������������
���� 2?������

7>: � ������� 2?������

7>$ .�?�� 2?������

7>9 
��������	������������ 2?������

.���������������
������ ����$�%�������� :$<@!�<

: ��������%�
����

0������������������%�
������ ����$�%�����

$ 2����	���	��
���� 2?������

.�����2����	���	��
������ ����$�%�����������

94< ��������	����������������?�������	���������������� 2?������

�	���;����;��
���8���&,����4��	���	����	������
��
	�����
� �6'/&6/*+�����������������

��������.�	8����
��;;�	����	������
��
	�����
�� <=!&=����!# �/*2,,����������������������

�	���;����;��
���8���&,����4��	����3���	������
��
	�����
� ('$6/*+��������������������

��������.�	8����
��;;��3���	������
��
	�����
�� <=!&=����!# ,$2'�������������������������

�
�
�
�
�
��
�

�
	�


�
�
�
�

�
6�
�



�
4
�
�

�
�>

��
4
�
��


	
�
�
�;

�
�


�
�
�
�
��

��

�
	�
�

0
�
�
��

�

�
	�
�

!7��	�!<

��-&�-�&!'

Page 497




����������
�������������	����������


������������������
������
��������	��
��������

,2+��	���;����;��
�������:�-��
	.����
������!!���
	��� ���	������
�#

��	��
%����,�������	�0���%�������%�����������������������"� �$

���������� :(�&!<

�����������
�/�����?" 
���������

3��0 ��	���������� 9&&

��; &

.�����3��0 9&&

#������������ 7>$I

!>& 
������������
���� ,H�
���

!>! 
������������;��)�������@������������������������ <7<@&&&

!>� ��������������������������������

#�����������4�
���������� !9<@&&&


������#������#� ���������A�,��5�������) !&&@&&&

��	������ !�@&&&

/������� !@!!<@&&&

!>7 
��������	������������

�����0�C���������
���� 2?������

�����������������*���������A2������. 2?������


������������
���� !@!!<@&&&

�>& �����������
���� ,H�
���

�>! �5���������������A���	�����������
����� 7'�@�$9

�>� ��	������������������������� 2?������

�5���������������
������ ����$�%�������� 7'�@�$9

,H�
���

�>7 #���������� !<@�D7

�>: ����������������@��������� ���������>!

�>$ M������������������@��������������������������� ���������>!

�>9 3����������������� 2?������

.����������������
������ ����$�%�������� !<@�D7

7>& ����������
����� ,H�
���

7>! 
������� !D'@''<

7>� M�������� �7�@7<D

7>7 0��������������
���� 2?������

7>: � ������� 2?������

7>$ .�?�� 2?������

7>9 
��������	������������ 2?������

.���������������
������ ����$�%�������� :7&@!9<

: ��������%�
����

0������������������%�
������ ����$�%�����

$ 2����	���	��
���� 2?������

.�����2����	���	��
������ ����$�%�����������

94< ��������	����������������?�������	���������������� 2?������

�	���;����;��
���8���&,����4��	���	����	������
��
	�����
� �6%+(6'�*�����������������

��������.�	8����
��;;�	����	������
��
	�����
�� <=!&=����!# �&%2&,����������������������

�	���;����;��
���8���&,����4��	����3���	������
��
	�����
� (&/6'�*��������������������

��������.�	8����
��;;��3���	������
��
	�����
�� <=!&=����!# ,$2'�������������������������

�
�
�
��

��

�
	�
�

0
�
�
��

�

�
	�
�

�
�
�
�
�
��
�

�
	�


�
�
�
�

�
6�
�



�
4
�
�

�
�>

��
4
�
��


	
�
�
�;

�
�


�

!:��	�!<

��-&�-�&!'

Page 498




����������
�������������	����������


������������������
������
��������	��
��������

,2$��	���;����;��
�������:�-��
	.����
������!!���
	��� 4��!����
���
�#

��	��
%����,�������	�0���%�������%�����������������������"� �$

���������� :(�&!<

�����������
�/�����?" 
���������

3��0 ��	���������� 9&&

��; &

.�����3��0 9&&

#������������ 7>$I

!>& 
������������
���� ,H�
���

!>! 
������������;��)�������@������������������������ <7<@&&&

!>� ��������������������������������

#�����������4�
���������� !9<@&&&


������#������#� ���������A�,��5�������) !&&@&&&

��	������ !�@&&&

/������� !@!!<@&&&

!>7 
��������	������������

�����0�C���������
���� 2?������

�����������������*���������A2������. 2?������


������������
���� !@!!<@&&&

�>& �����������
���� ,H�
���

�>! �5���������������A���	�����������
����� 7'�@�$9

�>� ��	������������������������� 2?������

�5���������������
������ ����$�%�������� 7'�@�$9

,H�
���

�>7 #���������� !<@�D7

�>: ����������������@��������� ���������>!

�>$ M������������������@��������������������������� ���������>!

�>9 3����������������� 2?������

.����������������
������ ����$�%�������� !<@�D7

7>& ����������
����� ,H�
���

7>! 
������� !D'@''<

7>� M�������� �7�@7<D

7>7 0��������������
���� 2?������

7>: � ������� 2?������

7>$ .�?�� 2?������

7>9 
��������	������������ 2?������

.���������������
������ ����$�%�������� :7&@!9<

: ��������%�
����

0������������������%�
������ ����$�%�����

$ 2����	���	��
���� 2?������

.�����2����	���	��
������ ����$�%�����������

94< ��������	����������������?�������	���������������� 2?������

�	���;����;��
���8���&,����4��	���	����	������
��
	�����
� �6%+(6'�*����������������������������

��������.�	8����
��;;�	����	������
��
	�����
�� <=!&=����!# �&%2&,���������������������������������

�	���;����;��
���8���&,����4��	����3���	������
��
	�����
� (&/6'�*�������������������������������

��������.�	8����
��;;��3���	������
��
	�����
�� <=!&=����!# ,$2'������������������������������������

�
�
�
�
�
��
�

�
	�


�
�
�
�

�
6�
�



�
4
�
�

�
�>

��
4
�
��


	
�
�
�;

�
�


�
�
�
�
��

��

�
	�
�

0
�
�
��

�

�
	�
�

!$��	�!<

��-&�-�&!'

Page 499




����������
�������������	����������


������������������
������
��������	��
��������

,2,��	���;����;��
�������:�0������	�	
	��� $���	
�#

��	��
%����,�������	�0���%�������%�����������������������"� �$

���������� :(�&!<

�����������
�/�����?" 
���������

3��0 ��	���������� :9<

��; &


����������� ''

.�����3��0 $:$

#������������ 7>$I

!>& 
������������
���� ,H�
���

!>! 
������������;��)�������@������������������������ 9'�@&&&

!>� ��������������������������������

#�����������4�
���������� !7$@&&&


������#������#� ���������A�,��5�������) <&@&&&

��	������ D@&&&

/������� <D9@&&&

!>7 
��������	������������

�����0�C���������
���� 2?������

�����������������*���������A2������. 2?������


������������
���� <D9@&&&

� �����������
���� ,H�
���

�>! �5���������������A���	�����������
����� �:@<$$

�>� ��	������������������������� 2?������

�5���������������
������ ����$�%�������� �:@<$$

,H�
���

�>7 #���������� !$@:D7
�>: ����������������@��������� ���������>!
�>$ M������������������@��������������������������� ���������>!
�>9 3����������������� 2?������

.����������������
������ ����$%�������� !$@:D7

7 ����������
�������������������������%" ,H�
���

7>! 
������� �$@7<�

7>� M�������� �D@<�7

7>7 0��������������
���� 2?������

7>: � ������� 2?������

7>$ .�?�� 2?������

7>9 
��������	������������ 2?������

.���������������
������ ����$�%�������� $$@�&$

: ��������%�
����

0������������������%�
������ ����$�%�����

$ 2����	���	��
���� 2?������

.�����2����	���	��
������ ����$�%�����������

94< ��������	����������������?�������	���������������� 2?������

�	���;����;��
���8���&,����4��	���	����	������
��
	�����
� %%�6,,&2$*���������������

��������.�	8����
��;;�	����	������
��
	�����
�� <=!&=����!# '+�����������������������������

�	���;����;��
���8���&,����4��	����3���	������
��
	�����
� %,6,,&2$*�����������������

��������.�	8����
��;;��3���	������
��
	�����
�� <=!&=����!# '2/���������������������������

�
�
�
�
�
��
�

�
	�


�
�
�
�

�
6�
�



�
4
�
�

�
�>

��
4
�
��


	
�
�
�;

�
�


�
�
�
�
��

��

�
	�
�

0
�
�
��

�

�
	�
�

!9��	�!<

��-&�-�&!'

Page 500




����������
�������������	����������


������������������
������
��������	��
��������

,2*��	���;����;��
�������:�0������	�	
	��� +���	
�#


��	�����	��	��������8������������	����%��������������'� �$

���	���	� :(�&!<


�������%��6=�6��	1' 
���������

5678 ��	���������� $:<

��; &


������,���� &

.�����3��0 $:<

#������������ 7>$I

!>& 
������������
���� ,H�
���

!>! 
������������;��)�������@������������������������ 9':@&&&

!>� ��������������������������������

#�����������4�
���������� !7$@&&&


������#������#� ���������A�,��5�������) <&@&&&

��	������ D@&&&

/������� <D<@&&&

!>7 
��������	������������

�����0�C���������
���� 2?������

�����������������*���������A2������. 2?������


������������
���� <D<@&&&

� �����������
���� ,H�
���

�>! �5���������������A���	�����������
����� �:@DD!

�>� ��	������������������������� 2?������

�5���������������
������ ����$�%�������� �:@DD!

,H�
���
�>7 #���������� !$@$'<
�>: ����������������@��������� ���������>!
�>$ M������������������@��������������������������� ���������>!
�>9 3����������������� 2?������

.����������������
������ ����$�%�������� !$@$'<

7 ����������
����� ,H�
���

7>! 
������� &

7>� M�������� &

7>7 0��������������
���� 2?������

7>: � ������� 2?������

7>$ .�?�� 2?������

7>9 
��������	������������ 2?������

.���������������
������ ����$�%�������� &

: ��������%�
����

0������������������%�
������ ����$�%�����

$ 2����	���	��
���� 2?������

.�����2����	���	��
������ ����$�%�����������

94< ��������	����������������?�������	���������������� 2?������

�	���;����;��
���8���&,����4��	���	����	������
��
	�����
� %+(6,*%2'&����������������

��������.�	8����
��;;�	����	������
��
	�����
�� <=!&=����!# *%������������������������������

�	���;����;��
���8���&,����4��	����3���	������
��
	�����
� $/6,*%2'&������������������

��������.�	8����
��;;��3���	������
��
	�����
�� <=!&=����!# &2%*���������������������������

�
�
�
�
�
��
�

�
	�


�
�
�
�

�
6�
�



�
4
�
�

�
�>

��
4
�
��


	
�
�
�;

�
�


�
�
�
�
��

��

�
	�
�

0
�
�
��

�

�
	�
�

!'��	�!<

��-&�-�&!'

Page 501




����������
�������������	����������


������������������
������
��������	��
��������

*2���!!�������7��
���������

3��0��C	� ����������C	� .��������� ��������%������-�

0����������

�� �����.����������

�%��!"

�2/ ���	��� ���!�""��	��# �&I

!>! !@7!������������������� ��>&&K���������������� �<@<9:���������������� $@''�><&������������� �7@&D!����������������

!>� !@7�������������������� ��>&&K���������������� �D@&<:���������������� $@<!9><&������������� �7@�9'����������������

!>7 M����7 <!$�������������������� ��>&&K���������������� !'@D7&���������������� 7@$<9>&&������������� !:@7::����������������

!>: M����: 7$��������������������� ��>&&K���������������� '@'::������������������ !@$:<><&������������� 9@!D$������������������

!>$ M����$ ��:�������������������� ��>&&K���������������� :@D�<������������������ D<$>9&���������������� 7@D:�������������������

/�������� '&@<:&����������������

&2/ ���	��� )	
��!�""��	��# �&I

�>! !@D<<������������������ ��>&&K���������������� :7@'79���������������� <@':'>�&������������� 7:@D<D����������������

�>� !@D7<������������������ ��>&&K���������������� :�@979���������������� <@$�'>�&������������� 7:@!&D����������������

�>7 M����7 !@�97������������������ ��>&&K���������������� �'@'<9���������������� $@$$'>�&������������� ��@��D����������������

�>: M����: 7$��������������������� ��>&&K���������������� '@'::������������������ !@$:<><&������������� 9@!D$������������������

�>$ M����$ ��:�������������������� ��>&&K���������������� :@D�<������������������ D<$>9&���������������� 7@D:�������������������

/�������� !&!@:9:��������������

+2/ -��
	.�����!!���
	��� ���	������
�# :&I

7>! ������!4: 9@:9&������������������ 77><!K���������������� �!<@:&&�������������� <'@79&���������������� !7!@&:&��������������

/�������� !7!@&:&��������������

!$I

$2/ -��
	.�����!!���
	��� 4��!����
���
�#

9@:9&������������������ '>9�������������������� :D@�&&���������������� '@7<&������������������ :!@<�&����������������

:>! ������!4:

/�������� :!@<�&����������������

,2/ 0������	�	
	��� $���	
�# �-0

$>! !@D<<������������������ !7>&&K���������������� �$@<::���������������� 4��������������������� �$@<::����������������

$>� !@7<!������������������ !$>&&K���������������� �&@'!$���������������� 4��������������������� �&@'!$����������������

$>7 9&'�������������������� !$>&&K���������������� D@!&$������������������ 4��������������������� D@!&$������������������

$>: $<��������������������� !7>&&K���������������� '@$99������������������ 4��������������������� '@$99������������������

/�������� 97@�7&����������������

*2/ 0������	�	
	��� +���	
�# �-0

9>! 7@9$������������������� !7>&&K���������������� :'@:'9���������������� 4��������������������� :'@:'9����������������

9>� !@$�:������������������ !$>&&K���������������� ��@<9&���������������� 4��������������������� ��@<9&����������������

9>7 9&'�������������������� !$>&&K���������������� D@!&$������������������ 4��������������������� D@!&$������������������

/�������� 'D@::!����������������

M����!

M�����

M����7

M����:

M�����

M����7

M����!

M�����

M����!

M�����

M����!

!<��	�!<

��-&�-�&!'

Page 502



Model Capital Interest Loan Payback Negative Total cost/(saving) Total cost/(saving)

costs £ Loan £ Rate % period IRR Period (Years) impact on MTFS £ over 25 years £ over 40 years £ Comments

1 Total capital costs funded by loan.  1,940,000 1,940,000 2% 15 years nil nil 1,048,592 19,673 -

No saving/return over 25 years.  15 years before positive impact on 

MTFS

1a Total capital costs funded by loan - Sensitivity at 3% 1,940,000 1,940,000 3% 15 years nil nil 1,216,852 187,934 -

No saving/return over 25 years. 15 years before positive impact on 

MTFS

2 Total capital costs funded by loan.   Sensitivity - model over 40 years 1,940,000 1,940,000 3% 15 years nil 26 years 1,216,852 - (1,491,117)

as 1, but model spread over 40 years.  15 years before positive impact 

on MTFS

3 Total capital costs funded by internal borrowing - Sensitivity - borrowing at 0% 1,940,000 1,940,000 0% 15 years nil 23 years 733,352 (295,467) -

15 years before positive impact on MTFS. Modelled at 0% for 

comparison purposes, but not a  viable option

4 Total capital costs funded by internal borrowing - sensitivity - borrowing at 0%, modelled over 40 years 1,940,000 1,940,000 0% 15 years nil 22 years 733,352 (1,974,404)

as 3, but model spread over 40 years. Not a viable option.  15 years 

before positive impact on MTFS

5 Total capital costs part funded by contribution of £373k from reserve 1,940,000 1,567,000 3% 15 years nil 23 years 750,910 (278,009) -

Assume use of 17/18 increase in fees, ringfenced for scheme, subject to 

council approval.  15 years before positive impact on MTFS

6 Total capital costs part funded by contribution of £373k from reserve & £275k capital receipt 1,940,000 1,292,000 3% 15 years nil 19 years 407,387 (621,532) -

Assume as per no 5, plus use of cemetery lodge capital receipt, subject 

to council approval. 15 years before positive impact on MTFS  

7 As no 6, but with increased income volume from 2027, in line with population/death statistics 1,940,000 1,292,000 3% 15 years 3.69% 12 years 265,942 (4,144,707) -

The additional income could be accomodated by the existing and 1st 

new chapel, so this is not a  true incremental increase. 9 years before 

positive impact on MTFS

8

Mothball the existing chapel, no re-use. Capital costs re 2nd chapel only. Total capital costs funded by 3% loan.    

Assumes popoulation/death increases from 2027 1,000,000 1,000,000 1.80% 15 years 2.25% 18 years 801,320 (1,914,641)

assumes all cremations undertaken in new and second chapel, with 

volume increases in 2027. Assumes business rates still payable on 

mothballed chapel, per JG.  9 years before positive impact on MTFS

9

Mothball the existing chapel, no re-use. Capital costs re 2nd chapel only. Total capital costs part funded by 

contribution of £373k from reserve & £275k capital receipt, but no increased volumes of activity 1,000,000 352,000 1.80% 15years nil nil 866,228 866,228 -

assumes all cremations undertaken in new and second chapel - no 

overall increase in volume.  Assumes business rates still payable on 

mothballed chapel. No saving/return over 25 years. Negative impact on 

MTFS over all 25 years

10

As 9, Mothball the existing chapel, no re-use. Capital costs re 2nd chapel only. Total capital costs part funded by 

contribution of £373k from reserve & £275k capital receipt, but with increased volumes of activity re population 

increase. Loan over 15 years at 1.8%, based on current PWLB loan rate February 2017 1,000,000 352,000 1.80% 15years 4.46% 14 years 355,937 (2,656,947) -

As no 9, but additional volume of cremations from 2027 across new & 

2nd chapel.   High risk if death statistics are not as expected in 10 to 25 

year's time and estimated increased activity does not materialise.  Also 

assumes business rates still payable on mothballed chapel. 9 years 

before positive impact on MTFS.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      

Shortfall could be met by increase of £26.50 re environmental 

charges from year 1, creating a positive impact on MTFS, starting in 

year 1 . This fee increase would result in overall impact on MTFS of 

£4.061m over 25 years

Recommended option -

11

As 10, Mothball the existing chapel, no re-use. Capital costs re 2nd chapel only. Total capital costs part funded 

by contribution of £373k from reserve & £275k capital receipt, but with increased volumes of activity re 

population increase and loan over 25 years at 2.40%, based on PWLB rates ar February 2017 1,000,000 352,000 2.4% 25 years 4.50% 12 years 283,252 (2,590,032) -

As above but loan over 25 years at a rate of 2.4%, per PWLB rates Feb 

17.    9 years before positive impact on MTFS.                                                                                            

Shortfall could be met by increase of £26.50 re environmental 

charges from year 1, creating a positive impact on MTFS, starting in 

year 1 . This fee increase would result in overall impact on MTFS of 

£3.994m over 25 years.

Capital costs

Reuse of existing chapel 898,000

Build of 2nd chapel 957,000

Project management/Backfilling (based on 50% of similar costs for approved 1st new chapel) 85,000 (reduced to £43000 (25%) options 8 - 11)

1,940,000

P
age 503



P
age 504



11. Current Value -assuming 2.4% borrowing, use of 17/18 income and capital receipt from sale of cemetery lodge and population volumes

Financing based on £352,000 PWLB annuity loan over 25 years)

Assuming works commence and complete in 2017/18 with loan drawdown post completion at beginning of 2018/19

Years 0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 Total

Capital Expenditure - 2nd Chapel Per Pick Evard / Wilmott Dixon - no breakdown seen 907,000 907,000

Project Management / Backfilling costs

£171k for approved new scheme business case - 

estimate 25% of this for 2nd chapel scheme 43,000 43,000

Contingency - 2nd Chapel Estimated CBC Contingency - build second chapel 50,000 50,000

Total Capital -Existing Chapel and Second Chapel Total loan £352,000 1,000,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,000,000

PWLB Borrowing

PWLB Borrowing - (25 years)

Based on 2017 interest rates - subject to rate 

changes -352,000 -352,000

Repayment of PWLB Borrowing

Principal repayments / MRP - 25 years 10,420 10,671 10,929 11,193 11,463 11,740 12,023 12,314 12,611 12,916 13,227 13,547 13,874 14,209 14,552 14,903 15,263 15,631 16,009 16,395 16,791 17,197 17,612 18,037 18,473 352,000

Interest repayments - 25 years  8,386 8,134 7,877 7,613 7,343 7,066 6,782 6,492 6,195 5,890 5,578 5,259 4,932 4,597 4,254 3,903 3,543 3,174 2,797 2,410 2,014 1,609 1,194 769 333 118,143

Change in annual occupational costs - to be considered

Existing Chapel-

Life cycle costs

Replacement & Refurbishment Costs  - assume no 

additional costs over current budget for existing 

chapel. No savings as still have to maintain interior 

and external building 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Saving in existing chapel utility costs

Est.saving in existing chapel utility costs (existing 

costs for chapel/offices £72500) tbc -50,000 -50,000 -50,000 -50,000 -50,000 -50,000 -50,000 -50,000 -50,000 -50,000 -50,000 -50,000 -50,000 -50,000 -50,000 -50,000 -50,000 -50,000 -50,000 -50,000 -50,000 -50,000 -50,000 -50,000 -50,000 -1,250,000

Estimated existing/2nd chapel business rates payable - see below

current budget whole site £48,500 - estimate 

additional cost across whole site of £20k (on top of 

£20k additional costs in original new chapel business 

case) tbc 20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000 625,000

2nd New Chapel -

Cost of transportation of coffins across site

saving in cost identified in 1st new chapel business 

case -not needed if have 2nd chapel -3,000 -3,000 -3,000 -3,000 -3,000 -3,000 -3,000 -3,000 -3,000 -3,000 -3,000 -3,000 -3,000 -3,000 -3,000 -3,000 -3,000 -3,000 -3,000 -3,000 -3,000 -3,000 -3,000 -3,000 -3,000 -75,000

Gas / Electricity / Water

 based on est 25% efficiency saving compared to 

existing chapel - to be confirmed at design stage tbc 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 1,000,000

Insurance -2nd chapel based on 1st new chapel business case 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 50,000

Response Maintenance budget for 2nd chapel new build Estimate of likely budget requirement 1,000 2,000 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000 113,000

income--

No additional volumes of cremations as transfer of activities only.  

Further increase in fees charges??

Fee increases included in 1st new chapel business 

case. May be difficult to increase further given 

competition 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 -113,651 -113,651 -113,651 -113,651 -113,651 -113,651 -227,302 -227,302 -227,302 -227,302 -227,302 -340,952 -340,952 -340,952 -340,952 -340,952 -3,523,175

Cashflow 1,000,000 -324,194 28,806 29,806 32,806 32,806 32,806 32,806 32,806 32,806 -80,845 -75,845 -75,845 -75,845 -75,845 -75,845 -184,496 -184,496 -184,496 -184,496 -184,496 -298,147 -298,147 -298,147 -298,147 -298,147 -1,942,032

FINANCING

PWLB Borrowing -352,000 352,000 0

General Reserve - one-off funding income 17/18 tfrd to budget deficts reserve -373,000 -373,000

Capital receipts - cemetery Lodge Funding -275,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 -275,000

Total -1,000,000 352,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 -648,000

Impact on Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 1,000,000 27,806 28,806 29,806 32,806 32,806 32,806 32,806 32,806 32,806 -80,845 -75,845 -75,845 -75,845 -75,845 -75,845 -184,496 -184,496 -184,496 -184,496 -184,496 -298,147 -298,147 -298,147 -298,147 -298,147 -2,590,032

cumulative 27,806 56,611 86,417 119,223 152,029 184,834 217,640 250,446 283,252 202,406 126,561 50,716 -25,129 -100,974 -176,819 -361,315 -545,811 -730,307 -914,802 -1,099,298 -1,397,445 -1,695,592 -1,993,738 -2,291,885 -2,590,032

Annual rate of return 2.78% 2.88% 2.98% 3.28% 3.28% 3.28% 3.28% 3.28% 3.28% -8.08% -7.58% -7.58% -7.58% -7.58% -7.58% -18.45% -18.45% -18.45% -18.45% -18.45% -29.81% -29.81% -29.81% -29.81% -29.81%

Further funding to offset shortfall to MTFS, subject to approval Environment Fee £26.50 per cremation 0 -50,350 -50,350 -50,350 -50,350 -50,350 -50,350 -50,350 -50,350 -50,350 -55,049 -55,049 -55,049 -55,049 -55,049 -55,049 -59,749 -59,749 -59,749 -59,749 -59,749 -64,448 -64,448 -64,448 -64,448 -64,448 -1,404,429

positive impact on MTFS - per year if introduce £26.50 environment fee -22,544 -21,544 -20,544 -17,544 -17,544 -17,544 -17,544 -17,544 -17,544 -135,894 -130,894 -130,894 -130,894 -130,894 -130,894 -244,245 -244,245 -244,245 -244,245 -244,245 -362,595 -362,595 -362,595 -362,595 -362,595 -3,994,461

cumulative positive impact on MTFS -22,544 -44,089 -64,633 -82,177 -99,721 -117,266 -134,810 -152,354 -169,898 -305,793 -436,687 -567,582 -698,476 -829,370 -960,265 -1,204,509 -1,448,754 -1,692,999 -1,937,243 -2,181,488 -2,544,082 -2,906,677 -3,269,272 -3,631,866 -3,994,461

Capital costs 1,000,000

BUSINESS RATES: All CEMETERY BUILDING ASSESSED ON A WHOLE SITE BASIS.

Saving over 25 years -2,590,032 Existing chapel would only be exempt, as an empty listed building, IF assessed separately to rest of site. Unlikelt this would happen if we choose to mothball. Estimate £20,000 additional costs, pending proper assessment, in line with first new chapel business case.

Return over 25 years -259.003%

IRR 4.501% Premises utility costs - currently estimate a saving of £10k per annum, compared to existing chapel costs, through more efficient equipment, etc.  - to be confirmed by Property

Payback period 12 years

Cost over first 9 years (before positive impact on MTFS) 283,252

Population statistics year 0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25

£m 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031 2032 2033 2034 2035 2036 2037 2038 2039 2040 2041 2042

Cheltenham Population 118.9 119.6 120.3 121 121.7 122.4 123.1 123.8 124.5 125.2 126 126.7 127.4 128.1 128.8 129.5 130.1 130.8 131.4 132 132.6 133.2 133.8 133.8 133.8 133.8

Cheltenham Deaths 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.1 1.1 1.1 1.1 1.1 1.1 1.2 1.2 1.2 1.2 1.2 1.3 1.3 1.3 1.3 1.3

% increase 9.33% 9.33% 9.33% 9.33% 9.33% 9.33% 18.67% 18.67% 18.67% 18.67% 18.67% 28.00% 28.00% 28.00% 28.00% 28.00%

2014 2015 2016 profile - est of the 300k (28%) total volume increase per Perfect Circle  /JCS statistics

116.5 117.4 118.1

1.1 1.0 base of 1900 cremations per new chapel business case base 2017/18 fee of £801.11 excluding abatement and medical fee

subject to council approval 24-2-17

Option: Mothball Existing Chapel and replace with a 2nd new chapel

P
age 505



P
age 506



Route B Route C/A 

(see note 

above)

Comments

5 Imjin Road n n I object to both of these routes for access to the planned chapel & crematorium for the following reasons:

The amenity of the field will be severely affected. A road running through the middle or at the edge the playing field will restrict access and make it unsafe for children to play, dogs to be walked and for ball games to be played. These 

are all activities that the residents of Priors estate, Oakley, Whaddon, Prestbury and beyond would lose local access to if this application is approved. 

It will increase noise, traffic congestion and pollution on the estate especially due to the nature of funerals with lots of people arriving and leaving at the same time.

The increase in noise and congestion will definitely be more prominent on Imjin road where many residents use on street parking, which in places effectively turns it into a single track road. 

This problem can already be seen on days when football matches are held in Priors field, where the road becomes extremely congested when all players and families leave at once. I also feel that this is counterintuitive to the recently 

imposed 20MPH speed limit. This was designed to make the estate safer for vulnerable residents and increasing the traffic load on the estate will not help to achieve this. 

3 Somme Road y Letter available to view in Documents Tab (see planning applicationb 17/00011/OUT)

14 Ladysmith Road n? I am a resident of Ladysmith road and and writing to say that I will be directly affected if it is decided that the lane behind the houses on the road will be used for access to the new crematorium.

Whilst the lane has been problematic as it is overgrown and is used as a dumping ground, I am not sure that it is going to be suitable alternative for access to the crematorium either. The gardens attached to these houses in the area 

are not very big at all and so the cars would be traveling very close to the properties and would definitely cause a noise issue. ( who wil provide new fences or walls for the end of the residents gardens?? ). Also I am concerned about 

the trees and the wildlife in this area. ( birds, squirrels, shrews etc ).What will happen to the evergreen trees lining the existing cemetery entrance and the big trees inbetween the track and the current entry lane?? As the track is only 

big enough for one way traffic are the trees going to be removed to accommodate more cars or is it going to be one way in on the current entry road and one way out on the track if this is the option decided.? Also you say that the 

track will be locked when not in use. This will not deter people from entering the area when it is isn't being used and so I am not sure this will reduce any of the anti social behaviour that currently exists.

I think before a decision is made, more information needs to be provided for both options so an informed decision can be made by all.

Thank you

93 Imjin Road n We strongly oppose the application for the road to be extended up Imjin Road and across the playing field, how are the children that play football on a weekend going to cross this road, we are a family estate where our children go 

outside to play and do we really want hearses and grief stricken families driving up our road every 15mins especially during the 6 weeks holiday when children will be outside playing.

What will happen to the people who walk there dogs up the field, where will they park.

Where will the football players park when they are using the field

How is this going to be policed to stop the joy riders spinning around on it, as we have issues with speeding on this road as it is.

Also we are very concerned about the HIGH RISK to flooding, 

We have issue's with parking up here now as most homes have 2 cars and cars are parked on both sides of the road, also what will happen when it is rubbish day?

Appendix 5 - Comments made on outline planning application 17/00011/OUT (crematorium access roads)

Support for 

Note: The planning application referenced Route A (via Imjin Rd) and Route B (along the southern boundary of the cemetery). Therefore the comments below reference routes A and B. However readers need to be aware that the Cabinet report of 7th March refers to 

the Imjin Rd route as route C

P
age 507



8 Kimberley Walk y n I write in support of the planning application for option B for the new cemetery to be approached via the existing track at the back of Ladysmith Road with the provision this road be improved and kept locked out of hours to avoid 

antisocial behaviour.

I oppose and object to the planning application for option A and believe that residents on Priors Road and myself would prefer to see the play area left as open space to be enjoyed and not be spoilt by the flow of funeral courtage 

every day. Dog walkers, children go there to raise their spirits and play games. It is a place of enjoyment and happiness.

The mourners deserve respect and a quiet and more dignified approach to their loved ones final destination. On Imjin Road there are cars parked on both sides leaving only a narrow gap so a long stream of traffic would cause 

problems and blockages. It would make it difficult for emergency vehicles to approach at that time. There are quite a few disabled and elderly residents who may require emergency services.

22 Ladysmith Road y n Letter available to view in Documents Tab (see planning applicationb 17/00011/OUT)

6 Ladysmith Road n? n Letter available to view in Documents Tab (see planning applicationb 17/00011/OUT)

65 Imjin Road n Letter available to view in Documents Tab (see planning applicationb 17/00011/OUT)

2 Imjin Road n? n My partner and I moved to Imjin Road just over a year ago. We object to the proposals because

1. the road already has a problem with cars driving too fast.

2.it is already a busy road, made worse by the chip shop parking, not sure how they were allowed to expand with no further provisions for traffic and parking

3.the road for the crematorium will no doubt be a stepping stone for a through road up to the new estate, we suspect this is as much a part of plan (A) as the crematorium. If this were the case it would be outrageously bad for Imjin 

Road.

4. the area beyond the playing fields is beautiful and should be protected from any further damage

plan A is totally unacceptable to us

plan B is the better of the two, though we still object as we do not want any more traffic, it is already a problem that needs a solution not making worse

thank you for your time

5 Blackberry Field y y I support this application if it helps enable the delivery of the important enhancements to the town's crematorium facilities

55 Salamanca Road n n We understand the need to expand the crematorium but to dig up green fields that people walk dogs on and play football is wrong, the other route is too narrow and would directly give us more road noise and pollution, there must 

be another route or alternative solution

89 Imjin Road y n I live in Imjin road, & I believe that an access road via Imjin road & playing fields would spoil the playing fiedpld & bring more traffic down Imjin road where children play, & where there a lot of cars parked. I believe that access via 

ladysmith road would be better, & also that it already exists as a pathway

42 Ladysmith Road I wish to point out that for route alignment B (cemetery / Ladysmith Road) that there is buried drainage infrastructure (a culvert) within the vicinity of this access track which conveys flow from the ditch running along the cemetery 

boundary. During heavy winter weather and where flow exceeds the capacity of the culvert, run-off is re-directed towards the access track (Route B) between the cemetery and the rear gardens of Ladysmith Road and flows along it. 

The new development should incorporate upgraded drainage measures along the southern side of the cemetery considering previous surface water studies within the area. It is not clear that drainage measures from the FAS scheme 

referred to in the Design Statement would accommodate this development. 

The development should incorporate adequate drainage capacity considering actual flow within watercourses and run-off within the area.

Environmental screens should be considered for the change of use of the track and for open field areas for Route B if adopted

33 Imjin Road y n I wish to vote for plan b for several reasons

there are four roads that exit imjin road - burma avenue, imjin court and salamanca road

the busy traffic flow will disrupt the funeral processions, delivery service vehicles, visitors to the crem and residents.

I am against any plan that would possibly jeopardise the free green spaces we have currently on the estate

The Occupiers of 16 Imjin Road have requested they be included as an occupant is disabled and they are not able to get into town nor do they have computer access

On Saturday and Sundays there are football matches held at the field at the top of Imjin Road - just the extra 10-15 cars causes awful traffic delays, with the road not being wide enough for traffic to pass in both directions,

As you come out of Imjin Road you have a pelican crossing, yellow box and traffic lights, this prevents free flow of traffic, plus cars parking undoable yellow lines outside the shops (chip shop, chinese takeaway and haridressers which 

adds to the madness.

P
age 508



46 Ladysmith Road y I am in strong support of Option B as a new access route to the cemetery. 

The existing track at the back of the properties on Ladysmith Road is a focus for anti-social behaviour and is badly littered. I understand it has also been used as an access route in a number of recent burglaries. Re-purposing this land 

provides the opportunity to tackle all the above, together with sensitive landscaping, to support the development of the cemetery

8 Imjin Road n I object to the use of Imjin Road as access for the new crematorium. We live just inside Imjin Road near Priors Rd and the traffic on Imjin is very heavy already. Due to Simpsons Fish and Chip Shop parking in this area is also heavy and 

Imjin Road for a vast majority of the time is one line traffic. Please take heavy traffic on Imjin into consideration when making your decision. Thank you

62 Salamanca Road The anti social behaviour which Mr Colin Hay has mentioned in his recent letter that takes place on the track behind the houses on ladysmith and Salamanca road actually takes place in the garages which also run infront of the track. 

Mr Colin Hay has stated if the road was built where the track was it would stop the anti social behaviour and extreme litter as it would be locked at nights. It would not stop the anti social behaviour as they would still be able to access 

the garages. The garages also need some security to prevent access as this is where it all goes on. Only garages owners should be able to get in there. Also the houses that run along the back of the track on Salamanca road have had a 

problem with rat infestations which is a concern if they are to dig right behind the houses. 

69 Imjin Road y n Letter available to view in Documents Tab

10 Kimberley Walk y n We cannot see anything in the Design and Access Statement submitted to support the need for either Route A or B. The report suggests there are "significant logistical challenges" with routes within the site, but no justification is 

offered.

If the need can be established, then Route B is the only sensible option. The fact that Route A is being considered at all seems incredible, since it would be entirely unsuitable and suggests that there has not been much thought put 

into the scheme to date.

The junction of Imjin Road with Prior's Road is not set up to allow a significant increase in traffic, particularly so near to other junctions and traffic lights. Imjin Road itself is too narrow to suit additional traffic (particularly construction 

traffic). The playing fields car park gets particularly busy at weekends for sporting use, and would not allow traffic to the crematorium to flow freely.

If Route B is to be adopted, then the need for it needs to be firmly established

Grey Gables Southam Road y? n Although we are in general agreement that car parking and access to the Cheltenham Cemetery needs improving we are opposed to one of the proposed access roads, namely Route A, Imjin Road.

Imjin Road is one of the main routes to the residential housing development and access to Imjin Road is at a very busy and dangerous junction close to a pedestrian crossing, Sainsburys Supermarket traffic lights and the busy entrance 

to Whaddon Road. 

We have to make frequent visits to Imjin Road and we know from experience that access to and from Priors Road is not easy. Also, Imjin Road is quite narrow and due to residents cars parked on both sides of the road reduces the 

remaining carriageway to just over one cars width. If vehicles from the cemetery were also using this access it could cause major traffic problems and also be a danger to pedestrians and children in the area. Access to the playing fields 

and early years playground is also via Imjin Road and extra traffic would be a danger to children and parents using these facilities.

Although we are not happy with Route B, via Ladysmith Road, being used, it would probably be a better alternative if no other improved solution can be found.

To Summarise: We would strongly object to Imjin Road ( Route A ) being used as access to the new Cheltenham Cemetery. 

50 Salamanca Road y n I object to the use of Imjin Road being used as it is so very busy already and the playing field and land beyond should be kept as it is natural for walkers/dog walkers. It makes sense to me to use the track which goes behind houses and 

up side of field. Seems less disruption and more straight forward route. 

25 Goodrich Road y? n I object to Route A because not only does this blight my property which will overlook this road, but will cause potential congestion in Imjin Road. It makes much more sense to exit straight to a main road as proposed in Route B, 

although I am unconvinced that the case has been made for a secondary exit requiring either option. 

Additionally, I am concerned that already the car park and area to the changing rooms and further to the swings is already a meeting point for off road bikers and others at late hours and despite locked gates may cause further 

nuisance to residents. 

Finally, I am extremely concerned that this could be used as an incremental extension of home building and would appreciate an assurance this is not paving the way for further development as an extension of the properties at Imjin 

Road. 

49 Imjin Road This road is only going in so that Goodrich Road can join it and keep the rich in Battledown quiet. I hope you do it with learner drivers doing three point turns and Refuse lorries doing their collections in between parked cars what will 

happen to the poor old Hearse & Limo with the family sat in the back 

1 Kimberley Walk y n I support the application providing on the condition that the access road is Option B. viz: The current track at the rear of Ladysmith Road. Option A. Imjin road is not suitable. It is already substantially restricted by parked cars, and 

excessively used by driving instructors for training learner drivers. Any further increase in traffic would place an unacceptable burden on residents.

51 Imjin Road n n I think that both the routes will disturb the area and make it really busy and much more hectic. It's a lovely place to live at the moment and there is access to the cemetery just down the road and there is no need for it. The park is a 

safe place for children to play and it's an enclosed area. On Imjin Road a lot of cars park on either side of the road and it already is hard to get through sometimes. 

P
age 509



23 Goodrich Road Can appreciate why new access road is needed. Presumably these are alternative routes though this is not clear on site map.

Both routes are near water courses: Route A adjacent to Wymans Brook and Route B to stream along Cemetery fence.

Clarification of flooding risk is needed. Field is already very prone to waterlogging.

Many manholes (presumably over drainage channels) have recently been highlighted. There are more than we were ever aware of!

Route B is preferable as it causes minimal disruption to playing field area.

Will there be any means to prevent road being used by young racers? i.e. gates and/or speed bumps. There is already enough evening disturbance in Priors Farm car park.

There have been active badger sets along Cemetery fence. Will Route B disturb these? 

45 Imjin Road y n Of the two routes proposed, it is clear that Route B will cause the least disruption on an ongoing basis and will not cause the playing fields to require huge modification going forward. The facilities can remain and it will continue to be 

a safe space for the local community to use. 

Route A would be a huge concern in terms of traffic in the area as the majority of house on Imjin Road have no off street parking meaning that cars are parked on both sides of the road. Congestion is an issue on the road during busy 

times as it is - to introduce whole new streams of cars using the road would be a huge problem. 

47 Imjin Road y n Of the two routes being proposed it is obvious that Route B which follows the old abandoned Farm access road is a lot less disruptive than Route A.

Route B delivers traffic out directly onto Bouncers Lane and does not involve changing the playing fields layout and facilities.

Route A would not only impact the playing fields but would also put traffic out onto Imjin Road which is a heavily parked road (both sides of the road leaving enough space for 1 vehicle in the middle) with most houses having no off 

road parking. Also Imjin Road and the rest of the estate has a 20mph speed limit - this was done for a very good reason, and turning Imjin Road into a exit route from the cemetery, or an access road for heavy vehicles, would seem to 

fly in the face of that decision.

So I support Route B but object to Route A.

Also you state "The flood alleviation scheme has been overlaid on the attached proposed access route options to help understand its impact on the new Crematorium scheme and permission has been given by GCC to share and use 

environmental impact survey work undertaken by their consultants."

There seems to be no sign of documentation relating to the flood alleviation scheme anywhere on this application.

P
age 510



 

 

Progress update regarding the new crematorium project 
including business case decisions regarding access road 

and second chapel option  

Appendix 6 – Summary of public consultation 

 

Page 1 of 5 

1. Introduction 

1.1 As set out in the main body of the Cabinet report a public consultation on the concept 
designs for the new crematorium has taken place. 

1.2 This report describes the public consultation process and sets out its results. Other 
consultation undertaken is described in section 8 of the Cabinet report. 

2. Approach to consultation 

2.1 The consultation was based on the current concept designs including the proposals 
for access roads and the construction of a second new chapel made in the main 
Cabinet report. 

2.2 Information boards were displayed:  

• in the waiting room at the Cemetery and Crematorium and in the foyer of the 

Municipal Offices from Monday 27 February to Wednesday 1 March 

• on the council’s website from Friday 24 February to 10 am on Thursday 2 March 

The boards are included as Appendix 7 to the Cabinet report. 

2.3 A public drop-in session was held at the Municipal Offices from 2.30 pm to 7.30 pm 
on Wednesday 1 March. 43 visitors attended and discussed the options with 
members of the programme team including the Cabinet Member, the Director of 
Environment and the Bereavement Services Manager; and representatives of the 
lead contractor (Willmott Dixon), the architects (Roberts Limbrick) and the project 
manager (Pick Everard). 

2.4 The public consultation was promoted through: 

• A press release supported by briefings to and interviews with press and radio 

• Advertisement at the Municipal Offices and the Cemetery and Crematorium 

• Advertisement on the council’s website and on Cotswold District Council 

website 

• Frequent social media prompts 

• Leaflets delivered to around 600 of the households closest to the Cemetery 

and Crematorium 

• Leaflets distributed at other public and stakeholder events 

Page 511



 

 

Progress update regarding the new crematorium project 
including business case decisions regarding access road 

and second chapel option  

Appendix 6 – Summary of public consultation 

 

Page 2 of 5 

• E-mails to main stakeholders – funeral directors; ministers, representatives of 

faith groups, celebrants and organists 

• E-mails to CBC members; Prestbury Parish Council members (via CBC ward 

members); relevant Tewkesbury Borough Council ward members and Southam 

Parish Council members. 

• Communications with CBC staff and the Tewkesbury planning team 

 

2.5 All those consulted were invited to complete a questionnaire, available in paper form 
at the meetings and the places at which plans were displayed and also available 
electronically on the council’s website.  

3. Consultation Results 

3.1 A summary of the results is set out below: 

• There were 84 responses to the questionnaire in total, 55 on-line, 29 on paper 

• 46% of responses judged the design proposals as ‘5 star’ (out of 5), whilst 91% 

awarded 3 stars or more 

• 74% agreed with the suggested approach to access roads 

• 87% agreed with the proposal that a second new chapel should be constructed 

 
3.2 Of those 70 respondents who included their postcodes, 69 were from Cheltenham 

with a significant bias towards the localities closest to the site of the Cemetery and 
Crematorium.  

3.3 9 respondents identified themselves as connected to a bereavement service or 
business. 

3.4 Overall Design 

3.4.1 Respondents were asked to award up to 5 stars to the overall design. 83 respondents 

gave a clear response. 

 Number of stars 

 1 2 3 4 5 

Number of 

respondents 
2 6 14 23 38 

% of respondents 2 7 17 28 46 

 
3.4.2 Respondents were asked what they liked about the designs. Typical comments were: 

• “The natural and traditional use of the local materials” 

Page 512



 

 

Progress update regarding the new crematorium project 
including business case decisions regarding access road 

and second chapel option  

Appendix 6 – Summary of public consultation 

 

Page 3 of 5 

• “Traditional barn structure but internally light and airy. Garden around building.” 

• “They are modern but stylish and sit well within the crematorium grounds 

sufficiently away from the current chapel so as not to offend that architectural 

style” 

• “Design is good for the location as it is unobtrusive.  Various sizes of rooms in a 

good feature.  It gives a lovely peaceful space in a country location.  I think people 

will be very impressed.” 

 
3.4.3 Respondents were asked how the designs could be improved. Typical comments 

were: 

• “The floral display area and remembrance area for the second chapel could be 

more significant, it appears much smaller than the main chapel facilities” 

• “The size of the main chapel appears so large (we know you sometimes need a 

place for a huge crowd) but by and large the main one that we now have makes it 

more personal. It looks awful to go to a funeral where it appears hardly anyone is 

there. Would there be coloured glass in the windows, instead of it looking like a 

factory and cold. Put love and heart into it” 

• “Make more welcoming and comfortable far too 'barn like'” 

• “Use of some colour for interior design - glass (subtle) in "dovecote" windows.” 

 
3.5 Access Routes 

3.5.1 Respondents were asked whether they agreed with the suggested approach to 

entrance and exit routes (as set out in recommendation 1 to Cabinet). Of the 80 clear 

responses 59 (74%) were in favour and 21 (26%) not in favour. 

3.5.2 Those not in favour were given the opportunity to state why. A number of responses 

focussed on the Bouncer’s Lane entrance, or the proposed entrance route through 

the crematorium. Typical comments were: 

• “The existing narrow entrance from Bouncers Lane is unsuitable for incoming and 

outgoing traffic. The opportunity should be taken to create a new independent exit, 

perhaps using the old farm lane behind Ladysmith Road which runs parallel and 

adjacent to the existing entrance drive.” 

• “The entrance route should not be arching via blackberry fields but should use the 

more direct route, left to right road to the south, passing just north of the existing 

chapels. This would mean more privacy for the existing housing. It has also been 

suggested screening the blackberry field area with trees but this would cause 

undue extreme loss of light and outlook.” 

• “A very long entrance proposed when a more direct route is available.” 

• “I am retired and have lived on the immediate Bovis estate boundary directly 

opposite the chapel for nearly 25 years. I am strongly opposed to any proposal 

Page 513



 

 

Progress update regarding the new crematorium project 
including business case decisions regarding access road 

and second chapel option  

Appendix 6 – Summary of public consultation 

 

Page 4 of 5 

which drives all crematorium traffic directly past my back garden (which I use 

extensively).” 

 
3.5.3 Respondents were asked which route for construction traffic they favoured. Three 

alternatives were set out on the boards. A clear preference was stated by 27 

respondents.  

Possible construction route Preferred by 

Through cemetery 2 

Along southern boundary of cemetery 9 

Along southern boundary of cemetery but with link to Imjin 

Rd along western side of sports field. 

16 

 
3.6 Second Chapel 

3.6.1 Respondents were asked whether they agreed with the proposal to construct a 

second chapel (recommendation 4 to Cabinet). 73 (87%) were in favour, 11 (13%) 

against. 

3.6.2 Those in favour were influenced by the opportunity to think long-term, the disruption 

of additional building once the new facility is operational and the avoidance of coffin 

transportation. Typical comments were: 

• “Despite the extra expense, it seems better to do it now and get the construction 

work over and done with.” 

• “Better than a piecemeal solution” 

• “Makes financial sense and also ensures that the logistics of "processing" the 

coffins goes smoothly.” 

• “The cemetery and crematorium has to become more commercially focussed, new 

privately owned services have been proposed recently. The Council will need to 

position itself in the strongest position in an increasing market place.” 

 
3.6.3 Those not in favour most often referenced the beauty of the existing chapels. Typical 

comments were: 

• “There is nothing wrong with the South Chapel. Many of us have said our goodbyes 

to loved ones in the South Chapel and for this reason I oppose any proposed 

change of use.” 

• “The second chapel looks like it has been added on; squeezed in as an afterthought.  

The current south chapel with a little spruce is ideal.  It feels intimate and serene.  

As the name suggests, it is not a dark, cold chapel even when the sun is not out, but 

when it does, it lifts the spirts.  If funeral party is small, you don't feel as if you are 

rattling within the south chapel.  But of course there are times when a larger chapel 

Page 514



 

 

Progress update regarding the new crematorium project 
including business case decisions regarding access road 

and second chapel option  

Appendix 6 – Summary of public consultation 

 

Page 5 of 5 

is required and so a new purpose built chapel is great, but don't lose the heritage of 

the site.” 

• “I believe the public should have the choice of the traditional chapel, as well as the 

new one” 

• “Unnecessary extra expense.  £1m could be spent more wisely.” 

 

4. Summary 

4.1 A wide-ranging consultation on the current conceptual designs has taken place in 
order to gauge views on the designs and allow modifications before they are included 
in a planning application. Views will also inform the decisions requested from Cabinet 
and Council in March 2017. 

4.2 These views should be considered alongside the other stakeholder responses 
recorded in the main body of the Cabinet report. 

4.3 It is clear that support for the designs, the proposed approach to access roads and 
the construction of a second chapel is widespread. 

4.4 The number of clear responses to the choice of construction traffic route was low, but 
indicated a clear desire that the existing cemetery should not be used and a majority 
in favour of using Imjin Rd. 

4.5 Nonetheless, there are minorities who expressed different views. These views will be 
taken into account and considered as potential modifications to the plans. 

Page 515



Page 516



CHELTENHAM CREMATORIUM, BOUNCERS LANE, CHELTENHAM

CHELTENHAM CREMATORIUM  :  1

Welcome
Thank you for taking the time to attend this consultation 

Please read the information provided and give 

feedback using the printed questionnaire or via the 

website (www.cheltenham.gov.uk/Cem-and-Crem)

Background
The site has been used as a crematorium since 1938 when an 

extension was built onto the original Victorian burial Chapels. 

While these buildings have undergone some degree of alteration 

as well as crematoria equipment, access and car parking.

A comprehensive study was carried out in 2015 to assess 

all options for delivering a long term sustainable future for 

the Cemetery and Crematorium, and how best to serve the 

communities of Cheltenham and surrounding areas in the future.

Following this study Cheltenham Borough Council decided to 

build a new Crematorium facility to the immediate east of the 

existing Cemetery and Crematorium site.  This will contain new 

chapel facilities and crematory as well as associated parking. 

It is intended that the entrance route to the proposed new 

Crematorium will continue to be via the internal road network 

past the existing chapels. However, owing to the constraints 

of the existing Cemetery network, there is a need to provide a 

new route for visitors to exit the proposed new Crematorium 

route outside the boundary of the existing Cemetery site for 

The Site

The historic core of the 

site, & areas otherwise of 

been extensively used for 

burials, & consequently areas 

where possible new buildings 

or major works would be 

unacceptable in principle.

Areas such as the Nursery, 

which are historic, but 

secondary, or limited 

landscape value, & much 

altered, or the remaining 

eastern land, which is just 

beginning to be used for 

burials, & which is highly 

visible from the historic 

core, where some form of 

building or proposal may, 

in conservation terms, be 

acceptable, subject to scale, 

form, massing, detailing, 

landscaping & access routes.

The possible areas of 

expansion, well beyond the 

historic core & clear of burials, 

where a proposed building 

or proposal is likely to be 

acceptable in conservation 

terms, subject to quality of 

design, scale form, massing, 

detailing, landscaping, access 

routes & so forth.

N

N

Proposed

Site

Existing

Chapels

Bouncers

Lane

Page 517



CHELTENHAM CREMATORIUM, BOUNCERS LANE, CHELTENHAM

EXISTING CREMATORIUM & SITE  :  2

Cheltenham Cemetery and Crematorium has expanded 

over time in a west-to-east direction, with the more recent 

memorial areas being added to the east of the original Victorian 

graveyard.

The historic core of the Cemetery was designated as a Grade 

II - registered park & garden in March 2003.

N

The proposed site is just beyond the current eastern 

the control of Cheltenham Borough Council.. 

Proposed

Site

Existing

ChapelsBouncers

Lane

Page 518



CHELTENHAM CREMATORIUM, BOUNCERS LANE, CHELTENHAM

GETTING TO AND FROM THE SITE  :  3

Entrance Road 
The proposed route to the new site is via the internal road 

that leads past the original north chapel and access into the 

Exit Road
A number of routes have been considered (see map below)

•

due to the narrowness of current roadways, the problems 

in creating new roads within a Cemetery and the need to 

protect its peaceful environment

• An alternative route across Priors Farm leading to Imjin 

areas and at the Priors Road / Imjin Road junction during 

crematorium operating hours

The exit route that has been selected runs along the southern 

boundary of the site and would connect back into the existing  

road near the lodge buildings.

Again a number of alternatives have been considered

• Routes through the existing Cemetery will have a huge 

impact on mourners and may not be possible due to the 

width of the roadways

• Using the proposed exit road route will create major 

the Cemetery during the building period

• Using the route of the exit road with a temporary connection 

for construction works around the western edge of the 

Various studies have been carried out to review the access 

Please use the questionnaire to give us your opinions.

Entrance route along existing road network

Exit route along existing boundary

Alternative routes - since discounted

Page 519



CHELTENHAM CREMATORIUM, BOUNCERS LANE, CHELTENHAM

PROPOSALS  :  4

The Site
The site for the new crematorium and parking is located to 

These are surrounded by mature hedges and tree belts on 

all sides with small streams along the southern and western 

boundaries as well as the dividing east-west hedgerow.

The site slopes up generally from the west to east up to 

the Cotswold escarpment. 

Building a Second Chapel
The site is designed for two chapels with the possibility of 

holding simultaneous services. 

At the time Cheltenham Borough Council decided to invest 

in a new crematorium the intention was to build only one 

new chapel and to use one of the current chapels with the 

possibility of building the second new chapel at some point 

in the future. 

The Council has now looked again at the opportunity to 

include the second chapel in the initial build. This has some 

advantages;

• Use of a single location will be less confusing to mourners

• Bringing all operations into one place and not needing 

crematorium

• Building now will be much less disruptive to day-to-day 

services, indeed adding a new chapel at a later date would 

probably mean a long period of closure

However:

• The current Victorian chapels would not be available for 

services and may be re-used for other purposes

• The Council would need to invest an additional £1 million 

On balance the proposal is that a second new chapel will 

be constructed at this time.

Circulation
internal road network in the north-west corner of the 

site.  From the parking area wide paths link directly to the 

entrances and waiting areas for both chapels.

After the service cars would exit back onto the existing road 

which then connects onto the new exit road to the south.

Separate cortege routes have been discretely incorporated 

for both chapels.

Main

Chapel

Second

Chapel

Car

Park

Cortege

Route

Cortege

Route

Existing

Road

Existing

Road

Exit

Route

Page 520



CHELTENHAM CREMATORIUM, BOUNCERS LANE, CHELTENHAM

PROPOSALS  :  5

Design
The proposed design picks up on the character of traditional 

barns and appears as a series of connected buildings of 

such as stone, slate and brick.

The scheme also allows for lots of natural light and potential 

for controlled natural ventilation to a number of the spaces 

which will help to create pleasant internal spaces.

The existing trees and landscape will give an attractive 

backdrop to the crematorium as well as screening the 

proposed building from long distance views.

Page 521



CHELTENHAM CREMATORIUM, BOUNCERS LANE, CHELTENHAM

SUMMARY  :  6

Layout
The building has been designed to have a very legible 

the car park there is a direct link to the entrances of both 

chapels and internal waiting room or under the external 

canopies.  The waiting areas have clear views across the 

Cemetery lawns to the front to see the cortege approaching. 

The main chapel is obviously the key space within the whole 

arrangement with a strong symmetry and focus towards the 

catafalque on the central axis. 

is a generous open space with further water features and 

The chapels themselves have been designed with a 

symmetry and form that feels comfortable but reverent, with 

pitched roofs and high level windows. 

We welcome your feedback on the proposals. 

Tell us what you prefer, what could we could do 

better, what you like and what you don’t like. THANK YOU

M
a
in

 C
h
a
p
e
l

2nd Chapel

G
a
rd

e
n
 o

f 

R
e
m

e
m

b
ra

n
c
e

Route through second chapel

Boulevard route back to car park

Route through main chapel

Page 522


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the last meeting
	Minutes Public Pack, 24/02/2017 Council

	8 Draft Corporate Strategy 2017-18
	2017_03_27_COU_Corporate_strategy_Appendix

	9 Place Strategy - Cheltenham Placemaking Vision
	2017_03_27_COU_Place_Strategy_Appendix

	10 Financing arrangements for improvements to Leisure-at-Cheltenham
	2017_03_07_CAB_Financial_Improvement_Leisure_At_Cheltenham_Appendix_2
	2017_03_07_CAB_Financial_Improvement_Leisure_At_Cheltenham_Appendix_3

	11 Section 151 Officer Arrangements
	2017_02_27 AR Section151 arrangements_JD_CFO

	12 2020 Joint Committee - Withdrawal of employment matter delegations
	13 Community Governance Review - terms of reference
	2017_03_27_COU_Community_Governance_Review_Appendix2
	2017_03_27_COU_Community_Governance_Review_Appendix3
	2017_03_27_COU_Community_Governance_Review_Appendix4
	2017_03_27_COU_Community_Governance_Review_Appendix5
	2017_03_27_COU_Community_Governance_Review_Appendix6

	14 Progress Update regarding the new crematorium project including business case decisions regarding access road and second chapel option
	Appendix 2a - original Access Roads study
	Appendix 2b - update covering routes B and C
	Appendix 2c - Gardens of Remembrance route
	Appendix 3 - Two Chapels Options Study
	Appendix 4a - Summary of second chapel options modelled
	Appendix 4b - financial model for preferred second chapel option
	Appendix 5 - public representations on outline planning application
	17_03_07_Crematorium _development_Appendix_6
	Appendix 7 - public consultation boards


